AMENDED NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103, NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 33-109 AND OSC RULE 33-506

Supplement to the OSC Bulletin

April 15, 2011

Volume 34, Issue 14 (Supp-3)

(2011), 34 OSCB

The Ontario Securities Commission administers the Securities Act of Ontario (R.S.O. 1990, c. S.5) and the Commodity Futures Act of Ontario (R.S.O. 1990, c. C.20)

The Ontario Securities Commission

Cadillac Fairview Tower Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, Ontario M5H 3S8

416-593-8314 or Toll Free 1-877-785-1555

Published under the authority of the Commission by:

Carswell, a Thomson Reuters business

One Corporate Plaza 2075 Kennedy Road Toronto, Ontario M1T 3V4

416-609-3800 or 1-800-387-5164

Contact Centre - Inquiries, Complaints: Fax: 416-593-8122 Market Regulation Branch: Fax: 416-595-8940 Compliance and Registrant Regulation Branch

- Compliance: Fax: 416-593-8240 - Registrant Regulation: Fax: 416-593-8283

Corporate Finance Branch

- Team 1: Fax: 416-593-8244 - Team 2: Fax: 416-593-3683 Fax: 416-593-8252 - Team 3: - Insider Reporting: Fax: 416-593-3666 - Mergers and Acquisitions: Fax: 416-593-8177

Enforcement Branch: Fax: 416-593-8321 **Executive Offices:** Fax: 416-593-8241 General Counsel's Office: Fax: 416-593-3681 Investment Funds Branch: Fax: 416-593-3699 Office of the Secretary: Fax: 416-593-2318



The OSC Bulletin is published weekly by Carswell, a Thomson Reuters business, under the authority of the Ontario Securities Commission.

Subscriptions are available from Carswell at the price of \$649 per year.

Subscription prices include first class postage to Canadian addresses. Outside Canada, these airmail postage charges apply on a current subscription:

U.S. \$175 Outside North America \$400

Single issues of the printed Bulletin are available at \$20 per copy as long as supplies are available.

Carswell also offers every issue of the Bulletin, from 1994 onwards, fully searchable on SecuritiesSource[™], Canada's pre-eminent web-based securities resource. SecuritiesSource[™] also features comprehensive securities legislation, expert analysis, precedents and a weekly Newsletter. For more information on SecuritiesSource[™], as well as ordering information, please go to:

http://www.westlawecarswell.com/SecuritiesSource/News/default.htm

or call Carswell Customer Relations at 1-800-387-5164 (416-609-3800 Toronto & Outside of Canada).

Claims from bona fide subscribers for missing issues will be honoured by Carswell up to one month from publication date.

Space is available in the Ontario Securities Commission Bulletin for advertisements. The publisher will accept advertising aimed at the securities industry or financial community in Canada. Advertisements are limited to tombstone announcements and professional business card announcements by members of, and suppliers to, the financial services industry.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise without the prior written permission of the publisher.

The publisher is not engaged in rendering legal, accounting or other professional advice. If legal advice or other expert assistance is required, the services of a competent professional should be sought.

© Copyright 2011 Ontario Securities Commission ISSN 0226-9325 Except Chapter 7 ©CDS INC.



AMENDED NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103, NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 33-109 AND OSC RULE 33-506

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	ments – National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements and Instrument 33-109 Registration Information and	
related Policies and Fo	orms	1
Appendix A	Summary of changes to the Instrument	4
Appendix B	Summary of comments and responses on the June 2010 proposal	15
Appendix C	Adoption of the Instrument	26
Appendix D	Amending instrument to NI 31-103	27
Appendix E	Amending instrument to NI 33-109	51
	I-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions nt Obligations	73
	103CP Registration Requirements , Exemptions nt Obligations	150
National Instrument 33	3-109 Registration Information	201
Form 33-109F	1 Notice of Termination of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals	209
Form 33-109F	2 Change or Surrender of Individual Categories	213
Form 33-109F	3 Business Locations other than Head Office	218
Form 33-109F	4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals	221
Form 33-109F	5 Change of Registration Information	255
Form 33-109F	6 Firm Registration	258
Form 33-109F	7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals	285
Companion Policy 33-	109CP Registration Information	300
	ments – Ontario Securities Commission Rule 33-506 (ct) Registration Information	309
	to Ontario Securities Commission Rule 33-506 Act) Registration Information	312
	I-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions nt Obligations (blacklined to current law)	334

April 15, 2011 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements s, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations (blacklined to current law)	415
National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information (blacklined to current law)	467
Form 33-109F1 Notice of Termination of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals (blacklined to current law)	475
Form 33-109F2 Change or Surrender of Individual Categories (blacklined to current law)	480
Form 33-109F3 Business Locations other than Head Office (blacklined to current law)	485
Form 33-109F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals (blacklined to current law)	488
Form 33-109F5 Change of Registration Information (blacklined to current law)	523
Form 33-109F6 Firm Registration (blacklined to current law)	527
Form 33-109F7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals (blacklined to current law)	555
Companion Policy 33-109CP Registration Information (blacklined to current law)	570

April 15, 2011 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

AMENDED NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103, NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 33-109 AND OSC RULE 33-506

NOTICE OF AMENDMENTS TO NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103

REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS AND EXEMPTIONS AND

COMPANION POLICY 31-103CP REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS AND EXEMPTIONS

AND

AMENDMENTS TO NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 33-109 REGISTRATION INFORMATION AND COMPANION POLICY 33-109CP REGISTRATION INFORMATION

Introduction

The Canadian Securities Administrators (the CSA or we) are implementing amendments (the Amendments) to National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements and Exemptions (NI 31-103), Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements and Exemptions (31-103CP) and the forms under NI 31-103 as well as to National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information (NI 33-109), Companion Policy 33-109CP Registration Information (31-109CP) and related forms under NI 33-109. The amendments are subject to approvals, including ministerial approvals.

NI 31-103 came into force on September 28, 2009 and introduced a new national registration regime that is harmonized, streamlined and modernized. We indicated in the July 17, 2009 notice of publication that we would propose amendments to NI 31-103, 31-103CP, NI 33-109 and 33-109CP together with related forms (collectively, the Instrument) if investor protection, market efficiency or other regulatory concerns arose. On June 25, 2010 we published proposed amendments for comment (the June 2010 Proposal) following our monitoring of the implementation of the Instrument and our continuing dialogue with stakeholders about questions and concerns that have arisen in respect of their practical experience working with the Instrument. We are now implementing these amendments.

We think the effect of these amendments, which range from technical adjustments to more substantive matters, will enhance investor protection and improve the day-to-day operation of the Instrument for both industry and regulators. In addition we believe that these changes will provide greater clarity of our intentions.

Comments on the June 2010 Proposal

We received 32 comment letters on the June 2010 Proposal, and thank everyone who provided comments. Copies of the comment letters are posted on the following websites:

www.lautorite.qc.ca www.osc.gov.on.ca

We made changes to certain of the amendments which were proposed in the June 2010 Proposal. We also made various minor changes to NI 31-103 to standardize drafting in similar provisions, in order to give better effect to our original intent. We concluded that these changes do not require the CSA to publish the Instrument for another comment period.

You can find:

- a description of the key changes we made to the Instrument in **Appendix A** of this Notice; and
- a summary of the comments we received on the June 2010 Proposal, together with our responses, in Appendix B of this Notice.

April 15, 2011 1 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Adoption of the Amendments

Provided all necessary approvals are obtained, including ministerial approvals, the Amendments will come into force on July 11, 2011. Additional information about the adoption processes for some jurisdictions is provided in **Appendix C** of this Notice.

List of appendices

This Notice also contains the following appendices:

- Appendix A Summary of changes to the Instrument;
- Appendix B Summary of comments and responses on the June 2010 Proposal;
- Appendix C Adoption of the Instrument;
- Appendix D Amending instrument to NI 31-103; and
- Appendix E Amending instrument to NI 33-109.

A blackline version of the Instrument reflecting changes to the Instrument is available on some CSA websites.

Where to find more information

The Instrument is available on websites of CSA members, including:

www.lautorite.qc.ca www.albertasecurities.com www.bcsc.bc.ca www.gov.ns.ca/nssc www.nbsc-cvmnb.ca www.osc.gov.on.ca www.sfsc.gov.sk.ca

Questions

Please refer your questions to any of the following CSA staff:

Lindy Bremner
Senior Legal Counsel, Capital Markets Regulation
British Columbia Securities Commission
Tel: 604-899-6678
1-800-373-6393
Ibremner@bcsc.bc.ca

Navdeep Gill Legal Counsel, Market Regulation Alberta Securities Commission Tel: 403-355-9043 navdeep.gill@asc.ca

Curtis Brezinski
Acting Deputy Director, Legal and Registration
Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission
Tel: 306-787-5876
curtis.brezinski@gov.sk.ca

Chris Besko
Legal Counsel, Deputy Director
The Manitoba Securities Commission
Tel. 204-945-2561
Toll Free (Manitoba only) 1-800-655-5244
chris.besko@gov.mb.ca

April 15, 2011 2 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Leigh-Ann Ronen Legal Counsel, Compliance and Registrant Regulation Ontario Securities Commission Tel: 416-204-8954 Ironen@osc.gov.on.ca

Sophie Jean

Analyste expert en réglementation – pratiques de distribution Autorité des marchés financiers Tel: 514-395-0337, ext. 4786 Toll-free: 1-877-525-0337 sophie.jean@lautorite.gc.ca

Brian W. Murphy Deputy Director, Capital Markets Nova Scotia Securities Commission Tel: 902-424-4592 murphybw@gov.ns.ca

Jason L. Alcorn Legal Counsel New Brunswick Securities Commission Tel: 506-643-7857 Jason.Alcorn@gnb.ca

Katharine Tummon Superintendent of Securities Prince Edward Island Securities Office Tel: 902-368-4542 kptummon@gov.pe.ca

Craig Whalen
Manager of Licensing, Registration and Compliance
Office of the Superintendent of Securities
Government of Newfoundland and Labrador
Tel: 709-729-5661

Tel: 709-729-5661 cwhalen@gov.nl.ca

Louis Arki
Director, Legal Registries
Department of Justice, Government of Nunavut
Tel: 867-975-6587
larki@gov.nu.ca

Donn MacDougall
Deputy Superintendent, Legal & Enforcement
Office of the Superintendent of Securities
Government of the Northwest Territories
Tel: 867-920-8984
donald.macdougall@gov.nt.ca

Frederik J. Pretorius Manager Corporate Affairs (C-6) Dept of Community Services Government of Yukon Tel: 867-667-5225 Fred.Pretorius@gov.yk.ca

April 15, 2011

April 15, 2011 3 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX A

SUMMARY OF CHANGES TO THE INSTRUMENT

This appendix describes the key changes we made to National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements and Exemptions (NI 31-103 or the Rule), Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements and Exemptions (31-103CP or the Companion Policy) and National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information (NI 33-109), Companion Policy 33-109CP Registration Information (33-109CP) as well as the forms under NI 31-103 and NI 33-109 (the Forms) (collectively, the Amendments). Provided all necessary approvals are obtained, the Amendments will come into force on July 11, 2011.

This appendix contains the following sections:

- Title of NI 31-103 and 31-103CP
- 2 Definitions
- 3 Clarity of disclosure to clients
- 4. Responsibility of the firm for the conduct of the individuals it sponsors
- 5. Business trigger for trading and advising
- 6. Mobility exemption
- 7. Registration requirements for individuals
- 8. Categories of registration for firms
- 9. Exemptions from the requirement to register
- 10. Membership in a self-regulatory organization (SRO)
- 11. Internal control and systems
- 12. Financial condition
- 13. Client relationships
- 14. Handling client accounts
- 15. Transition
- 16. Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital
- 17. Form 31-103F2 Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service
- 18. Appendix B Subordination Agreement
- 19. Amendments to NI 33-109
- 20. Amendments to NI 33-109 forms

In this appendix, we reference the sections of the Rule except where otherwise indicated. We refer to the amendments published for comment on June 25, 2010 as the June 2010 Proposal.

1. TITLE OF NI 31-103 AND 31-103CP

We added *ongoing registrant obligations* to the title of NI 31-103 and 31-103CP. The title is now *Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations*. We believe, as stated in the notice published on June 25, 2010, that this change will better reflect the breadth and scope of NI 31-103 and 31-103CP, which includes initial registration and requirements for registrants on an ongoing basis.

2. **DEFINITIONS**

We clarified paragraph (d) of the permitted client definition in section 1.1. We also added a definition of Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam as this exam is now an alternative to the PDO Exam for chief compliance officers.

3. CLARITY OF DISCLOSURE TO CLIENTS

There are a number of client disclosure requirements in the Instrument. We consolidated our guidance on clear and meaningful disclosure to clients throughout the Companion Policy in a general principle in section 1.1 of 31-103CP, setting out our expectation that registered firms present information to clients in a clear and meaningful manner in order to ensure clients understand the information presented. This requirement is based on the obligation of all registrants to act fairly, honestly and in good faith when dealing with clients.

4. RESPONSIBILITY OF THE FIRM FOR THE CONDUCT OF THE INDIVIDUALS IT SPONSORS

We proposed in June 2010 to add guidance, in section 3.4 of the Companion Policy, on the firm's responsibility to ensure compliance with ongoing requirements. This includes firms ensuring that their registered individuals are proficient. We now provide more general guidance on the firm's responsibility regarding their registered individuals in section 1.3 of 31-103CP, which sets out our view that a registered firm is responsible for the conduct of their registered individuals.

April 15, 2011 4 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

The registered firm

- must undertake due diligence before sponsoring an individual to be registered to act on its behalf; and
- has an ongoing obligation to monitor and supervise its registered individuals in an effective manner.

5. BUSINESS TRIGGER FOR TRADING AND ADVISING

We clarified, in section 1.3 of 31-103CP (under the heading *Factors in determining a business purpose*), the guidance on incidental activities in respect of mergers and acquisitions specialists. We expect that if these specialists also engage in capital raising from prospective investors (including private placements), they will need to consider whether they are in the business of trading and require registration.

6. MOBILITY EXEMPTION

We codified in section 2.2 of the Companion Policy the guidance that we previously published in the *Frequently Asked Questions* (FAQ) published on February 5, 2010.

7. REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS FOR INDIVIDUALS

- (a) Proficiency requirements (sections 3.1 to 3.14)
 - i. Time limits on examination requirements (section 3.3)

Further to our June 2010 Proposal, we removed the requirement in section 3.3(2)(a) that an individual be registered for any 12 month period during the 36-month period prior to applying for registration in order to qualify for the exemption from the time limitations placed on examinations. Instead, section 3.3(2)(a) now requires an individual to have been registered in the same category in any jurisdiction of Canada *at any time* during the 36-month period before the date of his or her application for registration.

We clarified that periods of suspension will not be included for purposes of calculating the period of time a person has been registered in respect of the time limits for the validity of the examinations. We also added guidance on the 36-month time limit on examinations in section 3.3 of 31-103CP.

We amended section 3.3 to delete the reference to the examinations formerly provided in section 45 of Québec Policy Q-9 *Dealers, Advisers and Representatives*, since this is already covered in the grandfathering provisions in section 16.10(1) of NI 31-103.

ii. Proficiency – initial and ongoing (section 3.4)

We amended section 3.4 to provide that the proficiency principle for dealing, advising and associate advising representatives *includes* understanding the key features of the securities that are recommended by the individual. Guidance has been added in 31-103CP to indicate that the proficiency principle applies notwithstanding any suitability exemption, including the exemption in section 13.3(4) in respect of permitted clients.

Guidance has also been added to confirm that it is the responsibility of a registered firm to ensure that their registered individuals are proficient at all times.

iii. Recognition of the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam (sections 3.6, 3.8, 3.10, 3.13 and 3.14)

The Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam is now an alternative to the PDO Exam for chief compliance officers.

iv. Removal of the requirement to pass the Canadian Securities Course Exam for holders of the CFA Charter (sections 3.13 and 3.14)

The requirement to pass the Canadian Securities Course Exam has been removed from section 3.13 and 3.14, in cases where the individual has earned the CFA Charter.

April 15, 2011 5 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

v. Alternative proficiency for representatives of mutual fund dealers and exempt market dealers (sections 3.5 and 3.9)

We amended sections 3.5 and 3.9 to provide the following alternative proficiency for representatives of mutual fund dealers and exempt market dealers: the individual will meet the proficiency requirement if he or she has earned a CFA Charter and has 12 months of relevant securities industry experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration.

vi. Codification of the transitioned proficiencies

The proficiencies which are the object of the transition provisions in sections 16.9(2) and 16.10(1) have been codified in Part 3.

vii. Additional proficiency guidance

Guidance has been added in 31-103CP to confirm that the proficiency requirements in Part 3 do not apply to approved persons of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC) because these individuals are required to meet the proficiency requirements mandated by the IIROC rules. We also updated Appendix C - *Proficiency requirements* of 31-103CP for individuals acting on behalf of a registered firm to reflect the changes to the proficiency requirements of the Rule (as outlined above).

(b) Review by the CSA of alternative proficiencies

We stated in the July 17, 2009 notice of publication that "the CSA would assess new examinations that are submitted for approval. We will review the Rule on a periodic basis and codify the recognition of additional examinations as they are approved by the CSA". Due to an ever increasing number of policy initiatives and other priorities requiring substantial staff involvement, the recognition of additional examinations or the inclusion of alternative or local proficiency requirements in the Rule are not anticipated this year. The CSA will reconsider this decision next year, taking into consideration its other priorities.

(c) Restrictions on acting for another registered firm (section 4.1)

In the June 2010 Proposal we included in section 4.1 of NI 31-103 a new sub-paragraph (1)(b), which would prohibit an advising, associate advising and dealing representative from being registered with another registered firm. We have retained this provision. However, in order to assist firms in filling exemptive relief applications, we have amended section 4.1 so that a registered firm, as opposed to an individual, now has the obligation to ensure that an individual who acts on its behalf does not, at the same time, act as (a) an officer, partner or director of another registered firm that is not an affiliate of the first-mentioned registered firm, or (b) a dealing, advising or associate advising representative of another registered firm.

We included a grandfathering provision for individuals who were dually registered before the coming into force of the amendments to section 4.1. Guidance has been added to 31-103CP indicating the factors that will be taken into account when reviewing exemption applications.

8. CATEGORIES OF REGISTRATION FOR FIRMS

(a) Mutual fund dealers (section 7.1)

We repealed the exceptions for Québec and British Columbia in section 7.1(2)(b)(ii) and 7.1(3), in order to harmonize with the other CSA jurisdictions. All mutual fund dealers in Canada are now authorized to act as dealers in respect of the securities listed in section 7.1(2)(b).

(b) Investment fund managers (section 7.3 of the Companion Policy)

We added guidance in 31-103CP to address the situation where the board of directors or the trustee(s) of a fund are directing the business, operations or affairs of an investment fund. In these situations, the fund itself may be considered the investment fund manager and therefore required to register in the investment fund manager category.

We also added guidance on the registration of investment fund managers in the context of fund complexes and groups to clarify that we expect exemption applications to be made by investment fund managers that have delegated the management of the fund function to a registered affiliate. We included guidance on the factors we will consider in respect of these exemption applications. We repealed the guidance on limited partnerships in view of this new guidance.

April 15, 2011 6 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

9. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE REQUIREMENT TO REGISTER

(a) Exemptions from dealer registration

i. Trades through or to a registered dealer (section 8.5)

We amended the Companion Policy to provide additional examples in order to clarify further the use of this exemption.

ii. Investment fund trades by adviser to managed accounts (section 8.6)

We eliminated the restriction in this exemption relating to non-prospectus qualified investment funds. The Rule now provides an exemption from dealer registration for an adviser trading in the securities of an investment fund to managed accounts of the adviser's clients, if the adviser acts as the adviser and investment fund manager of the investment fund.

iii. Plan administrator (8.16)

We deleted the definition of "control person" in section 8.16 since that expression is defined in securities legislation.

iv. International dealer (section 8.18)

We amended section 8.18 to:

- include an express restriction on the use of this exemption, which is only available if the permitted client is a Canadian permitted client, as defined in section 8.18;
- change the prescribed contents of the notice to clients required under section 8.18(4) as was proposed in the
 June 2010 Proposal, and restate the requirement to give annual notice to the regulator under section 8.18(5);
 and
- add a new subsection 8.18(7) to provide an adviser registration exemption for the person relying on the section 8.18 dealer registration exemption. This exemption is restricted to advice provided to the client in connection with trading activity permitted under section 8.18, and does not extend to a managed account of a client.

We had proposed to repeal, in the June 2010 Proposal, subsection 8.18(6) that provides that in Ontario, the obligation to provide the yearly notice to the regulator does not apply to a person or company that complies with the filing and fee payment requirements applicable to an unregistered exempt international firm under Ontario Securities Commission Rule 13-502 Fees. We are not making this change.

Subsections 8.18(6) and 8.26(6), as they appeared in the June 2010 Proposal, have been removed. Upon further consideration we have decided not to proceed with this change.

(b) Exemptions from adviser registration

International adviser (section 8.26)

We amended section 8.26 to mirror those changes made to the international dealer exemption (section 8.18) in respect of

- the restriction on the use of the exemption, which is only available if the permitted client is a Canadian permitted client, as defined in section 8.26; this definition is identical to the one in section 8.18, except that it excludes paragraph (d) of the definition of "permitted client" in section 1.1;
- the contents of the notice to clients;
- the annual notice to the regulator;
- maintaining subsection 8.26(6) as it appears in the current law in respect of an unregistered exempt international firm's ability to meet the yearly notice requirement to the regulator in Ontario by complying with certain filing and fee payment requirements; and
- the removal of subsection 8.26(6) as it appeared in the June 2010 Proposal.

April 15, 2011 7 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

We also clarified in paragraph 8.26(4)(d) our intent that the adviser's aggregate consolidated gross revenue is to be determined as at the end of its most recent financial year-end.

Finally, we included guidance in the Companion Policy on what we consider to be permissible incidental advice on Canadian securities by international advisers relying upon the exemption under section 8.26.

10. MEMBERSHIP IN A SELF-REGULATORY ORGANIZATION (SRO)

We reorganized the drafting of the exemptions in Part 9 for:

- IIROC members that are also registered as investment fund managers; and
- members of the Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada (MFDA) that are also registered as exempt market dealers, scholarship plan dealers or investment fund managers.

The Rule now has two distinct sections, section 9.3 and 9.4, which distinguish the exemptions that are available on the basis of whether or not the member of IIROC or the MFDA is registered in another category. This clarifies our intent with respect to the exemptions for SRO members.

We added an exemption from section 13.12 for MFDA members. This change was made on the basis that the MFDA has a member rule prohibiting lending to clients except in very limited circumstances.

Finally, we added an exemption from section 13.15 for SRO members. This change was made on the basis that the SROs have their own rules on complaint handling. We remind registrants in Québec that to the extent they deal with a client in Québec, they must comply with sections 168.1.1 to 168.1.3 of the *Securities Act* (Québec) in all cases.

We may publish further amendments to the Instrument for comment in the near term.

11. INTERNAL CONTROL AND SYSTEMS

(a) Elements of an effective compliance system (section 11.1 of the Companion Policy)

We included in the Companion Policy the enhanced guidance on internal controls that was proposed in the June 2010 Proposal.

(b) Designating an ultimate designated person (UDP) (section 11.2)

We amended section 11.2 of the Rule by adding in section 11.2(2)(a) that if the firm does not have a chief executive officer (CEO), the firm may designate, as its UDP, an individual acting in a capacity similar to a CEO. We also amended section 11.2(2)(c) to clarify our intent that the officer in charge of a division of the firm may be designated as the firm's UDP, but only to the extent that the firm has significant other business activities. Usually, a firm will have only one UDP.

We included in the Companion Policy the enhanced guidance on the UDP designation that was proposed in the June 2010 Proposal.

(c) Record-keeping (section 11.5 of the Companion Policy)

We clarified the guidance in 31-103CP to the effect that we expect registered firms to maintain notes of communications with clients, whether oral or written, that could have an impact on the client's account or the client's relationship with the firm. We remind registered firms that while we do not expect them to save every voicemail or e-mail, or to record all telephone conversations with clients, we do expect registered firms to maintain records of all communications relating to orders received from their clients.

(d) Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets (section 11.9) and Registered firm whose securities are acquired (section 11.10)

We deleted the reference to amalgamations, mergers, arrangements, reorganizations or treasury issues in section 11.9(3)(a) and section 11.10(3) and the reference to listed securities in section 11.9(3)(b) set out in the June 2010 Proposal as these references may be unduly restrictive.

In addition, we have amended section 11.9(3)(a) and section 11.10(3) to clarify our intent in respect of when we expect to receive a notice under these provisions.

April 15, 2011 8 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Section 11.10 of 31-103CP now includes guidance on our expectations as to the timing of the prior notice of a proposed acquisition. We expect this notice to be sent as soon as the registered firm knows or has reason to believe such a transaction is going to take place.

12. FINANCIAL CONDITION

(a) Capital requirements (section 12.1)

We added a new subsection (5) in section 12.1 in order to provide that a registered firm that is a member of IIROC and that is also registered as an investment fund manager is not required to comply with the requirements of section 12.1 if certain conditions relating to the registered firm's minimum capital and the filing of the IIROC Form 1 *Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report* are met. The registered firm will be required to file this form with the regulator in addition to filing with IIROC.

Following the same policy rationale, we added a new subsection (6) to section 12.1 in order to provide that a mutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA and that is also registered as an exempt market dealer, scholarship plan dealer or investment fund manager is not required to comply with the requirements of section 12.1 if certain conditions relating to the registered firm's minimum capital and the filing of the MFDA Form 1 *MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report* are met. The registered firm will be required to file this form with the regulator in addition to filing with the MFDA.

We also added guidance in section 12.1 of the Companion Policy on the exclusion of related party debt from a firm's working capital, which can only occur when the firm and the lender enter into a subordination agreement and file this agreement with the regulator.

(b) Subordination agreements (section 12.2)

We added guidance in section 12.2 of the Companion Policy to clarify the requirements relating to subordination agreements. In addition, we lengthened the delivery requirement from 5 days to 10 days.

(c) Insurance (sections 12.3, 12.4 and 12.5)

We did not make the amendments to sections 12.3(2), 12.4(3) and 12.5 as set out in the June 2010 Proposal but we added guidance in the Companion Policy on

- the coverage limits; and
- the fact that insurance requirements are not cumulative for firms registered in several categories.

We confirm, in response to several inquiries received, that firms only need to maintain insurance coverage for the highest amount required.

(d) Delivering financial information (sections 12.12 and 12.14)

We made changes to sections 12.12 and 12.14, which correlate with the changes made to the capital requirements for registered firms that are SRO members and are also registered in other categories of registration. These changes will allow these firms to file their respective SRO form with the regulator instead of filing the Form 31-103F1.

(e) Transition to IFRS – financial years beginning January 1, 2011

The Instrument was amended on January 1, 2011 in order to update the accounting terms and references in the Instrument to reflect the fact that, for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011, there has been a changeover to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (Canadian GAAP) for publicly accountable enterprises.

We remind registrants that the amendments that came into force on January 1, 2011 only apply to periods relating to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Absent an exemption, registrants delivering financial statements and interim financial information relating to financial years beginning before January 1, 2011 will be required to comply with the versions of NI 31-103 and NI 33-109 in force prior to January 1, 2011, which contain the existing Canadian GAAP terms and phrases.

Foreign registrants should consult National Instrument 52-107 *Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards* (NI 52-107) as acceptable accounting principles other than IFRS may apply instead.

April 15, 2011 9 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

13. CLIENT RELATIONSHIPS

(a) Know your client (section 13.2)

We have increased the 10% threshold in section 13.2(3)(b)(i) to a 25% threshold, which is consistent with omnibus/blanket orders issued by each of the members of the CSA on November 5, 2010. We provide guidance in the Companion Policy on how the obligations in sections 13.2(3) should be met.

We amended section 13.2(7) to codify the parallel blanket/omnibus orders issued by each of the CSA members on November 5, 2010 providing relief from the requirement in section 13.2(2)(b) to take reasonable steps to establish whether a client is an insider of a reporting issuer or any other issuer whose securities are publicly traded. Section 13.2(2)(b) does not apply to a registrant in respect of clients for which the registrant trades only the securities referred to in sections 7.1(2)(b) and 7.1(2)(c), namely mutual fund and scholarship plan securities.

(b) Restrictions on certain managed account transactions (section 13.5)

We did not amend section 13.5 as we had indicated in the June 2010 Proposal. Specifically, we did not delete the word *registered* before the word *adviser*, and we did not expand the provision to apply to IIROC members that conduct advising activities. Although we believe that these provisions should apply to all advisers without distinction as to whether or not they are IIROC members, we did not make these changes in view of the comments we received from IIROC members which indicated that there may be significant unintended consequences in respect of trades made from IIROC members' inventory accounts. We are reviewing the regime applicable to IIROC members and we may publish proposed amendments for comments in the future.

To address these issues, we added guidance in the Companion Policy with respect to trades made from the inventory account of registered dealers that are members of IIROC and that conduct advising activities (IIROC advisers) to managed accounts. We expect IIROC advisers to have policies and procedures that sufficiently mitigate the conflicts of interest inherent in such transactions.

We also provided guidance in 31-103CP regarding activities that are not prohibited by section 13.5 and clarified the consent requirements.

(c) Disclosure when recommending related or connected securities (section 13.6)

We clarified paragraph (b) by also referring to a mutual fund, scholarship plan, educational plan or educational trust that is managed, as an investment fund manager, by an affiliate of the registered firm.

(d) Referral arrangements (sections 13.7 to 13.11)

We amended sections 13.8, 13.9 and 13.10 in accordance with the June 2010 Proposal, in order to

- clarify section 13.8 by stating that a registered firm, or a registered individual whose registration is sponsored
 by the registered firm, must not participate in a referral arrangement with another person or company unless
 certain conditions are met;
- clarify the contractual agreement requirements: our intent is that only the registered firm is required to be a
 party to a written agreement;
- provide in paragraph (b) of section 13.8 that the registered firm is required to record all referral fees, but deleted the words "on its records" in favour of additional guidance on keeping records of referral fees;
- in section 13.9, provide that the registered firm, and not the individual registrant, is held to the due diligence requirement with respect of the qualifications of the person or company to whom the referral is made; and
- in section 13.10 of the Rule we replaced the words *referral arrangement* with *agreement* to better reflect our intent.

We amended the guidance on referral arrangements in the Companion Policy to indicate that registered firms are responsible for monitoring and supervising all of their referral arrangements. We also added new guidance indicating our view that the receipt of an unexpected gift of appreciation would not fall within the scope of a referral arrangement.

April 15, 2011 10 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(e) Lending to clients (section 13.12)

We added Companion Policy guidance confirming that direct lending to clients (margin) is reserved to IIROC members and addressing the application of this provision to certain leveraged products.

(f) Disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money (section 13.13)

We have removed an exception from the disclosure requirements required when a registrant recommends the use of borrowed money to purchase securities. The exception only applied to members of IIROC and the MFDA. Members of IIROC and the MFDA are now fully exempt from these requirements as their rules adequately cover the same regulatory risks.

(g) Complaint handling (section 13.15 of the Companion Policy)

We adopted the guidance that was proposed in the June 2010 Proposal. The guidance covers what the firm's complaint handling policies and procedures should include, recommendations as to the manner of responding to verbal complaints and complaints in writing, as well as the timeframe within which the complaint should be dealt with.

(h) Dispute resolution service (section 13.16)

We did not make the changes we proposed to section 13.16 to list the specific matters that require independent dispute resolution, following the comments we received on this proposal. We therefore maintained the existing requirement to provide such services for any trading or advising activity.

The transition period for the coming into force, for all registrants except those registered in Québec, of section 13.16 has been extended from September 28, 2011 to September 28, 2012 in section 16.16. The extension of this transition period will allow the CSA to further consider this regime in light of a number of questions we have received. Considering the importance of this provision in respect of investor protection, we may publish proposed amendments for comments in the future.

We remind firms registered in Québec that this transition period is not applicable to them because they have been, and continue to be, subject to sections 168.1.1 to 168.1.3 of the Securities Act (Québec) since 2002.

14. HANDLING CLIENT ACCOUNTS

(a) Relationship disclosure information (section 14.2)

Section 14.2(2)(j) has been amended to reflect the fact that not all registered firms are currently required to comply with section 13.16 as they may be relying on the transition period (as amended in section 16.16). This transition period does not apply to firms registered in Québec and to firms registered after September 28, 2009.

(b) Notice to clients by non-resident registrants (section 14.5)

We amended section 14.5 by adding an exception to the requirement to provide the risk notice to clients in a jurisdiction if the firm has its head office in Canada and is registered in the local jurisdiction. In response to comments received, the Rule no longer refers to a physical place of business.

We further amended section 14.5 in order to make the contents of the risk notice to clients consistent with the notice which must be given by dealers and advisers relying on the exemptions provided in sections 8.18 and 8.26 respectively. Firms are not required to send a new notice as amended to existing clients, since the amendments are not retroactive.

(c) Content and delivery of trade confirmation (section 14.12)

We amended section 14.12 as follows:

- section 14.12(1) now allows the registered dealer to deliver trade confirmations to a registered adviser acting for the client if the client consents in writing;
- section 14.12(3) now expands the exceptions to the requirement in section 14.12(1)(h) to a security of a
 mutual fund that is established and managed, as an investment fund manager, by the registered dealer or an
 affiliate of the dealer, where the names of the dealer and the fund are sufficiently similar to indicate that they
 are affiliated or related;

April 15, 2011 11 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- new subsection (5) requires a registered investment fund manager to send a trade confirmation to a security holder when the investment fund manager executes a redemption order received directly from the security holder; and
- new subsection (6) clarifies that we did not intend for subsection (5) to apply to an adviser, that is also an investment fund manager, relying on the dealer registration exemption in section 8.6.

We included additional guidance in the Companion Policy in respect of a registered dealer outsourcing the delivery of trade confirmations to an investment fund manager.

(d) Confirmations for certain automatic plans (section 14.13)

We removed the condition to send a trade confirmation semi-annually to a client where the registered dealer relies on the exemption from sending a trade confirmation as the client already receives a quarterly or annual account statement showing the same information under section 14.14.

(e) Account statements (section 14.14)

We amended section 14.14 to provide that

- a mutual fund dealer (upon certain conditions) need not send an account statement on a monthly basis (section 14.14(2.1));
- where there is no dealer of record, the investment fund manager is expected to send account statements at least once every 12 months (section 14.14(3.1)); and
- a scholarship plan dealer (upon certain conditions) need not send quarterly account statements (section 14.14(6)).

We included additional guidance in the Companion Policy in respect of a registered firm's ability to outsource the delivery of account statements and the valuation of securities by third-party pricing providers for the purpose of account statements.

We did not make the proposed amendments to section 14.14 of the Rule that would have required that securities be valued using fair value. Section 14.14 continues to refer to market value.

15. TRANSITION

We extended certain transition periods to September 28, 2012:

- temporary exemption for Canadian investment fund manager registered in its principal jurisdiction (section 16.5);
- temporary exemption for foreign investment fund managers (section 16.6); and
- complaint handling in respect of dispute resolution services (section 16.16), except in Québec.

16. FORM 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital

We made technical adjustments to this form, including

- terminology changes in accordance with NI 52-107 that reflect Canada's changeover to IFRS. This includes
 adding a definition of fair value for the purpose of valuing securities in the Form 31-103F1 which aligns with a
 registrant's requirement to value securities in financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP
 applicable to publicly accountable enterprises under NI 52-107;
- clarification that the insurance deductible refers to the insurance maintained in accordance with Part 12;
- addition of new guidance notes to the form:
- revising the list of designated exchanges; and

April 15, 2011 12 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

• inclusion of new margin rates for mortgages. These new margin rates apply to all mortgages not in default. If a firm is registered in Ontario, or in any jurisdiction of Canada and Ontario, these new margin rates apply only to mortgages insured under the National Housing Act (Canada) and conventional first mortgages. If a firm is registered in any jurisdiction in Canada except Ontario, the new margin rates and insurance requirements apply to all mortgages.

17. FORM 31-103F2 Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service

We included a requirement to provide the international firm's NRD number, if applicable, and contact information for their chief compliance officer.

18. APPENDIX B Subordination Agreement

To add clarity, we amended section 4 of the subordination agreement to provide a 10-day prior notice to the regulator of full or partial repayment of the loan, in accordance with section 12.2. We remind registrants that related party debt must be excluded from a firm's working capital on Form 31-103F1, unless the firm and the lender have executed a subordination agreement.

19. AMENDMENTS TO NI 33-109

(a) Definition of permitted individuals

We clarified the definition of permitted individual in section 1.1 of NI 33-109 and added guidance in the Companion Policy indicating that a permitted individual may or may not be a registered individual.

(b) Timelines for filing

We amended all provisions setting out the filing timelines of notices. Where a notice was previously required to be filed in 7 days it is now required to be filed within 10 days.

(c) Voluntary resignation

We added the words "resigned voluntarily" in section 2.3(2)(b) to correlate with Form 33-109F7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals.

(d) Termination of employment

Further to our June 2010 Proposal, we revised section 4.2(1)(b) of NI 33-109 so that the information in item 5 [Details about the termination] must be completed in all cases of termination, unless the termination was due to the death of the individual.

(e) Use of forms

We added additional guidance in 33-109CP regarding the use of the forms.

20. AMENDMENTS TO NI 33-109 FORMS

(a) Technical changes and updating contact information

We made certain technical changes to the following forms to update contact information and add clarity:

- Form 33-109F1 Notice of Termination of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals
- Form 33-109F3 Business Locations Other than Head Office
- Form 33-109F5 Change of Registration Information
- Form 33-109F7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals

(b) Form 33-109F2 Change or Surrender of Individual Categories

In addition to technical changes, updating contact information and clarifications, we amended Form 33-109F2 in order to add a question on relevant securities industry experience in Item 4 – *Adding categories*.

April 15, 2011 13 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(c) Form 33-109F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals (Form 33-109F4)

In addition to technical changes, updating contact information and clarifications, we amended Form 33-109F4 in order to:

- add a question on relevant securities industry experience in Item 8 Proficiency;
- add questions relative to the CFA Charter and the CIM designation in Schedule E Proficiency (Item 8);
- add questions on relevant securities industry experience in Schedule F Proficiency (Items 8.3 and 8.4); and
- add a question in Schedule G Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships (Item 10) with respect to the name of the person at the sponsoring firm who has reviewed and approved the multiple employment or business related activities or proposed business related activities.

We added guidance in 33-109CP on Item 18 *Agent for service* to clarify that there is no distinct form which is prescribed under NI 33-109 for the appointment of an agent for service for use by individuals, and that the form used by the registered firm constitutes an acceptable format to the regulator.

(d) Form 33-109F6 Firm Registration (Form 33-109F6)

In addition to technical changes, updating contact information and clarifications, we amended Form 33-109F6 in order to:

- clarify what we mean by "jurisdiction", "jurisdiction of Canada" and "foreign jurisdiction" and that the questions in Part 4 Registration History and Part 7 Regulatory Action are to be answered in respect of any jurisdiction of Canada and any foreign jurisdiction. In other parts of Form 33-109F6, references to "jurisdictions" or "jurisdiction of Canada" refer to all provinces and territories of Canada;
- clarify the audited financial statement requirements in section 5.13; and
- state that the information provided in Part 7 Regulatory Action and Part 8 Legal Action is limited to the last 7 years, which is consistent with the regulator's administrative practice with respect to the Form 33-109F6 as required under Part 6.1 of NI 33-109 (namely, the transitional F6). We remind registrants that, as outlined in Part 9 Certification, all information must be provided to the best of the applicant's knowledge and after reasonable inquiry.

April 15, 2011 14 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX B

SUMMARY OF COMMENTS AND RESPONSES ON THE JUNE 2010 PROPOSAL

This appendix summarizes the written public comments we received on the proposed amendments to National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements and Exemptions (NI 31-103 or the Rule), Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements and Exemptions (31-103CP or the Companion Policy), the forms under NI 31-103 and National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information (NI 33-109), Companion Policy 33-109CP Registration Information (33-109CP) as well as the forms under NI 33-109 (the Forms) (collectively, the Instrument) as published on June 25, 2010 (the June 2010 Proposal). It also sets out our responses to those comments.

This appendix contains the following sections:

- 1. Introduction
- Responses to comments received on the Rule and the Companion Policy
- 3. Responses to comments received on NI 33-109 and related Forms

Please refer to Appendix A Summary of changes to the Instrument for the details of the changes we made in response to comments.

1. Introduction

(a) Drafting suggestions

We received a number of drafting comments on the Instrument. While we incorporated many of these suggestions, this document does not include a summary of the drafting changes we made.

(b) Categories of comments and single response

In this document, we consolidated and summarized the comments and our responses by the general theme of the comments.

(c) Comments beyond the scope of the June 2010 Proposal

We do not provide a response to comments received beyond the scope of the June 2010 Proposal. We provided responses to certain of these comments in the context of prior consultations. In other cases, we are continuing our work and may publish notices or proposed amendments for comment in the future.

2. Responses to comments received on the Rule and the Companion Policy

(a) IFRS fair value for the valuation of securities

We received several comments on proposed section 1.4, which would have required that registrants determine the *fair value* of securities in accordance with IFRS. The commenters indicated that there would be a significant operational impact on registrants in respect of this requirement. We did not make the proposed amendments.

We however added a definition of fair value in Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital (Form 31-103F1) for valuing securities. The use of fair value in the Form 31-103F1 is in line with a registrant's requirement to value securities in financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises under the new National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (NI 52-107). This alignment is necessary as a registrant's financial statements form the basis of the information reported on Form 31-103F1.

In response to comments indicating that National Instrument 81-106 *Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure* (NI 81-106) already provides an appropriate method for calculating the net asset value of certain mutual fund securities, the valuation of these securities in the Form 31-103F1 is based on the net asset value (NAV) as determined in accordance with NI 81-106.

(b) Proficiency requirements

i. Time limits on examination requirements

One commenter expressed the view that section 3.3 should be included in Part 9 of NI 31-103 as a provision from which IIROC members would be excepted, since the commenter is of the view that section 3.3 conflicts with IIROC Rule 2900. We disagree. Part 3 of NI 31-103 does not apply to IIROC approved persons, and therefore there is no need to exempt IIROC approved persons from the time limits on examination requirements. This is stated in the Companion Policy.

April 15, 2011 15 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

We received a comment agreeing with the proposed amendments to exclude holders of the CFA Charter and the CIM designation from the requirement of retaking their courses, however, the commenter suggested that this should be conditional upon their designation continuing to be "current" with either the CFA Institute (for the CFA designation) or CSI Global Education Inc. (for the CIM designation), and that the individual be in good standing with the organization that has granted the designation.

In response to this comment, we

- amended 31-103CP to clarify that we may consider the revocation, or other limitation on the use, of the CFA Charter or the CIM designation in the assessment of continued suitability for registration; and
- amended Item 8.1 Course or examination/designation information and other education in Schedule E –
 Proficiency of Form 33-109F4 Application for registration of individuals and review of permitted individuals by
 adding questions on the CFA Charter and the CIM designation to verify that these designations are in good
 standing.

We remind registered individuals in 31-103CP that they are required to notify us of any change in the status of the CFA Charter or the CIM designation within 10 days of the change, by submitting Form 33-109F5 Change of Registration Information in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.

ii. Proficiency principle

We received several comments on the inclusion in section 3.4 of the requirement to understand the structure, features and risks of each security that is recommended by the individual registrant. The commenters expressed the view that the proposed addition to section 3.4, which is a principle-based provision

- is redundant since the requirement to understand the structure, features and risks of each security (also known as the "know-your-product" requirement) already forms part of the requirement to perform registrable activities competently;
- would be more appropriately characterized as a suitability requirement; and
- appears to be already incorporated as a suitability requirement in section 13.3 of NI 31-103.

We amended section 3.4 to provide that the proficiency principle *includes* the requirement to understand the structure, features and risks of each security that is recommended by the individual. We do not believe this proficiency principle is redundant with the know-your-product requirement that forms part of the suitability obligations.

We added guidance in 31-103CP to indicate that the proficiency principle, including knowledge and understanding of the securities that are recommended by the individual, applies notwithstanding the suitability exemption in respect of permitted clients in section 13.3(4).

iii. Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam

We received a comment to the effect that the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam is an adequate proficiency requirement which should be available for chief compliance officers of exempt market dealers and investment fund managers. The Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam is an IIROC approved exam. We amended sections of Part 3 of the Rule so that this alternative proficiency requirement applies to the chief compliance officers of exempt market dealers and investment fund managers, as well as the chief compliance officers of mutual fund dealers, scholarship plan dealers and portfolio managers.

iv. Experience requirements for advising representatives

One commenter expressed the view that, as currently stated, the requirements in section 3.11 appear to be different for individuals holding the CFA Charter as compared to individuals having the CIM designation, while the intent of the CSA, according to the commenter, was that they be essentially similar. We disagree and did not make the proposed change to section 3.11. Unlike the CIM designation, there are experience requirements, in addition to examination requirements, that need to be fulfilled in order to obtain the CFA Charter.

April 15, 2011 16 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

v. Proficiency requirements for chief compliance officers of portfolio managers

One commenter stated that the addition of the word *also* in section 3.13(b)(ii) has the effect of making cumulative the requirement of 5 years experience at a Canadian financial institution and the requirement of having worked at an investment dealer or adviser for 12 months. In response, we confirm that both of these requirements need to be satisfied and the amendment to section 3.11 is for clarification only. A registrant may meet this proficiency requirement *concurrently* if, within a 5 year period, the registrant was able to meet both requirements outlined above.

One commenter stated that section 3.14(b)(i) of NI 31-103 should include the Exempt Market Products Exam as one of the alternate proficiency requirements, which would allow the chief compliance officer of an exempt market dealer to qualify as the chief compliance officer of an investment fund manager without gaining additional industry-specific proficiency. We disagree. These are very different categories, and while there is a correlation between investment fund manager registration and mutual funds, the same cannot be said of exempt market dealer registration and mutual funds.

vi. Proficiency requirements for dealing representatives of mutual fund dealers and exempt market dealers

We clarified our intention to allow dealing representatives of mutual fund dealers and exempt market dealers to meet the proficiency requirements in sections 3.5 and 3.9 by the individual having earned a CFA Charter and 12 months of relevant securities industry experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration.

(c) Restrictions on acting for another registered firm

We received numerous comments on our proposal to prohibit individuals from acting as a dealing or advising representative of more than one registered firm. The proposed amendment has been viewed by commenters as

- causing an unnecessary restriction in a situation where a registrant is owned by two shareholders, each holding 50% of the registrant (as the registrant is not technically an affiliate of either 50% shareholder);
- ignoring the fact that valid business reasons exist for dual registration as long as individuals have sufficient time to carry out their duties and are not in a conflict of interest which cannot be managed; and
- ignoring the fact that in circumstances where a firm's operational structure necessitates multiple legal entities,
 it is often appropriate and necessary for firms to register individuals with different firms.

We were therefore requested to remove this restriction or, in the alternative, add an exception for affiliated firms.

The conflicts of interest that are potentially generated by dual registration are considered significant by the CSA. As part of the review of each individual's fitness for registration, we consider all of the individual's activities. The fact that the individual may be acting for affiliated registered firms is not determinative in our view.

We amended section 4.1, however, to provide that the registered firm should ensure that their representatives do not act on behalf of more than one registered firm. This should facilitate the filing of exemption applications on behalf of several individuals who do act on behalf of more than one registered firm.

Please note that we grandfathered individuals who were dually registered before the coming into force of the amendments to section 4.1.

(d) Categories of registration - firms

Investment fund manager

One commenter described a structure of an affiliated group of funds that in their view would avoid the requirement to register more than one investment fund manager within the group. In response, we clarified in the Companion Policy that each investment fund manager is required to be registered, even where there is more than one investment fund manager within an affiliated group of funds. Investment funds organized as multiple entities within a fund complex are required to register, absent exemptive relief having been granted. Having a management agreement in place that delegates all or substantially all of the investment fund manager functions to an affiliate is only a factor we would consider in reviewing an application for exemptive relief, it is not determinative.

We received a submission that, in the context of fund complexes or groups, a general partner, trustee or board of directors of a corporation does not necessarily engage in "investment fund manager activities" and as such this entity is not required to be registered as an investment fund manager. The commenter also stated that only one investment fund manager per fund should

April 15, 2011 17 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

be registered given the possibility of delegating to a registrant activities that require registration. The commenter views this as being consistent with the guidance for limited partnerships set out in section 7.3 of 31-103CP. The commenter also believes that the principle of delegation in section 7.3 should be equally applicable to trustees and corporations such that multiple registrations should not be necessary if the trust or corporation in question enters into a contract with a registered (or qualified) investment fund manager.

In response to the comment, we clarified the guidance on the requirement to register when the fund is part of a group or fund complex. We expect exemption applications to be made by investment fund managers that have delegated the management of the fund function to a registered affiliate, and we included guidance on the factors we will consider in respect of these exemption applications. We repealed the guidance on limited partnerships in view of this new guidance.

(e) Exemptions

i. Trades to or through a registered dealer

In response to requests for clearer guidance on the availability of this exemption in certain circumstances, we amended the Companion Policy to address additional situations that demonstrate the appropriate use of this exemption.

ii. Investment fund trades by advisers to managed accounts (formerly Adviser – non-prospectus qualified investment fund)

One commenter expressed the view that an adviser that uses funds sub-advised by either affiliated or external portfolio managers would not be able to rely on this exemption when placing trades, including rebalancing trades on behalf of its managed account clients. We note that in these circumstances exemptive relief may be requested.

iii. International dealers

We were requested to amend section 8.18 to permit foreign fund managers to rely on the international dealer exemption if they are permitted to sell the securities of their foreign funds in their home jurisdictions without registration as a dealer. We believe that it would be more appropriate to consider this issue in the context of an exemptive relief application.

We received comments on the requirement that was proposed in the June 2010 Proposal on the Canadian residency requirement for permitted clients. We included a definition of Canadian permitted client and added an express restriction in this respect.

We also received several comments expressing the view that subparagraph (e) and (f) are not redundant and should not be repealed. Given the unintended consequences of this proposed change, as indicated to us by the commenters, we agree and did not repeal these subparagraphs.

We received requests for confirmation as to whether an international dealer or adviser would be required to send existing clients a new notice with the revised wording changes to section 8.18(4)(b) and 8.26(4)(e). We confirm that the requirement has no retroactive effect and that existing clients need not receive the new notice.

We received a request to clarify whether the notice to regulators required by section 8.18(5) is prospective or retrospective. We amended the provision to clarify that the notice must be given if the person or company relied on the exemption at any time during the 12 month period preceding December 1 of a year.

iv. Dealer without discretionary authority

One commenter expressed the view that the exemption from the adviser registration requirement under section 8.23 is only available to registered dealers and that this creates a regulatory gap for firms relying on dealer registration exemptions, such as the Northwestern exemption orders or the exemption in section 8.8 for investment funds and investment fund managers. We disagree. Giving advice is not permitted under the Northwestern exemption. Accordingly, the regulatory gap referred to by the commenter is not apparent: the adviser exemption is available to registered dealers because they are registered, and not to persons or companies engaging in dealing activities under the benefit of an exemption. If when acting as a dealer the person or company triggers the adviser registration requirement, they must register as an adviser unless an exemption is available.

We received a comment suggesting that there should be an exception to the disclosure requirement in section 8.25(3) where "buy, sell, or hold" recommendations are incidental to the main purpose of the publication (for example, where the main purpose is investor education). The commenter believes that the disclosure requirements in subsection 8.25(3) are onerous and impractical. We remind the commenter that disclosure is required by the person providing advice under this exemption only where certain persons or companies have a financial interest or other interest in the security or securities being recommended.

April 15, 2011 18 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

These are not new requirements. We do not agree with a distinction in disclosure requirements depending on the main or incidental purpose of the publication.

v. International advisers

One commenter has suggested that the intention of the international adviser exemption has been to provide qualifying clients with access to investment advice on foreign securities, which is often provided by way of global mandates. By their nature global mandates are structured to include some appropriate weighting for Canadian issuers reflecting Canada's relative economic position on a global basis.

While we did not make the change suggested by the commenter, we included guidance in the Companion Policy on permissible incidental advice on Canadian securities by international advisers relying upon the exemption under section 8.26. We provide examples of such permissible incidental advice.

We received the same comments and request for clarification on the Canadian residency requirement of permitted clients, the client notice and regulator notice, respectively, as for the international dealer exemption, and our responses are the same.

(f) Exceptions for members of self-regulatory organizations (SROs)

We received a comment recommending that we delay the application of the proposed change to section 9.3(6) in Québec until the adoption of the MFDA-harmonized rules. The commenter states that the proposed amendment to the exemptions found under subsection 9.3(6) may have a significant impact on mutual fund dealers operating in Québec. Paragraph 9.3(6) currently exempts mutual fund dealers in Québec from the same ongoing registrant obligations as those for which MFDA members are exempt, provided that the mutual fund dealer complies with applicable regulations in Québec.

The Autorité des marchés financiers has previously publicly stated that it intends to adopt rules largely harmonized to those of the MFDA by September 2011. Assuming that the proposed amendments to NI 31-103 will be enforced sometime in early 2011, the commenter is of the view that mutual fund dealers operating in Québec will need to comply with some of the ongoing registrant obligations in NI 31-103 for a few months, to then be subject to the new MFDA-harmonized rules.

We disagree with the comment. Mutual fund dealers in Québec must comply, since September 28, 2009, with certain sections NI 31-103, including section 14.2 and section 14.12. In the case of section 14.2, the Autorité des marchés financiers granted an exemptive relief order on September 1, 2010 to extend to mutual fund dealers in Québec the same transition granted to MFDA members. The amendment to the Rule in respect of the exemption now provided in section 9.4(4) is a clarification of the regime applicable to mutual fund dealers in Québec.

This section now provides that in Québec, the requirements listed in subsection (1) of section 9.4 do not apply to a mutual fund dealer to the extent equivalent requirements to those listed in subsection (1) are applicable to the mutual fund dealer under the regulations in Québec.

We refer in section 9.4(4) to existing requirements in Québec. The effect of section 9.4(4) is that existing requirements in Québec apply, and not the corresponding NI 31-103 requirement in respect of

- section 12.1 [capital requirements]
- section 12.2 [notifying the regulator of a subordination agreement]
- section 12.3 [insurance dealer]
- section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance]
- section 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation]
- section 13.3 [suitability]
- section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients]
- section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money]
- section 13.15 [handling complaints]
- subsection 14.2(2) [relationship disclosure information]
- section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust]
- section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement]
- section 14.9 [securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement]

Since there is no equivalent *existing requirement* in Québec, the following sections of the Rule, which are included in section 9.4(1), do apply to mutual fund dealers in Québec:

- section 12.10 [annual financial statements]
- section 12.11 [interim financial information]

April 15, 2011 19 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- section 12.12 [delivering financial information dealer]
- section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation]

We received a request to exempt SRO members also registered in other categories from the requirement to file financial statements and working capital forms with regulators. We are not making this requested change at this time. We note that SRO members that are registered in multiple categories may use the forms prescribed by the SROs, on certain conditions. See sections 12.1, 12.12 and 12.14 for requirements on calculating working capital and the delivery of working capital calculations for SRO members that are registered in multiple categories.

(g) Compliance systems

We received a comment to the effect that the guidance provided in the Companion Policy is unclear whether systemic monitoring responsibilities can be fulfilled through firm procedures, or whether an "off-the-shelf product" is required. We reiterate that the compliance systems requirements in the rule are principles—based and we do not mandate how registrants comply with the requirement.

(h) Solvency and financial reporting requirements

i. Capital requirements

We received comments that the current requirement that all guarantees, irrespective of their risk and/or character, be included in excess working capital, is unnecessarily onerous. The commenters submit that the interests of the public are best served by an excess working capital calculation that accounts for each of the following factors: (a) the size of the guarantee; (b) the registrant's category; (c) the likelihood the guarantee will be called; and (d) the nature of the guarantee (third-party guarantees versus related-party guarantees).

It is not possible to anticipate all situations suggested by the commenter. The excess working capital calculation has been designed to apply to all non-SRO registrants. Exemptive relief may be available if the requirement to include all guarantees is unduly burdensome.

We were also asked to reflect the non-cumulative nature of the capital requirements for a firm holding multiple registrations. We note that this is already stated in section 12.1 of the Companion Policy, under the heading *Working capital requirements are not cumulative*.

Finally, one commenter is of the view that there should be an exemption for US broker dealers provided they file the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (FINRA) form. We are not prepared to make this change at this time but will consider exemptive relief applications if certain conditions are met.

ii. Insurance requirements

We were asked to clarify in Form 31-103F1 that the "bonding or insurance policy" refers only to the bonding or insurance the firm must maintain pursuant to Part 12 of NI 31-103. We agree with the commenter and amended Form 31-103F1 accordingly.

One commenter has suggested that we amend Appendix A – Bonding and Insurance Clauses. The commenter believes that there are always exclusions and terms and conditions in commercially available bonding or insurance that limit coverage to something less than any loss arising from the listed risks. As a result, the commenter stated that strict compliance with these requirements is impossible. We disagree. The clauses in Appendix A are those currently being used in industry.

(i) KYC and suitability

We received comments to the effect that according to section 13.2(7), a registrant who is registered both as a mutual fund dealer (exempt from MFDA membership) and as an adviser would not be exempt from the requirement to establish whether a client is an insider of a reporting issuer.

The commenter believes that compliance with this requirement should depend on the capacity in which the registrant is acting in respect of a particular client and not on the number of categories of registration the firm or the individual holds. We agree and granted new blanket/omnibus relief in November 2010. We amended section 13.2(7) in the June 2010 Proposal accordingly.

(j) Restrictions on certain managed account transactions

We received several comments on the scope and application of section 13.5 for registered dealers that are members of IIROC and who conduct advising activities (IIROC advisers) to managed accounts. One of the commenters is of the view that if an IIROC adviser's proprietary inventory account is considered to be an "investment portfolio" for the purposes of section 13.5(2)(b)

April 15, 2011 20 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

of NI 31-103, the amended section 13.5 of NI 31-103 (as published as part of the June 2010 Proposal) would prohibit the IIROC adviser from selling fixed income securities from its inventory account to its discretionary managed account clients. We had not fully considered the impact that the June 2010 Proposal would have on the ability of an IIROC adviser to trade securities from its inventory account.

Therefore, we did not make the change proposed in the June 2010 Proposal. However, we added additional guidance in the Companion Policy on this issue.

(k) Referral arrangements

In response to a comment that the definition of referral arrangements is too broad, we again note, as in previous comment responses throughout the consultation process on NI 31-103, that this definition is intended by the CSA to be broad, as we are concerned with the business conduct of registered individuals. We however added guidance in the Companion Policy indicating our view that the receipt of an unexpected gift of appreciation would not fall within the scope of a referral arrangement.

We received numerous comments on the fact that the provisions in NI 31-103 relating to referral arrangements and the rules made by IIROC and the MFDA in order to conform with NI 31-103 could result in the unintended consequence of regulating business arrangements of registered individuals acting in the capacity of a licensed insurance agent outside their dealer that are not related to securities-related business.

We confirm, in response to questions raised by commenters, that:

- we do not generally view a syndication arrangement for the offering of securities as a referral arrangement;
- the referral arrangement regime in the Rule does not prescribe that payment of referral fees be made to the firm:
- the requirement to ensure that the required disclosure is provided to clients rests on the registered firm;
 however, it can be provided by either party provided it is clearly set out in the referral agreement;
- an arrangement to purchase a list of potential clients may be considered a referral arrangement;
- a finder's fee may be considered to be within the scope of the referral arrangement provisions; and
- we reiterate that referral arrangements within the same firm are not generally covered by the regime, however, we expect a registered firm to consider these types of referrals as part of the conflicts requirements in section 13.4.

(I) Loans and margins

We received a comment stating that section 13.12 should be amended to allow loans made by an investment fund manager to a fund where the loan is for the purposes of enabling a fund to temporarily pay for unitholder redemptions and fund expenses. We acknowledge that an investment fund manager that lends money, extends credit or provides margin in certain circumstances may be prohibited from these activities under section 13.12. Accordingly we have provided an exception in section 13.12(2) which allows an investment fund manager to make certain loans. Where any conflicts of interest arise in respect of these short-term loans, we expect registrants to manage that conflict.

One commenter has asked that we clarify whether section 13.12 is intended to prohibit a registrant from providing products to its clients that have embedded in them a leverage component. We amended the Companion Policy to provide additional guidance on this issue.

(m) Complaint handling

We received requests for clarification on the interface between the Québec regime for complaint handling, including specific questions as to how compliance with the Securities Act (Québec) provisions, which is deemed to be compliance with the Rule, is affected when the registrant is registered in several jurisdictions.

The Rule provisions on complaint handling are based on the Québec regime. However, Québec cannot adopt in a Rule provisions that are, in substance, already in its legislation. To the extent a registrant deals with a client in Québec, it must comply with sections 168.1.1 to 168.1.3 of the *Securities Act* (Québec) in all cases. When dealing with clients in other jurisdictions, the registrant must meet the Rule requirements. The only substantive difference is that the Autorité des marchés financiers will generally not act as mediator for complaints of clients outside Québec.

April 15, 2011 21 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

We also received comments stating that the guidance in the Companion Policy is prescriptive and as such, should be in the Rule. We remind commenters that the guidance, which was developed by the CSA together with IIROC and the MFDA, sets out our expectation on what would constitute an effective complaint handling system. The requirement to deal with client complaints provided in the Rule remains a principle-based requirement.

(n) Dispute resolution service

We received comments on the proposed list of complaints in section 13.16. We have not made this change and have maintained the language in the current law.

We have extended, in section 16.16, the transition period for the coming into force, outside Québec, of section 13.16 to September 28, 2012 to allow the CSA to further consider this regime in light of a number of questions we have received. Considering the importance of this provision in respect of investor protection, we may publish proposed amendments for comments in the future.

Commenters have suggested that the SROs amend their rules to provide the same choice of dispute resolution service. We note both IIROC and the MFDA rules mandate membership in the *Ombudsman for banking services and investments* (OBSI), which is consistent with section 13.16 of the Rule since OBSI is considered an independent dispute resolution service. We note that SRO rules may be more prescriptive than the requirements prescribed in the Rule.

(o) Relationship disclosure information

A commenter has requested that section 14.2(j) be amended in order to reflect the transition period for the coming into force of section 13.16 [Dispute resolution service]. We agree and amended section 14.2(j) accordingly.

(p) Notice to clients by non-resident registrants

We received comments requiring clarifications on the meaning of physical place of business. We also received a comment expressing the view that we should consider revising section 14.5 to exempt all registered firms who have a head office in Canada from the requirement to provide a section 14.5 notice to those of its clients who live in any other Canadian province or territory, regardless of whether the registered firm has a place of business in that Canadian province or territory.

We amended section 14.5 by adding an exception to the requirement to provide the risk notice to clients in a local jurisdiction if the firm has its head office in Canada and is registered in the local jurisdiction. The Rule no longer refers to a physical place of business.

(q) Account activity reporting

i. Trade confirmations

Further to the June 2010 Proposal, we are adding a requirement in section 14.12(5) for investment fund managers to send trade confirmations in certain circumstances. One commenter has expressed the view that section 8.6(1) exempts a portfolio manager from the requirement to register as an exempt market dealer if the portfolio manager acts as adviser and as investment fund manager to a fund, and the trades in units of the fund are with managed accounts of the portfolio manager. The commenter suggested that one unintended consequence of the addition of section 14.12(5) in the June 2010 Proposal is that it reinstates the requirement to send trade confirmations while the Rule exempts the firm relying on the section 8.6 exemption from this requirement. We agree with the commenter and have added a new subsection 14.12(6) which states that the trade confirmation requirement does not apply to trades made in reliance on section 8.6.

We received a comment expressing the view that 14.12 of the Companion Policy should be amended to confirm that the existing documentation is sufficient to satisfy a dealer's outsourcing obligations. In response to this comment, we reiterate that firms may meet their obligations in a variety of ways, and our expectation is that firms ensure they are meeting the requirements to oversee their service providers. The level of oversight and the determination as to whether existing arrangements meet those requirements is up to the firm. We confirm that the guidance on outsourcing is not retroactive.

ii. Account statements

We received informative comments on our consultation on what securities are required to be reported in account statements and on the determination of the value of the securities reported in account statements. We have not made the proposed amendments to section 14.14 of the Rule that would have required that securities be valued using fair value. Section 14.14 continues to refer to market value.

April 15, 2011 22 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

We were asked to provide further clarity for scholarship plan dealers with respect to account reporting, given that these firms are scholarship plan dealers and investment fund managers of scholarship plans. We did not make any change to the Rule or the Companion Policy, as the dealer has the responsibility to send the account statements, and dual registration does not impact this requirement. The dealer may however outsource this function to the investment fund manager, but the dealer remains responsible for the reporting it outsources. We provide guidance on outsourcing in the Companion Policy.

On the timelines for providing account statements, we received a comment to the effect that the requirement to deliver monthly statements would apply to the dealer's registration as an exempt market dealer but not to the dealer's registration as a mutual fund dealer creating a misalignment in timing of delivery of statements. Each category of registration has its own requirements, which in certain cases may not align for registrants in multiple registration categories. We expect compliance with the Rule as prescribed for each category.

We were requested to clarify that registered dealers can continue to rely on third-party pricing providers when an observable market price is unavailable. We confirm that third-party pricing providers can be used by registrants to determine valuation of securities where an observable market price is unavailable, provided that there is adequate oversight of the service providers by the registrant in accordance with the guidance on outsourcing in the Companion Policy.

We received comments suggesting that registrants should be exempt from the requirement to send account statements where another party is sending a statement. We provide guidance on outsourcing in the Companion Policy.

3. Responses to comments received on NI 33-109 and related Forms

(a) NI 33-109

We received a comment that the definition of "permitted individual" in NI 33-109 should be revised to clarify that a permitted individual may also be a registered individual. We amended the definition accordingly. We clarified the guidance in 33-109CP to confirm that a permitted individual may or may not be a registered individual.

One commenter has stated the CSA should consider extending the deadline from 7 days to 10 business days to report material changes (for example, outside business activities, criminal disclosure, etc.) since it can take time for registered firms to review the individual's information for completeness and gather the necessary supporting documents prior to reporting the change on the National Registration Database (NRD). We agree that longer timelines for filings are appropriate and changed all 5 business day and 7-day time periods to 10 days. Please note that the revised 10 day period is not 10 business days.

(b) Form 33-109F1 Notice of Termination of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals

One commenter has asserted that section 4 of Item 5 of Form 33-109F1 (which requires disclosure of "any written complaints, civil claims and/or arbitration notices filed against the individual or against the firm about the individual's securities-related activities..." in the past 12 months) is too broad in its scope. We disagree with the commenter. Written complaints are usually serious enough to warrant disclosure in section 4 of Item 5. We require this information in order to assess continued fitness for registration of the individual.

(c) Form 33-109F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals

We received several comments on this form:

- one commenter stated that the instructions contained in this form, which advises the applicant to contact the
 compliance, registration or legal department of the sponsoring firm or a legal advisor if they have any
 questions relating to the information contained on the application, should be removed. The commenter is of
 the view that unless the legal adviser is familiar with securities regulations pertaining to disclosures, they could
 provide the registrant with inappropriate advice. This has occurred on a number of occasions where applicants
 failed to provide required information based on advice received from an outside legal source. Consequently,
 we amended the instructions to indicate that the applicant should consult with a legal advisor with securities
 regulation experience;
- in response to the comment that since "branch manager" is no longer an IIROC category this field should be updated to indicate *Name of Supervisor or Branch Manager*. We agree and made this change;
- one commenter suggested the language in the third section of Item 8.4 of Schedule F be amended to only relate to relevant experience. We disagree. This schedule is meant to capture level of responsibility, how much time has been spent on these activities and the applicant's continuous education activities. These elements combine to form a description of relevant experience;

April 15, 2011 23 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- one commenter stated that we should amend paragraph 2 of the guidance notes which advises applicants that
 they must disclose offences even if an absolute or conditional discharge has been granted (except as per
 outlined exceptions) or the charge has been dismissed, withdrawn or stayed. The commenter does not believe
 this is relevant information. We have not changed this paragraph because we believe that, although the
 charges may no longer be outstanding, they may form part of the assessment of the applicant's fitness for
 registration;
- we received a comment to the effect that the requirement to provide a listing of all individual creditors included
 in a bankruptcy or proposal which has been discharged is superfluous and that it should be sufficient to
 provide the total outstanding amount owing at the time of the bankruptcy or proposal. We disagree. The list of
 creditors is relevant in assessing the solvency of the applicant;
- we did not amend the form to indicate whether another business activity results in a shared premises situation; and
- in response to the comment that we should append a specific form for the submission to jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service for individuals, we added guidance in 33-109CP indicating that the form used by the firm is an acceptable format to the regulator.

(d) Form 33-109F5 Change of Registration Information

We agree with the comment that we should add the NRD number and the registration categories of the firm, and have made this change.

(e) Form 33-109F6 Firm Registration

We received several comments on the requirements to provide information on "specified affiliates"; commenters stated that they consider the list of specified affiliates to be too broad and onerous to provide this disclosure. We note that, as outlined in Part 9 *Certification*, all information must be provided to the best of the applicant's knowledge and after reasonable inquiry. We acknowledge that this disclosure will vary according to the size of the firm and the number of affiliates. We amended Parts 7 and 8 to limit the information that must be provided to the last seven years in order that this disclosure is less onerous.

We received a request to clarify the meaning of "significant conflicts of interest" in section 6.2 of Form 33-109F6. As this is a principle based requirement, we expect registrants to make this determination according to the nature of the conflict and the size and activities of the firm.

List of commenters

- Advocis
- Alternative Investment Management Association Canada
- BMO Financial Group's Private Client Group
- Borden Ladner Gervais LLP
- Canadian Bankers Association of Canada
- Canadian Foundation for Advancement of Investor Rights
- Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
- Canadian Investor Protection Fund
- Chambre de la sécurité financière (available on the AMF website only)
- CI Investments Inc.
- CSI Global Education, Inc.
- Edward Jones
- Exempt Market Dealers Association of Canada
- Fidelity Investments Canada ULC
- Gestion Universitas (available on the AMF website only)
- IGM Financial Inc.

April 15, 2011 24 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- Independent Financial Brokers of Canada
- Investment Funds Institute of Canada
- Investment Industry Association of Canada
- Irwin, White & Jennings counsel to Growth Works Capital Ltd.
- Lycos Asset Management Inc.
- Manulife Securities Incorporated and Manulife Securities Investment Services Inc.
- Mouvement d'éducation et de défense des actionnaires (MÉDAC) (available on the AMF website only)
- Mouvement Desjardins (available on the AMF website only)
- Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada
- Nexus Investment Management Inc.
- Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLP
- RBC Dominion Securities Inc.
- RESP Dealers Association of Canada
- Rogers Group Financial
- Stikeman Elliot LLP
- Stonegate Private Counsel

April 15, 2011 25 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX C

ADOPTION OF THE INSTRUMENT

The Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA) are implementing amendments (the Amendments) to National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements and Exemptions (NI 31-103 or the Rule), Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements and Exemptions (31-103CP) and National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information, Companion Policy 33-109CP Registration Information and related forms (NI 33-109) (collectively, the Instrument).

The amendments to NI 31-103 and to NI 33-109 will be implemented as:

- a rule in each of Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba, Newfoundland and Labrador, Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, Ontario and Prince Edward Island
- a regulation in each of Québec, the Northwest Territories, Nunavut and the Yukon Territory
- a commission regulation in Saskatchewan

The amendments to 31-103CP will be adopted as a policy in each of the jurisdictions represented by the CSA.

In Ontario, the Amendments and other required materials were delivered to the Minister of Finance on April 15, 2011. The Minister may approve or reject the Rule or return it for further consideration. If the Minister approves the Rule or does not take any further action, the Amendments will come into force on July 11, 2011.

In Québec, the Amendments are adopted as a regulation made under section 331.1 of the Securities Act (Québec) and must be approved, with or without amendment, by the Minister of Finance. The regulation will come into force on the date of its publication in the Gazette officielle du Québec or on any later date specified in the regulation. It is also published in the Bulletin of the Autorité des marchés financiers.

In British Columbia, the implementation of the Amendments is subject to ministerial approval. Provided all necessary approvals are obtained, British Columbia expects the Rule to come into force on July 11, 2011.

April 15, 2011 26 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX D

AMENDMENTS TO NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103 REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS AND EXEMPTIONS

- National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements and Exemptions is amended by this Instrument.
- The title is amended by replacing "and Exemptions" with ". Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations".
- 3. Subsection 1.1 is amended by
 - (a) deleting the definition of "NI 45-106",
 - (b) replacing paragraph (d) of the definition of "permitted client" with the following:
 - (d) a person or company registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as an adviser, investment dealer, mutual fund dealer or exempt market dealer;, **and**
 - (c) by replacing "NI 45-106" wherever the expression occurs with "National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions".
- 4. Subsection 1.3 (1) is amended
 - (a) in paragraphs (a) and (b) by replacing "registered firm" with "person or company",
 - (b) in subparagraph (b)(i) by replacing "firm" wherever the expression occurs with "person or company", and
 - (c) in subparagraph (b)(ii) by replacing "firm's" with "person or company's".
- 5. Section 3.1 is amended
 - (a) in the definition of "Canadian Investment Funds Exam" by replacing "Canadian Investment Funds Exam" with "Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam",
 - (b) by replacing "Investment Funds Institute of Canada" wherever it occurs with "IFSE Institute"; and
 - (c) by adding the following after the definition of "Canadian Securities Course Exam":

"Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination;"

- 6. Section 3.3 is replaced with the following:
 - 3.3 Time limits on examination requirements
 - (1) For the purpose of this Part, an individual is deemed to have not passed an examination unless the individual passed the examination not more than 36 months before the date of his or her application for registration.
 - (2) Subsection (1) does not apply if the individual passed the examination more than 36 months before the date of his or her application and has met one of the following conditions:
 - (a) the individual was registered in the same category in any jurisdiction of Canada at any time during the 36-month period before the date of his or her application;
 - (b) the individual has gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience during the 36-month period before the date of his or her application.
 - (3) For the purpose of paragraph (2)(a), an individual is not considered to have been registered during any period in which the individual's registration was suspended.

April 15, 2011 27 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- 7. **Subsection 3.4 (1) is amended by adding "**, including understanding the structure, features and risks of each security the individual recommends" **after** "competently".
- 8. Section 3.5 is replaced with the following:

3.5 Mutual fund dealer – dealing representative

A dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer must not act as a dealer in respect of the securities listed in section 7.1(2)(b) unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has passed the Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam, the Canadian Securities Course Exam or the Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam;
- (b) the individual has met the requirements of section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative];
- (c) the individual has earned a CFA Charter and has gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration;
- (d) the individual is exempt from section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative] because of subsection 16.10(1) [proficiency for dealing and advising representatives].

9. Section 3.6 is amended

- (a) in subparagraph (a)(i) by replacing "Canadian Investment Funds Exam" with "Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam",
- (b) in subparagraph (a)(ii) by replacing "or" with "," and by adding "or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam;" after "Compliance Exam"; and
- (c) by adding the following after paragraph (b):
 - (c) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual because of subsection 16.9(2) [registration of chief compliance officers].
- 10. Section 3.7 is replaced with the following:

3.7 Scholarship plan dealer – dealing representative

A dealing representative of a scholarship plan dealer must not act as a dealer in respect of the securities listed in section 7.1(2)(c) unless the individual has passed the Sales Representative Proficiency Exam.

- 11. Section 3.8 is amended by adding, in paragraph (c), after "Exam", "or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam."
- 12. Section 3.9 is replaced with the following:

3.9 Exempt market dealer – dealing representative

A dealing representative of an exempt market dealer must not perform an activity listed in section 7.1(2)(d) unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has passed the Canadian Securities Course Exam;
- (b) the individual has passed the Exempt Market Products Exam;
- (c) the individual has earned a CFA Charter and has gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration;
- (d) the individual satisfies the conditions set out in section 3.11 [portfolio manager– advising representative];
- (e) the individual is exempt from section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative] because of subsection 16.10(1) [proficiency for dealing and advising representatives].

April 15, 2011 28 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

13. Section 3.10 is replaced with the following:

3.10 Exempt market dealer - chief compliance officer

An exempt market dealer must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has passed the following:
 - (i) the Exempt Market Products Exam or the Canadian Securities Course Exam; and
 - (ii) the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam;
- (b) the individual has met the requirements of section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer];
- (c) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual because of subsection 16.9(2) [registration of chief compliance officers].

14. Section 3.11 is replaced with the following:

3.11 Portfolio manager – advising representative

An advising representative of a portfolio manager must not act as an adviser on behalf of the portfolio manager unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has earned a CFA Charter and has gained 12 months of relevant investment management experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration;
- (b) the individual has received the Canadian Investment Manager designation and has gained 48 months of relevant investment management experience, 12 months of which was gained in the 36-month period before applying for registration.

15. Section 3.12 is replaced with the following:

3.12 Portfolio manager – associate advising representative

An associate advising representative of a portfolio manager must not act as an adviser on behalf of the portfolio manager unless any of the following apply:

- the individual has completed Level 1 of the Chartered Financial Analyst program and has gained 24 months of relevant investment management experience;
- (b) the individual has received the Canadian Investment Manager designation and has gained 24 months of relevant investment management experience.

16. Section 3.13 is amended

- (a) by replacing subparagraph (a)(ii) with the following:
 - (ii) passed the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam and, unless the individual has earned the CFA Charter, the Canadian Securities Course Exam, and;
- (b) in clause (a)(iii)(B) by adding "also" after "and",
- (c) in paragraph (b) by replacing "the PDO" with "either the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying",
- (d) in subparagraph (b)(ii) by adding "also" after "and", and
- (e) in paragraph (c) by replacing "the PDO" with "either the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying".

April 15, 2011 29 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

17. Section 3.14 is amended

- (a) by replacing subparagraph (a)(ii) with the following:
 - (ii) passed the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam and, unless the individual has earned the CFA Charter, the Canadian Securities Course Exam, and,
- (b) in clause (a)(iii)(B) by adding "also" after "and",
- (c) in subparagraph (b)(i) by adding "Course" after "Canadian Investment Funds",
- (d) in subparagraph b(ii) by adding "or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam" after "Exam",
- (e) by adding the following after paragraph (c):
 - (d) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual because of subsection 16.9(2) [registration of chief compliance officers].

18. Section 3.15 is amended

- (a) in subsection (1) by adding "that is a member of IIROC" after "dealer", and
- (b) in subsection (2) by adding "that is a member of the MFDA" after "dealer".
- 19. Subsection 3.16(3) is replaced with the following:
 - (3) In Québec, the requirements listed in subsection (2) do not apply to a registered individual who is a dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer to the extent equivalent requirements to those listed in subsection (2) are applicable to the registered individual under the regulations in Québec.
- 20. Section 4.1 is replaced with the following:
 - 4.1 Restriction on acting for another registered firm
 - (1) A registered firm must not permit an individual to act as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative of the registered firm if the individual
 - (a) acts as an officer, partner or director of another registered firm that is not an affiliate of the first-mentioned registered firm, or
 - (b) is registered as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative of another registered firm.
 - (2) Paragraph (1)(b) does not apply in respect of a representative whose registration as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative of more than one registered firm was granted before July 11, 2011.
- 21. Subsection 4.2(3) is amended by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "the regulator".
- 22. Section 6.7 is replaced with the following:
 - 6.7 Exception for individuals involved in a hearing or proceeding

Despite section 6.6, if a hearing or proceeding concerning a suspended registrant is commenced under securities legislation or under the rules of an SRO, the registrant's registration remains suspended.

23. Section 7.1 is amended

- (a) in subparagraph (2)(b)(ii) by striking out "except in Quebec,", and
- (b) by repealing subsection (3).

April 15, 2011 30 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

24. Section 8.6 is amended

- (a) by replacing the heading with "Investment fund trades by adviser to managed account",
- (b) in subsection (1) by replacing "a non-prospectus qualified" with "an",
- (c) in subsection (2) by striking out "non-prospectus qualified", and
- (d) in subsection (3) by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "regulator",
- (e) in subsection (3) by replacing "7 days" with "10 days".
- **25. Section 8.14 is amended by replacing** "NI 45-106" **with** "National Instrument 45-106 *Prospectus and Registration Exemptions*".
- 26. Subsection 8.16 (1) is amended by deleting "control person" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of NI 45-106;" and by replacing "NI 45-106" with "National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions" wherever the expression occurs.
- **27. Subsection 8.17 (5) is amended by replacing "**8.3.1" **with "**8.4" **and "**NI 45-106" **with "**National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions".

28. Section 8.18 is amended

(a) in subsection (1) by deleting "," after "In this section" and by adding the following before the definition of "foreign security":

"Canadian permitted client" means a permitted client referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (e), (g) or (i) to (r) of the definition of "permitted client" in section 1.1 if

- (a) in the case of an individual, the individual is a resident of Canada;
- (b) in the case of a trust, the terms of the trust expressly provide that those terms are governed by the laws of a jurisdiction of Canada;
- (c) in any other case, the permitted client is incorporated, organized or continued under the laws of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada.
- (b) in subsection (2) by adding "any of" after "in respect of",
- (c) in paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) by adding "Canadian" before "permitted client",
- (d) in subsection (3) by replacing "exemptions" with "exemption" and "are" with "is",
- (e) by replacing paragraph (3)(d) with the following:
 - (d) the person or company is acting as principal or as agent for
 - (i) the issuer of the securities
 - (ii) a permitted client, or
 - (iii) a person or company that is not a resident of Canada;
- (f) by replacing paragraph (4) with the following:
 - (4) The exemption under subsection (2) is not available to a person or company in respect of a trade with a Canadian permitted client unless one of the following applies:
 - (a) the Canadian permitted client is a person or company registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as an adviser or dealer;

April 15, 2011 31 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) the person or company has notified the Canadian permitted client of all of the following:
 - (i) the person or company is not registered in the local jurisdiction to make the trade;
 - the foreign jurisdiction in which the head office or principal place of business of the person or company is located;
 - (iii) all or substantially all of the assets of the person or company may be situated outside of Canada:
 - (iv) there may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the person or company because of the above;
 - (v) the name and address of the agent for service of process of the person or company in the local jurisdiction.

(g) by replacing subsection (5) with the following:

(5) A person or company that relied on the exemption in subsection (2) during the 12 month period preceding December 1 of a year must notify the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority of that fact by December 1 of that year, and

(h) by adding the following after subsection (6):

- (7) The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a person or company that is exempt from the dealer registration requirement under this section if the person or company provides advice to a client and the advice is
 - (a) in connection with an activity or trade described under subsection (2), and
 - (b) not in respect of a managed account of the client.
- 29. Subparagraph 8.19(2)(a)(i) is amended by adding, after "dealer", "in respect of securities listed in section 7.1(2)(b)".
- 30. Paragraph 8.22 (2)(d) is amended by replacing "\$25 000" with "\$25,000".
- 31. The Note to Section 8.25 is amended by replacing "7.24" with "8.25".
- 32. Section 8.26 is amended by
 - (a) replacing the definition of "permitted client" with the following:

"Canadian permitted client" means a permitted client referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (c), (e), (g) or (i) to (r) of the definition of "permitted client" in section 1.1 if

- (a) in the case of an individual, the individual is a resident of Canada;
- (b) in the case of a trust, the terms of the trust expressly provide that those terms are governed by the laws of a jurisdiction of Canada; and
- (c) in any other case, the permitted client is incorporated, organized or continued under the laws of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada, *and*

(b) replacing paragraphs (3), (4) and (5) with the following:

- (3) The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a person or company in respect of its acting as an adviser to a Canadian permitted client if the adviser does not advise that client on securities of Canadian issuers, unless providing that advice is incidental to its providing advice on a foreign security.
- (4) The exemption under subsection (3) is not available unless all of the following apply:
 - (a) the adviser's head office or principal place of business is in a foreign jurisdiction;

April 15, 2011 32 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) the adviser is registered or operates under an exemption from registration, under the securities legislation of the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal place of business is located, in a category of registration that permits it to carry on the activities in that jurisdiction that registration as an adviser would permit it to carry on in the local jurisdiction;
- (c) the adviser engages in the business of an adviser in the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal place of business is located;
- (d) as at the end of its most recently completed financial year, not more than 10% of the aggregate consolidated gross revenue of the adviser, its affiliates and its affiliated partnerships was derived from the portfolio management activities of the adviser, its affiliates and its affiliated partnerships in Canada;
- (e) before advising a client, the adviser notifies the client of all of the following:
 - the adviser is not registered in the local jurisdiction to provide the advice described under subsection (3);
 - (ii) the foreign jurisdiction in which the adviser's head office or principal place of business is located:
 - (iii) all or substantially all of the adviser's assets may be situated outside of Canada;
 - (iv) there may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the adviser because of the above;
 - the name and address of the adviser's agent for service of process in the local jurisdiction;
- (f) the adviser has submitted to the securities regulatory authority a completed Form 31-103F2 Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service.
- (5) A person or company that relied on the exemption in subsection (3) during the 12 month period preceding December 1 of a year must notify the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority of that fact by December 1 of that year.

33. Section 8.29 is amended by adding the following after subsection (2):

(3) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, subsection 35.1 of the *Securities Act* (Ontario) provides a general exemption from the registration requirement for trust companies, trust corporations and other specified financial institutions.

34. Section 9.3 is amended

- (a) in the heading by replacing "SRO" with "IIROC",
- (b) by replacing the introductory sentence in subsection (1) with
 - (1) Unless it is also registered as an investment fund manager, a registered firm that is a member of IIROC is exempt from the following requirements:"
- (c) in subsection (1) by inserting the following after paragraph (I):
 - (I.1) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
- (d) by replacing subsection (2) with the following:
 - (2) If a registered firm is a member of IIROC and is registered as an investment fund manager, the firm is exempt from the following requirements:
 - (a) section 12.3 [insurance dealer];

April 15, 2011 33 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];
- (c) section 12.12 [delivering financial information dealer];
- (d) subsection 13.2(3) [know your client];
- (e) section 13.3 [suitability];
- (f) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];
- (g) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
- (h) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
- (i) subsection 14.2(2) [relationship disclosure information];
- (j) section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust];
- (k) section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement];
- (I) section 14.9 [securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement];
- (m) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation]., and
- (e) by repealing subsections (3), (4), (5) and (6).
- 35. This instrument is amended by adding the following after section 9.3:
 - 9.4 Exemptions from certain requirements for MFDA members
 - (1) Unless it is also registered as an exempt market dealer, a scholarship plan dealer or an investment fund manager, a registered firm that is a member of the MFDA is exempt from the following requirements:
 - (a) section 12.1 [capital requirements];
 - (b) section 12.2 [notifying the regulator of a subordination agreement];
 - (c) section 12.3 [insurance dealer];
 - (d) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];
 - (e) section 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation];
 - (f) section 12.10 [annual financial statements];
 - (g) section 12.11 [interim financial information];
 - (h) section 12.12 [delivering financial information dealer];
 - (i) section 13.3 [suitability];
 - (j) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];
 - (k) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
 - (I) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
 - (m) subsection 14.2(2) [relationship disclosure information];
 - (n) section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust];
 - (o) section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement];

April 15, 2011 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (p) section 14.9 [securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement];
- (q) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation].
- (2) If a registered firm is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an exempt market dealer, scholarship plan dealer or investment fund manager, the firm is exempt from the following requirements:
 - (a) section 12.3 [insurance dealer];
 - (b) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];
 - (c) section 13.3 [suitability];
 - (d) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];
 - (e) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
 - (f) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
 - (g) subsection 14.2(2) [relationship disclosure information];
 - (h) section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust];
 - (i) section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement];
 - (j) section 14.9 [securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement];
 - (k) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation].
- (3) Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply in Québec.
- (4) In Québec, the requirements listed in subsection (1) do not apply to a mutual fund dealer to the extent equivalent requirements to those listed in subsection (1) are applicable to the mutual fund dealer under the regulations in Québec.
- 36. Section 10.6 is amended
 - (a) in the heading by adding "or proceeding" after "hearing", and
 - (b) by adding "or proceeding" after "hearing".
- 37. Subsection 11.2 (2) is replaced with the following:
 - (2) A registered firm must designate an individual under subsection (1) who is one of the following:
 - the chief executive officer of the registered firm or, if the firm does not have a chief executive officer, an individual acting in a capacity similar to a chief executive officer;
 - (b) the sole proprietor of the registered firm;
 - (c) the officer in charge of a division of the registered firm, if the activity that requires the firm to register occurs only within the division and the firm has significant other business activities.
- 38. The heading of section 11.4 is amended by replacing "board" with "the board of directors".
- 39. Subsection 11.6(1) and (2) are replaced with the following:
 - (1) A registered firm must keep a record that it is required to keep under securities legislation
 - (a) for 7 years from the date the record is created,
 - (b) in a safe location and in a durable form, and

April 15, 2011 35 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (c) in a manner that permits it to be provided to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority in a reasonable period of time,
- A record required to be provided to the regulator, or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority must be provided in a format that is capable of being read by the regulator or the securities regulatory authority.
- 40. The note to s. 11.6 is amended by replacing "require" with "required".
- 41. Section 11.9 is replaced with the following:

11.9 Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets

- (1) A registrant must give the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority written notice in accordance with subsection (2) if it proposes to acquire any of the following:
 - (a) beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, a security of a registered firm;
 - (b) beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, a security of a person or company of which a registered firm is a subsidiary;
 - (c) all or a substantial part of the assets of a registered firm.
- (2) The notice required under subsection (1) must be delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority at least 30 days before the proposed acquisition and must include all relevant facts regarding the acquisition sufficient to enable the regulator or the securities regulatory authority to determine if the acquisition is
 - (a) likely to give rise to a conflict of interest,
 - (b) likely to hinder the registered firm in complying with securities legislation,
 - (c) inconsistent with an adequate level of investor protection, or
 - (d) otherwise prejudicial to the public interest.
- (3) Subsection (1) does not apply to the following:
 - a proposed acquisition if the beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, the person or company whose security is to be acquired will not change;
 - (b) a registrant who, alone or in combination with any other person or company, proposes to acquire securities that, together with the securities already beneficially owned, or over which direct or indirect control or direction is already exercised, do not exceed more than 10% of any class or series of securities.
- (4) Except in Ontario and British Columbia, if, within 30 days of the regulator's, or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority's receipt of a notice under subsection (1), the regulator or the securities regulatory authority notifies the registrant making the acquisition that the regulator or the securities regulatory authority objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator or the securities regulatory authority approves it.
- (5) In Ontario, if, within 30 days of the regulator's receipt of a notice under subsection (1)(a) or (c), the regulator notifies the registrant making the acquisition that the regulator objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator approves it.
- (6) Following receipt of a notice of objection under subsection (4) or (5), the person or company who submitted the notice to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request an opportunity to be heard on the matter.
- 42. Section 11.10 is replaced with the following:

11.10 Registered firm whose securities are acquired

(1) A registered firm must give the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority written notice in accordance with subsection (2) if it knows or has reason to believe that any person or company, alone or in

April 15, 2011 36 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

combination with any other person or company, is about to acquire, or has acquired, beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, 10% or more of any class or series of voting securities of any of the following:

- (a) the registered firm;
- (b) a person or company of which the registered firm is a subsidiary.
- (2) The notice required under subsection (1) must,
 - (a) be delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible,
 - (b) include the name of each person or company involved in the acquisition, and
 - (c) after the registered firm has applied reasonable efforts to gather all relevant facts, include facts regarding the acquisition sufficient to enable the regulator or the securities regulatory authority to determine if the acquisition is
 - (i) likely to give rise to a conflict of interest,
 - (ii) likely to hinder the registered firm in complying with securities legislation,
 - (iii) inconsistent with an adequate level of investor protection, or
 - (iv) otherwise prejudicial to the public interest.
- (3) This section does not apply to an acquisition in which the beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, a registered firm does not change.
- (4) This section does not apply if notice of the acquisition was provided under section 11.9 [registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets].
- (5) Except in British Columbia and Ontario, if, within 30 days of the regulator's or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority's receipt of a notice under subsection (1), the regulator or the securities regulatory authority notifies the person or company making the acquisition that the regulator or the securities regulatory authority objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator or the securities regulatory authority approves it.
- (6) In Ontario, if, within 30 days of the regulator's receipt of a notice under subsection (1)(a), the regulator notifies the person or company making the acquisition that the regulator objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator approves it.
- (7) Following receipt of a notice of objection under subsection (5) or (6), the person or company proposing to make the acquisition may request an opportunity to be heard on the matter.

43. Section 12.1 is replaced with the following:

12.1 Capital requirements

- (1) If, at any time, the excess working capital of a registered firm, as calculated in accordance with Form 31-103F1 *Calculation of Excess Working Capital*, is less than zero, the registered firm must notify the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible.
- (2) The excess working capital of a registered firm, as calculated in accordance with Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, must not be less than zero for 2 consecutive days.
- (3) For the purpose of completing Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, the minimum capital is
 - (a) \$25,000, for a registered adviser that is not also a registered dealer or a registered investment fund manager,
 - (b) \$50,000, for a registered dealer that is not also a registered investment fund manager, and
 - (c) \$100,000, for a registered investment fund manager.

April 15, 2011 37 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (4) Paragraph (3)(c) does not apply to a registered investment fund manager that is exempt from the dealer registration requirement under section 8.6 [investment fund trades by adviser to managed account] in respect of all investment funds for which it acts as adviser.
- (5) This section does not apply to a registered firm that is a member of IIROC and is registered as an investment fund manager if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than \$100,000 as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 *Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report*;
 - (b) the firm notifies the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible if, at any time, the firm's risk adjusted capital, as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 *Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report* is less than zero;
 - (c) the risk adjusted capital of the firm, as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 *Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report*, is not less than zero for 2 consecutive days.
- (6) This section does not apply to a mutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA if it is also registered as an exempt market dealer, a scholarship plan dealer or an investment fund manager and if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 *MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report*, of not less than
 - (i) \$50,000, if the firm is registered as an exempt market dealer or scholarship plan dealer,
 - (ii) \$100,000, if the firm is registered as an investment fund manager;
 - (b) the firm notifies the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible if, at any time, the firm's risk adjusted capital, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report is less than zero;
 - (c) the risk adjusted capital of the firm, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 *MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report*, is not less than zero for 2 consecutive days.

44. Section 12.2 is amended

- (a) by replacing the heading with "Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a subordination agreement".
- (b) by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "regulator", and
- (c) by replacing "5 days" with "10 days".
- 45. Subsection 12.3(2) is amended by deleting "and".
- 46. Subsections 12.4(2) and (3) are amended by deleting "and" wherever it occurs after "Appendix A".
- 47. Subsection 12.5 (2) is amended by deleting "and" after "Appendix A".
- 48. Section 12.7 is amended by
 - (a) Replacing the heading with "Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a change, claim or cancellation".
 - (b) by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "regulator".
- 49. Section 12.8 is replaced with the following:
 - 12.8 Direction by the regulator or the securities regulatory authority to conduct an audit or review

A registered firm must direct its auditor in writing to conduct any audit or review required by the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority during its registration and must deliver a copy of the direction to the regulator or the securities regulatory authority

April 15, 2011 38 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) with its application for registration, and
- (b) no later than the 10th day after the registered firm changes its auditor.
- 50. Section 12.10 is amended in subsections (1) and (2) by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "regulator".
- 51. Subsection 12.11(1) and (2) is amended by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "regulator".
- 52. Section 12.12 is amended
 - (a) by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "regulator" wherever the expression occurs.
 - (b) by adding, after section (2), the following:
 - (2.1) If a registered firm is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an exempt market dealer or scholarship plan dealer, the firm is exempt from paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than \$50,000 as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report;
 - (b) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1 *MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report*, no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any;
 - (c) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1 *MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report*, no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding month, if any.
 - (c) in subsection (3) by adding "unless it is also registered in another category" after "exempt market dealer".
- 53. Section 12.13 is amended by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "regulator".
- 54. Section 12.14 is amended
 - by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "regulator" wherever the expression occurs;
 - (b) by adding, after subsection (3), the following:
 - (4) If a registered firm is a member of IIROC and is registered as an investment fund manager, the firm is exempt from paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) if
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than \$100,000, as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 *Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report*;
 - (b) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed IIROC Form 1 *Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report*, no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any, and
 - (c) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed IIROC Form 1 *Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report*, no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding month, if any.

April 15, 2011 39 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (5) If a registered firm is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an investment fund manager, the firm is exempt from paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) if
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than \$100,000, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 *MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report*,
 - (b) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1 *MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report*, no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any, and
 - (c) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1 *MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report*, no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding month, if any.
- 55. Section 13.1 is amended by adding "an investment fund manager in respect of its activities as" after "apply to".
- 56. Section 13.2 is amended
 - (a) in subsection (3) by deleting "under paragraph (2)(a)",
 - (b) in subparagraph (3)(b)(i) by replacing "10%" with "25%", and
 - (c) by adding the following after subsection (6):
 - (7) Paragraph (2)(b) does not apply to a registrant in respect of a client for which the registrant only trades securities referred to in paragraphs 7.1(2)(b) and 7.1(2)(c).
- 57. Paragraph 13.6 (b) is amended by adding ", or is managed by an affiliate of," after "affiliate of".
- 58. Section 13.8 is replaced with the following:

Permitted referral arrangements

- **13.8** A registered firm, or a registered individual whose registration is sponsored by the registered firm, must not participate in a referral arrangement with another person or company unless,
 - before a client is referred by or to the registrant, the terms of the referral arrangement are set out in a written agreement between the registered firm and the person or company;
 - (b) the registered firm records all referral fees, and
 - (c) the registrant ensures that the information prescribed by subsection 13.10(1) [disclosing referral arrangements to clients] is provided to the client in writing before the party receiving the referral either opens an account for the client or provides services to the client.
- 59. Section 13.9 is amended by
 - (a) replacing "registrant that refers" with "registered firm, or a registered individual whose registration is sponsored by the registered firm, must not refer",
 - (b) replacing "must take" with "unless the firm first takes", and
 - (c) deleting "himself, herself, or".
- 60. Subsection 13.10 (1) is amended
 - (a) in paragraph (a) by replacing "referral arrangement" with "agreement referred to in paragraph 13.8(a)",
 - (b) in paragraph (b) by replacing "referral arrangement" with "agreement", and

April 15, 2011 40 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(c) in paragraph (c) by replacing "referral arrangement" with "agreement".

61. Section 13.12 is amended by adding the following:

(2) Notwithstanding subsection (1), an investment fund manager may lend money on a short term basis to an investment fund it manages, if the loan is for the purpose of funding redemptions of its securities or meeting expenses incurred by the investment fund in the normal course of its business.

62. Subsection 13.13 (2) is amended by

- (a) adding "one of the following applies" after "if",
- (b) repealing paragraph (b).

63. Section 13.14 is replaced with the following:

13.14 Application of this Division

- (1) This Division does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of its activities as an investment fund manager.
- (2) In Québec, a registered firm is deemed to comply with this Division if it complies with sections 168.1.1 to 168.1.3 of the *Securities Act* (Québec).

64. Section 14.1 is replaced with the following:

14.1 Investment fund managers exempt from Part 14

14.1 Other than sections 14.6 [holding client assets in trust], 14.12(5) [content and delivery of trade confirmation] and 14.14 [account statements], this Part does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of its activities as an investment fund manager.

65. Subsection 14.2 (2) is amended

- (a) by replacing paragraph (j) with the following:
 - (j) If section 13.16 applies to the registered firm, disclosure that independent dispute resolution or mediation services are available at the registered firm's expense, to resolve any dispute that might arise between the client and the firm about any trading or advising activity of the firm or one of its representatives; and
- (b) in paragraph (k) by adding "registered" after "that the".

66. Section 14.5 is replaced with the following:

14.5 Notice to clients by non-resident registrants

- (1) A registered firm whose head office is not located in the local jurisdiction must provide a client in the local jurisdiction with a statement in writing disclosing the following:
 - (a) the firm is not resident in the local jurisdiction;
 - the jurisdiction in Canada or the foreign jurisdiction in which the head office or the principal place of business of the firm is located;
 - (c) all or substantially all of the assets of the firm may be situated outside the local jurisdiction;
 - (d) there may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the firm because of the above;
 - (e) the name and address of the agent for service of process of the firm in the local jurisdiction.
- (2) This section does not apply to a registered firm whose head office is in Canada if the firm is registered in the local jurisdiction.

April 15, 2011 41 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

67. Section 14.12 is amended

- (a) in subsection (1) by replacing "Subject to subsection (2), a" with "A" and by adding "or, if the client consents in writing, to a registered adviser acting for the client," after "deliver to the client".
- (b) by replacing subsection (3) with the following:
 - (3) Paragraph (1)(h) does not apply if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the security is a security of a mutual fund that is established and managed by the registered dealer or by an affiliate of the registered dealer, in its capacity as investment fund manager of the mutual fund;
 - (b) the names of the dealer and the mutual fund are sufficiently similar to indicate that they are affiliated or related., **and**

(c) by adding the following after subsection (4):

- (5) A registered investment fund manager that has executed a redemption order received directly from a security holder must promptly deliver to the security holder a written confirmation of the redemption, setting out the following:
 - (a) the quantity and description of the security redeemed;
 - (b) the price per security received by the client;
 - (c) the commission, sales charge, service charge and any other amount charged in respect of the redemption;
 - (d) the settlement date of the redemption.
- (6) Section 14.12 (5) does not apply to trades in a security of an investment fund made on reliance on section 8.6.

68. Section 14.13 is amended

- (a) in the heading by replacing "Semi-annual confirmations" with "Confirmations", and
- (b) by repealing paragraph (d).

69. Section 14.14 is amended

- (a) in the heading by replacing "Client" with "Account",
- (b) in subsection (2) by deleting ", other than a mutual fund dealer," after "registered dealer",
- (c) by adding the following after subsection (2):
 - (2.1) Subsection (2) does not apply to a mutual fund dealer in connection with its activities as a dealer in respect of the securities listed in section 7.1(2)(b).
- (d) by adding the following after subsection (3):
 - (3.1) If there is no dealer of record for a security holder on the records of a registered investment fund manager, the investment fund manager must deliver a statement to the security holder at least once every 12 months.
- (e) by replacing subsection (4) with the following:
 - (4) A statement delivered under subsection (1), (2), (3) or (3.1) must include all of the following information for each transaction made for the client or security holder during the period covered by the statement:

April 15, 2011 42 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) the date of the transaction;
- (b) the type of transaction;
- (c) the name of the security;
- (d) the number of securities;
- (e) the price per security;
- (f) the total value of the transaction.

(f) by replacing subsection (5) with the following:

- (5) A statement delivered under subsection (1), (2), (3) or (3.1) must include all of the following information about the client's or security holder's account as at the end of the period for which the statement is made:
 - (a) the name and quantity of each security in the account;
 - (b) the market value of each security in the account;
 - (c) the total market value of each security position in the account;
 - (d) any cash balance in the account;
 - (e) the total market value of all cash and securities in the account, and
- (g) by adding the following after subsection (5):
 - (6) Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply to a scholarship plan dealer if both of the following apply:
 - (a) the dealer is not registered in another dealer or adviser category;
 - (b) the dealer delivers to the client a statement at least once every 12 months that provides the information in subsections (4) and (5).
- 70. Subsection 15.1 is amended by adding "in Québec" after "regulator".
- 71. Subsection 16.4 is amended
 - (a) in paragraph (1)(b) by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "regulator";
 - (b) in subsection (3) by adding "a" after "dealer or".
- 72. Subsection 16.5(1) is replaced with the following
 - (1) A person or company is not required to register in the local jurisdiction as an investment fund manager if it is registered, or has applied for registration, as an investment fund manager in the jurisdiction of Canada in which its head office is located.
 - (2) Subsection (1) is repealed on September 28, 2012.
- 73. Subsection 16.6(2) is replaced with the following
 - (2) Subsection (1) is repealed on September 28, 2012.
- 74. Subsections 16.7(3) and (4) are amended by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "regulator" wherever this expression occurs.
- 75. Subsection 16.8(b) is amended by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "regulator".

April 15, 2011 43 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

76. Subsection 16.9 is amended

- (a) in paragraph (1)(b), by adding "or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority" after "regulator", and
- (b) in subsection (2), by adding "in a jurisdiction of Canada" after "compliance officer".
- 77. Subsection 16.10 (1) is amended by adding "in a jurisdiction of Canada" after "compliance officer".
- 78. Subsection 16.16(1) is amended
 - (a) by adding "in a jurisdiction of Canada" after "registered firm", and
 - (b) in subsection (2) by replacing "2 years after this Instrument comes into force" with "on September 28, 2012".
- 79. Section 16.17 is replaced with the following:

16.17 Account statements – mutual fund dealers

- (1) Section 14.14 [account statements] does not apply to a person or company that was, on September 28, 2009, either of the following:
 - (a) a member of the MFDA;
 - (b) a mutual fund dealer in Québec, unless it was also a portfolio manager in Québec.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed on September 28, 2011.
- 80. Form 31-103F1 is replaced with the following:

FORM 31-103F1 CALCULATION OF EXCESS WORKING CAPITAL

Firm Name		
Capital Calculation		
(as at	with comparative figures as at)

	Component	Current period	Prior period
1.	Current assets		
2.	Less current assets not readily convertible into cash (e.g., prepaid expenses)		
3.	Adjusted current assets Line 1 minus line 2 =		
4.	Current liabilities		
5.	Add 100% of long-term related party debt unless the firm and the lender have executed a subordination agreement in the form set out in Appendix B and the firm has delivered a copy of the agreement to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority		

April 15, 2011 44 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	Component	Current period	Prior period
6.	Adjusted current liabilities Line 4 plus line 5 =		
7.	Adjusted working capital Line 3 minus line 6 =		
8.	Less minimum capital		
9.	Less market risk		
10.	Less any deductible under the bonding or insurance policy required under Part 12 of National Instrument 31-103, Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations		
11.	Less Guarantees		
12.	Less unresolved differences		
13.	Excess working capital		

Notes:

This form must be prepared using the accounting principles that you use to prepare your financial statements in accordance with National Instrument 52-107 *Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards*. Section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP *Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations* provides further guidance in respect of these accounting principles.

Line 5. Related-party debt – Refer to the CICA Handbook for the definition of "related party" for publicly accountable enterprises.

Line 8. Minimum Capital – The amount on this line must be not less than (a) \$25,000 for an adviser and (b) \$50,000 for a dealer. For an investment fund manager, the amount must be not less than \$100,000 unless subsection 12.1(4) applies.

Line 9. Market Risk – The amount on this line must be calculated according to the instructions set out in Schedule 1 to this Form.

Line 11. Guarantees – If the registered firm is guaranteeing the liability of another party, the total amount of the guarantee must be included in the capital calculation. If the amount of a guarantee is included in the firm's statement of financial position as a current liability and is reflected in line 4, do not include the amount of the guarantee on line 11.

Line 12. Unresolved differences – Any unresolved differences that could result in a loss from either firm or client assets must be included in the capital calculation. The examples below provide guidance as to how to calculate unresolved differences:

(i) If there is an unresolved difference relating to client securities, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the fair value of the client securities that are short, plus the applicable margin rate for those securities.

April 15, 2011 45 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (ii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to the registrant's investments, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the fair value of the investments (securities) that are short.
- (iii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to cash, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the amount of the shortfall in cash.

Please refer to section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations for further guidance on how to prepare and file this form.

Management Certification			
Registered Firm Name:			
We have examined the attac requirements as at		rtify that the firm is in compliance with the cap	ital
Name and Title	Signature -	Date	
2	- - -		

Schedule 1 of Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital (calculating line 9 [market risk])

For purposes of completing this form:

- (1) "Fair value" means the value of a security determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;
- (2) For each security whose value is included in line 1, Current Assets, multiply the fair value of the security by the margin rate for that security set out below. Add up the resulting amounts for all of the securities you hold. The total is the "market risk" to be entered on line 9.
- (a) Bonds, Debentures, Treasury Bills and Notes
- (i) Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by the Government of Canada, of the United Kingdom, of the United States of America and of any other national foreign government (provided such foreign government securities are currently rated Aaa or AAA by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor's Corporation, respectively), maturing (or called for redemption):

within 1 year: 1% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing

the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years:

over 3 years to 7 years:

over 7 years to 11 years:

4% of fair value

4% of fair value

4% of fair value

(ii) Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by any jurisdiction of Canada and obligations of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, maturing (or called for redemption):

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing

the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years: 3 % of fair value

April 15, 2011 46 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

over 3 years to 7 years:

over 7 years to 11 years:

over 11 years:

4% of fair value

5% of fair value

5% of fair value

(iii) Bonds, debentures or notes (not in default) of or guaranteed by any municipal corporation in Canada or the United Kingdom maturing:

within 1 year: 3% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing

the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years:

5 % of fair value
over 3 years to 7 years:

5 % of fair value
over 7 years to 11 years:

5 % of fair value
over 11 years:

5 % of fair value

- (iv) Other non-commercial bonds and debentures, (not in default): 10% of fair value
- (v) Commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes (not in default) and non-negotiable and non-transferable trust company and mortgage loan company obligations registered in the registered firm's name maturing:

within 1 year: 3% of fair value over 1 year to 3 years: 6 % of fair value over 3 years to 7 years: 7% of fair value over 7 years to 11 years: 10% of fair value over 11 years: 10% of fair value

(b) Bank Paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a Canadian chartered bank (and of Canadian chartered bank acceptances) maturing:

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the

number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

(c) Acceptable foreign bank paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a foreign bank, readily negotiable and transferable and maturing:

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the

number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

"Acceptable Foreign Bank Paper" consists of deposit certificates or promissory notes issued by a bank other than a Canadian chartered bank with a net worth (i.e., capital plus reserves) of not less than \$200,000,000.

(d) Mutual Funds

Securities of mutual funds qualified by prospectus for sale in any jurisdiction of Canada:

April 15, 2011 47 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (i) 5% of the net asset value per security as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure, where the fund is a money market mutual fund as defined in National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds; or
- (ii) the margin rate determined on the same basis as for listed stocks multiplied by the net asset value per security of the fund as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 *Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure*.

(e) Stocks

In this paragraph, "securities" includes rights and warrants and does not include bonds and debentures.

(i) On securities including investment fund securities, rights and warrants listed on any exchange in Canada or the United States of America:

Long Positions - Margin Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more - 50% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.75 to \$1.99 - 60% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.74 - 80% of fair value

Securities selling under \$1.50 – 100% of fair value

Short Positions - Credit Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more - 150% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.99 - \$3.00 per share

Securities selling at \$0.25 to \$1.49 - 200% of fair value

Securities selling at less than \$0.25 – fair value plus \$0.25 per shares

- (ii) For positions in securities that are constituent securities on a major broadly-based index of one of the following exchanges, 50% of the fair value:
 - (a) Australian Stock Exchange Limited
 - (b) Bolsa de Madrid
 - (c) Borsa Italiana
 - (d) Copenhagen Stock Exchange
 - (e) Euronext Amsterdam
 - (f) Euronext Brussels
 - (g) Euronext Paris S.A.
 - (h) Frankfurt Stock Exchange
 - (i) London Stock Exchange
 - (j) New Zealand Exchange Limited
 - (k) Stockholm Stock Exchange
 - (I) Swiss Exchange
 - (m) The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

April 15, 2011 48 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(n) Tokyo Stock Exchange

(f) Mortgages

- (i) For a firm registered in any jurisdiction of Canada except Ontario:
 - (a) Insured mortgages (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Mortgages which are not insured (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.
- (ii) For a firm registered in Ontario:
 - (a) Mortgages insured under the National Housing Act (Canada) (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Conventional first mortgages (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.

If you are registered in Ontario regardless of whether you are also registered in another jurisdiction of Canada, you will need to apply the margin rates set forth in (ii) above.

(g) For all other securities – 100% of fair value.

81. Form 31-103F2 is replaced with the following:

FORM 31-103F2 SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION AND APPOINTMENT OF AGENT FOR SERVICE (sections 8.18 [international dealer] and 8.26 [international adviser])

- 1. Name of person or company ("International Firm"):
- 2. If the International Firm was previously assigned an NRD number as a registered firm or an unregistered exempt international firm, provide the NRD number of the firm.
- 3. Jurisdiction of incorporation of the International Firm:
- 4. Head office address of the International Firm:
- 5. The name, e-mail address, phone number and fax number of the International Firm's chief compliance officer.

Name: E-mail address: Phone:

Fax:

6. Section of National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exceptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations the International Firm is relying on:

☐ Section 8.18 [international dealer]
☐ Section 8.26 [international adviser]
☐ Other

- 7. Name of agent for service of process (the "Agent for Service"):
- 8. Address for service of process on the Agent for Service:
- 9. The International Firm designates and appoints the Agent for Service at the address stated above as its agent upon whom may be served a notice, pleading, subpoena, summons or other process in any action, investigation or administrative, criminal, quasi-criminal or other proceeding (a "Proceeding") arising out of or relating to or concerning the International Firm's activities in the local jurisdiction and irrevocably waives any right to raise as a defence in any such proceeding any alleged lack of jurisdiction to bring such Proceeding.

April 15, 2011 49 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- 10. The International Firm irrevocably and unconditionally submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the judicial, quasi-judicial and administrative tribunals of the local jurisdiction in any Proceeding arising out of or related to or concerning the International Firm's activities in the local jurisdiction.
- 11. Until 6 years after the International Firm ceases to rely on section 8.18 [international dealer] or section 8.26 [international adviser], the International Firm must submit to the securities regulatory authority
 - a new Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service in this form no later than the 30th day before the date this Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service is terminated; and
 - b. an amended Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service no later than the 30th day before any change in the name or above address of the Agent for Service.
- 12. This Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service is governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the local jurisdiction.

Pated:
Signature of the International Firm or authorized signatory)
Name and Title of authorized signatory)
cceptance
the undersigned accepts the appointment as Agent for Service of (Insert name of International Firm) under the terms nd conditions of the foregoing Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service.
Pated:
Signature of Agent for Service or authorized signatory)
Name and Title of authorized signatory)

- **82.** Form 31-103F3 is amended by replacing "and Exemptions" with ", Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations".
- 83. Appendix B is amended
 - (a) replacing "and Exemptions" with ", Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations", and
 - (b) in section 1 by replacing "owned" with "owed", and
 - (c) in section 4 by adding "10 days before" after "Securities Regulatory Authority" and by deleting "prior to" after "Securities Regulatory Authority".
- 84. This instrument comes into force on (insert date) 2011.

April 15, 2011 50 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX E

AMENDMENTS TO NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 33-109 REGISTRATION INFORMATION

- National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information is amended by this Instrument.
- 2. Section 1.1 is amended
 - (a) by deleting the definitions of "NI 31-102" and "NI 31-103", and
 - (b) in the opening statement of the definition of "permitted individual" by deleting the words "who is not a registered individual and" and in paragraph (a) by replacing "and" with "or".
- 3. Sections 1.2, 2.1 and 2.2 are amended by replacing "NI 31-102" wherever the expression occurs with "National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database".
- 4. Section 2.3 is amended
 - (a) in subsection (1) by replacing "NI 31-102" with "National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database",
 - (b) in subsection (2) by replacing "NI 31-103" with "National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations" and "NI 31-102" with "National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database", and
 - (c) in paragraph (2)(b) by adding "resigned voluntarily," after "resign,".
- 5. Section 2.4 is amended by replacing "NI 31-102" with "National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database".
- 6. Section 2.5 is amended
 - (a) in subsection (1) by replacing "NI 31-102" with "National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database" and "7 days" with "10 days",
 - (b) in subsection (2), by adding "firm" after "a former sponsoring", and
 - (c) in paragraph (2)(a) by replacing "NI 31-102" with "National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database", and
 - (d) in subparagraph 2(a)(i) by replacing "7 days" with "10 days".
- 7. Sections 2.6 is amended by replacing "NI 31-102" with "National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database".
- 8. Section 3.1 is amended by replacing "7 days" with "10 days" wherever the expression occurs.
- Section 3.2 is amended by replacing "NI 31-102" with "National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database" and "7 days" with "10 days".
- 10. Subsection 4.1 is amended
 - (a) in subsection (1) by replacing "7 days" with "10 days",
 - (b) in subsection (3) and (4) by replacing "NI 31-102" with "National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database", and
 - (c) by replacing paragraph (4)(b) with the following paragraphs:
 - (b) the removal or the addition of a category of registration;
 - (c) the surrender of registration in one or more non-principal jurisdictions."

April 15, 2011 51 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

11. Section 4.2 is amended

- (a) in subsection (1) by replacing "NI 31-102" with "National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database".
- (b) in paragraph (1)(b) by deleting "or retirement" and "or the completion or expiry of an employment or agency contract", and
- (c) in subsection (2), (3) and (4), by replacing "7 days" wherever the expression occurs with "10 days" and
- (d) in subsections (3) and (4), by replacing "person or company" wherever the expression occurs with "registered firm".
- 12. Subsection 5.1 (1) is amended by adding "sponsoring" after "A".
- 13. Section 6.2 is amended by replacing "instrument" wherever it occurs with "Instrument" and by replacing "7 days" wherever the expression occurs with "10 days".
- **14. Section 6.4 is amended by replacing** "NI 31-102" **with** "National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database".
- 15. Form 33-109F1 is amended
 - (a) under "General Instructions" by replacing "person" after "permitted" with "individual" and by adding at the end "or has ceased to act in a registerable activity or as a permitted individual";
 - (b) under "Terms" by replacing at the end ";" with ".",
 - (c) under "When to submit the form" by replacing "five business days" with "10 days",
 - (d) in Item 5 by replacing the instructions above "[For NRD Format only:]" with the following:

Complete Item 5 except where the individual is deceased. In the space below:

- state the reason(s) for the cessation / termination and
- provide details if the answer to any of the following questions is "Yes".
- (e) in Item 5 under "[For NRD Format only:]" by replacing "completed temporary employment contract, retired or" with "individual is"; and
- (f) by repealing Item 6 and Schedule A.
- 16. Form 33-109F2 is amended
 - (a) in the heading by replacing "section 4.2 or 2.2(2) or 2.5(2)" with "section 2.2(2), 2.4, 2.6(2) or 4.1(4)",
 - (b) by replacing Item 2 with the following:

Item 2 Registration jurisdictions

1. Are you filing this form under the passport system / interface for registration?

Choose "no" if you are registered in:

- (a) only one jurisdiction in Canada
- (b) more than one jurisdiction in Canada and you are requesting a surrender in a non-principal jurisdiction or jurisdictions, but not in your principal jurisdiction.
- (c) more than one jurisdiction in Canada and you are requesting a change only in your principal jurisdiction; **and**

April 15, 2011 52 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(c)

(d)

Item 4	Adding categories
1. Categories	
What categorie	s are you seeking to add?
2. Professiona	l liability insurance (Québec mutual fund dealers and Québec scholarship plan dealers)
	ting registration as a representative of a mutual fund dealer or of a scholarship plan dealer in covered by your sponsoring firm's professional liability insurance?
Yes 🗌	No 🗆
If "No", state:	
The name of yo	our insurer
Your policy nur	nber
3. Relevant se	ecurities industry experience
If you have not months ago, d during the 36 n	been registered in the last 36 months and you passed the required examination more than 36 o you consider that you have gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience nonth period?
Yes 🗌	No
If you are an in	dividual applying for IIROC approval, select "Not Applicable" above.
If "yes", comple	te Schedule A.
by replacing S	Schedule A with the following:
	SCHEDULE A
	Relevant securities industry experience (Item 4)
	responsibilities in areas relating to the category you are applying for, including the title(s) you well as start and end dates:
What is the per	centage of your time devoted to these activities?
%	
	ntinuing education activities which you have participated in during the last 36 months and which the category of registration you are applying for:

April 15, 2011 53 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(e) by adding the following after Schedule A:

Schedule B

Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2 Attention: Freedom of Information Officer Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building

St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8 Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8 Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation Telephone: (416) 593-8314

e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division P.O. Box 2000 Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in

Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2

Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P O Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9

Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

17. Form 33-109F3 is amended by replacing Schedule A with the following:

Schedule A

Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2 Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in

BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8 Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division

P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in

Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive

Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office

Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6

Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada

121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9

Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

18. Form 33-109F4 is amended

- in the definition of "Approved person" under "Terms" by replacing "member of the IIROC (Member)" (a) with "member (Member) of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC)",
- in the paragraphs "NRD format" and "Format, other than NRD format", under the heading "How to (b) submit this form", by adding "with securities regulation experience" after "legal adviser",
- (c) in section 1 of Item 8 by
 - (i) replacing the title with the following:

"Course, examination or designation information and other education",

- replacing "course and" with "course," and by adding "and designation" in the first sentence of (ii) item 1, after "examination", and
- (iii) replacing "course or" with "course," and by adding "or designation" in the second sentence of item 1, after "examination";
- (d) in section 2 of Item 8 by adding the following after "Advocis (formerly CAIFA):

RESP Dealers Association of Canada: ____ Other:

(e) in section 3 of Item 8 by adding ", designation" after the word "examination";

- in Item 8 by adding the following after section 3: (f)
 - 4. Relevant securities industry experience

If you are an individual applying for IIROC approval, select "Not Applicable below".

If you have not been registered in the last 36 months and you passed the required examination more than 36 months ago, do you consider that you have gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience during the 36 month period?

N/A \square Yes No \square

If "yes", complete Schedule F.

- in section 4 of Item 9 by adding "supervisor or" after "Name of". (g)
- in Item 14 by replacing "Immigration Act" with "Immigration and Refugee Protection Act", and "Young (h) Offenders Act" wherever the expression occurs with "former Young Offenders Act".

April 15, 2011 56 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	le A to Form 33-109F4 is		
N/A 🗌			
in Schedule C by rep	lacing "Investment Indust	ry Regulatory Organization	of Canada" with "IIROC".
by replacing Schedule E with the following:			
	SCH	EDULE E	
	Proficie	ncy (Item 8)	
Item 8.1 Course, exar	nination or designation	information and other edu	ıcation
Course, examination designation or other education	Date completed (YYYY/MM/DD)	Date exempted (YYYY/MM/DD)	Regulator / securitie regulatory authority granting the exemption
	CFA Charter in Item 8.1, pCFA Institute permitted to		the box below whether you
current member of the Yes No	CFA Institute permitted to	use the CFA Charter.	the box below whether you
current member of the Yes No If "no", please explain	CFA Institute permitted to	use the CFA Charter.	
current member of the Yes No If "no", please explain of the If you have listed the Co	CFA Institute permitted to	use the CFA Charter.	the box below whether you
current member of the Yes No If "no", please explain of the If you have listed the Co	CFA Institute permitted to	use the CFA Charter.	
current member of the Yes	CFA Institute permitted to	use the CFA Charter. Is designation: 1, please indicate by check	
current member of the Yes	CFA Institute permitted to why you no longer hold the CIM designation in Item 8. use the CIM designation.	use the CFA Charter. Is designation: 1, please indicate by check	
current member of the Yes	CFA Institute permitted to why you no longer hold the CIM designation in Item 8. use the CIM designation.	use the CFA Charter. Is designation: 1, please indicate by check	
If "no", please explain of the Yes No No If "no", please explain of the Courrently permitted to the Yes No No If "no", please explain of the Yes No If "no", please explain of the Yes No No If "no", please explain of the Yes No	CFA Institute permitted to	use the CFA Charter. Is designation: 1, please indicate by check	

April 15, 2011 57 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(iii)	by adding the following after Item 8.3:			
	Item 8.4 Relevant securities industry experience			
	Describe your responsibilities in areas relating to the category you are applying for, including the title(s) you have held, as well as the start and end dates:			
	What is the percentage of your time devoted to these activities?%			
	Indicate the continuing education activities which you have participated in during the last 36 months and which are relevant to the category of registration you are applying for:			
in Sch	edule G by replacing section 5 with the following:			
5.	Conflicts of interest			
A. Disc	nave more than one employer or are engaged in business related activities: close any potential for confusion by clients and any potential for conflicts of interest arising from your e employment or business related activities or proposed business related activities.			
	cate whether or not any of your employers or organizations where you engage in business related es are listed on an exchange.			
	ofirm whether the firm has procedures for minimizing potential conflicts of interest and if so, confirm that e aware of these procedures.			
D. Sta	te the name of the person at your sponsoring firm who has reviewed and approved your multiple ment or business related activities or proposed business related activities			

April 15, 2011 58 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

E. If you do not perceive any conflicts of interest arising from this employment, explain why.

(n) by replacing Schedule O with the following:

Schedule O

Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2 Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL
Financial Services Regulation Division
Department of Government Services
P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block
Confederation Building
St. John's. NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Iqaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8 Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry
Office of the Attorney General B Consumer,
Corporate andInsurance Services Division
P.O. Box 2000
Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in

Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2

Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

April 15, 2011 59 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458

Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

P.O. BOX 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office

Department of Community Services

P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada

121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9

Attention: Privacy Officer
Telephone: (416) 364-6133
E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

19. Form 33-109F5 is amended

(a) under "How to submit this form" by adding the following after subparagraph b) of the second paragraph:

(b) in Item 1 by adding the following under "☐ Form 33-109F6":

"If submitting changes to Form 33-109F6, please attach a blackline of the amended sections of the form."; and

- (c) in Item 5 by deleting the line "name of firm".
- (d) by replacing Schedule A with the following:

Schedule A

Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2 Attention: Freedom of Information Officer Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in

BC)

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU XOA 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55

20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

April 15, 2011 60 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320 Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in

Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2

Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133

E-mail: PrivacvOfficer@iiroc.ca

20. Form 33-109F6 is amended

- in the definition of "NI 31-103" by replacing "and Exemptions" with ", Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant (a) Obligations".
- (b) under "Definitions" by adding the following definitions in alphabetical order:

"Foreign jurisdiction - see National Instrument 14-101 Definitions";

"Jurisdiction or jurisdiction of Canada – see National Instrument 14-101 Definitions".

"NI 52-107 - National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards"

- under "Contents of the form" by replacing "Alberta and Manitoba" with "Alberta, Manitoba and New (c) Brunswick",
- (d) in the next to last paragraph under "How to complete and submit the form" by deleting "and fees",

April 15, 2011 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) 61

(e) under "How to complete and submit the form" by adding the following paragraph before the last paragraph:

"In most of this form, answers are required to questions which apply only to Canadian provinces and territories; you will find that the questions are referenced to "jurisdictions" or "jurisdiction of Canada". These refer to all provinces and territories of Canada. However, the questions in Part 4 – Registration History and Part 7 – Regulatory Action are to be answered in respect of any jurisdiction in the world."; and

- (f) in section 1.3 of Part 1 by
 - (i) replacing "Questions 1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 2.4, and Part 9" with "Questions 1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 2.4, 3.9, 5.4, 5.6*, and Part 9",
 - (ii) replacing "Questions 1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 5.1, 5.4, 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8, Part 6 and Part 9" with "Questions 1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 3.1, 5.1, 5.4, 5.5*, 5.6*, 5.7, 5.8, Part 6 and Part 9", and
 - (iii) adding the following after "Part 6 and Part 9":
 - "* If the firm is adding Québec as a jurisdiction for registration in the category of mutual fund dealer or scholarship plan dealer, complete question 5.6.",
- (g) in the table in section 1.4 under "Jurisdiction" by replacing "NT" with "NS" and "NS" with "NT",
- (h) in the table in section 1.5 under "Jurisdiction(s) where the firm has applied for the exemption" by replacing "NT" with "NS" and "NS" with "NT",
- (i) in the table in paragraph 2.2(b) of Part 2 by replacing "NT" with "NS" and "NS" with "NT", and
- (j) in sections 2.5 and 2.6 by replacing the word "Title" with:

Officer title
Telephone number
E-mail address

- (k) in section 3.3 in Part 3 by replacing "Alberta or Manitoba" with "Alberta, Manitoba or New Brunswick",
- (I) by replacing the first sentence of Part 4 with the following:

"The questions in Part 4 apply to any jurisdiction and any foreign jurisdiction."

- (m) in section 4.5 by deleting the word "ever",
- (n) by replacing section 5.1 of Part 5 with the following:
 - 5.1 Calculation of excess working capital

Attach the firm's calculation of excess working capital.

- Investment dealers must use the capital calculation form required by the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC).
- Mutual fund dealers must use the capital calculation form required by the Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada (MFDA), except for mutual fund dealers registered in Québec only
- Firms that are not members of either IIROC or the MFDA must use Form 31-103F1
 Calculation of Excess Working Capital. See Schedule C.
- (o) in section 5.4 by replacing "NT" with "NS", and "NS" with "NT",
- (p) in section 5.5 by adding the following after "Annual aggregate coverage (\$)":

April 15, 2011 62 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Total coverage (\$)	

- (q) in section 5.5 by replacing "Renewal date" with "Expiry date",
- (r) in section 5.6 by adding the following after "Annual aggregate coverage (\$)":

and under "Jurisdictions covered:" by replacing "NT" with "NS", and "NS" with "NT",

- (s) by replacing section 5.13 with the following:
 - "(a) Attach, for your most recently completed year, either
 - (i) non-consolidated audited financial statements; or
 - (ii) audited financial statements prepared in accordance with section 3.2(3) of NI 52-107.
 - (b) If the audited financial statements attached for item (a) were prepared for a period ending more than 90 days before the date of this application, also attach an interim financial report for a period of not more than 90 days before the date of this application.

If the firm is a start-up company, you can attach an audited opening statement of financial position instead."

- (t) in Part 6
 - (i) by adding the following before section 6.1 and after "31-103CP":

For guidance regarding whether a firm will hold or have access to client assets see section 12.4 of Companion Policy 31-103CP., and

- (ii) in section 6.1 by replacing "does" with "will".
- (u) in Part 7 by replacing the first sentence with the following:

"The questions in Part 7 apply to any jurisdiction and any foreign jurisdiction. The information must be provided in respect of the last 7 years."

- (v) in section 7.1, by deleting "ever",
- (w) in Part 8 by replacing the first paragraph with the following:

"The firm must disclose offences or legal actions under any statute governing the firm and its business activities in any jurisdiction. The information must be provided in respect of the last 7 years."

(x) in section 8.1 by deleting "ever",

April 15, 2011 63 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(y) by replacing Schedule A with the following:

Schedule A

Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2 Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building

St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission
Suite 1903, Box 55
20 Queen Street West
Toronto, ON M5H 3S8
Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation
Telephone: (416) 593-8314
e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry
Office of the Attorney General B Consumer,
Corporate and Insurance Services Division
P.O. Box 2000
Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in

Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2

Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320 Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9 Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

(as at __

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9

Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

with comparative figures as at _____

(z)	in Schedule B by adding the following under "Address for service of process on the Agent for Service":
	Phone number of the Agent for Service:
(a.1)	in paragraphs 7(a) and 7(b) of Schedule B by replacing "7th day" with "10th day",
(b.1)	by replacing Schedule C with the following:
	FORM 31-103F1 CALCULATION OF EXCESS WORKING CAPITAL
	Firm Name
	Capital Calculation

	Component	Current period	Prior period
1.	Current assets		
2.	Less current assets not readily convertible into cash (e.g., prepaid expenses)		
3.	Adjusted current assets Line 1 minus line 2 =		
4.	Current liabilities		
5.	Add 100% of long-term related party debt unless the firm and the lender have executed a subordination agreement in the form set out in Appendix B and the firm has delivered a copy of the agreement to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority		
6.	Adjusted current liabilities Line 4 plus line 5 =		
7.	Adjusted working capital Line 3 minus line 6 =		
8.	Less minimum capital		

April 15, 2011 65 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	Component	Current period	Prior period
9.	Less market risk		
10.	Less any deductible under the bonding or insurance policy required under Part 12 of National Instrument 31-103, Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations		
11.	Less Guarantees		
12.	Less unresolved differences		
13.	Excess working capital		

Notes:

This form must be prepared using the accounting principles that you use to prepare your financial statements in accordance with National Instrument 52-107 *Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards*. Section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP *Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations* provides further guidance in respect of these accounting principles.

Line 5. Related-party debt – Refer to the CICA Handbook for the definition of "related party" for publicly accountable enterprises.

Line 8. Minimum Capital – The amount on this line must be not less than (a) \$25,000 for an adviser and (b) \$50,000 for a dealer. For an investment fund manager, the amount must be not less than \$100,000 unless subsection 12.1(4) applies.

Line 9. Market Risk – The amount on this line must be calculated according to the instructions set out in Schedule 1 to this Form.

Line 11. Guarantees – If the registered firm is guaranteeing the liability of another party, the total amount of the guarantee must be included in the capital calculation. If the amount of a guarantee is included in the firm's statement of financial position as a current liability and is reflected in line 4, do not include the amount of the guarantee on line 11.

Line 12. Unresolved differences – Any unresolved differences that could result in a loss from either firm or client assets must be included in the capital calculation. The examples below provide guidance as to how to calculate unresolved differences:

- (i) If there is an unresolved difference relating to client securities, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the fair value of the client securities that are short, plus the applicable margin rate for those securities.
- (ii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to the registrant's investments, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the fair value of the investments (securities) that are short.
- (iii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to cash, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the amount of the shortfall in cash.

Please refer to section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations for further guidance on how to prepare and file this form.

April 15, 2011 66 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

		Management Cert	tification		
Regis	tered Firm Name:				
		hed capital calculation and	I certify that the firm is in compliance with the		
	e and Title	Signature 	Date		
2		of Form 31-103F1 Calcula	ation of Excess Working Capital		
For nu	urposes of completing thi	(calculating line 9			
(1)		e value of a security detern	nined in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicat		
	ty by the margin rate for		ine 1, Current Assets, multiply the fair value of the Add up the resulting amounts for all of the securities 9.		
(a)	Bonds, Debentures, Treasury Bills and Notes				
(i)	Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by the Government Canada, of the United Kingdom, of the United States of America and of any other national government (provided such foreign government securities are currently rated Aaa or AAA by Manuella Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor's Corporation, respectively), maturing (or called methods):				
	within 1 year:		fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by the number of days to maturity by 365		
	over 1 year to 3 years	s: 1 % of f	air value		
	over 3 years to 7 yea	rs: 2% of fa	air value		
	•		all value		

and obligations of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, maturing (or called for redemption):

4% of fair value

Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by any jurisdiction of Canada

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by

dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years:

3 % of fair value

over 3 years to 7 years:

4% of fair value

over 7 years to 11 years:

5% of fair value

over 11 years:

5% of fair value

over 11 years:

(ii)

April 15, 2011 67 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(iii) Bonds, debentures or notes (not in default) of or guaranteed by any municipal corporation in Canada or the United Kingdom maturing:

within 1 year: 3% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by

dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years: 5 % of fair value over 3 years to 7 years: 5% of fair value over 7 years to 11 years: 5% of fair value over 11 years: 5% of fair value

(iv) Other non-commercial bonds and debentures, (not in default): 10% of fair value

(v) Commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes (not in default) and non-negotiable and non-transferable trust company and mortgage loan company obligations registered in the registered firm's name maturing:

within 1 year: 3% of fair value over 1 year to 3 years: 6 % of fair value over 3 years to 7 years: 7% of fair value over 7 years to 11 years: 10% of fair value over 11 years: 10% of fair value

(b) Bank Paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a Canadian chartered bank (and of Canadian chartered bank acceptances) maturing:

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the number of

days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

(c) Acceptable foreign bank paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a foreign bank, readily negotiable and transferable and maturing:

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the number of

days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

"Acceptable Foreign Bank Paper" consists of deposit certificates or promissory notes issued by a bank other than a Canadian chartered bank with a net worth (i.e., capital plus reserves) of not less than \$200,000,000.

(d) Mutual Funds

Securities of mutual funds qualified by prospectus for sale in any jurisdiction of Canada:

(i) 5% of the net asset value per security as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure, where the fund is a money market mutual fund as defined in National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds; or

April 15, 2011 68 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(ii) the margin rate determined on the same basis as for listed stocks multiplied by the net asset value per security of the fund as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure.

(e) Stocks

In this paragraph, "securities" includes rights and warrants and does not include bonds and debentures.

(i) On securities including investment fund securities, rights and warrants, listed on any exchange in Canada or the United States of America:

Long Positions - Margin Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more – 50% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.75 to \$1.99 - 60% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.74 – 80% of fair value

Securities selling under \$1.50 - 100% of fair value

Short Positions - Credit Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more - 150% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.99 - \$3.00 per share

Securities selling at \$0.25 to \$1.49 - 200% of fair value

Securities selling at less than \$0.25 – fair value plus \$0.25 per shares

- (ii) For positions in securities that are constituent securities on a major broadly-based index of one of the following exchanges, 50% of the fair value:
 - (a) Australian Stock Exchange Limited
 - (b) Bolsa de Madrid
 - (c) Borsa Italiana
 - (d) Copenhagen Stock Exchange
 - (e) Euronext Amsterdam
 - (f) Euronext Brussels
 - (g) Euronext Paris S.A.
 - (h) Frankfurt Stock Exchange
 - (i) London Stock Exchange
 - (j) New Zealand Exchange Limited
 - (k) Stockholm Stock Exchange
 - (I) Swiss Exchange
 - (m) The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
 - (n) Tokyo Stock Exchange

April 15, 2011 69 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(f) Mortgages

- (i) For a firm registered in any jurisdiction of Canada except Ontario:
 - (a) Insured mortgages (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Mortgages which are not insured (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.
- (ii) For a firm registered in Ontario:
 - (a) Mortgages insured under the National Housing Act (Canada) (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Conventional first mortgages (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.

If you are registered in Ontario regardless of whether you are also registered in another jurisdiction of Canada, you will need to apply the margin rates set forth in (ii) above.

(g) For all other securities – 100% of fair value.

22. Form 33-109F7 is amended

- (a) in section 1 under "General Instructions" by adding "the end of" after "on or before", and by replacing "termination" with "cessation",
- (b) in section 3 under "General Instructions" by deleting "dismissed, or was", and adding "resigned voluntarily or was dismissed," after "resign",
- (c) in the definition for "you", "your" and "individual" under "Terms" by adding "or their statues as permitted individual" after "registration".
- (d) in section 5 of item 5 by deleting "Date on which you will become authorized to act on behalf of the new sponsoring firm as a registered individual or permitted individual (YYYY/MM/DD",
- (e) in paragraph 2(b) of Item 9 by adding "or resigned voluntarily" after "resign",
- (f) in Schedule B by replacing "Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada" with "IIROC",
- (g) by replacing section 5 of Schedule D with the following:

5. Conflict of Interest

	aged in businss related activities	engaged in	plover or are	more than one emi	If you have
--	------------------------------------	------------	---------------	-------------------	-------------

A: Disclose any potential for confusion by clients and any potential for conflicts of interest arising from ultiple employment or business related activities or proposed business related activities.			
B. Indicate whether or not any of your employers or organizations where you engage in business relate activities are listed on an exchange.	ed		

April 15, 2011 70 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

C. Confirm whether the firm has procedures for minimizing potential conflicts of interest and, if so, conyou are aware of these procedures.				
D. If you do not perd	ceive any conflicts of inter	est arising from this empl	oyment, explain why.	
you do not port	or any commercial mach	oot anoning from the omp		

(h) by replacing Schedule F with the following:

Schedule F

Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission. Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2 Attention: Freedom of Information Officer Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

British Columbia Securities Commission

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0 Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8 Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation Telephone: (416) 593-8314

e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division P.O. Box 2000 Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8 Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in

Québec)

April 15, 2011 71 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block

Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2

Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer

Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

23. This Instrument comes into force on (insert date) 2011.

April 15, 2011 72 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103 REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS, EXEMPTIONS AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS

Table of contents

	Part 1	Interpretation
	1.1	Definitions of terms used throughout this Instrument
	1.2	Interpretation of "securities" in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan
	1.3	Information may be given to the principal regulator
ndividual	Part 2	Categories of registration for individuals
registration	2.1	Individual categories
	2.2	Client mobility exemption – individuals
	2.3	Individuals acting for investment fund managers
	Part 3	Registration requirements – individuals
	Divisio	n 1 General proficiency requirements
	3.1	Definitions
	3.2	U.S. equivalency
	3.3	Time limits on examination requirements
	Division	n 2 Education and experience requirements
	3.4	Proficiency – initial and ongoing
	3.5	Mutual fund dealer – dealing representative
	3.6	Mutual fund dealer – chief compliance officer
	3.7	Scholarship plan dealer – dealing representative
	3.8	Scholarship plan dealer – chief compliance officer
	3.9	Exempt market dealer – dealing representative
	3.10	Exempt market dealer – chief compliance officer
	3.11	Portfolio manager – advising representative
	3.12	Portfolio manager – associate advising representative
	3.13	Portfolio manager – chief compliance officer
	3.14	Investment fund manager – chief compliance officer
	Divisio	n 3 Membership in a self-regulatory organization
	3.15	Who must be approved by an SRO before registration
	3.16	Exemptions from certain requirements for SRO-approved persons
	Part 4	Restrictions on registered individuals
	4.1	Restriction on acting for another registered firm
	4.2	Associate advising representatives – pre-approval of advice
	Part 5	Ultimate designated person and chief compliance officer
	5.1	Responsibilities of the ultimate designated person
	5.2	Responsibilities of the chief compliance officer
	Part 6	Suspension and revocation of registration – individuals
	6.1	If individual ceases to have authority to act for firm

April 15, 2011 73 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	6.2	If IIROC approval is revoked or suspended
	6.3	If MFDA approval is revoked or suspended
	6.4	If sponsoring firm is suspended
	6.5	Dealing and advising activities suspended
	6.6	Revocation of a suspended registration – individual
	6.7	Exception for individuals involved in a hearing or proceeding
	6.8	Application of Part 6 in Ontario
Firm	Part 7	Categories of registration for firms
registration	7.1	Dealer categories
	7.2	Adviser categories
	7.3	Investment fund manager category
	Part 8	Exemptions from the requirement to register
	Divisio	n 1 Exemptions from dealer and underwriter registration
	8.1	Interpretation of "trade" in Québec
	8.2	Definition of "securities" in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan
	8.3	Interpretation – exemption from underwriter registration requirement
	8.4	Person or company not in the business of trading in British Columbia, Manitoba and New Brunswick
	8.5	Trades through or to a registered dealer
	8.6	Investment fund trades by adviser to managed account
	8.7	Investment fund reinvestment
	8.8	Additional investment in investment funds
	8.9	Additional investment in investment funds if initial purchase before September 14, 2005
	8.10	Private investment club
	8.11	Private investment fund – loan and trust pools
	8.12	Mortgages
	8.13	Personal property security legislation
	8.14	Variable insurance contract
	8.15	Schedule III banks and cooperative associations – evidence of deposit
	8.16	Plan administrator
	8.17	Reinvestment plan
	8.18	International dealer
	8.19	Self-directed registered education savings plan
	8.20	Exchange contract – Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan
	8.21	Specified debt
	8.22	Small security holder selling and purchase arrangements
	Divisio	n 2 Exemptions from adviser registration
	8.23	Dealer without discretionary authority
	8.24	IIROC members with discretionary authority
	8.25	Advising generally
	8.26	International adviser
	Divisio	n 3 Exemptions from investment fund manager registration
	8.27	Private investment club

April 15, 2011 74 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Business operations

8.28	Capital accumulation plan exemption
8.29	Private investment fund – loan and trust pools
Division	4 Mobility exemption – firms
8.30	Client mobility exemption – firms
Part 9	Membership in a self-regulatory organization
9.1	IIROC membership for investment dealers
9.2	MFDA membership for mutual fund dealers
9.3	Exemptions from certain requirements for IIROC members
9.4	Exemptions from certain requirements for MFDA members
Part 10	Suspension and revocation of registration – firms
Division	1 When a firm's registration is suspended
10.1	Failure to pay fees
10.2	If IIROC membership is revoked or suspended
10.3	If MFDA membership is revoked or suspended
10.4	Activities not permitted while a firm's registration is suspended
Division	2 Revoking a firm's registration
10.5	Revocation of a suspended registration – firm
10.6	Exception for firms involved in a hearing or proceeding
10.7	Application of Part 10 in Ontario
Part 11	Internal controls and systems
Division	1 Compliance
11.1	Compliance system
11.2	Designating an ultimate designated person
11.3	Designating a chief compliance officer
11.4	Providing access to the board of directors
Division	2 Books and records
11.5	General requirements for records
11.6	Form, accessibility and retention of records
Division	3 Certain business transactions
11.7	Tied settling of securities transactions
11.8	Tied selling
11.9	Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets
11.10	Registered firm whose securities are acquired
Part 12	Financial condition
Division	1 Working capital
12.1	Capital requirements
12.2	Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a subordination agreement
Division	2 Insurance
12.3	Insurance – dealer
12.4	Insurance – adviser
12.5	Insurance – investment fund manager
12.6	Global bonding or insurance

April 15, 2011 75 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Client relationships

	12.7	Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a change, claim or cancellation				
	Division					
	12.8	Direction by a regulator or the securities regulatory authority to conduct an audit or review				
	12.9	Co-operating with the auditor				
	Division	4 Financial reporting				
	12.10	Annual financial statements				
	12.11	Interim financial information				
	12.12	Delivering financial information – dealer				
	12.13	Delivering financial information – adviser				
	12.14	Delivering financial information – investment fund manager				
I	Part 13	Dealing with clients – individuals and firms				
	Division	1 Know your client and suitability				
	13.1	Investment fund managers exempt from this Division				
	13.2	Know your client				
	13.3	Suitability				
	Division	2 Conflicts of interest				
	13.4	Identifying and responding to conflicts of interest				
	13.5	Restrictions on certain managed account transactions				
	13.6	Disclosure when recommending related or connected securities				
	Division	3 Referral arrangements				
	13.7	Definitions – referral arrangements				
	13.8	Permitted referral arrangements				
	13.9	Verifying the qualifications of the person or company receiving the referral				
	13.10	Disclosing referral arrangements to clients				
	13.11	Referral arrangements before this Instrument came into force				
	Division	4 Loans and margin				
	13.12	Restriction on lending to clients				
	13.13	Disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money				
	Division :	5 Complaints				
	13.14	Application of this Division				
	13.15	Handling complaints				
	13.16	Dispute resolution service				
ı	Part 14	Handling client accounts – firms				
	Division					
	14.1	Investment fund managers exempt from Part 14				
	Division	2 Disclosure to clients				
	14.2	Relationship disclosure information				
	14.3	Disclosure to clients about the fair allocation of investment opportunities				
	14.4	When the firm has a relationship with a financial institution				
	14.5	Notice to clients by non-resident registrants				
	Division	3 Client assets				
	14.6	Holding client assets in trust				

April 15, 2011 76 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	14.7	Holding client assets – non-resident registrants
	14.8	Securities subject to a safekeeping agreement
	14.9	Securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement
	Divisio	n 4 Client accounts
	14.10	Allocating investment opportunities fairly
	14.11	Selling or assigning client accounts
	Divisio	n 5 Account activity reporting
	14.12	Content and delivery of trade confirmation
	14.13	Confirmations for certain automatic plans
	14.14	Account statements
Exemption	Part 15	Granting an exemption
from this Instrument	15.1	Who can grant an exemption
Transition and timing	Part 16	Transition
	16.1	Change of registration categories – individuals
	16.2	Change of registration categories – firms
	16.3	Change of registration categories – limited market dealers
	16.4	Registration for investment fund managers active when this Instrument comes into force
	16.5	Temporary exemption for Canadian investment fund manager registered in its principal jurisdiction
	16.6	Temporary exemption for foreign investment fund managers
	16.7	Registration of exempt market dealers
	16.8	Registration of ultimate designated persons
	16.9	Registration of chief compliance officers
	16.10	Proficiency for dealing and advising representatives
	16.11	Capital requirements
	16.12	Continuation of existing discretionary relief
	16.13	Insurance requirements
	16.14	Relationship disclosure information
	16.15	Referral arrangements
	16.16	Complaint handling
	16.17	Account statements – mutual fund dealers
	16.18	Transition to exemption – international dealers
	16.19	Transition to exemption – international advisers
	16.20	Transition to exemption – portfolio manager and investment counsel (foreign)
	Part 17	When this Instrument comes into force
	17.1	Effective date
Forms	FORM 31	I-103F1 CALCULATION OF EXCESS WORKING CAPITAL
	FORM 31	I-103F2 SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION AND APPOINTMENT OF AGENT FOR SERVICE
	FORM 31	I-103F3 USE OF MOBILITY EXEMPTION

April 15, 2011 77 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Appendices APPENDIX A – BONDING AND INSURANCE CLAUSES

APPENDIX B - SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT

APPENDIX C - NEW CATEGORY NAMES - INDIVIDUALS

APPENDIX D - NEW CATEGORY NAMES - FIRMS

APPENDIX E – NON-HARMONIZED CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

APPENDIX F - NON-HARMONIZED INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

April 15, 2011 78 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103 REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS, EXEMPTIONS AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS

Part 1 Interpretation

1.1 Definitions of terms used throughout this Instrument

In this Instrument

"Canadian financial institution" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions;

"connected issuer" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts;

"debt security" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions;

"eligible client" means a client of a person or company if any of the following apply:

- the client is an individual and was a client of the person or company immediately before becoming resident in the local jurisdiction;
- (b) the client is the spouse or a child of a client referred to in paragraph (a);
- (c) except in Ontario, the client is a client of the person or company on September 27, 2009 pursuant to the person or company's reliance on an exemption from the registration requirement under Part 5 of Multilateral Instrument 11-101 *Principal Regulator System* on that date;

"exempt market dealer" means a person or company registered in the category of exempt market dealer;

"IIROC" means the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada;

"interim period" means a period commencing on the first day of the financial year and ending 9, 6 or 3 months before the end of the financial year;

"investment dealer" means a person or company registered in the category of investment dealer;

"managed account" means an account of a client for which a person or company makes the investment decisions if that person or company has discretion to trade in securities for the account without requiring the client's express consent to a transaction;

"marketplace" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 21-101 Marketplace Operation;

"MFDA" means the Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada;

"mutual fund dealer" means a person or company registered in the category of mutual fund dealer;

"permitted client" means any of the following:

- (a) a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank;
- (b) the Business Development Bank of Canada incorporated under the Business Development Bank of Canada Act (Canada);
- (c) a subsidiary of any person or company referred to in paragraph (a) or (b), if the person or company owns all of the voting securities of the subsidiary, except the voting securities required by law to be owned by directors of the subsidiary;
- (d) a person or company registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as an adviser, investment dealer, mutual fund dealer or exempt market dealer;
- (e) a pension fund that is regulated by either the federal Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions or a pension commission or similar regulatory authority of a jurisdiction of Canada or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a pension fund;

April 15, 2011 79 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (f) an entity organized in a foreign jurisdiction that is analogous to any of the entities referred to in paragraphs (a) to (e);
- (g) the Government of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada, or any Crown corporation, agency or whollyowned entity of the Government of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada;
- (h) any national, federal, state, provincial, territorial or municipal government of or in any foreign jurisdiction, or any agency of that government;
- a municipality, public board or commission in Canada and a metropolitan community, school board, the Comité de gestion de la taxe scolaire de l'île de Montréal or an intermunicipal management board in Québec:
- a trust company or trust corporation registered or authorized to carry on business under the *Trust* and *Loan Companies Act* (Canada) or under comparable legislation in a jurisdiction of Canada or a
 foreign jurisdiction, acting on behalf of a managed account managed by the trust company or trust
 corporation, as the case may be;
- (k) a person or company acting on behalf of a managed account managed by the person or company, if the person or company is registered or authorized to carry on business as an adviser or the equivalent under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign jurisdiction;
- (I) an investment fund if one or both of the following apply:
 - the fund is managed by a person or company registered as an investment fund manager under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada;
 - (ii) the fund is advised by a person or company authorized to act as an adviser under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada;
- (m) in respect of a dealer, a registered charity under the *Income Tax Act* (Canada) that obtains advice on the securities to be traded from an eligibility adviser, as defined in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 *Prospectus and Registration Exemptions*, or an adviser registered under the securities legislation of the jurisdiction of the registered charity;
- (n) in respect of an adviser, a registered charity under the *Income Tax Act* (Canada) that is advised by an eligibility adviser, as defined in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 *Prospectus and Registration Exemptions*, or an adviser registered under the securities legislation of the jurisdiction of the registered charity;
- (o) an individual who beneficially owns financial assets, as defined in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 *Prospectus and Registration Exemptions*, having an aggregate realizable value that, before taxes but net of any related liabilities, exceeds \$5 million;
- (p) a person or company that is entirely owned by an individual or individuals referred to in paragraph (o), who holds the beneficial ownership interest in the person or company directly or through a trust, the trustee of which is a trust company or trust corporation registered or authorized to carry on business under the *Trust and Loan Companies Act* (Canada) or under comparable legislation in a jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign jurisdiction;
- (q) a person or company, other than an individual or an investment fund, that has net assets of at least
 \$25 million as shown on its most recently prepared financial statements;
- (r) a person or company that distributes securities of its own issue in Canada only to persons or companies referred to in paragraphs (a) to (q);

"principal jurisdiction" means

(a) for a person or company other than an individual, the jurisdiction of Canada in which the person or company's head office is located, and

April 15, 2011 80 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

[&]quot;portfolio manager" means a person or company registered in the category of portfolio manager;

(b) for an individual, the jurisdiction of Canada in which the individual's working office is located;

"registered firm" means a registered dealer, a registered adviser, or a registered investment fund manager;

"registered individual" means an individual who is registered

- (a) in a category that authorizes the individual to act as a dealer or an adviser on behalf of a registered firm,
- (b) as ultimate designated person, or
- (c) as chief compliance officer;

"related issuer" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts;

"restricted dealer" means a person or company registered in the category of restricted dealer;

"restricted portfolio manager" means a person or company registered in the category of restricted portfolio manager;

"Schedule III bank" means an authorized foreign bank named in Schedule III of the Bank Act (Canada);

"scholarship plan dealer" means a person or company registered in the category of scholarship plan dealer;

"sponsoring firm" means the registered firm on whose behalf an individual acts as a dealer, an underwriter, an adviser, a chief compliance officer or an ultimate designated person;

"subsidiary" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions;

"working office" means the office of the sponsoring firm where an individual does most of his or her business.

1.2 Interpretation of "securities" in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

In Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, a reference to "securities" in this Instrument includes "exchange contracts", unless the context otherwise requires.

1.3 Information may be given to the principal regulator

- (1) In this section, "principal regulator" means
 - for a person or company whose head office is in a jurisdiction of Canada, the securities regulatory authority or regulator of that jurisdiction, and
 - (b) for a person or company whose head office is not in Canada, the securities regulatory authority or regulator of,
 - (i) if the person or company has not completed its first financial year since being registered, the jurisdiction of Canada in which the person or company expects most of its clients to be resident at the end of its current financial year, and
 - (ii) in all other circumstances, the jurisdiction of Canada in which most of the person or company's clients were resident at the end of its most recently completed financial year.
- (2) Except under the following sections, for the purpose of a requirement in this Instrument to notify the regulator or the securities regulatory authority the person or company may notify the regulator or the securities regulatory authority by notifying the person or company's principal regulator:
 - (a) section 8.18 [international dealer];
 - (b) section 8.26 [international adviser];
 - (c) section 11.9 [registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets];
 - (d) section 11.10 [registered firm whose securities are acquired].

April 15, 2011 81 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(3) For the purpose of a requirement in this Instrument to deliver or submit a document to the regulator or the securities regulatory authority the person or company may deliver or submit the document by delivering or submitting it to the person or company's principal regulator.

Part 2 Categories of registration for individuals

2.1 Individual categories

- (1) The following are the categories of registration for an individual who is required, under securities legislation, to be registered to act on behalf of a registered firm:
 - (a) dealing representative;
 - (b) advising representative;
 - (c) associate advising representative;
 - (d) ultimate designated person;
 - (e) chief compliance officer.
- (2) An individual registered in the category of
 - (a) dealing representative may act as a dealer or an underwriter in respect of a security that the individual's sponsoring firm is permitted to trade or underwrite,
 - (b) advising representative may act as an adviser in respect of a security that the individual's sponsoring firm is permitted to advise on.
 - (c) associate advising representative may act as an adviser in respect of a security that the individual's sponsoring firm is permitted to advise on if the advice has been approved under subsection 4.2(1) [associate advising representatives pre-approval of advice],
 - (d) ultimate designated person must perform the functions set out in section 5.1 [responsibilities of the ultimate designated person], and
 - (e) chief compliance officer must perform the functions set out in section 5.2 [responsibilities of the chief compliance officer].
- (3) Subsection (1) does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, the same categories of registration for individuals as in subsection 2.1(1) are set out under section 25 of the Securities Act (Ontario).

2.2 Client mobility exemption – individuals

- (1) The registration requirement does not apply to an individual if all of the following apply:
 - the individual is registered as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative in the individual's principal jurisdiction;
 - (b) the individual's sponsoring firm is registered in the firm's principal jurisdiction;
 - (c) the individual does not act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the local jurisdiction other than as he or she is permitted to in his or her principal jurisdiction according to the individual's registration in that jurisdiction;
 - (d) the individual does not act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the local jurisdiction other than for 5 or fewer eligible clients;
 - (e) the individual complies with Part 13 [dealing with clients individuals and firms];

April 15, 2011 82 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (f) the individual deals fairly, honestly and in good faith in the course of his or her dealings with an eligible client;
- (g) before first acting as a dealer or adviser for an eligible client, the individual's sponsoring firm has disclosed to the client that the individual, and if the firm is relying on section 8.30 [client mobility exemption firms], the firm,
 - (i) is exempt from registration in the local jurisdiction, and
 - (ii) is not subject to requirements otherwise applicable under local securities legislation.
- (2) If an individual relies on the exemption in this section, the individual's sponsoring firm must submit a completed Form 31-103F3 *Use of Mobility Exemption* to the securities regulatory authority of the local jurisdiction as soon as possible after the individual first relies on this section.

2.3 Individuals acting for investment fund managers

The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to an individual acting on behalf of a registered investment fund manager.

Part 3 Registration requirements - individuals

Division 1 General proficiency requirements

3.1 Definitions

In this Part

"Branch Manager Proficiency Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by the RESP Dealers Association of Canada and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination:

"Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by the IFSE Institute and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination;

"Canadian Investment Manager designation" means the designation earned through the Canadian investment manager program prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every program that preceded that program, or succeeded that program, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned program;

"Canadian Securities Course Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination:

"Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination:

"CFA Charter" means the charter earned through the Chartered Financial Analyst program prepared and administered by the CFA Institute and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every program that preceded that program, or succeeded that program, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned program;

"Exempt Market Products Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by the IFSE Institute and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination:

April 15, 2011 83 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

"Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination:

"Mutual Fund Dealers Compliance Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by the IFSE Institute and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination;

"New Entrants Course Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination:

"PDO Exam" means

- (a) the Officers', Partners' and Directors' Exam prepared and administered by the IFSE Institute and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination, or
- (b) the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Course Exam prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination;

"Sales Representative Proficiency Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by the RESP Dealers Association of Canada and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination:

"Series 7 Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority in the United States of America and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination.

3.2 U.S. equivalency

In this Part, an individual is not required to have passed the Canadian Securities Course Exam if the individual has passed the Series 7 Exam and the New Entrants Course Exam.

3.3 Time limits on examination requirements

- (1) For the purpose of this Part, an individual is deemed to have not passed an examination unless the individual passed the examination not more than 36 months before the date of his or her application for registration.
- Subsection (1) does not apply if the individual passed the examination more than 36 months before the date of his or her application and has met one of the following conditions:
 - (a) the individual was registered in the same category in any jurisdiction of Canada at any time during the 36-month period before the date of his or her application;
 - (b) the individual has gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience during the 36-month period before the date of his or her application.
- (3) For the purpose of paragraph (2)(a), an individual is not considered to have been registered during any period in which the individual's registration was suspended.

April 15, 2011 84 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Division 2 Education and experience requirements

3.4 Proficiency – initial and ongoing

- (1) An individual must not perform an activity that requires registration unless the individual has the education, training and experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently, including understanding the structure, features and risks of each security the individual recommends.
- (2) A chief compliance officer must not perform an activity set out in section 5.2 [responsibilities of the chief compliance officer] unless the individual has the education, training and experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently.

3.5 Mutual fund dealer – dealing representative

A dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer must not act as a dealer in respect of the securities listed in section 7.1(2)(b) unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has passed the Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam, the Canadian Securities Course Exam or the Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam;
- (b) the individual has met the requirements of section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative];
- (c) the individual has earned a CFA Charter and has gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration;
- (d) the individual is exempt from section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative] because of subsection 16.10(1) [proficiency for dealing and advising representatives].

3.6 Mutual fund dealer – chief compliance officer

A mutual fund dealer must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has passed
 - the Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam, the Canadian Securities Course Exam or the Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam, and
 - (ii) the PDO Exam, the Mutual Fund Dealers Compliance Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam:
- (b) the individual has met the requirements of section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer];
- (c) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual because of subsection 16.9(2) [registration of chief compliance officers].

3.7 Scholarship plan dealer – dealing representative

A dealing representative of a scholarship plan dealer must not act as a dealer in respect of the securities listed in section 7.1(2)(c) unless the individual has passed the Sales Representative Proficiency Exam.

3.8 Scholarship plan dealer – chief compliance officer

A scholarship plan dealer must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a chief compliance officer] unless the individual has passed all of the following:

- (a) the Sales Representative Proficiency Exam;
- (b) the Branch Manager Proficiency Exam;
- (c) the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam.

April 15, 2011 85 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

3.9 Exempt market dealer – dealing representative

A dealing representative of an exempt market dealer must not perform an activity listed in section 7.1(2)(d) unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has passed the Canadian Securities Course Exam;
- (b) the individual has passed the Exempt Market Products Exam;
- (c) the individual has earned a CFA Charter and has gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration;
- (d) the individual satisfies the conditions set out in section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative];
- (e) the individual is exempt from section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative] because of subsection 16.10(1) [proficiency for dealing and advising representatives].

3.10 Exempt market dealer - chief compliance officer

An exempt market dealer must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has passed the following:
 - (i) the Exempt Market Products Exam or the Canadian Securities Course Exam; and
 - (ii) the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam;
- (b) the individual has met the requirements of section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer];
- (c) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual because of subsection 16.9(2) [registration of chief compliance officers].

3.11 Portfolio manager – advising representative

An advising representative of a portfolio manager must not act as an adviser on behalf of the portfolio manager unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has earned a CFA Charter and has gained 12 months of relevant investment management experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration;
- (b) the individual has received the Canadian Investment Manager designation and has gained 48 months of relevant investment management experience, 12 months of which was gained in the 36-month period before applying for registration.

3.12 Portfolio manager – associate advising representative

An associate advising representative of a portfolio manager must not act as an adviser on behalf of the portfolio manager unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has completed Level 1 of the Chartered Financial Analyst program and has gained 24 months of relevant investment management experience;
- (b) the individual has received the Canadian Investment Manager designation and has gained 24 months of relevant investment management experience.

3.13 Portfolio manager – chief compliance officer

A portfolio manager must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:

April 15, 2011 86 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(a) the individual has

- earned a CFA Charter or a professional designation as a lawyer, Chartered Accountant, Certified General Accountant or Certified Management Accountant in a jurisdiction of Canada, a notary in Québec, or the equivalent in a foreign jurisdiction,
- (ii) passed the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam and, unless the individual has earned the CFA Charter, the Canadian Securities Course Exam, and
- (iii) either
 - A) gained 36 months of relevant securities experience while working at an investment dealer, a registered adviser or an investment fund manager, or
 - B) provided professional services in the securities industry for 36 months and also worked at a registered dealer, a registered adviser or an investment fund manager for 12 months:
- (b) the individual has passed the Canadian Securities Course Exam and either the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam and any of the following apply:
 - the individual has worked at an investment dealer or a registered adviser for 5 years, including for 36 months in a compliance capacity;
 - the individual has worked for 5 years at a Canadian financial institution in a compliance capacity relating to portfolio management and also worked at a registered dealer or a registered adviser for 12 months;
- (c) the individual has passed either the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam and has met the requirements of section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative].

3.14 Investment fund manager – chief compliance officer

An investment fund manager must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has
 - earned a CFA Charter or a professional designation as a lawyer, Chartered Accountant, Certified General Accountant or Certified Management Accountant in a jurisdiction of Canada, a notary in Québec, or the equivalent in a foreign jurisdiction,
 - (ii) passed the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam and, unless the individual has earned the CFA Charter, the Canadian Securities Course Exam, and
 - (iii) either
 - A) gained 36 months of relevant securities experience while working at a registered dealer, a registered adviser or an investment fund manager, or
 - B) provided professional services in the securities industry for 36 months and also worked in a relevant capacity at an investment fund manager for 12 months;
- (b) the individual has
 - (i) passed the Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam, the Canadian Securities Course Exam, or the Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam,
 - (ii) passed the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam, and
 - gained 5 years of relevant securities experience while working at a registered dealer, registered adviser or an investment fund manager, including 36 months in a compliance capacity;

April 15, 2011 87 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (c) the individual has met the requirements of section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer];
- (d) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual because of subsection 16.9(2) [registration of chief compliance officers].

Division 3 Membership in a self-regulatory organization

3.15 Who must be approved by an SRO before registration

- (1) A dealing representative of an investment dealer that is a member of IIROC must be an "approved person" as defined under the rules of IIROC.
- (2) Except in Québec, a dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA must be an "approved person" as defined under the rules of the MFDA.

3.16 Exemptions from certain requirements for SRO-approved persons

- (1) The following sections do not apply to a registered individual who is a dealing representative of a member of IIROC:
 - (a) subsection 13.2(3) [know your client];
 - (b) section 13.3 [suitability];
 - (c) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money].
- (2) The following sections do not apply to a registered individual who is a dealing representative of a member of the MFDA:
 - (a) section 13.3 [suitability];
 - (b) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money].
- (3) In Québec, the requirements listed in subsection (2) do not apply to a registered individual who is a dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer to the extent equivalent requirements to those listed in subsection (2) are applicable to the registered individual under the regulations in Québec.

Part 4 Restrictions on registered individuals

4.1 Restriction on acting for another registered firm

- (1) A registered firm must not permit an individual to act as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative of the registered firm if the individual
 - (a) acts as an officer, partner or director of another registered firm that is not an affiliate of the firstmentioned registered firm, or
 - (b) is registered as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative of another registered firm.
- (2) Paragraph (1)(b) does not apply in respect of a representative whose registration as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative of more than one registered firm was granted before July 11, 2011.

4.2 Associate advising representatives – pre-approval of advice

- (1) An associate advising representative of a registered adviser must not advise on securities unless, before giving the advice, the advice has been approved by an individual designated by the registered firm under subsection (2).
- (2) A registered adviser must designate, for an associate advising representative, an advising representative to review the advice of the associate advising representative.
- (3) No later than the 7th day following the date of a designation under subsection (2), a registered adviser must provide the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority with the names of the advising representative and the associate advising representative who are the subject of the designation.

April 15, 2011 88 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Part 5 Ultimate designated person and chief compliance officer

5.1 Responsibilities of the ultimate designated person

The ultimate designated person of a registered firm must do all of the following:

- (a) supervise the activities of the firm that are directed towards ensuring compliance with securities legislation by the firm and each individual acting on the firm's behalf;
- (b) promote compliance by the firm, and individuals acting on its behalf, with securities legislation.

5.2 Responsibilities of the chief compliance officer

The chief compliance officer of a registered firm must do all of the following:

- (a) establish and maintain policies and procedures for assessing compliance by the firm, and individuals acting on its behalf, with securities legislation;
- (b) monitor and assess compliance by the firm, and individuals acting on its behalf, with securities legislation;
- (c) report to the ultimate designated person of the firm as soon as possible if the chief compliance officer becomes aware of any circumstances indicating that the firm, or any individual acting on its behalf, may be in non-compliance with securities legislation and any of the following apply:
 - (i) the non-compliance creates, in the opinion of a reasonable person, a risk of harm to a client;
 - the non-compliance creates, in the opinion of a reasonable person, a risk of harm to the capital markets;
 - (iii) the non-compliance is part of a pattern of non-compliance;
- (d) submit an annual report to the firm's board of directors, or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm, for the purpose of assessing compliance by the firm, and individuals acting on its behalf, with securities legislation.

Part 6 Suspension and revocation of registration - individuals

6.1 If individual ceases to have authority to act for firm

If a registered individual ceases to have authority to act as a registered individual on behalf of his or her sponsoring firm because of the end of, or a change in, the individual's employment, partnership, or agency relationship with the firm, the individual's registration with the firm is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

6.2 If IIROC approval is revoked or suspended

If IIROC revokes or suspends a registered individual's approval in respect of an investment dealer, the individual's registration as a dealing representative of the investment dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

6.3 If MFDA approval is revoked or suspended

Except in Québec, if the MFDA revokes or suspends a registered individual's approval in respect of a mutual fund dealer, the individual's registration as a dealing representative of the mutual fund dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

6.4 If sponsoring firm is suspended

If a registered firm's registration in a category is suspended, the registration of each registered dealing, advising or associate advising representative acting on behalf of the firm in that category is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

April 15, 2011 89 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

6.5 Dealing and advising activities suspended

If an individual's registration in a category is suspended, the individual must not act as a dealer, an underwriter or an adviser, as the case may be, under that category.

6.6 Revocation of a suspended registration – individual

If a registration of an individual has been suspended under this Part and it has not been reinstated, the registration is revoked on the 2^{nd} anniversary of the suspension.

6.7 Exception for individuals involved in a hearing or proceeding

Despite section 6.6, if a hearing or proceeding concerning a suspended registrant is commenced under securities legislation or under the rules of an SRO, the registrant's registration remains suspended.

6.8 Application of Part 6 in Ontario

Other than section 6.5 [dealing and advising activities suspended], this Part does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, measures governing suspension in section 29 of the Securities Act (Ontario) are similar to those in Parts 6 and 10.

Part 7 Categories of registration for firms

7.1 Dealer categories

- (1) The following are the categories of registration for a person or company that is required, under securities legislation, to be registered as a dealer:
 - (a) investment dealer;
 - (b) mutual fund dealer;
 - (c) scholarship plan dealer;
 - (d) exempt market dealer;
 - (e) restricted dealer.
- (2) A person or company registered in the category of
 - (a) investment dealer may act as a dealer or an underwriter in respect of any security,
 - (b) mutual fund dealer may act as a dealer in respect of any security of
 - (i) a mutual fund, or
 - (ii) an investment fund that is a labour-sponsored investment fund corporation or laboursponsored venture capital corporation under legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada,
 - (c) scholarship plan dealer may act as a dealer in respect of a security of a scholarship plan, an educational plan or an educational trust,
 - (d) exempt market dealer may
 - (i) act as a dealer by trading a security that is distributed under an exemption from the prospectus requirement, whether or not a prospectus was filed in respect of the distribution,
 - (ii) act as a dealer by trading a security that, if the trade were a distribution, would be exempt from the prospectus requirement,

April 15, 2011 90 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (iii) receive an order from a client to sell a security that was acquired by the client in a circumstance described in subparagraph (i) or (ii), and may act or solicit in furtherance of receiving such an order, and
- (iv) act as an underwriter in respect of a distribution of securities that is made under an exemption from the prospectus requirement;
- (e) restricted dealer may act as a dealer or an underwriter in accordance with the terms, conditions, restrictions or requirements applied to its registration.
- (3) [repealed]
- (4) Subsection (1) does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, the same categories of registration for firms acting as dealers as in subsection 7.1(1) are set out under subsection 26(2) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

7.2 Adviser categories

- (1) The following are the categories of registration for a person or company that is required, under securities legislation, to be registered as an adviser:
 - (a) portfolio manager;
 - (b) restricted portfolio manager.
- (2) A person or company registered in the category of
 - (a) portfolio manager may act as an adviser in respect of any security, and
 - (b) restricted portfolio manager may act as an adviser in respect of any security in accordance with the terms, conditions, restrictions or requirements applied to its registration.
- (3) Subsection (1) does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, the same categories of registration for firms acting as advisers as in subsection 7.2(1) are set out under subsection 26(6) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

7.3 Investment fund manager category

The category of registration for a person or company that is required, under securities legislation, to be registered as an investment fund manager is "investment fund manager".

Part 8 Exemptions from the requirement to register

Division 1 Exemptions from dealer and underwriter registration

8.1 Interpretation of "trade" in Québec

In this Part, in Québec, "trade" refers to any of the following activities:

- (a) the activities described in the definition of "dealer" in section 5 of the Securities Act (R.S.Q., c. V-1.1), including the following activities:
 - the sale or disposition of a security by onerous title, whether the terms of payment are on margin, installment or otherwise, but does not include a transfer or the giving in guarantee of securities in connection with a debt or the purchase of a security, except as provided in paragraph (b);
 - (ii) participation as a trader in any transaction in a security through the facilities of an exchange or a quotation and trade reporting system;
 - (iii) the receipt by a registrant of an order to buy or sell a security;

April 15, 2011 91 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(b) a transfer or the giving in guarantee of securities of an issuer from the holdings of a control person in connection with a debt.

8.2 Definition of "securities" in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

Despite section 1.2, in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, a reference to "securities" in this Division excludes "exchange contracts".

8.3 Interpretation – exemption from underwriter registration requirement

In this Division, an exemption from the dealer registration requirement is an exemption from the underwriter registration requirement.

8.4 Person or company not in the business of trading in British Columbia, Manitoba and New Brunswick

- (1) In British Columbia and New Brunswick, a person or company is exempt from the dealer registration requirement if the person or company
 - is not engaged in the business of trading in securities or exchange contracts as a principal or agent,
 and
 - (b) does not hold himself, herself or itself out as engaging in the business of trading in securities or exchange contracts as a principal or agent.
- (2) In Manitoba, a person or company is exempt from the dealer registration requirement if the person or company
 - (a) is not engaged in the business of trading in securities as a principal or agent, and
 - (b) does not hold himself, herself or itself out as engaging in the business of trading in securities as a principal or agent.

8.5 Trades through or to a registered dealer

The dealer registration requirement does not apply to a person or company in respect of a trade by the person or company if one of the following applies:

- (a) the trade is made solely through an agent who is a registered dealer, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade;
- (b) the trade is made to a registered dealer who is purchasing as principal, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade.

8.6 Investment fund trades by adviser to managed account

- (1) The dealer registration requirement does not apply to a registered adviser, or an adviser that is exempt from registration under section 8.26 [international adviser], in respect of a trade in a security of an investment fund if both of the following apply:
 - (a) the adviser acts as the fund's adviser and investment fund manager;
 - (b) the trade is to a managed account of a client of the adviser.
- (2) The exemption in subsection (1) is not available if the managed account or investment fund was created or is used primarily for the purpose of qualifying for the exemption.
- (3) An adviser that relies on subsection (1) must provide written notice to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority that it is relying on the exemption within 10 days of its first use of the exemption.

8.7 Investment fund reinvestment

(1) Subject to subsections (2), (3), (4) and (5), the dealer registration requirement does not apply to an investment fund, or the investment fund manager of the fund, in respect of a trade in a security with a security holder of the investment fund if the

April 15, 2011 92 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

trade is permitted by a plan of the investment fund and is in a security of the investment fund's own issue and if any of the following apply:

- (a) a dividend or distribution out of earnings, surplus, capital or other sources payable in respect of the investment fund's securities is applied to the purchase of the security that is of the same class or series as the securities to which the dividends or distributions are attributable;
- (b) the security holder makes an optional cash payment to purchase the security of the investment fund and both of the following apply:
 - (i) the security is of the same class or series of securities described in paragraph (a) that trade on a marketplace;
 - (ii) the aggregate number of securities issued under the optional cash payment does not exceed, in the financial year of the investment fund during which the trade takes place, 2 per cent of the issued and outstanding securities of the class to which the plan relates as at the beginning of the financial year.
- (2) The exemption in subsection (1) is not available unless the plan that permits the trade is available to every security holder in Canada to which the dividend or distribution is available.
- (3) The exemption in subsection (1) is not available if a sales charge is payable on a trade described in the subsection.
- (4) At the time of the trade, if the investment fund is a reporting issuer and in continuous distribution, the investment fund must have set out in the prospectus under which the distribution is made
 - (a) details of any deferred or contingent sales charge or redemption fee that is payable at the time of the redemption of the security, and
 - (b) any right that the security holder has to elect to receive cash instead of securities on the payment of a dividend or making of a distribution by the investment fund and instructions on how the right can be exercised.
- (5) At the time of the trade, if the investment fund is a reporting issuer and is not in continuous distribution, the investment fund must provide the information required by subsection (4) in its prospectus, annual information form or a material change report.

8.8 Additional investment in investment funds

The dealer registration requirement does not apply to an investment fund, or the investment fund manager of the fund, in respect of a trade in a security of the investment fund's own issue with a security holder of the investment fund if all of the following apply:

- (a) the security holder initially acquired securities of the investment fund as principal for an acquisition cost of not less than \$150,000 paid in cash at the time of the acquisition;
- (b) the trade is in respect of a security of the same class or series as the securities initially acquired, as described in paragraph (a);
- (c) the security holder, as at the date of the trade, holds securities of the investment fund and one or both of the following apply:
 - (i) the acquisition cost of the securities being held was not less than \$150,000;
 - (ii) the net asset value of the securities being held is not less than \$150,000.

8.9 Additional investment in investment funds if initial purchase before September 14, 2005

The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade by an investment fund in a security of its own issue to a purchaser that initially acquired a security of the same class as principal before September 14, 2005 if all of the following apply:

April 15, 2011 93 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) the security was initially acquired under any of the following provisions:
 - (i) in Alberta, sections 86(e) and 131(1)(d) of the Securities Act (Alberta) as they existed prior to their repeal by sections 9(a) and 13 of the Securities Amendment Act (Alberta), 2003 SA c.32 and sections 66.2 and 122.2 of the Alberta Securities Commission Rules (General);
 - (ii) in British Columbia, sections 45(2) (5) and (22), and 74(2) (4) and (19) of the Securities Act (British Columbia);
 - (iii) in Manitoba, sections 19(3) and 58(1)(a) of the Securities Act (Manitoba) and section 90 of the Securities Regulation MR 491/88R;
 - (iv) in New Brunswick, section 2.8 of Local Rule 45-501 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions;
 - (v) in Newfoundland and Labrador, sections 36(1)(e) and 73(1)(d) of the Securities Act (Newfoundland and Labrador);
 - (vi) in Nova Scotia, sections 41(1)(e) and 77(1)(d) of the Securities Act (Nova Scotia);
 - (vii) in Northwest Territories, section 3(c) and (z) of Blanket Order No. 1;
 - (viii) in Nunavut, section 3(c) and (z) of Blanket Order No. 1;
 - (ix) in Ontario, sections 35(1)5 and 72(1)(d) of the Securities Act (Ontario) and section 2.12 of Ontario Securities Commission Rule 45-501 Exempt Distributions that came into force on January 12, 2004;
 - in Prince Edward Island, section 2(3)(d) of the former Securities Act (Prince Edward Island) and Prince Edward Island Local Rule 45-512 Exempt Distributions – Exemption for Purchase of Mutual Fund Securities;
 - (xi) in Québec, former sections 51 and 155.1(2) of the Securities Act (Québec);
 - (xii) in Saskatchewan, sections 39(1)(e) and 81(1)(d) of *The Securities Act, 1988* (Saskatchewan);
- (b) the trade is for a security of the same class or series as the initial trade;
- (c) the security holder, as at the date of the trade, holds securities of the investment fund that have one or both of the following characteristics:
 - (i) an acquisition cost of not less than the minimum amount prescribed by securities legislation referred to in paragraph (a) under which the initial trade was conducted;
 - (ii) a net asset value of not less than the minimum amount prescribed by securities legislation referred to in paragraph (a) under which the initial trade was conducted.

8.10 Private investment club

The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a security of an investment fund if all of the following apply:

- (a) the fund has no more than 50 beneficial security holders;
- (b) the fund does not seek and has never sought to borrow money from the public;
- (c) the fund does not distribute and has never distributed its securities to the public;
- (d) the fund does not pay or give any remuneration for investment management or administration advice in respect of trades in securities, except normal brokerage fees;

April 15, 2011 94 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(e) the fund, for the purpose of financing its operations, requires security holders to make contributions in proportion to the value of the securities held by them.

8.11 Private investment fund – loan and trust pools

- (1) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a security of an investment fund if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the fund is administered by a trust company or trust corporation that is registered or authorized by an enactment of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada to carry on business in Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada:
 - (b) the fund has no promoter or investment fund manager other than the trust company or trust corporation referred to in paragraph (a):
 - (c) the fund commingles the money of different estates and trusts for the purpose of facilitating investment.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), a trust company or trust corporation registered under the laws of Prince Edward Island that is not registered under the *Trust and Loan Companies Act* (Canada) or under comparable legislation in another jurisdiction of Canada is not a trust company or trust corporation for the purpose of paragraph (1)(a).

8.12 Mortgages

- (1) In this section, "syndicated mortgage" means a mortgage in which two or more persons or companies participate, directly or indirectly, as lenders in the debt obligation that is secured by the mortgage.
- Subject to subsection (3), the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a mortgage on real property in a jurisdiction of Canada by a person or company who is registered or licensed, or exempted from registration or licensing, under mortgage brokerage or mortgage dealer legislation of that jurisdiction.
- (3) In Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba, Québec and Saskatchewan, subsection (2) does not apply in respect of a trade in a syndicated mortgage.
- (4) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario a similar exemption from the dealer registration requirement is provided under subsection 35(4) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

8.13 Personal property security legislation

- (1) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade to a person or company, other than an individual in a security evidencing indebtedness secured by or under a security agreement, secured in accordance with personal property security legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada that provides for the granting of security in personal property.
- (2) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario a similar exemption from the dealer registration requirement is provided under subsection 35(2) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

8.14 Variable insurance contract

(1) In this section

"contract", "group insurance", "insurance company", "life insurance" and "policy" have the respective meanings assigned to them in the legislation referenced opposite the name of the local jurisdiction in Appendix A of National Instrument 45-106 *Prospectus and Registration Exemptions*;

"variable insurance contract" means a contract of life insurance under which the interest of the purchaser is valued for purposes of conversion or surrender by reference to the value of a proportionate interest in a specified portfolio of assets.

April 15, 2011 95 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (2) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a variable insurance contract by an insurance company if the variable insurance contract is
 - (a) a contract of group insurance,
 - (b) a whole life insurance contract providing for the payment at maturity of an amount not less than 75% of the premium paid up to age 75 years for a benefit payable at maturity,
 - (c) an arrangement for the investment of policy dividends and policy proceeds in a separate and distinct fund to which contributions are made only from policy dividends and policy proceeds, or
 - (d) a variable life annuity.

8.15 Schedule III banks and cooperative associations – evidence of deposit

- (1) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in an evidence of deposit issued by a Schedule III bank or an association governed by the *Cooperative Credit Associations Act* (Canada).
- (2) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, subsection 8.15(1) is not required because the security described in the exemption is excluded from the definition of "security" in subsection 1(1) of the *Securities Act* (Ontario).

8.16 Plan administrator

(1) In this section

"consultant" has the same meaning as in section 2.22 of National Instrument 45-106 *Prospectus and Registration Exemptions*;

"executive officer" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 *Prospectus and Registration Exemptions*;

"permitted assign" has the same meaning as in section 2.22 of National Instrument 45-106 *Prospectus and Registration Exemptions*;

"plan" means a plan or program established or maintained by an issuer providing for the acquisition of securities of the issuer by employees, executive officers, directors or consultants of the issuer or of a related entity of the issuer;

"plan administrator" means a trustee, custodian, or administrator, acting on behalf of, or for the benefit of, employees, executive officers, directors or consultants of an issuer or of a related entity of an issuer;

"related entity" has the same meaning as in section 2.22 of National Instrument 45-106 *Prospectus and Registration Exemptions*.

- (2) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade made pursuant to a plan of the issuer in a security of an issuer, or an option to acquire a security of the issuer, made by the issuer, a control person of the issuer, a related entity of the issuer, or a plan administrator of the issuer with any of the following:
 - (a) the issuer;
 - (b) a current or former employee, executive officer, director or consultant of the issuer or a related entity of the issuer;
 - (c) a permitted assign of a person or company referred to in paragraph (b).
- (3) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a security of an issuer, or an option to acquire a security of the issuer, made by a plan administrator of the issuer if
 - (a) the trade is pursuant to a plan of the issuer, and
 - (b) the conditions in section 2.14 of National Instrument 45-102 Resale of Securities are satisfied.

April 15, 2011 96 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

8.17 Reinvestment plan

- (1) Subject to subsections (3), (4) and (5), the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of the following trades by an issuer, or by a trustee, custodian or administrator acting for or on behalf of the issuer, to a security holder of the issuer if the trades are permitted by a plan of the issuer:
 - a trade in a security of the issuer's own issue if a dividend or distribution out of earnings, surplus, capital or other sources payable in respect of the issuer's securities is applied to the purchase of the security;
 - (b) subject to subsection (2), a trade in a security of the issuer's own issue if the security holder makes an optional cash payment to purchase the security of the issuer that trades on a marketplace.
- (2) The aggregate number of securities issued under the optional cash payment referred to in subsection (1)(b) must not exceed, in any financial year of the issuer during which the trade takes place, 2% of the issued and outstanding securities of the class to which the plan relates as at the beginning of the financial year.
- A plan that permits the trades described in subsection (1) must be available to every security holder in Canada to which the dividend or distribution out of earnings, surplus, capital or other sources is available.
- (4) This section is not available in respect of a trade in a security of an investment fund.
- Subject to section 8.4 [transition reinvestment plan] of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions, if the security traded under a plan described in subsection (1) is of a different class or series than the class or series of the security to which the dividend or distribution is attributable, the issuer or the trustee, custodian or administrator must have provided to each participant that is eligible to receive a security under the plan either a description of the material attributes and characteristics of the security traded under the plan or notice of a source from which the participant can obtain the information without charge.

8.18 International dealer

(1) In this section

"Canadian permitted client" means a permitted client referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (e), (g) or (i) to (r) of the definition of "permitted client" in section 1.1 if

- (a) in the case of an individual, the individual is a resident of Canada;
- (b) in the case of a trust, the terms of the trust expressly provide that those terms are governed by the laws of a jurisdiction of Canada;
- (c) in any other case, the permitted client is incorporated, organized or continued under the laws of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada.

"foreign security" means

- (a) a security issued by an issuer incorporated, formed or created under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction, or
- (b) a security issued by a government of a foreign jurisdiction.
- (2) Subject to subsections (3) and (4), the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of any of the following:
 - (a) an activity, other than a sale of a security, that is reasonably necessary to facilitate a distribution of securities that are offered primarily in a foreign jurisdiction;
 - (b) a trade in a debt security with a Canadian permitted client during the security's distribution, if the debt security is offered primarily in a foreign jurisdiction and a prospectus has not been filed with a Canadian securities regulatory authority for the distribution;
 - (c) a trade in a debt security that is a foreign security with a Canadian permitted client, other than during the security's distribution;

April 15, 2011 97 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (d) a trade in a foreign security with a Canadian permitted client, unless the trade is made during the security's distribution under a prospectus that has been filed with a Canadian securities regulatory authority;
- (e) a trade in a foreign security with an investment dealer;
- (f) a trade in any security with an investment dealer that is acting as principal.
- (3) The exemption under subsection (2) is not available to a person or company unless all of the following apply:
 - (a) the head office or principal place of business of the person or company is in a foreign jurisdiction;
 - (b) the person or company is registered under the securities legislation of the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal place of business is located in a category of registration that permits it to carry on the activities in that jurisdiction that registration as a dealer would permit it to carry on in the local jurisdiction;
 - (c) the person or company engages in the business of a dealer in the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal place of business is located;
 - (d) the person or company is acting as principal or as agent for
 - (i) the issuer of the securities,
 - (ii) a permitted client, or
 - (iii) a person or company that is not a resident of Canada;
 - (e) the person or company has submitted to the securities regulatory authority a completed Form 31-103F2 Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service.
- (4) The exemption under subsection (2) is not available to a person or company in respect of a trade with a Canadian permitted client unless one of the following applies:
 - (a) the Canadian permitted client is a person or company registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as an adviser or dealer;
 - (b) the person or company has notified the Canadian permitted client of all of the following:
 - (i) the person or company is not registered in the local jurisdiction to make the trade;
 - (ii) the foreign jurisdiction in which the head office or principal place of business of the person or company is located;
 - (iii) all or substantially all of the assets of the person or company may be situated outside of Canada:
 - (iv) there may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the person or company because of the above:
 - (v) the name and address of the agent for service of process of the person or company in the local jurisdiction.
- (5) A person or company that relied on the exemption in subsection (2) during the 12 month period preceding December 1 of a year must notify the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority of that fact by December 1 of that year.
- (6) In Ontario, subsection (5) does not apply to a person or company that complies with the filing and fee payment requirements applicable to an unregistered exempt international firm under Ontario Securities Commission Rule 13-502 Fees.
- (7) The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a person or company that is exempt from the dealer registration requirement under this section if the person or company provides advice to a client and the advice is
 - (a) in connection with an activity or trade described under subsection (2), and

April 15, 2011 98 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(b) not in respect of a managed account of the client.

8.19 Self-directed registered education savings plan

(1) In this section

"self-directed RESP" means an educational savings plan registered under the Income Tax Act (Canada)

- (a) that is structured so that contributions by a subscriber to the plan are deposited directly into an account in the name of the subscriber, and
- (b) under which the subscriber maintains control and direction over the plan that enables the subscriber to direct how the assets of the plan are to be held, invested or reinvested subject to compliance with the *Income Tax Act* (Canada).
- (2) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a self-directed RESP to a subscriber if both of the following apply:
 - (a) the trade is made by any of the following:
 - (i) a dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer who is acting on behalf of the mutual fund dealer in respect of securities listed in section 7.1(2)(b);
 - (ii) a Canadian financial institution;
 - (iii) in Ontario, a financial intermediary;
 - (b) the self-directed RESP restricts its investments in securities to securities in which the person or company who trades the self-directed RESP is permitted to trade.

8.20 Exchange contract – Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

- (1) In Alberta, British Columbia and New Brunswick, the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of the following trades in exchange contracts:
 - (a) a trade by a person or company made
 - (i) solely through an agent who is a registered dealer, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade, or
 - (ii) to a registered dealer who is purchasing as principal, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade;
 - (b) subject to subsection (2), a trade resulting from an unsolicited order placed with an individual who is not a resident of, and does not carry on business in, the local jurisdiction.
- (2) An individual referred to in subsection (1)(b) must not do any of the following:
 - (a) advertise or engage in promotional activity that is directed to persons or companies in the local jurisdiction during the 6 months preceding the trade;
 - (b) pay any commission or finder's fee to any person or company in the local jurisdiction in connection with the trade.
- (3) In Saskatchewan, the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of either of the following:
 - (a) a trade in an exchange contract made solely through an agent who is a registered dealer, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade;
 - (b) a trade in an exchange contract made to a registered dealer who is purchasing as principal, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade.

April 15, 2011 99 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

8.21 Specified debt

(1) In this section

"approved credit rating" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds;

"approved credit rating organization" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds;

"permitted supranational agency" means any of the following:

- (a) the African Development Bank, established by the Agreement Establishing the African Development Bank which came into force on September 10, 1964, that Canada became a member of on December 30, 1982;
- (b) the Asian Development Bank, established under a resolution adopted by the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific in 1965;
- (c) the Caribbean Development Bank, established by the Agreement Establishing the Caribbean Development Bank which came into force on January 26, 1970, as amended, that Canada is a founding member of;
- (d) the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, established by the Agreement Establishing the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development and approved by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development Agreement Act (Canada), that Canada is a founding member of;
- (e) the Inter-American Development Bank, established by the Agreement establishing the Inter-American Development Bank which became effective December 30, 1959, as amended from time to time, that Canada is a member of;
- (f) the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, established by the Agreement for an International Bank for Reconstruction and Development approved by the *Bretton Woods and Related Agreements Act* (Canada);
- (g) the International Finance Corporation, established by Articles of Agreement approved by the *Bretton Woods and Related Agreements Act* (Canada).
- (2) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in any of the following:
 - (a) a debt security issued by or guaranteed by the Government of Canada or the government of a jurisdiction of Canada;
 - (b) a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a government of a foreign jurisdiction if the debt security has an approved credit rating from an approved credit rating organization;
 - (c) a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a municipal corporation in Canada;
 - (d) a debt security secured by or payable out of rates or taxes levied under the law of a jurisdiction of Canada on property in the jurisdiction and collectible by or through the municipality in which the property is situated;
 - (e) a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank, other than debt securities that are subordinate in right of payment to deposits held by the issuer or guarantor of those debt securities;
 - (f) a debt security issued by the Comité de gestion de la taxe scolaire de l'île de Montréal;
 - (g) a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a permitted supranational agency if the debt securities are payable in the currency of Canada or the United States of America.
- (3) Paragraphs (2)(a), (c) and (d) do not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, exemptions from the dealer registration requirement similar to those in paragraphs 8.21(a), (c) and (d) are provided under paragraph 2 of subsection 35(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

April 15, 2011 100 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

8.22 Small security holder selling and purchase arrangements

(1) In this section

"exchange" means

- (a) TSX Inc.,
- (b) TSX Venture Exchange Inc., or
- (c) an exchange that
 - (i) has a policy that is substantially similar to the policy of the TSX Inc., and
 - (ii) is designated by the securities regulatory authority for the purpose of this section;

"policy" means,

- (a) in the case of TSX Inc., sections 638 and 639 [Odd lot selling and purchase arrangements] of the TSX Company Manual, as amended from time to time,
- (b) in the case of the TSX Venture Exchange Inc., Policy 5.7 Small Shareholder Selling and Purchase Arrangements, as amended from time to time, or
- (c) in the case of an exchange referred to in paragraph (c) of the definition of "exchange", the rule, policy or other similar instrument of the exchange on small shareholder selling and purchase arrangements.
- (2) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade by an issuer or its agent, in securities of the issuer that are listed on an exchange, if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the trade is an act in furtherance of participation by the holders of the securities in an arrangement that is in accordance with the policy of that exchange;
 - (b) the issuer and its agent do not provide advice to a security holder about the security holder's participation in the arrangement referred to in paragraph (a), other than a description of the arrangement's operation, procedures for participation in the arrangement, or both;
 - (c) the trade is made in accordance with the policy of that exchange, without resort to an exemption from, or variation of, the significant subject matter of the policy;
 - (d) at the time of the trade after giving effect to a purchase under the arrangement, the market value of the maximum number of securities that a security holder is permitted to hold in order to be eligible to participate in the arrangement is not more than \$25,000.
- (3) For the purposes of subsection (2)(c), an exemption from, or variation of, the maximum number of securities that a security holder is permitted to hold under a policy in order to be eligible to participate in the arrangement provided for in the policy is not an exemption from, or variation of, the significant subject matter of the policy.

Division 2 Exemptions from adviser registration

8.23 Dealer without discretionary authority

The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a registered dealer, or a dealing representative acting on behalf of the dealer, that provides advice to a client if the advice is

- (a) in connection with a trade in a security that the dealer and the representative are permitted to make under his, her or its registration,
- (b) provided by the representative, and
- (c) not in respect of a managed account of the client.

April 15, 2011 101 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

8.24 IIROC members with discretionary authority

The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a registered dealer, or a dealing representative acting on behalf of the dealer, that acts as an adviser in respect of a client's managed account if the registered dealer is a member of IIROC and the advising activities are conducted in accordance with the rules of IIROC.

8.25 Advising generally

- (1) For the purposes of subsections (3) and (4), "financial or other interest" includes the following:
 - (a) ownership, beneficial or otherwise, in the security or in another security issued by the same issuer;
 - (b) an option in respect of the security or another security issued by the same issuer;
 - a commission or other compensation received, or expected to be received, from any person or company in connection with the trade in the security;
 - (d) a financial arrangement regarding the security with any person or company;
 - (e) a financial arrangement with any underwriter or other person or company who has any interest in the security.
- (2) The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a person or company that acts as an adviser if the advice the person or company provides does not purport to be tailored to the needs of the person or company receiving the advice.
- (3) If a person or company that is exempt under subsection (2) recommends buying, selling or holding a specified security, a class of securities or the securities of a class of issuers in which any of the following has a financial or other interest, the person or company must disclose the interest concurrently with providing the advice:
 - (a) the person or company;
 - (b) any partner, director or officer of the person or company;
 - (c) any other person or company that would be an insider of the first-mentioned person or company if the first-mentioned person or company were a reporting issuer.
- (4) If the financial or other interest of the person or company includes an interest in an option described in paragraph (b) of the definition of "financial or other interest" in subsection (1), the disclosure required by subsection (3) must include a description of the terms of the option.
- (5) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, measures similar to those in section 8.25 are in section 34 of the Securities Act (Ontario).

8.26 International adviser

- (1) Despite section 1.2, in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, a reference to "securities" in this section excludes "exchange contracts".
- (2) In this section

"aggregate consolidated gross revenue" does not include the gross revenue of an affiliate of the adviser if the affiliate is registered in a jurisdiction of Canada;

"Canadian permitted client" means a permitted client referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (c), (e), (g) or (i) to (r) of the definition of "permitted client" in section 1.1 if

- (a) in the case of an individual, the individual is a resident of Canada;
- (b) in the case of a trust, the terms of the trust expressly provide that those terms are governed by the laws of a jurisdiction of Canada; and

April 15, 2011 102 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(c) in any other case, the permitted client is incorporated, organized or continued under the laws of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada.

"foreign security" means

- (a) a security issued by an issuer incorporated, formed or created under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction, and
- (b) a security issued by a government of a foreign jurisdiction;
- (3) The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a person or company in respect of its acting as an adviser to a Canadian permitted client if the adviser does not advise that client on securities of Canadian issuers, unless providing that advice is incidental to its providing advice on a foreign security.
- (4) The exemption under subsection (3) is not available unless all of the following apply:
 - (a) the adviser's head office or principal place of business is in a foreign jurisdiction;
 - (b) the adviser is registered, or operates under an exemption from registration, under the securities legislation of the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal place of business is located, in a category of registration that permits it to carry on the activities in that jurisdiction that registration as an adviser would permit it to carry on in the local jurisdiction;
 - the adviser engages in the business of an adviser in the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal place of business is located;
 - (d) as at the end of its most recently completed financial year, not more than 10% of the aggregate consolidated gross revenue of the adviser, its affiliates and its affiliated partnerships was derived from the portfolio management activities of the adviser, its affiliates and its affiliated partnerships in Canada;
 - (e) before advising a client, the adviser notifies the client of all of the following:
 - the adviser is not registered in the local jurisdiction to provide the advice described under subsection (3);
 - (ii) the foreign jurisdiction in which the adviser's head office or principal place of business is located:
 - (iii) all or substantially all of the adviser's assets may be situated outside of Canada;
 - (iv) there may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the adviser because of the above;
 - (v) the name and address of the adviser's agent for service of process in the local jurisdiction;
 - (f) the adviser has submitted to the securities regulatory authority a completed Form 31-103F2 Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service.
- A person or company that relied on the exemption in subsection (3) during the 12 month period preceding December 1 of a year must notify the regulator, or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority of that fact by December 1 of that year.
- (6) In Ontario, subsection (5) does not apply to a person or company that complies with the filing and fee payment requirements applicable to an unregistered exempt international firm under Ontario Securities Commission Rule 13-502 Fees.
- Division 3 Exemptions from investment fund manager registration

8.27 Private investment club

The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to a person or company in respect of its acting as an investment fund manager for an investment fund if all of the following apply:

(a) the fund has no more than 50 beneficial security holders;

April 15, 2011 103 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) the fund does not seek and has never sought to borrow money from the public;
- (c) the fund does not distribute and has never distributed its securities to the public;
- the fund does not pay or give any remuneration for investment management or administration advice in respect of trades in securities, except normal brokerage fees;
- (e) the fund, for the purpose of financing its operations, requires security holders to make contributions in proportion to the value of the securities held by them.

8.28 Capital accumulation plan exemption

- (1) In this section, "capital accumulation plan" means a tax assisted investment or savings plan, including a defined contribution registered pension plan, a group registered retirement savings plan, a group registered education savings plan, or a deferred profit-sharing plan, established by a plan sponsor that permits a member to make investment decisions among two or more investment options offered within the plan, and in Quebec and Manitoba, includes a simplified pension plan.
- (2) The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to a person or company that acts as an investment fund manager for an investment fund if the person or company is only required to be registered as an investment fund manager because the investment fund is an investment option in a capital accumulation plan.

8.29 Private investment fund – loan and trust pools

- (1) The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to a trust company or trust corporation that administers an investment fund if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the trust company or trust corporation is registered or authorized by an enactment of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada to carry on business in Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada;
 - (b) the fund has no promoter or investment fund manager other than the trust company or trust corporation;
 - (c) the fund commingles the money of different estates and trusts for the purpose of facilitating investment.
- (2) The exemption in subsection (1) is not available to a trust company or trust corporation registered under the laws of Prince Edward Island unless it is also registered under the *Trust and Loan Companies Act* (Canada) or under comparable legislation in another jurisdiction of Canada.
- (3) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, subsection 35.1 of the Securities Act (Ontario) provides a general exemption from the registration requirement for trust companies, trust corporations and other specified financial institutions.

Division 4 Mobility exemption – firms

8.30 Client mobility exemption – firms

The dealer registration requirement and the adviser registration requirement do not apply to a person or company if all of the following apply:

- (a) the person or company is registered as a dealer or adviser in its principal jurisdiction;
- (b) the person or company does not act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the local jurisdiction other than as it is permitted to in its principal jurisdiction according to its registration;
- (c) the person or company does not act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the local jurisdiction other than in respect of 10 or fewer eligible clients;
- (d) the person or company complies with Parts 13 [dealing with clients individuals and firms] and 14 [handling client accounts firms];

April 15, 2011 104 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(e) the person or company deals fairly, honestly and in good faith in the course of its dealings with an eligible client.

Part 9 Membership in a self-regulatory organization

9.1 IIROC membership for investment dealers

An investment dealer must not act as a dealer unless the investment dealer is a "Dealer Member", as defined under the rules of IIROC.

9.2 MFDA membership for mutual fund dealers

Except in Québec, a mutual fund dealer must not act as a dealer unless the mutual fund dealer is a "member", as defined under the rules of the MFDA.

9.3 Exemptions from certain requirements for IIROC members

- (1) Unless it is also registered as an investment fund manager, a registered firm that is a member of IIROC is exempt from the following requirements:
 - (a) section 12.1 [capital requirements];
 - (b) section 12.2 [notifying the regulator of a subordination agreement];
 - (c) section 12.3 [insurance dealer];
 - (d) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];
 - (e) section 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation];
 - (f) section 12.10 [annual financial statements];
 - (g) section 12.11 [interim financial information];
 - (h) section 12.12 [delivering financial information dealer];
 - (i) subsection 13.2(3) [know your client];
 - (j) section 13.3 [suitability];
 - (k) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];
 - (I) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
 - (I.1) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
 - (m) subsection 14.2(2) [relationship disclosure information];
 - (n) section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust];
 - (o) section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement];
 - (p) section 14.9 [securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement];
 - (q) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation].
- (2) If a registered firm is a member of IIROC and is registered as an investment fund manager, the firm is exempt from the following requirements:
 - (a) section 12.3 [insurance dealer];
 - (b) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];

April 15, 2011 105 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (c) section 12.12 [delivering financial information dealer];
- (d) subsection 13.2(3) [know your client];
- (e) section 13.3 [suitability];
- (f) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];
- (g) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
- (h) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
- (i) subsection 14.2(2) [relationship disclosure information];
- (j) section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust];
- (k) section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement];
- (I) section 14.9 [securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement];
- (m) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation].
- (3) [repealed]
- (4) [repealed]
- (5) [repealed]
- (6) [repealed]

9.4 Exemptions from certain requirements for MFDA members

- (1) Unless it is also registered as an exempt market dealer, a scholarship plan dealer or an investment fund manager, a registered firm that is a member of the MFDA is exempt from the following requirements:
 - (a) section 12.1 [capital requirements];
 - (b) section 12.2 [notifying the regulator of a subordination agreement];
 - (c) section 12.3 [insurance dealer];
 - (d) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];
 - (e) section 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation];
 - (f) section 12.10 [annual financial statements];
 - (g) section 12.11 [interim financial information];
 - (h) section 12.12 [delivering financial information dealer];
 - (i) section 13.3 [suitability];
 - (j) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];
 - (k) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
 - (I) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
 - (m) subsection 14.2(2) [relationship disclosure information];
 - (n) section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust];

April 15, 2011 106 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (o) section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement];
- (p) section 14.9 [securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement];
- (q) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation].
- (2) If a registered firm is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an exempt market dealer, scholarship plan dealer or investment fund manager, the firm is exempt from the following requirements:
 - (a) section 12.3 [insurance dealer];
 - (b) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];
 - (c) section 13.3 [suitability];
 - (d) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];
 - (e) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
 - (f) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
 - (g) subsection 14.2(2) [relationship disclosure information];
 - (h) section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust];
 - (i) section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement];
 - (j) section 14.9 [securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement];
 - (k) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation].
- (3) Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply in Québec.
- (4) In Québec, the requirements listed in subsection (1) do not apply to a mutual fund dealer to the extent equivalent requirements to those listed in subsection (1) are applicable to the mutual fund dealer under the regulations in Québec.

Part 10 Suspension and revocation of registration - firms

Division 1 When a firm's registration is suspended

10.1 Failure to pay fees

- (1) In this section, "annual fees" means
 - in Alberta, the fees required under section 2.1 of the Schedule Fees in Alta. Reg. 115/95 Securities Regulation,
 - (b) in British Columbia, the annual fees required under section 22 of the Securities Regulation, B.C. Reg. 196/97.
 - (c) in Manitoba, the fees required under paragraph 1.(2)(a) of the Manitoba Fee Regulation, M.R 491\88R,
 - (d) in New Brunswick, the fees required under section 2.2 (c) of Local Rule 11-501 Fees,
 - (e) in Newfoundland and Labrador, the fees required under section 143 of the Securities Act,
 - (f) in Nova Scotia, the fees required under Part XIV of the Regulations,
 - in Northwest Territories, the fees required under sections 1(c) and 1(e) of the Securities Fee regulations, R-066-2008;

April 15, 2011 107 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (h) in Nunavut, the fees required under section 1(a) of the Schedule to R-003-2003 to the Securities Fee regulation, R.R.N.W.T. 1990, c.20,
- in Prince Edward Island, the fees required under section 175 of the Securities Act R.S.P.E.I., Cap. S-3.1,
- (j) in Québec, the fees required under section 271.5 of the Québec Securities Regulation,
- (k) in Saskatchewan, the annual registration fees required to be paid by a registrant under section 176 of The Securities Regulations (Saskatchewan), and
- (I) in Yukon, the fees required under O.I.C. 2009\66, pursuant to section 168 of the Securities Act.
- (2) If a registered firm has not paid the annual fees by the 30th day after the date the annual fees were due, the registration of the firm is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

10.2 If IIROC membership is revoked or suspended

If IIROC revokes or suspends a registered firm's membership, the firm's registration in the category of investment dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

10.3 If MFDA membership is revoked or suspended

Except in Québec, if the MFDA revokes or suspends a registered firm's membership, the firm's registration in the category of mutual fund dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

10.4 Activities not permitted while a firm's registration is suspended

If a registered firm's registration in a category is suspended, the firm must not act as a dealer, an underwriter, an adviser, or an investment fund manager, as the case may be, under that category.

Division 2 Revoking a firm's registration

10.5 Revocation of a suspended registration – firm

If a registration has been suspended under this Part and it has not been reinstated, the registration is revoked on the 2nd anniversary of the suspension.

10.6 Exception for firms involved in a hearing or proceeding

Despite section 10.5, if a hearing or proceeding concerning a suspended registrant is commenced under securities legislation or under the rules of an SRO, the registrant's registration remains suspended.

10.7 Application of Part 10 in Ontario

Other than section 10.4 [activities not permitted while a firm's registration is suspended], this Part does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, measures governing suspension in section 29 of the Securities Act (Ontario) are similar to those in Parts 6 and 10.

Part 11 Internal controls and systems

Division 1 Compliance

11.1 Compliance system

A registered firm must establish, maintain and apply policies and procedures that establish a system of controls and supervision sufficient to

- (a) provide reasonable assurance that the firm and each individual acting on its behalf complies with securities legislation, and
- (b) manage the risks associated with its business in accordance with prudent business practices.

April 15, 2011 108 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

11.2 Designating an ultimate designated person

- (1) A registered firm must designate an individual who is registered under securities legislation in the category of ultimate designated person to perform the functions described in section 5.1 [responsibilities of the ultimate designated person].
- (2) A registered firm must designate an individual under subsection (1) who is one of the following:
 - the chief executive officer of the registered firm or, if the firm does not have a chief executive officer, an individual acting in a capacity similar to a chief executive officer;
 - (b) the sole proprietor of the registered firm;
 - (c) the officer in charge of a division of the registered firm, if the activity that requires the firm to register occurs only within the division and the firm has significant other business activities.
- (3) If an individual who is registered as a registered firm's ultimate designated person ceases to meet any of the conditions listed in subsection (2), the registered firm must designate another individual to act as its ultimate designated person.

11.3 Designating a chief compliance officer

- (1) A registered firm must designate an individual who is registered under securities legislation in the category of chief compliance officer to perform the functions described in section 5.2 [responsibilities of the chief compliance officer].
- (2) A registered firm must not designate an individual to act as the firm's chief compliance officer unless the individual has satisfied the applicable conditions in Part 3 [registration requirements individuals] and the individual is one of the following:
 - (a) an officer or partner of the registered firm;
 - (b) the sole proprietor of the registered firm.
- (3) If an individual who is registered as a registered firm's chief compliance officer ceases to meet any of the conditions listed in subsection (2), the registered firm must designate another individual to act as its chief compliance officer.

11.4 Providing access to the board of directors

A registered firm must permit its ultimate designated person and its chief compliance officer to directly access the firm's board of directors, or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm, at such times as the ultimate designated person or the chief compliance officer may consider necessary or advisable in view of his or her responsibilities.

Division 2 Books and records

11.5 General requirements for records

- (1) A registered firm must maintain records to
 - (a) accurately record its business activities, financial affairs, and client transactions, and
 - (b) demonstrate the extent of the firm's compliance with applicable requirements of securities legislation.
- (2) The records required under subsection (1) include, but are not limited to, records that do the following:
 - (a) permit timely creation and audit of financial statements and other financial information required to be filed or delivered to the securities regulatory authority;
 - (b) permit determination of the registered firm's capital position;
 - (c) demonstrate compliance with the registered firm's capital and insurance requirements;
 - (d) demonstrate compliance with internal control procedures;
 - (e) demonstrate compliance with the firm's policies and procedures;
 - (f) permit the identification and segregation of client cash, securities, and other property;

April 15, 2011 109 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (g) identify all transactions conducted on behalf of the registered firm and each of its clients, including the parties to the transaction and the terms of the purchase or sale;
- (h) provide an audit trail for
 - (i) client instructions and orders, and
 - (ii) each trade transmitted or executed for a client or by the registered firm on its own behalf;
- (i) permit the generation of account activity reports for clients;
- (j) provide securities pricing as may be required by securities legislation;
- (k) document the opening of client accounts, including any agreements with clients;
- (I) demonstrate compliance with sections 13.2 [know your client] and 13.3 [suitability];
- (m) demonstrate compliance with complaint-handling requirements;
- (n) document correspondence with clients;
- (o) document compliance and supervision actions taken by the firm.

11.6 Form, accessibility and retention of records

- (1) A registered firm must keep a record that it is required to keep under securities legislation
 - (a) for 7 years from the date the record is created,
 - (b) in a safe location and in a durable form, and
 - (c) in a manner that permits it to be provided to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority in a reasonable period of time.
- (2) A record required to be provided to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority must be provided in a format that is capable of being read by the regulator or the securities regulatory authority.
- (3) Paragraph (1)(c) does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, how quickly a registered firm is required to provide information to the regulator is addressed in subsection 19(3) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

Division 3 Certain business transactions

11.7 Tied settling of securities transactions

A registered firm must not require a person or company to settle that person's or company's transaction with the registered firm through that person's or company's account at a Canadian financial institution as a condition, or on terms that would appear to a reasonable person to be a condition, of supplying a product or service, unless this method of settlement would be, to a reasonable person, necessary to provide the specific product or service that the person or company has requested.

11.8 Tied selling

A dealer, adviser or investment fund manager must not require another person or company

- (a) to buy, sell or hold a security as a condition, or on terms that would appear to a reasonable person to be a condition, of supplying or continuing to supply a product or service, or
- (b) to buy, sell or use a product or service as a condition, or on terms that would appear to a reasonable person to be a condition, of buying or selling a security.

April 15, 2011 110 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

11.9 Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets

- (1) A registrant must give the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority written notice in accordance with subsection (2) if it proposes to acquire any of the following:
 - (a) beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, a security of a registered firm;
 - (b) beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, a security of a person or company of which a registered firm is a subsidiary;
 - (c) all or a substantial part of the assets of a registered firm.
- (2) The notice required under subsection (1) must be delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority at least 30 days before the proposed acquisition and must include all relevant facts regarding the acquisition sufficient to enable the regulator or the securities regulatory authority to determine if the acquisition is
 - (a) likely to give rise to a conflict of interest,
 - (b) likely to hinder the registered firm in complying with securities legislation,
 - (c) inconsistent with an adequate level of investor protection, or
 - (d) otherwise prejudicial to the public interest.
- (3) Subsection (1) does not apply to the following:
 - (a) a proposed acquisition if the beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, the person or company whose security is to be acquired will not change;
 - (b) a registrant who, alone or in combination with any other person or company, proposes to acquire securities that, together with the securities already beneficially owned, or over which direct or indirect control or direction is already exercised, do not exceed more than 10% of any class or series of securities.
- (4) Except in Ontario and British Columbia, if, within 30 days of the regulator's, or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority's receipt of a notice under subsection (1), the regulator or the securities regulatory authority notifies the registrant making the acquisition that the regulator or the securities regulatory authority objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator or the securities regulatory authority approves it.
- (5) In Ontario, if, within 30 days of the regulator's receipt of a notice under subsection (1)(a) or (c), the regulator notifies the registrant making the acquisition that the regulator objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator approves it.
- (6) Following receipt of a notice of objection under subsection (4) or (5), the person or company who submitted the notice to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request an opportunity to be heard on the matter.

11.10 Registered firm whose securities are acquired

- (1) A registered firm must give the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority written notice in accordance with subsection (2) if it knows or has reason to believe that any person or company, alone or in combination with any other person or company, is about to acquire, or has acquired, beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, 10% or more of any class or series of voting securities of any of the following:
 - (a) the registered firm;
 - (b) a person or company of which the registered firm is a subsidiary.
- (2) The notice required under subsection (1) must,
 - (a) be delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible,
 - (b) include the name of each person or company involved in the acquisition, and

April 15, 2011 111 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (c) after the registered firm has applied reasonable efforts to gather all relevant facts, include facts regarding the acquisition sufficient to enable the regulator or the securities regulatory authority to determine if the acquisition is
 - (i) likely to give rise to a conflict of interest,
 - (ii) likely to hinder the registered firm in complying with securities legislation,
 - (iii) inconsistent with an adequate level of investor protection, or
 - (iv) otherwise prejudicial to the public interest.
- (3) This section does not apply to an acquisition in which the beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, a registered firm does not change.
- (4) This section does not apply if notice of the acquisition was provided under section 11.9 [registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets].
- (5) Except in British Columbia and Ontario, if, within 30 days of the regulator's or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority's receipt of a notice under subsection (1), the regulator or the securities regulatory authority notifies the person or company making the acquisition that the regulator or the securities regulatory authority objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator or the securities regulatory authority approves it.
- (6) In Ontario, if, within 30 days of the regulator's receipt of a notice under subsection (1)(a), the regulator notifies the person or company making the acquisition that the regulator objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator approves it.
- (7) Following receipt of a notice of objection under subsection (5) or (6), the person or company proposing to make the acquisition may request an opportunity to be heard on the matter.

Part 12 Financial condition

Division 1 Working capital

12.1 Capital requirements

- (1) If, at any time, the excess working capital of a registered firm, as calculated in accordance with Form 31-103F1 *Calculation of Excess Working Capital*, is less than zero, the registered firm must notify the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible.
- (2) The excess working capital of a registered firm, as calculated in accordance with Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, must not be less than zero for 2 consecutive days.
- (3) For the purpose of completing Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, the minimum capital is
 - (a) \$25,000, for a registered adviser that is not also a registered dealer or a registered investment fund manager,
 - (b) \$50,000, for a registered dealer that is not also a registered investment fund manager, and
 - (c) \$100,000, for a registered investment fund manager.
- (4) Paragraph (3)(c) does not apply to a registered investment fund manager that is exempt from the dealer registration requirement under section 8.6 [investment fund trades by adviser to managed account] in respect of all investment funds for which it acts as adviser.
- (5) This section does not apply to a registered firm that is a member of IIROC and is registered as an investment fund manager if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than \$100,000 as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report;

April 15, 2011 112 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) the firm notifies the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible if, at any time, the firm's risk adjusted capital, as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report is less than zero;
- (c) the risk adjusted capital of the firm, as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 *Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report*, is not less than zero for 2 consecutive days.
- (6) This section does not apply to a mutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA if it is also registered as an exempt market dealer, a scholarship plan dealer or an investment fund manager and if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 *MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report*, of not less than
 - (i) \$50,000, if the firm is registered as an exempt market dealer or scholarship plan dealer,
 - (ii) \$100,000, if the firm is registered as an investment fund manager;
 - (b) the firm notifies the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible if, at any time, the firm's risk adjusted capital, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report is less than zero;
 - (c) the risk adjusted capital of the firm, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 *MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report*, is not less than zero for 2 consecutive days.

12.2 Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a subordination agreement

If a registered firm has executed a subordination agreement, the effect of which is to exclude an amount from its long-term related party debt as calculated on Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, the firm must notify the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority 10 days before it

- (a) repays the loan or any part of the loan, or
- (b) terminates the agreement.

Division 2 Insurance

12.3 Insurance – dealer

- (1) A registered dealer must maintain bonding or insurance
 - (a) that contains the clauses set out in Appendix A [bonding and insurance clauses], and
 - (b) that provides for a double aggregate limit or a full reinstatement of coverage.
- (2) A registered dealer must maintain bonding or insurance in respect of each clause set out in Appendix A in the highest of the following amounts for each clause:
 - (a) \$50,000 per employee, agent and dealing representative or \$200,000, whichever is less;
 - (b) one per cent of the total client assets that the dealer holds or has access to, as calculated using the dealer's most recent financial records, or \$25,000,000, whichever is less;
 - (c) one per cent of the dealer's total assets, as calculated using the dealer's most recent financial records, or \$25,000,000, whichever is less;
 - (d) the amount determined to be appropriate by a resolution of the dealer's board of directors, or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm.
- (3) In Québec, this section does not apply to a scholarship plan dealer or a mutual fund dealer registered only in Québec.

April 15, 2011 113 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

12.4 Insurance – adviser

- (1) A registered adviser must maintain bonding or insurance
 - (a) that contains the clauses set out in Appendix A [bonding and insurance clauses], and
 - (b) that provides for a double aggregate limit or a full reinstatement of coverage.
- (2) A registered adviser that does not hold or have access to client assets must maintain bonding or insurance in respect of each clause set out in Appendix A in the amount of \$50,000 for each clause.
- (3) A registered adviser that holds or has access to client assets must maintain bonding or insurance in respect of each clause set out in Appendix A in the highest of the following amounts for each clause:
 - (a) one per cent of assets under management that the adviser holds or has access to, as calculated using the adviser's most recent financial records, or \$25,000,000, whichever is less;
 - (b) one per cent of the adviser's total assets, as calculated using the adviser's most recent financial records, or \$25,000,000, whichever is less;
 - (c) \$200,000;
 - (d) the amount determined to be appropriate by a resolution of the adviser's board of directors or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm.

12.5 Insurance – investment fund manager

- (1) A registered investment fund manager must maintain bonding or insurance
 - (a) that contains the clauses set out in Appendix A [bonding and insurance clauses], and
 - (b) that provides for a double aggregate limit or a full reinstatement of coverage.
- (2) A registered investment fund manager must maintain bonding or insurance in respect of each clause set out in Appendix A in the highest of the following amounts for each clause:
 - one per cent of assets under management, as calculated using the investment fund manager's most recent financial records, or \$25,000,000, whichever is less;
 - (b) one per cent of the investment fund manager's total assets, as calculated using the investment fund manager's most recent financial records, or \$25,000,000, whichever is less;
 - (c) \$200,000;
 - (d) the amount determined to be appropriate by a resolution of the investment fund manager's board of directors or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm.

12.6 Global bonding or insurance

A registered firm may not maintain bonding or insurance under this Division that benefits, or names as an insured, another person or company unless the bond provides, without regard to the claims, experience or any other factor referable to that other person or company, the following:

- (a) the registered firm has the right to claim directly against the insurer in respect of losses, and any payment or satisfaction of those losses must be made directly to the registered firm;
- (b) the individual or aggregate limits under the policy may only be affected by claims made by or on behalf of
 - (i) the registered firm, or
 - (ii) a subsidiary of the registered firm whose financial results are consolidated with those of the registered firm.

April 15, 2011 114 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

12.7 Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a change, claim or cancellation

A registered firm must, as soon as possible, notify the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority in writing of any change in, claim made under, or cancellation of any insurance policy required under this Division.

Division 3 Audits

12.8 Direction by the regulator or the securities regulatory authority to conduct an audit or review

A registered firm must direct its auditor in writing to conduct any audit or review required by the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority during its registration and must deliver a copy of the direction to the regulator or the securities regulatory authority

- (a) with its application for registration, and
- (b) no later than the 10th day after the registered firm changes its auditor.

12.9 Co-operating with the auditor

A registrant must not withhold, destroy or conceal any information or documents or otherwise fail to cooperate with a reasonable request made by an auditor of the registered firm in the course of an audit.

Division 4 Financial reporting

12.10 Annual financial statements

- (1) Annual financial statements delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority under this Division for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011 must include the following:
 - a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity and a statement of cash flows, each prepared for the most recently completed financial year and the financial year immediately preceding the most recently completed financial year, if any;
 - (b) a statement of financial position, signed by at least one director of the registered firm, as at the end of the most recently completed financial year and the financial year immediately preceding the most recently completed financial year, if any;
 - (c) notes to the financial statements.
- (2) The annual financial statements delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority under this Division must be audited.

12.11 Interim financial information

- (1) Interim financial information delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority under this Division for interim periods relating to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011 may be limited to the following:
 - (a) a statement of comprehensive income for the 3-month period ending on the last day of the interim period and for the same period of the immediately preceding financial year, if any:
 - (b) a statement of financial position, signed by at least one director of the registered firm, as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the same interim period of the immediately preceding financial year, if any.
- (2) The interim financial information delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority under this Division must be prepared using the same accounting principles that the registered firm uses to prepare its annual financial statements.

12.12 Delivering financial information – dealer

(1) A registered dealer must deliver the following to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year:

April 15, 2011 115 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) its annual financial statements for the financial year;
- (b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the dealer's excess working capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any.
- (2) A registered dealer must deliver the following to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year:
 - (a) its interim financial information for the interim period;
 - (b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the dealer's excess working capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding interim period, if any.
- (2.1) If a registered firm is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an exempt market dealer or scholarship plan dealer, the firm is exempt from paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than \$50,000 as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report;
 - (b) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1 *MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report*, no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any;
 - (c) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding month, if any.
- (3) Subsection (2) does not apply to an exempt market dealer unless it is also registered in another category.

12.13 Delivering financial information – adviser

A registered adviser must deliver the following to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year:

- (a) its annual financial statements for the financial year;
- (b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the adviser's excess working capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any.

12.14 Delivering financial information – investment fund manager

- (1) A registered investment fund manager must deliver the following to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year:
 - (a) its annual financial statements for the financial year;
 - (b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the investment fund manager's excess working capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any;
 - (c) a description of any net asset value adjustment made in respect of an investment fund managed by the investment fund manager during the financial year.
- (2) A registered investment fund manager must deliver the following to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year:
 - (a) its interim financial information for the interim period;

April 15, 2011 116 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the investment fund manager's excess working capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding interim period, if any;
- (c) a description of any net asset value adjustment made in respect of an investment fund managed by the investment fund manager during the interim period.
- (3) A description of a net asset value adjustment referred to in this section must include the following:
 - (a) the name of the fund;
 - (b) assets under administration of the fund;
 - (c) the cause of the adjustment;
 - (d) the dollar amount of the adjustment;
 - (e) the effect of the adjustment on net asset value per unit or share and any corrections made to purchase and sale transactions affecting either the investment fund or security holders of the investment fund.
- (4) If a registered firm is a member of IIROC and is registered as an investment fund manager, the firm is exempt from paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) if
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than \$100,000, as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 *Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report*;
 - (b) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed IIROC Form 1 *Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report*, no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any, and
 - (c) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed IIROC Form 1 *Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report*, no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding month, if any.
- (5) If a registered firm is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an investment fund manager, the firm is exempt from paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) if
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than \$100,000, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report,
 - (b) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1 *MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report*, no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any, and
 - (c) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding month, if any.

12.15 Exemptions for financial years beginning in 2011

(1) Despite subsections 12.10(1), 12.11(1), 12.12(1) and (2), 12.13 and 12.14(1) and (2), the annual financial statements, the interim financial information, and the completed Form 31-103F1 *Calculation of Excess Working Capital*, for a financial year beginning in 2011 or for interim periods relating to a financial year beginning in 2011 may exclude comparative information for the preceding financial period.

April 15, 2011 117 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (2) Despite subsection 12.12(2), the first interim financial information, and the first completed Form 31-103F1 *Calculation of Excess Working Capital*, required to be delivered in respect of an interim period beginning on or after January 1, 2011 must be delivered no later than the 45th day after the end of the interim period.
- (3) Despite subsection 12.14(2), the first interim financial information, the first completed Form 31-103F1 *Calculation of Excess Working Capital*, and the description of any net asset value adjustment, required to be delivered in respect of an interim period beginning on or after January 1, 2011 must be delivered no later than the 45th day after the end of the interim period.

Part 13 Dealing with clients - individuals and firms

Division 1 Know your client and suitability

13.1 Investment fund managers exempt from this Division

This Division does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of its activities as an investment fund manager.

13.2 Know your client

- (1) For the purpose of paragraph 2(b) in Ontario, Nova Scotia and New Brunswick, "insider" has the meaning ascribed to that term in the *Securities Act* except that "reporting issuer", as it appears in the definition of "insider", is to be read as "reporting issuer or any other issuer whose securities are publicly traded".
- (2) A registrant must take reasonable steps to
 - (a) establish the identity of a client and, if the registrant has cause for concern, make reasonable inquiries as to the reputation of the client,
 - (b) establish whether the client is an insider of a reporting issuer or any other issuer whose securities are publicly traded,
 - (c) ensure that it has sufficient information regarding all of the following to enable it to meet its obligations under section 13.3 or, if applicable, the suitability requirement imposed by an SRO:
 - (i) the client's investment needs and objectives;
 - (ii) the client's financial circumstances;
 - (iii) the client's risk tolerance, and
 - (d) establish the creditworthiness of the client if the registered firm is financing the client's acquisition of a security.
- (3) For the purpose of establishing the identity of a client that is a corporation, partnership or trust, the registrant must establish the following:
 - (a) the nature of the client's business;
 - (b) the identity of any individual who,
 - (i) in the case of a corporation, is a beneficial owner of, or exercises direct or indirect control or direction over, more than 25% of the voting rights attached to the outstanding voting securities of the corporation, or
 - (ii) in the case of a partnership or trust, exercises control over the affairs of the partnership or trust
- (4) A registrant must take reasonable steps to keep the information required under this section current.
- (5) This section does not apply if the client is a registered firm, a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank.
- (6) Paragraph (2)(c) does not apply to a registrant in respect of a permitted client if
 - (a) the permitted client has waived, in writing, the requirements under subsections 13.3(1) and (2), and

April 15, 2011 118 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) the registrant does not act as an adviser in respect of a managed account of the permitted client.
- (7) Paragraph (2)(b) does not apply to a registrant in respect of a client for which the registrant only trades securities referred to in paragraphs 7.1(2)(b) and (2)(c).

13.3 Suitability

- (1) A registrant must take reasonable steps to ensure that, before it makes a recommendation to or accepts an instruction from a client to buy or sell a security, or makes a purchase or sale of a security for a client's managed account, the purchase or sale is suitable for the client.
- (2) If a client instructs a registrant to buy, sell or hold a security and in the registrant's reasonable opinion following the instruction would not be suitable for the client, the registrant must inform the client of the registrant's opinion and must not buy or sell the security unless the client instructs the registrant to proceed nonetheless.
- (3) This section does not apply if the client is a registered firm, a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank.
- (4) This section does not apply to a registrant in respect of a permitted client if
 - (a) the permitted client has waived, in writing, the requirements under this section, and
 - (b) the registrant does not act as an adviser in respect of a managed account of the permitted client.

Division 2 Conflicts of interest

13.4 Identifying and responding to conflicts of interest

- (1) A registered firm must take reasonable steps to identify existing material conflicts of interest, and material conflicts of interest that the registered firm in its reasonable opinion would expect to arise, between the firm, including each individual acting on the firm's behalf, and a client.
- (2) A registered firm must respond to an existing or potential conflict of interest identified under subsection (1).
- (3) If a reasonable investor would expect to be informed of a conflict of interest identified under subsection (1), the registered firm must disclose, in a timely manner, the nature and extent of the conflict of interest to the client whose interest conflicts with the interest identified.
- This section does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of an investment fund that is subject to National Instrument 81-107 *Independent Review Committee for Investment Funds*.

13.5 Restrictions on certain managed account transactions

- (1) In this section, "responsible person" means, for a registered adviser,
 - (a) the adviser,
 - (b) a partner, director or officer of the adviser, and
 - (c) each of the following who has access to, or participates in formulating, an investment decision made on behalf of a client of the adviser or advice to be given to a client of the adviser:
 - (i) an employee or agent of the adviser;
 - (ii) an affiliate of the adviser;
 - (iii) a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of an affiliate of the adviser.
- (2) A registered adviser must not knowingly cause an investment portfolio managed by it, including an investment fund for which it acts as an adviser, to do any of the following:
 - (a) purchase a security of an issuer in which a responsible person, or an associate of a responsible person is a partner, officer or director unless

April 15, 2011 119 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (i) this fact is disclosed to the client, and
- (ii) the written consent of the client to the purchase is obtained before the purchase;
- (b) purchase or sell a security from or to the investment portfolio of any of the following:
 - (i) a responsible person;
 - (ii) an associate of a responsible person;
 - (iii) an investment fund for which a responsible person acts as an adviser;
- (c) provide a guarantee or loan to a responsible person or an associate of a responsible person.

13.6 Disclosure when recommending related or connected securities

A registered firm must not make a recommendation in any medium of communication to buy, sell or hold a security issued by the registered firm, a security of a related issuer or, during the security's distribution, a security of a connected issuer of the registered firm, unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the firm discloses, in the same medium of communication, the nature and extent of the relationship or connection between the firm and the issuer;
- (b) the recommendation is in respect of a security of a mutual fund, a scholarship plan, an educational plan or an educational trust that is an affiliate of, or is managed by an affiliate of, the registered firm and the names of the registered firm and the fund, plan or trust, as the case may be, are sufficiently similar to indicate that they are affiliated.

Division 3 Referral arrangements

13.7 Definitions – referral arrangements

In this Division

13.8 Permitted referral arrangements

A registered firm, or a registered individual whose registration is sponsored by the registered firm, must not participate in a referral arrangement with another person or company unless,

- before a client is referred by or to the registrant, the terms of the referral arrangement are set out in a written agreement between the registered firm and the person or company;
- (b) the registered firm records all referral fees, and
- (c) the registrant ensures that the information prescribed by subsection 13.10(1) [disclosing referral arrangements to clients] is provided to the client in writing before the party receiving the referral either opens an account for the client or provides services to the client.

13.9 Verifying the qualifications of the person or company receiving the referral

A registered firm, or a registered individual whose registration is sponsored by the registered firm, must not refer a client to another person or company unless the firm first takes reasonable steps to satisfy itself that the person or company has the appropriate qualifications to provide the services, and if applicable, is registered to provide those services.

April 15, 2011 120 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

[&]quot;client" includes a prospective client;

[&]quot;referral arrangement" means any arrangement in which a registrant agrees to pay or receive a referral fee;

[&]quot;referral fee" means any form of compensation, direct or indirect, paid for the referral of a client to or from a registrant.

13.10 Disclosing referral arrangements to clients

- (1) The written disclosure of the referral arrangement required by subsection 13.8(c) [permitted referral arrangements] must include the following:
 - (a) the name of each party to the agreement referred to in paragraph 13.8(a);
 - the purpose and material terms of the agreement, including the nature of the services to be provided by each party;
 - (c) any conflicts of interest resulting from the relationship between the parties to the agreement and from any other element of the referral arrangement;
 - (d) the method of calculating the referral fee and, to the extent possible, the amount of the fee;
 - (e) the category of registration of each registrant that is a party to the agreement with a description of the activities that the registrant is authorized to engage in under that category and, giving consideration to the nature of the referral, the activities that the registrant is not permitted to engage in;
 - (f) if a referral is made to a registrant, a statement that all activity requiring registration resulting from the referral arrangement will be provided by the registrant receiving the referral;
 - (g) any other information that a reasonable client would consider important in evaluating the referral arrangement.
- (2) If there is a change to the information set out in subsection (1), the registrant must ensure that written disclosure of that change is provided to each client affected by the change as soon as possible and no later than the 30th day before the date on which a referral fee is next paid or received.

13.11 Referral arrangements before this Instrument came into force

- (1) This Division applies to a referral arrangement entered into before this Instrument came into force if a referral fee is paid under the referral arrangement after this Instrument comes into force.
- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply until 6 months after this Instrument comes into force.

Division 4 Loans and margin

13.12 Restriction on lending to clients

- A registrant must not lend money, extend credit or provide margin to a client.
- (2) Notwithstanding subsection (1), an investment fund manager may lend money on a short term basis to an investment fund it manages, if the loan is for the purpose of funding redemptions of its securities or meeting expenses incurred by the investment fund in the normal course of its business.

13.13 Disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money

(1) If a registrant recommends that a client should use borrowed money to finance any part of a purchase of a security, the registrant must, before the purchase, provide the client with a written statement that is substantially similar to the following:

"Using borrowed money to finance the purchase of securities involves greater risk than a purchase using cash resources only. If you borrow money to purchase securities, your responsibility to repay the loan and pay interest as required by its terms remains the same even if the value of the securities purchased declines."

- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply if one of the following applies:
 - (a) the registrant has provided the client with the statement described under subsection (1) no earlier than the 180th day before the date of the proposed purchase;
 - (b) [repealed]
 - (c) the client is a permitted client.

April 15, 2011 121 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Division 5 Complaints

13.14 Application of this Division

- (1) This Division does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of its activities as an investment fund manager.
- (2) In Québec, a registered firm is deemed to comply with this Division if it complies with sections 168.1.1 to 168.1.3 of the Securities Act (Québec).

13.15 Handling complaints

A registered firm must document and, in a manner that a reasonable investor would consider fair and effective, respond to each complaint made to the registered firm about any product or service offered by the firm or a representative of the firm.

13.16 Dispute resolution service

- (1) A registered firm must ensure that independent dispute resolution or mediation services are made available, at the firm's expense, to a client to resolve a complaint made by the client about any trading or advising activity of the firm or one of its representatives.
- (2) If a person or company makes a complaint to a registered firm about any trading or advising activity of the firm or one of its representatives, the registered firm must as soon as possible inform the person or company of how to contact and use the dispute resolution or mediation services which are provided to the firm's clients.

Part 14 Handling client accounts - firms

Division 1 Exemption for investment fund managers

14.1 Investment fund managers exempt from Part 14

Other than sections 14.6 [holding client assets in trust], 14.12(5) [content and delivery of trade confirmation] and 14.14 [account statements], this Part does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of its activities as an investment fund manager.

Division 2 Disclosure to clients

14.2 Relationship disclosure information

- (1) A registered firm must deliver to a client all information that a reasonable investor would consider important about the client's relationship with the registrant.
- (2) The information required to be delivered under subsection (1) includes all of the following:
 - (a) a description of the nature or type of the client's account;
 - (b) a discussion that identifies the products or services the registered firm offers to a client;
 - (c) a description of the types of risks that a client should consider when making an investment decision;
 - (d) a description of the risks to a client of using borrowed money to finance a purchase of a security;
 - (e) a description of the conflicts of interest that the registered firm is required to disclose to a client under securities legislation;
 - (f) disclosure of all costs to a client for the operation of an account;
 - (g) a description of the costs a client will pay in making, holding and selling investments;
 - (h) a description of the compensation paid to the registered firm in relation to the different types of products that a client may purchase through the registered firm;
 - (i) a description of the content and frequency of reporting for each account or portfolio of a client;

April 15, 2011 122 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (j) if section 13.16 applies to the registered firm, disclosure that independent dispute resolution or mediation services are available at the registered firm's expense, to resolve any dispute that might arise between the client and the firm about any trading or advising activity of the firm or one of its representatives;
- (k) a statement that the registered firm has an obligation to assess whether a purchase or sale of a security is suitable for a client prior to executing the transaction or at any other time;
- (I) the information a registered firm must collect about the client under section 13.2 [know your client].
- (3) A registered firm must deliver to a client the information in subsection (1) before the firm first
 - (a) purchases or sells a security for the client, or
 - (b) advises the client to purchase, sell or hold a security.
- (4) If there is a significant change to the information delivered to a client under subsection (1), the registered firm must take reasonable steps to notify the client of the change in a timely manner and, if possible, before the firm next
 - (a) purchases or sells a security for the client, or
 - (b) advises the client to purchase, sell or hold a security.
- (5) This section does not apply if the client is a registered firm, a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank.
- (6) This section does not apply to a registrant in respect of a permitted client if
 - (a) the permitted client has waived, in writing, the requirements under this section, and
 - (b) the registrant does not act as an adviser in respect of a managed account of the permitted client.

14.3 Disclosure to clients about the fair allocation of investment opportunities

A registered adviser must deliver to a client a summary of the policies required under section 11.1 [compliance system] that provide reasonable assurance that the firm and each individual acting on its behalf complies with section 14.10 [allocating investment opportunities fairly] and that summary must be delivered

- (a) when the adviser opens an account for the client, and
- (b) if there is a significant change to the summary last delivered to the client, in a timely manner and, if possible, before the firm next
 - (i) purchases or sells a security for the client, or
 - (ii) advises the client to purchase, sell or hold a security.

14.4 When the firm has a relationship with a financial institution

- (1) If a registered firm opens a client account to trade in securities, in an office or branch of a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank, the registered firm must give the client a written notice stating that it is a separate legal entity from the Canadian financial institution or Schedule III bank and, unless otherwise advised by the registrant, securities purchased from or through the registrant
 - (a) are not insured by a government deposit insurer,
 - (b) are not guaranteed by the Canadian financial institution or Schedule III bank, and
 - (c) may fluctuate in value.
- (2) A registered firm that is subject to subsection (1) must receive a written confirmation from the client that the client has read and understood the notice before the registered firm
 - (a) purchases or sells a security for the client, or

April 15, 2011 123 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) advises the client to purchase, sell or hold a security.
- (3) This section does not apply to a registered firm if the client is a permitted client.

14.5 Notice to clients by non-resident registrants

- (1) A registered firm whose head office is not located in the local jurisdiction must provide a client in the local jurisdiction with a statement in writing disclosing the following:
 - (a) the firm is not resident in the local jurisdiction;
 - (b) the jurisdiction in Canada or the foreign jurisdiction in which the head office or the principal place of business of the firm is located;
 - (c) all or substantially all of the assets of the firm may be situated outside the local jurisdiction;
 - (d) there may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the firm because of the above;
 - (e) the name and address of the agent for service of process of the firm in the local jurisdiction.
- (2) This section does not apply to a registered firm whose head office is in Canada if the firm is registered in the local jurisdiction.

Division 3 Client assets

14.6 Holding client assets in trust

A registered firm that holds client assets must hold the assets

- (a) separate and apart from its own property,
- (b) in trust for the client, and
- (c) in the case of cash, in a designated trust account at a Canadian financial institution, a Schedule III bank, or a member of IIROC.

14.7 Holding client assets – non-resident registrants

- (1) A registered firm whose head office is not located in a jurisdiction of Canada must ensure that all client assets are held
 - (a) in the client's name,
 - (b) on behalf of the client by a custodian or sub-custodian that
 - meets the guidelines prescribed for acting as a sub-custodian of the portfolio securities of a mutual fund in Part 6 of National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds, and
 - (ii) is subject to the Bank for International Settlements' framework for international convergence of capital measurement and capital standards, or
 - (c) on behalf of the client by a registered dealer that is a member of an SRO and that is a member of Canadian Investor Protection Fund or other comparable compensation fund or contingency trust fund.
- (2) Section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust] does not apply to a registered firm that is subject to subsection (1).

14.8 Securities subject to a safekeeping agreement

A registered firm that holds unencumbered securities for a client under a written safekeeping agreement must

- (a) segregate the securities from all other securities,
- (b) identify the securities as being held in safekeeping for the client in

April 15, 2011 124 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (i) the registrant's security position record,
- (ii) the client's ledger, and
- (iii) the client's statement of account, and
- (c) release the securities only on an instruction from the client.

14.9 Securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement

- (1) A registered firm that holds unencumbered securities for a client other than under a written safekeeping agreement must
 - (a) segregate and identify the securities as being held in trust for the client, and
 - (b) describe the securities as being held in segregation on
 - (i) the registrant's security position record,
 - (ii) the client's ledger, and
 - (iii) the client's statement of account.
- (2) Securities described in subsection (1) may be segregated in bulk.

Division 4 Client accounts

14.10 Allocating investment opportunities fairly

A registered adviser must ensure fairness in allocating investment opportunities among its clients.

14.11 Selling or assigning client accounts

If a registered firm proposes to sell or assign a client's account in whole or in part to another registrant, the registered firm must, prior to the sale or assignment, give a written explanation of the proposal to the client and inform the client of the client's right to close the client's account.

Division 5 Account activity reporting

14.12 Content and delivery of trade confirmation

- (1) A registered dealer that has acted on behalf of a client in connection with a purchase or sale of a security must promptly deliver to the client or, if the client consents in writing, to a registered adviser acting for the client, a written confirmation of the transaction, setting out the following:
 - (a) the quantity and description of the security purchased or sold;
 - (b) the price per security paid or received by the client;
 - (c) the commission, sales charge, service charge and any other amount charged in respect of the transaction;
 - (d) whether the registered dealer acted as principal or agent;
 - (e) the date and the name of the marketplace, if any, on which the transaction took place, or if applicable, a statement that the transaction took place on more than one marketplace or over more than one day;
 - (f) the name of the dealing representative, if any, in the transaction;
 - (g) the settlement date of the transaction;

April 15, 2011 125 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (h) if applicable, that the security is a security of the registrant, a security of a related issuer of the registrant or, if the transaction occurred during the security's distribution, a security of a connected issuer of the registered dealer.
- (2) If a transaction under subsection (1) involved more than one transaction or if the transaction took place on more than one marketplace the information referred to in subsection (1) may be set out in the aggregate if the confirmation also contains a statement that additional details concerning the transaction will be provided to the client upon request and without additional charge.
- (3) Paragraph (1)(h) does not apply if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the security is a security of a mutual fund that is established and managed by the registered dealer or by an affiliate of the registered dealer, in its capacity as investment fund manager of the mutual fund:
 - (b) the names of the dealer and the mutual fund are sufficiently similar to indicate that they are affiliated or related.
- (4) For the purpose of paragraph (1)(f), a dealing representative may be identified by means of a code or symbol if the confirmation also contains a statement that the name of the dealing representative will be provided to the client on request of the client.
- (5) A registered investment fund manager that has executed a redemption order received directly from a security holder must promptly deliver to the security holder a written confirmation of the redemption, setting out the following:
 - (a) the quantity and description of the security redeemed;
 - (b) the price per security received by the client;
 - (c) the commission, sales charge, service charge and any other amount charged in respect of the redemption;
 - (d) the settlement date of the redemption.
- (6) Section 14.12(5) does not apply to trades in a security of an investment fund made in reliance on section 8.6.

14.13 Confirmations for certain automatic plans

The requirement under section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation] to deliver a confirmation promptly does not apply to a registered dealer in respect of a transaction if all of the following apply:

- (a) the client gave the dealer prior written notice that the transaction is made pursuant to the client's participation in an automatic payment plan, including a dividend reinvestment plan, or an automatic withdrawal plan in which a transaction is made at least monthly;
- (b) the registered dealer delivered a confirmation as required under section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation] for the first transaction made under the plan after receiving the notice referred to in paragraph (a);
- (c) the transaction is in a security of a mutual fund, scholarship plan, educational plan or educational trust.
- (d) [repealed]

14.14 Account statements

- (1) A registered dealer must deliver a statement to a client at least once every 3 months.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), a registered dealer must deliver a statement to a client at the end of a month if any of the following apply:
 - (a) the client has requested receiving statements on a monthly basis;

April 15, 2011 126 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) during the month, a transaction was effected in the account other than a transaction made under an automatic withdrawal plan or an automatic payment plan, including a dividend reinvestment plan.
- (2.1) Subsection (2) does not apply to a mutual fund dealer in connection with its activities as a dealer in respect of the securities listed in section 7.1(2)(b).
- (3) Except if the client has otherwise directed, a registered adviser must deliver a statement to a client at least once every 3 months.
- (3.1) If there is no dealer of record for a security holder on the records of a registered investment fund manager, the investment fund manager must deliver a statement to the security holder at least once every 12 months.
- (4) A statement delivered under subsection (1), (2), (3), or (3.1) must include all of the following information for each transaction made for the client or security holder during the period covered by the statement:
 - (a) the date of the transaction;
 - (b) the type of transaction;
 - (c) the name of the security;
 - (d) the number of securities;
 - (e) the price per security;
 - (f) the total value of the transaction.
- (5) A statement delivered under subsection (1), (2), (3), or (3.1) must include all of the following information about the client's or security holder's account as at the end of the period for which the statement is made:
 - (a) the name and quantity of each security in the account;
 - (b) the market value of each security in the account;
 - (c) the total market value of each security position in the account;
 - (d) any cash balance in the account;
 - (e) the total market value of all cash and securities in the account.
- (6) Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply to a scholarship plan dealer if both of the following apply:
 - (a) the dealer is not registered in another dealer or adviser category;
 - (b) the dealer delivers to the client a statement at least once every 12 months that provides the information in subsections (4) and (5).

Part 15 Granting an exemption

15.1 Who can grant an exemption

- (1) The regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may grant an exemption from this Instrument, in whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the exemption.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), in Ontario only the regulator may grant such an exemption.
- (3) Except in Ontario, an exemption referred to in subsection (1) is granted under the statute referred to in Appendix B of National Instrument 14-101 *Definitions* opposite the name of the local jurisdiction.

April 15, 2011 127 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Part 16 Transition

16.1 Change of registration categories – individuals

On the day this Instrument comes into force, an individual registered in a category referred to in

- (a) column 1 of Appendix C [new category names individuals], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as a dealing representative,
- (b) column 2 of Appendix C [new category names individuals], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as an advising representative, and
- (c) column 3 of Appendix C [new category names individuals], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as an associate advising representative.

16.2 Change of registration categories – firms

On the day this Instrument comes into force, a person or company registered in a category referred to in

- (a) column 1 of Appendix D [new category names firms], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as an investment dealer,
- (b) column 2 of Appendix D [new category names firms], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as a mutual fund dealer,
- (c) column 3 of Appendix D [new category names firms], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as a scholarship plan dealer,
- (d) column 4 of Appendix D [new category names firms], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as a restricted dealer,
- (e) column 5 of Appendix D [new category names firms], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as a portfolio manager, and
- (f) column 6 of Appendix D [new category names firms], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as a restricted portfolio manager.

16.3 Change of registration categories – limited market dealers

- (1) This section applies in Ontario and Newfoundland and Labrador.
- (2) On the day this Instrument comes into force, a person or company registered as a limited market dealer is registered as an exempt market dealer.
- (3) On the day this Instrument comes into force, an individual registered to trade on behalf of a limited market dealer is registered as a dealing representative of the dealer.
- (4) Sections 12.1 [capital requirements] and 12.2 [notifying the regulator of a subordination agreement] do not apply to a person or company registered as an exempt market dealer under subsection (2) until one year after this Instrument comes into force.
- (5) Sections 12.3 [insurance dealer] and 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation] do not apply to a person or company registered as an exempt market dealer under subsection (2) until 6 months after this Instrument comes into force.

16.4 Registration for investment fund managers active when this Instrument comes into force

- (1) The requirement to register as an investment fund manager does not apply to a person or company that is acting as an investment fund manager on the day this Instrument comes into force
 - (a) until one year after this Instrument comes into force, or

April 15, 2011 128 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) if the person or company applies for registration as an investment fund manager within one year after this Instrument comes into force, until the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority has accepted or refused the registration.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed one year after this Instrument comes into force.
- (3) Section 12.5 [insurance investment fund manager] does not apply to a registered dealer or a registered adviser that is acting as an investment fund manager on the day this Instrument comes into force.
- (4) Subsection (3) is repealed one year after this Instrument comes into force.

16.5 Temporary exemption for Canadian investment fund manager registered in its principal jurisdiction

- (1) A person or company is not required to register in the local jurisdiction as an investment fund manager if it is registered, or has applied for registration, as an investment fund manager in the jurisdiction of Canada in which its head office is located.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed on September 28, 2012.

16.6 Temporary exemption for foreign investment fund managers

- (1) The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to a person or company that is acting as an investment fund manager if its head office is in not in a jurisdiction of Canada.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed on September 28, 2012.

16.7 Registration of exempt market dealers

- (1) This section does not apply in Ontario and Newfoundland and Labrador.
- (2) In this section, "the exempt market" means those trading and underwriting activities listed in subparagraph 7.1(2)(d) [dealer categories].
- The requirement to register as an exempt market dealer does not apply to a person or company that acts as a dealer in the exempt market on the day this Instrument comes into force
 - (a) until one year after this Instrument comes into force, or
 - (b) if the person or company applies for registration as an exempt market dealer within one year after this Instrument comes into force, until the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority has accepted or refused the registration.
- (4) The requirement to register as a dealing representative of an exempt market dealer does not apply to an individual who acts as a dealer in the exempt market on the day this Instrument comes into force
 - (a) until one year after this Instrument comes into force, or
 - (b) if the individual applies to be registered as a dealing representative of an exempt market dealer within one year after this Instrument comes into force, until the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority has accepted or refused the registration.

16.8 Registration of ultimate designated persons

If a person or company is a registered firm on the day this Instrument comes into force, section 11.2 [designating an ultimate designated person] does not apply to the firm

- (a) until 3 months after this Instrument comes into force, or
- (b) if an individual applies to be registered as the ultimate designated person of the firm within 3 months after this Instrument comes into force, until the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority has accepted or refused the registration.

April 15, 2011 129 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

16.9 Registration of chief compliance officers

- (1) If a person or company is a registered firm on the date this Instrument comes into force, section 11.3 [designating a chief compliance officer] does not apply to the firm
 - (a) until 3 months after this Instrument comes into force, or
 - (b) if an individual applies to be registered as the chief compliance officer of the firm within 3 months after this Instrument comes into force, until the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority has accepted or refused the registration.
- (2) If an individual applies to be registered as the chief compliance officer of a registered firm within 3 months after this Instrument comes into force and the individual was identified on the National Registration Database as the firm's compliance officer in a jurisdiction of Canada on the date this Instrument came into force, the following sections do not apply in respect of the individual so long as he or she remains registered as the firm's chief compliance officer:
 - (a) section 3.6 [mutual fund dealer chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is a mutual fund dealer:
 - (b) section 3.8 [scholarship plan dealer chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is a scholarship plan dealer;
 - (c) section 3.10 [exempt market dealer chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is an exempt market dealer:
 - (d) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is a portfolio manager.
- (3) If an individual applies to be registered as the chief compliance officer of a registered firm within 3 months after this Instrument comes into force and the individual was not identified on the National Registration Database as the firm's compliance officer on the date this Instrument came into force, the following sections do not apply in respect of the individual until one year after this Instrument comes into force:
 - (a) section 3.6 [mutual fund dealer chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is a mutual fund dealer;
 - (b) section 3.8 [scholarship plan dealer chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is a scholarship plan dealer;
 - (c) section 3.10 [exempt market dealer chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is an exempt market dealer;
 - (d) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is a portfolio manager.
- (4) In Ontario and Newfoundland and Labrador, despite paragraphs 2(c) and (3)(c), if an individual applies to be registered as the chief compliance officer of an exempt market dealer within 3 months after this Instrument comes into force, section 3.10 [exempt market dealer chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual until one year after this Instrument comes into force.

16.10 Proficiency for dealing and advising representatives

- (1) Subject to subsections (2) and (3), if an individual is registered in a jurisdiction of Canada as a dealing or advising representative in a category referred to in a section of Division 2 of Part 3 [education and experience requirements] on the day this Instrument comes into force, that section does not apply to the individual so long as the individual remains registered in the category.
- (2) Section 3.7 [scholarship plan dealer dealing representative] does not apply to an individual until one year after this Instrument comes into force if the individual is registered as a dealing representative of a scholarship plan dealer on the day this Instrument comes into force.

April 15, 2011 130 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(3) In Ontario and Newfoundland and Labrador, section 3.9 [exempt market dealer – dealing representative] does not apply to an individual until one year after this Instrument comes into force if the individual is registered as a dealing representative of an exempt market dealer on the day this Instrument comes into force.

16.11 Capital requirements

- (1) A person or company that is a registered firm on the day this Instrument comes into force is exempt from sections 12.1 [capital requirements] and 12.2 [notifying the regulator of a subordination agreement] if it complies with each provision listed in Appendix E [non-harmonized capital requirements] across from the name of the firm's principal jurisdiction.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed one year after this Instrument comes into force.

16.12 Continuation of existing discretionary relief

A person or company that was entitled to rely on an exemption, waiver or approval granted to it by a regulator or securities regulatory authority relating to a requirement under securities legislation or securities directions existing immediately before this Instrument came into force is exempt from any substantially similar provision of this Instrument to the same extent and on the same conditions, if any, as contained in the exemption, waiver or approval.

16.13 Insurance requirements

- (1) A person or company that is a registered firm on the day this Instrument comes into force is exempt from sections 12.3 [insurance dealer] to 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation] if it complies with each provision listed in Appendix F [non-harmonized insurance requirements] across from the name of the firm's principal jurisdiction.
- (2) In Québec, subsection (1), does not apply to a registered firm that is a mutual fund dealer or a scholarship plan dealer on the day this Instrument comes into force.
- (3) Subsections (1) and (2) are repealed 6 months after this Instrument comes into force.

16.14 Relationship disclosure information

- (1) Section 14.2 [relationship disclosure information] does not apply to a person or company that is a registrant on the day this Instrument comes into force.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed one year after this Instrument comes into force.

16.15 Referral arrangements

- (1) Division 3 [referral arrangements] of Part 13 does not apply to a person or company that is a registrant on the day this Instrument comes into force.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed 6 months after this Instrument comes into force.

16.16 Complaint handling

- (1) In each jurisdiction of Canada except Québec, section 13.16 [dispute resolution service] does not apply to a person or company that is a registered firm in a jurisdiction of Canada on the day this Instrument comes into force.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed on September 28, 2012.

16.17 Account statements – mutual fund dealers

- (1) Section 14.14 [account statements] does not apply to a person or company that was, on September 28, 2009, either of the following:
 - (a) a member of the MFDA;
 - (b) a mutual fund dealer in Québec, unless it was also a portfolio manager in Québec.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed on September 28, 2011.

April 15, 2011 131 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

16.18 Transition to exemption – international dealers

- (1) This section applies in Ontario and Newfoundland and Labrador.
- (2) If a person or company is registered in the category of international dealer on the day this Instrument comes into force, its registration in that category is revoked.
- (3) If a person or company is registered in the category of international dealer on the day this Instrument comes into force, paragraphs 8.18(3)(e) and 8.18(4)(b) [international dealer] do not apply to the person or company until one month after this Instrument comes into force.

16.19 Transition to exemption – international advisers

- (1) This section applies in Ontario.
- (2) If a person or company is registered in the category of international adviser on the day this Instrument comes into force, its registration in that category is revoked one year after this Instrument comes into force.
- (3) If the registration of a person or company is revoked under subsection (2), the registration of each individual registered to act as an adviser on behalf of the person or company is revoked.
- (4) If a person or company is registered in the category of international adviser on the day this Instrument comes into force, paragraphs (e) and (f) of subsection 8.26(4) [international adviser] do not apply to the person or company until one year after this Instrument comes into force.

16.20 Transition to exemption – portfolio manager and investment counsel (foreign)

- (1) This section applies in Alberta.
- (2) If a person or company is registered in the category of portfolio manager and investment counsel (foreign) on the day this Instrument comes into force, its registration in that category is revoked one year after this Instrument comes into force.
- (3) If the registration of a person or company is revoked under subsection (2), the registration of each individual registered to act as an adviser on behalf of the person or company is revoked.
- (4) If a person or company is registered in the category of portfolio manager and investment counsel (foreign) on the day this Instrument comes into force, paragraphs (e) and (f) of subsection 8.26(4) [international adviser] do not apply to the person or company until one year after this Instrument comes into force.

Part 17 When this Instrument comes into force

17.1 Effective date

- (1) Except in Ontario, this Instrument comes into force on September 28, 2009.
- (2) In Ontario, this Instrument comes into force on the later of the following:
 - (a) September 28, 2009;
 - (b) the day on which sections 4, 5 and subsections 20(1) to (11) of Schedule 26 of the *Budget Measures Act*, 2009 are proclaimed in force.

April 15, 2011 132 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 31-103F1 CALCULATION OF EXCESS WORKING CAPITAL

	Firm Name	
	Capital Calculation	
(as at	with comparative figures as at	

	Component	Current period	Prior period
1.	Current assets		
2.	Less current assets not readily convertible into cash (e.g., prepaid expenses)		
3.	Adjusted current assets Line 1 minus line 2 =		
4.	Current liabilities		
5.	Add 100% of long-term related party debt unless the firm and the lender have executed a subordination agreement in the form set out in Appendix B and the firm has delivered a copy of the agreement to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority		
6.	Adjusted current liabilities Line 4 plus line 5 =		
7.	Adjusted working capital Line 3 minus line 6 =		
8.	Less minimum capital		
9.	Less market risk		
10.	Less any deductible under the bonding or insurance policy required under Part 12 of National Instrument 31-103, Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations		
11.	Less Guarantees		
12.	Less unresolved differences		
13.	Excess working capital		

April 15, 2011 133 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Notes:

This form must be prepared using the accounting principles that you use to prepare your financial statements in accordance with National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards. Section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations provides further guidance in respect of these accounting principles.

- Line 5. Related-party debt Refer to the CICA Handbook for the definition of "related party" for publicly accountable enterprises.
- **Line 8. Minimum Capital** The amount on this line must be not less than (a) \$25,000 for an adviser and (b) \$50,000 for a dealer. For an investment fund manager, the amount must be not less than \$100,000 unless subsection 12.1(4) applies.
- Line 9. Market Risk The amount on this line must be calculated according to the instructions set out in Schedule 1 to this Form.
- **Line 11. Guarantees** If the registered firm is guaranteeing the liability of another party, the total amount of the guarantee must be included in the capital calculation. If the amount of a guarantee is included in the firm's statement of financial position as a current liability and is reflected in line 4, do not include the amount of the guarantee on line 11.
- **Line 12. Unresolved differences** Any unresolved differences that could result in a loss from either firm or client assets must be included in the capital calculation. The examples below provide guidance as to how to calculate unresolved differences:
 - (i) If there is an unresolved difference relating to client securities, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the fair value of the client securities that are short, plus the applicable margin rate for those securities.
 - (ii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to the registrant's investments, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the fair value of the investments (securities) that are short.
 - (iii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to cash, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the amount of the shortfall in cash.

Please refer to section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations for further guidance on how to prepare and file this form.

Management Certification			
Registered Firm Name:			
We have examined the attach	ned capital calculation and cer	tify that the firm is in compliance v	vith the capital requirements as at
	·		
Name and Title 1.	Signature	Date	
2	_		

April 15, 2011 134 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule 1 of Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital (calculating line 9 [market risk])

For purposes of completing this form:

- (1) "Fair value" means the value of a security determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises.
- (2) For each security whose value is included in line 1, Current Assets, multiply the fair value of the security by the margin rate for that security set out below. Add up the resulting amounts for all of the securities you hold. The total is the "market risk" to be entered on line 9.

(a) Bonds, Debentures, Treasury Bills and Notes

(i) Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by the Government of Canada, of the United Kingdom, of the United States of America and of any other national foreign government (provided such foreign government securities are currently rated Aaa or AAA by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor's Corporation, respectively), maturing (or called for redemption):

within 1 year: 1% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing

the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years:

1 % of fair value
over 3 years to 7 years:

2% of fair value
over 7 years to 11 years:

4% of fair value
over 11 years:

4% of fair value

(ii) Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by any jurisdiction of Canada and obligations of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, maturing (or called for redemption):

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing

the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years:

3 % of fair value

ver 3 years to 7 years:

4% of fair value

ver 7 years to 11 years:

5% of fair value

ver 11 years:

5% of fair value

(iii) Bonds, debentures or notes (not in default) of or guaranteed by any municipal corporation in Canada or the United Kingdom maturing:

within 1 year: 3% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing

the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years: 5 % of fair value over 3 years to 7 years: 5% of fair value over 7 years to 11 years: 5% of fair value over 11 years: 5% of fair value

(iv) Other non-commercial bonds and debentures, (not in default): 10% of fair value

April 15, 2011 135 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(v) Commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes (not in default) and non-negotiable and non-transferable trust company and mortgage loan company obligations registered in the registered firm's name maturing:

within 1 year: 3% of fair value over 1 year to 3 years: 6 % of fair value over 3 years to 7 years: 7% of fair value over 7 years to 11 years: 10% of fair value over 11 years: 10% of fair value

(b) Bank Paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a Canadian chartered bank (and of Canadian chartered bank acceptances) maturing:

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the

number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

(c) Acceptable foreign bank paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a foreign bank, readily negotiable and transferable and maturing:

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the

number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

(d) Mutual Funds

Securities of mutual funds qualified by prospectus for sale in any jurisdiction of Canada:

- (i) 5% of the net asset value per security as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure, where the fund is a money market mutual fund as defined in National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds; or
- (ii) the margin rate determined on the same basis as for listed stocks multiplied by the net asset value per security of the fund as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure.

(e) Stocks

In this paragraph, "securities" includes rights and warrants and does not include bonds and debentures.

(i) On securities including investment fund securities, rights and warrants, listed on any exchange in Canada or the United States of America:

Long Positions - Margin Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more - 50% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.75 to \$1.99 - 60% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.74 – 80% of fair value

Securities selling under \$1.50 - 100% of fair value

April 15, 2011 136 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

[&]quot;Acceptable Foreign Bank Paper" consists of deposit certificates or promissory notes issued by a bank other than a Canadian chartered bank with a net worth (i.e., capital plus reserves) of not less than \$200,000,000.

Short Positions - Credit Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more - 150% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.99 – \$3.00 per share

Securities selling at \$0.25 to \$1.49 - 200% of fair value

Securities selling at less than \$0.25 – fair value plus \$0.25 per shares

- (ii) For positions in securities that are constituent securities on a major broadly-based index of one of the following exchanges, 50% of the fair value:
 - (a) Australian Stock Exchange Limited
 - (b) Bolsa de Madrid
 - (c) Borsa Italiana
 - (d) Copenhagen Stock Exchange
 - (e) Euronext Amsterdam
 - (f) Euronext Brussels
 - (g) Euronext Paris S.A.
 - (h) Frankfurt Stock Exchange
 - (i) London Stock Exchange
 - (j) New Zealand Exchange Limited
 - (k) Stockholm Stock Exchange
 - (I) Swiss Exchange
 - (m) The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
 - (n) Tokyo Stock Exchange

(f) Mortgages

- (i) For a firm registered in any jurisdiction of Canada except Ontario:
 - (a) Insured mortgages (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Mortgages which are not insured (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.
- (ii) For a firm registered in Ontario:
 - (a) Mortgages insured under the National Housing Act (Canada) (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Conventional first mortgages (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.

If you are registered in Ontario regardless of whether you are also registered in another jurisdiction of Canada, you will need to apply the margin rates set forth in (ii) above.

(g) For all other securities – 100% of fair value.

April 15, 2011 137 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 31-103F2 SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION AND APPOINTMENT OF AGENT FOR SERVICE (sections 8.18 [international dealer] and 8.26 [international adviser])

1.	Name of person	or company ("International Firm"):
2.		nal Firm was previously assigned an NRD number as a registered firm or an unregistered exempt n, provide the NRD number of the firm.
3.	Jurisdiction of in	corporation of the International Firm:
4.	Head office add	ress of the International Firm:
5.	The name, e-ma	ail address, phone number and fax number of the International Firm's chief compliance officer.
	Name: E-mail address: Phone: Fax:	
6.	Section of Natio International Fire	nal Instrument 31-103, Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations the m is relying on:
		☐ Section 8.18 [international dealer] ☐ Section 8.26 [international adviser] ☐ Other
7.	Name of agent f	or service of process (the "Agent for Service"):
8.	Address for service of process on the Agent for Service:	
9.	The International Firm designates and appoints the Agent for Service at the address stated above as its agent upon whom may be served a notice, pleading, subpoena, summons or other process in any action, investigation or administrative, criminal, quasi-criminal or other proceeding (a "Proceeding") arising out of or relating to or concerning the International Firm's activities in the local jurisdiction and irrevocably waives any right to raise as a defence in any such proceeding any alleged lack of jurisdiction to bring such Proceeding.	
10.	The International Firm irrevocably and unconditionally submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the judicial, quasi-judicial and administrative tribunals of the local jurisdiction in any Proceeding arising out of or related to or concerning the International Firm's activities in the local jurisdiction.	
11.		after the International Firm ceases to rely on section 8.18 [international dealer] or section 8.26 dviser], the International Firm must submit to the securities regulatory authority
		Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service in this form no later than the 30th day the date this Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service is terminated; and
		ended Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service no later than the 30th day any change in the name or above address of the Agent for Service.
12.	This Submission the laws of the laws	to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service is governed by and construed in accordance with ocal jurisdiction.
Dated: _		
(Signatı	ure of the Internat	ional Firm or authorized signatory)
(Name a	and Title of author	rized signatory)

April 15, 2011 138 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Acceptance

conditions of the foregoing Submission to Jurisdiction and A	``	,	r the terms and
Dated:			
(Signature of Agent for Service or authorized signatory)			
(Name and Title of authorized signatory)			

April 15, 2011 139 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 31-103F3 USE OF MOBILITY EXEMPTION (section 2.2 [client mobility exemption – individuals])

This is to notify the securities regulatory authority that the individual named in paragraph 1 is relying on the exemption in section 2.2 [client mobility exemption – individuals] of National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations.

1.	Individual information
	Name of individual:
	NRD number of individual:
	The individual is relying on the client mobility exemption in each of the following jurisdictions of Canada:
2.	Firm information
	Name of the individual's sponsoring firm:
	NRD number of firm:
Dated:	
(Signat	ure of an authorized signatory of the individual's sponsoring firm)
(Name	and title of authorized signatory)

April 15, 2011 140 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX A - BONDING AND INSURANCE CLAUSES

(section 12.3 [insurance – dealer], section 12.4 [insurance – adviser] and section 12.5 [insurance – investment fund manager])

Clause	Name of Clause	Details
А	Fidelity	This clause insures against any loss through dishonest or fraudulent act of employees.
В	On Premises	This clause insures against any loss of money and securities or other property through robbery, burglary, theft, hold-up, or other fraudulent means, mysterious disappearance, damage or destruction while within any of the insured's offices, the offices of any banking institution or clearing house or within any recognized place of safe-deposit.
С	In Transit	This clause insures against any loss of money and securities or other property through robbery, burglary, theft, hold-up, misplacement, mysterious disappearance, damage or destruction, while in transit in the custody of any employee or any person acting as messenger except while in the mail or with a carrier for hire other than an armoured motor vehicle company.
D	Forgery or Alterations	This clause insures against any loss through forgery or alteration of any cheques, drafts, promissory notes or other written orders or directions to pay sums in money, excluding securities.
E	Securities	This clause insures against any loss through having purchased or acquired, sold or delivered, or extended any credit or acted upon securities or other written instruments which prove to have been forged, counterfeited, raised or altered, or lost or stolen, or through having guaranteed in writing or witnessed any signatures upon any transfers, assignments or other documents or written instruments.

April 15, 2011 141 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX B - SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT

(Line 5 of Form 31-103F1 Calculation of excess working capital)

SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of the day of, 20
BETWEEN:
[insert name]
(the "Lender")
AND
[insert name]
(the "Registered Firm", which term shall include all successors and assigns of the Registered Firm)
(collectively, the "Parties")
This Agreement is entered into by the Parties under National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations ("NI 31-103") in connection with a loan made on theday of, 20 by the Lender to the Registered Firm in the amount of \$(the "Loan") for the purpose of allowing the Registered Firm to carry on its business.

For good and valuable consideration, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Subordination

The repayment of the loan and all amounts owed thereunder are subordinate to the claims of the other creditors of the Registered Firm.

2. Dissolution, winding-up, liquidation, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Registered Firm

In the event of the dissolution, winding-up, liquidation, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Registered Firm:

- (a) the creditors of the Registered Firm shall be paid their existing claims in full in priority to the claims of the Lender;
- (b) the Lender shall not be entitled to make any claim upon any property belonging or having belonged to the Registered Firm, including asserting the right to receive any payment in respect to the Loan before the existing claims of the other creditors of the Registered Firm have been settled.

3. Terms and conditions of the Loan

During the term of this Agreement:

- (a) interest can be paid at the agreed upon rate and time, provided that the payment of such interest does not result in a capital deficiency under NI 31-103;
- (b) any loan or advance or posting of security for a loan or advance by the Registered Firm to the Lender, shall be deemed to be a payment on account of the Loan.

4. Notice to the Securities Regulatory Authority

The Registered Firm must notify the Securities Regulatory Authority 10 days before the full or partial repayment of the loan. Further documentation may be requested by the Securities Regulatory Authority after receiving the notice from the Registered Firm.

April 15, 2011 142 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

5. Termination of this Agreement

This Agreement may only be terminated by the Lender once the notice required pursuant to Section 4 of this Agreement is received by the Securities Regulatory Authority.

The Parties have executed and delivered this Agreement as of the date set out above.

[Registered Firm]	
Authorized signatory	
Authorized signatory	
[Lender]	
Authorized signatory	
Authorized signatory	_

April 15, 2011 143 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX C – NEW CATEGORY NAMES – INDIVIDUALS (Section 16.1 [change of registration categories – individuals])

	Column 1 [dealing representative]	Column 2 [advising representative]	Column 3 [associate advising representative]	
Alberta	Officer (Trading) Salesperson Partner (Trading)	Officer (Advising) Advising Employee Partner (Trading)	Junior Officer (Advising)	
British Columbia	Salesperson Trading Partner Trading Director Trading Officer	Advising Employee Advising Partner Advising Director Advising Officer		
Manitoba	Salesperson Branch Manager Trading Partner Trading Director Trading Officer	Advising Employee Advising Officer Advising Director Advising Partner	Associate Advising Officer Associate Advising Director Associate Advising Partner Associate Advising Employee	
New Brunswick	Salesperson Officer (trading) Partner (trading)	Representative (advising) Officer (advising) Partner (advising) Sole proprietor (advising)	Associate officer (advising), Associate partner (advising), Associate representative (advising)	
Newfoundland and Labrador	Sales Person Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading)	Officer (Advising) Partner (Advising)		
Nova Scotia	Salesperson Officer – trading Partner- trading Director – trading	Officer- advising Officer – counseling Partner- advising Partner- counseling Director- advising Director- counseling		
Ontario Salesperson Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading) Sole Proprietor Advising Representat Officer (Advising) Partner (Advising) Sole Proprietor		Partner (Advising)		
Prince Edward Island	Salesperson Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading)	Counselling Officer (Officer) Counselling Officer (Partner) Counselling Officer (Other)		
Representative – Group Mar Savings Plan (salesperson), Rep Representative – Scholarship Rep		Representative (Portfolio Manager), Representative (Advising), Representative – Options, Representative – Futures		
Saskatchewan	Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading) Salesperson	ding) Partner (Advising)		
Northwest Territories Salesperson Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading)		Representative (Advising) Officer (Advising) Partner (Advising)		

April 15, 2011 144 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	Column 1 [dealing representative]	Column 2 [advising representative]	Column 3 [associate advising representative]
Nunavut	Salesperson Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading)	Representative (Advising) Officer (Advising) Partner (Advising)	
Yukon	Salesperson Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading) Sole proprietor (Trading)	Representative (Advising) Officer (Advising) Partner (Advising)	

April 15, 2011 145 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX D – NEW CATEGORY NAMES – FIRMS (Section 16.2 [change of registration categories – firms])

	Column 1 [investment dealer]	Column 2 [mutual fund dealer]	Column 3 [scholarship plan dealer]	Column 4 [restricted dealer]	Column 5 [portfolio manager]	Column 6 [restricted portfolio manager]
Alberta	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer	dealer, dealer (exchange contracts), dealer (restricted)	investment counsel and/or portfolio manager	portfolio manager/ investment counsel (exchange contracts)
British Columbia	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer	exchange contracts dealer, special limited dealer	investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Manitoba	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
New Brunswick	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel and portfolio manager	
Newfoundland and Labrador	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Nova Scotia	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Ontario	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Prince Edward Island	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	

April 15, 2011 146 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	Column 1 [investment dealer]	Column 2 [mutual fund dealer]	Column 3 [scholarship plan dealer]	Column 4 [restricted dealer]	Column 5 [portfolio manager]	Column 6 [restricted portfolio manager]
Québec	unrestricted practice dealer, unrestricted practice dealer (introducing broker), unrestricted practice dealer (International Financial Centre), discount broker	firm in group savings-plan brokerage	scholarship plan dealer	Québec Business investment company (QBIC) Debt securities dealer restricted practice Dealer firm in investment contract brokerage unrestrict- ed practice dealer (Nasdaq)	unrestricted practice adviser, unrestricted practice adviser (International Financial Centre)	restricted practice advisor
Saskatchewan	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Northwest Territories	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Nunavut	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Yukon	broker	broker	scholarship plan dealer		broker	

April 15, 2011 147 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX E – NON-HARMONIZED CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS (Section 12.1 [capital requirements])

Alberta	Sections 23 and 24 of the Alberta Securities Commission Rules (General)
British Columbia	Sections 19, 20, 24 and 25 of the Securities Rules. Sections 2.1(i), 2.3(i), 9.4, 13.3, 15.4 and 16.3 of BC Policy 31-601 Registration Requirements.
Manitoba	None in the Act or Regulations – Handled through terms and conditions
New Brunswick	Sections 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4 and 7.5 of New Brunswick Local Rule 31-501 Registration Requirements, as those sections read immediately before revocation
Newfoundland and Labrador	Sections 84, 85, 95, 96, 97 and 99 of the Securities Regulations under the Securities Act (O.C. 96-286)
Nova Scotia	Section 23 of the General Securities Rules, as the section read immediately before revocation
Ontario	Sections 96, 97, 107, 111 of the Ontario Regulation 1015 made under the <i>Securities Act</i> , as those sections read immediately before revocation
Prince Edward Island	Section 34 of the former Securities Act Regulations and incorporated by reference by Local Rule 31-501 (Transitional Registration Requirements)
Québec	Sections 207 to 209, 211 and 212 of the Québec Securities Regulation or sections 8 to 11 of the Regulation respecting the trust accounts of financial resources of securities firms as those sections read immediately before repeal
Saskatchewan	Sections 19 and 24 of <i>The Securities Regulations</i> (Saskatchewan) as those sections read immediately before revocation
Northwest Territories	None in the Act, Regulations, or local rules – Handled through terms and conditions
Nunavut	None in the Act, Regulations, or local rules – Handled through terms and conditions
Yukon	Local Rule 31-501 Registration Requirements

April 15, 2011 148 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX F – NON-HARMONIZED INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS (Section 16.13 [insurance requirements])

Alberta	Sections 25 and 26 of the Alberta Securities Commission Rules (General)					
British	Sections 21 and 22 of the Securities Rules					
Columbia	Sections 2.1(h), 2.3(h) and 2.5(h) of BC Policy 31-601 Registration Requirements					
Manitoba	Subsection 7(4) of the Securities Act – general requirement at Director's discretion					
New Brunswick	Sections 8.1, 8.2, 8.3 and 8.7 of New Brunswick Local Rule 31-501 Registration Requirements, as the sections read immediately before revocation					
Newfoundland and Labrador	Sections 95, 96, and 97 of the Securities Regulations under the Securities Act (O.C. 96-286)					
Nova Scotia	Section 24 of the General Securities Rules, as the section read immediately before revocation					
Ontario	Sections 96, 97, 108, 109 of the Ontario Regulation 1015 made under the Securities Act, as those sections read immediately before revocation					
Prince Edward Island	Section 35 of the former Securities Act Regulations and incorporated by reference by Local Rule 31-501 (Transitional Registration Requirements)					
Québec	Section 213 and 214 of the Québec Securities Regulation as those sections read immediately before repeal					
Saskatchewan	Section 33 of The Securities Act, 1988 (Saskatchewan), as that section read immediately before repeal					
	Sections 20, 21 and 22 of <i>The Securities Regulations</i> (Saskatchewan), as those sections read immediately before revocation					
Northwest Territories	Section 4 of Local Rule 31-501 Registration					
Nunavut	None in the Act, Regulations, or local rules – Handled through terms and conditions					
Yukon	Local Rule 31-501 Registration Requirements					

April 15, 2011 149 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

COMPANION POLICY 31-103 CP REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS, EXEMPTIONS AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS

Part 1 Definitions and fundamental concepts

1.1 Introduction

Purpose of this Companion Policy

This Companion Policy sets out how the Canadian Securities Administrators (the CSA or we) interpret or apply the provisions of National Instrument 31-103 *Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations* (NI 31-103) and related securities legislation.

Numbering system

Except for Part 1, the numbering of Parts, Divisions and sections in this Companion Policy correspond to the numbering in NI 31-103. Any general guidance for a Part or a Division appears immediately after the Part or Division name. Any specific guidance on sections in NI 31-103 follows any general guidance. If there is no guidance for a Part, Division or section, the numbering in this Companion Policy will skip to the next provision that does have guidance.

All references in this Companion Policy to sections, Parts and Divisions are to NI 31-103, unless otherwise noted.

Additional requirements applicable to registrants

For additional requirements that may apply to them, registrants should refer to:

- National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database (NI 31-102) and the Companion Policy to NI 31-102
- National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information (NI 33-109) and the Companion Policy to NI 33-109
- National Policy 11-204 Process for Registration in Multiple Jurisdictions (NP 11-204), and
- securities and derivatives legislation in their jurisdiction

Registrants that are members of a self-regulatory organization (SRO) must also comply with their SRO's requirements.

Disclosure and notices

Delivering disclosure and notices to the principal regulator

Under section 1.3, registrants must deliver all disclosure and notices required under NI 31-103 to the registrant's principal regulator. This does not apply to notices under sections:

- 8.18 International dealer
- 8.26 International adviser
- 11.9 Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets, and
- 11.10 Registered firm whose securities are acquired

Registrants must deliver these notices to the regulator in each jurisdiction where they are registered or relying on an exemption from registration.

Electronic delivery of documents

These documents may be delivered electronically. Registrants should refer to National Policy 11-201 *Delivery of Documents by Electronic Means* and, in Québec, Notice 11-201 *Delivery of Documents by Electronic Means*.

See Appendix A for contact information for each regulator.

April 15, 2011 150 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Clear and meaningful disclosure to clients

We expect registrants to present disclosure information to clients in a clear and meaningful manner in order to ensure clients understand the information presented. Registrants should ensure that investors can readily understand the information. These requirements are consistent with the obligation to deal fairly, honestly and in good faith with clients.

1.2 Definitions

Unless defined in NI 31-103, terms used in NI 31-103 and in this Companion Policy have the meaning given to them in the securities legislation of each jurisdiction or in National Instrument 14-101 *Definitions*. See Appendix B for a list of some terms that are not defined in NI 31-103 or this Companion Policy but are defined in other securities legislation.

In this Companion Policy "regulator" means the regulator or securities regulatory authority in a jurisdiction.

Permitted client

The following discussion provides guidance on the term "permitted client", which is defined in section 1.1.

"Permitted client" is used in the following sections:

- 8.18 International dealer
- 8.26 International adviser
- 13.2 Know your client
- 13.3 Suitability
- 13.13 Disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money
- 14.2 Relationship disclosure information, and
- 14.4 When the firm has a relationship with a financial institution

Exemptions from registration when dealing with permitted clients

NI 31-103 exempts international dealers and international advisers from the registration requirement if they deal with certain permitted clients and meet certain other conditions.

Exemptions from other requirements when dealing with permitted clients

Under section 13.3, permitted clients may waive their right to have a registrant determine that a trade is suitable. In order to rely on this exemption, the registrant must determine that a client is a permitted client at the time the client waives their right to suitability.

Under sections 13.13, 14.2 and 14.4, registrants do not have to provide certain disclosures to permitted clients. In order to rely on these exemptions, registrants must determine that a client is a permitted client at the time the client opens an account.

Determining assets

The definition of permitted client includes monetary thresholds based on the value of the client's assets. The monetary thresholds in paragraphs (o) and (q) of the definition are intended to create "bright-line" standards. Investors who do not satisfy these thresholds do not qualify as permitted clients under the applicable paragraph.

Paragraph (o) of the definition

Paragraph (o) refers to an individual who beneficially owns financial assets with an aggregate realizable value that exceeds \$5 million, before taxes but net of any related liabilities.

In general, determining whether financial assets are beneficially owned by an individual should be straightforward. However, this determination may be more difficult if financial assets are held in a trust or in other types of investment vehicles for the benefit of an individual.

April 15, 2011 151 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Factors indicating beneficial ownership of financial assets include:

- possession of evidence of ownership of the financial asset
- entitlement to receive any income generated by the financial asset
- risk of loss of the value of the financial asset, and
- the ability to dispose of the financial asset or otherwise deal with it as the individual sees fit

For example, securities held in a self-directed RRSP for the sole benefit of an individual are beneficially owned by that individual. Securities held in a group RRSP are not beneficially owned if the individual cannot acquire and deal with the securities directly.

"Financial assets" is defined in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions (NI 45-106).

Realizable value is typically the amount that would be received by selling an asset.

Paragraph (q) of the definition

Paragraph (q) refers to a person or company that has net assets of at least \$25 million, as shown on its last financial statements. "Net assets" under this paragraph is total assets minus total liabilities.

1.3 Fundamental concepts

This section describes the fundamental concepts that form the basis of the registration regime:

- requirement to register
- business trigger for trading and advising, and
- fitness for registration

A registered firm is responsible for the conduct of the individuals whose registration it sponsors. A registered firm

- must undertake due diligence before sponsoring an individual to be registered to act on its behalf (see further guidance in Part 4 Due diligence by firms of the Companion Policy to NI 33-109)
- has an ongoing obligation to monitor and supervise its registered individuals in an effective manner (see further guidance in section 11.1 of this Companion Policy)

Failure of a registered firm to take reasonable steps to discharge these responsibilities may be relevant to the firm's own continued fitness for registration.

Requirement to register

The requirement to register is found in securities legislation. Firms must register if they are:

- in the business of trading
- in the business of advising
- holding themselves out as being in the business of trading or advising
- acting as an underwriter, or
- acting as an investment fund manager

Individuals must register if they trade, underwrite or advise on behalf of a registered dealer or adviser, or act as the ultimate designated person (UDP) or chief compliance officer (CCO) of a registered firm. Except for the UDP and the CCO, individuals who act on behalf of a registered investment fund manager do not have to register.

April 15, 2011 152 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

However, all permitted individuals of any registrant must file Form 33-109F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals (Form 33-109F4).

There is no renewal requirement for registration, but fees must be paid every year to maintain registration.

Multiple categories

Registration in more than one category may be necessary. For example, an adviser that also manages an investment fund may have to register as a portfolio manager and an investment fund manager. An adviser that manages a portfolio and distributes units of an investment fund may have to register as a portfolio manager and as a dealer.

Registration exemptions

NI 31-103 provides exemptions from the registration requirement. There may be additional exemptions in securities legislation. Some exemptions do not need to be applied for if the conditions of the exemption are met. In other cases, on receipt of an application, the regulator has discretion to grant exemptions for specified dealers, advisers or investment fund managers, or activities carried out by them if registration is required but specific circumstances indicate that it is not otherwise necessary for investor protection or market integrity.

Business trigger for trading and advising

We refer to trading or advising in securities for a business purpose as the "business trigger" for registration.

We look at the type of activity and whether it is carried out for a business purpose to determine if an individual or firm must register. We consider the factors set out below, among others, to determine if the activity is for a business purpose. For the most part, these factors are from case law and regulatory decisions that have interpreted the business purpose test for securities matters.

Factors in determining business purpose

This section describes factors that we consider relevant in determining whether an individual or firm is trading or advising in securities for a business purpose and, therefore, subject to the dealer or adviser registration requirement.

This is not a complete list. We do not automatically assume that any one of these factors on its own will determine whether an individual or firm is in the business of trading or advising in securities.

(a) Engaging in activities similar to a registrant

We usually consider an individual or firm engaging in activities similar to those of a registrant to be trading or advising for a business purpose. Examples include promoting securities or stating in any way that the individual or firm will buy or sell securities. If an individual or firm sets up a business to carry out any of these activities, we may consider them to be trading or advising for a business purpose.

(b) Intermediating trades or acting as a market maker

In general, we consider intermediating a trade between a seller and a buyer of securities to be trading for a business purpose. This typically takes the form of the business commonly referred to as a broker. Making a market in securities is also generally considered to be trading for a business purpose.

(c) Directly or indirectly carrying on the activity with repetition, regularity or continuity

Frequent or regular transactions are a common indicator that an individual or firm may be engaged in trading or advising for a business purpose. The activity does not have to be their sole or even primary endeavour for them to be in the business.

We consider regularly trading or advising in any way that produces, or is intended to produce, profits to be for a business purpose. We also consider any other sources of income and how much time an individual or firm spends on all activities associated with the trading or advising.

(d) Being, or expecting to be, remunerated or compensated

Receiving, or expecting to receive, any form of compensation for carrying on the activity, including whether the compensation is transaction or value based, indicates a business purpose. It does not matter if the individual or firm actually receives compensation or in what form. Having the capacity or the ability to carry on the activity to produce profit is also a relevant factor.

April 15, 2011 153 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(e) Directly or indirectly soliciting

Contacting anyone to solicit securities transactions or to offer advice may reflect a business purpose. Solicitation includes contacting someone by any means, including advertising that proposes buying or selling securities or participating in a securities transaction, or that offers services or advice for these purposes.

Business trigger examples

This section explains how the business trigger might apply to some common situations.

(a) Securities issuers

A securities issuer is an entity that issues or trades in its own securities. In general, securities issuers with an active non-securities business do not have to register as a dealer if they:

- do not hold themselves out as being in the business of trading in securities
- trade in securities infrequently
- are not, or do not expect to be, compensated for trading in securities
- do not act as intermediaries, and
- do not produce, or intend to produce, a profit from trading in securities

However, securities issuers may have to register as a dealer if they:

- frequently trade in securities
- employ or otherwise contract individuals to perform activities on their behalf that are similar to those performed by a registrant (other than underwriting in the normal course of a distribution or trading for their own account)
- solicit investors actively, or
- act as an intermediary by investing client money in securities

For example, an investment fund manager that carries out the activities described above may have to register as a dealer.

Securities issuers that are in the business of trading should consider whether they qualify for the exemption from the registration requirement for trades through a registered dealer in section 8.5.

In most cases, securities issuers are subject to the prospectus requirements in securities legislation. Regulators have the discretionary authority to require an underwriter for a prospectus distribution.

(b) Venture capital and private equity

This guidance does not apply to labour sponsored or venture capital funds as defined in National Instrument 81-106 *Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure* (NI 81-106).

Venture capital and private equity investing are distinguished from other forms of investing by the role played by venture capital and private equity management companies (collectively, VCs). This type of investing includes a range of activities that may require registration.

VCs typically raise money under one of the prospectus exemptions in NI 45-106, including for trades to "accredited investors". The investors typically agree that their money will remain invested for a period of time. The VC uses this money to invest in securities of companies that are not publicly traded. The VC usually becomes actively involved in the management of the company, often over several years.

Examples of active management in a company include the VC having:

representation on the board of directors

April 15, 2011 154 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- direct involvement in the appointment of managers
- a say in material management decisions

The VC looks to realize on the investment either through a public offering of the company's securities, or a sale of the business. At this point, the investors' money can be returned to them, along with any profit.

Investors rely on the VC's expertise in selecting and managing the companies it invests in. In return, the VC receives a management fee or "carried interest" in the profits generated from these investments. They do not receive compensation for raising capital or trading in securities.

Applying the business trigger factors to the VC activities as described above, there would be no requirement for the VC to register as:

- a portfolio manager, if the advice provided in connection with the purchase and sale of companies is incidental to the VC's active management of these companies, or
- a dealer, if both the raising of money from investors and the investing of that money in companies are occasional and uncompensated activities

If the VC is actively involved in the management of the companies it invests in, the investment portfolio would generally not be considered an investment fund. As a result, the VC would not need to register as an investment fund manager.

The business trigger factors and investment fund manager analysis may apply differently if the VC engages in activities other than those described above.

(c) One-time activities

In general, we do not require registration for one-time trading or advising activities. This includes trading or advising that:

- is carried out by an individual or firm acting as a trustee, executor, administrator, personal or other legal representative, or
- relates to the sale of a business

(d) Incidental activities

If trading or advising activity is incidental to a firm's primary business, we may not consider it to be for a business purpose.

For example, merger and acquisition specialists that advise the parties to a transaction between companies are not normally required to register as dealers or advisers in connection with that activity, even though the transaction may result in trades in securities and they will be compensated for the advice. If the transaction results in trades in the securities of the company to an acquirer, this is considered incidental to the acquisition transaction. However, if the merger and acquisition specialists also engage in capital raising from prospective investors (including private placements), they will need to consider whether such activity would be in the business of trading and require registration.

Another example is professionals, such as lawyers, accountants, engineers, geologists and teachers, who may provide advice on securities in the normal course of their professional activities. We do not consider them to be advising on securities for a business purpose. For the most part, any advice on securities will be incidental to their professional activities. This is because they:

- do not regularly advise on securities
- are not compensated separately for advising on securities
- do not solicit clients on the basis of their securities advice, and
- do not hold themselves out as being in the business of advising on securities

Registration trigger for investment fund managers

Investment fund managers are subject to a registration trigger. This means that if a firm carries on the activities of an investment fund manager, it must register. However, investment fund managers are not subject to the business trigger.

April 15, 2011 155 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Fitness for registration

The regulator will only register an applicant if they appear to be fit for registration. Following registration, individuals and firms must maintain their fitness in order to remain registered. If the regulator determines that a registrant has become unfit for registration, the regulator may suspend or revoke the registration. See Part 6 of this Companion Policy for guidance on suspension and revocation of individual registration. See Part 10 of this Companion Policy for guidance on suspension and revocation of firm registration.

Terms and conditions

The regulator may impose terms and conditions on a registration at the time of registration or at any time after registration. Terms and conditions imposed at the time of registration are generally permanent, for example, in the case of a restricted dealer who is limited to specific activities. Terms and conditions imposed after registration are generally temporary. For example, if a registrant does not maintain the required capital, it may have to file monthly financial statements and capital calculations until the regulator's concerns are addressed.

Opportunity to be heard

Applicants and registrants have an opportunity to be heard by the regulator before their application for registration is denied. They also have an opportunity to be heard before the regulator imposes terms and conditions on their registration if they disagree with the terms and conditions.

Assessing fitness for registration - firms

We assess whether a firm is or remains fit for registration through the information it is required to provide on registration application forms and as a registrant, and through compliance reviews. Based on this information, we consider whether the firm is able to carry out its obligations under securities legislation. For example, registered firms must be financially viable. A firm that is insolvent or has a history of bankruptcy may not be fit for registration.

In addition, when determining whether a firm whose head office is outside Canada is, and remains, fit for registration, we will consider whether the firm maintains registration or regulatory organization membership in the foreign jurisdiction that is appropriate for the securities business it carries out there.

Assessing fitness for registration - individuals

We use three fundamental criteria to assess whether an individual is or remains fit for registration:

- proficiency
- integrity, and
- solvency

(a) Proficiency

Individual applicants must meet the applicable education, training and experience requirements prescribed by securities legislation and demonstrate knowledge of securities legislation and the securities they recommend.

Registered individuals should continually update their knowledge and training to keep pace with new securities, services and developments in the industry that are relevant to their business. See Part 3 of this Companion Policy for more specific guidance on proficiency.

(b) Integrity

Registered individuals must conduct themselves with integrity and have an honest character. The regulator will assess the integrity of individuals through the information they are required to provide on registration application forms and as registrants, and through compliance reviews. For example, applicants are required to disclose information about conflicts of interest, such as other employment or partnerships, service as a member of a board of directors, or relationships with affiliates, and about any regulatory or legal actions against them.

April 15, 2011 156 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(c) Solvency

The regulator will assess the overall financial condition of an individual applicant or registrant. An individual that is insolvent or has a history of bankruptcy may not be fit for registration. Depending on the circumstances, the regulator may consider the individual's contingent liabilities. The regulator may take into account an individual's bankruptcy or insolvency when assessing their continuing fitness for registration.

Part 2 Categories of registration for individuals

2.1 Individual categories

Multiple individual categories

Individuals who carry on more than one activity requiring registration on behalf of a registered firm must:

- register in all applicable categories, and
- meet the proficiency requirements of each category

For example, an advising representative of a portfolio manager who is also the firm's CCO must register in the categories of advising representative and CCO. They must meet the proficiency requirements of both of these categories.

Individual registered in a firm category

An individual can be registered in both a firm and individual category. For example, a sole proprietor who is registered in the firm category of portfolio manager must also be registered in the individual category of advising representative.

2.2 Client mobility exemption – individuals

Conditions of the exemption

The mobility exemption in section 2.2 allows registered individuals to continue dealing with and advising clients who move to another jurisdiction, without registering in that other jurisdiction. Section 8.30 *Client mobility exemption – firms* contains a similar exemption for registered firms.

The exemption becomes available when the client (not the registrant) moves to another jurisdiction. An individual may deal with up to five "eligible" clients in each other jurisdiction. Each of the client, their spouse and any children are an eligible client.

An individual may only rely on the exemption if:

- they and their sponsoring firm are registered in their principal jurisdiction
- they and their sponsoring firm only act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the other jurisdiction as permitted under their registration in their principal jurisdiction
- they comply with Part 13 Dealing with clients individuals and firms
- they act fairly, honestly and in good faith in their dealings with the eligible client, and
- their sponsoring firm has disclosed to the eligible client that the individual and if applicable, their sponsoring firm, are
 exempt from registration in the other jurisdiction and are not subject to the requirements of securities legislation in that
 jurisdiction

As soon as possible after an individual first relies on this exemption, their sponsoring firm must complete and file Form 31-103F3 *Use of mobility exemption* (Form 31-103F3) with the other jurisdiction.

Limits on the number of clients

Sections 2.2 and 8.30 are independent of each other: individuals may rely on the exemption from registration in section 2.2 even though their sponsoring firm is registered in the local jurisdiction (and is not relying on the exemption from registration in section 8.30). The limits in sections 2.2 and 8.30 are per jurisdiction.

April 15, 2011 157 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

For example a firm using the exemption in section 8.30 could have 10 clients in each of several local jurisdictions where it is not registered. An individual may also use the exemption in section 2.2 to have 5 clients in each of several jurisdictions where the individual is not registered.

The individual limits are per individual. For example several individuals working for the same firm could each have 5 clients in the same local jurisdiction and each individual could still rely on the exemption in section 2.2. However, the firm may not exceed its 10 client limit if it wants to rely on the exemption in section 8.30. If the firm exceeds the 10 client limit, the firm must be registered in the local jurisdiction.

Part 3 Registration requirements - individuals

Division 1 General proficiency requirements

Application of proficiency requirements

Part 3 sets out the initial and ongoing proficiency requirements for

- dealing representatives and chief compliance officers of mutual fund dealers, scholarship plan dealers and exemptmarket dealers respectively
- advising representatives, associate advising representatives and chief compliance officers of portfolio managers
- chief compliance officers of investment fund managers

The regulator is required to determine the individual's fitness for registration and may exercise discretion in doing so.

Section 3.3 does not provide proficiency requirements for dealing representatives of investment dealers since the IIROC Rules provide those requirements for the individuals who are approved persons of IIROC member firms.

Exam based requirements

Individuals must pass exams – not courses – to meet the education requirements in Part 3. For example, an individual must pass the Canadian Securities Course Exam, but does not have to complete the Canadian Securities Course. Individuals are responsible for completing the necessary preparation to pass an exam and for proficiency in all areas covered by the exam.

3.3 Time limits on examination requirements

Under section 3.3, there is a time limit on the validity of exams prescribed in Part 3. Individuals must pass an exam within 36 months before they apply for registration. However, this time limit does not apply if the individual:

- was registered in an active capacity (i.e., not suspended), in the same category in a jurisdiction of Canada at any time during the 36-month period before the date of their application; or
- has gained relevant securities industry experience for a total of 12 months during the 36-month period before the date
 of their application: these months do not have to be consecutive, or with the same firm or organization

These time limits do not apply to the CFA Charter or the CIM designation, since we do not expect the holders of these designations to have to retake the courses forming part of the requirements applicable to these designations. However, if the individual no longer has the right to use the CFA Charter or the CIM designation, by reason of revocation of the designation or otherwise, we may consider the reasons for such a revocation to be relevant in determining an individual's fitness for registration. Registered individuals are required to notify the regulator of any change in the status of the CFA Charter or the CIM designation within 10 days of the change, by submitting Form 33-109F5 Change of Registration Information in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.

When assessing an individual's fitness for registration, the regulator may consider

- the date on which the relevant examination was passed, and
- the length of time between any suspension and reinstatement of registration during the 36 month period

See Part 6 of this Companion Policy for guidance on the meaning of "suspension" and "reinstatement".

April 15, 2011 158 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Relevant securities industry experience

The securities industry experience under subsection 3.3(2)(b) should be relevant to the category applied for. It may include experience acquired:

- during employment at a registered dealer, a registered adviser or an investment fund manager
- in related investment fields, such as investment banking, securities trading on behalf of a financial institution, securities
 research, portfolio management, investment advisory services or supervision of those activities
- in legal, accounting or consulting practices related to the securities industry
- in other professional service fields that relate to the securities industry, or
- in a securities-related business in a foreign jurisdiction

Division 2 Education and experience requirements

See Appendix C for a chart that sets out the proficiency requirements for each individual category of registration.

Granting exemptions

The regulator may grant an exemption from any of the education and experience requirements in Division 2 if it is satisfied that an individual has qualifications or relevant experience that is equivalent to, or more appropriate in the circumstances than, the prescribed requirements.

Proficiency for representatives of restricted dealers and restricted portfolio managers

The regulator will decide on a case-by-case basis what education and experience are required for registration as:

- a dealing representative or CCO of a restricted dealer, and
- an advising representative or CCO of a restricted portfolio manager

The regulator will determine these requirements when it assesses the individual's fitness for registration.

3.4 Proficiency – initial and ongoing

Proficiency principle

Under section 3.4, registered individuals must not perform an activity that requires registration unless they have the education, training and experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently, including understanding the structure, features and risks of each security they recommend to a client (also referred to as know-your-product or KYP).

The requirement to understand the structure, features and risks of each security recommended to a client is a proficiency requirement. This requirement is in addition to the suitability obligation in section 13.3 and applies even where there is an exemption from the suitability obligation such as, for example, the exemption in subsection 13.3(4) in respect of permitted clients.

CCOs must also not perform an activity that requires registration unless they have the education, training and experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently.

Responsibility of the firm

The responsibility of registered firms to oversee the compliance of registered individuals acting on their behalf extends to ensuring that they are proficient at all times. A registered firm must not permit an individual they sponsor to perform an activity if the proficiency requirements are not met.

Firms should perform their own analysis of all securities they recommend to clients and provide product training to ensure their registered representatives have a sufficient understanding of the securities and their risks to meet their suitability obligations under section 13.3. Similarly, registered individuals should have a thorough understanding of a security before they recommend it to a client (also referred to as know-your-product or KYP).

April 15, 2011 159 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

3.11 Portfolio manager – advising representative

3.12 Portfolio manager – associate advising representative

The 12 months of relevant investment management experience referred to in section 3.11 and 24 months of relevant investment management experience referred to in section 3.12 do not have to be consecutive, or with the same firm or organization. The individual must obtain a total of this experience within the 36-month period before the date they apply for registration.

For individuals with a CFA charter, the regulator will decide on a case-by-case basis whether the experience they gained to earn the charter qualifies as relevant investment management experience.

Relevant investment management experience

Relevant investment management experience under sections 3.11 and 3.12 may vary according to the level of specialization of the individual. It may include:

- securities research and analysis experience, demonstrating an ability in, and understanding of, portfolio analysis or portfolio security selection, or
- management of investment portfolios on a discretionary basis, including investment decision making, rebalancing and evaluating performance

Advising representatives

Advising representatives may acquire relevant investment management experience during employment in a portfolio management capacity with a registered investment dealer or adviser firm.

Associate advising representatives

Relevant investment management experience for associate advising representatives may include working at:

- an unregistered portfolio manager of a Canadian financial institution
- an adviser that is registered in another jurisdiction of Canada, or
- an adviser in a foreign jurisdiction

Division 3 Membership in a self-regulatory organization

3.16 Exemptions from certain requirements for SRO approved persons

Section 3.16 exempts registered individuals who are dealing representatives of IIROC or MFDA members from the requirements in NI 31-103 for suitability and disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money. This is because IIROC and the MFDA have their own rules for these matters.

In Québec, these requirements do not apply to dealing representatives of a mutual fund dealer to the extent that equivalent requirements are applicable to those dealing representatives under regulations in Québec.

This section also exempts registered individuals who are dealing representatives of IIROC from the know your client obligations in section 13.2.

Part 4 Restrictions on registered individuals

4.1 Restrictions on acting for another registered firm

We will consider exemption applications on a case by case basis. When reviewing a registered firm's application for relief from this restriction, we will consider if:

- there are valid business reasons for the individual to be registered with both firms
- the individual will have sufficient time to adequately serve both firms
- the applicant's sponsoring firms have demonstrated that they have policies and procedures addressing any conflicts of interest that may arise as a result of the dual registration, and

April 15, 2011 160 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

 the sponsoring firms will be able to deal with these conflicts, including supervising how the individual will deal with these conflicts

In the case of 4.1(1)(b), namely a dealing, advising or associate advising representative acting for another registered firm, affiliation of the firms may be one of the factors that we would consider in respect of an exemption application.

We note that the prohibitions in section 4.1 are in addition to the conflicts of interest provisions set out in section 13.4 [Identifying and responding to conflicts of interest]. See section 13.4 for further guidance on individuals who serve on boards of directors.

4.2 Associate advising representatives – pre-approval of advice

The associate advising representative category is primarily meant to be an apprentice category for individuals who intend to become an advising representative but who do not meet the education or experience requirements for that category when they apply for registration. It allows an individual to work at a registered adviser while completing the proficiency requirements for an advising representative. For example, a previously registered advising representative could work in an advising capacity while acquiring the relevant work experience required for an advising representative under section 3.11.

However, associate advising representatives are not required to subsequently register as a full advising representative. They can remain as an associate advising representative indefinitely. This category also accommodates, for example, individuals who provide specific advice to clients, but do not manage client portfolios without supervision.

As required by section 4.2, registered firms must designate an advising representative to approve the advice provided by an associate advising representative. The designated advising representative must approve the advice before the associate advising representative gives it to the client. The appropriate processes for approving the advice will depend on the circumstances, including the associate advising representative's level of experience.

Registered firms that have associate advising representatives must:

- document their policies and procedures for meeting the supervision and approval obligations as required under section 11.1
- implement controls as required under section 11.1
- maintain records as required under section 11.5, and
- notify the regulator of the names of the advising representative and the associate advising representative whose advice
 they are approving no later than the seventh day after the advising representative is designated

Part 5 Ultimate designated person and chief compliance officer

Sections 11.2 and 11.3 require registered firms to designate a UDP and a CCO. The UDP and CCO must be registered and perform the compliance functions set out in sections 5.1 and 5.2. While the UDP and CCO have specific compliance functions, they are not solely responsible for compliance – it is the responsibility of the firm as a whole.

The same person as UDP and CCO

The UDP and the CCO can be the same person if they meet the requirements for both registration categories. We prefer firms to separate these functions, but we recognize that it might not be practical for some registered firms.

UDP or CCO as advising or dealing representative

The UDP or CCO may also be registered in trading or advising categories. For example, a small registered firm might conclude that one individual can adequately function as UDP and CCO, while also carrying on advising and trading activities. We may have concerns about the ability of a UDP or CCO of a large firm to conduct these additional activities and carry out their UDP, CCO and advising responsibilities at the same time.

5.1 Responsibilities of the ultimate designated person

The UDP is responsible for promoting a culture of compliance and overseeing the effectiveness of the firm's compliance system. They do not have to be involved in the day to day management of the compliance group. There are no specific education or experience requirements for the UDP. However, they are subject to the proficiency principle in section 3.4.

April 15, 2011 161 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

5.2 Responsibilities of the chief compliance officer

The CCO is an operating officer who is responsible for the monitoring and oversight of the firm's compliance system. This includes:

- establishing or updating policies and procedures for the firm's compliance system, and
- managing the firm's compliance monitoring and reporting according to the policies and procedures

At the firm's discretion, the CCO may also have authority to take supervisory or other action to resolve compliance issues.

The CCO must meet the proficiency requirements set out in Part 3. No other compliance staff have to be registered unless they are also advising or trading. The CCO may set the knowledge and skills necessary or desirable for individuals who report to them.

If a firm is registered in multiple categories, the CCO must meet the most stringent of the proficiency requirements of the firm's categories of registration.

Firms must designate one CCO. However, in large firms, the scale and kind of activities carried out by different operating divisions may warrant the designation of more than one CCO. We will consider applications, on a case-by-case basis, for different individuals to act as the CCO of a firm's operating divisions.

We will not usually register the same person as CCO of more than one firm unless the firms are affiliated, and the scale and kind of activities carried out make it reasonable for the same person to act as CCO of more than one firm. We will consider applications, on a case-by-case basis, for the CCO of one registered firm to act as the CCO of another registered firm.

Subsection 5.2(c) requires the CCO to report to the UDP any instances of non-compliance with securities legislation that:

- create a reasonable risk of harm to a client or to the market, or
- are part of a pattern of non-compliance

The CCO should report non-compliance to the UDP even if it has been corrected.

Subsection 5.2(d) requires the CCO to submit an annual report to the board of directors.

Part 6 Suspension and revocation of registration – individuals

The requirements for surrendering registration and additional requirements for suspending and revoking registration are found in the securities legislation of each jurisdiction. The guidance for Part 6 relates to requirements under both securities legislation and NI 31-103.

There is no renewal requirement for registration. A registered individual may carry on the activities for which they are registered until their registration is:

- suspended automatically under NI 31-103
- suspended by the regulator under certain circumstances, or
- surrendered by the individual

6.1 If individual ceases to have authority to act for firm

Under section 6.1, if a registered individual ceases to have authority to act on behalf of their sponsoring firm because their working relationship with the firm ends or changes, the individual's registration with the registered firm is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation. This applies whether the individual or the firm ends the relationship.

If a registered firm terminates its working relationship with a registered individual for any reason, the firm must complete and file a notice of termination on Form 33-109F1 *Notice of Termination of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals* (Form 33-109F1) no later than ten days after the effective date of the individual's termination. This includes when an individual resigns, is dismissed or retires.

April 15, 2011 162 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

The firm must file additional information about the individual's termination prescribed in Part 5 of Form 33-109F1 (except where the individual is deceased), no later than 30 days after the date of termination. The regulator uses this information to determine if there are any concerns about the individual's conduct that may be relevant to their ongoing fitness for registration. Under NI 33-109, the firm must provide this information to the individual on request.

Suspension

An individual whose registration is suspended must not carry on the activity they are registered for. The individual otherwise remains a registrant and is subject to the jurisdiction of the regulator. A suspension remains in effect until the regulator reinstates or revokes the individual's registration.

If an individual who is registered in more than one category is suspended in one of the categories, the regulator will consider whether to suspend the individual's registration in other categories or to impose terms and conditions, subject to an opportunity to be heard.

Automatic suspension

An individual's registration will automatically be suspended if:

- they cease to have a working relationship with their sponsoring firm
- the registration of their sponsoring firm is suspended or revoked, or
- they cease to be an approved person of an SRO

An individual must have a sponsoring firm to be registered. If an individual leaves their sponsoring firm for any reason, their registration is automatically suspended. Automatic suspension is effective on the day that an individual no longer has authority to act on behalf of their sponsoring firm.

Individuals do not have an opportunity to be heard by the regulator in the case of any automatic suspension.

Suspension in the public interest

An individual's registration may be suspended if the regulator exercises its power under securities legislation and determines that it is no longer in the public interest for the individual to be registered. The regulator may do this if it has serious concerns about the ongoing fitness of the individual. For example, this may be the case if an individual is charged with a crime, in particular fraud or theft.

Reinstatement

"Reinstatement" means that a suspension on a registration has been lifted. Once reinstated, an individual may resume carrying on the activity they are registered for. If a suspended individual joins a new sponsoring firm, they will have to apply for reinstatement under the process set out in NI 33-109. In certain cases, the reinstatement or transfer to the new firm will be automatic.

Automatic transfers

Subject to certain conditions set out in NI 33-109, an individual's registration may be automatically reinstated if they:

- transfer directly from one sponsoring firm to another registered firm in the same jurisdiction
- join the new sponsoring firm within 90 days of leaving their former sponsoring firm
- seek registration in the same category as the one previously held, and
- complete and file Form 33-109F7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals (Form 33-109F7)

This allows individuals to engage in activities requiring registration from their first day with the new sponsoring firm.

Individuals are not eligible for an automatic reinstatement if they:

 have new information to disclose regarding regulatory, criminal, civil or financial matters as described in Item 9 of Form 33-109F7, or

April 15, 2011 163 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- as a result of allegations of criminal activity, breach of securities legislation or breach of SRO rules:
 - o were dismissed by their former sponsoring firm, or
 - were asked by their former sponsoring firm to resign

In these cases, the individual must apply to have their registration reinstated under NI 33-109 using Form 33-109F4.

6.2 If IIROC approval is revoked or suspended

6.3 If MFDA approval is revoked or suspended

Registered individuals acting on behalf of member firms of an SRO are required to be an approved person of the SRO.

If an SRO suspends or revokes its approval of an individual, the individual's registration in the category requiring SRO approval will be automatically suspended. This automatic suspension of individuals does not apply to mutual fund dealers registered only in Québec.

If an SRO suspends an individual for reasons that do not involve significant regulatory concerns and subsequently reinstates the individual's approval, the individual's registration will usually be reinstated by the regulator as soon as possible.

Revocation

6.6 Revocation of a suspended registration – individual

If an individual's registration has been suspended under Part 6 but not reinstated, it will be automatically revoked on the second anniversary of the suspension.

"Revocation" means that the regulator has terminated the individual's registration. An individual whose registration has been revoked must submit a new application if they want to be registered again.

Surrender or termination of registration

If an individual wants to terminate their registration in one or more of the non-principal jurisdictions where the individual is registered, the individual may apply to surrender their registration at any time by completing Form 33-109F2 *Change or Surrender of Individual Categories* (Form 33-109F2) and having their sponsoring firm file it.

If an individual wants to terminate their registration in their principal jurisdiction, Form 33-109F1 must be filed by the individual's sponsoring firm. Once Form 33-109F1 is filed, the individual's termination of registration will be reflected in all jurisdictions.

Part 7 Categories of registration for firms

The categories of registration for firms have two main purposes:

- to specify the type of business that the firm may conduct, and
- to provide a framework for the requirements the registrant must meet

Firms registered in more than one category

A firm may be required to register in more than one category. For example, a portfolio manager that manages an investment fund must register both as a portfolio manager and as an investment fund manager.

Individual registered in a firm category

An individual can be registered in both a firm and individual category. For example, a sole proprietor who is registered in the firm category of portfolio manager must also be registered in the individual category of advising representative.

7.1 Dealer categories

Underwriting is a subset of dealing activity for specified categories. Investment dealers may underwrite any securities. Exempt market dealers may underwrite securities in limited circumstances.

April 15, 2011 164 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Exempt market dealer

Under subsection 7.1(2)(d), exempt market dealers may only act as a dealer in the "exempt market". The permitted activities of an exempt market dealer are determined with reference to the prospectus exemptions in NI 45-106 and include trades to "accredited investors" and purchasers of at least \$150,000 of a security and trades to anyone under the offering memorandum exemption.

Exempt market dealers can sell investment funds (whether or not they are prospectus-qualified) under these exemptions without registering as a mutual fund dealer or being a member of the MFDA.

Restricted dealer

The restricted dealer category in subsection 7.1(2)(e) permits specialized dealers that may not qualify under another dealer category to carry on a limited trading business. It is intended to be used only if there is a compelling case for the proposed trading to take place outside the other registration categories.

The regulator will impose terms and conditions that restrict the dealer's activities. The CSA will co-ordinate terms and conditions for restricted dealers.

7.2 Adviser categories

The registration requirement in section 7.2 applies to advisers who give "specific advice". Advice is specific when it is tailored to the needs and circumstances of a client or potential client. For example, an adviser who recommends a security to a client is giving specific advice.

Restricted portfolio manager

The restricted portfolio manager category in subsection 7.2(2)(b) permits individuals or firms to advise in specific securities, classes of securities or securities of a class of issuers.

The regulator will impose terms and conditions on a restricted portfolio manager's registration that limit the manager's activities. For example, a restricted portfolio manager might be limited to advising in respect of a specific sector, such as securities of oil and gas issuers.

7.3 Investment fund manager category

Investment fund managers direct the business, operations or affairs of an investment fund. They organize the fund and are responsible for its management and administration. If an entity is uncertain about whether it must register as an investment fund manager, it should consider whether the fund is an "investment fund" for the purposes of securities legislation. See section 1.2 of the Companion Policy to NI 81-106 for guidance on the general nature of investment funds.

An investment fund manager may:

- advertise to the general public a fund it manages without being registered as an adviser, and
- promote the fund to registered dealers without being registered as a dealer

If an investment fund manager acts as portfolio manager for a fund it manages, it should consider whether it may have to be registered as an adviser. If it distributes units of the fund directly to investors, it should consider whether it may have to be registered as a dealer.

In most fund structures, the investment fund manager is a separate legal entity from the fund itself. However, in situations where the board of directors or the trustee(s) of an investment fund direct the business, operations or affairs of the investment fund, the fund itself may be required to register in the investment fund manager category. To address the investor protection concerns that may arise from the investment fund manager and the fund being the same legal entity, and the practical issues of applying the ongoing requirements of a registrant on the fund, terms and conditions may be imposed.

An investment fund manager may delegate or outsource certain functions to other service providers. However, the investment fund manager is responsible for these functions and must supervise the service provider. See Part 11 of this Companion Policy for more guidance on outsourcing.

April 15, 2011 165 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Investment fund complexes or groups with more than one investment fund manager

Some investment fund complexes or groups may have more than one entity within the fund complex that can be considered as directing the business, operations or affairs of an investment fund. For example, structures where investment funds are organized as limited partnerships may have multiple entities within the fund complex that could require investment fund manager registration. Although the investment fund manager functions are often delegated to one entity within the fund complex, there may be more than one entity in the group subject to investment fund manager registration, absent an exemption from registration.

We will consider exemption applications on a case-by-case basis to allow only one investment fund manager within the fund complex to be registered. We will typically consider the following factors when reviewing such applications:

- there is a management agreement in place delegating all or substantially all of the investment fund management function from the investment fund manager seeking the relief to an affiliate (or to an entity whose mind and management is the same) that is registered as an investment fund manager
- the majority of the investment fund management functions are performed by the registered affiliate (or entity whose mind and management is the same)
- the investment fund manager seeking the relief and the registered affiliate have directors and officers in common

Part 8 Exemptions from the requirement to register

NI 31-103 provides several exemptions from the registration requirement. There may be additional exemptions in securities legislation. If a firm is exempt from registration, the individuals acting on its behalf are also exempt from registration.

Division 1 Exemptions from dealer and underwriter registration

We provide no specific guidance for the following exemptions because there is guidance on them in the Companion Policy to NI 45-106:

- 8.12 Mortgages
- 8.17 Reinvestment plan
- 8.20 Exchange contract Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

8.5 Trades through or to a registered dealer

Section 8.5 provides an exemption from the dealer registration requirement for trades made

- solely through an agent who is an appropriately registered dealer, or
- to an appropriately registered dealer that is purchasing for that dealer's account

This exemption is available in respect of a trade made by a person through a registered dealer so long as there is no intervening trading activity by that person for which that person is not appropriately registered or otherwise exempt from the dealer registration requirement. This would typically be the case where an individual trades through their account with an investment dealer or a company issues its own securities through an investment dealer.

This exemption is, however, not available where a person or company conducts trading activities for which they are not registered or exempt from registration and then directs the execution of that trade through a registered dealer. Such trading activities could involve directly contacting persons in the local jurisdiction to solicit their purchase of securities or marketing the securities in the local jurisdiction. For example:

- if an individual acts in furtherance of a sale of securities by soliciting potential purchasers of securities (sometimes referred to as a finder) and then the sale to the purchaser is executed through a registered dealer, the individual would not qualify for this exemption.
- if a person who is registered in the local jurisdiction, or operates under an exemption for their trading activities in that local jurisdiction, proposes to rely on this exemption for their trading activities in another jurisdiction of Canada, the person would need to utilize an appropriately registered dealer to solicit purchases in the other jurisdiction, since that

April 15, 2011 166 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

person could not interact directly with purchasers in the other jurisdiction (without being appropriately registered or exempt from registration in that other jurisdiction).

Cross-border transactions ("jitneys")

All trading activity in reliance upon this exemption that occurs within the local jurisdiction should be done through or to a registered dealer in that jurisdiction. On that basis, the execution of a trade through or to an appropriately registered dealer by a dealer located in another jurisdiction would qualify under this exemption. However, if the dealer in the other jurisdiction engages in other trading activities in the local jurisdiction in connection with the transaction, the trade is no longer a trade made solely through or to a registered dealer and this exemption would not be available.

A trade is not considered to be solely through a registered dealer if the dealer in the other jurisdiction interacts directly with the purchaser in the local jurisdiction. For example, if a dealer in the United States that is not registered in Alberta contacts a potential purchaser in Alberta to solicit the purchase of securities, this trade does not qualify for this exemption. The dealer in the United States must instead solicit the purchase by contacting a dealer registered in Alberta, and have that dealer contact potential purchasers in Alberta.

Plan administrators

A plan administrator can rely on this exemption to place sell orders with dealers in respect of shares of issuers held by plan participants. Section 8.16 [*Plan administrator*] covers the activity of the plan administrator receiving sell orders from plan participants.

8.6 Investment fund trades by adviser to managed account

Registered advisers often create and use investment funds as a way to efficiently invest their clients' money. In issuing units of those funds to managed account clients, they are in the business of trading in securities. Under the exemption in section 8.6, a registered adviser does not have to register as a dealer does for a trade in a security of an investment fund if they:

- act as the fund's adviser and investment fund manager, and
- distribute units of the fund only into their clients' managed accounts

The exemption is also available to those who qualify for the international adviser exemption under section 8.26.

Subsection 8.6(2) limits the availability of this exemption to legitimate managed accounts. We do not intend for the exemption to be used to distribute the adviser's investment funds on a retail basis.

8.18 International dealer

General principle

This exemption allows international dealers to provide limited services to Canadian permitted clients, as defined in section 8.18, without having to register in Canada. International dealers that seek wider access to Canadian investors must register in an appropriate category. Both the terms *Canadian permitted client* and *permitted client* are used in this section. As mentioned above, the term Canadian permitted client is defined in section 8.18. The term permitted client is defined in section 1.1.

Notice requirement

If a firm is relying on the exemption in more than one jurisdiction, it must provide an initial notice by filing a Form 31-103F2 *Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service* (Form 31-103F2) with the regulator in each jurisdiction where it relies on the exemption. If there is any change to the information in the firm's Form 31-103F2, it must update it by filing a replacement Form 31-103F2 with them.

So long as the firm continues to rely on the exemption, it must file an annual notice with each regulator. Subsection 8.18(5) does not prescribe a form of annual notice. An email or letter will therefore be acceptable.

In Ontario, compliance with the filing and fee payment requirements applicable to an unregistered exempt international dealer under Ontario Securities Commission Rule 13-502 Fees satisfies the annual notification requirement in subsection (5).

April 15, 2011 167 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

8.19 Self-directed registered education savings plan

We consider the creation of a self-directed registered education savings plan, as defined in section 8.19, to be a trade in a security, whether or not the assets held in the plan are securities. This is because the definition of "security" in securities legislation of most jurisdictions includes "any document constituting evidence of an interest in a scholarship or educational plan or trust".

Section 8.19 provides an exemption from the dealer registration requirement for the trade when the plan is created but only under the conditions described in subsection 8.19(2).

Division 2 Exemptions from adviser registration

8.25 Advising generally

Section 8.25 contains an exemption from the requirement to register as an adviser if the advice is not tailored to the needs of the recipient.

In general, we would not consider advice about specific securities to be tailored to the needs of the recipient if it:

- is a general discussion of the merits and risks of the security
- is delivered through investment newsletters, articles in general circulation newspapers or magazines, websites, e-mail, Internet chat rooms, bulletin boards, television or radio, and
- does not claim to be tailored to the needs and circumstances of any recipient

This type of general advice can also be given at conferences. However, if a purpose of the conference is to solicit the audience and generate specific trades in specific securities, we may consider the advice to be tailored or we may consider the individual or firm giving the advice to be engaged in trading activity.

Under subsection 8.25(3), if an individual or firm relying on the exemption has a financial or other interest in the securities they recommend, they must disclose the interest to the recipient when they make the recommendation.

8.26 International adviser

This exemption allows international advisers to provide limited services to Canadian permitted clients, as defined in section 8.26, without having to register in Canada. International advisers that seek wider access to Canadian investors must register in an appropriate category. Unlike the exemption for international dealers in section 8.18, this exemption is not available where the client is registered under securities legislation of Canada as an adviser or dealer.

Incidental advice on Canadian securities

An international adviser relying on the exemption in section 8.26 may advise in Canada on foreign securities without having to register. It may also advise in Canada on securities of Canadian issuers, but only to the extent that the advice is incidental to its acting as an adviser for foreign securities.

However, this is not an exception or a "carve-out" that allows some portion of a permitted client's portfolio to be made up of Canadian securities chosen by the international adviser without restriction. Any advice with respect to Canadian securities must be directly related to the activity of advising on foreign securities. Permissible incidental advice would include, for example:

- an international adviser, when advising on a portfolio with a particular investment objective, such as gold mining companies, could advise on securities of a Canadian gold mining company within that portfolio, provided that the portfolio is otherwise made up of foreign securities
- an international adviser, having a mandate to advise on equities traded on European exchanges could advise with respect to the securities of a Canadian corporation traded on a European exchange, to the extent that Canadian corporation forms part of the mandate

Revenue derived in Canada

An international adviser is only permitted to undertake a prescribed amount of business in Canada. In making the calculation required under paragraph 8.26(4)(d), it is necessary to include all revenues derived from portfolio management activities in Canada, which would include any sub-adviser arrangements. However, the calculation of aggregate consolidated gross revenue derived in Canada does not include the gross revenue of affiliates that are registered in a jurisdiction of Canada.

April 15, 2011 168 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

An international adviser is not required to monitor Canadian revenue on an ongoing basis. Eligibility for the exemption is assessed with reference to revenues as of the end of the adviser's last financial year. The 10% threshold in paragraph 8.26(4)(d) is determined by looking back at the revenue of the firm and its affiliates "during its most recently completed financial year".

Notice requirement

If a firm is relying on the exemption in more than one jurisdiction, it must provide an initial notice by filing a Form 31-103F2 with the regulator in each jurisdiction where it relies on the exemption. If there is any change to the information in the firm's Form 31-103F2, it must update it by filing a replacement Form 31-103F2 with them.

So long as the firm continues to rely on the exemption, it must file an annual notice with each regulator. Subsection 8.26(5) does not prescribe a form of annual notice. An email or letter will therefore be acceptable.

In Ontario, compliance with the filing and fee payment requirements applicable to an unregistered exempt international firm under Ontario Securities Commission Rule 13-502 Fees satisfies the annual notification requirement in subsection (5).

Division 3 Exemptions from investment fund manager registration

8.28 Capital accumulation plan exemption

Section 8.28 provides an exemption from the investment fund manager registration requirement to an individual or firm that administers a capital accumulation plan. If an investment fund manager is also required to register as a dealer or adviser, this exemption only applies to their activities as an investment fund manager.

Division 4 Mobility exemption – firms

8.30 Client mobility exemption – firms

The mobility exemption in section 8.30 allows registered firms to continue dealing with and advising clients who move to another jurisdiction, without registering in that other jurisdiction. Section 2.2 *Client mobility exemption – individuals* contains a similar exemption for registered individuals.

The exemption becomes available when the client (not the registrant) moves to another jurisdiction. A registered firm may deal with up to 10 "eligible" clients in each other jurisdiction. Each of the client, their spouse and any children are an eligible client.

A firm may only rely on the exemption if:

- it is registered in its principal jurisdiction
- it only acts as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the other jurisdiction as permitted under its registration in its principal jurisdiction
- the individual acting on its behalf is eligible for the exemption in section 2.2
- it complies with Parts 13 [Dealing with clients individuals and firms] and 14 [Handling client accounts firms], and
- it acts fairly, honestly and in good faith in its dealings with the eligible client

Firm's responsibilities for individuals relying on the exemption

In order for a registered individual to rely on the exemption in section 2.2, their sponsoring firm must disclose to the eligible client that the individual and if applicable, the firm, are exempt from registration in the other jurisdiction and are not subject to the requirements of securities legislation in that jurisdiction.

As soon as possible after an individual first relies on the exemption in section 2.2, their sponsoring firm must complete and file Form 31-103F3 in the other jurisdiction.

The registered firm must have appropriate policies and procedures for supervising individuals who rely on a mobility exemption. Registered firms must also keep appropriate records to demonstrate they are complying with the conditions of the mobility exemption.

April 15, 2011 169 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

See the guidance in section 2.2 of this Companion Policy on the client mobility exemption available to individuals.

Part 9 Membership in a self-regulatory organization

9.3 Exemptions from certain requirements for IIROC members

9.4 Exemptions from certain requirements for MFDA members

NI 31-103 now has two distinct sections, section 9.3 and 9.4, which distinguish the exemptions which are available on the basis of whether or not the member of IIROC or the MFDA is registered in another category. This clarifies our intent with respect to the exemptions for SRO members and recognizes that IIROC and the MFDA have rules in these areas.

Sections 9.3 and 9.4 contain exemptions from certain requirements for investment dealers that are IIROC members, for mutual fund dealers that are MFDA members and in Québec, for mutual fund dealers to the extent equivalent requirements are applicable under the regulations in Québec.

However, if an SRO member is registered in another category, these sections do not exempt them from their obligations as a registrant in that category. For example, if a firm is registered as an investment fund manager and as an investment dealer with IIROC, section 9.3 does not exempt them from their obligations as an investment fund manager under NI 31-103.

However SRO members that are registered in multiple categories may use the forms prescribed by the SROs, on certain conditions. See sections 12.1, 12.12 and 12.14 for requirements on calculating working capital and the delivery of working capital calculations for SRO members that are registered in multiple categories.

Part 10 Suspension and revocation of registration - firms

The requirements for surrendering registration and additional requirements for suspending and revoking registration are found in the securities legislation of each jurisdiction. The guidance for Part 10 relates to requirements under both securities legislation and NI 31-103.

There is no renewal requirement for registration but firms must pay fees every year to maintain their registration and the registration of individuals acting on their behalf. A registered firm may carry on the activities for which it is registered until its registration is:

- suspended automatically under NI 31-103
- suspended by the regulator under certain circumstances, or
- surrendered by the firm

Division 1 When a firm's registration is suspended

Suspension

A firm whose registration has been suspended must not carry on the activity it is registered for. The firm otherwise remains a registrant and is subject to the jurisdiction of the regulator. A suspension remains in effect until the regulator reinstates or revokes the firm's registration.

If a firm that is registered in more than one category is suspended in one of the categories, the regulator will consider whether to suspend the firm's registration in other categories or to impose terms and conditions, subject to an opportunity to be heard.

Automatic suspension

A firm's registration will automatically be suspended if:

- it fails to pay its annual fees within 30 days of the due date
- it ceases to be a member of IIROC, or
- except in Québec, it ceases to be a member of the MFDA

Firms do not have an opportunity to be heard by the regulator in the case of any automatic suspension.

April 15, 2011 170 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

10.1 Failure to pay fees

Under section 10.1, a firm's registration will be automatically suspended if it has not paid its annual fees within 30 days of the due date.

10.2 If IIROC membership is revoked or suspended

Under section 10.2, if IIROC suspends or revokes a firm's membership, the firm's registration as an investment dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked.

10.3 If MFDA membership is revoked or suspended

Under section 10.3, if the MFDA suspends or revokes a firm's membership, the firm's registration as a mutual fund dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked. Section 10.3 does not apply in Québec.

Suspension in the public interest

A firm's registration may be suspended if the regulator exercises its power under securities legislation and determines that it is no longer in the public interest for the firm to be registered. The regulator may do this if it has serious concerns about the ongoing fitness of the firm or any of its registered individuals. For example, this may be the case if a firm or one or more of its registered or permitted individuals is charged with a crime, in particular fraud or theft.

Reinstatement

"Reinstatement" means that a suspension on a registration has been lifted. Once reinstated, a firm may resume carrying on the activity it is registered for.

Division 2 Revoking a firm's registration

Revocation

10.5 Revocation of a suspended registration – firm

10.6 Exception for firms involved in a hearing

Under sections 10.5 and 10.6, if a firm's registration has been suspended under Part 10 and has not been reinstated, it is revoked on the second anniversary of the suspension, except if a hearing or proceeding concerning the suspended registrant has commenced. In this case the registration remains suspended.

"Revocation" means that the regulator has terminated the firm's registration. A firm whose registration has been revoked must submit a new application if it wants to be registered again.

Surrender

A firm may apply to surrender its registration in one or more categories at any time. There is no prescribed form for an application to surrender. A firm should file an application to surrender registration with its principal regulator. If Ontario is a non-principal jurisdiction, it should also file the application with the regulator in Ontario. See the Companion Policy to Multilateral Instrument 11-102 *Passport System* for more details on filing an application to surrender.

Before the regulator accepts a firm's application to surrender registration, the firm must provide the regulator with evidence that the firm's clients have been dealt with appropriately. This evidence does not have to be provided when a registered individual applies to surrender registration. This is because the sponsoring firm will continue to be responsible for meeting obligations to clients who may have been served by the individual.

The regulator does not have to accept a firm's application to surrender its registration. Instead, the regulator can act in the public interest by suspending, or imposing terms and conditions on, the firm's registration.

When considering a registered firm's application to surrender its registration, the regulator typically considers the firm's actions, the completeness of the application and the supporting documentation.

April 15, 2011 171 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

The firm's actions

The regulator may consider whether the firm:

- has stopped carrying on activity requiring registration
- proposes an effective date to stop carrying on activity requiring registration that is within six months of the date of the application to surrender, and
- has paid any outstanding fees and submitted any outstanding filings at the time of filing the application to surrender

Completeness of the application

Among other things, the regulator may look for:

- the firm's reasons for ceasing to carry on activity requiring registration
- satisfactory evidence that the firm has given all of its clients reasonable notice of its intention to stop carrying on activity requiring registration, including an explanation of how it will affect them in practical terms, and
- satisfactory evidence that the firm has given appropriate notice to the SRO, if applicable

Supporting documentation

The regulator may look for:

- evidence that the firm has resolved all outstanding client complaints, settled all litigation, satisfied all judgments or made reasonable arrangements to deal with and fund any payments relating to them, and any subsequent client complaints, settlements or liabilities
- confirmation that all money or securities owed to clients has been returned or transferred to another registrant, where
 possible, according to client instructions
- up-to-date audited financial statements with an auditor's comfort letter
- evidence that the firm has satisfied any SRO requirements for withdrawing membership, and
- an officer's or partner's certificate supporting these documents

Part 11 Internal controls and systems

General business practices - outsourcing

Registered firms are responsible and accountable for all functions that they outsource to a service provider. Firms should have a written, legally binding contract that includes the expectations of the parties to the outsourcing arrangement.

Registered firms should follow prudent business practices and conduct a due diligence analysis of prospective third-party service providers. This includes third-party service providers that are affiliates of the firm. Due diligence should include an assessment of the service provider's reputation, financial stability, relevant internal controls and ability to deliver the services.

Firms should also:

- ensure that third-party service providers have adequate safeguards for keeping information confidential and, where appropriate, disaster recovery capabilities
- conduct ongoing reviews of the quality of outsourced services
- develop and test a business continuity plan to minimize disruption to the firm's business and its clients if the third-party service provider does not deliver its services satisfactorily, and
- note that other legal requirements, such as privacy laws, may apply when entering into outsourcing arrangements

April 15, 2011 172 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

The regulator, the registered firm and the firm's auditors should have the same access to the work product of a third-party service provider as they would if the firm itself performed the activities. Firms should ensure this access is provided and include a provision requiring it in the contract with the service provider, if necessary.

Division 1 Compliance

11.1 Compliance system

General principles

Section 11.1 requires registered firms to establish, maintain and apply policies and procedures that establish a system of controls and supervision (a compliance system) that:

- provides assurance that the firm and individuals acting on its behalf comply with securities legislation, and
- manages the risks associated with the firm's business in accordance with prudent business practices

Operating an effective compliance system is essential to a registered firm's continuing fitness for registration. It provides reasonable assurance that the firm is meeting, and will continue to meet, all requirements of applicable securities laws and SRO rules and is managing risk in accordance with prudent business practices. A compliance system should include internal controls and monitoring systems that are reasonably likely to identify non-compliance at an early stage and supervisory systems that allow the firm to correct non-compliant conduct in a timely manner.

The responsibilities of the UDP are set out in section 5.1 and those of the CCO in section 5.2. However, compliance is not only a responsibility of a specific individual or a compliance department of the firm, but rather is a firm-wide responsibility and an integral part of the firm's activities. Everyone in the firm should understand the standards of conduct for their role. This includes the board of directors, partners, management, employees and agents, whether or not they are registered.

Having a UDP and CCO, and in larger firms, a compliance group and other supervisory staff, does not relieve anyone else in the firm of the obligation to report and act on compliance issues. A compliance system should identify those who will act as alternates in the absence of the UDP or CCO.

Elements of an effective compliance system

While policies and procedures are essential, they do not make an acceptable compliance system on their own. An effective compliance system also includes internal controls, day to day and systemic monitoring, and supervision elements.

Internal controls

Internal controls are an important part of a firm's compliance system. They should mitigate risk and protect firm and client assets. They should be designed to assist firms in monitoring compliance with securities legislation and managing the risks that affect their business, including risks that may relate to:

- safeguarding of client and firm assets
- accuracy of books and records
- trading, including personal and proprietary trading
- conflicts of interest
- money laundering
- business interruption
- hedging strategies
- marketing and sales practices, and
- the firm's overall financial viability

April 15, 2011 173 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Monitoring and supervision

Monitoring and supervision are essential elements of a firm's compliance system. They consist of day to day monitoring and supervision, and overall systemic monitoring.

(a) Day to day monitoring and supervision

In our view, an effective monitoring and supervision system includes:

- monitoring to identify specific cases of non-compliance or internal control weaknesses that might lead to non-compliance
- referring non-compliance or internal control weaknesses to management or other individuals with authority to take supervisory action to correct them
- taking supervisory action to correct them, and
- minimizing the compliance risk in key areas of a firm's operations

In our view, effective day to day monitoring should include, among other things

- approving new account documents
- reviewing and, in some cases, approving transactions
- approving marketing materials, and
- preventing inappropriate use or disclosure of non-public information.

Firms can use a risk-based approach to monitoring, such as reviewing an appropriate sample of transactions.

The firm's management is responsible for the supervisory element of correcting non-compliance or internal control weaknesses. However, at a firm's discretion, its CCO may be given supervisory authority, but this is not a necessary component of the CCO's role.

Anyone who supervises registered individuals has a responsibility on behalf of the firm to take all reasonable measures to ensure that each of these individuals:

- deals fairly, honestly and in good faith with their clients
- complies with securities legislation
- complies with the firm's policies and procedures, and
- maintains an appropriate level of proficiency

(b) Systemic monitoring

Systemic monitoring involves assessing, and advising and reporting on the effectiveness of the firm's compliance system. This includes ensuring that:

- the firm's day to day supervision is reasonably effective in identifying and promptly correcting cases of non-compliance and internal control weaknesses
- policies and procedures are enforced and kept up to date, and
- everyone at the firm generally understands and complies with the policies and procedures, and with securities legislation

April 15, 2011 174 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Specific elements

More specific elements of an effective compliance system include:

(a) Visible commitment

Senior management and the board of directors or partners should demonstrate a visible commitment to compliance.

(b) Sufficient resources and training

The firm should have sufficient resources to operate an effective compliance system. Qualified individuals (including anyone acting as an alternate during absences) should have the responsibility and authority to monitor the firm's compliance, identify any instances of non-compliance and take supervisory action to correct them.

The firm should provide training to ensure that everyone at the firm understands the standards of conduct and their role in the compliance system, including ongoing communication and training on changes in regulatory requirements or the firm's policies and procedures.

(c) Detailed policies and procedures

The firm should have detailed written policies and procedures that:

- identify the internal controls the firm will use to ensure compliance with legislation and manage risk
- set out the firm's standards of conduct for compliance with securities and other applicable legislation and the systems for monitoring and enforcing compliance with those standards
- clearly outline who is expected to do what, when and how
- are readily accessible by everyone who is expected to know and follow them
- are updated when regulatory requirements and the firm's business practices change, and
- take into consideration the firm's obligation under securities legislation to deal fairly, honestly and in good faith with its clients

(d) Detailed records

The firm should keep records of activities conducted to identify compliance deficiencies and the action taken to correct them.

Setting up a compliance system

It is up to each registered firm to determine the most appropriate compliance system for its operations. Registered firms should consider the size and scope of their operations, including products, types of clients or counterparties, risks and compensating controls, and any other relevant factors.

For example, a large registered firm with diverse operations may require a large team of compliance professionals with several divisional heads of compliance reporting to a CCO dedicated entirely to a compliance role.

All firms must have policies, procedures and systems to demonstrate compliance. However, some of the elements noted above may be unnecessary or impractical for smaller registered firms.

We encourage firms to meet or exceed industry best practices in complying with regulatory requirements.

11.2 Designating an ultimate designated person

Under subsection 11.2(1), registered firms must designate an individual to be the UDP. Firms should ensure that the individual understands and is able to perform the obligations of a UDP under section 5.1.The UDP must be:

• the chief executive officer (CEO) of the registered firm or the individual acting in a similar capacity, if the firm does not have a CEO. The person acting in a similar capacity to a CEO is the most senior decision maker in the firm, who might have the title of managing partner or president, for example

April 15, 2011 175 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- the sole proprietor of the registered firm, or
- the officer in charge of a division of the firm that carries on all of the registerable activity if the firm also has significant other business activities, such as insurance, conducted in different divisions. This is not an option if the core business of the firm is trading or advising in securities and it only has some other minor operations conducted in other divisions. In this case, the UDP must be the CEO or equivalent.

To designate someone else as the UDP requires an exemptive relief order. Given that the intention of section 11.2 is to ensure that responsibility for its compliance system rests at the very top of a firm, we will only grant relief in rare cases.

We note that in larger organizations, the UDP is sometimes supported by an officer who has a compliance oversight role and title within the organization and who is more senior than the CCO. We have no objection to such arrangements, but it must be understood that they can in no way diminish the UDP's regulatory responsibilities.

If the person designated as the UDP no longer meets these requirements, and the registered firm is unable to designate another UDP, the firm should promptly advise the regulator of the actions it is taking to designate a new UDP who meets these requirements.

11.3 Designating a chief compliance officer

Under subsection 11.3(1), registered firms must designate an individual to be the CCO. Firms should ensure that the individual understands and is able to perform the obligations of a CCO under section 5.2.

The CCO must meet the applicable proficiency requirements in Part 3 and be:

- an officer or partner of the registered firm, or
- the sole proprietor of the registered firm

If the CCO no longer meets any of the above conditions and the registered firm is unable to designate another CCO, the firm should promptly advise the regulator of the actions it is taking to designate an appropriate CCO.

Division 2 Books and records

Under securities legislation, the regulator may access, examine and take copies of a registered firm's records. The regulator may also conduct regular and unscheduled compliance reviews of registered firms.

11.5 General requirements for records

Under subsection 11.5(1), registered firms must maintain records to accurately record their business activities, financial affairs and client transactions, and demonstrate compliance with securities legislation.

The following discussion provides guidance for the various elements of the records described in subsection 11.5(2).

Financial affairs

The records required under subsections 11.5(2)(a), (b) and (c) are records firms must maintain to help ensure they are able to prepare and file financial information, determine their capital position, including the calculation of excess working capital, and generally demonstrate compliance with the capital and insurance requirements.

Client transactions

The records required under subsections 11.5(2)(g), (h), (i), (l) and (n) are records firms must maintain to accurately and fully document transactions entered into on behalf of a client. We expect firms to maintain notes of communications that could have an impact on the client's account or the client's relationship with the firm. These communications include

- oral communications
- all e-mail, regular mail, fax and other written communications

While we do not expect registered firms to save every voicemail or e-mail, or to record all telephone conversations with clients, we do expect that registered firms maintain records of all communications relating to orders received from their clients.

April 15, 2011 176 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

The records required under subsection 11.5(2)(g) should document buy and sell transactions, referrals, margin transactions and any other activities relating to a client's account. They include records of all actions leading to trade execution, settlement and clearance, such as trades on exchanges, alternative trading systems, over-the-counter markets, debt markets, and distributions and trades in the prospectus-exempt market.

Examples of these records are:

- trade confirmation statements
- summary information about account activity
- communications between a registrant and its client about particular transactions, and
- records of transactions resulting from securities a client holds, such as dividends or interest paid, or dividend reinvestment program activity

Subsection 11.5(2)(I) requires firms to maintain records that demonstrate compliance with the know your client obligations in section 13.2 and the suitability obligations in section 13.3. This includes records for unsuitable trades in subsection 13.3(2).

Client relationship

The records required under subsection 11.5(2)(k) and (m) should document information about a registered firm's relationship with its client and relationships that any representatives have with that client.

These records include:

- communication between the firm and its clients, such as disclosure provided to clients and agreements between the registrant and its clients
- account opening information
- change of status information provided by the client
- disclosure and other relationship information provided by the firm
- margin account agreements
- communications regarding a complaint made by the client
- actions taken by the firm regarding a complaint
- communications that do not relate to a particular transaction, and
- conflicts records

Each record required under subsection 11.5(2)(k) should clearly indicate the name of the accountholder and the account the record refers to. A record should include information only about the accounts of the same accountholder or group. For example, registrants should have separate records for an individual's personal accounts and for accounts of a legal entity that the individual owns or jointly holds with another party.

Where applicable, the financial details should note whether the information is for an individual or a family. This includes spousal income and net worth. The financial details for accounts of a legal entity should note whether the information refers to the entity or to the owner(s) of the entity.

If the registered firm permits clients to complete new account forms themselves, the forms should use language that is clear and avoids terminology that may be unfamiliar to unsophisticated clients.

Internal controls

The records required under subsection 11.5(2)(d), (e), (f), (j) and (o) are records firms must maintain to support the internal controls and supervision components of their compliance system.

April 15, 2011 177 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

11.6 Form, accessibility and retention of records

Third party access to records

Subsection 11.6(1)(b) requires registered firms to keep their records in a safe location. This includes ensuring that no one has unauthorized access to information, particularly confidential client information. Registered firms should be particularly vigilant if they maintain books and records in a location that may be accessible by a third party. In this case, the firm should have a confidentiality agreement with the third party.

Division 3 Certain business transactions

11.8 Tied selling

Section 11.8 prohibits an individual or firm from engaging in abusive sales practices such as selling a security on the condition that the client purchase another product or service from the registrant or one of its affiliates. These types of practices are known as "tied selling". In our view, this section would be contravened if, for example, a financial institution agreed to lend money to a client only if the client acquired securities of mutual funds sponsored by the financial institution.

However, section 11.8 is not intended to prohibit relationship pricing or other beneficial selling arrangements similar to relationship pricing. Relationship pricing refers to the practice of industry participants offering financial incentives or advantages to certain clients.

11.9 Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets

Under section 11.9, registrants must give the regulator notice if they propose to purchase securities or assets of a registered firm or the parent of a registered firm. For purposes of this section, a registered firm's book of business would be a substantial part of the assets of the registered firm. This notice gives the regulator an opportunity to consider ownership issues that may affect a firm's fitness for registration.

Subsection 11.9(4) does not apply in British Columbia. However, the regulator in British Columbia may exercise discretion under section 36 or 161 of the BC Securities Act (BCSA) to impose conditions, restrictions or requirements on the registrant's registration or to suspend or revoke the registration if it decides that an acquisition would affect the registrant's fitness for registration or be prejudicial to the public interest. In these circumstances, the registrant would be entitled to an opportunity to be heard, except if the regulator issues a temporary order under section 161 of the BCSA.

11.10 Registered firm whose securities are acquired

Under section 11.10, registered firms must notify the regulator if they know or have reason to believe that any individual or firm is about to purchase more than 10% of the voting securities of the firm or the firm's parent. This notice gives the regulator an opportunity to consider ownership issues that may affect a firm's fitness for registration. We expect this notice to be sent as soon as the registered firm knows or has reason to believe such a transaction is going to take place.

We expect any individual or firm that buys assets of a registered firm and is not already a registrant will have to apply for registration. We will assess their fitness for registration when they apply.

Subsection 11.10(5) does not apply in British Columbia. However, the regulator in British Columbia may exercise discretion under section 36 or 161 of the BCSA to impose conditions, restrictions or requirements on the registrant's registration or to suspend or revoke the registration if it decides that an acquisition would affect the registrant's fitness for registration or be prejudicial to the public interest. In these circumstances, the registrant would be entitled to an opportunity to be heard, except if the regulator issues a temporary order under section 161 of the BCSA.

Part 12 Financial condition

Division 1 Working capital

12.1 Capital requirements

Frequency of working capital calculations

Section 12.1 requires registered firms to notify the regulator as soon as possible if their excess working capital is less than zero.

Registered firms should know their working capital position at all times. This may require a firm to calculate its working capital every day. The frequency of working capital calculations depends on many factors, including the size of the firm, the nature of its

April 15, 2011 178 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

business and the stability of the components of its working capital. For example, it may be sufficient for a sole proprietor firm with a dedicated and stable source of working capital to do the calculation on a monthly basis.

Form 31-103F1 - Calculation of excess working capital

Application of NI 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards

Form 31-103F1 – Calculation of Excess Working Capital (Form 31-103F1) must be prepared using the accounting principles used to prepare financial statements in accordance with National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (NI 52-107). Refer to section 12.10 of this Companion Policy and Companion Policy 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (52-107CP) for further guidance on audited financial statements.

IIROC and MFDA member firms that are also registered in another category

IIROC and MFDA member firms that are also registered in a category that does not require SRO membership must still comply with the financial filing requirements in Part 12 [Financial condition], even if they are relying on the exemptions in sections 9.3 and 9.4. Provided certain conditions are met, SRO members that are registered in other categories may be permitted to calculate their working capital in accordance with the SRO forms and file the SRO forms instead of Form 31-103F1.

For example, if the SRO firm is also an investment fund manager, it will need to report any net asset value (NAV) adjustments quarterly in order to comply with the investment fund manager requirements, notwithstanding that its SRO has no such requirements. However, they may be permitted to calculate their working capital in accordance with the SRO forms and file the SRO forms instead of Form 31-103F1. See sections 12.1, 12.12 and 12.14 for the requirements on delivery of working capital calculations for SRO members that are registered in multiple categories.

Working capital requirements are not cumulative

The working capital requirements for registered firms set out in section 12.1 are not cumulative. If a firm is registered in more than one category, it must meet the highest capital requirement of its categories of registration, except for those investment fund managers who are also registered as portfolio managers and meet the requirements of the exemption in section 8.6. These investment fund managers need only meet the lower capital requirement for portfolio managers.

If a registrant becomes insolvent or declares bankruptcy

The regulator will review the circumstances of a registrant's insolvency or bankruptcy on a case-by-case basis. If the regulator has concerns, it may impose terms and conditions on the registrant's registration, such as close supervision and delivering progress reports to the regulator, or it may suspend the registrant's registration.

12.2 Subordination agreements

Long-term related party debt must be deducted from a firm's working capital on Form 31-103F1, unless the firm and the lender have executed a subordination agreement in the form set out in Appendix B of NI 31-103 and delivered a copy of that agreement with the regulator.

Division 2 Insurance

Insurance coverage limits

Registrants must maintain bonding or insurance that provides for a "double aggregate limit" or a "full reinstatement of coverage" (also known as "no aggregate limit"). The insurance provisions state that the registered firm must "maintain" bonding or insurance in the amounts specified. We do not expect that the calculation would differ materially from day to day. If there is a material change in a firm's circumstances, it should consider the potential impact on its ability to meet its insurance requirements.

Most insurers offer aggregate limit policies that contain limits based on a single loss and on the number or value of losses that occur during the coverage period.

Double aggregate limit policies have a specified limit for each claim. The total amount that may be claimed during the coverage period is twice that limit. For example, if an adviser maintains a financial institution bond of \$50,000 for each clause with a double aggregate limit, the adviser's coverage is \$50,000 for any one claim and \$100,000 for all claims during the coverage period.

April 15, 2011 179 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Full reinstatement of coverage policies and no aggregate limit policies have a specified limit for each claim but no limit on the number of claims or losses during the coverage period. For example, if an adviser maintains a financial institution bond of \$50,000 for each clause with a full reinstatement of coverage provision, the adviser's maximum coverage is \$50,000 for any one claim, but there is no limit on the total amount that can be claimed under the bond during the coverage period.

Insurance requirements are not cumulative

Insurance requirements are not cumulative. For example, a firm registered in the categories of portfolio manager and investment fund manager need only maintain insurance coverage for the higher of the amounts required for each registration category. Despite being registered as both a portfolio manager and an investment fund manager, when calculating the investment fund manager insurance requirement under subsection 12.5(2), an investment fund manager should only include the total assets under management of its own investment funds. It is only with respect to its own funds that the registrant is acting as an investment fund manager.

12.4 Insurance – adviser

The insurance requirements for advisers depend in part on whether the adviser holds or has access to client assets.

An adviser will be considered to hold or have access to client assets if they do any of the following:

- hold client securities or cash for any period
- accept funds from clients, for example, a cheque made payable to the registrant
- accept client money from a custodian, for example, client money that is deposited in the registrant's bank or trust
 accounts before the registrant issues a cheque to the client
- have the ability to gain access to client assets
- have, in any capacity, legal ownership of, or access to, client funds or securities
- have the authority, such as under a power of attorney, to withdraw funds or securities from client accounts
- have authority to debit client accounts to pay bills other than investment management fees
- act as a trustee for clients, or
- act as fund manager or general partner for investment funds

12.6 Global bonding or insurance

Registered firms may be covered under a global insurance policy. Under this type of policy, the firm is insured under a parent company's policy that covers the parent and its subsidiaries or affiliates. Firms should ensure that the claims of other entities covered under a global insurance policy do not affect the limits or coverage applicable to the firm.

Division 4 Financial reporting

12.10 Annual financial statements and interim financial information

Accounting Principles

Registrants are required to deliver annual financial statements and interim financial information that comply with NI 52-107. Depending on the financial year, a registrant will look to different parts of NI 52-107 to determine which accounting principles and auditing standards apply:

- Part 3 of NI 52-107 applies for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011;
- Part 4 of NI 52-107 applies to financial years beginning before January 1, 2011.

Part 3 of NI 52-107 refers to Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises, which is IFRS as incorporated into the Handbook. Under Part 3 of NI 52-107, annual financial statements and interim financial information delivered by a registrant must be prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises except that any

April 15, 2011 180 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates must be accounted for as specified for separate financial statements in International Accounting Standard 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Separate financial statements are sometimes referred to as non-consolidated financial statements.

Section 3.2(3) of NI 52-107 requires annual financial statements to include a statement and description about this required financial reporting framework. Section 2.7 of 52-107CP provides guidance on section 3.2(3). We remind registrants to refer to these provisions in NI 52-107 and 52-107CP in preparing their annual financial statements and interim financial information.

Part 4 of NI 52-107 refers to Canadian GAAP for public enterprises, which is Canadian GAAP as it existed before the mandatory effective date for the adoption of IFRS, included in the Handbook as Part V. Under Part 4 of NI 52-107, annual financial statements and interim financial information delivered by a registrant must be prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP for public enterprises except that the financial statements and interim financial information must be prepared on a non-consolidated basis.

Changeover to International Financial Reporting Standards

When preparing annual financial statements, interim financial information or Form 31-103F1 for a financial year beginning in 2011 or for interim periods relating to a financial year beginning in 2011, registrants may rely on the exemption in subsection 12.15(1) and exclude comparative information for the preceding financial year. Section 3.2(4) of NI 52-107 provides a corresponding exemption for the accounting principles used by registrants. If a registrant relies on these exemptions, its date of transition to IFRS will be the first day of its financial year beginning in 2011. Section 2.7 of 52-107CP provides further guidance on this topic. We remind registrants to refer to the provisions in NI 52-107 and 52-107CP in preparing their financial statements and interim financial information for a financial period beginning in 2011.

12.14 Delivering financial information – investment fund manager

NAV errors and adjustments

Section 12.14 requires investment fund managers to periodically deliver to the regulator, among other things, a description of any NAV adjustment. A NAV adjustment is necessary when there has been a material error and the NAV per unit does not accurately reflect the actual NAV per unit at the time of computation.

Some examples of the causes of NAV errors are:

- mispricing of a security
- corporate action recorded incorrectly
- incorrect numbers used for issued and outstanding units
- incorrect expenses and income used or accrued
- incorrect foreign exchange rates used in the valuation, and
- human error, such as inputting an incorrect value

We expect investment fund managers to have policies that clearly define what constitutes a material error that requires an adjustment, including threshold levels, and how to correct material errors. If an investment fund manager does not have a threshold in place, it may wish to consider the threshold in IFIC Bulletin Number 22 Correcting Portfolio NAV Errors or adopt a more stringent policy.

Part 13 Dealing with clients - individuals and firms

Division 1 Know your client and suitability

13.2 Know your client

General principles

Registrants act as gatekeepers of the integrity of the capital markets. They should not, by act or omission, facilitate conduct that brings the market into disrepute. As part of their gatekeeper role, registrants are required to establish the identity of, and conduct due diligence on, their clients under the know your client (KYC) obligation in section 13.2. Complying with the KYC obligation can help ensure that trades are completed in accordance with securities laws.

April 15, 2011 181 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

KYC information forms the basis for determining whether trades in securities are suitable for investors. This helps protect the client, the registrant and the integrity of the capital markets. The KYC obligation requires registrants to take reasonable steps to obtain and periodically update information about their clients.

Verifying a client's reputation

Subsection 13.2(2)(a) requires registrants to make inquiries if they have cause for concern about a client's reputation. The registrant must make all reasonable inquiries necessary to resolve the concern. This includes making a reasonable effort to determine, for example, the nature of the client's business or the identity of beneficial owners where the client is a corporation, partnership or trust. See subsection 13.2(3) for additional guidance on identifying clients that are corporations, partnerships or trusts.

Identifying insiders

Under subsection 13.2(2)(b), a registrant must take reasonable steps to establish whether the client is an insider of a reporting issuer or any other issuer whose securities are publicly traded.

We consider "reasonable steps" to include explaining to the client what an insider is and what it means for securities to be publicly traded.

For purposes of this paragraph, "reporting issuer" has the meaning given to it in securities legislation and "other issuer" means any issuer whose securities are traded in any public market. This includes domestic, foreign, exchange-listed and over-the-counter markets. This definition does not include issuers whose securities have been distributed through a private placement and are not freely tradeable.

A registrant need not ascertain whether the client is an insider if the only securities traded for the client are mutual fund securities and scholarship plan securities referred to in sections 7.1(2)(b) and 7.1(2)(c). However, we encourage firms, when selling highly concentrated pooled funds, to enquire as to whether a client is an insider of the issuer of any securities held by the fund, notwithstanding the exemption provided in subsection 13.2(7). In addition, we remind registrants that they remain subject to the requirement in section 13.2(2)(b) when they trade any other securities than those listed in sections 7.1(2)(b) and 7.1(2)(c).

This exemption does not change an insider's reporting and conduct responsibilities.

Clients that are corporations, partnerships or trusts

Subsection 13.2(3) requires registrants to establish the identity of any person who owns or controls 25% or more of the shares of a client that is a corporation or exercises control over the affairs of a client that is a partnership or trust. We remind registrants that this is in addition to the requirement in subsection 13.2(2)(a) which requires registrants to make inquiries if they have cause for concern about a client's reputation. If a registrant has cause for concern about a particular client that is a corporation, partnership or trust, they may need to identify all beneficial owners of such entity.

Keeping KYC information current

Under subsection 13.2(4), registrants are required to make reasonable efforts to keep their clients' KYC information current.

We consider information to be current if it is sufficiently up-to-date to support a suitability determination. For example, a portfolio manager with discretionary authority should update its clients' KYC information frequently. A dealer that only occasionally recommends trades to a client should ensure that the client's KYC information is up-to-date at the time a proposed trade or recommendation is made.

13.3 Suitability

Suitability obligation

Subsection 13.3(1) requires registrants to take reasonable steps to ensure that a proposed trade is suitable for a client before making a recommendation or accepting instructions from the client. To meet this suitability obligation, registrants should have indepth knowledge of all securities that they buy and sell for, or recommend to, their clients. This is often referred to as the "know your product" or KYP obligation.

Registrants should know each security well enough to understand and explain to their clients the security's risks, key features, and initial and ongoing costs and fees. Having the registered firm's approval for representatives to sell a product does not mean that the product will be suitable for all clients. Individual registrants must still determine the suitability of each transaction for every client.

April 15, 2011 182 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Registrants should also be aware of, and act in compliance with, the terms of any exemption being relied on for the trade or distribution of the security.

In all cases, we expect registrants to be able to demonstrate a process for making suitability determinations that are appropriate in the circumstances.

Suitability obligations cannot be delegated

Registrants may not:

- delegate their suitability obligations to anyone else, or
- satisfy the suitability obligation by simply disclosing the risks involved with a trade

Only permitted clients may waive their right to a suitability determination. Registrants must make a suitability determination for all other clients. If a client instructs a registrant to make a trade that is unsuitable, the registrant may not allow the trade to be completed until they warn the client as required under subsection 13.3(2).

KYC information for suitability depends on circumstances

The extent of KYC information a registrant needs to determine suitability of a trade will depend on the:

- client's circumstances
- type of security
- client's relationship to the registrant, and
- registrant's business model

In some cases, the registrant will need extensive KYC information, for example, if the registrant is a portfolio manager with discretionary authority. In these cases, the registrant should have a comprehensive understanding of the client's:

- investment needs and objectives, including the client's time horizon for their investments
- overall financial circumstances, including net worth, income, current investment holdings and employment status, and
- risk tolerance for various types of securities and investment portfolios, taking into account the client's investment knowledge

In other cases, the registrant may need less KYC information, for example, if the registrant only occasionally deals with a client who makes small investments relative to their overall financial position.

If the registrant recommends securities traded under the prospectus exemption for accredited investors in NI 45-106, the registrant should determine whether the client qualifies as an accredited investor.

If a client is opening more than one account, the registrant should indicate whether the client's investment objectives and risk tolerance apply to a particular account or to the client's whole portfolio of accounts.

Registered firm and financial institution clients

Under subsection 13.3(3), there is no obligation to make a suitability determination for a client that is a registered firm, a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank.

Permitted clients

Under subsection 13.3(4), registrants do not have to make a suitability determination for a permitted client if:

- the permitted client has waived their right to suitability in writing, and
- the registrant does not act as an adviser for a managed account of the permitted client

April 15, 2011 183 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

A permitted client may waive their right to suitability for all trades under a blanket waiver.

SRO exemptions

SRO rules may also provide conditional exemptions from the suitability obligation, for example, for dealers who offer order execution only services.

Division 2 Conflicts of interest

13.4 Identifying and responding to conflicts of interest

Section 13.4 covers a broad range of conflicts of interest. It requires registered firms to take reasonable steps to identify existing material conflicts of interest and material conflicts that the firm reasonably expects to arise between the firm and a client. As part of identifying these conflicts, a firm should collect information from the individuals acting on its behalf regarding the conflicts they expect to arise with their clients.

We consider a conflict of interest to be any circumstance where the interests of different parties, such as the interests of a client and those of a registrant, are inconsistent or divergent.

Responding to conflicts of interest

A registered firm's policies and procedures for managing conflicts should allow the firm and its staff to:

- identify conflicts of interest that should be avoided
- determine the level of risk that a conflict of interest raises, and
- respond appropriately to conflicts of interest

When responding to any conflict of interest, registrants should consider their standard of care for dealing with clients and apply consistent criteria to similar types of conflicts of interest.

In general, three methods are used to respond to conflicts of interest:

- avoidance
- control, and
- disclosure

If a registrant allows a serious conflict of interest to continue, there is a high risk of harm to clients or to the market. If the risk of harming a client or the integrity of the markets is too high, the conflict needs to be avoided. If a registered firm does not avoid a conflict of interest, it should take steps to control or disclose the conflict, or both. The firm should also consider what internal structures or policies and procedures it should use or have to reasonably respond to the conflict of interest.

Avoiding conflicts of interest

Registrants must avoid all conflicts of interest that are prohibited by law. If a conflict of interest is not prohibited by law, registrants should avoid the conflict if it is sufficiently contrary to the interests of a client that there can be no other reasonable response.

For example, some conflicts of interest are so contrary to another person's or company's interest that a registrant cannot use controls or disclosure to respond to them. In these cases, the registrant should avoid the conflict, stop providing the service or stop dealing with the client.

Controlling conflicts of interest

Registered firms should design their organizational structures, lines of reporting and physical locations to control conflicts of interest effectively. For example, the following situations would likely raise a conflict of interest:

- advisory staff reporting to marketing staff
- compliance or internal audit staff reporting to a business unit, and

April 15, 2011 184 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

registered representatives and investment banking staff in the same physical location

Depending on the conflict of interest, registered firms may control the conflict by:

- assigning a different representative to provide a service to the particular client
- creating a group or committee to review, develop or approve responses
- monitoring trading activity, or
- using information barriers for certain internal communication

Disclosing conflicts of interest

(a) When disclosure is appropriate

Registered firms should ensure that their clients are adequately informed about any conflicts of interest that may affect the services the firm provides to them. This is in addition to any other methods the registered firm may use to manage the conflict.

(b) Timing of disclosure

Under subsection 13.4(3), if a reasonable investor would expect to be informed of a conflict, a registered firm must disclose the conflict in a timely manner. Registered firms and their representatives should disclose conflicts of interest to their clients before or at the time they recommend the transaction or provide the service that gives rise to the conflict. This is to give clients a reasonable amount of time to assess the conflict.

We note that where this disclosure is provided to a client before the transaction takes place, we expect the disclosure to be provided shortly before the transaction takes place. For example, if it was initially provided with the client's account opening documentation months or years previously we expect that a registered representative would also disclose this conflict to the client shortly before the transaction or at the time the transaction is recommended.

For example, if a registered individual recommends a security that they own, this may constitute a material conflict which should be disclosed to the client before or at the time of the recommendation.

(c) When disclosure is not appropriate

Disclosure may not be appropriate if a conflict of interest involves confidential or commercially sensitive information, or the information amounts to "inside information" under insider trading provisions in securities legislation.

In these situations, registered firms will need to assess whether there are other methods to adequately respond to the conflict of interest. If not, the firm may have to decline to provide the service to avoid the conflict of interest.

Registered firms should also have specific procedures for responding to conflicts of interest that involve inside information and for complying with insider trading provisions.

(d) How to disclose a conflict of interest

Registered firms should provide disclosure about material conflicts of interest to their clients if a reasonable investor would expect to be informed about them. When a registered firm provides this disclosure, it should:

- be prominent, specific, clear and meaningful to the client, and
- explain the conflict of interest and how it could affect the service the client is being offered

Registered firms should not:

- provide generic disclosure
- give partial disclosure that could mislead their clients, or
- obscure conflicts of interest in overly detailed disclosure

April 15, 2011 185 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Examples of conflicts of interest

This section describes specific situations where a registrant could be in a conflict of interest and how to manage the conflict.

Relationships with related or connected issuers

When a registered firm trades in, or recommends securities of, a related or connected issuer, it should respond to the resulting conflict of interest by disclosing it to the client.

To provide disclosure about conflicts with related issuers, a registered firm may maintain a list of the related issuers for which it acts as a dealer or adviser. It may make the list available to clients by:

- posting the list on its website and keeping it updated
- providing the list to the client at the time of account opening, or
- explaining to the client at the time of account opening how to contact the firm to request a copy of the list free of charge

The list may include examples of the types of issuers that are related or connected and the nature of the firm's relationship with those issuers. For example, a firm could generally describe the nature of its relationship with an investment fund within a family of investment funds. This would mean that the firm may not have to update the list when a new fund is added to that fund family.

However, this type of disclosure may not meet the expectations of a reasonable investor when a specific conflict with a related or connected issuer arises, for example, when a registered individual recommends a trade in the securities of a related issuer. In these circumstances, a registered firm should provide the client with disclosure about the specific conflict with that issuer. This disclosure should include a description of the nature of the firm's relationship with the issuer.

Like all disclosure, information regarding a conflict with a related or connected issuer should be made available to clients before or at the time of the advice or trade giving rise to the conflict, so that clients have a reasonable amount of time to assess it. Registrants should use their judgment for the best way and time to inform clients about these conflicts. Previous disclosure may no longer be relevant to, or remembered by, a client, while disclosure of the same conflict more than once in a short time may be unnecessary and confusing.

Firms do not have to disclose to clients their relationship with a related or connected issuer that is a mutual fund managed by an affiliate of the firm if the names of the firm and the fund are similar enough that a reasonable person would conclude they are affiliated.

Relationships with other issuers

Firms should assess whether conflicts of interest may arise in relationships with issuers that do not fall within the definitions of related or connected issuers. Examples include non-corporate issuers such as a trust, partnership or special purpose entity or conduit issuing asset-backed commercial paper. This is especially important if a registered firm or its affiliates are involved in sponsoring, manufacturing, underwriting or distributing these securities.

The registered firm should disclose the relationship with these types of issuers if it may give rise to a conflict of interest that a reasonable client would expect to be informed about.

Competing interests of clients

If clients of a registered firm have competing interests, the firm should make reasonable efforts to be fair to all clients. Firms should have internal systems to evaluate the balance of these interests.

For example, a conflict of interest can arise between investment banking clients, who want the highest price, lowest interest rate or best terms in general for their issuances of securities, and retail clients who will buy the product. The firm should consider whether the product meets the needs of retail clients and is competitive with alternatives available in the market.

Individuals who serve on a board of directors

(a) Board of directors of another registered firm

Under section 4.1, a registered individual must not act as a director of another registered firm that is not an affiliate of the individual's sponsoring firm.

April 15, 2011 186 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(b) Board of directors of non registered persons or companies

Section 4.1 does not apply to registered individuals who act as directors of unregistered firms. However, significant conflicts of interest can arise when a registered individual serves on a board of directors. Examples include conflicting fiduciary duties owed to the company and to a registered firm or client, possible receipt of inside information and conflicting demands on the representative's time.

Registered firms should consider controlling the conflict by:

- requiring their representatives to seek permission from the firm to serve on the board of directors of an issuer, and
- having policies for board participation that identify the circumstances where the activity would not be in the best interests of the firm or its clients

The regulator will take into account the potential conflicts of interest that may arise when an individual serves on a board of directors when assessing that individual's application for registration or continuing fitness for registration.

Individuals who have outside business activities

Conflicts can arise when registered individuals are involved in outside business activities, for example, because of the compensation they receive for these activities or because of the nature of the relationship between the individual and the outside entity. Before approving any of these activities, registered firms should consider potential conflicts of interest. If the firm cannot properly control a potential conflict of interest, it should not permit the outside activity.

The regulator will take into account the potential conflicts of interest that may arise as a result of an individual's outside business activities when assessing that individual's application for registration or continuing fitness for registration.

Compensation practices

Registered firms should consider whether any particular benefits, compensation or remuneration practices are inconsistent with their obligations to clients, especially if the firm relies heavily on commission-based remuneration. For example, if there is a complex product that carries a high commission, the firm may decide that it is not appropriate to offer that product.

13.5 Restrictions on certain managed account transactions

Section 13.5 prohibits a registered adviser from engaging in certain transactions in investment portfolios it manages for clients on a discretionary basis where the relationship may give rise to a conflict of interest or a perceived conflict of interest. The prohibited transactions include trades in securities in which a responsible person or an associate of a responsible person may have an interest or over which they may have influence or control.

Disclosure when responsible person is partner, director or officer of issuer

Subsection 13.5(2)(a) prohibits a registered adviser from purchasing securities of an issuer in which a responsible person or an associate of a responsible person is a partner, officer or director for a client's managed account. The prohibition applies unless the conflict is disclosed to the client and the client's written consent is obtained prior to the purchase.

If the client is an investment fund, the disclosure should be provided to, and the consent obtained from, each security holder of the investment fund in order for it to be meaningful. This disclosure may be provided in the offering memorandum that is provided to security holders. Like all disclosure about conflicts, it should be prominent, specific, clear and meaningful to the client. Consent may be obtained in the investment management agreement signed by the clients of the adviser that are also security holders of the investment fund.

This approach may not be practical for prospectus qualified mutual funds. Investment fund managers and advisers of these funds should also consider the specific exemption from the prohibition under section 6.2 of National Instrument 81-107 Independent Review Committee for Investment Funds (NI 81-107) for prospectus-qualified investment funds.

Restrictions on trades with certain investment portfolios

Subsection 13.5(2)(b) prohibits certain trades, including, for example, those between the managed account of a client and the managed account of:

a spouse of the adviser

April 15, 2011 187 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- a trust for which a responsible person is the trustee, or
- a corporation in which a responsible person beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting securities

It also prohibits inter-fund trades. An inter-fund trade occurs when the adviser for an investment fund knowingly directs a trade in portfolio securities to another investment fund that it acts for or instructs the dealer to execute the trade with the other investment fund. Investment fund managers and their advisers should also consider the exemption from the prohibition that exists for inter-fund trades by public investment funds under section 6.1 of NI 81-107.

Section 13.5(2)(b) is not intended to prohibit a responsible person from purchasing units in the investment fund itself, nor is it intended to prohibit one investment fund from purchasing units of another fund in situations where they have the same adviser.

In instances where an IIROC dealer, who is also an adviser to a managed account, trades between its inventory account and the managed account, the dealer is expected to have policies and procedures that sufficiently mitigate the conflicts of interest inherent in such transactions. Generally, we expect these policies and procedures to ensure that:

- the trades achieve best execution as referenced in National Instrument 23-101 Trading Rules, while ensuring that the trades are consistent with the objectives of the managed account
- reasonable steps are taken to access information, including marketplace quotations or quotes provided by arms-length parties, to ensure that the trade is executed at a fair price
- there is appropriate oversight and a compliance mechanism to monitor this trading activity in order to ensure that it
 complies with applicable regulatory requirements, including the requirements referred to above.

13.6 Disclosure when recommending related or connected securities

Section 13.6 restricts the ability of a registered firm to recommend a trade in a security of a related or connected issuer. The restrictions apply to recommendations made in any medium of communication. This includes recommendations in newsletters, articles in general circulation newspapers or magazines, websites, e-mail, Internet chat rooms, bulletin boards, television and radio.

It does not apply to oral recommendations made by registered individuals to their clients. These recommendations are subject to the requirements of section 13.4.

Division 3 Referral arrangements

Division 3 sets out the requirements for permitted referral arrangements. Regulators want to ensure that under any referral arrangements:

- individuals and firms that engage in registerable activities are appropriately registered
- the roles and responsibilities of the parties to the written agreement are clear, including responsibility for compliance with securities legislation, and
- clients are provided with disclosure about the referral arrangement to help them evaluate the referral arrangement and the extent of any conflicts of interest

Registered firms have a responsibility to monitor and supervise all of their referral arrangements to ensure that they comply with the requirements of NI 31-103 and other applicable securities laws and continue to comply for so long as the arrangement remains in place.

Obligations to clients

A client who is referred to an individual or firm becomes the client of that individual or firm for the purposes of the services provided under the referral arrangement.

The registrant receiving a referral must meet all of its obligations as a registrant toward its referred clients, including know your client and suitability determinations.

Registrants involved in referral arrangements should manage any related conflicts of interest in accordance with the applicable provisions of Part 13 Dealing with clients – individuals and firms. For example, if the registered firm is not satisfied that the

April 15, 2011 188 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

referral fee is reasonable, it should assess whether an unreasonably high fee may create a conflict that could motivate its representatives to act contrary to their duties toward their clients.

13.7 Definitions – referral arrangements

Section 13.7 defines "referral arrangement" in broad terms. Referral arrangement means an arrangement in which a registrant agrees to pay or receive a referral fee. The definition is not limited to referrals for providing investment products, financial services or services requiring registration. It also includes receiving a referral fee for providing a client name and contact information to an individual or firm. "Referral fee" is also broadly defined. It includes sharing or splitting any commission resulting from the purchase or sale of a security.

In situations where there is no expectation of reward or compensation, we would not consider the receipt of an unexpected gift of appreciation to fall within the scope of a referral arrangement. One of the key elements of the referral arrangement is that the registrant agrees to pay or receive a referral fee for the referral of a client. This agreement or understanding is absent in the case of unexpected gifts.

13.8 Permitted referral arrangements

Under section 13.8, parties to a referral arrangement are required to set out the terms of the arrangement in a written agreement. This is intended to ensure that each party's roles and responsibilities are made clear. This includes obligations for registered firms involved in referral arrangements to keep records of referral fees. Payments do not necessarily have to go through a registered firm, but a record of all payments related to a referral arrangement must be kept.

We expect referral agreements to include:

- the roles and responsibilities of each party
- limitations on any party that is not a registrant (to ensure that it is not engaging in any activities requiring registration)
- the disclosure to be provided to referred clients, and
- who provides the disclosure to referred clients

If the individual or firm receiving the referral is a registrant, they are responsible for:

- carrying out all activity requiring registration that results from the referral arrangement, and
- communicating with referred clients

Registered firms are required to be parties to referral agreements. This ensures that they are aware of these arrangements so they can adequately supervise their representatives and monitor compliance with the agreements. This does not preclude the individual registrant from also being a party to the agreement.

A party to a referral arrangement may need to be registered depending on the activities that the party carries out. Registrants cannot use a referral arrangement to assign, contract out of or otherwise avoid their regulatory obligations.

13.9 Verifying the qualifications of the person or company receiving the referral

Section 13.9 requires the registrant making a referral to satisfy itself that the party receiving the referral is appropriately qualified to perform the services, and if applicable, is appropriately registered. The registrant is responsible for determining the steps that are appropriate in the particular circumstances. For example, this may include an assessment of the types of clients that the referred services would be appropriate for.

13.10 Disclosing referral arrangements to clients

The disclosure of information to clients required under section 13.10 is intended to help clients make an informed decision about the referral arrangement and to assess any conflicts of interest. The disclosure should be provided to clients before or at the time the referred services are provided. A registered firm, and any registered individuals who are directly participating in the referral arrangement, should take reasonable steps to ensure that clients understand:

- which entity they are dealing with
- what they can expect that entity to provide to them

April 15, 2011 189 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- the registrant's key responsibilities to them
- the limitations of the registrant's registration category
- any relevant terms and conditions imposed on the registrant's registration
- the extent of the referrer's financial interest in the referral arrangement, and
- the nature of any potential or actual conflict of interest that may arise from the referral arrangement

Division 4 Loans and margin

13.12 Restriction on lending to clients

The purpose of section 13.12 is intended to limit the financial exposure of a registered firm. To the extent that products sold to clients are structured in a way that would result in the registrant becoming a lender to the clients, including the registrant extending margin to the client, we would consider the registrant to not be in compliance with section 13.12.

Section 13.12 prohibits registrants from lending money, extending credit or providing margin to clients as we consider that this activity creates a conflict of interest which cannot be easily managed.

We note that SROs are exempt from section 13.12 as they have their own rules or prohibitions on lending, extending credit and providing margin to clients. Direct lending to clients (margin) is reserved for IIROC members. The MFDA has its own rules prohibiting margining and, except in specific limited circumstances, lending.

Division 5 Complaints

Registered firms in Québec must comply with sections 168.1.1 to 168.1.3 of the Québec *Securities Act*, which has provided a substantially similar regime since 2002. The guidance in Division 5 of this Companion Policy applies to firms registered in any jurisdiction, including Québec.

13.15 Handling complaints

General duty to document and respond to complaints

Section 13.15 requires registered firms to document complaints, and to effectively and fairly respond to them. We are of the view that registered firms should document and respond to all complaints received from a client, a former client or a prospective client who has dealt with the registered firm (complainant).

Firms are reminded that they are required to maintain records which demonstrate compliance with complaint handling requirements under subsection 11.5(2)(m).

Complaint handling policies

An effective complaint system should deal with all formal and informal complaints or disputes in a timely and fair manner. To achieve the objective of handling complaints fairly, the firm's complaint system should include standards allowing for objective factual investigation and analysis of the matters specific to the complaint.

We take the view that registered firms should take a balanced approach to the gathering of facts that objectively considers the interests of

- the complainant
- the registered representative, and
- the firm

Registered firms should not limit their consideration and handling of complaints to those relating to possible violations of securities legislation.

April 15, 2011 190 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Complaint monitoring

The firm's complaint handling policy should provide for specific procedures for reporting the complaints to superiors, in order to allow the detection of frequent and repetitive complaints made with respect to the same matter which may, on a cumulative basis, indicate a serious problem. Firms should take appropriate measures to deal with such problems as they arise.

Responding to complaints

Types of complaints

All complaints relating to one of the following matters should be responded to by the firm by providing an initial and substantive response, both in writing and within a reasonable time:

- a trading or advising activity
- a breach of client confidentiality
- theft, fraud, misappropriation or forgery
- misrepresentation
- an undisclosed or prohibited conflict of interest, or
- personal financial dealings with a client

Firms may determine that a complaint relating to matters other than the matters listed above is nevertheless of a sufficiently serious nature to be responded to in the manner described below. This determination should be made, in all cases, by considering if an investor, acting reasonably, would expect a written response to their complaint.

When complaints are not made in writing

We would not expect that complaints relating to matters other than those listed above, when made verbally and when not otherwise considered serious based on an investor's reasonable expectation, would need to be responded to in writing. However, we do expect that verbal complaints be given as much attention as written complaints. If a complaint is made verbally and is not clearly expressed, the firm may request the complainant to put the complaint in writing and we expect firms to offer reasonable assistance to do so.

Firms are entitled to expect the complainant to put unclear verbal issues into written format in order to try to resolve confusion about the nature of the issue. If the verbal complaint is clearly frivolous, we do not expect firms to offer assistance to put the complaint in writing. The firm may nonetheless ask the complainant to put the complaint in writing on his or her own.

Timeline for responding to complaints

Firms should

- promptly send an initial written response to a complainant: we consider that an initial response should be provided to the complainant within five business days of receipt of the complaint
- provide a substantive response to all complaints relating to the matters listed under "Types of complaints" above, indicating the firm's decision on the complaint

We encourage firms to resolve complaints relating to the matters listed above within 90 days.

13.16 Dispute resolution service

A registered firm must ensure that the complainant is aware of the dispute resolution or mediation services that are available to them and that the firm will pay for the services. Registered firms should know all applicable mechanisms and processes for dealing with different types of complaints, including those prescribed by the applicable SRO.

In Québec, registrants must inform each complainant, in writing and without delay, that if the complainant is dissatisfied with how the complaint is handled or with the outcome, they may request the registrant to forward a copy of the complaint file to the Autorité des marchés financiers. The registrant must forward a copy of the complaint file to the Autorité des marchés financiers,

April 15, 2011 191 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

which will examine the complaint. The Autorité des marchés financiers may act as a mediator if it considers it appropriate to do so and the parties agree.

Registrants who do business in other sectors

Some registrants are also registered or licensed to do business in other sectors, such as insurance. These registrants should inform their clients of the complaint mechanisms for each sector in which they do business and how to use them.

Part 14 Handling client accounts - firms

Division 2 Disclosure to clients

Registrants should ensure that clients understand who they are dealing with. They should carry on all registerable activities in their full legal or registered trade name. Contracts, confirmation and account statements, among other documents, should contain the registrant's full legal name.

14.2 Relationship disclosure information

Content of relationship disclosure information

There is no prescribed form for the relationship disclosure information required under section 14.2. A registered firm may provide this information in a single document or in separate documents, which together give the client the prescribed information.

Disclosure of costs

Under subsection 14.2(2)(g), registered firms must provide clients with a description of the costs they will pay in making, holding and selling investments. We expect this description to include all costs a client may pay during the course of holding a particular investment. For example, for a mutual fund, the description should briefly explain each of the following and how they may affect the investment:

- the management expense ratio
- the sales charge options available to the client
- the trailing commission
- any short-term trading fees
- any switch or change fees

Permitted clients

Under subsection 14.2(6), registrants do not have to provide relationship disclosure information to permitted clients if:

- the permitted client has waived the requirements in writing, and
- the registrant does not act as an adviser for a managed account of the permitted client

Promoting client participation

Registered firms should help their clients understand the registrant-client relationship. They should encourage clients to actively participate in the relationship and provide them with clear, relevant and timely information and communications.

In particular, registered firms should encourage clients to:

Keep the firm up to date. Clients should provide full and accurate information to the firm and the registered individuals
acting for the firm. Clients should promptly inform the firm of any change to information that could reasonably result in a
change to the types of investments appropriate for them, such as a change to their income, investment objectives, risk
tolerance, time horizon or net worth.

April 15, 2011 192 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- Be informed. Clients should understand the potential risks and returns on investments. They should carefully review sales literature provided by the firm. Where appropriate, clients should consult professionals, such as a lawyer or an accountant, for legal or tax advice.
- Ask questions. Clients should ask questions and request information from the firm to resolve questions about their
 account, transactions or investments, or their relationship with the firm or a registered individual acting for the firm.
- Stay on top of their investments. Clients should pay for securities purchases by the settlement date. They should review all account documentation provided by the firm and regularly review portfolio holdings and performance.

14.4 When the firm has a relationship with a financial institution

As part of their duty to clients, registrants who have a relationship with a financial institution should ensure that their clients understand which legal entity they are dealing with. In particular, clients may be confused if more than one financial services firm is carrying on business in the same location. Registrants may differentiate themselves through various methods, including signage and disclosure.

Division 3 Client assets

14.6 Holding client assets in trust

Section 14.6 requires a registered firm to segregate client assets and hold them in trust. We consider it prudent for registrants who are not members of an SRO to hold client assets in client name only. This is because the capital requirements for non-SRO members are not designed to reflect the added risk of holding client assets in nominee name.

Division 4 Client accounts

14.10 Allocating investment opportunities fairly

If the adviser allocates investment opportunities among its clients, the firm's fairness policy should, at a minimum, indicate the method used to allocate the following:

- price and commission among client orders when trades are bunched or blocked
- block trades and initial public offerings among client accounts
- block trades and initial public offerings among client orders that are partially filled, such as on a pro-rata basis

The fairness policy should also address any other situation where investment opportunities must be allocated.

Division 5 Account activity reporting

Each trade should be reported in the currency in which it was executed. If a trade is executed in a foreign currency through a Canadian account, the exchange rate should be reported to the client.

14.12 Content and delivery of trade confirmation

Section 14.12 requires registered dealers to deliver trade confirmations. A dealer may enter into an outsourcing arrangement for the sending of trade confirmations to its clients. Like all outsourcing arrangements, the registrant is ultimately responsible for the function and must supervise the service provider. See Part 11 of this Companion Policy for more guidance on outsourcing.

14.14 Account statements

Section 14.14 requires registered dealers and advisers to deliver statements to clients at least once every three months. There is no prescribed form for these statements but they must contain the information in subsections 14.14(4) and (5). The types of transactions that must be disclosed in an account statement include any purchase, sale or transfer of securities, dividend or interest payment received or reinvested, any fee or charge, and any other account activity.

We expect all dealers and advisers to provide client account statements. For example, an exempt market dealer should provide an account statement that contains the information prescribed for all transactions the exempt market dealer has entered into or arranged on a client's behalf.

April 15, 2011 193 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

The requirement to produce and deliver an account statement may be outsourced. Portfolio managers frequently enter into outsourcing arrangements for the production and delivery of account statements. Third-party pricing providers may also be used to value securities for the purpose of account statements. Like all outsourcing arrangements, the registrant is ultimately responsible for the function and must supervise the service provider. See Part 11 of this Companion Policy for more guidance on outsourcing.

April 15, 2011 194 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Appendix A Contact information

Jurisdiction	E-mail	Fax	Address
Alberta	registration@asc.ca	(403) 297-4113	Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250–5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Registration
British Columbia	registration@bcsc.bc.ca	(604) 899-6506	British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2 Attention: Registration
Manitoba	registrationmsc@gov.mb.ca	(204) 945-0330	The Manitoba Securities Commission 500-400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Registrations
New Brunswick	nrs@nbsc-cvmnb.ca	(506) 658-3059	New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Registration Officer
Newfoundland & Labrador	scon@gov.nl.ca	(709) 729-6187	Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services Government of Newfoundland and Labrador P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6 Attention: Registration Section
Northwest Territories	SecuritiesRegistry@gov.nt.ca	(867) 873-0243	Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320 Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9 Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities
Nova Scotia	nrs@gov.ns.ca	(902) 424-4625	Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8 Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets
Nunavut	CorporateRegistrations@gov.nu.ca	(867) 975-6590 (Faxing to NU is unreliable. The preferred method is e- mail.)	Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Iqaluit, NU X0A 0H0 Attention: Deputy Registrar
Ontario	registration@osc.gov.on.ca	(416) 593-8283	Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8 Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

April 15, 2011 195 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Jurisdiction	E-mail	Fax	Address
Prince Edward Island	ccis@gov.pe.ca	(902) 368-6288	Consumer and Corporate Services Division, Office of the Attorney General P.O. Box 2000, 95 Rochford Street Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8 Attention: Superintendent of Securities
Québec	inscription@lautorite.qc.ca	(514) 873-3090	Autorité des marchés financiers Service de l'encadrement des intermédiaires 800 square Victoria, 22e étage C.P 246, Tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3
Saskatchewan	registrationsfsc@gov.sk.ca	(306) 787-5899	Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Registration
Yukon	corporateaffairs@gov.yk.ca	(867) 393-6251	Department of Community Services Yukon Yukon Securities Office P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities

April 15, 2011 196 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Appendix B Terms not defined in NI 31-103 or this Companion Policy

Terms defined in National Instrument 14-101 Definitions:

- adviser registration requirement
- Canadian securities regulatory authority
- dealer registration requirement
- foreign jurisdiction
- jurisdiction or jurisdiction of Canada
- local jurisdiction
- investment fund manager registration requirement
- prospectus requirement
- registration requirement
- regulator
- securities directions
- securities legislation
- securities regulatory authority
- SRO
- underwriter registration requirement

Terms defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions:

- accredited investor
- eligibility adviser
- financial assets

Terms defined in National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds:

money market fund

Terms defined in the Securities Act of most jurisdictions:

- adviser
- associate
- company
- control person
- dealer
- director
- distribution
- exchange contract (BC, AB, SK and NB only)
- insider
- individual
- investment fund
- investment fund manager
- issuer
- mutual fund
- officer
- person
- promoter
- records
- registrant
- reporting issuer
- security
- trade
- underwriter

April 15, 2011 197 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Appendix C Proficiency requirements for individuals acting on behalf of a registered firm

The tables in this Appendix set out the education and experience requirements, by firm registration category, for individuals who are applying for registration under securities legislation.

An individual must not perform an activity that requires registration unless the individual has the education, training and experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently, including, in the case of registered representatives, understanding the structure, features and risks of each security the individual recommends.

CCOs must also not perform an activity set out in section 5.2 unless they have the education, training and experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently.

Acronyms used in the tables

BMP: Branch Manager Proficiency Exam CIM: Canadian Investment Manager designation

CA: Chartered Accountant CSC: Canadian Securities Course Exam

CCO: Chief Compliance Officer **EMP:** Exempt Market Products Exam

CCOQ: Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying IFIC: Investment Funds in Canada Course

Exam

CFA: CFA Charter MFDC: Mutual Funds Dealer Compliance Exam

CGA: Certified General Accountant Exam/Partners, **PDO**: Officers', Partners' and Directors' and Senior Officers

Directors

Course Exam

CMA: Certified Management Accountant SRP: Sales Representative Proficiency Exam

CIF: Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam

Investment dealer				
Dealing representative	ссо			
Proficiency requirements set by IIROC	Proficiency requirements set by IIROC			
Mutual f	und dealer			
Dealing representative	ссо			
One of these five options: 1. CIF 2. CSC 3. IFIC 4. CFA Charter and 12 months of relevant securities industries experience in the 36-months before applying for registration 5. Advising representative requirements – portfolio manager or exempt from these under section 16.10(1)	One of these two options: 1. CIF, CSC or IFIC; and PDO, MFDC or CCOQ 2. CCO requirements – portfolio manager or exempt from these under section 16.9(2)			
Exempt m	arket dealer			
Dealing representative	ссо			
One of these four options:	One of these two options:			

April 15, 2011 198 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- 1. CSC
- 2. EMP
- CFA Charter and 12 months of relevant securities industries experience in the 36-months before applying for registration
- Advising representative requirements portfolio manager or exempt from these under section 16.10(1)

Regulator to determine on a case-by-case basis

1. PDO or CCOQ and EMP or CSC

Regulator to determine on a case-by-case basis

2. CCO requirements – portfolio manager or exempt from these under section 16.9(2)

Scholarship plan dealer

Scholarship plan dealer				
Dealing representative CCO				
SRP	SRP, BMP, and PDO or CCOQ			
Restricted dealer				
Dealing representative	ссо			

Portfolio manager					
Advising representative	Associate advising representative	ссо			
One of these two options:	One of these two options:	One of these three options:			
 CFA and 12 months of relevant investment management experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration CIM and 48 months of relevant investment management experience (12 months gained in the 36-month period before applying for registration) 	Level 1 of the CFA and 24 months of relevant investment management experience CIM and 24 months of relevant investment management experience	 CSC except if the individual has the CFA or CIM designation, PDO or CCOQ, and CFA or a professional designation as a lawyer, CA, CGA, CMA, notary in Quebec or the equivalent in a foreign jurisdiction, and: 36 months of relevant securities experience working at an investment dealer, registered adviser or investment fund manager, or 36 months providing professional services to the securities industry and 12 months working at a registered dealer, registered adviser or investment fund manager, for a total of 48 months CSC except if the individual has the CFA or CIM designation, PDO or CCOQ and five years working at: an investment dealer or a registered adviser (including 36 months in a compliance capacity), or a Canadian financial institution in a compliance capacity relating to portfolio management and 12 months at a registered dealer or registered adviser, for a total of six years 			

April 15, 2011 199 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

		PDO or CCOQ and advising representative requirements – portfolio manager		
Restricted portfolio manager				
Advising representative	Associate advising representative	ссо		
Regulator to determine on case-by- case basis	Regulator to determine on case-by- case basis	Regulator to determine on case-by- case basis		
Investment fund manager				
ссо				

One of these three options:

- 1. CSC except if the individual has the CFA or CIM designation, PDO or CCOQ, and CFA or a professional designation as a lawyer, CA, CGA, CMA, notary in Quebec or the equivalent in a foreign jurisdiction, and:
 - 36 months of relevant securities experience working at a registered dealer, registered adviser or investment fund manager, or
 - 36 months providing professional services in the securities industry and 12 months working in a relevant capacity at an investment fund manager, for a total of 48 months
- 2. CIF, CSC or IFIC; PDO or CCOQ and five years of relevant securities experience working at a registered dealer, registered adviser or an investment fund manager (including 36 months in a compliance capacity)
- 3. CCO requirements for portfolio manager or exempt from these requirements under section 16.9(2)

April 15, 2011 200 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 33-109 REGISTRATION INFORMATION

PART 1 – DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions – In this Instrument

"cessation date" means the first day on which an individual ceased to have authority to act as a registered individual on behalf of their sponsoring firm or ceased to be a permitted individual of their sponsoring firm, because of the end of, or a change in, the individual's employment, partnership, or agency relationship with the firm;

"firm" means a person or company that is registered, or is seeking registration, as a dealer, adviser or investment fund manager;

"Form 33-109F1" means Form 33-109F1 Notice of Termination of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals;

"Form 33-109F2" means Form 33-109F2 Change or Surrender of Individual Categories;

"Form 33-109F3" means Form 33-109F3 Business Locations other than Head Office;

"Form 33-109F4" means Form 33-109F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals;

"Form 33-109F5" means Form 33-109F5 Change of Registration Information;

"Form 33-109F6" means Form 33-109F6 Firm Registration;

"Form 33-109F7" means Form 33-109F7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals;

"former sponsoring firm" means the registered firm for which an individual most recently acted as a registered individual or permitted individual;

"NRD submission number" means the unique number generated by NRD to identify each NRD submission;

"permitted individual" means an individual who is

- (a) a director, chief executive officer, chief financial officer, or chief operating officer of a firm, or who performs the functional equivalent of any of those positions, or
- (b) an individual who has beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, 10 percent or more of the voting securities of a firm;

"principal jurisdiction" means,

- (a) for a firm, whose head office is in Canada, the jurisdiction of Canada in which the firm's head office is located.
- (b) for an individual whose working office is in Canada, the jurisdiction of Canada in which the individual's working office is located,
- (c) for a firm whose head office is outside Canada, the jurisdiction of the firm's principal regulator, as identified by the firm on its most recently submitted Form 33-109F5 or Form 33-109F6, and
- (d) for an individual whose working office is outside Canada, the principal jurisdiction of the individual's sponsoring firm;

"principal regulator" means, for a person or company, the securities regulatory authority or regulator of the person or company's principal jurisdiction;

"registered firm" means a registered dealer, registered adviser or registered investment fund manager;

"registered individual" means an individual who is registered under securities legislation to do any of the following on behalf of a registered firm:

April 15, 2011 201 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser;
- (b) act as a chief compliance officer;
- (c) act as an ultimate designated person;

"sponsoring firm" means,

- (a) for a registered individual, the registered firm on whose behalf the individual acts,
- (b) for an individual applying for registration, the firm on whose behalf the individual will act if the individual's application is approved,
- (c) for a permitted individual of a registered firm, the registered firm, and
- (d) for a permitted individual of a firm that is applying for registration, the applicant firm.
- **1.2** Interpretation Terms used in this Instrument and that are defined in National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database have the same meanings as in National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.

PART 2 – APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION AND REVIEW OF PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS

- **2.1 Firm Registration** A firm that applies for registration as a dealer, adviser or investment fund manager must submit each of the following to the regulator:
 - (a) a completed Form 33-109F6;
 - (b) for each business location of the applicant in the local jurisdiction other than the applicant's head office, a completed Form 33-109F3 in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.

2.2 Individual Registration

- (1) Subject to subsection (2) and sections 2.4 and 2.6, an individual who applies for registration under securities legislation must submit a completed Form 33-109F4 to the regulator in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.
- (2) A permitted individual of a registered firm who applies to become a registered individual with the firm must submit a completed Form 33-109F2 to the regulator in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 *National Registration Database*.

2.3 Reinstatement

- (1) An individual who applies for reinstatement of registration under securities legislation must submit a completed Form 33-109F4 to the regulator in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database, unless the individual submits a completed Form 33-109F7 in accordance with subsection (2).
- (2) The registration of an individual suspended under section 6.1 [If an individual ceases to have authority to act for firm] of National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations is reinstated on the date the individual submits a completed Form 33-109F7 to the regulator in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the Form 33-109F7 is submitted on or before the 90th day after the cessation date;
 - (b) the individual's employment, partnership or agency relationship with the former sponsoring firm did not end because the individual was asked by the firm to resign, resigned voluntarily or was dismissed, following an allegation against the individual of any of the following:
 - (i) criminal activity;
 - (ii) a breach of securities legislation;

April 15, 2011 202 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (iii) a breach of a rule of an SRO;
- (c) after the cessation date there have been no changes to the information previously submitted in respect of any of the following items of the individual's Form 33-109F4:
 - (i) item 13 [Regulatory disclosure];
 - (ii) item 14 [Criminal disclosure];
 - (iii) item 15 [Civil disclosure];
 - (iv) item 16 [Financial disclosure];
- (d) the individual is seeking reinstatement with a sponsoring firm in the same category of registration in which the individual was registered on the cessation date;
- (e) the new sponsoring firm is registered in the same category of registration in which the individual's former sponsoring firm was registered.
- **2.4 Application to Change or Surrender Individual Registration Categories** A registered individual who applies for registration in an additional category, or to surrender a registration category, must make the application by submitting a completed Form 33-109F2 to the regulator in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 *National Registration Database*.

2.5 Permitted Individuals

- (1) A permitted individual must submit a completed Form 33-109F4 to the regulator, in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 *National Registration Database*, no more than 10 days after becoming a permitted individual, unless the individual submits a Form 33-109F7 in accordance with subsection (2).
- (2) An individual who has ceased to be a permitted individual of a former sponsoring firm and becomes a permitted individual of a new sponsoring firm may submit a completed Form 33-109F7 to the regulator if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the Form 33-109F7 is submitted in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database
 - (i) no more than 10 days after becoming a permitted individual of the new sponsoring firm, and
 - (ii) no more than 90 days after the cessation date;
 - (b) the individual holds the same permitted individual status with the new sponsoring firm that they held with the former sponsoring firm;
 - (c) the conditions described in paragraphs (b) and (c) of subsection 2.3(2) are met.

2.6 Commodity Futures Act Registrants

- (1) In Manitoba and Ontario, despite subsection 2.1(b), if a firm applies for registration under section 2.1 and is registered under the *Commodity Futures Act*, the applicant is not required to submit a completed Form 33-109F3 under section 3.2 for any business location of the applicant that is recorded on NRD.
- (2) In Manitoba and Ontario, despite subsection 2.2(1), if an individual applies for registration under securities legislation and is recorded on NRD with his or her sponsoring firm as registered under the *Commodity Futures Act*, the individual must make the application by submitting a completed Form 33-109F2 to the regulator in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 *National Registration Database*.

PART 3 – CHANGES TO REGISTERED FIRM INFORMATION

3.1 Notice of Change to a Firm's Information

(1) Subject to subsections (3) or (4), a registered firm must notify the regulator of a change to any information previously submitted in Form 33-109F6 or under this subsection, as follows:

April 15, 2011 203 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) for a change previously submitted in relation to part 3 of Form 33-109F6, within 30 days of the change;
- (b) for a change previously submitted in relation to any other part of Form 33-109F6, within 10 days of the change.
- (2) A notice of change referred to in subsection (1) must be made by submitting a completed Form 33-109F5.
- (3) A notice of change is not required under subsection (1) if the change relates to any of the following:
 - (a) a business location other than the head office of the firm if the firm submits a completed Form 33-109F3 under section 3.2;
 - (b) a termination, or a change, of a registered firm's employment, partnership or agency relationship with an officer, partner or director of the registered firm if the firm submits a completed Form 33-109F1 under subsection 4.2(1):
 - (c) the addition of an officer, partner, or director to the registered firm if that individual submits either of the following:
 - (i) a completed Form 33-109F4 under subsection 2.2(1) or 2.5(1);
 - (ii) a completed Form 33-109F7 under subsection 2.3(2) or 2.5(2);
 - (d) the information in the supporting documents referred to in any of the following items of Form 33-109F6:
 - (i) item 3.3 [Business documents];
 - (ii) item 5.1 [Calculation of excess working capital];
 - (iii) item 5.7 [Directors' resolution for insurance];
 - (iv) item 5.13 [Audited financial statements];
 - (v) item 5.14 [Letter of direction to auditors].
- (4) A person or company that submitted a completed Schedule B [Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service] to Form 33-109F6 must notify the regulator of a change to the information previously submitted in item 3 [Name of agent for service of process] or item 4 [Address for service of process on the agent for service] of that schedule, by submitting a completed Schedule B no more than 10 days after the change;
- (5) Subsection (4) does not apply to a person or company after they have ceased to be registered for a period of 6 years or more.
- (6) For the purpose of subsections (2) and (4), the person or company may give the notice by submitting it to the principal regulator.
- 3.2 Changes to Business Locations A registered firm must notify the regulator of the opening of a business location, other than a new head office, or of a change to any information previously submitted in Form 33-109F3, by submitting a completed Form 33-109F3 to the regulator in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database, within 10 days of the opening of the business location or change.

PART 4 - CHANGES TO REGISTERED INDIVIDUAL AND PERMITTED INDIVIDUAL INFORMATION

4.1 Notice of Change to an Individual's Information

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), a registered individual or permitted individual must notify the regulator of a change to any information previously submitted in respect of the individual's Form 33-109F4 as follows:
 - (a) for a change of information previously submitted in items 4 [Citizenship] and 11 [Previous employment] of Form 33-109F4, within 30 days of the change;

April 15, 2011 204 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) for a change of information previously submitted in any other items of Form 33-109F4, within 10 days of the change.
- (2) A notice of change is not required under subsection (1) if the change relates to information previously submitted in item 3 [*Personal information*] of Form 33-109F4.
- (3) A notice of change under subsection (1) must be made by submitting a completed Form 33-109F5 to the regulator in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 *National Registration Database*.
- (4) Despite subsection (3), a notice of change referred to in subsection (1) must be made by submitting a completed Form 33-109F2 to the regulator in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database, if the change relates to:
 - (a) an individual's status as a permitted individual of the sponsoring firm;
 - (b) the removal or the addition of a category of registration;
 - (c) the surrender of registration in one or more non-principal jurisdictions.

4.2 Termination of Employment, Partnership or Agency Relationship

- (1) A registered firm must notify the regulator of the end of, or a change in, a sponsored individual's employment, partnership, or agency relationship with the firm if the individual ceases to have authority to act on behalf of the firm as a registered individual or permitted individual by submitting a Form 33-109F1 to the regulator in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database with
 - (a) items 1 through 4 completed, and
 - (b) item 5 completed unless the reason for termination under item 4 was death of the individual.
- (2) A registered firm must submit to the regulator the information required under
 - (a) subsection (1)(a), within 10 days of the cessation date, and
 - (b) subsection (1)(b), within 30 days of the cessation date.
- (3) A registered firm must, within 10 days of a request from an individual for whom the registered firm was the former sponsoring firm, provide to the individual a copy of the Form 33-109F1 that the registered firm submitted under subsection (1) in respect of that individual.
- (4) If a registered firm completed and submitted the information in item 5 of a Form 33-109F1 in respect of an individual who made a request under subsection (3) and that information was not included in the initial copy provided to the individual, the registered firm must provide to that individual a further copy of the completed Form 33-109F1, including the information in item 5, within the later of
 - (a) 10 days after the request by the individual under subsection (3), and
 - (b) 10 days after the submission pursuant to subsection (2)(b).

PART 5 - DUE DILIGENCE AND RECORD-KEEPING

5.1 Sponsoring Firm Obligations

- (1) A sponsoring firm must make reasonable efforts to ensure the truth and completeness of information that is submitted in accordance with this Instrument for any individual.
- (2) A sponsoring firm must obtain from each individual who is registered to act on behalf of the firm, or who is a permitted individual of the firm, a copy of the Form 33-109F1 most recently submitted by the individual's former sponsoring firm in respect of that individual, if any, within 60 days of the firm becoming the individual's sponsoring firm.
- (3) A sponsoring firm must retain all documents used by the firm to satisfy its obligation under subsection (1) as follows:

April 15, 2011 205 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) in the case of a registered individual, for no less than 7 years after the individual ceases to be registered to act on behalf of the firm;
- (b) in the case of an individual who applied for registration but whose registration was refused by the regulator, for no less than 7 years after the individual applied for registration; or
- (c) in the case of a permitted individual, for no less than 7 years after the individual ceases to be a permitted individual with the firm.
- (4) Without limiting subsection (3), if a registered individual, an individual applying for registration, or a permitted individual appoints an agent for service, the sponsoring firm must keep the original Appointment of Agent for Service executed by the individual for the period of time set out in paragraph (3)(b).
- (5) A sponsoring firm that retains a document under subsection (3) or (4) in respect of an NRD submission must record the NRD submission number on the first page of the document.

PART 6 - TRANSITION

- **All Registered Firms to File Form 33-109F6 September 30, 2010** A registered firm that was registered before September 28, 2009 must submit a completed Form 33-109F6 to the regulator on or before September 30, 2010.
- 6.2 Notice of Change for Firms Registered before September 28, 2009
 - (1) In this section, "Form 3" means the form that a firm submitted before this Instrument came into force to apply for registration as a dealer, adviser or underwriter in the jurisdiction that, at the time the application was made, would have been the firm's principal jurisdiction under this Instrument.
 - (2) Subject to subsection (5), a registered firm that was first registered in a jurisdiction of Canada before this Instrument came into force and that has not submitted a completed Form 33-109F6 to the regulator, must notify the regulator of a change to any information previously submitted
 - in a notice of agent and address for service, by submitting to the regulator a completed Schedule B to Form 33-109F6, no more than 10 days after the change;
 - (b) in Form 3 or in any notice of change to information in that form submitted to the regulator, as follows:
 - (i) for a change of information equivalent to the information referred to in part 3 of Form 33-109F6, within 30 days of the change;
 - (ii) for a change of information equivalent to the information referred to in any other part of Form 33-109F6, within 10 days of the change.
 - (3) A registered firm referred to in subsection (2) must notify the regulator of a change in its auditor or financial year-end within 10 days of the change.
 - (4) For the purpose of subsections (2) and (3) the firm may give the notice by submitting it to the principal regulator.
 - (5) A notice of change is not required under subsection (2) if the change relates to any of the following:
 - the addition of an officer, partner, or director to the registered firm if that individual
 - (i) submits a completed Form 33-109F4 under subsection 2.2(1) or 2.5(1), or
 - (ii) submits a completed Form 33-109F7 under subsection 2.3(2) or 2.5(2);
 - (b) a termination, or a change, of a registered firm's employment, partnership or agency relationship with an officer, partner or director of the registered firm if the firm submits a completed Form 33-109F1 under subsection 4.2(1);
 - (c) a business location other than the head office of the firm if the firm submits a completed Form 33-109F3 under section 3.2:

April 15, 2011 206 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(d) information equivalent to the information referred to in section 3.1(3)(d).

6.3 National Registration Database Transition Period

- (1) In this section, "NRD access date" means the first day following September 25, 2009 that an NRD filer has access to NRD to make NRD submissions.
- (2) A notice submitted by an NRD filer before September 25, 2009, and not accepted or denied by the regulator by that date, must be resubmitted, as if the time required for the submission had fallen within the period commencing on September 25, 2009 and ending on the day before the NRD access date, in accordance with subsections (3), (4) and (6) as applicable.
- (3) Except in the case of a notice referred to in subsection (4), if the time required for making either of the following submissions falls within the period commencing on September 25, 2009 and ending on the day before the NRD access date, the time for making the submission is extended to the 45th day following the NRD access date:
 - (a) a notice that is required to be submitted in NRD format;
 - (b) a Form 33-109F4 that is required to be submitted under subsection 2.5(1).
- (4) If the time required for making either of the following submissions falls within the period commencing on September 25, 2009 and ending on the day before the NRD access date, the submission must be made other than through the NRD website:
 - (a) a notice referred to in subsection 4.1(1) if the change relates to previously submitted information about any of the following items of the individual's Form 33-109F4:
 - (i) item 14 [Criminal disclosure];
 - (ii) item 15 [Civil disclosure];
 - (iii) item 16 [Financial disclosure];
 - (b) a notice of termination referred to in subsection 4.2(1) from a former sponsoring firm, within the time required under subsection 4.2(2), if the individual's employment, partnership or agency relationship with the firm ended because the individual resigned or was dismissed for cause.
- (5) From September 28, 2009 to the day before the NRD access date, an individual may submit any of the following to the regulator other than through the NRD website:
 - (a) Form 33-109F7;
 - (b) Form 33-109F2;
 - (c) Form 33-109F4 other than under subsection 2.5(1).
- (6) If an NRD filer makes a submission other than through the NRD website under subsection (4) or (5), the NRD filer must resubmit the information in NRD format to the regulator as follows:
 - (a) for a Form 33-109F7 submitted under paragraph (5)(a),
 - (i) if the cessation date was on or after September 28, 2009, by submitting a completed Form 33-109F7 no later than 30 days after the NRD access date;
 - (ii) if the cessation date was before September 28, 2009, by submitting a completed Form 33-109F4 no later than 30 days after the NRD access date;
 - (b) for any other submission no later than 30 days after the NRD access date.

April 15, 2011 207 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

6.4 Transition – Reinstatement under Subsections 2.3(2) and 2.5(2)

- (1) Despite subsection 2.3(2), from the NRD access date to December 28, 2009 an individual who seeks reinstatement of registration under subsection 2.3(2) must submit a completed Form 33-109F4 to the regulator in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 *National Registration Database*, if the cessation date occurred before September 28, 2009.
- (2) For greater certainty, the registration of an individual who makes a submission under subsection (1) is reinstated in accordance with subsection 2.3(2) only if all of the conditions in paragraphs (a) through (e) of subsection 2.3(2) are met.
- (3) Subsection 2.5(2) does not apply to a permitted individual whose cessation date occurred before September 28, 2009.

PART 7 - EXEMPTION

7.1 Exemption

- (1) The regulator or the securities regulatory authority may grant an exemption from this Instrument, in whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the exemption.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), in Ontario, only the regulator may grant such an exemption.
- (3) Except in Ontario, an exemption referred to in subsection (1) is granted under the statute referred to in Appendix B of National Instrument 14-101 *Definitions*, opposite the name of the local jurisdiction.

PART 8 – REPEAL AND EFFECTIVE DATE

- **8.1** Repeal National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information, which came into force on February 14, 2003, is repealed.
- **8.2 Effective Date** This Instrument comes into force on the day National Instrument 31-103 *Registration Requirements and Exemptions* comes into force.

April 15, 2011 208 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 33-109F1 NOTICE OF TERMINATION OF REGISTERED INDIVIDUALS AND PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS (section 4.2)

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Complete and submit this form to notify the relevant regulator(s) or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, or self-regulatory organization (SRO) that a registered individual or permitted individual has left their sponsoring firm or has ceased to act in a registerable capacity or as a permitted individual.

Terms

In this form, "cessation date" (or "effective date of termination") means the first day on which an individual ceased to have authority to act as a registered individual on behalf of their sponsoring firm or ceased to be a permitted individual of their sponsoring firm, because of the end of, or a change in, the individual's employment, partnership, or agency relationship with the firm.

How to submit the form

Submit this form at the National Registration Database (NRD) website in NRD format at www.nrd.ca.

If you are relying on the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of National Instrument 31-102 [National Registration Database], you may submit this form in a format other than NRD format.

When to submit the form

You must submit the responses to Item 1, Item 2, Item 3 and Item 4 within 10 days of the effective date of termination.

If you are required to complete Item 5, you must submit those responses within 30 days of the termination date. If you are submitting the responses to Item 5, in NRD format, after Items 1 to 4 have been submitted at NRD, use the NRD submission type called "Update/Correct Termination Information" to complete Item 5 of this form.

Item 1	Terminating firm	
1.	Name	
2.	NRD number	
Item 2	Terminated individual	
1.	Name	
2.	NRD number	
Item 3	Business location of the terminated individual	
1.	Address	
2.	NRD number	
Item 4	Date and reason for termination	
1.	Cessation date / Effective date of termination	(YYYY/MM/DD)
	This is the first day that the individual ceased to have ceased to be a permitted individual.	e authority to act in a registerable capacity on behalf of the firm or
2.	Reason for termination / cessation (check one):	
	Resigned - voluntary	
	Resigned - at the firm's request	

April 15, 2011 209 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

		Dismissed in good standing			
		Dismissed for cause			
		Completed temporary employment contract			
		Retired			
		Deceased			
		Other			
Ite	m 5	Details about the termination			
Со	mple	te Item 5 except where the individual is deceased.	In the space below:		
•	stat	e the reason(s) for the cessation / termination and			
•	pro	vide details if the answer to any of the following qu	estions is "Yes".		
[Fc	r NR	D Format only:]			
		This information will be disclosed within 30 days of	of the effective date of termination		
		Not applicable: individual is deceased			
An	swer	the following questions to the best of the firm's known	owledge.		
		In the past 12 months:		Yes	No
1.		Was the individual charged with any criminal offe	nco?	162	INO
•		was the individual charged with any chillinal one	nice :		
2.		Was the individual the subject of any investigation	n by any securities or		
		financial industry regulator?			
3.		Was the individual subject to any significant inter			
		firm or at any affiliate of the firm related to the ind	ividual's activity as a registrant?		
4.		Were there any written complaints, civil claims ar			
		against the individual or against the firm about the activities that occurred while the individual was re			
		individual authorized to act on behalf of the firm?			
5.		Does the individual have any undischarged finance	cial obligations to clients of the firm?		_
6.		Has the firm or any affiliate of the firm suffered significant its reputation as a result of the individual's actions			
7.		Did the firm or any affiliate of the firm investigate material violations of fiduciary duties, regulatory r			
		policies and procedures of the firm or any affiliate making unsuitable trades or investment recomme			
		client money or securities, hiding losses from clie money laundering, deliberately making false repr	nts, forging client signatures,		
		undisclosed outside business activity.			П

April 15, 2011 210 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

_			
Form	22.	.1na	E1.

8.	Did the individual repeatedly fail to follow compliance policies and procedures of the firm or any affiliate of the firm?					
9.	Did the individual engage in discretionary management of client accounts or otherwise engage in registerable activity without appropriate registration or without the firm's authorization?					
Reasons	s/Details:					
Item 6	[repealed]					
Item 7	Warning					
	offence under securities legislation and/or derivatives legislation, including com se or misleading information on this form.	modity futures l	egislation to			
Item 8	Certification					
Certifica	ation-NRD format:					
	I am making this submission as agent for the firm. By checking this box, I certify that the firm provided me with all of the information on this form.					
Certifica	ation-Format other than NRD format:					
	ng below I certify to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in this form for the firm, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:	n each jurisdictior	n where I am			
•	I have read this form and understand the questions, and					
•	all of the information provided on this form is true and complete.					
Name of	firm					
Name of	authorized signing officer or partner					
Title of a	uthorized signing officer or partner					
Signatur	Signature of authorized signing officer or partner					
Date sig	ned(YYYY/MM/DD)					

April 15, 2011 211 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule A [repealed]

FORM 33-109F2 CHANGE OR SURRENDER OF INDIVIDUAL CATEGORIES (section 2.2(2), 2.4, 2.6(2) or 4.1(4))

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Complete and submit this form to notify the relevant regulator(s) or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, or self-regulatory organization (SRO) that a registered individual or permitted individual seeks to add and/or remove individual registration categories or permitted activities.

Terms

In this form, "you", "your" and "individual" mean the registered individual or permitted individual who is seeking to add and/or remove registration categories or permitted activities.

How to submit this form

Submit this form at the National Registration Database (NRD) website in NRD format at www.nrd.ca.

If you are relying on the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of National Instrument 31-102, you may submit this form in a format other than NRD format.

Item 1	Individual			
Name of	individual			
NRD nu	NRD number of individual			
Item 2 1.	Registration jurisdictions Are you filing this form under the passport system / interface for registration?			
	Choose "no" if you are registered in:			
	 (a) only one jurisdiction in Canada (b) more than one jurisdiction in Canada and you are requesting a surrender in a non-principal jurisdiction or jurisdictions, but not in your principal jurisdiction (c) more than one jurisdiction in Canada and you are requesting a change only in your principal jurisdiction 			
	Yes No			
2.	Check each jurisdiction where you are seeking the change or surrender of individual categories of registration.			
	Alberta British Columbia Manitoba New Brunswick Newfoundland and Labrador Northwest Territories Nova Scotia Nunavut Ontario Prince Edward Island Québec Saskatchewan Yukon			
Item 3	Removing categories			
What ca	tegories are you seeking to remove?			

April 15, 2011 213 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 4	Adding categories				
1.	Categories				
What ca	ategories are you seeking to add?				
2.	Professional liability insurance (Québec mutual fund dealers and Québec scholarship plan dealers)				
	re seeking registration as a representative of a mutual fund dealer or of a scholarship plan dealer in Québec, are you by your sponsoring firm's professional liability insurance?				
Yes	□ No □				
If "No",	state:				
The nar	ne of your insurer				
Your po	licy number				
3.	Relevant securities industry experience				
	ave not been registered in the last 36 months and you passed the required examination more than 36 months ago, do sider that you have gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience during the 36 month period?				
Yes	□ No □ N/A □				
If you a	re an individual applying for IIROC approval, select "Not Applicable" above.				
If "yes",	complete Schedule A.				
Item 5	Reason for surrender				
If you a	re seeking to remove a category or permitted activity, state the reason for the surrender in the local jurisdiction.				

Item 6 Notice of collection and use of personal information

The personal information required under this form is collected on behalf of, and used by, the securities regulatory authorities in the jurisdictions set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce certain provisions of their securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both.

The personal information required under this form is also collected by and used by the SROs set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce their respective by-laws, regulations, rules, rulings and policies.

By submitting this form, the individual consents to the collection by the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO of this personal information, and any police records, records from other government or non-governmental regulators or SROs, credit records and employment records about the individual that the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO may need to complete their review of the information submitted in this form relating to the individual's continued fitness for registration or approval, if applicable, in accordance with the legal authority of the securities regulatory authorities while the individual is registered with or approved by it. Securities regulatory authorities or SROs may contact government and private bodies or agencies, individuals, corporations and other organizations for information about the individual.

If you have any questions about the collection and use of this information, contact the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO in any jurisdiction in which the required information is submitted. See Schedule A for details. In Québec, you can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouv.qc.ca.

Item 7 Warning

It is an offence under securities legislation and/or derivatives legislation, including commodity futures legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.

April 15, 2011 214 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 8 Certification

0	rtific	ation	-NRD	forn	aat:
L	er corre	alion		10111	141.

(YYYY/MM/DD)

best of	my knowledge and belief, the officer, branch manager or supervisor was satisfied that I fully understood the questions. It my activities to those permitted by my category of registration.				
	I am making this submission as agent for the individual identified in this form. By checking this box, I certify that the individual provided me with all of the information on this form.				
Certific	ation-Format other than NRD format:				
By sign	ing below:				
1.	I certify to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:				
	 I have read this form and understand the questions, and all of the information provided on this form is true, and complete. 				
2.	I confirm I have discussed the questions in this form with an officer, branch manager or supervisor of my sponsoring firm. To the best of my knowledge and belief, the officer, branch manager or supervisor was satisfied that I fully understood the questions. I will limit my activities to those permitted by my category of registration.				
Signatu	re of individual				
Date sig	gned				

By signing below, I certify to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form for the individual, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:

- 1. the individual identified in this form will be engaged by the firm as a registered individual, or a non registered individual, and
- 2. I have, or a branch manager or supervisor or another officer or partner has, discussed the questions set out in this form with the individual. To the best of my knowledge and belief, the individual fully understands the questions.

Name of firm
Name of authorized signing officer or partner
Title of authorized signing officer or partner
Signature of authorized signing officer or partner
Date signed
(YYYY/MM/DD)

April 15, 2011 215 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE A Relevant securities industry experience (Item 4)

Describe your responsibilities in areas relating to the category you are applying for, including the title(s) you have held, as we as start and end dates:
What is the percentage of your time devoted to these activities?
%
Indicate the continuing education activities which you have participated in during the last 36 months and which are relevant the category of registration you are applying for:

April 15, 2011 216 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule B **Contact information for** Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142. Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6 Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903. Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division

P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2

Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9

Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

April 15, 2011 217 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 33-109F3 BUSINESS LOCATIONS OTHER THAN HEAD OFFICE (section 3.2)

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Complete and submit this form to notify the relevant regulator(s) or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, or self-regulatory organization (SRO) that a business location has opened or closed, or information about a business location has changed.

Check of	one of the following and complete the entire form:				
	Opening this business location				
	Closing this business location				
	Change to the information previously submitted about this business location. Clearly specify the information that has changed.				
	submit this form this form at the National Registration Database (NRD) website in NRD format at www.nrd.ca.				
	are relying on the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of National Instrument 31-102, you this form in a format other than NRD format.	u may complete and			
Item 1	Type of business location				
Branch	or Business Location				
Sub-bra	anch				
Item 2	Supervisor or branch manager				
Name o	of designated supervisor or branch manager	_			
NRD nu	umber of the designated supervisor or branch manager	_			
Item 3	Business location information				
Busines	ss address	_			
Mailing	address (if different from business address)	_			
Telepho	one number ()				
Fax nun	mber ()				

Item 4 Notice of collection and use of personal information

The personal information required under this form is collected on behalf of, and used by, the securities regulatory authorities in the jurisdictions set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce certain provisions of their securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both.

The personal information required under this form is also collected by and used by the SROs set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce their respective by-laws, regulations, rules, rulings and policies.

By submitting this form, the individual consents to the collection by the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO of this personal information, and any police records, records from other government or non-governmental regulators or SROs, credit records and employment records about the individual that the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO may need to complete their review of the information submitted in this form relating to the individual's continued fitness for registration or approval, if applicable, in accordance with the legal authority of the securities regulatory authorities while the individual is

April 15, 2011 218 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

registered with or approved by it. Securities regulatory authorities or SROs may contact government and private bodies or agencies, individuals, corporations and other organizations for information about the individual.

If you have any questions about the collection and use of this information, contact the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO in any jurisdiction in which the required information is submitted. See Schedule A for details. In Québec, you can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouv.gc.ca.

Item 5 Warning

It is an offence under securities legislation and/or derivatives legislation, including commodity futures legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.

Item 6 Certification

Certification-NRD format:

□ I am making this submission as agent for the firm. By checking this box, I certify that the firm provided me with all of the information on this form.

Certification-Format other than NRD format:

By signing below, I certify to the securities regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form for the firm, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:

- I have read this form and understand the questions, and
- all of the information provided on this form is true, and complete.

Name of firm
Name of authorized signing officer or partner
Title of authorized signing officer or partner
Signature of authorized signing officer or partner
Date signed(YYYY/MM/DD)

April 15, 2011 219 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule A **Contact information for** Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142. Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6 Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903. Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division

P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2

Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer

Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

FORM 33-109F4 REGISTRATION OF INDIVIDUALS AND REVIEW OF PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS (section 2.2)

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Complete and submit this form to the relevant regulator(s) or in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, or self-regulatory organization (SRO) if an individual is seeking registration in individual categories or is seeking to be reviewed as a permitted individual. You only need to complete and submit one of this form regardless of the number of categories you are seeking to be registered in.

Terms

In this form, "you", "your" and "individual" mean the individual who is seeking registration or the individual who is filing this form as a permitted individual under securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both.

"Sponsoring firm" means the registered firm where you will carry out your duties as a registered or permitted individual.

"Derivatives" means financial instruments, such as futures contracts (including exchange traded contracts), futures options and swaps whose market price, value or payment obligations are derived from, or based on, one or more underlying interests. Derivatives can be in the form of instruments, agreements or securities.

"Major shareholder" and "shareholder" mean a shareholder who, in total, directly or indirectly owns voting securities carrying 10 per cent or more of the votes carried by all outstanding voting securities.

"Approved person" means, in respect of a member (Member) of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC), an individual who is a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of a Member who is approved by the IIROC or another Canadian SRO to perform any function required under any IIROC or another Canadian SRO By-law, Regulation, or Policy.

Several terms used in this form are defined in the securities legislation of your province or territory. Please refer to those definitions.

How to submit this form

NRD format

Submit this form at the National Registration Database (NRD) website in NRD format at www.nrd.ca. You are only required to submit one form regardless of the number of registration categories you are seeking. If you have any questions, contact the compliance, registration or legal department of the sponsoring firm or a legal adviser with securities regulation experience, or visit the NRD information website at www.nrd-info.ca.

Format, other than NRD format

If you are relying on the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database, you may submit this form in a format other than NRD format.

If you need more space, use a separate sheet of paper. Clearly identify the Item and question number. Complete and sign the form, and send it to the relevant regulator(s) or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, SRO (s) or similar authority. The number of originally signed copies of the form you are required to submit depends on the province or territory, and on the regulator, the securities regulatory authority or SRO.

To avoid delays in processing this form, be sure to answer all of the questions that apply to you. If you have questions, contact the compliance, registration or legal department of the sponsoring firm or a legal adviser with securities regulation experience, or visit the National Registration Database information website at www.nrd-info.ca.

April 15, 2011 221 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 1	Name					
1.	Legal ı	name				
Last na	me		First name	Second name (N/A □)	Third name (N/A □)	
NRD nu	umber (if	applica	ble)			
2.	Other	person	al names			
	u currentl es due to			own by any names other than your f	ull legal name above, for example, nicknames	
Yes		No				
If "yes",	complet	e Sched	dule A.			
3.	Use of	other	names			
				perated under, or carried on busin or sole proprietorships or team name	ess under any name other than the name(s) as?	
Yes		No				
If "yes",	complet	e Sched	dule A.			
Item 2	Reside	ential ac	ddress			
Provide	all of yo	ur resid	ential addresses, inclu	ding any foreign residential address	es, for the past 10 years.	
1.	Curren	t and p	revious residential a	ddresses		
(numbe	er, street,	city, pro	ovince, territory or state	e, country, postal code)		
Telepho	one numb	per				
Lived a	t this add	lress sir	nce (YYYY/MM)			
If you h	ave lived	at this	address for less than 1	10 years, complete Schedule B.		
2.	Mailing address					
		Check here if your mailing address is the same as your current residential address provided above. Otherwise complete the following:				
(numbe	er, street,	city, pro	ovince, territory or state	e, country, postal code)		
Item 3	Persor	nal info	rmation			
1.	Date of	birth _	(YY	YY/MM/DD)		
2.	Place o	of birth _		itory or state. country)		
			(city province terri	itory or state, country)		

April 15, 2011 222 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

3.	Gender Female Male				
4.	Eye colour				
5.	Hair colour				
6.	Height in. or cm				
7.	Weight				
Item 4	Citizenship				
1.	Citizenship information				
What is	your country of citizenship?				
	Canada				
	Other, specify:				
2.	If you are a citizen of a country other than Canada, complete the following for that citizenship.				
_	Check here if you do not have a valid passport. Otherwise, provide:				
	t number:				
Date of I	ssue:(YYYY/MM/DD)				
Dlago of	issue:				
Flace of					
	issue:(city, province, territory or state, country)				
Item 5	Registration jurisdictions				
	Registration jurisdictions Are you filing this form under the passport system / interface for registration?				
Item 5	Registration jurisdictions Are you filling this form under the passport system / interface for registration? Only choose "no" if:				
Item 5	Registration jurisdictions Are you filing this form under the passport system / interface for registration?				
Item 5	Registration jurisdictions Are you filling this form under the passport system / interface for registration? Only choose "no" if: (a) you are seeking registration only in your principal jurisdiction,				
Item 5	Registration jurisdictions Are you filing this form under the passport system / interface for registration? Only choose "no" if: (a) you are seeking registration only in your principal jurisdiction, (b) you are seeking review as a permitted individual only in your principal jurisdiction				
Item 5	Registration jurisdictions Are you filing this form under the passport system / interface for registration? Only choose "no" if: (a) you are seeking registration only in your principal jurisdiction, (b) you are seeking review as a permitted individual only in your principal jurisdiction and you are not currently registered under securities legislation in any jurisdiction of Canada,				
Item 5 1.	Registration jurisdictions Are you filing this form under the passport system / interface for registration? Only choose "no" if: (a) you are seeking registration only in your principal jurisdiction, (b) you are seeking review as a permitted individual only in your principal jurisdiction and you are not currently registered under securities legislation in any jurisdiction of Canada, Yes				

April 15, 2011 223 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

1.	On Schedule C, check each category for which you are seeking registration as an individual or review as a permitted individual. If you are seeking review as a permitted individual, check each category that describes your position with your sponsoring firm.				
2.	If you are seeking registration as a representative of a mutual fund dealer or of a scholarship plan dealer in Québer are you covered by your sponsoring firm's professional liability insurance?				
Yes		No [
If "No",	state:				
The nar	me of you	ır insurer			
Your po	licy num	ber			
Item 7	Addres	s and age	nt for service		
1.	Addres	s for servi	ce		
a busin	ess addr		s for service in each province or territory where you are submitting this form. A residential address or eptable. A post office box is not acceptable. Complete Schedule D for each additional address for		
Address	s for serv	ice:			
(numbe	r, street,	city, provin	ce or territory, postal code)		
Telepho	one numb	oer			
E-mail a	address,	if available			
2.		or service			
have ar agent fo	ave appo n agent f or service	inted an ag or service. is not an ir	pent for service, provide the following information for the agent in each province or territory where you The address of your agent for service must be the same as the address for service above. If your adividual, provide the name of your contact person.		
Contact	person:				
		I	_ast name, First name		
Item 8	Profici	ency			
1.	Course	, examinat	tion or designation information and other education		
			dicate each course, examination and designation that is required for registration or approval and that bleted or have been exempted from.		
			are not required under securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both, or the rules of an SRO se, examination or designation requirements.		
2.	Studen	t numbers			
If you h	ave a st	udent numb	per for a course that you successfully completed with one of the following organizations, provide it		

April 15, 2011 224 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

CSI Glo	bal Education (formerly Canadian Securities Institute):								
IFSE Institute (formerly IFIC):									
Institute	Institute of Canadian Bankers (ICB):								
CFA Ins	titute (formerly AIMR):								
Advocis	(formerly CAIFA):								
RESP D	ealers Association of Canada:								
Other: _									
3.	Exemption refusal								
	y securities regulator, derivatives regulator or SRO refused to grant you an exemption from a course, examination, tion or experience requirement?								
Yes	□ No □								
If "Yes",	complete Schedule F.								
4.	Relevant securities industry experience								
If you ar	e an individual applying for IIROC approval, select "Not Applicable below".								
	ave not been registered in the last 36 months and you passed the required examination more than 36 months ago, do sider that you have gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience during the 36 month period?								
Yes	□ No □ N/A □								
If "yes",	complete Schedule F.								
Item 9	Location of employment								
1.	Provide the following information for your new sponsoring firm. If you will be working out of more than one location, provide the following information for the location out of which you will be doing most of your business.								
	NRD location number:								
	Unique Identification Number (optional) :								
	Business address: (number, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)								
	Telephone number: () Fax number: ()								
2.	If the firm has a foreign head office, and/or you are not a resident of Canada, provide the address for the location in								
2.	which you will be conducting business.								
	Business address: (number, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)								
	Telephone number: ()								
[The foll	owing under #3 "Type of location", #4 and #5 is for a Format other than NRD format only]								
3.	Type of location - for Format other than NRD format only:								
	☐ Head office ☐ Branch or Business Location ☐ Sub-branch								

April 15, 2011 225 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

4.	Name of	f supervis	or or bra	anch manager:
5.	☐ Otherwis	Check h		ne mailing address of the location is the same as the business address provided above. ollowing:
	Mailing a	address: _	(r, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)
			•	
Item 10	Current	employr	ment, otl	her business activities, officer positions held and directorships
business include	activitie	s with yo ness rela	our spons	6 for each of your current business and employment activities, including employment and soring firm and any employment and business activities outside your sponsoring firm. Also per or director positions and any other equivalent positions held, whether you receive
Item 11	Previou	s employ	yment aı	nd other activities
On Sche	edule H, d	complete	your em	ployment and other activities history for the past 10-years.
Item 12	Resigna	ations an	d termir	nations
Have yo you:	u ever re	signed, b	een tern	ninated or been dismissed for cause by an employer from a position following allegations that
1.	Violated	any statu	utes, regi	ulations, rules or standards of conduct?
	Yes		No	
	If "Yes",	complete	Schedu	ele I Item 12.1.
2.	Failed to	appropri	iately sup	pervise compliance with any statutes, regulations, rules or standards of conduct?
	Yes		No	
	If "Yes",	complete	Schedu	le I Item 12.2.
3.	Committ	ted fraud	or the wr	ongful taking of property, including theft?
	Yes		No	
	If "Yes",	complete	Schedu	le I Item 12.3.
Item 13	Regula	tory disc	losure	
1.	Securiti	es and d	erivative	es regulation
a)	have you	u ever be	en, regis	or permitted individual status that has been recorded under this NRD number, are you now, or stered or licensed with any securities regulator or derivatives regulator or both in any province, o trade in or advise on securities or derivatives or both?
	Yes		No	
	If "Yes",	complete	Schedu	le J, Item 13.1(a).
b)				sed registration or a licence to trade in or advise on securities or derivatives or both in any country?
	Yes		No 🗌	
	If "Yes",	complete	Schedu	lle J, Item 13.1(b).

April 15, 2011 226 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

c)				n any province, territory, state or country, other than what was disclosed in Item 8(3) of this
	Yes		No	
	If "Yes",	, complet	e Schedu	ule J, Item 13.1(c).
d)				ou ever been subject to any disciplinary proceedings or any order resulting from disciplinary ecurities legislation or derivatives legislation or both in any province, territory, state or country?
	Yes		No	
	If "Yes",	, complet	e Schedu	ule J, Item 13.1(d).
2.	SRO re	gulation		
a)				that has been recorded under this NRD number, are you now, or have you ever been, an RO or similar organization in any province, territory, state or country?
	Yes		No 🗆]
	If "Yes",	, complet	e Schedu	ule J, Item13.2(a).
b)	Have your		een refus	sed approved person status by an SRO or similar organization in any province, territory, state
	Yes		No	
	If "Yes",	, complet	e Schedu	ule J, Item 13.2(b).
c)				you ever been, subject to any disciplinary proceedings conducted by any SRO or similar nce, territory, state or country?
	Yes		No	
	If "Yes",	, complet	e Schedu	ule J, Item 13.2(c).
3.	Non-se	curities	regulatio	on
a)	licensing	g to deal	with the	you ever been, registered or licensed under any legislation which requires registration or public in any capacity other than to trade in or advise on securities or derivatives or both in ate or country (e.g. insurance, real estate, accountant, lawyer, teacher)?
	Yes		No	
	If "Yes",	, complet	e Schedu	ule J, Item 13.3(a)
b)				fused registration or a licence under any legislation relating to your professional activities derivatives in any province, territory, state or country?
	Yes		No	
	If "Yes",	, complet	e Schedu	ule J, Item 13.3(b).
c)				u ever been, a subject of any disciplinary actions conducted under any legislation relating to surrelated to securities or derivatives in any province, territory, state or country?
	Yes		No	
	If "Yes",	, complet	e Schedu	ule J, Item 13.3(c).

April 15, 2011 227 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 14 Criminal disclosure

Offences you must disclose

You must disclose all criminal offences committed in any province, territory, state or country. This includes, but is not limited to, criminal offences under federal statutes such as the *Criminal Code* (Canada), *Income Tax Act* (Canada), *the Competition Act* (Canada), *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* (Canada) and the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* (Canada) (or its predecessor, the *Narcotic Control Act* (Canada)). This includes pleas or findings of guilt for impaired driving, which are *Criminal Code* (Canada) matters. If you have been found guilty of a criminal offence, you must disclose the offence even if you have been granted an absolute or conditional discharge.

With respect to questions 14.2 and 14.4, if you or your firm has been found guilty of a criminal offence, or participated in the Alternative Measures Program within the past three years, you must disclose that offence even if an absolute or conditional discharge has been granted, or the charge has been dismissed, withdrawn or stayed. Some exceptions apply to stayed charges, and the Alternative Measures Program which are outlined below.

If you do not disclose a criminal offence under any statute other than the former *Young Offenders Act* (Canada) *or the Youth Criminal Justice Act* (Canada), regulators or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority or self regulatory organization may treat it as a non-disclosure of material information.

Offences you do not have to disclose

The appropriate response is "No" if any of the following circumstances apply.

You are not required to disclose:

- crimes for which you received an absolute or conditional discharge if the crime has been purged from the criminal records in accordance with the Criminal Records Act (Canada)
- speeding, parking violations or any offence for which a pardon has been granted under the Criminal Records Act (Canada) and the pardon has not been revoked
- stayed charges for summary conviction offences that have been stayed for six months or more
- stayed charges for indictable offences that have been stayed for a year or more, and
- offences under the former Young Offenders Act (Canada) or the Youth Criminal Justice Act (Canada)

With respect to questions 14.2 and 14.4, you are not required to disclose an offence for which you or your firm was found guilty if you or the firm participated in the Alternative Measures Program more than three years ago for that offence.

1.		•		ng or stay r country?	ed charge	s against	you alleg	ing a c	riminal	offence	that was	s committe	ed in any
	Yes		No										
	If "Yes"	, complet	e Schedu	ıle K, Item	14.1.								
2.					pleaded no					e or co	nditional	discharge	from any
	Yes		No										
	If "Yes"	, complet	e Schedu	ule K, Item	14.2.								
3.	crimina	-	was alleg	-	there any ve taken pla			-	-		-		
	Yes		No										
	If "Yes"	, complet	e Schedu	ıle K, Item	14.3.								

April 15, 2011 228 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

4.	found guilty, pleaded no contest to or granted an absolute or conditional discharge from a criminal offence that was committed in any province, territory, state or country?						
	Yes		No				
	If "Yes",	complete	Schedu	le K, Item 14.4.			
Item 15	Civil dis	closure					
1.	against			utstanding civil actions alleging fraud, theft, deceit, misrepresentation or similar misconduct re you are or were a partner, director, officer or major shareholder in any province, territory,			
	Yes		No				
	If "Yes",	complete	Schedu	le L, Item 15.1.			
2.	respond	ent in an	y civil p	e you are or were a partner, director, officer or major shareholder ever been a defendant or roceeding in which fraud, theft, deceit, misrepresentation or similar misconduct is, or was, a a judgment in any province, territory, state or country?			
	Yes		No				
	If "Yes",	complete	Schedu	le L, Item 15.2.			
Item 16	Financia	al disclos	sure				
1.	Bankru	ptcy					
	ne laws of the		plicable	jurisdiction, have you or has any firm when you were a partner, director, officer or major			
a)	Had a p	etition in l	oankrupt	cy issued or made a voluntary assignment in bankruptcy or any similar proceeding?			
	Yes		No				
	If "Yes",	complete	Schedu	le M, Item 16.1(a).			
b)	Made a	proposal	under ar	ny legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or any similar proceeding?			
	Yes		No				
	If "Yes",	complete	Schedu	le M, Item 16.1(b).			
c)				ngs under any legislation relating to the winding up or dissolution of the firm, or under the angement Act (Canada)?			
	Yes		No				
	If "Yes",	complete	Schedu	le M, Item 16.1(c).			
d)	receiver	, receiver	-manage	ted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors? This includes having a er, administrator or trustee appointed by or at the request of creditors, privately, through court egulatory authority, to hold your assets.			
	Yes		No				
	If "Yes",	complete	Schedu	le M, Item 16.1(d).			

April 15, 2011 229 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

2.	Debt of	oligation	s				
knowled	er the past 10 years, have you failed to meet a financial obligation of \$5,000 or more as it came due or, to the best of your wledge, has any firm, while you were a partner, director, officer or major shareholder of that firm, failed to meet any financial gation of \$5,000 or more as it came due?						
Yes		No					
If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	ule M, Ite	16.2.			
3.	Surety	bond or	fidelity	nd			
Have yo	ou ever b	een refus	sed for a	rety or fidelity bond?			
Yes		No					
If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	ule M, Ite	16.3.			
4.	Garnisl	nments,	unsatis	d judgments or directions to pay			
indebted		to the b		rial, state authority or court ever issued any of the following knowledge, the indebtedness of a firm where you are or were			
Garnish	ment		Yes	No			
Unsatist	fied judgr	ment					
Directio	n to pay						
If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	ule M, Ite	16.4.			
Item 17	Owners	ship of s	ecurities	and derivatives firms			
				n, a partner or major shareholder of any firm (including your spon s or derivatives or both?	soring firm) whose business		
Yes		No					
If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	ıle N.				
ltem 18	Agent f	or servi	ce				

item 18 Agent for service

By submitting this form, you certify that in each jurisdiction of Canada where you have appointed an agent for service, you have completed the appointment of agent for service required in that jurisdiction.

Item 19 Submission to jurisdiction

By submitting this form, you agree to be subject to the securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both of each jurisdiction of Canada, and to the by-laws, regulations, rules, rulings and policies (collectively referred to as "rules" in this form) of the SROs to which you have submitted this form. This includes the jurisdiction of any tribunals or any proceedings that relate to your activities as a registrant or a partner, director or officer of a registrant under that securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both or as an Approved Person under SRO rules.

Item 20 Notice of collection and use of personal information

The personal information required under this form is collected on behalf of, and used by, the securities regulatory authorities in the jurisdictions set out in Schedule O to administer and enforce certain provisions of their securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both.

April 15, 2011 230 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) By submitting this form, the individual consents to the collection by the securities regulatory authorities of this personal information, and any police records, records from other government or non-governmental regulators or SROs, credit records and employment records about the individual that the securities regulatory authorities may need to complete their review of the information submitted in this form relating to the individual's continued fitness for registration or approval, if applicable, in accordance with the legal authority of the securities regulatory authorities while the individual is registered with or approved by it. Securities regulatory authorities may contact government and private bodies or agencies, individuals, corporations and other organizations for information about the individual.

If you have any questions about the collection and use of this information, contact the securities regulatory authority in any jurisdiction in which the required information is submitted. See Schedule O for details. In Québec, you can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouv.qc.ca.

SROs

The principal purpose for the collection of personal information is to assess your suitability for registration or approval and to assess your continued fitness for registration or approval in accordance with the applicable securities legislation and the rules of the SROs.

By submitting this form, you authorize the SROs to which this form is submitted to collect any information from any source whatsoever. This includes, but is not limited to, personal confidential information about you that is otherwise protected by law such as, police, credit, employment, education and proficiency course completion records, and records from other government or non-governmental regulatory authorities, securities commissions, stock exchanges, or other SROs, private bodies, agencies, individuals or corporations, as may be necessary for the SROs to complete their review of your form or continued fitness for registration or approval in accordance with their rules for the duration of the period you remain so registered or approved. You further consent to and authorize the transfer of confidential information between SROs, securities commissions or stock exchanges from whom you now, or may in the future, seek registration or approval, or with which you are currently registered or approved for the purpose of determining fitness or continued fitness for registration or approval or in connection with the performance of an investigation or other exercise of regulatory authority, whether or not you are registered with or approved by them.

By submitting this form, you certify that you understand the rules of the applicable SROs of which you are seeking registration or approval or of which your sponsoring firm is a member or participating organization. You also undertake to become conversant with the rules of any SROs of which you or your sponsoring firm becomes a member or participating organization. You agree to be bound by, observe and comply with these rules as they are from time to time amended or supplemented, and you agree to keep yourself fully informed about them as they are amended and supplemented. You submit to the jurisdiction of the SROs from whom you are seeking registration or approval, or of which your sponsoring firm is now or in the future becomes a member or participating organization and, wherever applicable, their Governors, Directors and Committees. You agree that any registration or approval granted pursuant to this form may be revoked, terminated or suspended at any time in accordance with the then applicable rules of the respective SROs. In the event of any such revocation or termination, you must terminate all activities which require registration or approval and, thereafter, not perform services that require registration or approval for any member of the SROs or any approved affiliated company or other affiliate of such member without obtaining the approval of or registration with the SROs, in accordance with their rules.

By submitting this form, you undertake to notify the SROs from whom you are seeking registration or approval or with which you are currently or may in the future be registered or approved of any material change to the information herein provided in accordance with their respective rules. You agree to the transfer of this form, without amendment, to other SROs in the event that at some time in the future you seek registration or approval from such other SROs.

You certify that you have discussed the questions in this form, together with this Agreement, with an Officer or Branch Manager of your sponsoring member firm and, to your knowledge and belief, the authorized Officer or Branch Manager was satisfied that you fully understood the questions and the terms of this Agreement. You further certify that your business activities that are subject to securities rules and derivatives rules or both will be limited strictly to those permitted by the category of your registration or approval.

Item 21 Warning

It is an offence under securities legislation and/or derivatives legislation, including commodity futures legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.

April 15, 2011 231 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 22 Certification

best of r	Certification - NRD format I have discussed the questions in this form with an officer, branch manager or supervisor of my sponsoring firm. To the my knowledge, the officer, branch manager or supervisor was satisfied that I fully understood the questions. I will limit my to those permitted by my category of registration.
	I am making this submission as agent for the individual identified in this form. By checking this box, I certify that the individual provided me with all of the information on this form.
2.	Certification - Format other than NRD format
, ,	nal ng below, I certify to the regulator, or in Québec the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am filing itting this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:
	ve read this form and understand the questions, and for the information provided on this form is true, and complete.
Signatui	e of individual Date

Authorized partner or officer of the firm

By signing below, I certify to the regulator, or in Québec the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, for the individual that:

- the individual identified in this form will be engaged by the sponsoring firm as a registered individual or a permitted individual, and
- I have, or a branch manager, or supervisor, or another officer or partner has, discussed the questions set out in this form with the individual and, to the best of my knowledge, the individual fully understands the questions.

-

April 15, 2011 232 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE A Names (Item 1)

Item 1.2 Other personal names

	personal names		
Name 1:			
Last name	First name	Second name (N/A □)	Third name (N/A □)
Provide the reasons	for the use of this na	ame (for example, marriage, div	vorce, court order, commonly used name or nickname)
When did you use th	nis name?	From:	То:
		(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)
Name 2:			
Last name	First name	Second name (N/A)	Third name (N/A □)
Provide the reasons	for the use of this na	ame (for example, marriage, div	vorce, court order, commonly used name or nickname)
When did you use th	nis name?	From:	То:
		(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)
Name 3:			
Last name	First name	Second name (N/A	A □) Third name (N/A □)
Provide the reasons When did you use the		ame (for example, marriage, div	vorce, court order, commonly used name or nickname) To:
		(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)
Item 1.3 Use of	f other names		
Name 1:			
Name:			
Provide the reasons	for the use of this oth	ner name (for example, trade na	ame or team name)?:
If this other name is	or was used in conne	ection with any sponsoring firm,	did the sponsoring firm approve the use of the name?
Yes No	□ N\A □		
When did you use the	nis name?	From:	То:
		(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)
Name 2:			
Name:			
Provide the reasons	for the use of this oth	ner name (for example, trade na	ame or team name):

April 15, 2011 233 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

If this other name is or was used in connection	on with any sponsoring firm, did	the sponsoring firm approve the use of the name?
Yes No		
When did you use this name?	From:	То:
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)
Name 3:		
Name:		
Provide the reasons for the use of this other	name (for example, trade name	or team name):
If this other name is or was used in connection	on with any sponsoring firm, did	the sponsoring firm approve the use of the name?
Yes No		
When did you use this name?	From:	То:
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)

April 15, 2011 234 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE B Residential address (Item 2)

Item 2.1 Current and previous residential addresses

If you have lived at your current address for less than 10 years, list all previous addresses for the past 10 years.

You do not have to include a postal code or ZIP code, or a telephone number for any previous address.

Address 1:			
Residential address: (number, street	aitu province torritoru or a	tota aquatmi)	
(number, street	, city, province, territory or s	iate, country)	
When did you live at this address?	From:	То:	
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)	
Address 2:			
Residential address: (number, street	citi. massing a tomitom on	tata assistan)	
(number, street	, city, province, territory or s	iate, country)	
When did you live at this address?	From:	То:	
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)	
Address 3:			
Residential address:			
(number, street	, city, province, territory or s	tate, country)	
When did you live at this address?	From:	То:	
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)	

April 15, 2011 235 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE C Individual Categories (Item 6)

Check each category for which you are seeking registration, approval or review as a permitted individual.

Categories common to all jurisdictions under securities legislation
Firm categories [Format other than NRD format only]
[] Investment Dealer
[] Mutual Fund Dealer
[] Scholarship Plan Dealer
[] Exempt Market Dealer
[] Restricted Dealer
[] Portfolio Manager
[] Restricted Portfolio Manager
[] Investment Fund Manager
Individual categories and permitted activities
[] Dealing Representative
[] Advising Representative
[] Associate Advising Representative
[] Ultimate Designated Person
[] Chief Compliance Officer
[] Officer – Specify title:
[] Director
[] Partner
[] Shareholder
[] Branch Manager (MFDA members only)
[] IIROC approval only
IIROC
Approval categories
[] Executive
[] Director (Industry)
[] Director (Non-Industry)
[] Supervisor
[] Investor
[] Registered Representative
[] Investment Representative
[] Trader

April 15, 2011 236 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Additional approval categories
[] Chief Compliance Officer
[] Chief Financial Officer
[] Ultimate Designated Person
Products
[] Non-Trading
[] Securities
[] Options
[] Futures Contracts and Futures Contract Options
[] Mutual Funds only
Customer type
[] Retail
[] Institutional
[] Not Applicable
Portfolio management
[] Portfolio Management
Categories under local commodity futures and derivatives legislation
<u>Ontario</u>
Ontario Firm categories
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer – Specify title:
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer – Specify title: [] Director
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer – Specify title: [] Director [] Partner
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer – Specify title: [] Director [] Partner [] Shareholder
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer – Specify title: [] Director [] Partner
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer — Specify title: [] Director [] Partner [] Shareholder [] IIROC approval only
Ontario Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer – Specify title: [] Director [] Partner [] Shareholder

April 15, 2011 237 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

[] Dealer (Futures Commission Merchant)
[] Dealer (Floor Broker)
[] Adviser
[] Local
Individual categories and permitted activities
[] Floor Trader
[] Salesperson
[] Branch Manager
[] Adviser
[] Officer – Specify title:
[] Director
[] Partner
[] Futures Contracts Portfolio Manager
[] Associate Futures Contracts Portfolio Manager
[] IIROC approval only
[] Local
Québec - activities relating to derivatives
For information purposes, indicate whether you will carry on activities as a representative of:
[] An Investment Dealer Acting as a Derivatives Dealer
[] A Portfolio Manager Acting as a Derivatives Portfolio Manager

April 15, 2011 238 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE D Address and agent for service (Item 7)

Item 7.1 Address for service

	Idress for service in each province or territory in which you are now, or are seeking to become, a permitted individual. A post office box is not an acceptable address for service.
Address for service:	(number, street, city, province or territory, postal code)
Telephone number: ()Fax number: ()
E-mail address:	
Item 7.2 Agent for	service
	n agent for service, provide the following information about the agent. The address for service provided ess of the agent named below.
Name of agent for service	ce:
(if applicable)	
Contact person:	
Last n	ame. First name

April 15, 2011 239 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE E Proficiency (Item 8)

Item 8.1 Course, examination or designation information and other education

Course, examination, designation or other education	Date completed (YYYY/MM/DD)	Date exempted (YYYY/MM/DD)	Regulator / securities regulatory authority granting the exemption
If you have listed the CFA Charter in Item 8.1, please the CFA Institute permitted to use the CFA Charter.	indicate by checking t	he box below whethe	er you are a current member of
Yes No			
If "no", please explain why you no longer hold this des	ignation:		
			
			
If you have listed the CIM designation in Item 8.1, permitted to use the CIM designation.	please indicate by cl	hecking the box bel	ow whether you are currently
Yes No			
If "no", please explain why you no longer hold this des	ignation:		
			

April 15, 2011 240 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE F Proficiency (Items 8.3 and 8.4)

Item 8.3 **Exemption refusal** Complete the following for each exemption that was refused. 1. Which securities regulator, derivatives regulator or SRO refused to grant the exemption? State the name of the course, examination, designation or experience requirement: State the reason given for not being granted the exemption: Date exemption refused: ___ (YYYY/MM/DD) 2. Which securities regulator, derivatives regulator or SRO refused to grant the exemption? State the name of the course, examination, designation or experience requirement: State the reason given for not being granted the exemption: Date exemption refused: ___ (YYYY/MM/DD) 3. Which securities regulator, derivatives regulator or SRO refused to grant the exemption? State the name of the course, examination, designation or experience requirement: State the reason given for not being granted the exemption: Date exemption refused: (YYYY/MM/DD) Item 8.4 Relevant securities industry experience Describe your responsibilities in areas relating to the category you are applying for, including the title(s) you have held, as well as start and end dates:

April 15, 2011 241 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

What is the percentage of your time devoted to these activities?
%
Indicate the continuing education activities which you have participated in during the last 36 months and which are relevant to the category of registration you are applying for:

April 15, 2011 242 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE G Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships (Item 10)

Complete a separate Schedule G for each of your current business and employment activities with your sponsoring firm and with all other organizations. This includes any business related officer or director positions held, or any other equivalent positions held, whether you receive compensation or not.

1. Start date(YYYY/MM/DD)
2. Firm information
Check here if this activity is employment with your sponsoring firm.
If the activity is with your sponsoring firm, you are not required to indicate the firm name and address information below:
Name of business or employer:
Address of business or employer:
Name and title of your immediate supervisor:
3. Description of duties
Describe all employment and business activities related to this employer. Include the nature of the business and your duties, title or relationship with the business. If you are seeking registration that requires specific experience, include details with this firm such as level of responsibility, value of accounts under direct supervision, number of years of experience, and percentage or time spent on each activity.
4. Number of work hours per week
How many hours per week do you devote to this business or employment?
If this activity is employment with your sponsoring firm and you work less than 30 hours per week, explain why.
5. Conflicts of interest
If you have more than one employer or are engaged in business related activities:
A. Disclose any potential for confusion by clients and any potential for conflicts of interest arising from your multiple employment or business related activities or proposed business related activities.
B. Indicate whether or not any of your employers or organizations where you engage in business related activities are listed or an exchange.
C. Confirm whether the firm has procedures for minimizing potential conflicts of interest and if so, confirm that you are aware of these procedures.

April 15, 2011 243 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

D. State the name of the person at your sprelated activities or proposed business related activities activiti	onsoring firm who has reviewed and approved your multiple employment or business ted activities
E. If you do not perceive any conflicts of in	erest arising from this employment, explain why.

April 15, 2011 244 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE H Previous employment and other activities (Item 11)

Provide the following information for each of your employment and other activities in the past 10-years. Account for all of your time, including full-time and part-time employment, self-employment or military service. Include your status for each, such as unemployed, full-time student, or other similar statuses. Do not include short-term employment of four months or less while a student, unless it was in the securities, derivatives or financial industry.

In addition to the information required in the paragraph above, if you were employed or had business activities in the securities or derivatives industry or both during and before the 10-year period, disclose all your securities and derivatives or both employment or business activities (both before and during the 10-year period).

☐ Full	mployed time student loyed or self-employed	
From:	(YYYY/MM)	
To:	(TTTT/IVIIVI)	
	(YYYY/MM)	
Comple	te the following only if you are, or were, employed or self-employed during this period.	
Name o	f business or employer:	
Addres	s of business or employer:	
(numbe	r, street, city, province, territory or state, country)	
Name a	and title of immediate supervisor, if applicable:	
of regis	e the firm's business, your position, duties and your relationship to the firm. If you are seeking registratration that requires specific experience, include details of that experience. Examples include level of reunts under direct supervision, number of years of that experience and research experience, and perform each activity.	esponsibility, value
Reasor	why you left the firm:	

April 15, 2011 245 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE I Resignations and terminations (Item 12)

Item 12.1

For each allegation of violation of any statutes, regulations, rules or internal/external standards of conduct, state below (1) the name of the firm from which you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, (2) whether you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, and (4) the circumstances relating to your resignation, termination or dismissal for cause.

Item 12.2

For each allegation of failure to supervise compliance with any statutes, regulations, rules or standards of conduct, state below, (1) the name of the firm from which you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, (2) whether you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, (3) the date you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, and (4) the circumstances relating to your resignation, termination or dismissal for cause.

Item 12.3

For each allegation of fraud or the wrongful taking of property, including theft, state below (1) the name of the firm from which you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, (2) whether you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, (3) the date you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, and (4) the circumstances relating to your resignation, termination or dismissal for cause.

April 15, 2011 246 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE J Regulatory disclosure (Item 13)

Item 13.1 Securities and derivatives regulation

held the registration or licence.

a)	For each registration or licence, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the securities or derivatives regulator with which you are, or were, registered or licensed, (3) the type or category of registration or licence, and (4) the period that you held the registration or licence.
b)	For each registration or licence refused, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the securities or derivatives regulator that refused the registration or licence, (3) the type or category of registration or licence refused, (4) the date of the refusal, and (5) the reasons for the refusal.
c)	For each exemption from registration denied or licence refused, other than what was disclosed in Item 8(3) of this form, state below (1) the party that was refused the exemption from registration or licence, (2) the securities or derivatives regulator that refused the exemption from registration or licence, (3) the type or category or registration or licence refused, (4) the date of the refusal, and (5) the reasons for the refusal.
d)	For each order or disciplinary proceeding, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the securities or derivatives regulator that issued the order or is conducting or conducted the proceeding, (3) the date any notice of proceeding was issued, (4) the date any order or settlement was made, (5) a summary of any notice, order or settlement (including any sanctions imposed), (6) whether you are or were a partner, director, officer or major shareholder of the firm and named individually in the order or disciplinary proceeding, and (7) any other relevant details.
Item	13.2 SRO regulation
a)	For each approval, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the SRO with which you are or were an approved person, (3) the categories of approval, and (4) the period that you held the approval.
b)	For each approval refused, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the SRO that refused the approval, (3) the category of approval refused, (4) the date of the refusal, and (5) the reasons for the refusal.
c)	For each order or disciplinary proceeding, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the SRO that issued the order or that is, or was, conducting the proceeding, (3) the date any notice of proceeding was issued, (4) the date any order or settlement was made, (5) a summary of any notice, order or settlement (including any sanctions imposed), (6) whether you are or were a partner, director, officer or major shareholder of the firm and named individually in the order or disciplinary proceeding, and (7) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request.
Item	13.3 Non-securities regulation
a)	For each registration or licence, state below (1) the party who is, or was, registered or licensed (if insurance licensed,
	also indicate the name of the insurance agency), (2) with which regulatory authority, or under what legislation, the party is, or was, registered or licensed, (3) the type or category of registration or licence, and (4) the period that the party

April 15, 2011 247 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- b) For each registration or licence refused, state below (1) the party that was refused registration or licensing (if insurance licensed, also indicate the name of the insurance agency), (2) with which regulatory authority, or under what legislation, the registration or licence was refused, (3) the type or category of registration or licence refused, (4) the date of the refusal, and (5) the reasons for the refusal.
- c) For each order or disciplinary proceeding, indicate below (1) the party against whom the order was made or the proceeding taken (if insurance licensed, indicate the name of the insurance agency), (2) the regulatory authority that made the order or that is, or was, conducting the proceeding, or under what legislation the order was made or the proceeding is being, or was conducted, (3) the date any notice of proceeding was issued, (4) the date any order or settlement was made, (5) a summary of any notice, order or settlement (including any sanctions imposed), (6) whether you are or were a partner, director, officer or major shareholder of the firm and named individually in the order or disciplinary proceeding and (7) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulatory authority may request.

April 15, 2011 248 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE K Criminal disclosure (Item 14)

Item 14.1

For each charge, state below (1) the type of charge, (2) the date of the charge, (3) any trial or appeal dates, and (4) the court location.

Item 14.2

For each finding of guilty, pleading no contest to, or granting of an absolute or conditional discharge from a criminal offence state below (1) the offence, (2) the date found guilty, and (3) the disposition (any penalty or fine and the date any fine was paid).

Item 14.3

For each charge, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the type of charge, (3) the date of the charge, (4) any trial or appeal dates, and (5) the court location.

Item 14.4

For each finding of guilty, pleading no contest to, or granting of an absolute or conditional discharge from a criminal offence state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the offence, (3) the date of the conviction, and (4) the disposition (any penalty or fine and the date any fine was paid).

April 15, 2011 249 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE L Civil disclosure (Item 15)

Item 15.1

For each outstanding civil proceeding, state below (1) the dates the statement of claim and statement of defence were issued, (2) the name of the plaintiff(s) in the proceeding, (3) whether the proceeding is pending or on appeal, (4) whether the proceeding was against a firm where you are, or were, a partner, director, officer or major shareholder and whether you have been named individually in the allegations, and (5) the jurisdiction where the action is being pursued.

Item 15.2

For each civil proceeding, state below (1) the dates the statement of claim and statement of defence were issued, (2) each plaintiff in the proceeding, (3) the jurisdiction where the action was pursued, (4) whether the proceeding was about a firm where you are, or were, a partner, director, officer or major shareholder and whether you have been named individually in the allegations and (5) a summary of any disposition or any settlement over \$10,000. You must disclose any actions settled without admission of liability.

April 15, 2011 250 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE M Financial Disclosure (Item 16)

Item 16.1 Bankruptcy

- (a) For each event, state below (1) the date of the petition or voluntary assignment, (2) the person or firm about whom this disclosure is being made, (3) any amounts currently owing, (4) the creditors, (5) the status of the matter, (6) a summary of any disposition or settlement, (7) date of discharge or release, if applicable, and (8) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request.
- (b) For each event, state below (1) the date of the proposal, (2) the person or firm about whom this disclosure is being made, (3) any amounts currently owing, (4) the creditors, (5) the status of the matter, (6) a summary of any disposition or settlement, and (7) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request.
- (c) For each event, state below (1) the date of the proceeding, (2) the person or firm about whom this disclosure is being made, (3) any amounts currently owing, (4) the creditors, (5) the status of the matter, (6) a summary of any disposition or settlement, and (7) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request.
- (d) For each proceeding, arrangement or compromise with creditors, state below (1) the date of proceeding, (2) the person or firm about whom this disclosure is being made, (3) any amounts currently owing, (4) the creditors, (5) the status of the matter, (6) a summary of any disposition or settlement, and (7) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request.

Item 16.2 Debt obligation

For each event, state below (1) the person or firm that failed to meet its financial obligation, (2) the amount that was owing at the time the person or firm failed to meet its financial obligation, (3) the person or firm to whom the amount is, or was, owing, (4) any relevant dates (for example, when payments are due or when final payment was made), (5) any amounts currently owing, and (6) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request, including why obligation has not been met/satisfied.

Item 16.3 Surety bond or fidelity bond

For each bond refused, state below (1) the name of the bonding company, (2) the address of the bonding company, (3) the date of the refusal, and (4) the reasons for the refusal.

Item 16.4 Garnishments, unsatisfied judgments or directions to pay

For each garnishment, unsatisfied judgment or direction to pay regarding your indebtedness, indicate below (1) the amount that was owing at the time the garnishment, judgment or direction to pay was rendered, (2) the person or firm to whom the amount is, or was, owing, (3) any relevant dates (for example, when payments are due or when final payment was made), (4) the percentage of earnings to be garnished or the amount to be paid, (5) any amounts currently owing, and (6) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request.

April 15, 2011 251 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE N Ownership of securities and derivatives firms (Item 17)

Firm nan	ne:					
What is	your relationship to	the firm	? Partner		Major shareholde	der 🗌
What is t	the period of this re	elationsh	ip?			
	From:		То:		(if applicable)	
	(YYYY/MM)	_	(YYYY/MM)	_		
Provide	the following inforr	mation:				
a)	to acquire when y	ou are re	egistered or appro	oved as a	result of the revie	mount of partnership interest you own or propose iew of this form. If acquiring shares when you are res, or if upon transfer, state name of transferor).
b)	State the market you or any other s					ed debentures or bonds of the firm to be held by
c)	If another person state the relations					firm, provide the name of the person or firm and
d)	Are the funds to b	e investe No	ed (or proposed to	be inves	ted) guaranteed d	directly or indirectly by any person or firm?
	If "Yes", provide the	he name	of the person or t	firm and s	tate the relationsh	hip between you and that person or firm:
e)	when you are re	gistered	or approved as	a result o	of the review of the	securities or this partnership interest, or do you, this form, intend to give up any of these rights securities or partnership interest with any firm or
	Yes 🗌	No				
	If "Yes", provide describe the right					nship between you and that person or firm and
f)	Is a person other you?	than yo	u the beneficial c	wner of t	ne shares, bonds,	s, debentures, partnership units or notes held by
	Yes	No				
	If "Yes", complete	e (g), (h) a	and (i).			
g)	Name of beneficia	al owner:				
	Last name		First name		Second name (if applicable)	Third name (if applicable)

April 15, 2011 252 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

h)	Residential address:
	(number, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)
i)	Occupation:

April 15, 2011 253 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule O **Contact information for** Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142. Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6 Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903. Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division

P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2

Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer

Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

FORM 33-109F5 CHANGE OF REGISTRATION INFORMATION (sections 3.1 and 4.1)

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Complete and submit this form to notify the relevant regulator(s) or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, or self-regulatory organization (SRO) of changes to information in the following forms:

- 1. Form 33-109F6, except for the changes set out in section 3.1 of National Instrument 33-109, or
- Form 33-109F4.

How to submit this form

Name of firm

To report changes to information in a Form 33-109F4, submit this form at the National Registration Database website in NRD format at www.nrd.ca.

Submit this form in a format other than NRD format to report changes to information in a:

- a) Form 33-109F6, or
- b) Form 33-109F4, if the individual is relying on the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of National Instrument 31-102 [National Registration Database].

Name of lifting	
Registration categories	
NRD number (firm)	
Item 1 Type of form	
Check the form that is being updated:	
☐ Form 33-109F6	
If submitting changes to Form 33-109F6, please attach a blackline of the amended section	ns of the form.
Form 33-109F4 Name of individual	-
Item 2 Details of change	
Provide the item number and details for each change to the form selected above:	
Item number Details	
Effective date of change(YYYY/MM/DD)	

Item 3 Notice of collection and use of personal information

The personal information required under this form is collected on behalf of, and used by, the securities regulatory authorities in the jurisdictions set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce certain provisions of their securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both.

The personal information required under this form is also collected by and used by the SROs set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce their respective by-laws, regulations, rules, rulings and policies.

By submitting this form, the individual consents to the collection by the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO of this personal information, and any police records, records from other government or non-governmental regulators or SROs, credit records and employment records about the individual that the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO may need to complete their review of the information submitted in this form relating to the individual's continued fitness for registration or approval, if applicable, in accordance with the legal authority of the securities regulatory authorities while the individual is

April 15, 2011 255 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

registered with or approved by it. Securities regulatory authorities or SROs may contact government and private bodies or agencies, individuals, corporations and other organizations for information about the individual.

If you have any questions about the collection and use of this information, contact the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO in any jurisdiction in which the required information is submitted. See Schedule A for details. In Québec, you can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouv.qc.ca.

Item 4 Warning

It is an offence under securities legislation and/or derivatives legislation, including commodity futures legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.

Item 5 Certification

 Use the following certification when submitting this form in NRD format when making changes to Form 33-109F4

I confirm I have discussed the questions in this form with an officer, branch manager or supervisor of my sponsoring firm. To the best of my knowledge and belief, the officer, branch manager or supervisor was satisfied that I fully understood the questions. I will limit my activities to those permitted by my category of registration.

- I am making this submission as agent for the individual identified in this form. By checking this box, I certify that the individual provided me with all of the information on this form.
- 2. Use the following certification when submitting this form in a format other than NRD format when making changes to Form 33-109F6

By signing below I certify to each regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:

- I have read this form and understand the questions, and
- all of the information provided on this form is true, and complete.

3. Use the following certification when submitting this form in a format other than NRD format under the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of NI 31-102 when making changes to Form 33-109F4

By signing below, I certify to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:

- I have read this form and understand the questions; and
- all of the information provided on this form is true and complete.

April 15, 2011 256 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule A **Contact information for** Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142. Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903. Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry

Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and

Insurance Services Division

P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive

Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office **Department of Community Services** P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600

Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133

E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

Form 33 – 109F6 Firm registration

Who should complete this form?

This form is for firms seeking registration under securities legislation, derivatives legislation or both.

Complete and submit this form to seek initial registration as a dealer, adviser or investment fund manager, or to add one or more jurisdiction of Canada or categories to a firm's registration.

Definitions

Chief compliance officer - see section 2.1 of NI 31-103.

Derivatives – financial instruments, such as futures contracts (including exchange traded contracts), futures options and swaps whose market price, value or payment obligations are derived from or based on one or more underlying interests. Derivatives can be in the form of instruments, agreements or securities

Firm - the person or company seeking registration.

Foreign jurisdiction – see National Instrument 14-101 Definitions.

Form - Form 33-109F6 Firm registration.

NI 31-103 – National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations.

Jurisdiction or jurisdiction of Canada - see National Instrument 14-101 Definitions.

NI 33-109 - National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information.

NI 52-107 - National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards.

NRD - National Registration Database. For more information, visit www.nrd-info.ca.

Parent – a person or company that directly or indirectly has significant control of another person or company.

Permitted individual - see NI 33-109.

Predecessor – any entity listed in question 3.6 of this form.

Principal Regulator - see NI 33-109.

Significant control – a person or company has significant control of another person or company if the person or company:

- directly or indirectly holds voting securities representing more than 20 per cent of the outstanding voting rights attached to all outstanding voting securities of the other person or company, or
- directly or indirectly is able to elect or appoint a majority of the directors (or individuals performing similar functions or occupying similar positions) of the other person or company.

Specified affiliate – a person or company that is a parent of the firm, a specified subsidiary of the firm, or a specified subsidiary of the firm's parent.

Specified subsidiary - a person or company of which another person or company has significant control.

SRO - see National Instrument 14-101 Definitions.

Ultimate designated person – see section 2.1 of NI 31-103.

You - the individual who completes, submits, files and/or signs the form on behalf of the firm.

We and the regulator – the securities regulatory authority or regulator in the jurisdiction(s) of Canada where the firm is seeking registration.

April 15, 2011 258 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Contents of the form

This form consists of the following:

Part 1 – Registration details

Part 2 - Contact information

Part 3 - Business history and structure

Part 4 - Registration history

Part 5 - Financial condition

Part 6 - Client relationships

Part 7 - Regulatory action

Part 8 - Legal action

Part 9 - Certification

Schedule A - Contact information for notice of collection and use of personal information

Schedule B – Submission to jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service

Schedule C - Form 31-103F1 Calculation of excess working capital

You are also required to submit the following supporting documents with your completed form:

- Schedule B Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service for each jurisdiction where the firm is seeking registration (question 2.4)
- Business plan, policies and procedures manual, and client agreements (British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba and New Brunswick only) (question 3.3)
- 3. Constating documents (question 3.7)
- 4. Organization chart (question 3.11)
- 5. Ownership chart (question 3.12)
- Calculation of excess working capital (question 5.1)
- 7. Directors' resolution approving insurance (question 5.7)
- 8. Audited financial statements (question 5.13)
- Letter of direction to auditors (question 5.14)

How to complete and submit the form

All dollar values are in Canadian dollars. If a question does not apply to the firm, write "n/a" in the space for the answer.

If the firm is seeking registration in more than one jurisdiction of Canada or category, other than in the category of restricted dealer, you only need to complete and submit one form. If the firm is seeking registration as a restricted dealer, submit and file the form with each jurisdiction of Canada where the firm is seeking that registration.

You can complete this form:

- on paper and deliver it to the principal regulator or relevant SRO
- on paper, scan it and e-mail it to the principal regulator or SRO

If the firm is seeking registration in Ontario, and Ontario is not the firm's principal regulator, you must also file a copy of this form, without supporting documents, with the Ontario Securities Commission.

You can find contact information for submitting and filing the form in Appendix B of Companion Policy 33-109CP Registration Information.

We may accept the form in other formats. Please check with the regulator before you complete, submit and file the form. If you are completing the form on paper and need more space to answer a question, use a separate sheet of paper and attach it to this form. Clearly identify the question number.

You must include all supporting documents with your submission. We may ask you to provide other information and documents to help determine whether the firm is suitable for registration.

In most of this form, answers are required to questions which apply only to Canadian provinces and territories; you will find that the questions are referenced to "jurisdictions" or "jurisdiction of Canada". These refer to all provinces and territories of Canada. However, the questions in Part 4 – *Registration History* and Part 7 – *Regulatory Action* are to be answered in respect of any jurisdiction in the world.

The firm is required to pay a registration fee in each jurisdiction of Canada where it is submitting and filing this form. Refer to the prescribed fees of the applicable jurisdiction for details.

April 15, 2011 259 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

It is an offence under securities legislation or derivatives legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.

See Part 3 of NI 33-109.

For more information, visit www.nrd-info.ca.

Updating the information on the form

The firm is required to notify the regulator, within specified times, of any changes to the information on this form by submitting and filing Form 33-109F5 *Change of Registration Information.*

Collection and use of personal information

We and the SROs (if applicable) require personal information about the people referred to in this form as part of our review to determine whether the firm is suitable for registration. If the firm is approved, we also require this information to assess whether the firm continues to meet the registration requirements.

We may only:

- collect the personal information under the requirements in securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both
- use this information to administer and enforce provisions of the securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both

We may collect personal information from police records, records of other regulators or SROs, credit records, employment records, government and private bodies or agencies, individuals, corporations, and other organizations. We may also collect personal information indirectly.

We may provide personal information about the individuals referred to in this form to other regulators, securities or derivatives exchanges, SROs or similar organizations, if required for an investigation or other regulatory issue.

If anyone referred to in this form has any questions about the collection and use of their personal information, they can contact the regulator or SRO, if applicable, in the relevant jurisdiction of Canada. See Schedule A for details. In Québec, they can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information du Québec at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouv.gc.ca.

Part 1 – Registration details

1.1 Firm's full legal name

Provide the full legal name of the firm as it appears on the firm's constating documents required under question 3.7. If the firm is a sole proprietorship, provide your first, last and any middle names.

If the firm's legal name is in English and French, provide both versions.

Fir	n's NRD number	
Wh	y are you submitting this form?	
	To seek initial registration as a firm in one or more jurisdictions of Canada	Complete: The entire form
	To add one or more jurisdictions of Canada to the firm's registration	Questions 1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 2.4, 3. 5.6*, and Part 9
	To add one or more categories to the firm's registration	Questions 1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 3.1, 5. 5.5*, 5.6*, 5.7, 5.8, Part 6 and Part

April 15, 2011 260 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	1.4	in what cat	egory	and ju	irisaic	tion is	the ii	iiii See	eking i	egisti	auonr	Chec	K all til	iat app	JIY.
	(a)	Categories	under	securit	ies leg	islatior	1								
			Juris	sdictio	n										
Abbreviations Alberta (AB) British Columbia	Category Investment dealer Mutual fund dealer		AB	BC □	MB	NB	NL	NS	NT	NU	ON	PE	QC	sk □	YT □
(BC) Manitoba (MB)															
New Brunswick (NB) Newfoundland and Labrador (NL)	Scholarship plan dealer														
Northwest Territories (NT)	Exempt market dealer														
Nova Scotia (NS) Nunavut (NU) Ontario (ON)	Rest deal	ricted er													
Prince Edward Island (PE)		stment manager													
Québec (QC) Saskatchewan (SK) Yukon (YT)	Portf man														
rakon (11)	Rest portf man														
	(b) Categories under derivatives legislation (Manitoba and Ontario only)														
		Category Dealer (me Dealer (flut Dealer (flot Local Adviser Commodit Commodit Futures co	ures c or brol y tradi y tradi y tradi	ng adv	iser nsel nager		nt) [[[[Manito							
	(c)	Investment	dealer	s and _l	oortfoli	o mana	agers (Québe	ec only)					
		If the firm is the firm also			stratior	n in Qu	ébec a	as an i	nvestm	ent de	aler or	a port	folio m	anage	r, will
		Derivatives Derivatives			ager	Yes Yes		No No	_						
	1.5	Exemption	s												
		Is the firm a	pplyin	g for aı	ny exer	mption	s unde	r secu	rities o	r deriv	atives	legisla	tion?		
		Yes	No) []										
		If yes, provi	de the	follow	ng info	rmatio	n for e	ach ex	cemption	on:					

April 15, 2011 261 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

A post office box on its own is not acceptable for a head office address.

The securities

Canada.

regulatory authority in this jurisdiction of Canada is the firm's principal regulator in

	Type	of exem	nption										
	Legisl	ation											
	Jurisd	iction(s) where	e the fi	rm has	applied	d for th	e exem	ption				
	AB	ВС	МВ	NB	NL	NS	NT	NU	ON	PE	QC	sk	YT
Par	t 2–C	onta	ict ir	nforr	natio	on							
	Addre	sses											
2.1	Head o	ffice a	ddress										
	Addre	ss line	1										
	Addre	ss line	2										
	City							Provir	nce/terr	itory/st	ate		
	Count	ry						Posta	l/zip co	de			
	Teleph	none nu	ımber					Fax n	umber				
	Websi	te											
	If the fir	m's hea	ad offic	e is in	Canada	a, go to	ques	ion 2.3.					
	If the fir	m's hea	ad offic	e is no	t in Ca	nada, g	jo to q	uestion	2.2.				
2.2	Firms v	vhose	head o	ffice is	s not ir	n Cana	da						
(a)	Does th	e firm h	nave ar	ny busi	ness a	ddress	es in C	anada?)				
	Yes		No										
	If yes, p	rovide	the firm	n's prin	nary Ca	anadiar	busin	ess add	dress:				
	Addre	ss line	1										
	Addre	ss line	2										
	City							Provir	ce/terr	itory			
	Postal	code											
(b)	since be clients t	eing reg to be re sdiction	gistered sident of Can	d, indicated the contract the c	ate the end of i which	jurisdie ts curre	ction o	f Canad ancial ye	la in wh ear. In a	ich the all othe	e firm e r circu	xpects mstand	nancial ye most of i ces, indica id of its m
	AB □	ВС	МВ □	NB □	NL	NS	NT	NU	ON	I PE			SK YT

(2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) April 15, 2011 262

A post office box is
acceptable for a
mailing address.

2.3 Mailing address

Same a	as the	head	office	address

Address line 1	
Address line 2	
0:1	D : // 1
City	Province/territory/state
Country	Postal/zip code

If the firm does not have an office in a jurisdiction of Canada where it is seeking registration, it must appoint an agent for service in that jurisdiction of Canada.

2.4 Address for service and agent for service

Attach a completed Schedule B Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service for each jurisdiction of Canada where the firm is seeking registration and does not have an office.

Contact names

2.5 Ultimate designated person

A registered firm must have an individual registered in the category of ultimate designated person.

Legal name	
Officer title	
Telephone number	
E-mail address	
NRD number, if available	
Address	
☐ Same as firm head office address	
Address line 1	
Address line 2	
City	Province/territory/state
Country	Postal/zip code

2.6 Chief compliance officer

Same as ultimate designated person

A registered firm must have an individual registered in the category of chief compliance officer.

Legal name
Officer title
Telephone number
E-mail address

April 15, 2011 263 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

''''	RD number, if available			
Ad	dress			
	☐ Same as firm head office address			
Ad	dress line 1			
Ad	dress line 2			
Cit	у	Province/territory/state		
Со	untry	Postal/zip code		
	Business history and str	ructure		
The	firm's business			
	et market, and the products and services it	provide to ellerite.		
Othe	er names			
In ac	er names ddition to the firm's legal name in question and the name?	1.1, does the firm use any othe	er names	s, su
In ac	ddition to the firm's legal name in question de name?	1.1, does the firm use any othe	er names	S, SU
In ac a tra Yes	ddition to the firm's legal name in question de name?		er names	s, su
In ac a tra Yes If ye	ddition to the firm's legal name in question ide name?		er names	S, SU
In ac a tra	ddition to the firm's legal name in question ide name? No s, list all other names and indicate if each	name has been registered:		S, SU
In ac a tra	ddition to the firm's legal name in question ide name? No s, list all other names and indicate if each increase documents	name has been registered:		
In accaptance a training a traini	ddition to the firm's legal name in question ide name? No s, list all other names and indicate if each increase documents	name has been registered: support its business activities?		Nd
In ac a tra	ddition to the firm's legal name in question ide name? No s, list all other names and indicate if each iness documents s the firm have the following documents to	name has been registered: support its business activities? years ng account opening		

If the regulator in British Columbia, Alberta, Manitoba or New Brunswick is the principal regulator of the firm seeking registration, attach the firm's business plan, policies and procedures manual and client agreements, including any investment policy statements and investment management agreements.

April 15, 2011 264 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

History of the firm When was the firm created?

3.4

yyyy/mm/dd 3.5 How was the firm created? New start-up Go to question 3.7. Merger or amalgamation Go to question 3.6. Reorganization Go to question 3.6. Other statutory arrangement Please specify below and go to question 3.6. 3.6 **Predecessors** List the entities that were merged, amalgamated, reorganized or otherwise arranged to create the firm.

3.7 **Constating documents**

Attach the legal documents that established the firm as an entity, for example, the firm's articles and certificate of incorporation, any articles of amendments, partnership agreement or declaration of trust. If the firm is a sole proprietorship, provide a copy of the registration of trade name.

As part of their constating documents, firms whose head office is outside Canada may be required to provide proof of extra-provincial registration.

Business structure and ownership

3.8 Type of legal structure

Sole proprietorship Partnership Limited partnership Name of general partner Corporation Other Please specify _

3.9 Business registration number, if applicable

This is the firm's corporate registration number or Québec enterprise number (NEQ).

List the firm's business registration number for each jurisdiction of Canada where the firm is seeking registration.

Business registration number	Jurisdiction of Canada

April 15, 2011 265 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

3.10 Permitted individuals

List all permitted individuals of the firm.

Name	Title	NRD number, if applicable

3.11 Organization chart

Attach an organization chart showing the firm's reporting structure. Include all permitted individuals, the ultimate designated person and the chief compliance officer.

3.12 Ownership chart

Attach a chart showing the firm's structure and ownership. At a minimum, include all parents, specified affiliates and specified subsidiaries.

Include the name of the person or company, and class, type, amount and voting percentage of ownership of the firm's securities.

Part 4 – Registration history

The questions in Part 4 apply to any jurisdiction and any foreign jurisdiction.

4.1 Securities registration

In the last seven years, has the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm been registered or licensed to trade or advise in securities or derivatives?				
∕es □ No □				
If yes, provide the following information for each registration:				
Name of entity				
Registration category				
Regulator/organization				
Date registered or licensed (yyyy/mm/dd) Expiry date, if applicable (yyyy/mm/dd)				
Jurisdiction				
Function from a consisting and interesting				

4.2 Exemption from securities registration

Is the firm currently	relying on any	exemptions	from regis	stration or	licensing to	ວ trade or
advise in securities	or derivatives	?				

Yes No

April 15, 2011 266 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

If yes, provide the following information for each	exemption:
Type of exemption	
Regulator/organization	
Date of exemption (yyyy/mm/dd)	
Jurisdiction	
Membership in an exchange or SRO	
Yes No	
If yes, provide the following information for each	membership:
Name of entity	
Organization	
Date of membership (yyyy/mm/dd)	Expiry date, if applicable (yyyy/mm/dd)
Jurisdiction	L
Yes No	
Jurisdiction	
Has the firm, or any predecessors or specified a	ffiliates of the firm been refused registration,
If yes, provide the following information for each Name of entity Reason for refusal	refusal:
	Regulator/organization Date of exemption (yyyy/mm/dd) Jurisdiction Membership in an exchange or SRO In the last seven years, has the firm, or any prediction been a member of a securities or derivatives exceed yes. No

April 15, 2011 267 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Date of refusal (yyyy/mm/dd)
Jurisdiction

4.6

Examples of other financial products include financial planning, life insurance and mortgages.

Registration for other financial products			
In the last seven years, has the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm been registered or licensed under legislation that requires registration or licensing to sell or advise in a financial product other than securities or derivatives?			
Yes No			
If yes, provide the following information for each	n registration or licence:		
Name of entity			
Type of licence or registration			
Regulator/organization			
Date of registration (yyyy/mm/dd)	Expiry date, if applicable (yyyy/mm/dd)		
Jurisdiction			

Part 5 - Financial condition

Capital requirements

5.1 Calculation of excess working capital

Attach the firm's calculation of excess working capital.

- Investment dealers must use the capital calculation form required by the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC).
- Mutual fund dealers must use the capital calculation form required by the Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada (MFDA), except for mutual fund dealers registered in Québec only
- Firms that are not members of either IIROC or the MFDA must use Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital. See Schedule C.

5.2 Sources of capital

List all cash, cash equivalents, debt and equity sources of the firm's capital.

Name of person or entity providing the capital	Type of capital	Amount (\$)

5.3 Guarantors

See Schedule C Form 31-103F1

In relation to its business, does the firm:

April 15, 2011 268 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) Calculation of Excess Working Capital.

		Yes	No
(a)	Have any guarantors?		
(b)	Act as a guarantor for any party?		

If yes, provide the following information for each guarantee:

Name of party to the guarantee	
NRD number, if applicable	
Relationship to the firm	Amount of guarantee (\$)
Details of the guarantee	

Bonding and insurance

Questions 5.4 to 5.8 apply to the firm's bonding or insurance coverage or proposed bonding or insurance coverage for securities and derivatives activities only. This in accordance with Part 12, Division 2 of NI 31-103.

5.4 Jurisdictions covered

This information is on the financial institution bond.

Where does the firm have bonding or insurance coverage?

AB	
BC	
	\vdash
MB	ᆜ
NB	
NL	
NS	一百
NT	Ħ
	=
NU	
ON	
PE	
QC	一百
	\vdash
SK	Ш
ΥT	

If the firm's bonding or insurance does not cover all jurisdiction of Canada where it is seeking registration, explain why.

5.5 Bonding or insurance details

This information is on the binder of insurance or on the financial institution bond.

Name of insurer	
Bond or policy number	
Specific insuring agreements and clauses	
Coverage for each claim (\$)	Annual aggregate coverage (\$)
Total coverage (\$)	
Amount of the deductible (\$)	Expiry date (yyyy/mm/dd)

April 15, 2011 269 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Total coverage (\$) Amount of the deductible (\$) Renewal da Jurisdictions covered: AB BC MB NB NL NS NT NU (
If the firm is seeking registration in Québec as a mutual fur dealer, provide the following information about the firm's p Name of insurer	rfessional liability insurance (Québe	only)
Name of insurer Policy number Specific insuring agreements and clauses Coverage for each claim (\$) Annual agg Total coverage (\$) Amount of the deductible (\$) Renewal da Jurisdictions covered: AB BC MB NB NL NS NT NU O Jurisdictions covered: Which insurance policy applies to your representatives? Firm's policy Individual's policy Both Directors' resolution approving insurance Attach a directors' resolution confirming that the firm has securities or derivatives-related activities. Bonding or insurance claims In the last seven years, has the firm made any claims again yes No If yes, provide the following information for each claim: Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$		
Policy number Specific insuring agreements and clauses Coverage for each claim (\$) Annual agg Total coverage (\$) Amount of the deductible (\$) Renewal day Jurisdictions covered: AB BC MB NB NL NS NT NU OB ADDITIONAL STREET OF THE NEW ADDITIONA		
Specific insuring agreements and clauses Coverage for each claim (\$) Annual agg Total coverage (\$) Amount of the deductible (\$) Renewal da Jurisdictions covered: AB BC MB NB NL NS NT NU O Which insurance policy applies to your representatives? Firm's policy Individual's policy Both Directors' resolution approving insurance Attach a directors' resolution confirming that the firm has securities or derivatives-related activities. Bonding or insurance claims In the last seven years, has the firm made any claims againates and the provided in the	ame of insurer	
Specific insuring agreements and clauses Coverage for each claim (\$) Annual agg Total coverage (\$) Amount of the deductible (\$) Renewal day Jurisdictions covered: AB BC MB NB NL NS NT NU ON This insurance policy applies to your representatives? Firm's policy Individual's policy Both Directors' resolution approving insurance Attach a directors' resolution confirming that the firm has a securities or derivatives-related activities. Bonding or insurance claims In the last seven years, has the firm made any claims again and the last seven years, has the firm made any claims again and the last seven years. Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$	blicy number	
Total coverage (\$) Amount of the deductible (\$) Amount of the deductible (\$) Renewal data and the deductible (\$) Amount of the deductible (\$) Amount of the deductible (\$) Renewal data and the deductible (\$) AB BC MB NB NL NS NT NU (\$) Which insurance policy applies to your representatives? Firm's policy Individual's policy Both Directors' resolution approving insurance Attach a directors' resolution confirming that the firm has securities or derivatives-related activities. Bonding or insurance claims In the last seven years, has the firm made any claims againates Yes No f yes, provide the following information for each claim: Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$		
Total coverage (\$) Amount of the deductible (\$) Renewal data data data data data data data da		Appual aggregate coverage (\$)
Amount of the deductible (\$) Renewal data		Annual aggregate coverage (\$)
Jurisdictions covered: AB BC MB NB NL NS NT NU O Which insurance policy applies to your representatives? Firm's policy Individual's policy Both Directors' resolution approving insurance Attach a directors' resolution confirming that the firm has securities or derivatives-related activities. Bonding or insurance claims In the last seven years, has the firm made any claims againates No f yes, provide the following information for each claim: Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$	otal coverage (\$)	
AB BC MB NB NL NS NT NU O Which insurance policy applies to your representatives? Firm's policy Individual's policy Both Directors' resolution approving insurance Attach a directors' resolution confirming that the firm has securities or derivatives-related activities. Bonding or insurance claims In the last seven years, has the firm made any claims againates No If yes, provide the following information for each claim: Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$	mount of the deductible (\$)	Renewal date (yyyy/mm/dd)
Which insurance policy applies to your representatives? Firm's policy	risdictions covered:	
Pirm's policy		
Directors' resolution approving insurance Attach a directors' resolution confirming that the firm has securities or derivatives-related activities. Bonding or insurance claims In the last seven years, has the firm made any claims agained and the last seven years, has the firm ma	hich insurance policy applies to your re	resentatives?
Directors' resolution approving insurance Attach a directors' resolution confirming that the firm has securities or derivatives-related activities. Bonding or insurance claims In the last seven years, has the firm made any claims againates Yes No If yes, provide the following information for each claim: Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$	rm's policy	☐ Both ☐
Attach a directors' resolution confirming that the firm has securities or derivatives-related activities. Bonding or insurance claims In the last seven years, has the firm made any claims againates Yes No Types, provide the following information for each claim: Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$		
Bonding or insurance claims In the last seven years, has the firm made any claims againates Yes No If yes, provide the following information for each claim: Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$	ectors' resolution approving insura	е
Bonding or insurance claims In the last seven years, has the firm made any claims again Yes No Significant No		the firm has sufficient insurance coverage
In the last seven years, has the firm made any claims againg Yes No Service No Service If yes, provide the following information for each claim: Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$	urities or derivatives-related activities.	
Yes No Service No Service If yes, provide the following information for each claim: Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$	nding or insurance claims	
If yes, provide the following information for each claim: Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$	he last seven years, has the firm made	ny claims against a bond or on its insurand
Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$	s No 🗆	
Type of bond or insurance Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$	es, provide the following information fo	each claim:
Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd) Amount (\$		
,	•	A
Reason for claim	,	Amount (\$)
	eason for claim	

April 15, 2011 270 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Solvency

5.9	Bankruptcy				
	In the last seven years, has the firm or any of its specified affiliates declared bankruptcy, made an assignment or proposal in bankruptcy, or been the subject of a petition in bankruptcy, or the equivalent in any jurisdiction?				
	Yes No				
	If yes, provide the following information for ea	ach bankruptcy or assignment in bankruptcy:			
	Name of entity				
	Reason for bankruptcy or assignment				
	Date of bankruptcy, assignment or petition (yyyy/mm/dd)	Date discharge granted, if applicable (yyyy/mm/dd)			
	Name of trustee				
	Jurisdiction				
5.10	If applicable, attach a copy of any discharge, Appointment of receiver				
	In the last seven years, has the firm or any of receiver manager, or had one appointed, or t	its specified affiliates appointed a receiver or the equivalent in any jurisdiction?			
	Yes No				
	If yes, provide the following information for ea	ach appointment of receiver:			
	Name of entity				
	Date of appointment (yyyy/mm/dd)	Reason for appointment			
	Date appointment ended (yyyy/mm/dd)	Reason appointment ended			
	Name of receiver or receiver manager				
	Jurisdiction				
	Financial reporting				
5.11	Financial year-end				
	(mm/dd)				
	If the firm has not established its financial year	_l ar-end, explain why.			

April 15, 2011 271 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Provide the name of the individual auditing the financial statements and the name of the firm, if applicable.

5.1	Au			

Name of auditor and accounting firm

5.13 Audited financial statements

- (a) Attach, for your most recently completed year, either
- (i) non-consolidated audited financial statements; or
- (ii) audited financial statements prepared in accordance with section 3.2(3) of NI 52-107.
- (b) If the audited financial statements attached for item (a) were prepared for a period ending more than 90 days before the date of this application, also attach an interim financial report for a period of not more than 90 days before the date of this application.

If the firm is a start-up company, you can attach an audited opening statement of financial position instead.

5.14 Letter of direction to auditors

We may request an audit of the firm at any time while the firm is registered.

Attach a letter of direction from the firm authorizing the auditor to conduct any audit or review of the firm that the regulator may request.

Part 6 - Client relationships

6.1 Client assets

See Part 14, Division 3 of NI 31-103 and Companion Policy 31-103CP.

For guidance regarding whether a firm will hold or have access to client assets see section 12.4 of Companion Policy 31-103CP.

Will t	he firm	hold o	r have access to client assets?	
Yes		No		

If yes, provide the following information for each financial institution where the trust accounts for client assets are held.

Name of financial institution	
Address line 1	
Address line 2	
City	Province/territory
Postal code	Telephone number

6.2 Conflicts of interest

Does the firm have or expect to have any relationships that could reasonably result in any significant conflicts of interest in carrying out its registerable activities in accordance with securities or derivatives legislation?

Yes □ No □

If yes, complete the following questions:

(a) Provide details about each conflict:

April 15, 2011 272 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	(b)	Does the firm have policies and procedures to identify and respond to its conflicts of interest?
	Yes	□ No □
	If no,	explain why:
Part	7 –	Regulatory action
		questions in Part 7 apply to any jurisdiction and any foreign jurisdiction. The information be provided in respect of the last 7 years.
7.1	Settle	ement agreements
	agree	the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm entered into a settlement ement with any financial services regulator, securities or derivatives exchange, SRO or or organization?
	Yes	□ No □
	If yes	, provide the following information for each settlement agreement:
	Nam	ne of entity
	Reg	ulator/organization
	Date	e of settlement (yyyy/mm/dd)
	Deta	ails of settlement
	Juris	sdiction
7.2	Disci	plinary history
		any financial services regulator, securities or derivatives exchange, SRO or similar sization:

(a) Determined that the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm violated any securities regulations or any rules of a securities or derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organization?

(b) Determined that the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm made a false statement or omission?

(c) Issued a warning or requested an undertaking by the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm?

(d) Suspended or terminated any registration, licensing or membership of the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm?

(e) Imposed terms or conditions on any registration or membership of the firm, or predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm?

April 15, 2011 273 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	(f)	Conducted a proceeding or investigation predecessors or specified affiliates of the				
	(g) Issued an order (other than an exemption order) or a sanction to the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm for securities or derivatives-related activity (e.g. cease trade order)?					
	If yes	s, provide the following information for eac	h action:			
	Nar	me of entity				
	Тур	pe of action				
	Rec	gulator/organization				
		e of action (yyyy/mm/dd)	Reason for action			
		isdiction	Troubon for dollon			
	Juli	Sulction				
7.3	Ong	oing investigations				
		e firm aware of any ongoing investigations ates is the subject?	of which the firm or any of its sp	pecified		
	Yes	□ No □				
	If yes	s, provide the following information for each	h investigation:			
	Nar	me of entity				
	Rea	ason or purpose of investigation				
	Regulator/organization					
	Date investigation commenced (yyyy/mm/dd)					
	Juri	isdiction				
Part	8 –	· Legal action				
		firm must disclose offences or legal action ness activities in any jurisdiction. The infor ars.				
8.1	Crim	ninal convictions				
		the firm, or any predecessors or specified nal or quasi-criminal offence?	affiliates of the firm been convic	eted of any		
	Yes	□ No □				
	If yes	s, provide the following information for each	h conviction:			
	Nar	me of entity				
	Тур	pe of offence				
	Cas	se name	Case number, if app	licable		

April 15, 2011 274 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Date of	conviction (yyyy/mm/dd)		
Jurisdict	ion		
Is the firm quasi-crin Yes If yes, pro Name of	offence charge (yyyy/mm/dd)	ding crim	nin
Junsuici	IOII		
Outstand	ling legal actions	1	_
	ne firm currently a defendant or respondent (or the equivalent in jurisdiction) in any outstanding legal action?	Yes	
resp lega	any of the firm's specified affiliates currently a defendant or condent (or the equivalent in any jurisdiction) in any outstanding all action that involves fraud, theft or securities-related activities, or could significantly affect the firm's business?		
If yes, pro	ovide the following information for each legal action:		
Name of	f entity		_
Type of	legal action		
Date of I	egal action (yyyy/mm/dd)		
Current	stage of litigation		
Remedie	es requested by plaintiff or appellant		
Jurisdict	ion		_
Judgmen	nts		
		Voc	Т
(a) Has	any judgment been rendered against the firm or is any judgment	Yes	+
outs	standing in any civil court for damages or other relief relating to d, theft or securities-related activities?		
	any of the firm's specified affiliates currently the subject of any ments that involve fraud, theft or securities-related activities, or		

April 15, 2011 275 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

that could significantly affect the firm's business?	
If yes, provide the following information for each judgment:	
Name of entity	
Type of judgment	
Date of judgment (yyyy/mm/dd)	
Current stage of litigation, if applicable	
Remedies requested by plaintiffs	

that could significantly affect the firm's business?

Part 9 - Certification

It is an offence under securities legislation or derivatives legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.

By signing below, you:

- 1. Certify to the regulator in each jurisdiction of Canada where the firm is submitting and filing this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:
 - you have read this form, and
 - to the best of your knowledge and after reasonable inquiry, all of the information provided on this form is true and complete.
- Certify to each regulator in a non-principal jurisdiction of Canada where the firm is submitting and filing this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, that at the date of this submission:
 - the firm has submitted and filed all information required to be submitted and filed under the securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both of the principal jurisdiction of Canada in relation to the firm's registration in that jurisdiction, and
 - this information is true and complete.
- Authorize the principal regulator to give each non-principal regulator access to any
 information the firm has submitted or filed with the principal regulator under securities
 legislation or derivatives legislation or both of the principal jurisdiction of Canada in
 relation to the firm's registration in that jurisdiction.
- 4. Acknowledge that the regulator may collect and provide personal information about the individuals referred to in this form under *Collection and use of personal information*.
- Confirm that the individuals referred to in this form have been notified that their personal information is disclosed on this form, the legal reason for doing so, how it will be used and who to contact for more information.

Name of firm
Name of firm's authorized signing officer or partner
Title of firm's authorized signing officer or partner
Signature
Date (yyyy/mm/dd)

April 15, 2011 276 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Witness

The witness must be a lawyer, notary public or commissioner of oaths.

Name of witness	
Title of witness	
Signature	
Date (yyyy/mm/dd)	

April 15, 2011 277 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule A Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250–5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Allention. Director, Regulatory Arian

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6 Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division
Department of Justice
Government of Nunavut
P.O. Box 1000 Station 570
Iqaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8 Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry
Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division
P.O. Box 2000
Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8
Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities
Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3 Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Autorité des marchés financiers

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600
Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9
Attention: Privacy Officer
Telephone: (416) 364-6133
E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

April 15, 2011 278 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule B Submission to jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service

1.	Name of person or company (the "Firm"):		
2.	Jurisdiction of incorporation of the person or comp	any:	
3.	Name of agent for service of process (the "Agent for	or Service"):	
4.	Address for service of process on the Agent for Se	rvice:	
	Phone number of the Agent for Service:		
5.	served a notice, pleading, subpoena, summons or quasi-criminal or other proceeding (a "Proceeding"	Service at the address stated above as its agent upon whom may be other process in any action, investigation or administrative, criminal, ') arising out of or relating to or concerning the Firm's activities in the to raise as a defense in any such proceeding any alleged lack of	
6.	The Firm irrevocably and unconditionally submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the judicial, quasi-judicial and administrative tribunals of the local jurisdiction and any administrative proceeding in the local jurisdiction, in any proceeding arising out of or related to or concerning the Firm's activities in the local jurisdiction.		
7.	Until six years after the Firm ceases to be registered	ed, the Firm must file	
		pointment of Agent for Service in this form no later than the 10th day ion and Appointment of Agent for Service is terminated; and	
	b. an amended Submission to Jurisdiction a any change in the name or above addres	and Appointment of Agent for Service no later than the 10th day after s of the Agent for Service.	
8.	This Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of the laws of the local jurisdiction.	of Agent for Service is governed by and construed in accordance with	
Dated: ₋			
(Signati	ure of the Firm or authorized signatory)		
(Name	and Title of authorized signatory)		
Accept	rance		
	dersigned accepts the appointment as Agent for Se going Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment o	ervice of (Insert name of the Firm) under the terms and conditions of f Agent for Service.	
Dated:			
(Signati	ure of Agent for Service or authorized signatory)		
(Name	and Title of authorized signatory)		

April 15, 2011 279 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule C

FORM 31-103F1 CALCULATION OF EXCESS WORKING CAPITAL

	Firm Name	
	Capital Calculation	
(as at	with comparative figures as at)

	Component	Current period	Prior period
1.	Current assets		
2.	Less current assets not readily convertible into cash (e.g., prepaid expenses)		
3.	Adjusted current assets Line 1 minus line 2 =		
4.	Current liabilities		
5.	Add 100% of long-term related party debt unless the firm and the lender have executed a subordination agreement in the form set out in Appendix B and the firm has delivered a copy of the agreement to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority		
6.	Adjusted current liabilities Line 4 plus line 5 =		
7.	Adjusted working capital Line 3 minus line 6 =		
8.	Less minimum capital		
9.	Less market risk		
10.	Less any deductible under the bonding or insurance policy required under Part 12 of National Instrument 31-103, Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations		
11.	Less Guarantees		
12.	Less unresolved differences		

April 15, 2011 280 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

13.	Excess working capital		
-----	------------------------	--	--

Notes:

This form must be prepared using the accounting principles that you use to prepare your financial statements in accordance with National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards. Section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations provides further guidance in respect of these accounting principles.

Line 5. Related-party debt - Refer to the CICA Handbook for the definition of "related party" for publicly accountable enterprises.

Line 8. Minimum Capital – The amount on this line must be not less than (a) \$25,000 for an adviser and (b) \$50,000 for a dealer. For an investment fund manager, the amount must be not less than \$100,000 unless subsection 12.1(4) applies.

Line 9. Market Risk – The amount on this line must be calculated according to the instructions set out in Schedule 1 to this Form.

Line 11. Guarantees – If the registered firm is guaranteeing the liability of another party, the total amount of the guarantee must be included in the capital calculation. If the amount of a guarantee is included in the firm's statement of financial position as a current liability and is reflected in line 4, do not include the amount of the guarantee on line 11.

Line 12. Unresolved differences – Any unresolved differences that could result in a loss from either firm or client assets must be included in the capital calculation. The examples below provide guidance as to how to calculate unresolved differences:

- (i) If there is an unresolved difference relating to client securities, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the fair value of the client securities that are short, plus the applicable margin rate for those securities.
- (ii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to the registrant's investments, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the fair value of the investments (securities) that are short.
- (iii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to cash, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the amount of the shortfall in cash.

Please refer to section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations for further guidance on how to prepare and file this form.

Management Certification						
Registered Firm Name:						
	•	ify that the firm is in compliance with	the capital requirements as at			
	·					
Name and Title 1.	Signature	Date				
	_					
2						

April 15, 2011 281 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule 1 of Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital (calculating line 9 [market risk])

For purposes of completing this form:

- (1) "Fair value" means the value of a security determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises.
- (2) For each security whose value is included in line 1, Current Assets, multiply the fair value of the security by the margin rate for that security set out below. Add up the resulting amounts for all of the securities you hold. The total is the "market risk" to be entered on line 9.

(a) Bonds, Debentures, Treasury Bills and Notes

(i) Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by the Government of Canada, of the United Kingdom, of the United States of America and of any other national foreign government (provided such foreign government securities are currently rated Aaa or AAA by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor's Corporation, respectively), maturing (or called for redemption):

within 1 year: 1% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing

the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years:

1 % of fair value
over 3 years to 7 years:

2% of fair value
over 7 years to 11 years:

4% of fair value
over 11 years:

4% of fair value

(ii) Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by any jurisdiction of Canada and obligations of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, maturing (or called for redemption):

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing

the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years:

3 % of fair value
over 3 years to 7 years:

4% of fair value
over 7 years to 11 years:

5% of fair value
over 11 years:

5% of fair value

(iii) Bonds, debentures or notes (not in default) of or guaranteed by any municipal corporation in Canada or the United Kingdom maturing:

within 1 year: 3% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing

the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years: 5 % of fair value over 3 years to 7 years: 5% of fair value over 7 years to 11 years: 5% of fair value over 11 years: 5% of fair value

- (iv) Other non-commercial bonds and debentures, (not in default): 10% of fair value
- (v) Commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes (not in default) and non-negotiable and non-transferable trust company and mortgage loan company obligations registered in the registered firm's name maturing:

April 15, 2011 282 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

within 1 year: 3% of fair value
over 1 year to 3 years: 6 % of fair value
over 3 years to 7 years: 7% of fair value
over 7 years to 11 years: 10% of fair value
over 11 years: 10% of fair value

(b) Bank Paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a Canadian chartered bank (and of Canadian chartered bank acceptances) maturing:

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the

number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

(c) Acceptable foreign bank paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a foreign bank, readily negotiable and transferable and maturing:

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the

number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

(d) Mutual Funds

Securities of mutual funds qualified by prospectus for sale in any jurisdiction of Canada:

- (i) 5% of the net asset value per security as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure, where the fund is a money market mutual fund as defined in National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds; or
- (ii) the margin rate determined on the same basis as for listed stocks multiplied by the net asset value per security of the fund as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 *Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure*.

(e) Stocks

In this paragraph, "securities" includes rights and warrants and does not include bonds and debentures.

(i) On securities including investment fund securities, rights and warrants, listed on any exchange in Canada or the United States of America:

Long Positions - Margin Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more – 50% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.75 to \$1.99 – 60% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.74 – 80% of fair value

Securities selling under \$1.50 – 100% of fair value

April 15, 2011 283 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

[&]quot;Acceptable Foreign Bank Paper" consists of deposit certificates or promissory notes issued by a bank other than a Canadian chartered bank with a net worth (i.e., capital plus reserves) of not less than \$200,000,000.

Short Positions - Credit Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more - 150% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.99 - \$3.00 per share

Securities selling at \$0.25 to \$1.49 - 200% of fair value

Securities selling at less than \$0.25 - fair value plus \$0.25 per shares

- (ii) For positions in securities that are constituent securities on a major broadly-based index of one of the following exchanges, 50% of the fair value:
 - (a) Australian Stock Exchange Limited
 - (b) Bolsa de Madrid
 - (c) Borsa Italiana
 - (d) Copenhagen Stock Exchange
 - (e) Euronext Amsterdam
 - (f) Euronext Brussels
 - (g) Euronext Paris S.A.
 - (h) Frankfurt Stock Exchange
 - (i) London Stock Exchange
 - (j) New Zealand Exchange Limited
 - (k) Stockholm Stock Exchange
 - (I) Swiss Exchange
 - (m) The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
 - (n) Tokyo Stock Exchange

(f) Mortgages

- (i) For a firm registered in any jurisdiction of Canada except Ontario:
 - (a) Insured mortgages (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Mortgages which are not insured (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.
- (ii) For a firm registered in Ontario:
 - (a) Mortgages insured under the National Housing Act (Canada) (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Conventional first mortgages (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.

If you are registered in Ontario regardless of whether you are also registered in another jurisdiction of Canada, you will need to apply the margin rates set forth in (ii) above.

(g) For all other securities – 100% of fair value.

April 15, 2011 284 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 33-109F7 REINSTATEMENT OF REGISTERED INDIVIDUALS AND PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS (sections 2.3 and 2.5(2))

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Complete and submit this form to the relevant regulator(s) or in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, or self-regulatory organization (SRO) if an individual has left a sponsoring firm and is seeking to reinstate their registration in the same category or reinstate their same status of permitted individual as before with a sponsoring firm. You only need to complete and submit one form regardless of the number of registration categories or permitted individual statuses you are seeking to be reinstated in.

An individual may reinstate their registration or permitted individual status by submitting this form. This form may only be used if all of the following apply:

- 1. this form is submitted on or before the end of three months after the cessation date of the individual's employment, partnership or agency relationship with the individual's former sponsoring firm,
- 2. there have been no changes to the information previously submitted in respect of Items 13 (Regulatory Disclosure), 14 (Criminal Disclosure), 15 (Civil Disclosure) and 16 (Financial Disclosure) of the individual's Form 33-109F4 since the individual left their former sponsoring firm, and
- 3. the individual's employment, partnership or agency relationship with their former sponsoring firm did not end because the individual was asked by the firm to resign, resigned voluntarily or was dismissed, following an allegation against the individual of criminal activity, a breach of securities legislation, or a breach of the rules of an SRO.

If you do not meet all of the above conditions then you must apply for reinstatement by completing on NRD a Form 33-109F4 by making the NRD submission entitled 'Reactivation of Registration'.

Terms

In this form, "you", "your" and "individual" means the individual who is seeking to reinstate their registration or their status as permitted individual.

"former sponsoring firm" means the registered firm where you most recently carried out duties as a registered or permitted individual.

"major shareholder" and "shareholder" mean a shareholder who, in total, directly or indirectly owns voting securities carrying 10 per cent or more of the votes carried by all outstanding voting securities.

"new sponsoring firm" means the registered firm where you will begin carrying out duties as a registered or permitted individual when your registration or permitted individual status is reinstated.

Several terms used in this form are defined in the Form 33-109F4 [Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals] that you submitted when you first became registered or elsewhere in the securities legislation of your province or territory. Please refer to those definitions.

How to submit this form

NRD format

Submit this form at the National Registration Database (NRD) website in NRD format at www.nrd.ca. If you have any questions, contact the compliance, registration or legal department of the new sponsoring firm or a legal adviser, or visit the NRD information website at www.nrd-info.ca.

Format, other than NRD format

If you are relying on the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of National Instrument 31-102 *National Registration Database*, you may submit this form in a format other than NRD format.

April 15, 2011 285 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

If you need more space, use a separate sheet of paper. Clearly identify the Item and question number. Complete and sign the form, and send it to the relevant regulator(s) or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, SRO (s) or similar authority. The number of originally signed copies of the form you are required to submit depends on the province or territory, and on the regulator, the securities regulatory authority or SRO.

To avoid delays in processing this form, be sure to answer all of the items that apply to you. If you have questions, contact the compliance, registration or legal department of the new sponsoring firm or a legal adviser, or visit the National Registration Database information website at www.nrd-info.ca.

Item 1	Name									
1.	NRD number:									
2.	Legal n	egal name								
Last nar		First r	2000		Second name (N/A)	Third name (N/A □)				
					Second name (N/A 🔲)	Trilla fiame (N/A 🔲)				
3.		f birth (YYYY/MM/DD):								
4.		other nar								
name(s)	Are you mention	currently ed above	using, of the contract of the	or have mple,	e you ever used, operated trade names for sole propr	I under, or carried on business under, a name other than the rietorships or team names)?				
	Yes		No							
	If "yes",	complete	Schedu	le A.						
Item 2	Numbe	r of jurise	dictions							
1.	Are you	seeking t	to reinsta	ate you	ur registration or permitted	individual status in more than one jurisdiction of Canada?				
	Yes	П	No							
•		_			to outside our and a seldon					
2. individua		eacn prov	ince or to	erritor	y in which you are seeking	reinstatement of registration or reinstatement as a permitted				
		All jurisc	lictions							
		Alberta								
		British C	Columbia							
		Manitob	а							
		New Bru	ınswick							
		Newfour	ndland a	nd Lal	brador					
		Northwe	st Territo	ories						
		Nova So	cotia							
		Nunavut	t							
		Ontario								
		Prince E	dward Is	sland						
		Québec								

April 15, 2011 286 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

		Saskatchewan
		Yukon
Item 3	Individu	al categories
	f you are	edule B, check each category for which you are seeking to reinstate your registration or permitted individual seeking reinstatement of status as a permitted individual, check each category that describes your position onsoring firm.
2. are you		e seeking reinstatement as a representative of a mutual fund dealer or of a scholarship plan dealer in Québec, by your new sponsoring firm's professional liability insurance?
	Yes	□ No □
	If "No", s	state:
The nan	ne of you	insurer
Your pol	icy numb	er
Item 4	Address	s and agent for service
1.	Address	s for service
		st have one address for service in each province or territory where you are submitting this form. A residential or is acceptable. A post office box is not acceptable. Complete Schedule C for each additional address for roviding.
Address	for servi	ce:
(number	, street, c	sity, province or territory, postal code)
Telepho	ne numb	er Fax number, if applicable
E-mail a	ddress, if	available
2.	Agent fo	or service
	ou have a	ave appointed an agent for service, provide the following information for the agent in each province or territory an agent for service. The address of your agent for service must be the same as the address for service above. service is not an individual, provide the name of your contact person.
Name of	f agent fo	r service:
Contact		ast name, First name
ltam F		
item 5		n of employment
1. provide		the following information for your new sponsoring firm. If you will be working out of more than one location, ring information for the location out of which you will be doing most of your business.
Unique I	dentificat	ion Number (optional):
NRD loc	ation nur	nber:
Busines	s address	(number, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)
Telepho	ne numb	er: () Fax number: ()

April 15, 2011 287 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

2. the loca	f the new sponsoring firm has a foreign head office, and/or you are not a resident of Canada, provide the address forn in which you will be conducting business.									
Business address:										
Business address:(number, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)										
Telepho	e number: () Fax number: ()									
[The fol	wing under #3 "Type of location", #4 and #5 is for a Format other than NRD format only]									
3.	Type of location:									
	☐ Head office ☐ Branch or Business Location ☐ Sub-branch									
4.	Name of branch manager:									
5. Otherw	Check here if the mailing address of the location is the same as the business address provided above e, complete the following:									
Mailing	ddress:									
	(number, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)									
Item 6	Previous employment									
	Provide the following information for your former sponsoring firm.									
Name:										
or perm	Date on which you were no longer authorized to act on behalf of your former sponsoring firm as a registered individual:									
	(YYYY/MM/DD)									
The reason why you left your former sponsoring firm:										
The rea	on why you left your former sponsoring firm:									
	on why you left your former sponsoring firm: Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships									
ltem 7										
Item 7 Name of	Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships									
Item 7 Name of and bus firm. Also comper	Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships your new sponsoring firm: Complete a separate Schedule D for each of your current business and employment activities, including employment ess activities with your new sponsoring firm and any employment and business activities outside your new sponsorin include all business related officer or director positions and any other equivalent positions held, whether you receiv									
Item 7 Name of and bus firm. Also comper	Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships your new sponsoring firm: Complete a separate Schedule D for each of your current business and employment activities, including employment ess activities with your new sponsoring firm and any employment and business activities outside your new sponsorin include all business related officer or director positions and any other equivalent positions held, whether you receivation or not.									
Item 7 Name of and bus firm. Also comper	Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships your new sponsoring firm: Complete a separate Schedule D for each of your current business and employment activities, including employment ess activities with your new sponsoring firm and any employment and business activities outside your new sponsorin include all business related officer or director positions and any other equivalent positions held, whether you receivation or not. Complete a separate Schedule D for each of your current business and employment activities, including employment ess activities outside your new sponsoring include all business related officer or director positions and any other equivalent positions held, whether you receivation or not.									
Item 7 Name of and bus firm. Also comper	Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships your new sponsoring firm: Complete a separate Schedule D for each of your current business and employment activities, including employment ess activities with your new sponsoring firm and any employment and business activities outside your new sponsorin include all business related officer or director positions and any other equivalent positions held, whether you receivation or not. Dwnership of securities in new sponsoring firm Are you a partner or major shareholder of your new sponsoring firm?									
Item 7 Name of and bus firm. Also comper	Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships your new sponsoring firm: Complete a separate Schedule D for each of your current business and employment activities, including employment ess activities with your new sponsoring firm and any employment and business activities outside your new sponsorin include all business related officer or director positions and any other equivalent positions held, whether you receive ation or not. Dwnership of securities in new sponsoring firm Are you a partner or major shareholder of your new sponsoring firm? Yes No									
Item 7 Name of and bus firm. Alsomper Item 8 Item 9 1.	Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships your new sponsoring firm: Complete a separate Schedule D for each of your current business and employment activities, including employment ess activities with your new sponsoring firm and any employment and business activities outside your new sponsorin include all business related officer or director positions and any other equivalent positions held, whether you receive ation or not. Complete Schedule in new sponsoring firm Are you a partner or major shareholder of your new sponsoring firm? Yes No f "Yes", complete Schedule E.									
Item 7 Name of and bus firm. Alsomper Item 8 Item 9 1.	Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships /our new sponsoring firm:									
Item 7 Name of and bus firm. Alsomper Item 8 Item 9 1.	Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships your new sponsoring firm: Complete a separate Schedule D for each of your current business and employment activities, including employmer ess activities with your new sponsoring firm and any employment and business activities outside your new sponsorin include all business related officer or director positions and any other equivalent positions held, whether you receivation or not. Dwnership of securities in new sponsoring firm Are you a partner or major shareholder of your new sponsoring firm? Yes									

April 15, 2011 288 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- 2. Check the box below I am eligible to file this Form 33-109F7, only if you satisfy both of the following conditions:
 - (a) there are no changes to any of the disclosure items under Item 9.1 above, and
- (b) your employment, partnership or agency relationship with your former sponsoring firm did not end because you were asked by the firm to resign or resigned voluntarily, or were dismissed, following an allegation against you of
 - criminal activity,
 - a breach of securities legislation, or
 - a breach of the rules of an SRO.

If you do not meet the above conditions for selecting the box 'I am eligible to file this Form 33-109F7', then you must apply for reinstatement by completing on NRD a Form 33-109F4 by making the NRD submission entitled 'Reactivation of Registration'. If you are submitting a Form 33-109F4 in a format other than NRD format you must complete the entire form.

☐ I am eligible to file this Form 33-109F7.

Item 10 Acknowledgements, submission to jurisdiction and notice of collection and use of personal information

By submitting this form, you:

- acknowledge that the submission to jurisdiction, consent to collection and use of personal information, and authorization in respect of SROs (to the extent applicable) that you provided in your Form 33-109F4 remain in effect and extend to this form
- consent to the collection and disclosure of your personal information by regulators and by your sponsoring firm, in each case, for registration and other related regulatory purposes.

If you have any questions about the collection and use of your personal information, contact the securities regulatory authority or applicable SRO in the relevant jurisdiction. See Schedule F for details. In Québec, you can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouv.gc.ca.

You acknowledge and agree that if you are seeking reinstatement of your registration and it was subject to any undischarged terms and conditions when you left your former sponsoring firm, those terms and conditions will remain in effect at your new sponsoring firm.

Item 11 Warning

It is an offence under securities legislation and/or derivatives legislation, including commodity futures legislation, to give false or misleading information on this form.

Item 12 Certification

1. Certification - NRD format:

I confirm I have discussed the questions in this form with an officer, branch manager or supervisor of my sponsoring firm. To the best of my knowledge, the officer, branch manager or supervisor was satisfied that I fully understood the questions. I will limit my activities to those permitted by my category of registration.

I am making this submission as agent for the individual. By checking this box, I certify that the individual provided me with all of the information on this form.

2. Certification - Format other than NRD format:

Individual

By signing below, I certify to the regulator, or in Québec the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form, either directly or through the principal regulator that:

April 15, 2011 289 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

By signing below, I certify to the regulator, or in Québec the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form for the individual that:

- the individual will be engaged by the new sponsoring firm as a registered individual or a permitted individual
- I have, or a branch manager or another officer or supervisor has, discussed the questions set out in this form
 with the individual and, to the best of my knowledge, the individual fully understands the questions, and
- the new sponsoring firm understands that if the individual's reinstatement of registration was subject to any
 undischarged terms and conditions when the individual left their former sponsoring firm, those terms and
 conditions remain in effect and agrees to assume any ongoing obligations that apply to the sponsoring firm in
 respect of the individual under those terms and conditions.

Name of firm	
Name of authorized signing officer or partner	
Title of authorized signing officer or partner	
Signature of authorized signing officer or partner	
Date signed(YYYY/MM/DD)	

April 15, 2011 290 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE A Use of other names (Item 1.4)

Item 1.4 Use of other names			
Name 1:			
Name:			
Provide the reasons for the use of this o	ther name (for example, tra	de name or team name)?:	
If this other name is or was use name?	ed in connection with any sp	ponsoring firm, did the sponsoring firm approve the use	e of the
Yes 🗌 No 🗌			
When did you use this name?	From:	То:	
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)	
Name 2:			
Name:			
Provide the reasons for the use	e of this other name (for exa	ample, trade name or team name):	
If this other name is or was use name?	ed in connection with any sp	ponsoring firm, did the sponsoring firm approve the use	e of the
Yes No C			
When did you use this name?	From:	То:	
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)	
Name 3:			
Name:			
Provide the reasons for the use	e of this other name (for exa	ample, trade name or team name):	
If this other name is or was use name?	ed in connection with any sp	ponsoring firm, did the sponsoring firm approve the use	e of the
Yes No			
When did you use this name?	From:	То:	
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)	

April 15, 2011 291 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE B Individual Categories (Item 3)

Check each category for which you are seeking reinstatement of registration, approval or permitted individual status

Categories Common to all jurisdictions under securities legislation

Firm categories [Format other than NRD format only] [] Investment Dealer [] Mutual Fund Dealer [] Scholarship Plan Dealer [] Exempt Market Dealer [] Restricted Dealer [] Portfolio Manager [] Restricted Portfolio Manager [] Investment Fund Manager
Individual categories and permitted activities [] Dealing Representative [] Advising Representative [] Ultimate Designated Person [] Chief Compliance Officer [] Officer – Specify title: [] Director [] Partner [] Shareholder [] Branch Manager (MFDA members only) [] IIROC approval only
IIROC
Approval categories [] Executive [] Director (Industry) [] Director (Non-Industry) [] Supervisor [] Investor [] Registered Representative [] Investment Representative [] Trader
Additional approval categories [] Chief Compliance Officer [] Chief Financial Officer [] Ultimate Designated Person
Products [] Non-Trading [] Securities [] Options [] Futures Contracts and Futures Contract Options [] Mutual Funds only
Customer type [] Retail [] Institutional [] Not Applicable
Portfolio management [] Portfolio Management

April 15, 2011 292 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Categories under local commodity futures and derivatives legislation

_		
()	nta	rio

Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant
Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer – Specify title: [] Director [] Partner [] Shareholder [] IIROC approval only
<u>Manitoba</u>
Firm categories [] Dealer (Merchant) [] Dealer (Futures Commission Merchant) [] Dealer (Floor Broker) [] Adviser [] Local
Individual categories and permitted activities [] Floor Trader [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Adviser [] Officer – Specify title [] Director [] Partner [] Futures Contracts Portfolio Manager [] Associate Futures Contracts Portfolio Manager [] IIROC approval only [] Local
Québec – activities relating to derivatives
For information purposes, indicate whether you will carry on activities as a representative of: [] An Investment Dealer Acting as a Derivatives dealer [] A Portfolio Manager Acting as a Derivatives portfolio manager

April 15, 2011 293 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE C Address and agent for service (Item 4)

You must have one address for service in each province or territory in which you are now, or are seeking to become, a

Item 4.1 Address for service

Last name, First name

registered individual or permitted individual. A post office box is not an acceptable address for service.

Address for service:

(number, street, city, province or territory, postal code)

Telephone number: (____) ____ Fax number: (___) _____

E-mail address: _____

Item 4.2 Agent for service

If you have appointed an agent for service, provide the following information for the agent. The address for service provided above must be the address of the agent named below.

Name of agent for service: ______

(if applicable)

Contact person:

April 15, 2011 294 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE D Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships (Item 7)

Complete a separate Schedule E for each of your current business and employment activities with your sponsoring firm and with all other organizations. This includes any business related officer or director positions held, or any other equivalent positions held, whether you receive compensation or not.

1.	Start date
(YYYY /	MM/DD)
2.	Firm information
	Check here if this activity is employment with your sponsoring firm.
below:	If the activity is with your sponsoring firm, you are not required to indicate the firm name and address information
Name o	of business or employer:
Addres	s of business or employer:
(numbe	er, street, city, province, territory or state, country)
Name a	and title of your immediate supervisor:
3.	Description of duties
with thi	Describe all employment and business activities related to this employer. Include the nature of the business and your title or relationship with the business. If you are seeking registration that requires specific experience, include details s firm such as level of responsibility, value of accounts under direct supervision, number of years of experience, and age of time spent on each activity.
4.	Number of work hours per week
	How many hours per week do you devote to this business or employment?
	If this activity is employment with your sponsoring firm and you work less than 30 hours per week, explain why.
5.	Conflict of Interest
If you h	ave more than one employer or are engaged in business related activities:
	lose any potential for confusion by clients and any potential for conflicts of interest arising from your multiple employment ness related activities or proposed business related activities.

April 15, 2011 295 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

B. Indicate whether or not any of your employers or organizations where you engage in business related activan exchange.	vities are listed on
C. Confirm whether the firm has procedures for minimizing potential conflicts of interest and if so, confirm that these procedures.	you are aware of
D. If you do not perceive any conflicts of interest arising from this employment, explain why.	

April 15, 2011 296 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE E Ownership of securities and derivatives firms (Item 8)

Firm na	me:											
What is	your rela	tionship	to the fire	m?	Partner		Major sha	reholder 🗌				
What is	the perio	d of this	relations	hip?								
	From:			To:			(if applica	ble)				
	(YYYY/	MM)	_	(YYYY	/MM)	_						
	•	•	wing info	•	,							
		re when	you are	reinstate	d or appro	oved as a	result of th	urities, or the ne review of t n, or if upon tr	his form. If a	cquiring s	hares whe	en you are
held by	b) you or ar						essary) of a u to the firm:	any subordina :	ated debentu	res or bo	nds of the	firm to be
firm and	c) I state the				has provi and that			to invest in th	ne firm, provi	de the na	— me of the	person or
firm?	d)	Are the	e funds to	be inve	sted (or p	roposed	to be inves	sted) guarant	eed directly o	or indirect	tly by any	person or
	Yes		No									
	If "Yes",	provide	the nam	e of the p	erson or f	irm and s	state the rela	ationship bet	ween you and	d that pers	son or firm	1:
		re regist	ered or a	approved	as a resu	ilt of the i	review of th	ing to these s is form, inter rtnership inte	d to give up	any of the	ese rights	
	Yes		No									
describe	If "Yes" the righ	, provide ts that ha	e the na ave been	me of th or will be	e person e given up	or firm,	state the re	elationship b	etween you	and that	person or	firm and
held by	f) you?	ls a pe	rson oth	er than y	ou the be	neficial o	wner of the	shares, bon	ds, debentur	es, partne	ership unit	s or notes
	Yes		No									
	If "Yes",	comple	te (g), (h)	and (i).								
	g)	Name	of benefic	cial owne	r:							
Last na	me		First na	ame		Second (if appli			l name oplicable)			

April 15, 2011 297 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

h)	Residential ad	ddress:		
(number, street	, city, province, to	territory or state, country, post	tal code)	
i)	Occupation:			

April 15, 2011 298 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE F Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142. Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320 Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division P.O. Box 2000 Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8 Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3 Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer

Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

COMPANION POLICY 33-109CP REGISTRATION INFORMATION

PART 1 – GENERAL

1.1 Purpose

This Companion Policy sets out how the Canadian Securities Administrators interpret or apply National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information (the Rule).

The registration requirement in securities legislation provides protection to investors from unfair, improper or fraudulent practices and enhances capital market integrity and efficiency. The information required under the Rule allows regulators to assess a filer's fitness for registration or for permitted individual status, with regard to their solvency, integrity and proficiency. These fitness requirements are the cornerstones of the registration requirement. In each jurisdiction of Canada the registration requirement and the Rule apply to dealers, underwriters, advisers and investment fund managers and to individuals who act on their behalf as registered or permitted individuals.

1.2 Definition of permitted individuals

Section 1.1 of the Rule defines a permitted individual as an individual who meets the criteria set forth in either subsection (a) or subsection (b) of the definition, or both. A permitted individual may or may not be a registered individual. For example, the chief executive officer of a registered firm is registered as the firm's ultimate designated person and is also a permitted individual. The definition of permitted individual allows the Rule to separate out the filing requirements which are applicable only to permitted individuals from those which are applicable to registered individuals.

1.3 Overview of the forms

The following forms are for firms:

- Form 33-109F6 Firm Registration to apply for registration as a dealer, adviser or investment fund manager
- Form 33-109F3 Business Locations other than Head Office to disclose each business location of the firm and any change of location

The following forms are for individuals and are submitted in NRD format:

- Form 33-109F1 Notice of Termination of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals to notify the regulator that a registered or permitted individual has ceased to have authority to act on behalf of the firm
- Form 33-109F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals to apply for registration or review as a permitted individual
- Form 33-109F2 Change or Surrender of Individual Categories to apply for registration or review in an additional category or to surrender a category
- Form 33-109F7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals to reinstate an individual's registration or a permitted individual status

1.4 Notice requirements

Form 33-109F5 Change of Registration Information is used by firms and individuals to notify regulators of any change to their registration information. Under sections 3.1 and 4.1 of the Rule a registrant and a permitted individual must keep their registration information current on an ongoing basis by filing notices of change of information within the required time.

Appendix A summarizes the notice requirements, time periods and the forms under the Rule to notify regulators of a change to a firm's or individual's registration information.

1.5 Contact information

When a firm submits a Form 33-109F6, supporting documents or a Form 33-109F5, it can make the submission using e-mail, fax or mail. Appendix B attached to this policy sets out the contact information for the regulator in each jurisdiction of Canada

April 15, 2011 300 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

and for the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (**IIROC**) in those jurisdictions where the securities regulatory authority has delegated, assigned or authorized IIROC to perform registration functions.

PART 2 - FORMS USED BY INDIVIDUALS

2.1 National Registration Database (NRD)

The NRD is the database containing information about all registrants and permitted individuals under securities or commodity futures legislation in each jurisdiction of Canada. The requirement for firms to enrol, and to make certain submissions, on NRD are set out in National Instrument 31-102 *National Registration Database*. Detailed information about the NRD and the enrolment process is available in the NRD User Guide published at www.nrd-info.ca.

2.2 Form 33-109F4

Types of submissions using Form 33-109F4

The NRD format for submitting a completed Form 33-109F4 under subsections 2.2(1) or 2.5(1) of the Rule include four distinct NRD submission types that are made in the following circumstances:

- Initial Registration, when an individual is seeking registration, or review as a permitted individual, through NRD for the first time
- Registration in an Additional Jurisdiction, when an individual is registered or is a permitted individual in a
 jurisdiction of Canada and is seeking registration, or review as a permitted individual, in an additional
 jurisdiction
- Registration with an Additional Sponsoring Firm, when an individual is registered, or is a permitted individual, on behalf of one sponsoring firm and applies for registration, or seeks review as a permitted individual, to act on behalf of an additional sponsoring firm
- Reactivation of registration, when an individual who has an NRD record is applying for registration, reinstatement of registration or is seeking review as a permitted individual and is not eligible under sections 2.3(2) or 2.5(2) of the Rule to submit a Form 33-109F7

Submissions by permitted individuals

Under subsection 2.5(1) of the Rule, within 10 days of becoming a permitted individual, the individual must submit a Form 33-109F4 for review by the regulator. An individual whose registration is suspended may apply to reinstate the registration by submitting a completed Form 33-109F4 to the regulator. This is done with the *Reactivation of registration* submission on NRD. After making this submission the individual may not conduct activities requiring registration unless and until the regulator has approved the application. However, an application for reinstatement or review is not required if the individual meets all of the conditions for automatic reinstatement in subsections 2.3(2) or 2.5(2) of the Rule, which include submitting a completed Form 33-109F7 to the regulator as described in section 2.5 below.

Agent for service

Item 18 Agent for service of Form 33-109F4 is a certification clause by the individual that he or she has completed the appointment for service required in each relevant jurisdiction. There is no distinct form under NI 33-109 for the appointment of an agent for service for use by individuals. Please refer to the form used by the registered firm. This format is acceptable to the regulator.

2.3 Form 33-109F2

This form is used by individuals to apply to add or to surrender a registration category or to seek review of a change in their permitted individual category. If an individual has ceased to have authority to act on behalf of their sponsoring firm as a registered or permitted individual in the last jurisdiction of Canada where they were so acting, they cannot submit a Form 33-109F2. Instead, the individual's sponsoring firm submits a Form 33-109F1 to notify the regulator of the termination or cessation of authority to act on behalf of the firm.

2.4 Form 33-109F5 for individuals

When an individual submits a Form 33-109F5 to update their registration information the NRD will transmit the information to the regulator in each jurisdiction in which the individual is registered or is a permitted individual. However, only the principal

April 15, 2011 301 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

regulator processes the submission to update the individual's registration information on NRD, or if necessary to deny or withdraw the submission.

Form 33-109F5 should not be used by an individual applying to add or surrender a registration category or to seek review of a change in his/her permitted individual category. In this case, Form 33-109F2 is used. It should also be noted that Form 33-109F5 is not used by an individual that is registered or is a permitted individual in a jurisdiction of Canada and is seeking registration, or review as a permitted individual, in an additional jurisdiction. In this case, a Form 33-109F4 is used and is identified on NRD as *Registration in an additional jurisdiction*. This also applies to an individual adding a sponsoring firm; Form 33-109F4 is used and is identified on NRD as *Registration with an additional sponsoring firm*.

2.5 Form 33-109F7 for reinstatement

When an individual leaves a sponsoring firm and joins a new registered firm, they may submit a Form 33-109F7 to have their registration or permitted individual status automatically reinstated in the same category and jurisdiction(s) as before, subject to all of the conditions set out in subsection 2.3(2) or 2.5(2) of the Rule. An individual who meets all of the applicable conditions will be able to transfer directly from one sponsoring firm to another and start engaging in activities requiring registration from the first day that they submit the Form 33-109F7.

2.6 Ongoing fitness for registration

Every registrant must maintain their fitness for registration on an ongoing basis. Under securities legislation, the regulator has discretionary authority to suspend or revoke an individual's registration or to restrict it with terms and conditions at any time. The regulator may do this, for example, if it receives information through a notice of termination from an individual's former sponsoring firm or any other source that raises concerns about the individual's continued fitness for registration. Individuals will be given an opportunity to be heard before a decision is made to suspend or revoke registration or to impose terms and conditions.

PART 3 - FORMS USED BY FIRMS

3.1 Form 33-109F6

When a firm submits a Form 33-109F6 to apply for registration, it may pay the regulatory fees to the applicable regulators by cheque or by using the NRD function called *Resubmit Fee Payment*. A firm that applies in multiple jurisdictions should submit its application to the regulator in the principal jurisdiction or, if Ontario is a non-principal jurisdiction, to the regulators in the principal jurisdiction and in Ontario. For more details refer to National Policy 11-204 *Process for registration in multiple jurisdictions*.

3.2 Form 33-109F5

A firm that is registered in multiple jurisdictions may submit a Form 33-109F5 to its principal regulator only to notify regulators of a change to the firm's registration information, in accordance with subsection 3.1(6) of the Rule.

3.3 Form 33-109F3

A firm must notify the regulator of each business location in the jurisdiction, including a residence, where a firm's registered individuals are based for the purpose of carrying out activities that require registration. Firms submit this form through the NRD website.

3.4 Discretionary exemption for bulk transfers

Regulators will consider an application for an exemption from certain requirements in the Rule to facilitate a reorganization or combination of firms which would otherwise require a large number of submissions to change locations and transfer individuals. The information required, and the conditions to obtain, this type of exemption application are described in the attached Appendix C.

3.5 Form 33-109F1

Under section 4.2 of the Rule, a registered firm must notify the regulator no more than 10 days after an individual ceased to have authority to act on behalf of the firm, as a registered or permitted individual. Typically, this occurs due to the termination of the individual's employment, partnership or agency relationship with the firm. However, it also occurs when an individual is reassigned to a different position at the firm that does not require registration or is not a permitted individual category. Form 33-109F1 is submitted through the NRD website to give notice of the cessation date and the reason for the termination or cessation.

April 15, 2011 302 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Under paragraph 4.2(1)(b) of the Rule, the information in item 5 [Details about the termination] of a Form 33-109F1 must be submitted unless the cessation of authority to act on behalf of the firm was caused by the death of the individual. A firm can submit the information in item 5 either at the time of the making the initial submission on NRD, if the information is available within that 10 day period, or within 30 days of the cessation date, by making an NRD submission entitled *Update / Correct Termination Information*.

PART 4 – DUE DILIGENCE BY FIRMS

4.1 Obligations of former sponsoring firm

After submitting a Form 33-109F1 with regard to a former sponsored individual a firm should promptly send the individual a copy of the completed Form 33-109F1. Under subsections 4.2(3) and (4) of the Rule, within 10 days of a request by a former sponsored individual, a firm must provide the individual with a copy of the Form 33-109F1 that was submitted, and if necessary, a further copy that includes the information in item 5 of the Form 33-109F1, within 10 days of submitting that information.

4.2 Obligations of new sponsoring firm

- (1) In fulfilling its obligations under subsection 5.1(1) of the Rule, a firm should make reasonable efforts to do all of the following:
 - establish written policies and procedures to verify an individual's information prior to submitting a Form 33-109F4 or Form 33-109F7 on behalf of the individual
 - document the firm's review of an individual's information in accordance with the firm's policies and procedures
 - regularly remind registered and permitted individuals about their disclosure obligations under the Rule, such
 as notifying the regulator about changes to their registration information

Under subsection 5.1(2) of the Rule, within 60 days of hiring a sponsored individual a firm must obtain a copy of the most recent Form 33-109F1, if any, for the individual. If a sponsoring firm cannot obtain it from the sponsored individual, as a last resort the individual should request it from the regulator.

The information referred to above will assist the firm in meeting its obligations under subsection 5.1(1) of the Rule and should inform the firm's hiring decisions. If an individual is hired before a completed Form 33-109F1 is available and if the firm discovers an inconsistency in the individual's disclosure to the firm or the regulator, then the firm should take appropriate action. All of the required information should be available within 60 days of hiring the individual, which will often fall within the individual's probation period under their employment or agency contract.

PART 5 - COMMODITY FUTURES ACT SUBMISSIONS

5.1 Ontario

In Ontario, if a person or company is required to make a submission under both the Rule and OSC Rule 33-506 (*Commodity Futures Act*) with respect to the same information, the securities regulatory authority is of the view that a single filing on a form required under either rule satisfies both requirements.

5.2 Manitoba

In Manitoba, the Rule is a rule under each of the Securities Act and the Commodity Futures Act. A single submission with respect to the same information will satisfy the requirements of both statutes.

April 15, 2011 303 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Appendix A

Summary of Notice Requirements in National Instrument 33-109

Description of Change	Notice Period	Section	Form submitted
Firms – Form 33-109F6 information			by e-mail, fax or mail
Part 1 – Registration details	10 days		Form 33-109F5
Part 2 – Contact information, including head office address (except 2.4)	10 days	3.1(1)(b)	1 01111 33-1031 3
Item 2.4 –Agent and Address for service [items 3 and 4 of Schedule B to Form 33-109F6]	10 days	3.1(4)	Schedule B to Form 33- 109F6 Submission to Jurisdiction
Part 3 – Business history & structure	30 days	3.1(1)(a)	
Part 4 – Registration history	10 days		
Part 5 – Financial condition	10 days	3.1(1)(b)	Form 33-109F5
Part 6 – Client relationships	10 days	J. 1(1)(b)	
Part 7 – Regulatory action	10 days		
Part 8 – Legal action	10 days		
Firms – other notice requirements			in NRD format
Open / change of business location (other than head office)	10 days	3.2	Form 33-109F3
Termination / Cessation of Authority of a registered or permitted individual – items 1 – 4 item 5	10 days	4.2(2)(a)	Form 33-109F1
	30 days	4.2(2)(b)	
Individuals – Form F4 information			in NRD format
Item 1 – Name	10 days	4.4/4)/[])	
Item 2 – Address	10 days	4.1(1)(b)	
Item 3 – Personal information	No update required	4.1(2)	
Item 4 – Citizenship	30 days	4.1(1)(a)	
Item 5 – Registration jurisdictions	10 days		
Item 6 – Individual categories	4.1(1)(b)		
Item 7 – Address for service	10 days	4.1(1)(6)	Form 33-109F5
Item 8 – Proficiency	10 days		
Item 9 – Location of employment	10 days		
Item 10 – Current employment	10 days		
Item 11 – Previous employment	30 days	4.1(1)(a)	
Item 12 – Terminations	10 days		
Item 13 – Regulatory disclosure	10 days	4.1(1)(b)	
Item 14 – Criminal disclosure	10 days	1.1(1)(0)	
Item 15 – Civil disclosure	10 days		
Item 16 – Financial disclosure	10 days		
Item 17 – Ownership of securities	10 days		
Change of F4: registrant position or relationship with sponsoring firm / permitted status	10 days	4.1(4)	Form 33-109F2

April 15, 2011 304 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Description of Change	Notice Period	Section	Form submitted
Review of a Permitted individual	10 days after appointment	2.5	Form 33-109F4 or Form 33-109F7, subject to conditions
Automatic reinstatement of registration subject to conditions	within 90 days of cessation date	2.3(2)	Form 33-109F7

April 15, 2011 305 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Appendix B

Contact Information for the Regulators and IIROC

- Part 1 provides the regulators' contact information for registrants in all categories, except for those in the jurisdictions and categories listed in Part 2
- Part 2 below, provides IIROC's contact information in the jurisdictions where IIROC performs registration functions for representatives of investment dealers and, in some cases, for investment dealer firms

PART 1 - Regulators' Contact Information

PART 1 – Regulators' Contact Information	T =
Alberta	British Columbia
e-mail: registration@asc.ca	e-mail: registration@bcsc.bc.ca
fax: (403) 297-4113	fax: (604) 899-6506
Alberta Securities Commission,	British Columbia Securities Commission
Suite 600, 250–5th St. SW	P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre
Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Registration department	701 West Georgia Street
	Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2
	Attention: Registration
Manitoba	New Brunswick
e-mail: registrationmsc@gov.mb.ca	e-mail: nrs@nbsc-cvmnb.ca
fax: (204) 945-0330	fax:(506) 658-3059
The Manitoba Securities Commission	Fax: New Brunswick Securities Commission
500-400 St. Mary Avenue	Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street
Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5	Saint John, NB E2L 2J2
Attention: Registrations	Attention: Registration Officer
	nrs@nbsc-cvmnb.ca
Newfoundland and Labrador	Northwest Territories
e-mail: scon@gov.nl.ca	e-mail: SecuritiesRegistry@gov.nt.ca
fax: (709) 729-6187	fax: (867) 873-0243
Financial Services Regulation Division	Government of the Northwest Territories
Department of Government Services	P.O. Box 1320
Government of Newfoundland and Labrador	Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9
P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block	Attention: Exemption Review Staff
Confederation Building	
St. John's, NL A1B 4J6	
Attention: Registration Section	
Nova Scotia	Nunavut
e-mail: nrs@gov.ns.ca	e-mail: CorporateRegistrations@gov.nu.ca
fax: (902) 424-4625	fax: (867) 975-6594
Nova Scotia Securities Commission	Legal Registries Division
2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building	Department of Justice
1690 Hollis Street	Government of Nunavut
P.O. Box 458	P.O. Box 1000 Station 570
Halifax, NS B3J 3J9	Iqaluit, NU X0A 0H0
Attention: Registration	Attention: Deputy Registrar

April 15, 2011 306 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

PART 1 - Regulators' Contact Information

PART 1 – Regulators' Contact Information	
Ontario	Prince Edward Island
Ontario Securities Commission	e-mail: ccis@gov.pe.ca
Suite 1903, Box 55	fax: (902) 368-5283
20 Queen Street West	Consumer and Corporate Services Division,
Toronto, ON M5H 3S8	Office of the Attorney General
Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation	P.O. Box 2000, 95 Rochford Street
Telephone: (416) 593-8314	Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8
e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca	Attention: Superintendent of Securities
Québec	Saskatchewan
e-mail: inscription@lautorite.qc.ca	e-mail: registrationsfsc@gov.sk.ca
fax: (514) 873-3090	fax: (306) 787-5899
Autorité des marchés financiers	Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission
Service de l'encadrement des intermédiaires	Suite 601
800 square Victoria, 22e étage	1919 Saskatchewan Drive
C.P 246, Tour de la Bourse	Regina, SK S4P 4H2
Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3	Attention: Registration
Yukon Territory	
e-mail: corporateaffairs@gov.yk.ca	
fax: (867) 393-6251	
Department of Community Services Yukon	
Yukon Securities Office	
P.O. Box 2703	
Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6	
Attention: Superintendent of Securities	

PART 2 - Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada Contact Information

** Alberta – IIROC **	**British Columbia – IIROC**
	e-mail: registration@iiroc.ca
** Saskatchewan- IIROC **	fax: 604-683-3491
e-mail: registration@iiroc.ca	1055 West Georgia Street
fax: (403) 265-4603	Suite 2800 – Royal Centre
#2300, 355- 4 th Avenue SW,	Vancouver, BC V6E 3R5
Calgary, AB T2P 0J1	Attention: Registration department
Attention: Registration department	
** Newfoundland and Labrador – IIROC **	* Québec – IIROC *
	e-mail: registration@iiroc.ca
* Ontario – IIROC *	fax: (514) 878-0797
e-mail: registration@iiroc.ca	Organisme canadien de réglementation du commerce
fax: (416) 364-9177	des valeurs mobilières
Suite 1600, 121 King Street West	5 Place Ville Marie
Toronto, ON M5H 3T9	Bureau 1550
Attention: Registration department	Montréal (Québec) H3B 2G2
	Attention : Service des inscriptions
	·

(2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) April 15, 2011 307

^{**} registration of investment dealer firms and their representatives **
* registration of investment dealer representatives *

Appendix C

Discretionary Exemption for Bulk Transfers of Locations and Individuals

- (1) If a registered firm is acquiring a large number of business locations (for example, as a result of an amalgamation or asset purchase) from one or more other registered firms that are located in the same jurisdiction(s) and registered in the same categories as the acquiring firm, and if a significant number of individuals are associated on NRD with the locations, the regulator will consider granting an exemption from any or all of the following requirements:
 - (a) to submit a notice regarding the termination of each employment, partner, or agency relationship under section 4.2 of the Rule:
 - (b) to submit a registration application or a reinstatement notice for each individual seeking be a registered individual under section 2.2 or 2.3 of the Rule;
 - (c) to submit a Form 33-109F4 or Form 33-109F7 for each permitted individual under section 2.5 of the Rule;
 - (d) to notify the regulator of a change to the business location information in Form 33-109F3 under section 3.2 of the Rule.
- (2) The exemption application should be submitted by the registered firm that will acquire control of the business locations at the closing of the transaction and should be submitted well in advance of the date (**transfer date**) on which the business locations will be transferred. It would typically be sufficient if a firm submits the application at least 30 days before the transfer date. An application for this type of exemption should include the following information:
 - (a) the name and NRD number of the registered firm that will acquire control of the business locations;
 - (b) for each registered firm that is transferring control of the business locations;
 - (i) the name and NRD number of the registered firm,
 - (ii) the address and NRD number of each business location that is being transferred from the registered firm named in (b)(i) to the registered firm named in (a),
 - (iii) the date that the business locations and individuals will be transferred to the registered firm named in (a).
- (3) If the exemption is granted, as soon as practicable after the transfer date, the regulator will instruct the NRD administrator to record on NRD the transfer of the business locations, registered individuals and permitted individuals.
- (4) Bulk transfers involving firms that are registered in different categories or different jurisdictions may need to take additional steps. Firms involved in such a transaction should contact their principal regulator to discuss what steps are required for the firm to be eligible for a bulk transfer exemption as described above.
- (5) A firm applying for this type of exemption in more than one jurisdiction should refer to National Policy 11-203 *Process for Exemption Applications in Multiple Jurisdictions* for guidance on the form of application and the information required. The firm may set out the information referred to in (2) as follows:
 - A) Registered firm that will acquire the business locations
 Name:

Firm NRD number:

B) Registered firm transferring the business locations

Name:

Firm NRD number:

Business locations that will be transferred Address of business location:
NRD number of business location:
Address of business location:
NRD number of business location:

(Repeat for each business location as necessary)

C) Date that business locations will be transferred:

April 15, 2011 308 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

NOTICE OF AMENDMENTS TO OSC RULE 33-506 (COMMODITY FUTURES ACT) REGISTRATION INFORMATION

Introduction

The Ontario Securities Commission (the Commission or OSC) is implementing amendments (the Amendments) to OSC Rule 33-506 (Commodity Futures Act) Registration Information and the forms under it (OSC Rule 33-506).

Other than non-substantive differences necessary because it is made under the *Commodities Futures Act*, Ontario (the CFA), OSC Rule 33-506 is identical to NI 33-109 *Registration Information* (NI 33-109). Amendments to OSC Rule 33-506 were published for comment on June 25, 2010 in conjunction with proposed amendments to National Instrument 31-103 *Registration Requirements and Exemptions* and related national instruments, including NI 33-109 (collectively, the National Instruments).

Amendments to the National Instruments are being implemented at the same time as the Amendments to OSC Rule 33-506, as set out in a notice published today by the Canadian Securities Administrators (the CSA).

Summaries of the comments received on the proposed amendments to the National Instruments and the amendments to them that will be implemented are included in their notice of publication. Copies of the comment letters are posted on our website: www.osc.gov.on.ca. None of the comments were specific to OSC Rule 33-506, but comments relating to NI 33-109 were generally applicable to OSC Rule 33-506, as well. The CSA made changes to certain of the proposed amendments to the National Instruments, and we have made corresponding changes to OSC Rule 33-506. We concluded that these changes do not require the OSC to publish the Amendments for another comment period.

The Amendments are subject to the approval of the Ontario Minister of Finance.

Substance and purpose of the Amendments

The Amendments will make changes to ensure OSC Rule 33-506 and the forms used under it continue to match those used under NI 33-109 after they are amended. Ensuring that the forms used under these two rules match facilitates a more streamlined registration process.

Summary of Amendments to OSC Rule 33-506

(a) <u>Definition of permitted individuals</u>

We clarified the definition of permitted individual in section 1.1 of OSC Rule 33-506 and added guidance in the Companion Policy indicating that a permitted individual may or may not be a registered individual.

(b) <u>Timelines for filing</u>

We amended all provisions setting out the filing timelines of notices. Where a notice was previously required to be filed in 7 days it is now required to be filed within 10 days.

(c) Voluntary resignation

We added the words "resigned voluntarily" in section 2.3(2)(b) to correlate with Form 33-506F7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals.

(d) Application to Change or Surrender Individual Registration Categories

We repealed section 4.2 of OSC Rule 33-506 because the technical changes we made to section 4.1 of OSC Rule 33-506, conforming the language with the requirements in Form 33-506F2 *Change or Surrender of Individual Categories*, makes the substance of section 4.2 redundant.

(e) Termination of employment

We revised section 4.3(1)(b) of OSC Rule 33-506 so that the information in item 5 [Details about the termination] must be completed in all cases of termination, unless the termination was due to the death of the individual.

(f) Use of forms

We added additional guidance in 33-506CP regarding the use of the forms.

April 15, 2011 309 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Summary of Amendments to OSC Rule 33-506 Forms

(a) Technical changes and updating contact information

We made certain technical changes to the following forms to update contact information and add clarity:

- Form 33-506F1 Notice of Termination of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals
- Form 33-506F3 Business Locations Other Than Head Office
- Form 33-506F5 Change of Registration Information
- Form 33-506F7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals

(b) Form 33-506F2 Change or Surrender of Individual Categories

In addition to technical changes, updating contact information and clarifications, we amended Form 33-506F2 in order to add a question on relevant securities industry experience in Item 4 – *Adding categories*.

(c) Form 33-506F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals (Form 33-506F4)

In addition to technical changes, updating contact information and clarifications, we amended Form 33-506F4 in order to:

- add a question on relevant securities industry experience in Item 8 Proficiency;
- add questions relative to the CFA Charter and the CIM designation in Schedule E *Proficiency (Item 8)*;
- add questions on relevant securities industry experience in Schedule F Proficiency (Items 8.3 and 8.4); and
- add a question in Schedule G Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships (Item 10) with respect to the name of the person at the sponsoring firm who has reviewed and approved the multiple employment or business related activities or proposed business related activities.

We added guidance in 33-506CP on Item 18 *Agent for service* to clarify that there is no distinct form which is prescribed under OSC Rule 33-506 for the appointment of an agent for service for use by individuals, and that the form used by the registered firm constitutes an acceptable format to the regulator.

(d) Form 33-506F6 Firm Registration (Form 33-506F6)

In addition to technical changes, updating contact information and clarifications, we amended Form 33-506F6 in order to:

- clarify what we mean by "jurisdiction", "jurisdiction of Canada" and "foreign jurisdiction" and that the questions in Part 4 Registration History and Part 7 Regulatory Action are to be answered in respect of any jurisdiction of Canada and any foreign jurisdiction. In other parts of Form 33-506F6, references to "jurisdictions" or "jurisdiction of Canada" refer to all provinces and territories of Canada;
- clarify the audited financial statement requirements in section 5.13; and
- state that the information provided in Part 7 Regulatory Action and Part 8 Legal Action is limited to the last 7 years, which is consistent with the regulator's administrative practice with respect to the Form 33-506F6 as required under Part 6.1 of OSC Rule 33-506 (namely, the transitional F6). We remind registrants that, as outlined in Part 9 Certification, all information must be provided to the best of the applicant's knowledge and after reasonable inquiry.

Authority for the Amendments

The Amendments are made under the authority of paragraphs 1, 7 and 22 of subsection 65(1) of the CFA.

Where to find more information

OSC Rule 33-506 is available on the OSC's website: www.osc.gov.on.ca.

April 15, 2011 310 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Questions

Please refer your questions to:

Leigh-Ann Ronen Legal Counsel, Compliance and Registrant Regulation Ontario Securities Commission Tel: 416-204-8954 Ironen@osc.gov.on.ca

April 15, 2011

April 15, 2011 311 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

AMENDMENTS TO ONTARIO SECURITIES COMMISSION RULE 33-506 (COMMODITY FUTURES ACT) REGISTRATION INFORMATION

- 1. Ontario Securities Commission Rule 33-506 (Commodity Futures Act) Registration Information is amended by this Instrument.
- 2. Section 1.1 is amended
 - (a) by deleting the definitions of "NI 31-103" and "Rule 31-509", and
 - (b) in the opening statement of the definition of "permitted individual" by deleting the words "who is not a registered individual and" and in paragraph (a) by replacing "and" with "or".
- 3. Sections 1.2, 2.1 and 2.2 are amended by replacing "Rule 31-509" wherever the expression occurs with "Ontario Securities Commission Rule 31-509 National Registration Database (Commodity Futures Act)".
- 4. Section 2.3 is amended
 - (a) in subsection (1) by replacing "Rule 31-509" with "Ontario Securities Commission Rule 31-509 National Registration Database (Commodity Futures Act)",
 - (b) in subsection (2) by replacing "Rule 31-509" with "Ontario Securities Commission Rule 31-509 National Registration Database (Commodity Futures Act)", and
 - (c) in paragraph (2)(b) by adding "resigned voluntarily," after "resign,".
- 5. Section 2.4 is amended
 - (a) in subsection (1) by replacing "Rule 31-509" with "Ontario Securities Commission Rule 31-509 National Registration Database (Commodity Futures Act)",
 - (b) in paragraph (1)(a) by replacing "7 days" with "10 days", and
 - (c) in paragraph (2)(a) by replacing "Rule 31-509" with "Ontario Securities Commission Rule 31-509 National Registration Database (Commodity Futures Act)", and
 - (d) in subparagraph 2(a)(i) by replacing "7 days" with "10 days".
- **6. Sections 2.5** is amended by replacing "Rule 31-509" with "Ontario Securities Commission Rule 31-509 National Registration Database (Commodity Futures Act)".
- 7. Section 3.1 is amended by replacing "7 days" with "10 days" wherever the expression occurs.
- **8. Section 3.2 is amended by replacing** "Rule 31-509" **with** "Ontario Securities Commission Rule 31-509 *National Registration Database (Commodity Futures Act)*" **and** "7 days" **with** "10 days" **wherever these expressions occur.**
- 9. Subsection 4.1 is amended
 - (a) in subsection (1) by replacing "7 days" with "10 days",
 - (b) in subsection (4) and (5) by replacing "Rule 31-509" with "Ontario Securities Commission Rule 31-509 National Registration Database (Commodity Futures Act)", and
 - (c) by replacing paragraph (5)(b) with the following paragraphs:
 - (b) the removal or the addition of a category of registration;
 - (c) the surrender of registration in one or more non-principal jurisdictions.
- 10. Section 4.2 is repealed.

April 15, 2011 312 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

11. Section 4.3 is amended.

- (a) in subsection (1) by replacing "Rule 31-5091F2" with "Ontario Securities Commission Rule 31-509 National Registration Database (Commodity Futures Act)",
- (b) in paragraph (1)(b) by deleting "or retirement" and "or the completion or expiry of an employment or agency contract",
- (c) in subsection (2), (3) and (4), by replacing "7 days" wherever the expression occurs with "10 days", and
- (d) in subsections (3) and (4), by replacing "person or company" wherever the expression occurs with "registered firm".
- **12.** Section 6.1 is amended by replacing "NI 31-103" with "National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations".
- 13. Section 6.2 is amended by replacing "7 days" wherever the expression occurs with "10 days".
- **14. Section 6.3 is amended by replacing** "NI 31-103" **wherever the expression occurs with** "National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations".

15. Section 6.4 is amended

- (a) in subsection (1) by replacing "Rule 31-509" with "Ontario Securities Commission Rule 31-509 National Registration Database (Commodity Futures Act)" and "NI 31-103" with "National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations", and
- (b) in subsection (2) by replacing "NI 31-103" with "National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations".
- **16. Section 8.2 is amended by replacing** "NI 31-103" **with** "National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations".

17. Form 33-506F1 is amended

- (a) under "General Instructions" by replacing "person" after "permitted" with "individual" and by adding at the end "or has ceased to act in a registerable activity or as a permitted individual";
- (b) under "Terms" by replacing at the end "," with ".",
- (c) under "When to submit the form" by replacing "five business days" with "10 days",
- (d) in Item 5 by replacing the instructions above "[For NRD Format only:]" with the following:

Complete Item 5 except where the individual is deceased. In the space below:

- state the reason(s) for the cessation / termination and
- provide details if the answer to any of the following questions is "Yes".
- (e) in Item 5 under "[For NRD Format only:]" by replacing "completed temporary employment contract, retired or" with "individual is"; and
- (f) by repealing Item 6 and Schedule A.

18. Form 33-506F2 is amended

(a) in the heading by replacing "section 4.2 or 2.2(2) or 2.5(2)" with "section 2.2(2), 2.5(2) or 4.1(5)".

April 15, 2011 313 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(b) by replacing Item 2 with the following: Item 2 Registration jurisdictions 1. Are you filing this form under the passport system / interface for registration? Choose "no" if you are registered inonly one jurisdiction in Canada (b) more than one jurisdiction in Canada and you are requesting a surrender in a non-principal jurisdiction or jurisdictions, but not in your principal jurisdictionmore than one jurisdiction in Canada and you are requesting a change only in your principal (c) jurisdiction; and by replacing Item 4 with the following: (c) Item 4 Adding categories 1. Categories What categories are you seeking to add? _____ 2. Professional liability insurance (Québec mutual fund dealers and Québec scholarship plan dealers) If you are seeking registration as a representative of a mutual fund dealer or of a scholarship plan dealer in Québec, are you covered by your sponsoring firm's professional liability insurance? Yes No If "No", state: The name of your insurer _____ Your policy number 3. Relevant securities industry experience If you have not been registered in the last 36 months and you passed the required examination more than 36 months ago, do you consider that you have gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience during the 36 month period? Yes ☐ No ☐ N/A ☐ If you are an individual applying for IIROC approval, select "Not Applicable" above. If "yes", complete Schedule A. (d) by replacing Schedule A with the following: **SCHEDULE A** Relevant securities industry experience (Item 4) Describe your responsibilities in areas relating to the category you are applying for, including the title(s) you have held, as well as start and end dates:

April 15, 2011 314 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

What is the percentage of your time devoted to these activities?

	dicate the continuing education activities which you ha e relevant to the category of registration you are applyi	
_		
_		

(e) by adding the following after Schedule A:

Schedule B Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in

BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6 Attention: Manager of Registrations

Allention, Manager of Registration

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division
Department of Justice
Government of Nunavut
P.O. Box 1000 Station 570
Iqaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry

Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and

Corporate and

Insurance Services Division P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3 Attention: Responsable de l'accès

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in

Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

April 15, 2011 315 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office

Department of Community Services

P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of

Canada

121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

19. Form 33-506F3 is amended by replacing Schedule A with the following:

Schedule A Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in

BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Iqaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry

Office of the Attorney General B Consumer,

Corporate and

Insurance Services Division

P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3 Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320 Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services

P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada

121 King Street West. Suite 1600 Toronto. Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133

E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

20. Form 33-506F4 is amended

- in the definition of "Approved person" under "Terms" by replacing "member of the IIROC (Member)" (a) with "member (Member) of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC)",
- in the paragraphs "NRD format" and "Format, other than NRD format", under the heading "How to (b) submit this form", by adding "with securities regulation experience" after "legal adviser",
- in section 1 of Item 8 by (c)
 - (i) replacing the title with the following:

"Course, examination or designation information and other education",

- (ii) replacing "course and" with "course," and by adding "and designation" in the first sentence of item 1, after "examination", and
- replacing "course or" with "course," and by adding "or designation" in the second sentence of (iii) item 1, after "examination";
- in section 2 of Item 8 by adding the following after "Advocis (formerly CAIFA): (d)

RESP Dealers Association of Canada: Other:

- (e) in section 3 of Item 8 by adding ", designation" after the word "examination";
- (f) in Item 8 by adding the following after section 3:
 - 4. Relevant securities industry experience

If you are an individual applying for IIROC approval, select "Not Applicable below".

If you have not been registered in the last 36 months and you passed the required examination more than 36 months ago, do you consider that you have gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience during the 36 month period?

Yes	П	No l	N/A	
103		110 1	 1 11/7	

April 15, 2011 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) 317

If "yes", complete Schedule F.			
in section 4 of Item 9 by adding "supe	rvisor or " after " Nan	ne of".	
in Item 14 by replacing "Immigration Offenders Act" wherever the expression			
in Item 1.3 of Schedule A to Form 33-5	506F4 is amended b	y adding the follov	ving after "No □":
N\A 🗌			
in Schedule C by replacing "Investmen	nt Industry Regulator	y Organization of Ca	anada" <i>with "</i> IIROC".
by replacing Schedule E with the follo	owing:		
	SCHEDULE Proficiency (Ite		
Item 8.1 Course, examination or desig	nation information	and other education	on
Course, examination, designation or other education	Date completed (YYYY/MM/DD)	Date exempted (YYYY/MM/DD)	Regulator / securities regulatory authority granting the exemption
If you have listed the CFA Charter in Ite current member of the CFA Institute perr Yes No If "no", please explain why you no longer	mitted to use the CFA	A Charter.	box below whether you are
If you have listed the CIM designation in	Itom 9.1 places ind	icate by checking th	a hay balaw whather you a
If you have listed the CIM designation in currently permitted to use the CIM design		icate by checking th	e box below whether you a
		icate by checking th	e box below whether you a
currently permitted to use the CIM design	nation.		e box below whether you a
currently permitted to use the CIM design Yes No	nation.		e box below whether you a
currently permitted to use the CIM design Yes No	nation.		e box below whether you a

April 15, 2011 318 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

in the heading by replacing "Item 8.3" with "Items 8.3 and 8.4", by adding the word ", designation" after the word "examination" wherever it occurs, and by adding the following after Item 8.3: Item 8.4 Relevant securities industry experience Describe your responsibilities in areas relating to the category you are applying for, including the title(s) you have held, as well as the start and end dates:
by adding the following after Item 8.3: Item 8.4 Relevant securities industry experience Describe your responsibilities in areas relating to the category you are applying for, including the
Item 8.4 Relevant securities industry experience Describe your responsibilities in areas relating to the category you are applying for, including the
Describe your responsibilities in areas relating to the category you are applying for, including the
What is the percentage of your time devoted to these activities?%
Indicate the continuing education activities which you have participated in during the last 36 months and which are relevant to the category of registration you are applying for:
dule G by replacing section 5 with the following:
icts of interest
ve more than one employer or are engaged in business related activities:
ose any potential for confusion by clients and any potential for conflicts of interest arising from your employment or business related activities or proposed business related activities.
ate whether or not any of your employers or organizations where you engage in business related are listed on an exchange.

April 15, 2011 319 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

E. If you do not perceive any conflicts of interest arising from this employment, explain why.

(n) by replacing Schedule O with the following:

Schedule O Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Amending Instrument to OSC Rule 33-506

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142. Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2 Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in

BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0 Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Supplement to the OSC Bulletin

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903. Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8 Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation Telephone: (416) 593-8314

e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division P.O. Box 2000 Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8 Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3 Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in

April 15, 2011 320 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building

St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive

Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services

P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada

121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133

Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

21. Form 33-506F5 is amended

(a) under "How to submit this form" by adding the following after subparagraph b) of the second paragraph:

Name of firm	
Registration categories	
NRD number (firm)	

(b) in Item 1 by adding the following under "☐ Form 33-506F6":

"If submitting changes to Form 33-506F6, please attach a blackline of the amended sections of the form."; and

- (c) in Item 5 by deleting the line "name of firm".
- (d) by replacing Schedule A with the following:

Schedule A Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Iqaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West

April 15, 2011 321 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division P.O. Box 2000 Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3 Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2

Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600

Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

22. Form 33-506F6 is amended

- in the definition of "NI 31-103" by replacing "and Exemptions" with ", Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant (a) Obligations",
- (b) under "Definitions" by adding the following definitions in alphabetical order:

"Foreign jurisdiction - see National Instrument 14-101 Definitions";

"Jurisdiction or jurisdiction of Canada- see National Instrument 14-101 Definitions";

"NI 52-107 - National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards".

April 15, 2011 322 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (c) under "Contents of the form" by replacing "Alberta and Manitoba" with "Alberta, Manitoba and New Brunswick".
- (d) in the next to last paragraph under "How to complete and submit the form" by deleting "and fees",
- (e) under "How to complete and submit the form" by adding the following paragraph before the last paragraph:

"In most of this form, answers are required to questions which apply only to Canadian provinces and territories; you will find that the questions are referenced to "jurisdictions" or "jurisdiction of Canada". These refer to all provinces and territories of Canada. However, the questions in Part 4 –Registration History and Part 7 – Regulatory Action are to be answered in respect of any jurisdiction in the world."; **and**

- (f) in section 1.3 of Part 1 by
 - (i) replacing "Questions 1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 2.4, and Part 9" with "Questions 1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 2.4, 3.9, 5.4, 5.6*, and Part 9",
 - (ii) replacing "Questions 1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 5.1, 5.4, 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, 5.8, Part 6 and Part 9" with "Questions 1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 3.1, 5.1, 5.4, 5.5*, 5.6*, 5.7, 5.8, Part 6 and Part 9", and
 - (iii) adding the following after "Part 6 and Part 9":
 - "* If the firm is adding Québec as a jurisdiction for registration in the category of mutual fund dealer or scholarship plan dealer, complete question 5.6.",
- (g) in the table in section 1.4 under "Jurisdiction" by replacing "NT" with "NS", and "NS" with "NT",
- (h) in the table in section 1.5 under "Jurisdiction(s) where the firm has applied for the exemption" by replacing "NT" with "NS", and "NS" with "NT",
- (i) in the table in paragraph 2.2 (b) of Part 2 by replacing "NT" with "NS", and "NS" with "NT", and
- (j) in sections 2.5 and 2.6 by replacing the word "Title" with:

Officer title		
Telephone number		
E-mail address		

- (k) in section 3.3 in Part 3 by replacing "Alberta or Manitoba" with "Alberta, Manitoba or New Brunswick",
- (I) by replacing the first sentence of Part 4 with the following:

"The guestions in Part 4 apply to any jurisdiction and any foreign jurisdiction."

- (m) in section 4.5 by deleting the word "ever",
- (n) by replacing section 5.1 of Part 5 with the following:
 - 5.1 Calculation of excess working capital

Attach the firm's calculation of excess working capital.

• Investment dealers must use the capital calculation form required by the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC).

April 15, 2011 323 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- Mutual fund dealers must use the capital calculation form required by the Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada (MFDA), except for mutual fund dealers registered in Québec only
- Firms that are not members of either IIROC or the MFDA must use Form 31-103F1
 Calculation of Excess Working Capital. See Schedule C.
- (o) in section 5.4 by replacing "NT" with "NS", and "NS" with "NT",
- (p) in section 5.5 by adding the following after "Annual aggregate coverage (\$)":

Total coverage (\$)	

- (q) in section 5.5 by replacing "Renewal date" with "Expiry date",
- (r) in section 5.6 by adding the following after "Annual aggregate coverage (\$)":

Total coverage (\$)	

and under "Jurisdictions covered:" by replacing "NT" with "NS", and "NS" with "NT",

- (s) by replacing section 5.13 with the following:
 - "(a) Attach, for your most recently completed year, either
 - (i) non-consolidated audited financial statements; or
 - (ii) audited financial statements prepared in accordance with section 3.2(3) of NI 52-107.
 - (b) If the audited financial statements attached for item (a) were prepared for a period ending more than 90 days before the date of this application, also attach an interim financial report for a period of not more than 90 days before the date of this application.

If the firm is a start-up company, you can attach an audited opening statement of financial position instead."

- (t) in Part 6
 - (i) by adding the following before section 6.1 and after "31-103CP":

For guidance regarding whether a firm will hold or have access to client assets see section 12.4 of Companion Policy 31-103CP., and

- (ii) in section 6.1 by replacing "does" with "will".
- (u) in Part 7 by replacing the first sentence with the following:

"The questions in Part 7 apply to any jurisdiction and any foreign jurisdiction. The information must be provided in respect of the last 7 years."

- (v) in section 7.1 by deleting "ever",
- (w) in Part 8 by replacing the first paragraph with the following:

"The firm must disclose offences or legal actions under any statute governing the firm and its business activities in any jurisdiction. The information must be provided in respect of the last 7 years."

(x) in section 8.1 by deleting "ever",

April 15, 2011 324 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(y) by replacing Schedule A with the following:

Schedule A **Contact information for** Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142. Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in

BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6 Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320 Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8 Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation Telephone: (416) 593-8314

e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division P.O. Box 2000 Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3 Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600

Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer

April 15, 2011 325 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

(z)	in Schedule B by add Service":	ling the following under "Ad	dress for service of p	rocess on the Agent fo
	Phone number of the Ag	ent for Service:		
(a.1)	in paragraphs 7(a) and	7(b) of Schedule B by replacin	n g " 7th day" with " 10th da	ay",
(b.1)	by replacing Schedule	C with the following:		
	FORM 31-103	BF1 CALCULATION OF EXCES	S WORKING CAPITAL	
		Firm Name		
	(as at	Capital Calculation with comparative figur	es as at	_)
		Component	Current period	Prior period

	Component	Current period	Prior period
1.	Current assets		
2.	Less current assets not readily convertible into cash (e.g., prepaid expenses)		
3.	Adjusted current assets Line 1 minus line 2 =		
4.	Current liabilities		
5.	Add 100% of long-term related party debt unless the firm and the lender have executed a subordination agreement in the form set out in Appendix B and the firm has delivered a copy of the agreement to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority		
6.	Adjusted current liabilities Line 4 plus line 5 =		
7.	Adjusted working capital Line 3 minus line 6 =		
8.	Less minimum capital		
9.	Less market risk		
10.	Less any deductible under the bonding or insurance policy required under Part 12 of		

April 15, 2011 326 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	Component	Current period	Prior period
	National Instrument 31-103, Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations		
11.	Less Guarantees		
12.	Less unresolved differences		
13.	Excess working capital		

Notes:

This form must be prepared using the accounting principles that you use to prepare your financial statements in accordance with National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards. Section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations provides further guidance in respect of these accounting principles.

Line 5. Related-party debt – Refer to the CICA Handbook for the definition of "related party" for publicly accountable enterprises.

Line 8. Minimum Capital – The amount on this line must be not less than (a) \$25,000 for an adviser and (b) \$50,000 for a dealer. For an investment fund manager, the amount must be not less than \$100,000 unless subsection 12.1(4) applies.

Line 9. Market Risk – The amount on this line must be calculated according to the instructions set out in Schedule 1 to this Form.

Line 11. Guarantees – If the registered firm is guaranteeing the liability of another party, the total amount of the guarantee must be included in the capital calculation. If the amount of a guarantee is included in the firm's statement of financial position as a current liability and is reflected in line 4, do not include the amount of the guarantee on line 11.

Line 12. Unresolved differences – Any unresolved differences that could result in a loss from either firm or client assets must be included in the capital calculation. The examples below provide guidance as to how to calculate unresolved differences:

- (i) If there is an unresolved difference relating to client securities, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the fair value of the client securities that are short, plus the applicable margin rate for those securities.
- (ii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to the registrant's investments, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the fair value of the investments (securities) that are short.
- (iii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to cash, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the amount of the shortfall in cash.

Please refer to section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations for further guidance on how to prepare and file this form.

April 15, 2011 327 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Management Cert	ification
	certify that the firm is in compliance with the
Signature	Date
	Signature

Schedule 1 of Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital (calculating line 9 [market risk])

For purposes of completing this form:

- (1) "Fair value" means the value of a security determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;
- (2) For each security whose value is included in line 1, Current Assets, multiply the fair value of the security by the margin rate for that security set out below. Add up the resulting amounts for all of the securities you hold. The total is the "market risk" to be entered on line 9.
- (a) Bonds, Debentures, Treasury Bills and Notes
- (i) Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by the Government of Canada, of the United Kingdom, of the United States of America and of any other national foreign government (provided such foreign government securities are currently rated Aaa or AAA by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor's Corporation, respectively), maturing (or called for redemption):

within 1 year: 1% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by

dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years:

1 % of fair value
over 3 years to 7 years:

2% of fair value
over 7 years to 11 years:

4% of fair value
over 11 years:

4% of fair value

(ii) Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by any jurisdiction of Canada and obligations of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, maturing (or called for redemption):

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by

dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years:

3 % of fair value

ver 3 years to 7 years:

4% of fair value

ver 7 years to 11 years:

5% of fair value

ver 11 years:

5% of fair value

April 15, 2011 328 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(iv) Bonds, debentures or notes (not in default) of or guaranteed by any municipal corporation in Canada or the United Kingdom maturing:

within 1 year: 3% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by

dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years: 5 % of fair value over 3 years to 7 years: 5% of fair value over 7 years to 11 years: 5% of fair value over 11 years: 5% of fair value

(iv) Other non-commercial bonds and debentures, (not in default): 10% of fair value

(v) Commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes (not in default) and non-negotiable and non-transferable trust company and mortgage loan company obligations registered in the registered firm's name maturing:

within 1 year: 3% of fair value over 1 year to 3 years: 6 % of fair value over 3 years to 7 years: 7% of fair value over 7 years to 11 years: 10% of fair value over 11 years: 10% of fair value

(b) Bank Paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a Canadian chartered bank (and of Canadian chartered bank acceptances) maturing:

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the

number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

(c) Acceptable foreign bank paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a foreign bank, readily negotiable and transferable and maturing:

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the

number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

"Acceptable Foreign Bank Paper" consists of deposit certificates or promissory notes issued by a bank other than a Canadian chartered bank with a net worth (i.e., capital plus reserves) of not less than \$200,000,000.

(d) Mutual Funds

Securities of mutual funds qualified by prospectus for sale in any jurisdiction of Canada:

(i) 5% of the net asset value per security as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 *Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure*, where the fund is a money market mutual fund as defined in National Instrument 81-102 *Mutual Funds*; or

April 15, 2011 329 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(ii) the margin rate determined on the same basis as for listed stocks multiplied by the net asset value per security of the fund as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure.

(e) Stocks

In this paragraph, "securities" includes rights and warrants and does not include bonds and debentures.

(i) On securities including investment fund securities, rights and warrants, listed on any exchange in Canada or the United States of America:

Long Positions - Margin Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more - 50% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.75 to \$1.99 - 60% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.74 - 80% of fair value

Securities selling under \$1.50 - 100% of fair value

Short Positions - Credit Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more - 150% of fair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.99 - \$3.00 per share

Securities selling at \$0.25 to \$1.49 - 200% of fair value

Securities selling at less than \$0.25 – fair value plus \$0.25 per shares

- (ii) For positions in securities that are constituent securities on a major broadly-based index of one of the following exchanges, 50% of the fair value:
 - (a) Australian Stock Exchange Limited
 - (b) Bolsa de Madrid
 - (c) Borsa Italiana
 - (d) Copenhagen Stock Exchange
 - (e) Euronext Amsterdam
 - (f) Euronext Brussels
 - (g) Euronext Paris S.A.
 - (h) Frankfurt Stock Exchange
 - (i) London Stock Exchange
 - (j) New Zealand Exchange Limited
 - (k) Stockholm Stock Exchange
 - (I) Swiss Exchange
 - (m) The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
 - (n) Tokyo Stock Exchange

April 15, 2011 330 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(f) Mortgages

- (i) For a firm registered in any jurisdiction of Canada except Ontario:
 - (a) Insured mortgages (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Mortgages which are not insured (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.
- (ii) For a firm registered in Ontario:
 - (a) Mortgages insured under the National Housing Act (Canada) (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Conventional first mortgages (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.

If you are registered in Ontario regardless of whether you are also registered in another jurisdiction of Canada, you will need to apply the margin rates set forth in (ii) above.

(g) For all other securities – 100% of fair value.

23. Form 33-506F7 is amended:

- (a) in section 1 under "General Instructions" by adding "the end of" after "on or before", and by replacing "termination" with "cessation",
- (b) in section 3 under "General instructions" by deleting "dismissed, or was", and adding "resigned voluntarily or was dismissed," after "resign,",
- (c) in the definition for "you", "your" and "individual" under "Terms" by adding "or their status as permitted individual" after "registration",
- (d) in section 5 of Item 5 by deleting "Date on which you will become authorized to act on behalf of the new sponsoring firm as a registered individual or permitted individual _____ (YYYY/MM/DD)",
- (e) in paragraph 2 (b) of Item 9 by adding "or resigned voluntarily" after "resign",
- (f) in Schedule B by replacing "Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada" with "IIROC".
- (g) by replacing section 5 of Schedule D with the following:

5. Conflict of Interest

If you have more than one employer or are engaged in business related activities:

A. Disclose any potential for confusion by clients and any potential for conflicts of interest from your multiple employment or business related activities or proposed business related activities.	U

B. Indicate whether or not any of your employers or organizations where you engage in business related activities are listed on an exchange.

April 15, 2011 331 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	e firm has procedures for vare of these procedures.	minimizing potential conflicts of interes
D. If you do not percei	e any conflicts of interest a	arising from this employment, explain wh

(h) by replacing Schedule F with the following:

Schedule F Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2 Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in

BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903. Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division P.O. Box 2000 Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8 Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in

Québec) Saskatchewan

April 15, 2011 332 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building

St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax. NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320 Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

24. This Instrument comes into force on (insert date) 2011. Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive

Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of

Canada

121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

April 15, 2011 333 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103 (BLACKLINED TO CURRENT LAW)

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103 REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS AND, EXEMPTIONS AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS

Table of contents

	Part 1	Interpretation
	1.1	Definitions of terms used throughout this Instrument
	1.2	Interpretation of "securities" in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan
	1.3	Information may be given to the principal regulator
ndividual	Part 2	Categories of registration for individuals
registration	2.1	Individual categories
	2.2	Client mobility exemption – individuals
	2.3	Individuals acting for investment fund managers
	Part 3	Registration requirements – individuals
	Divisio	n 1 General proficiency requirements
	3.1	Definitions
	3.2	U.S. equivalency
	3.3	Time limits on examination requirements
	Divisio	n 2 Education and experience requirements
	3.4	Proficiency – initial and ongoing
	3.5	Mutual fund dealer – dealing representative
	3.6	Mutual fund dealer – chief compliance officer
	3.7	Scholarship plan dealer – dealing representative
	3.8	Scholarship plan dealer – chief compliance officer
	3.9	Exempt market dealer – dealing representative
	3.10	Exempt market dealer – chief compliance officer
	3.11	Portfolio manager – advising representative
	3.12	Portfolio manager – associate advising representative
	3.13	Portfolio manager – chief compliance officer
	3.14	Investment fund manager – chief compliance officer
	Divisio	n 3 Membership in a self-regulatory organization
	3.15	Who must be approved by an SRO before registration
	3.16	Exemptions from certain requirements for SRO-approved persons
	Part 4	Restrictions on registered individuals
	4.1	Restriction on acting for another registered firm
	4.2	Associate advising representatives – pre-approval of advice
	Part 5	Ultimate designated person and chief compliance officer
	5.1	Responsibilities of the ultimate designated person
	5.2	Responsibilities of the chief compliance officer

April 15, 2011 334 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	Part 6	Suspension and revocation of registration – individuals
	6.1	If individual ceases to have authority to act for firm
	6.2	If IIROC approval is revoked or suspended
	6.3	If MFDA approval is revoked or suspended
	6.4	If sponsoring firm is suspended
	6.5	Dealing and advising activities suspended
	6.6	Revocation of a suspended registration – individual
	6.7	Exception for individuals involved in a hearing or proceeding
	6.8	Application of Part 6 in Ontario
Firm	Part 7	Categories of registration for firms
registration	7.1	Dealer categories
	7.2	Adviser categories
	7.3	Investment fund manager category
	Part 8	Exemptions from the requirement to register
	Division	1 Exemptions from dealer and underwriter registration
	8.1	Interpretation of "trade" in Québec
	8.2	Definition of "securities" in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan
	8.3	Interpretation – exemption from underwriter registration requirement
	8.4	Person or company not in the business of trading in British Columbia, Manitoba and New Brunswick
	8.5	Trades through or to a registered dealer
	8.6	Adviser – non-prospectus qualified investment fund Investment fund trades by adviser to managed account
	8.7	Investment fund reinvestment
	8.8	Additional investment in investment funds
	8.9	Additional investment in investment funds if initial purchase before September 14, 2005
	8.10	Private investment club
	8.11	Private investment fund – loan and trust pools
	8.12	Mortgages
	8.13	Personal property security legislation
	8.14	Variable insurance contract
	8.15	Schedule III banks and cooperative associations – evidence of deposit
	8.16	Plan administrator
	8.17	Reinvestment plan
	8.18	International dealer
	8.19	Self-directed registered education savings plan
	8.20	Exchange contract – Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan
	8.21	Specified debt
	8.22	Small security holder selling and purchase arrangements
	Division	2 Exemptions from adviser registration
	8.23	Dealer without discretionary authority
	8.24	IIROC members with discretionary authority
	8.25	Advising generally
	8.26	International adviser

April 15, 2011 335 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Business operations

Divisio	n 3 Exemptions from investment fund manager registration					
8.27	Private investment club					
8.28	Capital accumulation plan exemption					
8.29	Private investment fund – loan and trust pools					
Division 4 Mobility exemption – firms						
8.30 Client mobility exemption – firms						
David O	Manush anglein in a calf manulatany annonination					
Part 9 9.1	Membership in a self-regulatory organization					
9.1	IIROC membership for investment dealers					
9.2	MFDA membership for mutual fund dealers					
	Exemptions from certain requirements for SRO <u>IIROC</u> members Exemptions from certain requirements for MFDA members					
<u>9.4</u>	Exemptions from certain requirements for Mr DA members					
Part 10	Suspension and revocation of registration – firms					
Division	1 When a firm's registration is suspended					
10.1	Failure to pay fees					
10.2	If IIROC membership is revoked or suspended					
10.3	If MFDA membership is revoked or suspended					
10.4	Activities not permitted while a firm's registration is suspended					
Division	n 2 Revoking a firm's registration					
10.5	Revocation of a suspended registration – firm					
10.6	Exception for firms involved in a hearing or proceeding					
10.7	Application of Part 10 in Ontario					
Part 11	Internal controls and systems					
Part 11 Division						
	•					
Divisio	n 1 Compliance					
Division 11.1	1 Compliance Compliance system					
Division 11.1 11.2	1 Compliance Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3	Compliance Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4	Compliance Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 Division	Compliance Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors Books and records					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 Division 11.5	Compliance Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors 2 Books and records General requirements for records Form, accessibility and retention of records					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 Division 11.5 11.6	Compliance Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors 2 Books and records General requirements for records Form, accessibility and retention of records					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 Division 11.5 11.6 Division	Compliance Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors 2 Books and records General requirements for records Form, accessibility and retention of records 1 Certain business transactions					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 Division 11.5 11.6 Division 11.7	Compliance Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors 2 Books and records General requirements for records Form, accessibility and retention of records 3 Certain business transactions Tied settling of securities transactions					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 Division 11.5 11.6 Division 11.7 11.8	Compliance Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors 2 Books and records General requirements for records Form, accessibility and retention of records 3 Certain business transactions Tied settling of securities transactions Tied selling					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 Division 11.5 11.6 Division 11.7 11.8 11.9	Compliance Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors 12 Books and records General requirements for records Form, accessibility and retention of records 13 Certain business transactions Tied settling of securities transactions Tied selling Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 Division 11.5 11.6 Division 11.7 11.8 11.9 11.10	Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors 2 Books and records General requirements for records Form, accessibility and retention of records 7 Certain business transactions Tied settling of securities transactions Tied selling Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets Registered firm whose securities are acquired Financial condition					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 Division 11.5 11.6 Division 11.7 11.8 11.9 11.10 Part 12	Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors 2 Books and records General requirements for records Form, accessibility and retention of records 7 Certain business transactions Tied settling of securities transactions Tied selling Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets Registered firm whose securities are acquired Financial condition					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 Division 11.5 11.6 Division 11.7 11.8 11.9 11.10 Part 12 Division	Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors 2 Books and records General requirements for records Form, accessibility and retention of records 1 Certain business transactions Tied settling of securities transactions Tied selling Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets Registered firm whose securities are acquired Financial condition 1 Working capital					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 Division 11.5 11.6 Division 11.7 11.8 11.9 11.10 Part 12 Division 12.1	Compliance Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors 2 Books and records General requirements for records Form, accessibility and retention of records 3 Certain business transactions Tied settling of securities transactions Tied selling Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets Registered firm whose securities are acquired Financial condition 1 Working capital Capital requirements Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a subordination agreement					
Division 11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 Division 11.5 11.6 Division 11.7 11.8 11.9 11.10 Part 12 Division 12.1 12.2	Compliance Compliance system Designating an ultimate designated person Designating a chief compliance officer Providing access to the board of directors 2 Books and records General requirements for records Form, accessibility and retention of records 3 Certain business transactions Tied settling of securities transactions Tied selling Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets Registered firm whose securities are acquired Financial condition 1 Working capital Capital requirements Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a subordination agreement					

April 15, 2011 336 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Client relationships

12.5	Insurance – investment fund manager					
12.6	Global bonding or insurance					
12.7	Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a change, claim or cancellation					
Division	3 Audits					
12.8	Direction by a regulator or the securities regulatory authority to conduct an audit or review					
12.9	Co-operating with the auditor					
Division	4 Financial reporting					
12.10	Annual financial statements					
12.11	Interim financial information					
12.12	Delivering financial information – dealer					
12.13	Delivering financial information – adviser					
12.14	Delivering financial information – investment fund manager					
Part 13	Dealing with clients – individuals and firms					
Division	1 Know your client and suitability					
13.1	Investment fund managers exempt from this Division					
13.2	Know your client					
13.3	Suitability					
Division	2 Conflicts of interest					
13.4	Identifying and responding to conflicts of interest					
13.5	Restrictions on certain managed account transactions					
13.6	Disclosure when recommending related or connected securities					
Division	3 Referral arrangements					
13.7	Definitions – referral arrangements					
13.8	Permitted referral arrangements					
13.9	Verifying the qualifications of the person or company receiving the referral					
13.10	Disclosing referral arrangements to clients					
13.11	Referral arrangements before this Instrument came into force					
Division 4 Loans and margin						
13.12	Restriction on lending to clients					
13.13	Disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money					
Division	5 Complaints					
13.14	Application of this Division					
13.15	Handling complaints					
13.16	Dispute resolution service					
Part 14	Handling client accounts – firms					
Division	1 Exemption for investment fund managers					
14.1	Investment fund managers exempt from Part 14					
Division	2 Disclosure to clients					
14.2	Relationship disclosure information					
14.3	Disclosure to clients about the fair allocation of investment opportunities					
14.4	When the firm has a relationship with a financial institution					
14.5	Notice to clients by non-resident registrants					

April 15, 2011 337 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	Divisior	ı 3	Client assets		
	14.6	Holdir	ng client assets in trust		
	14.7	Holding client assets – non-resident registrants			
	14.8	Securities subject to a safekeeping agreement			
	14.9	Securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement			
	Divisior	1 4	Client accounts		
	14.10	Alloca	ating investment opportunities fairly		
	14.11	Selling	g or assigning client accounts		
	Division 5 Account activity reporting				
	14.12	Conte	ent and delivery of trade confirmation		
	14.13	Semi-	annual confirmations Confirmations for certain automatic plans		
	14.14	Client	Account statements		
Exemption	Part 15	Grant	ting an exemption		
from this Instrument	15.1	Who o	/ho can grant an exemption		
Transition and timing	Part 16	Transition			
	16.1	Chang	ge of registration categories – individuals		
	16.2	Chang	ge of registration categories – firms		
	16.3	Chang	ge of registration categories – limited market dealers		
	16.4	Regis	tration for investment fund managers active when this Instrument comes into force		
	16.5	Temp jurisdi	orary exemption for Canadian investment fund manager registered in its principaliction		
	16.6	Temp	orary exemption for foreign investment fund managers		
	16.7	Regis	tration of exempt market dealers		
	16.8	Regis	tration of ultimate designated persons		
	16.9	Regis	tration of chief compliance officers		
	16.10	Profic	iency for dealing and advising representatives		
	16.11	Capita	al requirements		
	16.12	Contir	nuation of existing discretionary relief		
	16.13	Insura	ance requirements		
	16.14	Relati	onship disclosure information		
	16.15	Refer	ral arrangements		
	16.16	Comp	plaint handling		
	16.17	Client	Account statements – mutual fund dealers		
	16.18	Trans	ition to exemption – international dealers		
	16.19	Trans	ition to exemption – international advisers		
	16.20	Trans	ition to exemption – portfolio manager and investment counsel (foreign)		
	Part 17	When	this Instrument comes into force		
	17.1	Effect	ive date		

April 15, 2011 338 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Forms FORM 31-103F1 CALCULATION OF EXCESS WORKING CAPITAL

FORM 31-103F2 SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION AND APPOINTMENT OF AGENT FOR SERVICE

FORM 31-103F3 USE OF MOBILITY EXEMPTION

Appendices APPENDIX A – BONDING AND INSURANCE CLAUSES

APPENDIX B - SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT

APPENDIX C - NEW CATEGORY NAMES - INDIVIDUALS

APPENDIX D - NEW CATEGORY NAMES - FIRMS

APPENDIX E – NON-HARMONIZED CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

APPENDIX F – NON-HARMONIZED INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

April 15, 2011 339 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103 REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS AND. EXEMPTIONS AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS

Part 1 Interpretation

1.1 Definitions of terms used throughout this Instrument

In this Instrument

"Canadian financial institution" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of NINational Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions;

"connected issuer" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts;

"debt security" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of NHNational Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions;

"eligible client" means a client of a person or company if any of the following apply:

- (a) the client is an individual and was a client of the person or company immediately before becoming resident in the local jurisdiction;
- (b) the client is the spouse or a child of a client referred to in paragraph (a);
- (c) except in Ontario, the client is a client of the person or company on September 27, 2009 pursuant to the person or company's reliance on an exemption from the registration requirement under Part 5 of Multilateral Instrument 11-101 *Principal Regulator System* on that date;

"IIROC" means the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada;

"interim period" means a period commencing on the first day of the financial year and ending 9, 6 or 3 months before the end of the financial year;

"investment dealer" means a person or company registered in the category of investment dealer;

"managed account" means an account of a client for which a person or company makes the investment decisions if that person or company has discretion to trade in securities for the account without requiring the client's express consent to a transaction;

"marketplace" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 21-101 Marketplace Operation;

"MFDA" means the Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada;

"mutual fund dealer" means a person or company registered in the category of mutual fund dealer;

"NI 45-106" means National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions;

"permitted client" means any of the following:

- (a) a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank;
- the Business Development Bank of Canada incorporated under the Business Development Bank of Canada Act (Canada);
- a subsidiary of any person or company referred to in paragraph (a) or (b), if the person or company owns all of the voting securities of the subsidiary, except the voting securities required by law to be owned by directors of the subsidiary;
- (d) a person or company registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as an adviser—or, <u>investment</u> dealer, other than as a scholarship planmutual fund dealer or a restricted exempt market dealer;

April 15, 2011 340 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

[&]quot;exempt market dealer" means a person or company registered in the category of exempt market dealer;

- (e) a pension fund that is regulated by either the federal Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions or a pension commission or similar regulatory authority of a jurisdiction of Canada or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a pension fund;
- (f) an entity organized in a foreign jurisdiction that is analogous to any of the entities referred to in paragraphs (a) to (e);
- (g) the Government of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada, or any Crown corporation, agency or whollyowned entity of the Government of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada;
- (h) any national, federal, state, provincial, territorial or municipal government of or in any foreign jurisdiction, or any agency of that government;
- a municipality, public board or commission in Canada and a metropolitan community, school board, the Comité de gestion de la taxe scolaire de l'île de Montréal or an intermunicipal management board in Québec:
- a trust company or trust corporation registered or authorized to carry on business under the *Trust* and *Loan Companies Act* (Canada) or under comparable legislation in a jurisdiction of Canada or a
 foreign jurisdiction, acting on behalf of a managed account managed by the trust company or trust
 corporation, as the case may be;
- (k) a person or company acting on behalf of a managed account managed by the person or company, if the person or company is registered or authorized to carry on business as an adviser or the equivalent under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign jurisdiction;
- (I) an investment fund if one or both of the following apply:
 - the fund is managed by a person or company registered as an investment fund manager under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada;
 - (ii) the fund is advised by a person or company authorized to act as an adviser under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada;
- (m) in respect of a dealer, a registered charity under the *Income Tax Act* (Canada) that obtains advice on the securities to be traded from an eligibility adviser, as defined in section 1.1 of NI 45-106, National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions, or an adviser registered under the securities legislation of the jurisdiction of the registered charity;
- (n) in respect of an adviser, a registered charity under the *Income Tax Act* (Canada) that is advised by an eligibility adviser, as defined in section 1.1 of NI 45-106, National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions, or an adviser registered under the securities legislation of the jurisdiction of the registered charity;
- (o) an individual who beneficially owns financial assets, as defined in section 1.1 of NI 45-106, National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions, having an aggregate realizable value that, before taxes but net of any related liabilities, exceeds \$5 million;
- (p) a person or company that is entirely owned by an individual or individuals referred to in paragraph (o), who holds the beneficial ownership interest in the person or company directly or through a trust, the trustee of which is a trust company or trust corporation registered or authorized to carry on business under the *Trust and Loan Companies Act* (Canada) or under comparable legislation in a jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign jurisdiction;
- (q) a person or company, other than an individual or an investment fund, that has net assets of at least
 \$25 million as shown on its most recently prepared financial statements;
- (r) a person or company that distributes securities of its own issue in Canada only to persons or companies referred to in paragraphs (a) to (q);

"portfolio manager" means a person or company registered in the category of portfolio manager;

April 15, 2011 341 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

"principal jurisdiction" means

- (a) for a person or company other than an individual, the jurisdiction of Canada in which the person or company's head office is located, and
- (b) for an individual, the jurisdiction of Canada in which the individual's working office is located;
- registered firm" means a registered dealer, a registered adviser, or a registered investment fund manager;
- "registered individual" means an individual who is registered
 - (a) in a category that authorizes the individual to act as a dealer or an adviser on behalf of a registered firm.
 - (b) as ultimate designated person, or
 - (c) as chief compliance officer;

"working office" means the office of the sponsoring firm where an individual does most of his or her business.

1.2 Interpretation of "securities" in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

In Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, a reference to "securities" in this Instrument includes "exchange contracts", unless the context otherwise requires.

1.3 Information may be given to the principal regulator

- (1) (1) In this section, "principal regulator" means
 - (a) for a registered firmperson or company whose head office is in a jurisdiction of Canada, the securities regulatory authority or regulator of that jurisdiction, and
 - (b) for a registered firmperson or company whose head office is not in Canada, the securities regulatory authority or regulator of.
 - (i) (i) if the firmperson or company has not completed its first financial year since being registered, the jurisdiction of Canada in which the firmperson or company expects most of its clients to be resident at the end of its current financial year, and
 - (ii) in all other circumstances, the jurisdiction of Canada in which most of the firmperson or company's clients were resident at the end of its most recently completed financial year.
- (2) (2) Except under the following sections, for the purpose of a requirement in this Instrument to notify the regulator or the securities regulatory authority, the person or company may notify the regulator or the securities regulatory authority by notifying the person or company's principal regulator:
 - (a) section 8.18 [international dealer];

April 15, 2011 340 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

[&]quot;related issuer" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts;

[&]quot;restricted dealer" means a person or company registered in the category of restricted dealer;

[&]quot;restricted portfolio manager" means a person or company registered in the category of restricted portfolio manager;

[&]quot;Schedule III bank" means an authorized foreign bank named in Schedule III of the Bank Act (Canada);

[&]quot;scholarship plan dealer" means a person or company registered in the category of scholarship plan dealer;

[&]quot;sponsoring firm" means the registered firm on whose behalf an individual acts as a dealer, an underwriter, an adviser, a chief compliance officer or an ultimate designated person;

[&]quot;subsidiary" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Aliational Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions;

- (b) section 8.26 [international adviser];
- (c) section 11.9 [registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets];
- (d) section 11.10 [registered firm whose securities are acquired].

(3) (3) For the purpose of a requirement in this Instrument to deliver or submit a document to the regulator or the securities regulatory authority, the person or company may deliver or submit the document by delivering or submitting it to the person or company's principal regulator.

Part 2 Categories of registration for individuals

2.1 Individual categories

- (1) The following are the categories of registration for an individual who is required, under securities legislation, to be registered to act on behalf of a registered firm:
 - (a) dealing representative;
 - (b) advising representative;
 - (c) associate advising representative;
 - (d) ultimate designated person;
 - (e) chief compliance officer.
- (2) An individual registered in the category of
 - dealing representative may act as a dealer or an underwriter in respect of a security that the individual's sponsoring firm is permitted to trade or underwrite,
 - (b) advising representative may act as an adviser in respect of a security that the individual's sponsoring firm is permitted to advise on,
 - (c) associate advising representative may act as an adviser in respect of a security that the individual's sponsoring firm is permitted to advise on if the advice has been approved under subsection 4.2(1) [associate advising representatives pre-approval of advice],
 - (d) ultimate designated person must perform the functions set out in section 5.1 [responsibilities of the ultimate designated person], and
 - (e) chief compliance officer must perform the functions set out in section 5.2 [responsibilities of the chief compliance officer].
- (3) Subsection (1) does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, the same categories of registration for individuals as in subsection 2.1(1) are set out under section 25 of the Securities Act (Ontario).

2.2 Client mobility exemption – individuals

- (1) The registration requirement does not apply to an individual if all of the following apply:
 - the individual is registered as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative in the individual's principal jurisdiction;
 - (b) the individual's sponsoring firm is registered in the firm's principal jurisdiction;
 - (c) the individual does not act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the local jurisdiction other than as he or she is permitted to in his or her principal jurisdiction according to the individual's registration in that jurisdiction;

April 15, 2011 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (d) the individual does not act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the local jurisdiction other than for 5 or fewer eligible clients;
- (e) the individual complies with Part 13 [dealing with clients individuals and firms];
- (f) the individual deals fairly, honestly and in good faith in the course of his or her dealings with an eligible client;
- (g) before first acting as a dealer or adviser for an eligible client, the individual's sponsoring firm has disclosed to the client that the individual, and if the firm is relying on section 8.30 [client mobility exemption firms], the firm,
 - (i) is exempt from registration in the local jurisdiction, and
 - (ii) is not subject to requirements otherwise applicable under local securities legislation.
- (2) If an individual relies on the exemption in this section, the individual's sponsoring firm must submit a completed Form 31-103F3 *Use of Mobility Exemption* to the securities regulatory authority of the local jurisdiction as soon as possible after the individual first relies on this section.

2.3 Individuals acting for investment fund managers

The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to an individual acting on behalf of a registered investment fund manager.

Part 3 Registration requirements – individuals

Division 1 General proficiency requirements

3.1 Definitions

In this Part

"Branch Manager Proficiency Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by the RESP Dealers Association of Canada and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination:

"Canadian Investment Funds <u>Course</u> Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by the <u>Investment FundsIFSE</u> Institute—of <u>Canada</u> and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination;

"Canadian Investment Manager designation" means the designation earned through the Canadian investment manager program prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every program that preceded that program, or succeeded that program, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned program:

"Canadian Securities Course Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination;

"Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination;

"CFA Charter" means the charter earned through the Chartered Financial Analyst program prepared and administered by the CFA Institute and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every program that preceded that program, or succeeded that program, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned program;

April 15, 2011 344 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

"Exempt Market Products Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by the IFSE Institute and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination:

"Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination:

"Mutual Fund Dealers Compliance Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by the IFSE Institute and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination:

"New Entrants Course Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination;

"PDO Exam" means

- (a) the Officers', Partners' and Directors' Exam prepared and administered by the Investment Funds IFSE Institute of Canada and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination, or
- (b) the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Course Exam prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination;

"Sales Representative Proficiency Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by the RESP Dealers Association of Canada and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination:

"Series 7 Exam" means the examination prepared and administered by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority in the United States of America and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination.

3.2 U.S. equivalency

In this Part, an individual is not required to have passed the Canadian Securities Course Exam if the individual has passed the Series 7 Exam and the New Entrants Course Exam.

3.3 Time limits on examination requirements

- (1) For the <u>purposes purpose</u> of this Part, an individual is deemed to have not passed an examination, and is deemed to have not successfully completed a program, unless the individual passed the examination or successfully completed the program withinnot more than 36 months before the date the individual applied of his or her application for registration.
- Subsection (1) does not apply if the individual passed the examination or successfully completed the program—more than 36 months before the date the individual applied for registration and one or bothof his or her application and has met one of the following applyconditions:
 - (a) for any 12 months during the 36-month period before the date the individual applied for registration in a category, the individual was registered in the same category in a<u>any</u> jurisdiction of Canada<u>at any</u> time during the 36-month period before the date of his or her application;

April 15, 2011 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) the individual <u>has</u> gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience during the 36-month period before the date the individual applied for registration of his or her application.
- (3) In Québec, the examinations provided for in subsections (4) and (6) of section 45 of Policy Q-9 Dealers, Advisers and Representatives, as it read on September 27, 2009, are deemed to be relevant examinations for purposes of subsection (2)(3) For the purpose of paragraph (2)(a), an individual is not considered to have been registered during any period in which the individual's registration was suspended.

Division 2 Education and experience requirements

3.4 Proficiency – initial and ongoing

- (1) An individual must not perform an activity that requires registration unless the individual has the education, training and experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently, including understanding the structure, features and risks of each security the individual recommends.
- (2) A chief compliance officer must not perform an activity set out in section 5.2 [responsibilities of the chief compliance officer] unless the individual has the education, training and experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently.

3.5 Mutual fund dealer – dealing representative

A dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer must not act as a dealer on behalf<u>in respect</u> of the mutual fund dealer<u>securities</u> listed in section 7.1(2)(b) unless one or bothany of the following apply:

- (a) the representative individual has passed the Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam, the Canadian Securities Course Exam or the Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam:
- (b) the representative individual has met the requirements of section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative].
- (c) the individual has earned a CFA Charter and has gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration;
- (d) the individual is exempt from section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative] because of subsection 16.10(1) [proficiency for dealing and advising representatives].

3.6 Mutual fund dealer – chief compliance officer

A mutual fund dealer must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has passed
 - (i) the Canadian Investment Funds <u>Course</u> Exam, the Canadian Securities Course Exam or the Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam, and
 - (ii) the PDO Exam-or, the Mutual Fund Dealers Compliance Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam;
- (b) the individual has met the requirements of section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer];
- (c) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual because of subsection 16.9(2) [registration of chief compliance officers].

3.7 Scholarship plan dealer – dealing representative

A dealing representative of a scholarship plan dealer must not act as a dealer on behalf<u>in respect</u> of the scholarship plan dealer<u>securities listed in section 7.1(2)(c)</u> unless the representative<u>individual</u> has passed the Sales Representative Proficiency Exam.

April 15, 2011 346 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

3.8 Scholarship plan dealer – chief compliance officer

A scholarship plan dealer must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a chief compliance officer] unless the individual has passed all of the following:

- (a) the Sales Representative Proficiency Exam;
- (b) the Branch Manager Proficiency Exam;
- (c) the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam.

3.9 Exempt market dealer - dealing representative

A dealing representative of an exempt market dealer must not act as a dealer on behalf of the exempt market dealer perform an activity listed in section 7.1(2)(d) unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has passed the Canadian Securities Course Exam;
- (b) the individual has passed the Exempt Market Products Exam;
- (c) the individual has earned a CFA Charter and has gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration;
- (d) the individual satisfies the conditions set out in section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative].:
- (e) the individual is exempt from section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative] because of subsection 16.10(1) [proficiency for dealing and advising representatives].

3.10 Exempt market dealer – chief compliance officer

An exempt market dealer must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has passed the PDO Exam and any of the following:
 - (i) the Exempt Market Products Exam or the Canadian Securities Course Exam; and
 - (ii) the Exempt Market ProductsPDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam;
- (b) the individual has met the requirements of section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer]:
- (c) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual because of subsection 16.9(2) [registration of chief compliance officers].

3.11 Portfolio manager – advising representative

An advising representative of a portfolio manager must not act as an adviser on behalf of the portfolio manager unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the representative individual has earned a CFA Charter and has gained 12 months of relevant investment management experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration;
- (b) the representative individual has received the Canadian Investment Manager designation and has <u>gained</u> 48 months of relevant investment management experience, 12 months of which was <u>gained</u> in the 36-month period before applying for registration.

3.12 Portfolio manager – associate advising representative

An associate advising representative of a portfolio manager must not act as an adviser on behalf of the portfolio manager unless any of the following apply:

April 15, 2011 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) the representative individual has completed Level 1 of the Chartered Financial Analyst program and has gained 24 months of relevant investment management experience;
- (b) the representative individual has received the Canadian Investment Manager designation and has gained 24 months of relevant investment management experience.

3.13 Portfolio manager – chief compliance officer

A portfolio manager must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has
 - (i) earned a CFA Charter or a professional designation as a lawyer, Chartered Accountant, Certified General Accountant or Certified Management Accountant in a jurisdiction of Canada, a notary in Québec, or the equivalent in a foreign jurisdiction,
 - (ii) passed the <u>PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam and, unless the individual has earned the CFA Charter, the</u> Canadian Securities Course Exam and the PDO Exam, and
 - (iii) either
 - A) gained 36 months of relevant securities experience while working at an investment dealer, a registered adviser or an investment fund manager, or
 - B) provided professional services in the securities industry for 36 months and <u>also</u> worked at a registered dealer, a registered adviser or an investment fund manager for 12 months:
- (b) the individual has passed the Canadian Securities Course Exam and <u>either</u> the PDO <u>Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying</u> Exam and any of the following apply:
 - the individual has worked at an investment dealer or a registered adviser for 5 years, including for 36 months in a compliance capacity;
 - (ii) the individual has worked for 5 years at a Canadian financial institution in a compliance capacity relating to portfolio management and <u>also</u>worked at a registered dealer or a registered adviser for 12 months:
- (c) the individual has passed <u>either</u> the PDO <u>Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying</u> Exam and has met the requirements of section 3.11 [portfolio manager advising representative].

3.14 Investment fund manager – chief compliance officer

An investment fund manager must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the individual has
 - earned a CFA Charter or a professional designation as a lawyer, Chartered Accountant, Certified General Accountant or Certified Management Accountant in a jurisdiction of Canada, a notary in Québec, or the equivalent in a foreign jurisdiction,
 - (ii) passed the <u>PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam and, unless the individual has earned the CFA Charter, the</u> Canadian Securities Course <u>Exam and the PDO Exam</u>, and
 - (iii) either
 - A) gained 36 months of relevant securities experience while working at a registered dealer, a registered adviser or an investment fund manager, or

April 15, 2011 348 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- B) provided professional services in the securities industry for 36 months and <u>also</u> worked in a relevant capacity at an investment fund manager for 12 months;
- (b) the individual has
 - (i) passed the Canadian Investment Funds <u>Course</u> Exam, the Canadian Securities Course Exam, or the Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam,
 - (ii) passed the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam, and
 - (iii) gained 5 years of relevant securities experience while working at a registered dealer, registered adviser or an investment fund manager, including 36 months in a compliance capacity-;
- (c) the individual has met the requirements of section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer].;
- (d) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual because of subsection 16.9(2) [registration of chief compliance officers].

Division 3 Membership in a self-regulatory organization

3.15 Who must be approved by an SRO before registration

- (1) A dealing representative of an investment dealer that is a member of IIROC must be an "approved person" as defined under the rules of IIROC.
- (2) Except in Québec, a dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA must be an "approved person" as defined under the rules of the MFDA.

3.16 Exemptions from certain requirements for SRO-approved persons

- (1) The following sections do not apply to a registered individual who is a dealing representative of a member of IIROC:
 - (a) subsection 13.2(3) [know your client];
 - (b) section 13.3 [suitability];
 - (c) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money].
- (2) The following sections do not apply to a registered individual who is a dealing representative of a member of the MFDA:
 - (a) section 13.3 [suitability];
 - (b) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money].
- (3) In Québec, the requirements listed in subsection (2) do not apply to a registered individual who is a dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer ifto the extent equivalent requirements to those listed in subsection (2) are applicable to the registered individual complies withunder the applicable regulations on mutual fund dealers in Québec.

Part 4 Restrictions on registered individuals

4.1 Restriction on acting for another registered firm

- (1) A registered firm must not permit an individual to act as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative of the registered firm if the individual
 - (a) An individual registered as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative of a registered firm must not actacts as an officer, partner or director of another registered firm that is not an affiliate of the first-mentioned registered firm, or

April 15, 2011 349 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) is registered as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative of another registered firm.
- (2) Paragraph (1)(b) does not apply in respect of a representative whose registration as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative of more than one registered firm was granted before July 11, 2011.

4.2 Associate advising representatives – pre-approval of advice

- (1) An associate advising representative of a registered adviser must not advise on securities unless, before giving the advice, the advice has been approved by an individual designated by the registered firm under subsection (2).
- (2) A registered adviser must designate, for an associate advising representative, an advising representative to review the advice of the associate advising representative.
- (3) No later than the 7th day following the date of a designation under subsection (2), a registered adviser must provide the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority with the names of the advising representative and the associate advising representative who are the subject of the designation.

Part 5 Ultimate designated person and chief compliance officer

5.1 Responsibilities of the ultimate designated person

The ultimate designated person of a registered firm must do all of the following:

- (a) supervise the activities of the firm that are directed towards ensuring compliance with securities legislation by the firm and each individual acting on the firm's behalf;
- (b) promote compliance by the firm, and individuals acting on its behalf, with securities legislation.

5.2 Responsibilities of the chief compliance officer

The chief compliance officer of a registered firm must do all of the following:

- (a) establish and maintain policies and procedures for assessing compliance by the firm, and individuals acting on its behalf, with securities legislation;
- (b) monitor and assess compliance by the firm, and individuals acting on its behalf, with securities legislation:
- (c) report to the ultimate designated person of the firm as soon as possible if the chief compliance officer becomes aware of any circumstances indicating that the firm, or any individual acting on its behalf, may be in non-compliance with securities legislation and any of the following apply:
 - (i) the non-compliance creates, in the opinion of a reasonable person, a risk of harm to a client;
 - (ii) the non-compliance creates, in the opinion of a reasonable person, a risk of harm to the capital markets;
 - (iii) the non-compliance is part of a pattern of non-compliance;
- (d) submit an annual report to the firm's board of directors, or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm, for the purpose of assessing compliance by the firm, and individuals acting on its behalf, with securities legislation.

Part 6 Suspension and revocation of registration - individuals

6.1 If individual ceases to have authority to act for firm

If a registered individual ceases to have authority to act as a registered individual on behalf of his or her sponsoring firm because of the end of, or a change in, the individual's employment, partnership, or agency relationship with the firm, the individual's registration with the firm is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

April 15, 2011 350 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

6.2 If IIROC approval is revoked or suspended

If IIROC revokes or suspends a registered individual's approval in respect of an investment dealer, the individual's registration as a dealing representative of the investment dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

6.3 If MFDA approval is revoked or suspended

Except in Québec, if the MFDA revokes or suspends a registered individual's approval in respect of a mutual fund dealer, the individual's registration as a dealing representative of the mutual fund dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

6.4 If sponsoring firm is suspended

If a registered firm's registration in a category is suspended, the registration of each registered dealing, advising or associate advising representative acting on behalf of the firm in that category is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

6.5 Dealing and advising activities suspended

If an individual's registration in a category is suspended, the individual must not act as a dealer, an underwriter or an adviser, as the case may be, under that category.

6.6 Revocation of a suspended registration – individual

If a registration of an individual has been suspended under this Part and it has not been reinstated, the registration is revoked on the 2^{nd} anniversary of the suspension.

6.7 Exception for individuals involved in a hearing or proceeding

Despite section 6.6, if a hearing or proceeding concerning a suspended registrant is commenced under securities legislation or a proceeding concerning the registrant is commenced under the rules of an SRO, the registrant's registration remains suspended.

6.8 Application of Part 6 in Ontario

Other than section 6.5 [dealing and advising activities suspended], this Part does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, measures governing suspension in section 29 of the Securities Act (Ontario) are similar to those in Parts 6 and 10.

Part 7 Categories of registration for firms

7.1 Dealer categories

- (1) The following are the categories of registration for a person or company that is required, under securities legislation, to be registered as a dealer:
 - (a) investment dealer;
 - (b) mutual fund dealer;
 - (c) scholarship plan dealer;
 - (d) exempt market dealer;
 - (e) restricted dealer.
- (2) A person or company registered in the category of
 - (a) investment dealer may act as a dealer or an underwriter in respect of any security,
 - (b) mutual fund dealer may act as a dealer in respect of any security of

April 15, 2011 351 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (i) a mutual fund, or
- except in Québec, an investment fund that is a labour-sponsored investment fund corporation or labour-sponsored venture capital corporation under legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada,
- (c) scholarship plan dealer may act as a dealer in respect of a security of a scholarship plan, an educational plan or an educational trust,
- (d) exempt market dealer may
 - (i) act as a dealer by trading a security that is distributed under an exemption from the prospectus requirement, whether or not a prospectus was filed in respect of the distribution,
 - (ii) act as a dealer by trading a security that, if the trade were a distribution, would be exempt from the prospectus requirement,
 - (iii) receive an order from a client to sell a security that was acquired by the client in a circumstance described in subparagraph (i) or (ii), and may act or solicit in furtherance of receiving such an order, and
 - (iv) act as an underwriter in respect of a distribution of securities that is made under an exemption from the prospectus requirement;
- (e) restricted dealer may act as a dealer or an underwriter in accordance with the terms, conditions, restrictions or requirements applied to its registration.
- (3) Despite paragraph (2)(b), in British Columbia a mutual fund dealer may also act as a dealer in respect of securities of any of the following: [repealed]
 - (a) scholarship plans;
 - (b) educational plans;
 - (c) educational trusts.
- (4) Subsection (1) does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, the same categories of registration for firms acting as dealers as in subsection 7.1(1) are set out under subsection 26(2) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

7.2 Adviser categories

- (1) The following are the categories of registration for a person or company that is required, under securities legislation, to be registered as an adviser:
 - (a) portfolio manager;
 - (b) restricted portfolio manager.
- (2) A person or company registered in the category of
 - (a) portfolio manager may act as an adviser in respect of any security, and
 - (b) restricted portfolio manager may act as an adviser in respect of any security in accordance with the terms, conditions, restrictions or requirements applied to its registration.
- (3) Subsection (1) does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, the same categories of registration for firms acting as advisers as in subsection 7.2(1) are set out under subsection 26(6) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

April 15, 2011 352 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

7.3 Investment fund manager category

The category of registration for a person or company that is required, under securities legislation, to be registered as an investment fund manager is "investment fund manager".

Part 8 Exemptions from the requirement to register

Division 1 Exemptions from dealer and underwriter registration

8.1 Interpretation of "trade" in Québec

In this Part, in Québec, "trade" refers to any of the following activities:

- (a) the activities described in the definition of "dealer" in section 5 of the Securities Act (R.S.Q., c. V-1.1), including the following activities:
 - the sale or disposition of a security by onerous title, whether the terms of payment are on margin, installment or otherwise, but does not include a transfer or the giving in guarantee of securities in connection with a debt or the purchase of a security, except as provided in paragraph (b);
 - (ii) participation as a trader in any transaction in a security through the facilities of an exchange or a quotation and trade reporting system;
 - (iii) the receipt by a registrant of an order to buy or sell a security;
- (b) a transfer or the giving in guarantee of securities of an issuer from the holdings of a control person in connection with a debt.

8.2 Definition of "securities" in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

Despite section 1.2, in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, a reference to "securities" in this Division excludes "exchange contracts".

8.3 Interpretation – exemption from underwriter registration requirement

In this Division, an exemption from the dealer registration requirement is an exemption from the underwriter registration requirement.

8.4 Person or company not in the business of trading in British Columbia, Manitoba and New Brunswick

- (1) In British Columbia and New Brunswick, a person or company is exempt from the dealer registration requirement if the person or company
 - is not engaged in the business of trading in securities or exchange contracts as a principal or agent,
 and
 - (b) does not hold himself, herself or itself out as engaging in the business of trading in securities or exchange contracts as a principal or agent.
- (2) In Manitoba, a person or company is exempt from the dealer registration requirement if the person or company
 - (a) is not engaged in the business of trading in securities as a principal or agent, and
 - (b) does not hold himself, herself or itself out as engaging in the business of trading in securities as a principal or agent.

8.5 Trades through or to a registered dealer

The dealer registration requirement does not apply to a person or company in respect of a trade by the person or company if one of the following applies:

April 15, 2011 353 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) the trade is made solely through an agent who is a registered dealer, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade;
- (b) the trade is made to a registered dealer who is purchasing as principal, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade.

8.6 Adviser – non-prospectus qualified investment fund Investment fund trades by adviser to managed account

- (1) The dealer registration requirement does not apply to a registered adviser, or an adviser that is exempt from registration under section 8.26 [international adviser], in respect of a trade in a security of a non-prospectus qualified an investment fund if both of the following apply:
 - (a) the adviser acts as the fund's adviser and investment fund manager;
 - (b) the trade is to a managed account of a client of the adviser.
- The exemption in subsection (1) is not available if the managed account or—non-prospectus qualified investment fund was created or is used primarily for the purpose of qualifying for the exemption.
- (3) An adviser that relies on subsection (1) must provide written notice to the regulator <u>or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority</u> that it is relying on the exemption within 7<u>10</u> days of its first use of the exemption.

8.7 Investment fund reinvestment

- Subject to subsections (2), (3), (4) and (5), the dealer registration requirement does not apply to an investment fund, or the investment fund manager of the fund, in respect of a trade in a security with a security holder of the investment fund if the trade is permitted by a plan of the investment fund and is in a security of the investment fund's own issue and if any of the following apply:
 - (a) a dividend or distribution out of earnings, surplus, capital or other sources payable in respect of the investment fund's securities is applied to the purchase of the security that is of the same class or series as the securities to which the dividends or distributions are attributable;
 - (b) the security holder makes an optional cash payment to purchase the security of the investment fund and both of the following apply:
 - (i) the security is of the same class or series of securities described in paragraph (a) that trade on a marketplace;
 - (ii) the aggregate number of securities issued under the optional cash payment does not exceed, in the financial year of the investment fund during which the trade takes place, 2 per cent of the issued and outstanding securities of the class to which the plan relates as at the beginning of the financial year.
- (2) The exemption in subsection (1) is not available unless the plan that permits the trade is available to every security holder in Canada to which the dividend or distribution is available.
- (3) The exemption in subsection (1) is not available if a sales charge is payable on a trade described in the subsection.
- (4) At the time of the trade, if the investment fund is a reporting issuer and in continuous distribution, the investment fund must have set out in the prospectus under which the distribution is made
 - details of any deferred or contingent sales charge or redemption fee that is payable at the time of the redemption of the security, and
 - (b) any right that the security holder has to elect to receive cash instead of securities on the payment of a dividend or making of a distribution by the investment fund and instructions on how the right can be exercised.
- (5) At the time of the trade, if the investment fund is a reporting issuer and is not in continuous distribution, the investment fund must provide the information required by subsection (4) in its prospectus, annual information form or a material change report.

April 15, 2011 354 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

8.8 Additional investment in investment funds

The dealer registration requirement does not apply to an investment fund, or the investment fund manager of the fund, in respect of a trade in a security of the investment fund's own issue with a security holder of the investment fund if all of the following apply:

- the security holder initially acquired securities of the investment fund as principal for an acquisition cost of not less than \$150,000 paid in cash at the time of the acquisition;
- (b) the trade is in respect of a security of the same class or series as the securities initially acquired, as described in paragraph (a);
- (c) the security holder, as at the date of the trade, holds securities of the investment fund and one or both of the following apply:
 - (i) the acquisition cost of the securities being held was not less than \$150,000;
 - (ii) the net asset value of the securities being held is not less than \$150,000.

8.9 Additional investment in investment funds if initial purchase before September 14, 2005

The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade by an investment fund in a security of its own issue to a purchaser that initially acquired a security of the same class as principal before September 14, 2005 if all of the following apply:

- (a) the security was initially acquired under any of the following provisions:
 - (i) in Alberta, sections 86(e) and 131(1)(d) of the Securities Act (Alberta) as they existed prior to their repeal by sections 9(a) and 13 of the Securities Amendment Act (Alberta), 2003 SA c.32 and sections 66.2 and 122.2 of the Alberta Securities Commission Rules (General);
 - (ii) in British Columbia, sections 45(2) (5) and (22), and 74(2) (4) and (19) of the Securities Act (British Columbia);
 - (iii) in Manitoba, sections 19(3) and 58(1)(a) of the Securities Act (Manitoba) and section 90 of the Securities Regulation MR 491/88R;
 - (iv) in New Brunswick, section 2.8 of Local Rule 45-501 *Prospectus and Registration Exemptions*:
 - in Newfoundland and Labrador, sections 36(1)(e) and 73(1)(d) of the Securities Act (Newfoundland and Labrador);
 - (vi) in Nova Scotia, sections 41(1)(e) and 77(1)(d) of the Securities Act (Nova Scotia);
 - (vii) in Northwest Territories, section 3(c) and (z) of Blanket Order No. 1;
 - (viii) in Nunavut, section 3(c) and (z) of Blanket Order No. 1;
 - in Ontario, sections 35(1)5 and 72(1)(d) of the Securities Act (Ontario) and section 2.12 of Ontario Securities Commission Rule 45-501 Exempt Distributions that came into force on January 12, 2004;
 - in Prince Edward Island, section 2(3)(d) of the former Securities Act (Prince Edward Island) and Prince Edward Island Local Rule 45-512 Exempt Distributions - Exemption for Purchase of Mutual Fund Securities;
 - (xi) in Québec, former sections 51 and 155.1(2) of the Securities Act (Québec);
 - (xii) in Saskatchewan, sections 39(1)(e) and 81(1)(d) of *The Securities Act,* 1988 (Saskatchewan);
- (b) the trade is for a security of the same class or series as the initial trade;

April 15, 2011 355 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (c) the security holder, as at the date of the trade, holds securities of the investment fund that have one or both of the following characteristics:
 - (i) an acquisition cost of not less than the minimum amount prescribed by securities legislation referred to in paragraph (a) under which the initial trade was conducted;
 - (ii) a net asset value of not less than the minimum amount prescribed by securities legislation referred to in paragraph (a) under which the initial trade was conducted.

8.10 Private investment club

The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a security of an investment fund if all of the following apply:

- (a) the fund has no more than 50 beneficial security holders;
- (b) the fund does not seek and has never sought to borrow money from the public;
- (c) the fund does not distribute and has never distributed its securities to the public;
- (d) the fund does not pay or give any remuneration for investment management or administration advice in respect of trades in securities, except normal brokerage fees;
- (e) the fund, for the purpose of financing its operations, requires security holders to make contributions in proportion to the value of the securities held by them.

8.11 Private investment fund – loan and trust pools

- (1) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a security of an investment fund if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the fund is administered by a trust company or trust corporation that is registered or authorized by an enactment of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada to carry on business in Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada:
 - (b) the fund has no promoter or investment fund manager other than the trust company or trust corporation referred to in paragraph (a):
 - (c) the fund commingles the money of different estates and trusts for the purpose of facilitating investment.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), a trust company or trust corporation registered under the laws of Prince Edward Island that is not registered under the *Trust and Loan Companies Act* (Canada) or under comparable legislation in another jurisdiction of Canada is not a trust company or trust corporation for the purpose of paragraph (1)(a).

8.12 Mortgages

- (1) In this section, "syndicated mortgage" means a mortgage in which two or more persons or companies participate, directly or indirectly, as lenders in the debt obligation that is secured by the mortgage.
- Subject to subsection (3), the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a mortgage on real property in a jurisdiction of Canada by a person or company who is registered or licensed, or exempted from registration or licensing, under mortgage brokerage or mortgage dealer legislation of that jurisdiction.
- (3) In Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba, Québec and Saskatchewan, subsection (2) does not apply in respect of a trade in a syndicated mortgage.
- (4) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario a similar exemption from the dealer registration requirement is provided under subsection 35(4) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

April 15, 2011 356 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

8.13 Personal property security legislation

- (1) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade to a person or company, other than an individual in a security evidencing indebtedness secured by or under a security agreement, secured in accordance with personal property security legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada that provides for the granting of security in personal property.
- (2) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario a similar exemption from the dealer registration requirement is provided under subsection 35(2) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

8.14 Variable insurance contract

(1) In this section

"contract", "group insurance", "insurance company", "life insurance" and "policy" have the respective meanings assigned to them in the legislation referenced opposite the name of the local jurisdiction in Appendix A of NINATIONAL Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions;

"variable insurance contract" means a contract of life insurance under which the interest of the purchaser is valued for purposes of conversion or surrender by reference to the value of a proportionate interest in a specified portfolio of assets.

- (2) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a variable insurance contract by an insurance company if the variable insurance contract is
 - (a) a contract of group insurance,
 - (b) a whole life insurance contract providing for the payment at maturity of an amount not less than 75% of the premium paid up to age 75 years for a benefit payable at maturity,
 - (c) an arrangement for the investment of policy dividends and policy proceeds in a separate and distinct fund to which contributions are made only from policy dividends and policy proceeds, or
 - (d) a variable life annuity.

8.15 Schedule III banks and cooperative associations – evidence of deposit

- (1) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in an evidence of deposit issued by a Schedule III bank or an association governed by the *Cooperative Credit Associations Act* (Canada).
- (2) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, subsection 8.15(1) is not required because the security described in the exemption is excluded from the definition of "security" in subsection 1(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

8.16 Plan administrator

(1) In this section

"consultant" has the same meaning as in section 2.22 of NINational Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions;

"control person" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of NI 45-106;

"executive officer" has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of NINational Instrument 45-106 <u>Prospectus and Registration</u> <u>Exemptions</u>;

"permitted assign" has the same meaning as in section 2.22 of NINational Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions;

"plan" means a plan or program established or maintained by an issuer providing for the acquisition of securities of the issuer by employees, executive officers, directors or consultants of the issuer or of a related entity of the issuer;

April 15, 2011 357 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

"plan administrator" means a trustee, custodian, or administrator, acting on behalf of, or for the benefit of, employees, executive officers, directors or consultants of an issuer or of a related entity of an issuer;

"related entity" has the same meaning as in section 2.22 of NI 45-106. National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions.

- (2) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade made pursuant to a plan of the issuer in a security of an issuer, or an option to acquire a security of the issuer, made by the issuer, a control person of the issuer, a related entity of the issuer, or a plan administrator of the issuer with any of the following:
 - (a) the issuer;
 - (b) a current or former employee, executive officer, director or consultant of the issuer or a related entity of the issuer:
 - (c) a permitted assign of a person or company referred to in paragraph (b).
- (3) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a security of an issuer, or an option to acquire a security of the issuer, made by a plan administrator of the issuer if
 - (a) the trade is pursuant to a plan of the issuer, and
 - (b) the conditions in section 2.14 of National Instrument 45-102 Resale of Securities are satisfied.

8.17 Reinvestment plan

- (1) Subject to subsections (3), (4) and (5), the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of the following trades by an issuer, or by a trustee, custodian or administrator acting for or on behalf of the issuer, to a security holder of the issuer if the trades are permitted by a plan of the issuer:
 - a trade in a security of the issuer's own issue if a dividend or distribution out of earnings, surplus, capital or other sources payable in respect of the issuer's securities is applied to the purchase of the security;
 - (b) subject to subsection (2), a trade in a security of the issuer's own issue if the security holder makes an optional cash payment to purchase the security of the issuer that trades on a marketplace.
- (2) The aggregate number of securities issued under the optional cash payment referred to in subsection (1)(b) must not exceed, in any financial year of the issuer during which the trade takes place, 2% of the issued and outstanding securities of the class to which the plan relates as at the beginning of the financial year.
- A plan that permits the trades described in subsection (1) must be available to every security holder in Canada to which the dividend or distribution out of earnings, surplus, capital or other sources is available.
- (4) This section is not available in respect of a trade in a security of an investment fund.
- Subject to section 8.3.18.4 [transition reinvestment plan] of NI 45-106, National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions, if the security traded under a plan described in subsection (1) is of a different class or series than the class or series of the security to which the dividend or distribution is attributable, the issuer or the trustee, custodian or administrator must have provided to each participant that is eligible to receive a security under the plan either a description of the material attributes and characteristics of the security traded under the plan or notice of a source from which the participant can obtain the information without charge.

8.18 International dealer

(1) In this section,

"Canadian permitted client" means a permitted client referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (e), (g) or (i) to (r) of the definition of "permitted client" in section 1.1 if

(a) in the case of an individual, the individual is a resident of Canada;

April 15, 2011 358 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) in the case of a trust, the terms of the trust expressly provide that those terms are governed by the laws of a jurisdiction of Canada;
- (c) in any other case, the permitted client is incorporated, organized or continued under the laws of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada.

"foreign security" means

- a security issued by an issuer incorporated, formed or created under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction, or
- (b) a security issued by a government of a foreign jurisdiction.
- Subject to subsections (3) and (4), the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of any of the following:
 - (a) an activity, other than a sale of a security, that is reasonably necessary to facilitate a distribution of securities that are offered primarily in a foreign jurisdiction;
 - (b) a trade in a debt security with a <u>Canadian</u> permitted client during the security's distribution, if the debt security is offered primarily in a foreign jurisdiction and a prospectus has not been filed with a Canadian securities regulatory authority for the distribution;
 - (c) a trade in a debt security that is a foreign security with a <u>Canadian</u> permitted client, other than during the security's distribution;
 - (d) a trade in a foreign security with a <u>Canadian</u> permitted client, unless the trade is made during the security's distribution under a prospectus that has been filed with a Canadian securities regulatory authority;
 - (e) a trade in a foreign security with an investment dealer;
 - (f) a trade in any security with an investment dealer that is acting as principal.
- (3) The exemptions <u>exemption</u> under subsection (2) <u>areis</u> not available to a person or company unless all of the following apply:
 - (a) the head office or principal place of business of the person or company is in a foreign jurisdiction;
 - (b) the person or company is registered under the securities legislation of the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal place of business is located in a category of registration that permits it to carry on the activities in that jurisdiction that registration as a dealer would permit it to carry on in the local jurisdiction;
 - (c) the person or company engages in the business of a dealer in the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal place of business is located;
 - (d) the person or company is acting as principal or as agent for
 - (i) the issuer of the securities, for
 - (ii) a permitted client, or-for
 - (iii) a person or company that is not a resident of Canada;
 - (e) the person or company has submitted to the securities regulatory authority a completed Form 31-103F2 Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service.
- (4) The exemptionsexemption under subsection (2) are is not available to a person or company in respect of a trade with a Canadian permitted client unless one of the following applies:
 - (a) the <u>Canadian</u> permitted client is a person or company registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as an adviser or dealer;

April 15, 2011 359 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) the person or company has notified the <u>Canadian permitted</u> client of all of the following:
 - (i) the person or company is not registered in Canadathe local jurisdiction to make the trade;
 - (ii) the foreign jurisdiction in which the head office or principal place of business of the person or company is located;
 - (iii) all or substantially all of the assets of the person or company may be situated outside of Canada;
 - (iv) ____(ii) there may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the person or company's jurisdiction of residence because of the above;
 - (v) (iii) the name and address of the agent for service of process of the person or company in the local jurisdiction;
 - (iv) there may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the person or company because it is resident outside Canada and all or substantially all of its assets may be situated outside of Canada.
- (5) A person or company relyingthat relied on the exemption in subsection (2) during the 12 month period preceding December 1 of a year must notify the regulator 12 months after it first submits a Form 31-103F2 under paragraph (3)(e), and each year thereafter, if it continues to rely on subsection (2)or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority of that fact by December 1 of that year.
- (6) In Ontario, subsection (5) does not apply to a person or company that complies with the filing and fee payment requirements applicable to an unregistered exempt international firm under Ontario Securities Commission Rule 13-502 Fees.
- (7) The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a person or company that is exempt from the dealer registration requirement under this section if the person or company provides advice to a client and the advice is
 - (a) in connection with an activity or trade described under subsection (2), and
 - (b) not in respect of a managed account of the client.

8.19 Self-directed registered education savings plan

(1) In this section

"self-directed RESP" means an educational savings plan registered under the Income Tax Act (Canada)

- (a) that is structured so that contributions by a subscriber to the plan are deposited directly into an account in the name of the subscriber, and
- (b) under which the subscriber maintains control and direction over the plan that enables the subscriber to direct how the assets of the plan are to be held, invested or reinvested subject to compliance with the *Income Tax Act* (Canada).
- (2) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a self-directed RESP to a subscriber if both of the following apply:
 - (a) the trade is made by any of the following:
 - (i) a dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer who is acting on behalf of the mutual fund dealer in respect of securities listed in section 7.1(2)(b);
 - (ii) a Canadian financial institution;
 - (iii) in Ontario, a financial intermediary;
 - (b) the self-directed RESP restricts its investments in securities to securities in which the person or company who trades the self-directed RESP is permitted to trade.

April 15, 2011 360 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

8.20 Exchange contract – Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

- (1) In Alberta, British Columbia and New Brunswick, the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of the following trades in exchange contracts:
 - (a) a trade by a person or company made
 - solely through an agent who is a registered dealer, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade, or
 - (ii) to a registered dealer who is purchasing as principal, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade;
 - (b) subject to subsection (2), a trade resulting from an unsolicited order placed with an individual who is not a resident of, and does not carry on business in, the local jurisdiction.
- (2) An individual referred to in subsection (1)(b) must not do any of the following:
 - advertise or engage in promotional activity that is directed to persons or companies in the local jurisdiction during the 6 months preceding the trade;
 - (b) pay any commission or finder's fee to any person or company in the local jurisdiction in connection with the trade.
- (3) In Saskatchewan, the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of either of the following:
 - (a) a trade in an exchange contract made solely through an agent who is a registered dealer, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade;
 - (b) a trade in an exchange contract made to a registered dealer who is purchasing as principal, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade.

8.21 Specified debt

(1) In this section

"approved credit rating" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds;

"approved credit rating organization" has the same meaning as in National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds;

"permitted supranational agency" means any of the following:

- (a) the African Development Bank, established by the Agreement Establishing the African Development Bank which came into force on September 10, 1964, that Canada became a member of on December 30, 1982;
- (b) the Asian Development Bank, established under a resolution adopted by the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific in 1965;
- (c) the Caribbean Development Bank, established by the Agreement Establishing the Caribbean Development Bank which came into force on January 26, 1970, as amended, that Canada is a founding member of;
- (d) the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, established by the Agreement Establishing the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development and approved by the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development Agreement Act (Canada), that Canada is a founding member of;
- (e) the Inter-American Development Bank, established by the Agreement establishing the Inter-American Development Bank which became effective December 30, 1959, as amended from time to time, that Canada is a member of;

April 15, 2011 361 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (f) the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, established by the Agreement for an International Bank for Reconstruction and Development approved by the *Bretton Woods and Related Agreements Act* (Canada);
- (g) the International Finance Corporation, established by Articles of Agreement approved by the *Bretton Woods and Related Agreements Act* (Canada).
- (2) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in any of the following:
 - (a) a debt security issued by or guaranteed by the Government of Canada or the government of a jurisdiction of Canada;
 - (b) a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a government of a foreign jurisdiction if the debt security has an approved credit rating from an approved credit rating organization;
 - (c) a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a municipal corporation in Canada;
 - (d) a debt security secured by or payable out of rates or taxes levied under the law of a jurisdiction of Canada on property in the jurisdiction and collectible by or through the municipality in which the property is situated;
 - (e) a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank, other than debt securities that are subordinate in right of payment to deposits held by the issuer or quarantor of those debt securities;
 - (f) a debt security issued by the Comité de gestion de la taxe scolaire de l'île de Montréal;
 - (g) a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a permitted supranational agency if the debt securities are payable in the currency of Canada or the United States of America.
- (3) Paragraphs (2)(a), (c) and (d) do not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, exemptions from the dealer registration requirement similar to those in paragraphs 8.21(a), (c) and (d) are provided under paragraph 2 of subsection 35(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

8.22 Small security holder selling and purchase arrangements

(1) In this section

"exchange" means

- (a) TSX Inc.,
- (b) TSX Venture Exchange Inc., or
- (c) an exchange that
 - (i) has a policy that is substantially similar to the policy of the TSX Inc., and
 - (ii) is designated by the securities regulatory authority for the purpose of this section;

"policy" means,

- (a) in the case of TSX Inc., sections 638 and 639 [Odd lot selling and purchase arrangements] of the TSX Company Manual, as amended from time to time,
- (b) in the case of the TSX Venture Exchange Inc., Policy 5.7 Small Shareholder Selling and Purchase Arrangements, as amended from time to time, or
- (c) in the case of an exchange referred to in paragraph (c) of the definition of "exchange", the rule, policy or other similar instrument of the exchange on small shareholder selling and purchase arrangements.

April 15, 2011 362 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (2) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade by an issuer or its agent, in securities of the issuer that are listed on an exchange, if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the trade is an act in furtherance of participation by the holders of the securities in an arrangement that is in accordance with the policy of that exchange;
 - (b) the issuer and its agent do not provide advice to a security holder about the security holder's participation in the arrangement referred to in paragraph (a), other than a description of the arrangement's operation, procedures for participation in the arrangement, or both;
 - (c) the trade is made in accordance with the policy of that exchange, without resort to an exemption from, or variation of, the significant subject matter of the policy;
 - (d) at the time of the trade after giving effect to a purchase under the arrangement, the market value of the maximum number of securities that a security holder is permitted to hold in order to be eligible to participate in the arrangement is not more than \$25-000.25,000.
- (3) For the purposes of subsection (2)(c), an exemption from, or variation of, the maximum number of securities that a security holder is permitted to hold under a policy in order to be eligible to participate in the arrangement provided for in the policy is not an exemption from, or variation of, the significant subject matter of the policy.

Division 2 Exemptions from adviser registration

8.23 Dealer without discretionary authority

The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a registered dealer, or a dealing representative acting on behalf of the dealer, that provides advice to a client if the advice is

- (a) in connection with a trade in a security that the dealer and the representative are permitted to make under his, her or its registration,
- (b) provided by the representative, and
- (c) not in respect of a managed account of the client.

8.24 IIROC members with discretionary authority

The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a registered dealer, or a dealing representative acting on behalf of the dealer, that acts as an adviser in respect of a client's managed account if the registered dealer is a member of IIROC and the advising activities are conducted in accordance with the rules of IIROC.

8.25 Advising generally

- (1) For the purposes of subsections (3) and (4), "financial or other interest" includes the following:
 - (a) ownership, beneficial or otherwise, in the security or in another security issued by the same issuer;
 - (b) an option in respect of the security or another security issued by the same issuer;
 - a commission or other compensation received, or expected to be received, from any person or company in connection with the trade in the security;
 - (d) a financial arrangement regarding the security with any person or company;
 - (e) a financial arrangement with any underwriter or other person or company who has any interest in the security.
- (2) The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a person or company that acts as an adviser if the advice the person or company provides does not purport to be tailored to the needs of the person or company receiving the advice.
- (3) If a person or company that is exempt under subsection (2) recommends buying, selling or holding a specified security, a class of securities or the securities of a class of issuers in which any of the following has a financial or other interest, the person or company must disclose the interest concurrently with providing the advice:

April 15, 2011 363 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) the person or company;
- (b) any partner, director or officer of the person or company;
- (c) any other person or company that would be an insider of the first-mentioned person or company if the first-mentioned person or company were a reporting issuer.
- (4) If the financial or other interest of the person or company includes an interest in an option described in paragraph (b) of the definition of "financial or other interest" in subsection (1), the disclosure required by subsection (3) must include a description of the terms of the option.
- (5) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, measures similar to those in section 7.248.25 are in section 34 of the Securities Act (Ontario).

8.26 International adviser

- (1) Despite section 1.2, in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, a reference to "securities" in this section excludes "exchange contracts".
- (2) In this section

"aggregate consolidated gross revenue" does not include the gross revenue of an affiliate of the adviser if the affiliate is registered in a jurisdiction of Canada;

"Canadian permitted client" means a permitted client referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (c), (e), (g) or (i) to (r) of the definition of "permitted client" in section 1.1 if

- (a) in the case of an individual, the individual is a resident of Canada;
- (b) in the case of a trust, the terms of the trust expressly provide that those terms are governed by the laws of a jurisdiction of Canada; and
- (c) in any other case, the permitted client is incorporated, organized or continued under the laws of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada.

"foreign security" means

- (a) a security issued by an issuer incorporated, formed or created under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction,
 and
- (b) a security issued by a government of a foreign jurisdiction;

"permitted client" has the meaning given to the term in section 1.1 [definitions] except that it excludes a person or company registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as an adviser or dealer.

- (3) The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a person or company in respect of its acting as an adviser to a <u>Canadian</u> permitted client if the adviser does not advise in <u>Canadathat client</u> on securities of Canadian issuers, unless providing that advice is incidental to its providing advice on a foreign security.
- (4) The exemption under subsection (3) is not available unless all of the following apply:
 - (a) the adviser's head office or principal place of business is in a foreign jurisdiction;
 - (b) the adviser is registered, or operates under an exemption from registration, under the securities legislation of the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal place of business is located, in a category of registration that permits it to carry on the activities in that jurisdiction that registration as an adviser would permit it to carry on in the local jurisdiction;
 - (c) the adviser engages in the business of an adviser in the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal place of business is located;

April 15, 2011 364 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (d) duringas at the end of its most recently completed financial year, not more than 10% of the aggregate consolidated gross revenue of the adviser, its affiliates and its affiliated partnerships was derived from the portfolio management activities of the adviser, its affiliates and its affiliated partnerships in Canada;
- (e) before advising a client, the adviser notifies the client of all of the following:
 - the adviser is not registered in Canadathe local jurisdiction to provide the advice described under subsection (3);
 - (ii) the <u>foreign jurisdiction</u> of <u>residence of in which</u> the adviser's <u>head office or principal place of business is located;</u>
 - (iii) all or substantially all of the adviser's assets may be situated outside of Canada;
 - (iv) there may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the adviser because of the above;
 - the name and address of the adviser's agent for service of process in the local jurisdiction;(iv) that there may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the adviser because it is resident outside Canada and all or substantially all of its assets may be situated outside of Canada;
- (f) the adviser has submitted to the securities regulatory authority a completed Form 31-103F2 Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service.
- (5) A person or company relyingthat relied on the exemption in subsection (3) during the 12 month period preceding December 1 of a year must notify the regulator 12 months after it first submits a Form 31-103F2 under paragraph (4)(f), and each year thereafter, if it continues to rely on subsection (3), or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority of that fact by December 1 of that year.
- (6) In Ontario, subsection (5) does not apply to a person or company that complies with the filing and fee payment requirements applicable to an unregistered exempt international firm under Ontario Securities Commission Rule 13-502 Fees.

Division 3 Exemptions from investment fund manager registration

8.27 Private investment club

The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to a person or company in respect of its acting as an investment fund manager for an investment fund if all of the following apply:

- (a) the fund has no more than 50 beneficial security holders:
- (b) the fund does not seek and has never sought to borrow money from the public;
- (c) the fund does not distribute and has never distributed its securities to the public;
- the fund does not pay or give any remuneration for investment management or administration advice in respect of trades in securities, except normal brokerage fees;
- (e) the fund, for the purpose of financing its operations, requires security holders to make contributions in proportion to the value of the securities held by them.

8.28 Capital accumulation plan exemption

- (1) In this section, "capital accumulation plan" means a tax assisted investment or savings plan, including a defined contribution registered pension plan, a group registered retirement savings plan, a group registered education savings plan, or a deferred profit-sharing plan, established by a plan sponsor that permits a member to make investment decisions among two or more investment options offered within the plan, and in Quebec and Manitoba, includes a simplified pension plan.
- (2) The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to a person or company that acts as an investment fund manager for an investment fund if the person or company is only required to be registered as an investment fund manager because the investment fund is an investment option in a capital accumulation plan.

April 15, 2011 365 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

8.29 Private investment fund – loan and trust pools

- (1) The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to a trust company or trust corporation that administers an investment fund if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the trust company or trust corporation is registered or authorized by an enactment of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada to carry on business in Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada;
 - (b) the fund has no promoter or investment fund manager other than the trust company or trust corporation;
 - (c) the fund commingles the money of different estates and trusts for the purpose of facilitating investment.
- (2) The exemption in subsection (1) is not available to a trust company or trust corporation registered under the laws of Prince Edward Island unless it is also registered under the *Trust and Loan Companies Act* (Canada) or under comparable legislation in another jurisdiction of Canada.
- (3) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, subsection 35.1 of the Securities Act (Ontario) provides a general exemption from the registration requirement for trust companies, trust corporations and other specified financial institutions.

Division 4 Mobility exemption – firms

8.30 Client mobility exemption – firms

The dealer registration requirement and the adviser registration requirement do not apply to a person or company if all of the following apply:

- (a) the person or company is registered as a dealer or adviser in its principal jurisdiction;
- (b) the person or company does not act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the local jurisdiction other than as it is permitted to in its principal jurisdiction according to its registration;
- (c) the person or company does not act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the local jurisdiction other than in respect of 10 or fewer eligible clients;
- (d) the person or company complies with Parts 13 [dealing with clients individuals and firms] and 14 [handling client accounts firms];
- (e) the person or company deals fairly, honestly and in good faith in the course of its dealings with an eligible client.

Part 9 Membership in a self-regulatory organization

9.1 IIROC membership for investment dealers

An investment dealer must not act as a dealer unless the investment dealer is a "Dealer Member", as defined under the rules of IIROC.

9.2 MFDA membership for mutual fund dealers

Except in Québec, a mutual fund dealer must not act as a dealer unless the mutual fund dealer is a "member", as defined under the rules of the MFDA.

9.3 Exemptions from certain requirements for SROIIROC members

- (1) An<u>Unless it is also registered as an</u> investment dealer<u>fund manager</u>, a <u>registered firm</u> that is a member of IIROC is exempt from the following requirements to the extent the provisions apply to the activities of an investment dealer:
 - (a) section 12.1 [capital requirements];

April 15, 2011 366 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) section 12.2 [notifying the regulator of a subordination agreement];
- (c) section 12.3 [insurance dealer];
- (d) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];
- (e) section 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation];
- (f) section 12.10 [annual financial statements];
- (g) section 12.11 [interim financial information];
- (h) section 12.12 [delivering financial information dealer];
- (i) subsection 13.2(3) [know your client];
- (j) section 13.3 [suitability];
- (k) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];
- (I) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
- (I.1) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
- (m) subsection 14.2(2) [relationship disclosure information];
- (n) section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust];
- (o) section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement];
- (p) section 14.9 [securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement];
- (q) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation].
- (2) Despite subsection (1), if If a registered firm is a member of IIROC and is registered as an investment fund manager, the firm is not exempt from the following requirements:
 - (a) section 12.1 [capital requirements12.3 [insurance dealer];
 - (b) section 12.2 [notifying the regulator of a subordination agreement]; 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];
 - (c) section 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation];
 - (d) section 12.10 [annual financial statements];
 - (c) (e) section 12.11 [interim12.12 [delivering financial information]. dealer];
- (3) A registered firm that is a member of the MFDA is exempt from each requirement listed in subsection (1) that applies to a mutual fund dealer other than the following:
 - (d) (a) subsection 13.2(3) [know your client];
 - (e) section 13.3 [suitability];
 - (f) (b) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients]-;
 - (g) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
 - (h) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
 - (i) subsection 14.2(2) [relationship disclosure information];

April 15, 2011 367 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (j) section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust];
- (k) section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement];
- (I) section 14.9 [securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement];
- (m) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation].
- (3) [repealed]
- (4) Despite subsection (3), if a registered firm is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an investment fund manager, the firm is not exempt from the following requirements: [repealed]
 - (a) section 12.1 [capital requirements];
 - (b) section 12.2 [notifying the regulator of a subordination agreement];
 - (c) section 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation];
 - (d) section 12.10 [annual financial statements];
 - (e) section 12.11 [interim financial information].
- (5) Subsection (3) does not apply in Québec. [repealed]
- (6) In Québec, the requirements listed in subsection (1), other than subsection 13.2(3) [know your client] and section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients] do not apply to a mutual fund dealer if the registrant complies with the applicable regulations on mutual fund dealer in Québec. [repealed]

9.4 Exemptions from certain requirements for MFDA members

- (1) Unless it is also registered as an exempt market dealer, a scholarship plan dealer or an investment fund manager, a registered firm that is a member of the MFDA is exempt from the following requirements:
 - (a) section 12.1 [capital requirements];
 - (b) section 12.2 [notifying the regulator of a subordination agreement];
 - (c) section 12.3 [insurance dealer];
 - (d) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];
 - (e) section 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation];
 - (f) section 12.10 [annual financial statements];
 - (g) section 12.11 [interim financial information];
 - (h) section 12.12 [delivering financial information dealer];
 - (i) section 13.3 [suitability];
 - (i) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];
 - (k) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
 - (I) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
 - (m) subsection 14.2(2) [relationship disclosure information];
 - (n) section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust];
 - (o) section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement];

April 15, 2011 368 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (p) section 14.9 [securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement];
- (q) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation].
- (2) If a registered firm is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an exempt market dealer, scholarship plan dealer or investment fund manager, the firm is exempt from the following requirements:
 - (a) section 12.3 [insurance dealer];
 - (b) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];
 - (c) section 13.3 [suitability];
 - (d) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];
 - (e) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money]:
 - (f) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
 - (g) subsection 14.2(2) [relationship disclosure information];
 - (h) section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust];
 - (i) section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement];
 - (j) section 14.9 [securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement];
 - (k) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation].
- (3) Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply in Québec.
- (4) In Québec, the requirements listed in subsection (1) do not apply to a mutual fund dealer to the extent equivalent requirements to those listed in subsection (1) are applicable to the mutual fund dealer under the regulations in Québec.

Part 10 Suspension and revocation of registration - firms

Division 1 When a firm's registration is suspended

10.1 Failure to pay fees

- (1) In this section, "annual fees" means
 - (a) _____in Alberta, the fees required under section 2.1 of the Schedule Fees in Alta. Reg. 115/95 Securities Regulation,
 - (b) in British Columbia, the annual fees required under section 22 of the Securities Regulation, B.C. Reg. 196/97,
 - (c) in Manitoba, the fees required under paragraph 1.(2)(a) of the Manitoba Fee Regulation, M.R 491\88R,
 - (d) in New Brunswick, the fees required under section 2.2 (c) of Local Rule 11-501 Fees,
 - (e) in Newfoundland and Labrador, the fees required under section 143 of the Securities Act,
 - (f) in Nova Scotia, the fees required under Part XIV of the Regulations,
 - in Northwest Territories, the fees required under sections 1(c) and 1(e) of the Securities Fee regulations, R-066-2008;
 - (h) in Nunavut, the fees required under section 1(a) of the Schedule to R-003-2003 to the Securities Fee regulation, R.R.N.W.T. 1990, c.20,

April 15, 2011 369 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (i) in Prince Edward Island, the fees required under section 175 of the Securities Act R.S.P.E.I., Cap. S-3.1.
- (j) in Québec, the fees required under section 271.5 of the Québec Securities Regulation,
- in Saskatchewan, the annual registration fees required to be paid by a registrant under section 176 of The Securities Regulations (Saskatchewan), and
- (I) in Yukon, the fees required under O.I.C. 2009\66, pursuant to section 168 of the Securities Act.
- (2) If a registered firm has not paid the annual fees by the 30th day after the date the annual fees were due, the registration of the firm is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

10.2 If IIROC membership is revoked or suspended

If IIROC revokes or suspends a registered firm's membership, the firm's registration in the category of investment dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

10.3 If MFDA membership is revoked or suspended

Except in Québec, if the MFDA revokes or suspends a registered firm's membership, the firm's registration in the category of mutual fund dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

10.4 Activities not permitted while a firm's registration is suspended

If a registered firm's registration in a category is suspended, the firm must not act as a dealer, an underwriter, an adviser, or an investment fund manager, as the case may be, under that category.

Division 2 Revoking a firm's registration

10.5 Revocation of a suspended registration – firm

If a registration has been suspended under this Part and it has not been reinstated, the registration is revoked on the 2nd anniversary of the suspension.

10.6 Exception for firms involved in a hearing or proceeding

Despite section 10.5, if a hearing or proceeding concerning a suspended registrant is commenced under securities legislation or under the rules of an SRO, the registrant's registration remains suspended.

10.7 Application of Part 10 in Ontario

Other than section 10.4 [activities not permitted while a firm's registration is suspended], this Part does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, measures governing suspension in section 29 of the Securities Act (Ontario) are similar to those in Parts 6 and 10.

Part 11 Internal controls and systems

Division 1 Compliance

11.1 Compliance system

A registered firm must establish, maintain and apply policies and procedures that establish a system of controls and supervision sufficient to

- (a) provide reasonable assurance that the firm and each individual acting on its behalf complies with securities legislation, and
- (b) manage the risks associated with its business in accordance with prudent business practices.

April 15, 2011 370 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

11.2 Designating an ultimate designated person

- (1) A registered firm must designate an individual who is registered under securities legislation in the category of ultimate designated person to perform the functions described in section 5.1 [responsibilities of the ultimate designated person].
- (2) A registered firm must not designate an individual to act as the firm's ultimate designated person unless the individual under subsection (1) who is one of the following:
 - (a) the chief executive officer erof the registered firm or, if the firm does not have a chief executive officer, an individual acting in a capacity similar to a chief executive officer;
 - (b) the sole proprietor of the registered firm;
 - (b<u>c</u>) anthe officer in charge of a division of the registered firm, if the activity that requires the firm to register occurs only within the division;(c) an individual acting in a capacity similar to that of an officer described in paragraph (a) or (b) and the firm has significant other business activities.
- (3) If an individual who is registered as a registered firm's ultimate designated person ceases to meet any of the conditions listed in subsection (2), the registered firm must designate another individual to act as its ultimate designated person.

11.3 Designating a chief compliance officer

- (1) A registered firm must designate an individual who is registered under securities legislation in the category of chief compliance officer to perform the functions described in section 5.2 [responsibilities of the chief compliance officer].
- (2) A registered firm must not designate an individual to act as the firm's chief compliance officer unless the individual has satisfied the applicable conditions in Part 3 [registration requirements individuals] and the individual is one of the following:
 - (a) an officer or partner of the registered firm;
 - (b) the sole proprietor of the registered firm.
- (3) If an individual who is registered as a registered firm's chief compliance officer ceases to meet any of the conditions listed in subsection (2), the registered firm must designate another individual to act as its chief compliance officer.

11.4 Providing access to the board of directors

A registered firm must permit its ultimate designated person and its chief compliance officer to directly access the firm's board of directors, or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm, at such times as the ultimate designated person or the chief compliance officer may consider necessary or advisable in view of his or her responsibilities.

Division 2 Books and records

11.5 General requirements for records

- (1) A registered firm must maintain records to
 - (a) accurately record its business activities, financial affairs, and client transactions, and
 - (b) demonstrate the extent of the firm's compliance with applicable requirements of securities legislation.
- (2) The records required under subsection (1) include, but are not limited to, records that do the following:
 - (a) permit timely creation and audit of financial statements and other financial information required to be filed or delivered to the securities regulatory authority;
 - (b) permit determination of the registered firm's capital position;
 - (c) demonstrate compliance with the registered firm's capital and insurance requirements;
 - (d) demonstrate compliance with internal control procedures;
 - (e) demonstrate compliance with the firm's policies and procedures;

April 15, 2011 371 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (f) permit the identification and segregation of client cash, securities, and other property;
- (g) identify all transactions conducted on behalf of the registered firm and each of its clients, including the parties to the transaction and the terms of the purchase or sale:
- (h) provide an audit trail for
 - (i) client instructions and orders, and
 - (ii) each trade transmitted or executed for a client or by the registered firm on its own behalf;
- (i) permit the generation of account activity reports for clients;
- (j) provide securities pricing as may be required by securities legislation;
- (k) document the opening of client accounts, including any agreements with clients;
- (I) demonstrate compliance with sections 13.2 [know your client] and 13.3 [suitability];
- (m) demonstrate compliance with complaint-handling requirements;
- (n) document correspondence with clients;
- (o) document compliance and supervision actions taken by the firm.

11.6 Form, accessibility and retention of records

- (1) A registered firm must keep a record that it is required to keep under securities legislation
 - (a) for 7 years from the date the record is created,
 - (b) in a safe location and in a durable form, and
 - (c) in a manner that permits it to be provided to the regulator or <u>in Québec</u> the securities regulatory authority in a reasonable period of time.
- (2) A record required to be provided to the regulator or <u>in Québec</u>, the securities regulatory authority must be provided in a format that is capable of being read by the regulator or the securities regulatory authority.
- (3) Paragraph (1)(c) does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, how quickly a registered firm is require required to provide information to the regulator is addressed in subsection 19(3) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

Division 3 Certain business transactions

11.7 Tied settling of securities transactions

A registered firm must not require a person or company to settle that person's or company's transaction with the registered firm through that person's or company's account at a Canadian financial institution as a condition, or on terms that would appear to a reasonable person to be a condition, of supplying a product or service, unless this method of settlement would be, to a reasonable person, necessary to provide the specific product or service that the person or company has requested.

11.8 Tied selling

A dealer, adviser or investment fund manager must not require another person or company

- (a) to buy, sell or hold a security as a condition, or on terms that would appear to a reasonable person to be a condition, of supplying or continuing to supply a product or service, or
- (b) to buy, sell or use a product or service as a condition, or on terms that would appear to a reasonable person to be a condition, of buying or selling a security.

April 15, 2011 372 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

11.9 Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets

- (1) A registrant must give the regulator<u>or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority</u> written notice in accordance with subsection (2) if it proposes to acquire any of the following:
 - (a) beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, a security of a registered firm;
 - (b) beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, a security of a person or company of which a registered firm is a subsidiary;
 - (c) all or a substantial part of the assets of a registered firm.
- (2) The notice required under subsection (1) must be delivered to the regulator <u>or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority</u> at least 30 days before the proposed acquisition and must include all relevant facts regarding the acquisition sufficient to enable the regulator <u>or the securities regulatory authority</u> to determine if the acquisition is
 - (a) likely to give rise to a conflict of interest,
 - (b) likely to hinder the registered firm in complying with securities legislation,
 - (c) inconsistent with an adequate level of investor protection, or
 - (d) otherwise prejudicial to the public interest.
- (3) Subsection (1) does not apply to the following:
 - a proposed acquisition-in connection with an amalgamation, merger, arrangement, reorganization or treasury
 issue if the beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, the person or company whose
 security is to be acquired will not change;
 - (b) a registrant who, alone or in combination with any other person or company, proposes to acquire securities that, together with the securities already beneficially owned, or over which direct or indirect control or direction is already exercised, do not exceed more than 10% of any class or series of securities that are listed and posted for trading on an exchange.
- (4) Except in Ontario and British Columbia, if, within 30 days of the regulator's, or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority's receipt of a notice under subsection (1), the regulator or the securities regulatory authority notifies the registrant making the acquisition that the regulator or the securities regulatory authority objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator or the securities regulatory authority approves it.
- (5) In Ontario, if, within 30 days of the regulator's receipt of a notice under subsection (1)(a) or (c), the regulator notifies the registrant making the acquisition that the regulator objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator approves it.
- (6) Following receipt of a notice of objection under subsection (4) or (5), the person or company who submitted the notice to the regulator <u>or</u>, in <u>Québec</u>, the securities regulatory authority may request an opportunity to be heard on the matter.

11.10 Registered firm whose securities are acquired

- (1) A registered firm must give the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority written notice in accordance with subsection (2) if it knows or has reason to believe that any person or company, alone or in combination with any other person or company, is about to acquire, or has acquired, beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, 10% or more of any class or series of voting securities of any of the following:
 - (a) the registered firm;
 - (b) a person or company of which the registered firm is a subsidiary.
- (2) The notice required under subsection (1) must,
 - (a) be delivered to the regulator<u>or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority</u> as soon as possible,
 - (b) include the name of each person or company involved in the acquisition, and

April 15, 2011 373 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (c) after the registered firm has applied reasonable efforts to gather all relevant facts, include facts regarding the acquisition sufficient to enable the regulator or the securities regulatory authority to determine if the acquisition is
 - (i) likely to give rise to a conflict of interest,
 - (ii) likely to hinder the registered firm in complying with securities legislation,
 - (iii) inconsistent with an adequate level of investor protection, or
 - (iv) otherwise prejudicial to the public interest.
- This section does not apply to an amalgamation, merger, arrangement, reorganization or treasury issue<u>acquisition</u> in which the beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, a registered firm does not change.
- (4) This section does not apply if notice of the <u>transactionacquisition</u> was provided under section 11.9 [registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets].
- (5) Except in British Columbia and Ontario, if, within 30 days of the regulator's <u>or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority's</u> receipt of a notice under subsection (1), the regulator <u>or the securities regulatory authority</u> notifies the person or company making the acquisition that the regulator <u>or the securities regulatory authority</u> objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator<u>or the securities regulatory authority</u> approves it.
- (6) In Ontario, if, within 30 days of the regulator's receipt of a notice under subsection (1)(a), the regulator notifies the person or company making the acquisition that the regulator objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator approves it.
- (7) Following receipt of a notice of objection under subsection (5) or (6), the person or company proposing to make the acquisition may request an opportunity to be heard on the matter.

Part 12 Financial condition

Division 1 Working capital

12.1 Capital requirements

- (1) If, at any time, the excess working capital of a registered firm, as calculated <u>usingin accordance with</u> Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, is less than zero, the registered firm must notify the regulator<u>or</u>, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible.
- (2) A registered firm must ensure that its <u>The</u> excess working capital <u>of a registered firm</u>, as calculated <u>usingin accordance</u> with Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, is not <u>be</u> less than zero for 2 consecutive days.
- (3) For the purpose of completing Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, the minimum capital is
 - \$25,000, for a registered adviser that is not also a registered dealer or a registered investment fund manager,
 - (b) \$50,000, for a registered dealer that is not also a registered investment fund manager, and
 - (c) \$100,000, for a registered investment fund manager.
- (4) Paragraph (3)(c) does not apply to a registered investment fund manager that is exempt from the dealer registration requirement under section 8.6 [adviser non-prospectus qualified investment fund trades by adviser to managed account] in respect of all investment funds for which it acts as adviser.
- (5) This section does not apply to a registered firm that is a member of IIROC and is registered as an investment fund manager if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than \$100,000 as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report;

April 15, 2011 374 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) the firm notifies the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible if, at any time, the firm's risk adjusted capital, as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report is less than zero;
- (c) the risk adjusted capital of the firm, as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 Joint Regulatory

 Financial Questionnaire and Report, is not less than zero for 2 consecutive days.
- (6) This section does not apply to a mutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA if it is also registered as an exempt market dealer, a scholarship plan dealer or an investment fund manager and if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report, of not less than
 - \$50,000, if the firm is registered as an exempt market dealer or scholarship plan dealer,
 - (ii) \$100,000, if the firm is registered as an investment fund manager;
 - (b) the firm notifies the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible if, at any time, the firm's risk adjusted capital, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report is less than zero;
 - (c) the risk adjusted capital of the firm, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report, is not less than zero for 2 consecutive days.

12.2 Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a subordination agreement

If a registered firm has executed a subordination agreement, the effect of which is to exclude an amount from its long-term related party debt as calculated on Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, the firm must notify the regulator 5<u>or</u>, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority 10 days before it

- (a) repays the loan or any part of the loan, or
- (b) terminates the agreement.

Division 2 Insurance

12.3 Insurance – dealer

- (1) A registered dealer must maintain bonding or insurance
 - (a) that contains the clauses set out in Appendix A [bonding and insurance clauses], and
 - (b) that provides for a double aggregate limit or a full reinstatement of coverage.
- (2) A registered dealer must maintain bonding or insurance in respect of each clause set out in Appendix A-and in the highest of the following amounts for each clause:
 - (a) \$50,000 per employee, agent and dealing representative or \$200,000, whichever is less;
 - (b) one per cent of the total client assets that the dealer holds or has access to, as calculated using the dealer's most recent financial records, or \$25,000,000, whichever is less;
 - (c) one per cent of the dealer's total assets, as calculated using the dealer's most recent financial records, or \$25,000,000, whichever is less;
 - (d) the amount determined to be appropriate by a resolution of the dealer's board of directors, or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm.
- (3) In Québec, this section does not apply to a scholarship plan dealer or a mutual fund dealer registered only in Québec.

April 15, 2011 375 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

12.4 Insurance – adviser

- (1) A registered adviser must maintain bonding or insurance
 - (a) that contains the clauses set out in Appendix A [bonding and insurance clauses], and
 - (b) that provides for a double aggregate limit or a full reinstatement of coverage.
- (2) A registered adviser that does not hold or have access to client assets must maintain bonding or insurance in respect of each clause set out in Appendix A-and in the amount of \$50,000 for each clause.
- (3) A registered adviser that holds or has access to client assets must maintain bonding or insurance in respect of each clause set out in Appendix A-and in the highest of the following amounts for each clause:
 - (a) one per cent of assets under management that the adviser holds or has access to, as calculated using the adviser's most recent financial records, or \$25,000,000, whichever is less;
 - (b) one per cent of the adviser's total assets, as calculated using the adviser's most recent financial records, or \$25,000,000, whichever is less;
 - (c) \$200,000;
 - (d) the amount determined to be appropriate by a resolution of the adviser's board of directors or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm.

12.5 Insurance – investment fund manager

- (1) A registered investment fund manager must maintain bonding or insurance
 - (a) that contains the clauses set out in Appendix A [bonding and insurance clauses], and
 - (b) that provides for a double aggregate limit or a full reinstatement of coverage.
- (2) A registered investment fund manager must maintain bonding or insurance in respect of each clause set out in Appendix A-and in the highest of the following amounts for each clause:
 - one per cent of assets under management, as calculated using the investment fund manager's most recent financial records, or \$25,000,000, whichever is less;
 - (b) one per cent of the investment fund manager's total assets, as calculated using the investment fund manager's most recent financial records, or \$25,000,000, whichever is less;
 - (c) \$200,000;
 - (d) the amount determined to be appropriate by a resolution of the investment fund manager's board of directors or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm.

12.6 Global bonding or insurance

A registered firm may not maintain bonding or insurance under this Division that benefits, or names as an insured, another person or company unless the bond provides, without regard to the claims, experience or any other factor referable to that other person or company, the following:

- (a) the registered firm has the right to claim directly against the insurer in respect of losses, and any payment or satisfaction of those losses must be made directly to the registered firm;
- (b) the individual or aggregate limits under the policy may only be affected by claims made by or on behalf of
 - (i) the registered firm, or
 - (ii) a subsidiary of the registered firm whose financial results are consolidated with those of the registered firm.

April 15, 2011 376 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

12.7 Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a change, claim or cancellation

A registered firm must, as soon as possible, notify the regulator<u>or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority</u> in writing of any change in, claim made under, or cancellation of any insurance policy required under this Division.

Division 3 Audits

12.8 Direction by athe regulator or the securities regulatory authority to conduct an audit or review

A registered firm must direct its auditor in writing to conduct any audit or review required by the regulator <u>or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority</u> during its registration and must <u>submitdeliver</u> a copy of the direction to the regulator<u>or the securities regulatory authority</u>

- (a) with its application for registration, and
- (b) no later than the $7\underline{10}$ th day after the registered firm changes its auditor.

12.9 Co-operating with the auditor

A registrant must not withhold, destroy or conceal any information or documents or otherwise fail to cooperate with a reasonable request made by an auditor of the registered firm in the course of an audit.

Division 4 Financial reporting

12.10 Annual financial statements

- (1) Annual financial statements delivered to the regulator <u>or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority</u> under this Division for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011 must include the following:
 - a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity and a statement of cash flows, each prepared for the most recently completed financial year and the financial year immediately preceding the most recently completed financial year, if any;
 - (b) a statement of financial position, signed by at least one director of the registered firm, as at the end of the most recently completed financial year and the financial year immediately preceding the most recently completed financial year, if any;
 - (c) notes to the financial statements.
- (2) The annual financial statements delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority under this Division must be audited.

12.11 Interim financial information

- (1) Interim financial information delivered to the regulator<u>or</u>, in <u>Québec</u>, the <u>securities regulatory authority</u> under this Division for interim periods relating to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011 may be limited to the following:
 - (a) a statement of comprehensive income for the 3-month period ending on the last day of the interim period and for the same period of the immediately preceding financial year, if any:
 - (b) a statement of financial position, signed by at least one director of the registered firm, as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the same interim period of the immediately preceding financial year, if any.
- (2) The interim financial information delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority under this Division must be prepared using the same accounting principles that the registered firm uses to prepare its annual financial statements.

12.12 Delivering financial information – dealer

(1) A registered dealer must deliver the following to the regulator <u>or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority</u> no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year:

April 15, 2011 377 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) its annual financial statements for the financial year;
- (b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the dealer's excess working capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any.
- A registered dealer must deliver the following to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year:
 - (a) its interim financial information for the interim period;
 - (b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the dealer's excess working capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding interim period, if any.
- (2.1) If a registered firm is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an exempt market dealer or scholarship plan dealer, the firm is exempt from paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than \$50,000 as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report;
 - (b) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any;
 - (c) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA
 Form 1 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 30th day after the end of the first,
 second and third interim period of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk
 adjusted capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding
 month, if any.
- (3) Subsection (2) does not apply to an exempt market dealer <u>unless it is also registered in another category</u>.

12.13 Delivering financial information – adviser

A registered adviser must deliver the following to the regulator<u>or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority</u> no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year:

- (a) its annual financial statements for the financial year;
- (b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the adviser's excess working capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any.

12.14 Delivering financial information – investment fund manager

- (1) A registered investment fund manager must deliver the following to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year:
 - (a) its annual financial statements for the financial year;
 - (b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the investment fund manager's excess working capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any;
 - (c) a description of any net asset value adjustment made in respect of an investment fund managed by the investment fund manager during the financial year.
- (2) A registered investment fund manager must deliver the following to the regulator<u>or</u>, in <u>Québec</u>, the <u>securities</u> regulatory authority no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year:
 - (a) its interim financial information for the interim period;

April 15, 2011 378 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the investment fund manager's excess working capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding interim period, if any;
- (c) a description of any net asset value adjustment made in respect of an investment fund managed by the investment fund manager during the interim period.
- (3) A description of a net asset value adjustment referred to in this section must include the following:
 - (a) the name of the fund;
 - (b) assets under administration of the fund;
 - (c) the cause of the adjustment;
 - (d) the dollar amount of the adjustment;
 - (e) the effect of the adjustment on net asset value per unit or share and any corrections made to purchase and sale transactions affecting either the investment fund or security holders of the investment fund.
- (4) If a registered firm is a member of IIROC and is registered as an investment fund manager, the firm is exempt from paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) if
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than \$100,000, as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report;
 - (b) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed IIROC Form 1 Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any, and
 - (c) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed IIROC Form 1 Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding month, if any.
- (5) If a registered firm is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an investment fund manager, the firm is exempt from paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) if
 - (a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than \$100,000, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1

 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report,
 - (b) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1

 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any, and
 - (c) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1

 MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm's risk adjusted capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding month, if any.

12.15 Exemptions for financial years beginning in 2011

(1) Despite subsections 12.10(1), 12.11(1), 12.12(1) and (2), 12.13 and 12.14(1) and (2), the annual financial statements, the interim financial information, and the completed Form 31-103F1 *Calculation of Excess Working Capital*, for a financial year beginning in 2011 or for interim periods relating to a financial year beginning in 2011 may exclude comparative information for the preceding financial period.

April 15, 2011 379 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (2) Despite subsection 12.12(2), the first interim financial information, and the first completed Form 31-103F1 *Calculation of Excess Working Capital*, required to be delivered in respect of an interim period beginning on or after January 1, 2011 must be delivered no later than the 45th day after the end of the interim period.
- (3) Despite subsection 12.14(2), the first interim financial information, the first completed Form 31-103F1 *Calculation of Excess Working Capital*, and the description of any net asset value adjustment, required to be delivered in respect of an interim period beginning on or after January 1, 2011 must be delivered no later than the 45th day after the end of the interim period.

Part 13 Dealing with clients - individuals and firms

Division 1 Know your client and suitability

13.1 Investment fund managers exempt from this Division

This Division does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of its activities as an investment fund manager.

13.2 Know your client

- (1) For the purpose of paragraph 2(b) in Ontario, Nova Scotia and New Brunswick, "insider" has the meaning ascribed to that term in the *Securities Act* except that "reporting issuer", as it appears in the definition of "insider", is to be read as "reporting issuer or any other issuer whose securities are publicly traded".
- (2) A registrant must take reasonable steps to
 - (a) establish the identity of a client and, if the registrant has cause for concern, make reasonable inquiries as to the reputation of the client,
 - (b) establish whether the client is an insider of a reporting issuer or any other issuer whose securities are publicly traded,
 - (c) ensure that it has sufficient information regarding all of the following to enable it to meet its obligations under section 13.3 or, if applicable, the suitability requirement imposed by an SRO:
 - (i) the client's investment needs and objectives;
 - (ii) the client's financial circumstances;
 - (iii) the client's risk tolerance, and
 - (d) establish the creditworthiness of the client if the registered firm is financing the client's acquisition of a security.
- For the purpose of establishing the identity of a client that is a corporation, partnership or trust-under paragraph (2)(a), the registrant must establish the following:
 - (a) the nature of the client's business;
 - (b) the identity of any individual who,
 - (i)_(i)__in the case of a corporation, is a beneficial owner of, or exercises direct or indirect control or direction over, more than 4025% of the voting rights attached to the outstanding voting securities of the corporation, or
 - (ii) (iii) in the case of a partnership or trust, exercises control over the affairs of the partnership or trust
- (4) A registrant must take reasonable steps to keep the information required under this section current.
- (5) This section does not apply if the client is a registered firm, a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank.
- (6) Paragraph (2)(c) does not apply to a registrant in respect of a permitted client if
 - (a) the permitted client has waived, in writing, the requirements under subsections 13.3(1) and (2), and

April 15, 2011 380 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (b) the registrant does not act as an adviser in respect of a managed account of the permitted client.
- (7) Paragraph (2)(b) does not apply to a registrant in respect of a client for which the registrant only trades securities referred to in paragraphs 7.1(2)(b) and (2)(c).

13.3 Suitability

- (1) A registrant must take reasonable steps to ensure that, before it makes a recommendation to or accepts an instruction from a client to buy or sell a security, or makes a purchase or sale of a security for a client's managed account, the purchase or sale is suitable for the client.
- (2) If a client instructs a registrant to buy, sell or hold a security and in the registrant's reasonable opinion following the instruction would not be suitable for the client, the registrant must inform the client of the registrant's opinion and must not buy or sell the security unless the client instructs the registrant to proceed nonetheless.
- (3) This section does not apply if the client is a registered firm, a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank.
- (4) This section does not apply to a registrant in respect of a permitted client if
 - (a) the permitted client has waived, in writing, the requirements under this section, and
 - (b) the registrant does not act as an adviser in respect of a managed account of the permitted client.

Division 2 Conflicts of interest

13.4 Identifying and responding to conflicts of interest

- (1) A registered firm must take reasonable steps to identify existing material conflicts of interest, and material conflicts of interest that the registered firm in its reasonable opinion would expect to arise, between the firm, including each individual acting on the firm's behalf, and a client.
- (2) A registered firm must respond to an existing or potential conflict of interest identified under subsection (1).
- (3) If a reasonable investor would expect to be informed of a conflict of interest identified under subsection (1), the registered firm must disclose, in a timely manner, the nature and extent of the conflict of interest to the client whose interest conflicts with the interest identified.
- This section does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of an investment fund that is subject to National Instrument 81-107 *Independent Review Committee for Investment Funds*.

13.5 Restrictions on certain managed account transactions

- (1) (1) In this section, "responsible person" means, for a registered adviser,
 - (a) the adviser,
 - (b) a partner, director or officer of the adviser, and
 - (c) each of the following who has access to, or participates in formulating, an investment decision made on behalf of a client of the adviser or advice to be given to a client of the adviser:
 - (i) an employee or agent of the adviser;
 - (ii) an affiliate of the adviser;
 - (iii) a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of an affiliate of the adviser.
- (2) (2) A registered adviser must not knowingly cause an investment portfolio managed by it, including an investment fund for which it acts as an adviser, to do any of the following:
 - (a) purchase a security of an issuer in which a responsible person, or an associate of a responsible person is a partner, officer or director unless

April 15, 2011 381 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (i) this fact is disclosed to the client, and
- (ii) the written consent of the client to the purchase is obtained before the purchase;
- (b) purchase or sell a security from or to the investment portfolio of any of the following:
 - (i) a responsible person;
 - (ii) an associate of a responsible person;
 - (iii) an investment fund for which a responsible person acts as an adviser;
- (c) provide a guarantee or loan to a responsible person or an associate of a responsible person.

13.6 Disclosure when recommending related or connected securities

A registered firm must not make a recommendation in any medium of communication to buy, sell or hold a security issued by the registered firm, a security of a related issuer or, during the security's distribution, a security of a connected issuer of the registered firm, unless any of the following apply:

- (a) the firm discloses, in the same medium of communication, the nature and extent of the relationship or connection between the firm and the issuer;
- (b) the recommendation is in respect of a security of a mutual fund, a scholarship plan, an educational plan or an educational trust that is an affiliate of, or is managed by an affiliate of, the registered firm and the names of the registered firm and the fund, plan or trust, as the case may be, are sufficiently similar to indicate that they are affiliated.

Division 3 Referral arrangements

13.7 Definitions – referral arrangements

In this Division

"client" includes a prospective client;

"referral arrangement" means any arrangement in which a registrant agrees to pay or receive a referral fee;

"referral fee" means any form of compensation, direct or indirect, paid for the referral of a client to or from a registrant.

13.8 Permitted referral arrangements

A registrant registered firm, or a registered individual whose registration is sponsored by the registered firm, must not participate in a referral arrangement with another person or company unless,

- (a) before a client is referred by or to the registrant, the terms of the referral arrangement are set out in a written agreement between the registered firm and the person or company;
 - (i) the registrant,
 - (ii) the person or company making or receiving the referral, and
 - (iii) if the registrant is a registered individual, the registered firm on whose behalf the registered individual acts,
- (b) the registrant or, if the registrant acts on behalf of a registered firm, the registered firm, records all referral fees on its records, and
- (c) the registrant ensures that the information prescribed by subsection 13.10(1) [disclosing referral arrangements to clients] is provided to the client in writing before the earlier of the opening of party receiving the referral either opens an account for the client's account, or any provides services are provided to the client, by the person or company receiving the referral.

April 15, 2011 382 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

13.9 Verifying the qualifications of the person or company receiving the referral

A registrant that refersregistered firm, or a registered individual whose registration is sponsored by the registered firm, must not refer a client to another person or company must takeunless the firm first takes reasonable steps to satisfy-himself, herself or itself that the person or company has the appropriate qualifications to provide the services, and if applicable, is registered to provide those services.

13.10 Disclosing referral arrangements to clients

- (1) The written disclosure of the referral arrangement required by subsection 13.8(c) [permitted referral arrangements] must include the following:
 - (a) the name of each party to the referral arrangementagreement referred to in paragraph 13.8(a);
 - the purpose and material terms of the <u>referral arrangementagreement</u>, including the nature of the services to be provided by each party;
 - (c) any conflicts of interest resulting from the relationship between the parties to the referral arrangementagreement and from any other element of the referral arrangement;
 - (d) the method of calculating the referral fee and, to the extent possible, the amount of the fee;
 - (e) the category of registration of each registrant that is a party to the agreement with a description of the activities that the registrant is authorized to engage in under that category and, giving consideration to the nature of the referral, the activities that the registrant is not permitted to engage in;
 - (f) if a referral is made to a registrant, a statement that all activity requiring registration resulting from the referral arrangement will be provided by the registrant receiving the referral;
 - (g) any other information that a reasonable client would consider important in evaluating the referral arrangement.
- (2) If there is a change to the information set out in subsection (1), the registrant must ensure that written disclosure of that change is provided to each client affected by the change as soon as possible and no later than the 30th day before the date on which a referral fee is next paid or received.

13.11 Referral arrangements before this Instrument came into force

- (1) This Division applies to a referral arrangement entered into before this Instrument came into force if a referral fee is paid under the referral arrangement after this Instrument comes into force.
- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply until 6 months after this Instrument comes into force.

Division 4 Loans and margin

13.12 Restriction on lending to clients

- (1) A registrant must not lend money, extend credit or provide margin to a client.
- (2) Notwithstanding subsection (1), an investment fund manager may lend money on a short term basis to an investment fund it manages, if the loan is for the purpose of funding redemptions of its securities or meeting expenses incurred by the investment fund in the normal course of its business.

13.13 Disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money

(1) If a registrant recommends that a client should use borrowed money to finance any part of a purchase of a security, the registrant must, before the purchase, provide the client with a written statement that is substantially similar to the following:

"Using borrowed money to finance the purchase of securities involves greater risk than a purchase using cash resources only. If you borrow money to purchase securities, your responsibility to repay the loan and pay interest as required by its terms remains the same even if the value of the securities purchased declines."

April 15, 2011 383 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply if one of the following applies:
 - the registrant has provided the client with the statement described under subsection (1) no earlier than the 180th day before the date of the proposed purchase.
 - (b) the proposed purchase is on margin and the client's margin account is maintained at a registered firm that is a member of IIROC or the MFDA. or [repealed]
 - (c) the client is a permitted client.

Division 5 Complaints

13.14 Application of this Division

- (1) This Division does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of its activities as an investment fund manager.
- (2) Aln Québec, a registered firm in Québec is deemed to comply with this Division if it complies with sections 168.1.1 to 168.1.3 of the Securities Act (Québec).

13.15 Handling complaints

A registered firm must document and, in a manner that a reasonable investor would consider fair and effective, respond to each complaint made to the registered firm about any product or service offered by the firm or a representative of the firm.

13.16 Dispute resolution service

- (1) A registered firm must ensure that independent dispute resolution or mediation services are made available, at the firm's expense, to a client to resolve a complaint made by the client about any trading or advising activity of the firm or one of its representatives.
- (2) If a person or company makes a complaint to a registered firm about any trading or advising activity of the firm or one of its representatives, the registered firm must as soon as possible inform the person or company of how to contact and use the dispute resolution or mediation services which are provided to the firm's clients.

Part 14 Handling client accounts - firms

Division 1 Exemption for investment fund managers

14.1 Investment fund managers exempt from Part 14

Other than <u>sections</u> 14.6 [holding client assets in trust], 14.12(5) [content and delivery of trade confirmation] and 14.14 [account statements], this Part does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of its activities as an investment fund manager.

Division 2 Disclosure to clients

14.2 Relationship disclosure information

- (1) A registered firm must deliver to a client all information that a reasonable investor would consider important about the client's relationship with the registrant.
- (2) The information required to be delivered under subsection (1) includes all of the following:
 - (a) a description of the nature or type of the client's account;
 - (b) a discussion that identifies the products or services the registered firm offers to a client;
 - (c) a description of the types of risks that a client should consider when making an investment decision;
 - (d) a description of the risks to a client of using borrowed money to finance a purchase of a security;
 - (e) a description of the conflicts of interest that the registered firm is required to disclose to a client under securities legislation;

April 15, 2011 384 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (f) disclosure of all costs to a client for the operation of an account;
- (g) a description of the costs a client will pay in making, holding and selling investments;
- (h) a description of the compensation paid to the registered firm in relation to the different types of products that a client may purchase through the registered firm;
- (i) a description of the content and frequency of reporting for each account or portfolio of a client;
- (j) <u>if section 13.16 applies to the registered firm,</u> disclosure that independent dispute resolution or mediation services are available to a client, at the <u>registered firm</u>; s expense, to <u>mediateresolve</u> any dispute that might arise between the client and the firm about a <u>product or serviceany trading or</u> <u>advising activity</u> of the firm <u>or one of its representatives</u>;
- (k) a statement that the <u>registered</u> firm has an obligation to assess whether a purchase or sale of a security is suitable for a client prior to executing the transaction or at any other time;
- (I) the information a registered firm must collect about the client under section 13.2 [know your client].
- (3) A registered firm must deliver to a client the information in subsection (1) before the firm first
 - (a) purchases or sells a security for the client, or
 - (b) advises the client to purchase, sell or hold a security.
- (4) If there is a significant change to the information delivered to a client under subsection (1), the registered firm must take reasonable steps to notify the client of the change in a timely manner and, if possible, before the firm next
 - (a) purchases or sells a security for the client, or
 - (b) advises the client to purchase, sell or hold a security.
- (5) This section does not apply if the client is a registered firm, a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank.
- (6) This section does not apply to a registrant in respect of a permitted client if
 - (a) the permitted client has waived, in writing, the requirements under this section, and
 - (b) the registrant does not act as an adviser in respect of a managed account of the permitted client.

14.3 Disclosure to clients about the fair allocation of investment opportunities

A registered adviser must deliver to a client a summary of the policies required under section 11.1 [compliance system] that provide reasonable assurance that the firm and each individual acting on its behalf complies with section 14.10 [allocating investment opportunities fairly] and that summary must be delivered

- (a) when the adviser opens an account for the client, and
- (b) if there is a significant change to the summary last delivered to the client, in a timely manner and, if possible, before the firm next
 - (i) purchases or sells a security for the client, or
 - (ii) advises the client to purchase, sell or hold a security.

14.4 When the firm has a relationship with a financial institution

(1) If a registered firm opens a client account to trade in securities, in an office or branch of a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank, the registered firm must give the client a written notice stating that it is a separate legal entity from the Canadian financial institution or Schedule III bank and, unless otherwise advised by the registrant, securities purchased from or through the registrant

April 15, 2011 385 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) are not insured by a government deposit insurer,
- (b) are not guaranteed by the Canadian financial institution or Schedule III bank, and
- (c) may fluctuate in value.
- (2) A registered firm that is subject to subsection (1) must receive a written confirmation from the client that the client has read and understood the notice before the registered firm
 - (a) purchases or sells a security for the client, or
 - (b) advises the client to purchase, sell or hold a security.
- (3) This section does not apply to a registered firm if the client is a permitted client.

14.5 Notice to clients by non-resident registrants

- (1) A registered firm whose head office is not located in the local jurisdiction must provide its clients a client in the local jurisdiction with a statement in writing disclosing the following:
 - (a) the non-firm is not resident status ofin the registrantlocal jurisdiction;
 - (b) the registrant's jurisdiction of residence; jurisdiction in Canada or the foreign jurisdiction in which the head office or the principal place of business of the firm is located;
 - (c) all or substantially all of the assets of the firm may be situated outside the local jurisdiction;
 - (d) there may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the firm because of the above;
 - (e) the name and address of the agent for service of process of the registrant firm in the local jurisdiction;
- (d) the nature of risks to clients that legal rights may not be enforceable This section does not apply to a registered firm whose head office is in Canada if the firm is registered in the local jurisdiction.

Division 3 Client assets

14.6 Holding client assets in trust

A registered firm that holds client assets must hold the assets

- (a) separate and apart from its own property,
- (b) in trust for the client, and
- (c) in the case of cash, in a designated trust account at a Canadian financial institution, a Schedule III bank, or a member of IIROC.

14.7 Holding client assets – non-resident registrants

- (1) A registered firm whose head office is not located in a jurisdiction of Canada must ensure that all client assets are held
 - (a) in the client's name,
 - (b) on behalf of the client by a custodian or sub-custodian that
 - (i) meets the guidelines prescribed for acting as a sub-custodian of the portfolio securities of a mutual fund in Part 6 of National Instrument 81-102 *Mutual Funds*, and
 - (ii) is subject to the Bank for International Settlements' framework for international convergence of capital measurement and capital standards, or

April 15, 2011 386 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (c) on behalf of the client by a registered dealer that is a member of an SRO and that is a member of Canadian Investor Protection Fund or other comparable compensation fund or contingency trust fund
- (2) Section 14.6 [holding client assets in trust] does not apply to a registered firm that is subject to subsection (1).

14.8 Securities subject to a safekeeping agreement

A registered firm that holds unencumbered securities for a client under a written safekeeping agreement must

- (a) segregate the securities from all other securities,
- (b) identify the securities as being held in safekeeping for the client in
 - (i) the registrant's security position record,
 - (ii) the client's ledger, and
 - (iii) the client's statement of account, and
- (c) release the securities only on an instruction from the client.

14.9 Securities not subject to a safekeeping agreement

- (1) A registered firm that holds unencumbered securities for a client other than under a written safekeeping agreement must
 - (a) segregate and identify the securities as being held in trust for the client, and
 - (b) describe the securities as being held in segregation on
 - (i) the registrant's security position record,
 - (ii) the client's ledger, and
 - (iii) the client's statement of account.
- (2) Securities described in subsection (1) may be segregated in bulk.

Division 4 Client accounts

14.10 Allocating investment opportunities fairly

A registered adviser must ensure fairness in allocating investment opportunities among its clients.

14.11 Selling or assigning client accounts

If a registered firm proposes to sell or assign a client's account in whole or in part to another registrant, the registered firm must, prior to the sale or assignment, give a written explanation of the proposal to the client and inform the client of the client's right to close the client's account.

Division 5 Account activity reporting

14.12 Content and delivery of trade confirmation

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), a\(\triangle \) registered dealer that has acted on behalf of a client in connection with a purchase or sale of a security must promptly deliver to the client or, if the client consents in writing, to a registered adviser acting for the client, a written confirmation of the transaction, setting out the following:
 - (a) the quantity and description of the security purchased or sold;
 - (b) the price per security paid or received by the client;

April 15, 2011 387 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (c) the commission, sales charge, service charge and any other amount charged in respect of the transaction:
- (d) whether the registered dealer acted as principal or agent;
- (e) the date and the name of the marketplace, if any, on which the transaction took place, or if applicable, a statement that the transaction took place on more than one marketplace or over more than one day:
- (f) the name of the dealing representative, if any, in the transaction;
- (g) the settlement date of the transaction;
- (h) if applicable, that the security is a security of the registrant, a security of a related issuer of the registrant or, if the transaction occurred during the security's distribution, a security of a connected issuer of the registered dealer.
- (2) If a transaction under subsection (1) involved more than one transaction or if the transaction took place on more than one marketplace the information referred to in subsection (1) may be set out in the aggregate if the confirmation also contains a statement that additional details concerning the transaction will be provided to the client upon request and without additional charge.
- (3) Paragraph (1)(h) does not apply if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the security is a security of a mutual fund that is <u>established and managed by the registered dealer or by an affiliate of the registered dealer-and, in its capacity as investment fund manager of the mutual fund:</u>
 - (b) the names of the dealer and the <u>mutual</u> fund are sufficiently similar to indicate that they are affiliated or related.
- (4) For the purpose of paragraph (1)(f), a dealing representative may be identified by means of a code or symbol if the confirmation also contains a statement that the name of the dealing representative will be provided to the client on request of the client.
- (5) A registered investment fund manager that has executed a redemption order received directly from a security holder must promptly deliver to the security holder a written confirmation of the redemption, setting out the following:
 - (a) the quantity and description of the security redeemed;
 - (b) the price per security received by the client;
 - (c) the commission, sales charge, service charge and any other amount charged in respect of the redemption;
 - (d) the settlement date of the redemption.
- (6) Section 14.12 (5) does not apply to trades in a security of an investment fund made in reliance on section 8.6.

14.13 Semi-annual confirmations Confirmations for certain automatic plans

The requirement under section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation] to deliver a confirmation promptly does not apply to a registered dealer in respect of a transaction if all of the following apply:

- (a) the client gave the dealer prior written notice that the transaction is made pursuant to the client's participation in an automatic payment plan, including a dividend reinvestment plan, or an automatic withdrawal plan in which a transaction is made at least monthly;
- (b) the registered dealer delivered a confirmation as required under section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation] for the first transaction made under the plan after receiving the notice referred to in paragraph (a);

April 15, 2011 388 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (c) the transaction is in a security of a mutual fund, scholarship plan, educational plan or educational trust;.
- (d) the registered dealer delivers the information required under section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation] for the transaction semi-annually to the client or, if the client consents, to a registered adviser acting for the client. [repealed]

14.14 ClientAccount statements

- (1) A registered dealer must deliver a statement to a client at least once every 3 months.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), a registered dealer, other than a mutual fund dealer, must deliver a statement to a client at the end of a month if any of the following apply:
 - (a) the client has requested receiving statements on a monthly basis;
 - (b) during the month, a transaction was effected in the account other than a transaction made under an automatic withdrawal plan or an automatic payment plan, including a dividend reinvestment plan.
- (2.1) Subsection (2) does not apply to a mutual fund dealer in connection with its activities as a dealer in respect of the securities listed in section 7.1(2)(b).
- (3) Except if the client has otherwise directed, a registered adviser must deliver a statement to a client at least once every 3 months.
- (3.1) If there is no dealer of record for a security holder on the records of a registered investment fund manager, the investment fund manager must deliver a statement to the security holder at least once every 12 months.
- (4) A statement delivered under subsection (1), (2)-er₂ (3), or (3.1) must include all of the following information for each transaction made for the client or security holder during the period covered by the statement:
 - (a) the date of the transaction;
 - (b) whether the type of transaction was a purchase, sale or transfer;
 - (c) the name of the security purchased or sold;
 - (d) the number of securities purchased or sold;
 - (e) the price per security paid or received by the client;
 - (f) the total value of the transaction.
- (5) A statement delivered under subsection (1), (2)-er₂ (3), or (3.1) must include all of the following information about the client's or security holder's account as at the end of the period for which the statement is made:
 - (a) the name and quantity of each security in the account;
 - (b) the market value of each security in the account;
 - (c) the total market value of each security position in the account;
 - (d) any cash balance in the account;
 - (e) the total market value of all cash and securities in the account.
- (6) Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply to a scholarship plan dealer if both of the following apply:
 - (a) the dealer is not registered in another dealer or adviser category;
 - (b) Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply to a scholarship plan dealer if the dealer delivers to the client a statement at least once every 12 months that provides the information in subsections (4) and (5).

April 15, 2011 389 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Part 15 Granting an exemption

15.1 Who can grant an exemption

- (1) The regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may grant an exemption from this Instrument, in whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the exemption.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), in Ontario only the regulator may grant such an exemption.
- (3) Except in Ontario, an exemption referred to in subsection (1) is granted under the statute referred to in Appendix B of National Instrument 14-101 *Definitions* opposite the name of the local jurisdiction.

Part 16 Transition

16.1 Change of registration categories – individuals

On the day this Instrument comes into force, an individual registered in a category referred to in

- (a) column 1 of Appendix C [new category names individuals], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as a dealing representative,
- (b) column 2 of Appendix C [new category names individuals], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as an advising representative, and
- (c) column 3 of Appendix C [new category names individuals], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as an associate advising representative.

16.2 Change of registration categories – firms

On the day this Instrument comes into force, a person or company registered in a category referred to in

- (a) column 1 of Appendix D [new category names firms], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as an investment dealer,
- (b) column 2 of Appendix D [new category names firms], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as a mutual fund dealer,
- (c) column 3 of Appendix D [new category names firms], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as a scholarship plan dealer,
- (d) column 4 of Appendix D [new category names firms], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as a restricted dealer,
- (e) column 5 of Appendix D [new category names firms], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as a portfolio manager, and
- (f) column 6 of Appendix D [new category names firms], opposite the name of the local jurisdiction, is registered as a restricted portfolio manager.

16.3 Change of registration categories – limited market dealers

- (1) This section applies in Ontario and Newfoundland and Labrador.
- (2) On the day this Instrument comes into force, a person or company registered as a limited market dealer is registered as an exempt market dealer.
- (3) On the day this Instrument comes into force, an individual registered to trade on behalf of a limited market dealer is registered as a dealing representative of the dealer.
- (4) Sections 12.1 [capital requirements] and 12.2 [notifying the regulator of a subordination agreement] do not apply to a person or company registered as an exempt market dealer under subsection (2) until one year after this Instrument comes into force.

April 15, 2011 390 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(5) Sections 12.3 [insurance – dealer] and 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation] do not apply to a person or company registered as an exempt market dealer under subsection (2) until 6 months after this Instrument comes into force.

16.4 Registration for investment fund managers active when this Instrument comes into force

- (1) The requirement to register as an investment fund manager does not apply to a person or company that is acting as an investment fund manager on the day this Instrument comes into force
 - (a) until one year after this Instrument comes into force, or
 - (b) if the person or company applies for registration as an investment fund manager within one year after this Instrument comes into force, until the regulator<u>or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority</u> has accepted or refused the registration.
- (2) (2) Subsection (1) is repealed one year after this Instrument comes into force.
- (3) (3) Section 12.5 [insurance investment fund manager] does not apply to a registered dealer or a registered adviser that is acting as an investment fund manager on the day this Instrument comes into force.
- (4) (4) Subsection (3) is repealed one year after this Instrument comes into force.

16.5 Temporary exemption for Canadian investment fund manager registered in its principal jurisdiction

- (1) An investment fund manager person or company is not required to register in the local jurisdiction as an investment fund manager if it is registered, or has applied for registration, as an investment fund manager in the jurisdiction of Canada in which its head office is located.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed 2 years after this Instrument comes into force on September 28, 2012.

16.6 Temporary exemption for foreign investment fund managers

- (1) The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to a person or company that is acting as an investment fund manager if its head office is in not in a jurisdiction of Canada.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed 2-years after this Instrument comes into force on September 28, 2012.

16.7 Registration of exempt market dealers

- (1) This section does not apply in Ontario and Newfoundland and Labrador.
- (2) In this section, "the exempt market" means those trading and underwriting activities listed in subparagraph 7.1(2)(d) [dealer categories].
- The requirement to register as an exempt market dealer does not apply to a person or company that acts as a dealer in the exempt market on the day this Instrument comes into force
 - (a) until one year after this Instrument comes into force, or
 - (b) if the person or company applies for registration as an exempt market dealer within one year after this Instrument comes into force, until the regulator<u>or</u>, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority has accepted or refused the registration.
- (4) The requirement to register as a dealing representative of an exempt market dealer does not apply to an individual who acts as a dealer in the exempt market on the day this Instrument comes into force
 - (a) until one year after this Instrument comes into force, or
 - (b) if the individual applies to be registered as a dealing representative of an exempt market dealer within one year after this Instrument comes into force, until the regulator<u>or</u>, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority has accepted or refused the registration.

April 15, 2011 391 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

16.8 Registration of ultimate designated persons

If a person or company is a registered firm on the day this Instrument comes into force, section 11.2 [designating an ultimate designated person] does not apply to the firm

- (a) until 3 months after this Instrument comes into force, or
- (b) if an individual applies to be registered as the ultimate designated person of the firm within 3 months after this Instrument comes into force, until the regulator<u>or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority</u> has accepted or refused the registration.

16.9 Registration of chief compliance officers

- (1) If a person or company is a registered firm on the date this Instrument comes into force, section 11.3 [designating a chief compliance officer] does not apply to the firm
 - (a) until 3 months after this Instrument comes into force, or
 - (b) if an individual applies to be registered as the chief compliance officer of the firm within 3 months after this Instrument comes into force, until the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority has accepted or refused the registration.
- (2) If an individual applies to be registered as the chief compliance officer of a registered firm within 3 months after this Instrument comes into force and the individual was identified on the National Registration Database as the firm's compliance officer in a jurisdiction of Canada on the date this Instrument came into force, the following sections do not apply in respect of the individual so long as he or she remains registered as the firm's chief compliance officer:
 - (a) section 3.6 [mutual fund dealer chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is a mutual fund dealer;
 - (b) section 3.8 [scholarship plan dealer chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is a scholarship plan dealer;
 - (c) section 3.10 [exempt market dealer chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is an exempt market dealer;
 - (d) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is a portfolio manager.
- (3) If an individual applies to be registered as the chief compliance officer of a registered firm within 3 months after this Instrument comes into force and the individual was not identified on the National Registration Database as the firm's compliance officer on the date this Instrument came into force, the following sections do not apply in respect of the individual until one year after this Instrument comes into force:
 - (a) section 3.6 [mutual fund dealer chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is a mutual fund dealer:
 - (b) section 3.8 [scholarship plan dealer chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is a scholarship plan dealer;
 - (c) section 3.10 [exempt market dealer chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is an exempt market dealer:
 - (d) section 3.13 [portfolio manager chief compliance officer], if the registered firm is a portfolio manager.
- (4) In Ontario and Newfoundland and Labrador, despite paragraphs (2)(c) and (3)(c), if an individual applies to be registered as the chief compliance officer of an exempt market dealer within 3 months after this Instrument comes into force, section 3.10 [exempt market dealer chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual until one year after this Instrument comes into force.

April 15, 2011 392 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

16.10 Proficiency for dealing and advising representatives

- (1) Subject to subsections (2) and (3), if an individual is registered in a jurisdiction of Canada as a dealing or advising representative in a category referred to in a section of Division 2 of Part 3 [education and experience requirements] on the day this Instrument comes into force, that section does not apply to the individual so long as the individual remains registered in the category.
- (2) Section 3.7 [scholarship plan dealer dealing representative] does not apply to an individual until one year after this Instrument comes into force if the individual is registered as a dealing representative of a scholarship plan dealer on the day this Instrument comes into force.
- (3) In Ontario and Newfoundland and Labrador, section 3.9 [exempt market dealer dealing representative] does not apply to an individual until one year after this Instrument comes into force if the individual is registered as a dealing representative of an exempt market dealer on the day this Instrument comes into force.

16.11 Capital requirements

- (1) A person or company that is a registered firm on the day this Instrument comes into force is exempt from sections 12.1 [capital requirements] and 12.2 [notifying the regulator of a subordination agreement] if it complies with each provision listed in Appendix E [non-harmonized capital requirements] across from the name of the firm's principal jurisdiction.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed one year after this Instrument comes into force.

16.12 Continuation of existing discretionary relief

A person or company that was entitled to rely on an exemption, waiver or approval granted to it by a regulator or securities regulatory authority relating to a requirement under securities legislation or securities directions existing immediately before this Instrument came into force is exempt from any substantially similar provision of this Instrument to the same extent and on the same conditions, if any, as contained in the exemption, waiver or approval.

16.13 Insurance requirements

- (1) A person or company that is a registered firm on the day this Instrument comes into force is exempt from sections 12.3 [insurance dealer] to 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation] if it complies with each provision listed in Appendix F [non-harmonized insurance requirements] across from the name of the firm's principal jurisdiction.
- (2) In Québec, subsection (1), does not apply to a registered firm that is a mutual fund dealer or a scholarship plan dealer on the day this Instrument comes into force.
- (3) Subsections (1) and (2) are repealed 6 months after this Instrument comes into force.

16.14 Relationship disclosure information

- (1) Section 14.2 [relationship disclosure information] does not apply to a person or company that is a registrant on the day this Instrument comes into force.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed one year after this Instrument comes into force.

16.15 Referral arrangements

- (1) Division 3 [referral arrangements] of Part 13 does not apply to a person or company that is a registrant on the day this Instrument comes into force.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed 6 months after this Instrument comes into force.

16.16 Complaint handling

- (1) In each jurisdiction of Canada except Québec, section 13.16 [dispute resolution service] does not apply to a person or company that is a registered firm in a jurisdiction of Canada on the day this Instrument comes into force.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed 2-years after this Instrument comes into force on September 28, 2012.

April 15, 2011 393 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

16.17 ClientAccount statements – mutual fund dealers

- (1) Section 14.14 [*elientaccount* statements] does not apply to a person or company that iswas, on September 28, 2009, either of the following:
 - (a) a member of the MFDA;
 - (b) a mutual fund dealer on the day this Instrument comes into forcein Québec, unless it was also a portfolio manager in Québec.
- (2) Subsection (1) is repealed 2-years after this Instrument comes into force on September 28, 2011.

16.18 Transition to exemption – international dealers

- (1) This section applies in Ontario and Newfoundland and Labrador.
- (2) If a person or company is registered in the category of international dealer on the day this Instrument comes into force, its registration in that category is revoked.
- (3) If a person or company is registered in the category of international dealer on the day this Instrument comes into force, paragraphs 8.18(3)(e) and 8.18(4)(b) [international dealer] do not apply to the person or company until one month after this Instrument comes into force.

16.19 Transition to exemption – international advisers

- (1) This section applies in Ontario.
- (2) If a person or company is registered in the category of international adviser on the day this Instrument comes into force, its registration in that category is revoked one year after this Instrument comes into force.
- (3) If the registration of a person or company is revoked under subsection (2), the registration of each individual registered to act as an adviser on behalf of the person or company is revoked.
- (4) If a person or company is registered in the category of international adviser on the day this Instrument comes into force, paragraphs (e) and (f) of subsection 8.26(4) [international adviser] do not apply to the person or company until one year after this Instrument comes into force.

16.20 Transition to exemption – portfolio manager and investment counsel (foreign)

- (1) This section applies in Alberta.
- (2) If a person or company is registered in the category of portfolio manager and investment counsel (foreign) on the day this Instrument comes into force, its registration in that category is revoked one year after this Instrument comes into force.
- (3) If the registration of a person or company is revoked under subsection (2), the registration of each individual registered to act as an adviser on behalf of the person or company is revoked.
- (4) If a person or company is registered in the category of portfolio manager and investment counsel (foreign) on the day this Instrument comes into force, paragraphs (e) and (f) of subsection 8.26(4) [international adviser] do not apply to the person or company until one year after this Instrument comes into force.

Part 17 When this Instrument comes into force

17.1 Effective date

- (1) Except in Ontario, this Instrument comes into force on September 28, 2009.
- (2) In Ontario, this Instrument comes into force on the later of the following:
 - (a) September 28, 2009;
 - (b) the day on which sections 4, 5 and subsections 20(1) to (11) of Schedule 26 of the *Budget Measures Act*, 2009 are proclaimed in force.

April 15, 2011 394 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 31-103F1 CALCULATION OF EXCESS WORKING CAPITAL

	Firm Name	
	Capital Calculation	
(as at	with comparative figures as at	

	Component	Current period	Prior period
1.	Current assets		
2.	Less current assets not readily convertible into cash (e.g., prepaid expenses)		
3.	Adjusted current assets Line 1 minus line 2 =		
4.	Current liabilities		
5.	Add 100% of long-term related party debt unless the firm and the lender have executed a subordination agreement in the form set out in Appendix B and the firm has delivered a copy of the agreement to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority		
6.	Adjusted current liabilities Line 4 plus line 5 =		
7.	Adjusted working capital Line 3 minus line 6 =		
8.	Less minimum capital		
9.	Less market risk		
10.	Less any deductible under the firm's bonding or insurance policy required under Part 12 of National Instrument 31-103, Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations		
11.	Less Guarantees		
12.	Less unresolved differences		
13.	Excess working capital		

April 15, 2011 395 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Notes:

This form must be prepared on a non-consolidated basis; registrants must account for investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates as specified for separateusing the accounting principles that you use to prepare your financial statements in International Accounting Standard 27accordance with National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards. Section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations provides further guidance in respect of these accounting principles.

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Line 5. Related-party debt – Refer to the CICA Handbook for the definition of "related party" for publicly accountable enterprises.

Line 8. Minimum Capital – The amount on this line must be not less than (a) \$25,000 for an adviser, <u>and</u> (b) \$50,000 for a dealer, <u>and (c) \$100,000 for</u> an investment fund manager, the amount must be not less than \$100,000 unless subsection 12.1(4) applies.

Line 9. Market Risk – The amount on this line must be calculated according to the instructions set out in Schedule 1 to this Form.

Line 11. Guarantees – If the registered firm is guaranteeing the liability of another party, the total amount of the guarantee must be included in the capital calculation. If the amount of a guarantee is included in the firm's statement of financial position as a current liability and is reflected in line 4, do not include the amount of the guarantee on line 11.

Line 12. Unresolved differences – Any unresolved differences that could result in a loss from either firm or client assets must be included in the capital calculation. The examples below provide guidance as to how to calculate unresolved differences:

- (i) If there is an unresolved difference relating to client securities, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the market<u>fair</u> value of the client securities that are short, plus the applicable margin rate for those securities.
- (ii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to the registrant's investments, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the marketfair value of the investments (securities) that are short.
- (iii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to cash, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the amount of the shortfall in cash.

Management Certification

Registered Firm Name:			
We have examined the attached capita	I calculation and certify that the firm is in c	ompliance with the capital requiremer	nts as at
Name and Title	Signature	Date	
1			
2			

Please refer to section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant

Obligations for further guidance on how to prepare and file this form.

April 15, 2011 396 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

<u>Management Certification</u>				
Registered Firm Name: We have examined the attached capital calculation and certify that the firm is in compliance with the capital requirements as at				
Name and Title Signature Date				
2.				

April 15, 2011 397 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule 1 of Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital (calculating line 9 [market risk])

For purposes of completing this form:

- (1) "Fair value" means the value of a security determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises.
- (2) _____For each security whose value is included in line 1, Current Assets, multiply the market<u>fair</u> value of the security by the margin rate for that security set out below. Add up the resulting amounts for all of the securities you hold. The total is the "market risk" to be entered on line 9.

(a) Bonds, Debentures, Treasury Bills and Notes

(i) (i) Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by the Government of Canada, of the United Kingdom, of the United States of America and of any other national foreign government (provided such foreign government securities are currently rated Aaa or AAA by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor's Corporation, respectively), maturing (or called for redemption):

within 1 year	1% of market value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the number of
	days to maturity by 365
over 1 year to 3 years	1 % of market value
over 3 years to 7 years	2% of market value
over 7 years to 11 years	4% of market value
over 11 years	4% of market value

within 1 year:	1% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the number of days to maturity by 365
over 1 year to 3 years:	1 % of fair value
over 3 years to 7 years:	2% of fair value
over 7 years to 11 years:	4% of fair value
over 11 years:	4% of fair value

(ii) (ii) Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by any provincejurisdiction of Canada and obligations of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, maturing (or called for redemption):

within 1 year	2% of market value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the number of
	days to maturity by 365
over 1 year to 3 years	3 % of market value
over 3 years to 7 years	4% of market value
over 7 years to 11 years	5% of market value
over 11 years	5% of market value

within 1 year:	2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the number of days to maturity by 365
over 1 year to 3 years:	3 % of fair value
over 3 years to 7 years:	4% of fair value
over 7 years to 11 years:	5% of fair value
over 11 years:	5% of fair value

April 15, 2011 398 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(iii) Bonds, debentures or notes (not in default) of or guaranteed by any municipal corporation in Canada or the United Kingdom maturing:

within 1 year

3% of market value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

ever 1 year to 3 years

5% of market value

ever 3 years to 7 years

5% of market value

ever 7 years to 11 years

5% of market value

5% of market value

5% of market value

within 1 year:

3% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years:

5% of fair value

over 3 years to 7 years:

5% of fair value

over 7 years to 11 years:

5% of fair value

over 11 years:

5% of fair value

(iv) Other non-commercial bonds and debentures, (not in default): 10% of fair value

10% of market value(v)

(v) (v) Commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes (not in default) and non-negotiable and non-transferable trust company and mortgage loan company obligations registered in the registered firm's name maturing:

within 1 year 3% of market value over 1 year to 3 years 6 % of market value over 3 years to 7 years 7% of market value over 7 years to 11 years 10% of market value over 11 years 10% of market value

within 1 year:

over 1 year to 3 years:

over 3 years to 7 years:

over 7 years to 11 years:

over 11 years:

10% of fair value

over 11 years:

10% of fair value

(b) Bank Paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a Canadian chartered bank (and of Canadian chartered bank acceptances) maturing:

within 1 year 2% of market value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

within 1 year:

2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year:

apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

April 15, 2011 399 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(c) Acceptable foreign bank paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a foreign bank, readily negotiable and transferable and maturing:

within 1 year 2% of market value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the

number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

(d) Mutual Funds

Where securities Securities of mutual funds qualified by prospectus for sale in any province jurisdiction of Canada, the margin required is:

- (i) 5% of the market value of the fundnet asset value per security as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure, where the fund is a money market mutual fund as defined in National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds; or
- (ii) the margin rate determined on the same basis as for listed stocks multiplied by the market value of the fundnet asset value per security of the fund as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure.

(e) Stocks

- (i) On In this paragraph, "securities (other than" includes rights and warrants and does not include bonds and debentures).
- (i) On securities including investment fund securities, rights and warrants, listed on any exchange in Canada or the United States of America:

Long Positions - Margin Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more - 50% of marketfair value

Securities selling at \$1.75 to \$1.99 - 60% of marketfair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.74 – 80% of marketfair value

Securities selling under \$1.50 - 100% of marketfair value

Short Positions - Credit Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more – 150% of marketfair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.99 - \$3.00 per share

Securities selling at \$0.25 to \$1.49 - 200% of marketfair value

Securities selling at less than \$0.25 – marketfair value plus \$0.25 per shares

- (ii) For positions in securities (other than bonds and debentures but including warrants and rights), 50% of the market value if the security is a constituent security that are constituent securities on a major broadly-based index of one of the following exchanges:, 50% of the fair value:
 - (a) American Stock Exchange

April 15, 2011 400 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

[&]quot;Acceptable Foreign Bank Paper" consists of deposit certificates or promissory notes issued by a bank other than a Canadian chartered bank with a net worth (i.e., capital plus reserves) of not less than \$200,000,000.

- (b) Australian Stock Exchange Limited (a) (c) Bolsa de Valores de Sao Paulo Madrid (b) (c) (d) Borsa Italiana **Boston Stock Exchange** Chicago Board of Options Exchange Chicago Board of Trade (g) (h) Chicago Mercantile Exchange (i) Chicago Copenhagen Stock Exchange (d) (e) (i) Euronext Amsterdam (k) Euronext Brussels (I) Euronext Paris S.A. (m) Frankfurt Stock Exchange (h) **London International Financial Futures and Options Exchange** (o) London Stock Exchange Montreal Exchange New York Mercantile Exchange New York Stock Exchange (s) New Zealand Exchange Limited (t) PacificStockholm Stock Exchange (k) _(u)-Swiss Exchange <u>(I)</u> (m) (v) The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (w) Tokyo Stock Exchange **Toronto Stock Exchange** TSX Venture Exchange
- (f) For all other securities 100% of market value. Mortgages
- (i) For a firm registered in any jurisdiction of Canada except Ontario:
 - (a) Insured mortgages (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Mortgages which are not insured (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.
- (ii) For a firm registered in Ontario:
 - (a) Mortgages insured under the National Housing Act (Canada) (not in default): 6% of fair value

April 15, 2011 401 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(b) Conventional first mortgages (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.

If you are registered in Ontario regardless of whether you are also registered in another jurisdiction of Canada, you will need to apply the margin rates set forth in (ii) above.

(g) For all other securities – 100% of fair value.

April 15, 2011 402 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 31-103F2 SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION AND APPOINTMENT OF AGENT FOR SERVICE (sections 8.18 [international dealer] and 8.26 [international adviser])

1.	Name o	f person or company ("International Firm"):	
2.	If the International Firm was previously assigned an NRD number as a registered firm or an unregistered exempt international firm, provide the NRD number of the firm.		
3.	_Jurisdic	tion of incorporation of the International Firm:	
3. <u>4.</u>	Head of	fice address of the International Firm:	
5.	The nar	ne, e-mail address, phone number and fax number of the International Firm's chief compliance officer.	
	Name: E-mail a Phone: Fax:	address:	
4. <u>6.</u>		of NI 31-103 <u>National Instrument 31-103, <i>Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant</i></u> ons the International Firm is relying on:	
		☐ Section 8.18 [international dealer] ☐ Section 8.26 [international adviser] ☐ Other	
<u>5.7.</u>	Name o	f agent for service of process (the "Agent for Service"):	
6. <u>8.</u>	Address	s for service of process on the Agent for Service:	
criminal activitie:	nay be so , quasi-co s in the l	ernational Firm designates and appoints the Agent for Service at the address stated above as its agent upon erved a notice, pleading, subpoena, summons or other process in any action, investigation or administrative, riminal or other proceeding (a "Proceeding") arising out of or relating to or concerning the International Firm's ocal jurisdiction and irrevocably waives any right to raise as a defense defence in any such proceeding any risdiction to bring such Proceeding.	
	and adm	ernational Firm irrevocably and unconditionally submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the judicial, quasi- ninistrative tribunals of the local jurisdiction in any Proceeding arising out of or related to or concerning the n's activities in the local jurisdiction.	
9.<u>11.</u> [interna :		years after the International Firm ceases to rely on section 8.18 [international dealer] or section 8.26 viser], the International Firm must submit to the securities regulatory authority	
	a.	a new Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service in this form no later than the 30th day before the date this Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service is terminated; and	
	b.	an amended Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service no later than the 30th day before any change in the name or above address of the Agent for Service.	
10.<u>12.</u> the laws		bmission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service is governed by and construed in accordance with cal jurisdiction.	
Dated: _			
(Signatı	ure of the	International Firm or authorized signatory)	
(Name a	and Title	of authorized signatory)	

April 15, 2011 403 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Acceptance

he undersigned accepts the appointment as Agent for Service of (Insert name of International Firm) under the terms a conditions of the foregoing Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service.	nd
ated:	
Signature of Agent for Service or authorized signatory)	
Name and Title of authorized signatory)	

April 15, 2011 404 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 31-103F3 USE OF MOBILITY EXEMPTION (section 2.2 [client mobility exemption – individuals])

This is to notify the securities regulatory authority that the individual named in paragraph 1 is relying on the exemption in section 2.2 [client mobility exemption – individuals] of National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements—and, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations.

1.	Individual information
Name	of individual:
NRD	number of individual:
	ndividual is relying on the client mobility exemption in each of the following jurisdictions of Canada:
2.	Firm information
	of the individual's sponsoring firm:
	number of firm:
Dated	l:
(Signa	ature of an authorized signatory of the individual's sponsoring firm)
(Nam	e and title of authorized signatory)

April 15, 2011 405 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX A - BONDING AND INSURANCE CLAUSES

(section 12.3 [insurance – dealer], section 12.4 [insurance – adviser] and section 12.5 [insurance – investment fund manager])

Clause	Name of Clause	Details
А	Fidelity	This clause insures against any loss through dishonest or fraudulent act of employees.
В	On Premises	This clause insures against any loss of money and securities or other property through robbery, burglary, theft, hold-up, or other fraudulent means, mysterious disappearance, damage or destruction while within any of the insured's offices, the offices of any banking institution or clearing house or within any recognized place of safe-deposit.
С	In Transit	This clause insures against any loss of money and securities or other property through robbery, burglary, theft, hold-up, misplacement, mysterious disappearance, damage or destruction, while in transit in the custody of any employee or any person acting as messenger except while in the mail or with a carrier for hire other than an armoured motor vehicle company.
D	Forgery or Alterations	This clause insures against any loss through forgery or alteration of any cheques, drafts, promissory notes or other written orders or directions to pay sums in money, excluding securities.
Е	Securities	This clause insures against any loss through having purchased or acquired, sold or delivered, or extended any credit or acted upon securities or other written instruments which prove to have been forged, counterfeited, raised or altered, or lost or stolen, or through having guaranteed in writing or witnessed any signatures upon any transfers, assignments or other documents or written instruments.

April 15, 2011 406 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX B - SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT

(Line 5 of Form 31-103F1 Calculation of excess working capital)

SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is made as of the day of, 20
BETWEEN:
[insert name]
(the "Lender")
AND
[insert name]
(the "Registered Firm", which term shall include all successors and assigns of the Registered Firm)
(collectively, the "Parties")
This Agreement is entered into by the Parties under National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements—and_Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations ("NI 31-103") in connection with a loan made on theday of, 20 by the Lender to the Registered Firm in the amount of \$(the "Loan") for the purpose of allowing the Registered Firm to carry on its business.

For good and valuable consideration, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Subordination

The repayment of the loan and all amounts ewnedowed thereunder are subordinate to the claims of the other creditors of the Registered Firm.

2. Dissolution, winding-up, liquidation, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Registered Firm

In the event of the dissolution, winding-up, liquidation, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Registered Firm:

- (a) the creditors of the Registered Firm shall be paid their existing claims in full in priority to the claims of the Lender;
- (b) the Lender shall not be entitled to make any claim upon any property belonging or having belonged to the Registered Firm, including asserting the right to receive any payment in respect to the Loan before the existing claims of the other creditors of the Registered Firm have been settled.

3. Terms and conditions of the Loan

During the term of this Agreement:

- (a) interest can be paid at the agreed upon rate and time, provided that the payment of such interest does not result in a capital deficiency under NI 31-103;
- (b) any loan or advance or posting of security for a loan or advance by the Registered Firm to the Lender, shall be deemed to be a payment on account of the Loan.

4. Notice to the Securities Regulatory Authority

The Registered Firm must notify the Securities Regulatory Authority prior to 10 days before the full or partial repayment of the loan. Further documentation may be requested by the Securities Regulatory Authority after receiving the notice from the Registered Firm.

April 15, 2011 407 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

5. Termination of this Agreement

This Agreement may only be terminated by the Lender once the notice required pursuant to Section 4 of this Agreement is received by the Securities Regulatory Authority.

The Parties have executed and delivered this Agreement as of the date set out above.

[Registered Firm]	
Authorized signatory	
Authorized signatory	
[Lender]	
Authorized signatory	
Authorized signatory	

April 15, 2011 408 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX C - NEW CATEGORY NAMES - INDIVIDUALS

(Section 16.1 [change of registration categories – individuals])

	Column 1 [dealing representative]	Column 2 [advising representative]	Column 3 [associate advising representative]		
Alberta	Officer (Trading) Salesperson Partner (Trading)	Officer (Advising) Advising Employee Partner (Trading)	Junior Officer (Advising)		
British Columbia	Salesperson Trading Partner Trading Director Trading Officer	Advising Employee Advising Partner Advising Director Advising Officer			
Manitoba	Salesperson Branch Manager Trading Partner Trading Director Trading Officer	Advising Employee Advising Officer Advising Director Advising Partner	Associate Advising Officer Associate Advising Director Associate Advising Partner Associate Advising Employee		
New Brunswick	Salesperson Officer (trading) Partner (trading)	Representative (advising) Officer (advising) Partner (advising) Sole proprietor (advising) Associate officer (advising), Associate partner (advising) Associate represent (advising)			
Newfoundland and Labrador	Sales Person Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading)	Officer (Advising) Partner (Advising)			
Nova Scotia	Salesperson Officer – trading Partner- trading Director - trading	Officer- advising Officer – counseling Partner- advising Partner- counseling Director- advising Director- counseling			
Ontario	Salesperson Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading) Sole Proprietor	Advising Representative Officer (Advising) Partner (Advising) Sole Proprietor			
Prince Edward Island	Salesperson Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading) Counselling Officer (Officer) Counselling Officer (Partner) Counselling Officer (Other)				
Québec	Representative, Representative - Group Savings Plan (salesperson), Representative - Scholarship Plan (salesperson)	Representative (Portfolio Manager), Representative (Advising), Representative – Options, Representative - Futures			
Saskatchewan	Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading) Salesperson	Officer (Advising) Partner (Advising) Employee (Advising)			
Northwest Territories	Salesperson Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading)	Representative (Advising) Officer (Advising) Partner (Advising)			

April 15, 2011 409 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Nunavut	Salesperson Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading)	Representative (Advising) Officer (Advising) Partner (Advising)	
Yukon	Salesperson Officer (Trading) Partner (Trading) Sole proprietor (Trading)	Representative (Advising) Officer (Advising) Partner (Advising)	

April 15, 2011 410 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX D - NEW CATEGORY NAMES - FIRMS

(Section 16.2 [change of registration categories – firms])

	Column 1 [investment dealer]	Column 2 [mutual fund dealer]	Column 3 [scholarship plan dealer]	Column 4 [restricted dealer]	Column 5 [portfolio manager]	Column 6 [restricted portfolio manager]
Alberta	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer	dealer, dealer (exchange contracts), dealer (restricted)	investment counsel and/or portfolio manager	portfolio manager/ investment counsel (exchange contracts)
British Columbia	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer	exchange contracts dealer, special limited dealer	investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Manitoba	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
New Brunswick	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel and portfolio manager	
Newfoundland and Labrador	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Nova Scotia	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Ontario	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Prince Edward Island	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	

April 15, 2011 411 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	Column 1 [investment dealer]	Column 2 [mutual fund dealer]	Column 3 [scholarship plan dealer]	Column 4 [restricted dealer]	Column 5 [portfolio manager]	Column 6 [restricted portfolio manager]
Québec	unrestricted practice dealer, unrestricted practice dealer (introducing broker), unrestricted practice dealer (International Financial Centre), discount broker	firm in group savings-plan brokerage	scholarship plan dealer	Québec Business investment company (QBIC) Debt securities dealer restricted practice Dealer firm in investment contract brokerage unrestrict- ed practice dealer (Nasdaq)	unrestricted practice adviser, unrestricted practice adviser (International Financial Centre)	restricted practice advisor
Saskatchewan	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Northwest Territories	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Nunavut	investment dealer	mutual fund dealer	scholarship plan dealer		investment counsel or portfolio manager	
Yukon	broker	broker	scholarship plan dealer		broker	

April 15, 2011 412 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX E - NON-HARMONIZED CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

(Section 12.1 [capital requirements])

Alberta	Sections 23 and 24 of the Alberta Securities Commission Rules (General)			
British Columbia	Sections 19, 20, 24 and 25 of the Securities Rules.			
Columbia	Sections 2.1(i), 2.3(i), 9.4, 13.3, 15.4 and 16.3 of BC Policy 31-601 Registration Requirements.			
Manitoba	None in the Act or Regulations – Handled through terms and conditions			
New Brunswick	Sections 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4 and 7.5 of New Brunswick Local Rule 31-501 Registration Requirements, as those sections read immediately before revocation			
Newfoundland and Labrador	Sections 84, 85, 95, 96, 97 and 99 of the Securities Regulations under the Securities Act (O.C. 96-286)			
Nova Scotia	Section 23 of the General Securities Rules, as the section read immediately before revocation			
Ontario	Sections 96, 97, 107, 111 of the Ontario Regulation 1015 made under the <i>Securities Act</i> , as those sections read immediately before revocation			
Prince Edward Island	Section 34 of the former Securities Act Regulations and incorporated by reference by Local Rule 31-501 (Transitional Registration Requirements)			
Québec	Sections 207 to 209, 211 and 212 of the Québec Securities Regulation or sections 8 to 11 of the Regulation respecting the trust accounts of financial resources of securities firms as those sections read immediately before repeal			
Saskatchewan	Sections 19 and 24 of <i>The Securities Regulations</i> (Saskatchewan) as those sections read immediately before revocation			
Northwest Territories	None in the Act, Regulations, or local rules – Handled through terms and conditions			
Nunavut	None in the Act, Regulations, or local rules – Handled through terms and conditions			
Yukon	Local Rule 31-501 Registration Requirements			

April 15, 2011 413 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

APPENDIX F - NON-HARMONIZED INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

(Section 16.13 [insurance requirements])

Alberta	Sections 25 and 26 of the Alberta Securities Commission Rules (General)				
British Columbia	Sections 21 and 22 of the Securities Rules				
Columbia	Sections 2.1(h), 2.3(h) and 2.5(h) of BC Policy 31-601 Registration Requirements				
Manitoba	Subsection 7(4) of the Securities Act – general requirement at Director's discretion				
New Brunswick	Sections 8.1, 8.2, 8.3 and 8.7 of New Brunswick Local Rule 31-501 Registration Requirements, as those sections read immediately before revocation				
Newfoundland and Labrador	Sections 95, 96, and 97 of the Securities Regulations under the Securities Act (O.C. 96-286)				
Nova Scotia	Section 24 of the General Securities Rules, as the section read immediately before revocation				
Ontario	Sections 96, 97, 108, 109 of the Ontario Regulation 1015 made under the <i>Securities Act</i> , as those sections read immediately before revocation				
Prince Edward Island	Section 35 of the former Securities Act Regulations and incorporated by reference by Local Rule 31-501 (Transitional Registration Requirements)				
Québec	Section 213 and 214 of the Québec Securities Regulation as those sections read immediately before repeal				
Saskatchewan	Section 33 of The Securities Act, 1988 (Saskatchewan), as that section read immediately before repeal				
	Sections 20, 21 and 22 of <i>The Securities Regulations</i> (Saskatchewan), as those sections read immediately before revocation				
Northwest Territories	Section 4 of Local Rule 31-501 Registration				
Nunavut	None in the Act, Regulations, or local rules – Handled through terms and conditions				
Yukon	Local Rule 31-501 Registration Requirements				

April 15, 2011 414 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

COMPANION POLICY 31-103 CP REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS, EXEMPTIONS AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS (BLACKLINED TO CURRENT LAW)

COMPANION POLICY Companion Policy 31-103 CP REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS AND, EXEMPTIONS AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS

Part 1 Definitions and fundamental concepts

1.1 Introduction

Purpose of this Companion Policy

This Companion Policy sets out how the Canadian Securities Administrators (the CSA or we) interpret or apply the provisions of National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements—and, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations (NI 31-103) and related securities legislation.

Numbering system

Except for Part 1, the numbering of Parts, Divisions and sections in this Companion Policy correspond to the numbering in NI 31-103. Any general guidance for a Part or a Division appears immediately after the Part or Division name. Any specific guidance on sections in NI 31-103 follows any general guidance. If there is no guidance for a Part, Division or section, the numbering in this Companion Policy will skip to the next provision that does have guidance.

All references in this Companion Policy to sections, Parts and Divisions are to NI 31-103, unless otherwise noted.

Additional requirements applicable to registrants

For additional requirements that may apply to them, registrants should refer to:

- National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database (NI 31-102) and the Companion Policy to NI 31-102
- National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information (NI 33-109) and the Companion Policy to NI 33-109
- National Policy 11-204 Process for Registration in Multiple Jurisdictions (NP 11-204), and
- securities and derivatives legislation in their jurisdiction

Registrants that are members of a self-regulatory organization (SRO) must also comply with their SRO's requirements.

Disclosure and notices

Delivering disclosure and notices to the principal regulator

Registrants <u>Under section 1.3, registrants</u> must deliver all disclosure and notices required under NI 31-103 to the registrant's principal regulator, except for <u>This does not apply to</u> notices under sections:

- 8.18 International dealer
- 8.26 International adviser
- 11.9 Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets, and
- 11.10 Registered firm whose securities are acquired

Registrants must deliver these notices to the regulator in each jurisdiction where they are registered or relying on an exemption from registration.

April 15, 2011 415 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Electronic delivery of documents

These documents may be delivered electronically. Registrants should refer to National Policy 11-201 *Delivery of Documents by Electronic Means* and, in Québec, Notice 11-201 *Delivery of Documents by Electronic Means*.

See Appendix A for contact information for each regulator.

Clear and meaningful disclosure to clients

We expect registrants to present disclosure information to clients in a clear and meaningful manner in order to ensure clients understand the information presented. Registrants should ensure that investors can readily understand the information. These requirements are consistent with the obligation to deal fairly, honestly and in good faith with clients.

1.2 Definitions

Unless defined in NI 31-103, terms used in NI 31-103 and in this Companion Policy have the meaning given to them in the securities legislation of each jurisdiction or in National Instrument 14-101 *Definitions*. See Appendix B for a list of some terms that are not defined in NI 31-103 or this Companion Policy but are defined in other securities legislation.

In this Companion Policy, "regulator" means the regulator or securities regulatory authority in a jurisdiction.

Permitted client

The following discussion provides guidance on the term "permitted client", which is defined in section 1.1 of NI 31-103.1.1.

"Permitted client" is used in the following sections:

- 8.18 International dealer
- 8.26 International adviser
- 13.2 Know your client
- 13.3 Suitability
- 13.13 Disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money
- 14.2 Relationship disclosure information, and
- 14.4 When the firm has a relationship with a financial institution

Exemptions from registration when dealing with permitted clients

NI 31-103 exempts international dealers and international advisers from the registration requirement if they deal with certain permitted clients and meet certain other conditions.

Exemptions from other requirements when dealing with permitted clients

Under section 13.3, permitted clients may waive their right to have a registrant determine that a trade is suitable. In order to rely on this exemption, the registrant must determine that a client is a permitted client at the time the client waives their right to suitability.

Under sections 13.13, 14.2 and 14.4, registrants do not have to provide certain disclosures to permitted clients. In order to rely on these exemptions, registrants must determine that a client is a permitted client at the time the client opens an account.

Determining assets

The definition of permitted client includes monetary thresholds based on the value of the client's assets. The monetary thresholds in paragraphs (o) and (q) of the definition are intended to create "bright-line" standards. Investors who do not satisfy these thresholds do not qualify as permitted clients under the applicable paragraph.

April 15, 2011 416 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Paragraph (o) of the definition

Paragraph (o) refers to an individual who beneficially owns financial assets with an aggregate realizable value that exceeds \$5 million, before taxes but net of any related liabilities.

In general, determining whether financial assets are beneficially owned by an individual should be straightforward. However, this determination may be more difficult if financial assets are held in a trust or in other types of investment vehicles for the benefit of an individual.

Factors indicating beneficial ownership of financial assets include:

- possession of evidence of ownership of the financial asset
- entitlement to receive any income generated by the financial asset
- risk of loss of the value of the financial asset, and
- the ability to dispose of the financial asset or otherwise deal with it as the individual sees fit

For example, securities held in a self-directed RRSP for the sole benefit of an individual are beneficially owned by that individual. Securities held in a group RRSP are not beneficially owned if the individual cannot acquire and deal with the securities directly.

"Financial assets" is defined in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions (NI 45-106).

Realizable value is typically the amount that would be received by selling an asset. Market value may be used to estimate realizable value when a market for an asset exists.

Paragraph (q) of the definition

Paragraph (q) refers to a person or company that has net assets of at least \$25 million, as shown on its last financial statements. "Net assets" under this paragraph is total assets minus total liabilities. The value attributed to assets should reasonably reflect their estimated fair value.

1.3 Fundamental concepts

This section describes the fundamental concepts that form the basis of the registration regime:

- requirement to register
- business trigger for trading and advising, and
- fitness for registration

A registered firm is responsible for the conduct of the individuals whose registration it sponsors. A registered firm

- must undertake due diligence before sponsoring an individual to be registered to act on its behalf (see further guidance in Part 4 Due diligence by firms of the Companion Policy to NI 33-109)
- has an ongoing obligation to monitor and supervise its registered individuals in an effective manner (see further guidance in section 11.1 of this Companion Policy)

<u>Failure of a registered firm to take reasonable steps to discharge these responsibilities may be relevant to the firm's own continued fitness for registration.</u>

Requirement to register

The requirement to register is found in securities legislation. Firms must register if they are:

- in the business of trading
- in the business of advising

April 15, 2011 417 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- holding themselves out as being in the business of trading or advising
- acting as an underwriter, or
- acting as an investment fund manager

Individuals must register if they trade, underwrite or advise on behalf of a registered dealer or adviser, or act as the ultimate designated person (UDP) or chief compliance officer (CCO) of a registered firm. Individuals Except for the UDP and the CCO, individuals who act on behalf of a registered investment fund manager do not have to register.

However, all permitted individuals of any registrant must file Form 33-109F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals (Form 33-109F4).

There is no renewal requirement for registration, but fees must be paid every year to maintain registration.

Multiple categories

Registration in more than one category may be necessary. For example, an adviser that also manages an investment fund may have to register as a portfolio manager and an investment fund manager. An adviser that manages a portfolio and distributes units of an investment fund may have to register as a portfolio manager and as a dealer.

Registration exemptions

NI 31-103 provides exemptions from the registration requirement. <u>There may be additional exemptions in securities legislation.</u> Some exemptions do not need to be applied for if the conditions of the exemption are met. In other cases, on receipt of an application, the regulator has discretion to grant exemptions for specified dealers, advisers or investment fund managers, or activities carried out by them if registration is required but specific circumstances indicate that it is not otherwise necessary for investor protection or market integrity.

Business trigger for trading and advising

We refer to trading or advising in securities for a business purpose as the "business trigger" for registration.

We look at the type of activity and whether it is carried out for a business purpose to determine if an individual or firm must register. We consider the factors set out below, among others, to determine if the activity is for a business purpose. For the most part, these factors are from case law and regulatory decisions that have interpreted the business purpose test for securities matters.

Factors in determining business purpose

This section describes factors that we consider relevant in determining whether an individual or firm is trading or advising in securities for a business purpose and, therefore, subject to the dealer or adviser registration requirement.

This is not a complete list. We do not automatically assume that any one of these factors on its own will determine whether an individual or firm is in the business of trading or advising in securities.

(a) Engaging in activities similar to a registrant

We usually consider an individual or firm engaging in activities similar to those of a registrant to be trading or advising for a business purpose. Examples include promoting securities or stating in any way that the individual or firm will buy or sell securities. If an individual or firm sets up a business to carry out any of these activities, we may consider them to be trading or advising for a business purpose.

(b) Intermediating trades or acting as a market maker

In general, we consider intermediating a trade between a seller and a buyer of securities to be trading for a business purpose. This typically takes the form of the business commonly referred to as a broker. Making a market in securities is also generally considered to be trading for a business purpose.

(c) Directly or indirectly carrying on the activity with repetition, regularity or continuity

Frequent or regular transactions are a common indicator that an individual or firm may be engaged in trading or advising for a business purpose. The activity does not have to be their sole or even primary endeavour for them to be in the business.

April 15, 2011 418 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

We consider regularly trading or advising in any way that produces, or is intended to produce, profits to be for a business purpose. We also consider any other sources of income and how much time an individual or firm spends on all activities associated with the trading or advising.

(d) Being, or expecting to be, remunerated or compensated

Receiving, or expecting to receive, any form of compensation for carrying on the activity, including whether the compensation is transaction or value based, indicates a business purpose. It does not matter if the individual or firm actually receives compensation or in what form. Having the capacity or the ability to carry on the activity to produce profit is also a relevant factor.

(e) Directly or indirectly soliciting

Contacting anyone to solicit securities transactions or to offer advice may reflect a business purpose. Solicitation includes contacting someone by any means, including advertising that proposes buying or selling securities or participating in a securities transaction, or that offers services or advice for these purposes.

Business trigger examples

This section explains how the business trigger might apply to some common situations.

(a) Securities issuers

A securities issuer is an entity that issues or trades in its own securities. In general, securities issuers with an active non-securities business do not have to register as a dealer if they:

- do not hold themselves out as being in the business of trading in securities
- trade in securities infrequently
- are not, or do not expect to be, compensated for trading in securities
- do not act as intermediaries, and
- do not produce, or intend to produce, a profit from trading in securities

However, securities issuers may have to register as a dealer if they:

- frequently trade in securities
- employ or otherwise contract individuals to perform activities on their behalf that are similar to those performed by a registrant (other than underwriting in the normal course of a distribution or trading for their own account)
- solicit investors actively, or
- act as an intermediary by investing client money in securities

For example, an investment fund manager that carries out the activities described above may have to register as a dealer.

Securities issuers that are in the business of trading should consider whether they qualify for the exemption from the registration requirement for trades through a registered dealer in section 8.5 of NI 31-103.8.5.

In most cases, securities issuers are subject to the prospectus requirements in securities legislation. Regulators have the discretionary authority to require an underwriter for a prospectus distribution.

(b) Venture capital and private equity

This guidance does not apply to labour sponsored or venture capital funds as defined in National instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure (NI 81-106).

Venture capital and private equity investing are distinguished from other forms of investing by the role played by venture capital and private equity management companies (collectively, VCs). This type of investing includes a range of activities that may require registration.

April 15, 2011 419 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

VCs typically raise money under one of the prospectus exemptions in NI 45-106, including for trades to "accredited investors". The investors typically agree that their money will remain invested for a period of time. The VC uses this money to invest in securities of companies that are not publicly traded. The VC usually becomes actively involved in the management of the company, often over several years.

Examples of active management in a company include the VC having:

- representation on the board of directors
- direct involvement in the appointment of managers
- a say in material management decisions

The VC looks to realize on the investment either through a public offering of the company's securities, or a sale of the business. At this point, the investors' money can be returned to them, along with any profit.

Investors rely on the VC's expertise in selecting and managing the companies it invests in. In return, the VC receives a management fee or "carried interest" in the profits generated from these investments. They do not receive compensation for raising capital or trading in securities.

Applying the business trigger factors to the VC activities as described above, there would be no requirement for the VC to register as:

- a portfolio manager, if the advice provided in connection with the purchase and sale of companies is incidental to the VC's active management of these companies, or
- a dealer, if both the raising of money from investors and the investing of that money in companies are occasional and uncompensated activities

If the VC is actively involved in the management of the companies it invests in, the investment portfolio would generally not be considered an investment fund. As a result, the VC would not need to register as an investment fund manager.

The business trigger factors and investment fund manager analysis may apply differently if the VC engages in activities other than those described above.

(c) One-time activities

In general, we do not require registration for one-time trading or advising activities. This includes trading or advising that:

- is carried out by an individual or firm acting as a trustee, executor, administrator, personal or other legal representative, or
- relates to the sale of a business

(d) Incidental activities

If trading or advising activity is incidental to a firm's primary business, we may not consider it to be for a business purpose.

For example, merger and acquisition specialists that advise the parties to a transaction between companies are not normally required to register as dealers or advisers in connection with that activity, even though the transaction may result in trades in securities and they will be compensated for the advice. The primary business purpose in this example is to carry out! the transaction. Any advice on results in trades in the securities is incidental to that purpose and is limited to the parties to the transaction of the company to an acquirer, this is considered incidental to the acquisition transaction. However, if the merger and acquisition specialists also engage in capital raising from prospective investors (including private placements), they will need to consider whether such activity would be in the business of trading and require registration.

Another example is professionals, such as lawyers, accountants, engineers, geologists and teachers, who may provide advice on securities in the normal course of their professional activities. We do not consider them to be advising on securities for a business purpose. For the most part, any advice on securities will be incidental to their professional activities. This is because they:

April 15, 2011 420 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- do not regularly advise on securities
- are not compensated separately for advising on securities
- do not solicit clients on the basis of their securities advice, and
- do not hold themselves out as being in the business of advising on securities

Registration trigger for investment fund managers

Investment fund managers are subject to a registration trigger. This means that if a firm carries on the activities of an investment fund manager, it must register. However, investment fund managers are not subject to the business trigger.

Fitness for registration

The regulator will only register an applicant if they appear to be fit for registration. Following registration, individuals and firms must maintain their fitness in order to remain registered. If the regulator determines that a registrant has become unfit for registration, the regulator may suspend or revoke the registration. See Part 6 of this Companion Policy for guidance on suspension and revocation of individual registration. See Part 10 of this Companion Policy for guidance on suspension and revocation of firm registration.

Terms and conditions

The regulator may impose terms and conditions on a registration at the time of registration or at any time after registration. Terms and conditions imposed at the time of registration are generally permanent, for example, in the case of a restricted dealer who is limited to specific activities. Terms and conditions imposed after registration are generally temporary. For example, if a registrant does not maintain the required capital, it may have to file monthly financial statements and capital calculations until the regulator's concerns are addressed.

Opportunity to be heard

Applicants and registrants have an opportunity to be heard by the regulator before their application for registration is denied. They also have an opportunity to be heard before the regulator imposes terms and conditions on their registration if they disagree with the terms and conditions.

Assessing fitness for registration - firms

We assess whether a firm is or remains fit for registration through the information it is required to provide on registration application forms and as a registrant, and through compliance reviews. Based on this information, we consider whether the firm is able to carry out its obligations under securities legislation. For example, registered firms must be financially viable. A firm that is insolvent or has a history of bankruptcy may not be fit for registration.

In addition, when determining whether a firm whose head office is outside Canada is, and remains, fit for registration, we will consider whether the firm maintains registration or regulatory organization membership in the foreign jurisdiction that is appropriate for the securities business it carries out there.

Assessing fitness for registration - individuals

We use three fundamental criteria to assess whether an individual is or remains fit for registration:

- proficiency
- integrity, and
- solvency

(a) Proficiency

Individual applicants must meet the applicable education, training and experience requirements prescribed by securities legislation and demonstrate knowledge of securities legislation and the <u>products securities</u> they recommend.

April 15, 2011 421 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Registered individuals should continually update their knowledge and training to keep pace with new productssecurities, services and developments in the industry that are relevant to their business. See section 3.4 Part 3 of this Companion Policy for more specific guidance on proficiency.

(b) Integrity

Registered individuals must conduct themselves with integrity and have an honest character. The regulator will assess the integrity of individuals through the information they are required to provide on registration application forms and as registrants, and through compliance reviews. For example, applicants are required to disclose information about conflicts of interest, such as other employment or partnerships, service as a member of a board of directors, or relationships with affiliates, and about any regulatory or legal actions against them.

(c) Solvency

The regulator will assess the overall financial condition of an individual applicant or registrant. An individual that is insolvent or has a history of bankruptcy may not be fit for registration. Depending on the circumstances, the regulator may consider the individual's contingent liabilities. The regulator may take into account an individual's bankruptcy or insolvency when assessing their continuing fitness for registration.

Part 2 Categories of registration for individuals

2.1 Individual categories

Multiple individual categories

Individuals who carry on more than one activity requiring registration on behalf of a registered firm must:

- register in all applicable categories, and
- meet the proficiency requirements of each category

For example, an advising representative of a portfolio manager who is also the firm's CCO must register in the categories of advising representative and CCO. They must meet the proficiency requirements of both of these categories.

Multiple firms

We will not usually register an individual as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative for more than one registered firm even if the firms are affiliated. We will consider applications for individuals to act as a representative of more than one firm on a case-by-case basis. Before we approve an application, we must be satisfied that:

- there are valid business reasons for the individual to be registered with both firms
- the applicant's sponsoring firms have demonstrated that they have policies and procedures addressing any conflicts of interest that may arise as a result of the dual registration, and
- the sponsoring firms will be able to deal with these conflicts

We may consider other relevant factors.

Individual registered in a firm category

An individual can be registered in both a firm and individual category. For example, a sole proprietor who is registered in the firm category of portfolio manager must also be registered in the individual category of advising representative.

2.2 Client mobility exemption – individuals

Conditions of the exemption

The mobility exemption in section 2.2-of NI 31-103 allows registered individuals to continue dealing with and advising clients who move to another jurisdiction, without registering in that other jurisdiction. Section 8.30 *Client mobility exemption – firms* contains a similar exemption for registered firms.

April 15, 2011 422 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

The exemption becomes available when the client (not the registrant) moves to another jurisdiction. An individual may deal with up to five "eligible" clients in each other jurisdiction. Each of the client, their spouse and any children are an eligible client.

An individual may only rely on the exemption if:

- they and their sponsoring firm are registered in their principal jurisdiction
- they and their sponsoring firm only act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the other jurisdiction as permitted under their registration in their principal jurisdiction
- they comply with Part 13 Dealing with clients individuals and firms
- they act fairly, honestly and in good faith in their dealings with the eligible client, and
- their sponsoring firm has disclosed to the eligible client that the individual and if applicable, their sponsoring firm, are exempt from registration in the other jurisdiction and are not subject to the requirements of securities legislation in that jurisdiction

As soon as possible after an individual first relies on this exemption, their sponsoring firm must complete and file Form 31-103F3 *Use of mobility exemption* (Form 31-103F3) with the other jurisdiction.

Limits on the number of clients

Sections 2.2 and 8.30 are independent of each other: individuals may rely on the exemption from registration in section 2.2 even though their sponsoring firm is registered in the local jurisdiction (and is not relying on the exemption from registration in section 8.30). The limits in sections 2.2 and 8.30 are per jurisdiction.

For example a firm using the exemption in section 8.30 could have 10 clients in each of several local jurisdictions where it is not registered. An individual may also use the exemption in section 2.2 to have 5 clients in each of several jurisdictions where the individual is not registered.

The individual limits are per individual. For example several individuals working for the same firm could each have 5 clients in the same local jurisdiction and each individual could still rely on the exemption in section 2.2. However, the firm may not exceed its 10 client limit if it wants to rely on the exemption in section 8.30. If the firm exceeds the 10 client limit, the firm must be registered in the local jurisdiction.

Part 3 Registration requirements – individuals

Division 1 General proficiency requirements

Application of proficiency requirements

Part 3 sets out the initial and ongoing proficiency requirements for

- <u>dealing representatives and chief compliance officers of mutual fund dealers, scholarship plan dealers and</u>
 exempt-market dealers respectively
- <u>advising representatives, associate advising representatives and chief compliance officers of portfolio</u> <u>managers</u>
- chief compliance officers of investment fund managers

The regulator is required to determine the individual's fitness for registration and may exercise discretion in doing so.

Section 3.3 does not provide proficiency requirements for dealing representatives of investment dealers since the IIROC Rules provide those requirements for the individuals who are approved persons of IIROC member firms.

Exam based requirements

Individuals must pass exams – not courses – to meet the education requirements in Part 3. For example, an individual must pass the Canadian Securities Course Exam, but does not have to complete the Canadian Securities Course. Individuals are responsible for completing the necessary preparation to pass an exam and for proficiency in all areas covered by the exam.

April 15, 2011 423 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

3.3 Time limits on examination requirements

Under section 3.3 of NI 31-103,3.3, there is a time limit on the validity of exams prescribed in Part 3. Individuals must pass an exam within 36 months before they apply for registration. However, thethis time limit does not apply if the individual:

- was registered in an active capacity (i.e., not suspended), in the same category in a jurisdiction of Canada for a total of 12 months at any time during the 36-month period, before the date of their application; or
- <u>has</u> gained relevant securities industry experience for a total of 12 months during the 36-month period <u>before the date</u>
 of their application: these months do not have to be consecutive, or with the same firm or organization

The 12 months of registration and relevant securities industry experience referred to in subsection 3.3(2) do not have to be consecutive, or with the same firm or organization. The individual must have been registered for a total of 12 months or obtained a total of 12 months of experience within the 36-month period before the date they apply for registration.

These time limits do not apply when individuals transfer to a new firm. This is because they do not have to apply for registration when they transfer. See Part 6 of this Companion Policy for guidance on individuals who transfer to a new firm. to the CFA Charter or the CIM designation, since we do not expect the holders of these designations to have to retake the courses forming part of the requirements applicable to these designations. However, if the individual no longer has the right to use the CFA Charter or the CIM designation, by reason of revocation of the designation or otherwise, we may consider the reasons for such a revocation to be relevant in determining an individual's fitness for registration. Registered individuals are required to notify the regulator of any change in the status of the CFA Charter or the CIM designation within 10 days of the change, by submitting Form 33-109F5 Change of Registration Information in accordance with National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.

When assessing an individual's fitness for registration, the regulator may consider

- the date on which the relevant examination was passed, and
- the length of time between any suspension and reinstatement of registration during the 36 month period

See Part 6 of this Companion Policy for guidance on the meaning of "suspension" and "reinstatement".

Relevant securities industry experience

The securities industry experience under subsection 3.3(2)(b) should be relevant to the category applied for. It may include experience acquired:

- during employment at a registered dealer, a registered adviser or an investment fund manager
- in related investment fields, such as investment banking, securities trading on behalf of a financial institution, securities research, portfolio management, investment advisory services or supervision of those activities
- in legal, accounting or consulting practices related to the securities industry
- in other professional service fields that relate to the securities industry, or
- in a securities-related business in a foreign jurisdiction

Division 2 Education and experience requirements

See Appendix C for a chart that sets out the proficiency requirements for each individual category of registration.

Granting exemptions

The regulator may grant an exemption from any of the education and experience requirements in Division 2 if it is satisfied that an individual has qualifications or relevant experience that is equivalent to, or more appropriate in the circumstances than, the prescribed requirements.

April 15, 2011 424 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Proficiency for representatives of investment dealers

IIROC sets the proficiency requirements for dealing representatives of its members.

Proficiency for representatives of restricted dealers and restricted portfolio managers

The regulator will decide on a case-by-case basis what education and experience are required for registration as:

- a dealing representative or CCO of a restricted dealer, and
- an advising representative or CCO of a restricted portfolio manager

The regulator will determine these requirements when it assesses the individual's fitness for registration.

3.4 Proficiency – initial and ongoing

Proficiency principle

Under section 3.4 of NI 31-103, registered individuals, including CCOs, 3.4, registered individuals must not perform an activity that requires registration unless they have the education, training and experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently, including understanding the structure, features and risks of each security they recommend to a client (also referred to as know-your-product or KYP).

The requirement to understand the structure, features and risks of each security recommended to a client is a proficiency requirement. This requirement is in addition to the suitability obligation in section 13.3 and applies even where there is an exemption from the suitability obligation such as, for example, the exemption in subsection 13.3(4) in respect of permitted clients.

<u>CCOs</u> must <u>also</u> not perform an activity that requires registration unless they have the education, training and experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently. Registered firms should ensure that

Responsibility of the firm

The responsibility of registered firms to oversee the compliance of registered individuals acting on their behalf meet this requirement at all times.extends to ensuring that they are proficient at all times. A registered firm must not permit an individual they sponsor to perform an activity if the proficiency requirements are not met.

For example, firms Firms should perform their own analysis of all products securities they recommend to clients and provide product training to ensure their registered representatives have a sufficient understanding of the products securities and their risks to meet their suitability obligations under section 13.3. Similarly, registered individuals should have a thorough understanding of a product security before they recommend it to a client (also referred to as know-your-product or KYP).

3.11 Portfolio manager – advising representative

3.12 Portfolio manager – associate advising representative

The 12 months of relevant investment management experience referred to in section 3.11–of NI 31-103 and 24 months of relevant investment management experience referred to in section 3.12 do not have to be consecutive, or with the same firm or organization. The individual must obtain a total of this experience within the 36-month period before the date they apply for registration.

For individuals with a CFA charter, the regulator will decide on a case-by-case basis whether the experience they gained to earn the charter qualifies as relevant investment management experience.

Relevant investment management experience

Relevant investment management experience under sections 3.11 and 3.12 may vary according to the level of specialization of the individual. It may include:

- securities research and analysis experience, demonstrating an ability in, and understanding of, portfolio analysis or portfolio security selection, or
- management of investment portfolios on a discretionary basis, including investment decision making, rebalancing and evaluating performance

April 15, 2011 425 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Advising representatives

Advising representatives may acquire relevant investment management experience during employment in a portfolio management capacity with a registered investment dealer or adviser firm.

Associate advising representatives

Relevant investment management experience for associate advising representatives may include working at:

- an unregistered portfolio manager of a Canadian financial institution
- an adviser that is registered in another jurisdiction of Canada, or
- an adviser in a foreign jurisdiction

Division 3 Membership in a self-regulatory organization

3.16 Exemptions from certain requirements for SRO approved persons

Section 3.16 exempts registered individuals who are dealing representatives of IIROC or MFDA members from the requirements in NI 31-103 for suitability and disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money. This is because IIROC and the MFDA have their own rules for these matters.

In Québec, these requirements do not apply to dealing representatives of a mutual fund dealer who comply with the applicable Québecto the extent that equivalent requirements are applicable to those dealing representatives under regulations in Québec.

This section also exempts registered individuals who are dealing representatives of IIROC from the know your client obligations in section 13.2.

Part 4 Restrictions on registered individuals

4.1 Restrictions on acting for another registered firm

We will consider exemption applications on a case by case basis. When reviewing a registered firm's application for relief from this restriction, we will consider if:

- there are valid business reasons for the individual to be registered with both firms
- the individual will have sufficient time to adequately serve both firms
- the applicant's sponsoring firms have demonstrated that they have policies and procedures addressing any conflicts of interest that may arise as a result of the dual registration, and
- the sponsoring firms will be able to deal with these conflicts, including supervising how the individual will deal with these conflicts

In the case of 4.1(1)(b), namely a dealing, advising or associate advising representative acting for another registered firm, affiliation of the firms may be one of the factors that we would consider in respect of an exemption application.

We note that the prohibitions in section 4.1 are in addition to the conflicts of interest provisions set out in section 13.4 [Identifying and responding to conflicts of interest]. See section 13.4 for further guidance on individuals who serve on boards of directors.

4.2 Associate advising representatives – pre-approval of advice

The associate advising representative category is primarily meant to be an apprentice category for individuals who intend to become an advising representative but who do not meet the education or experience requirements for that category when they apply for registration. It allows an individual to work at a registered adviser while completing the proficiency requirements for an advising representative. For example, a previously registered advising representative could work in an advising capacity while acquiring the relevant work experience required for an advising representative under section 3.11 of NI 31-103-3.11.

However, associate advising representatives are not required to subsequently register as a full advising representative. They can remain as an associate advising representative indefinitely. This category also accommodates, for example, individuals who provide specific advice to clients, but do not manage client portfolios without supervision.

April 15, 2011 426 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

As required by section 4.2, registered firms must designate an advising representative to approve the advice provided by an associate advising representative. The designated advising representative must approve the advice before the associate advising representative gives it to the client. The appropriate processes for approving the advice will depend on the circumstances, including the associate advising representative's level of experience.

Registered firms that have associate advising representatives must:

- document their policies and procedures for meeting the supervision and approval obligations as required under section 11.1
- implement controls as required under section 11.1
- maintain records as required under section 11.5, and
- notify the regulator of the names of the advising representative and the associate advising representative
 whose advice they are approving no later than the seventh day after the advising representative is designated

Part 5 Ultimate designated person and chief compliance officer

Sections 11.2 and 11.3—of NI-31-103 require registered firms to designate a UDP and a CCO. The UDP and CCO must be registered and perform the compliance functions set out in sections 5.1 and 5.2. While the UDP and CCO have specific compliance functions, they are not solely responsible for compliance – it is the responsibility of the firm as a whole.

The same person as UDP and CCO

The UDP and the CCO can be the same person if they meet the requirements for both registration categories. We prefer firms to separate these functions, but we recognize that it might not be practical for some registered firms.

UDP or CCO as advising or dealing representative

The UDP or CCO may also be registered in trading or advising categories. For example, a small registered firm might conclude that one individual can adequately function as UDP and CCO, while also carrying on advising and trading activities. We may have concerns about the ability of a UDP or CCO of a large firm to conduct these additional activities and carry out their UDP, CCO and advising responsibilities at the same time.

5.1 Responsibilities of the ultimate designated person

The UDP is responsible for promoting a culture of compliance and overseeing the effectiveness of the firm's compliance system. They do not have to be involved in the day- to- day management of the compliance group. There are no specific education or experience requirements for the UDP. However, they are subject to the proficiency principle in section 3.4.

5.2 Responsibilities of the chief compliance officer

The CCO is an operating officer who is responsible for the monitoring and oversight of the firm's compliance system. This includes:

- establishing or updating policies and procedures for the firm's compliance system, and
- managing the firm's compliance monitoring and reporting according to the policies and procedures

At the firm's discretion, the CCO may also have authority to take supervisory or other action to resolve compliance issues.

The CCO must meet the proficiency requirements set out in Part 3. No other compliance staff have to be registered unless they are also advising or trading. The CCO may set the knowledge and skills necessary or desirable for individuals who report to them.

If a firm is registered in multiple categories, the CCO must meet the most stringent of the proficiency requirements of the firm's categories of registration.

Firms must designate one CCO. However, in large firms, the scale and kind of activities carried out by different operating divisions may warrant the designation of more than one CCO. We will consider applications, on a case-by-case basis, for different individuals to act as the CCO of a firm's operating divisions.

April 15, 2011 427 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

We will not usually register the same person as CCO of more than one firm unless the firms are affiliated, and the scale and kind of activities carried out make it reasonable for the same person to act as CCO of more than one firm. We will consider applications, on a case-by-case basis, for the CCO of one registered firm to act as the CCO of another registered firm.

Subsection 5.2(c) of NI 31-103 requires the CCO to report to the UDP any instances of non-compliance with securities legislation that:

- create a reasonable risk of harm to a client or to the market, or
- are part of a pattern of non-compliance

The CCO should report non-compliance to the UDP even if it has been corrected.

Subsection 5.2(d) requires the CCO to submit an annual report to the board of directors.

Part 6 Suspension and revocation of registration – individuals

The requirements for surrendering registration and additional requirements for suspending and revoking registration are found in the securities legislation of each jurisdiction. The guidance for Part 6 relates to requirements under both securities legislation and NI 31-103.

There is no renewal requirement for registration. A registered individual may carry on the activities for which they are registered until their registration is:

- suspended automatically under NI 31-103
- suspended by the regulator under certain circumstances, or
- surrendered by the individual

6.1 If individual ceases to have authority to act for firm

Under section 6.1 of NI $31-103,\underline{6.1}$, if a registered individual ceases to have authority to act on behalf of their sponsoring firm because their working relationship with the firm ends or changes, the individual's registration with the registered firm is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation. This applies whether the individual or the firm ends the relationship.

If a registered firm terminates its working relationship with a registered individual for any reason, the firm must complete and file a notice of termination on Form 33-109F1 *Notice of Termination of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals* (Form 33-109F1) no later than fiveten days after the effective date of the individual's termination. This includes when an individual resigns, is dismissed or retires.

The firm must file additional information about the individual's termination prescribed in Part 5 of Form 33-109F1 if:

- (except where the individual resigned (either voluntarily or at the firm's request)
- the individual was dismissed (whether or not for cause), or
- the firm indicates "other" as the reason for termination on Form 33-109F1The firm must file this information is deceased), no later than 30 days after the date of termination. The regulator uses this information to determine if there are any concerns about the individual's conduct that may be relevant to their ongoing fitness for registration. Under NI 33-109, the firm must provide this information to the individual on request.

Suspension

An individual whose registration is suspended must not carry on the activity they are registered for. The individual otherwise remains a registrant and is subject to the jurisdiction of the regulator. A suspension remains in effect until the regulator reinstates or revokes the individual's registration.

If an individual who is registered in more than one category is suspended in one of the categories, the regulator will consider whether to suspend the individual's registration in other categories or to impose terms and conditions, subject to an opportunity to be heard.

April 15, 2011 428 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Automatic suspension

An individual's registration will automatically be suspended if:

- they cease to have a working relationship with their sponsoring firm
- the registration of their sponsoring firm is suspended or revoked, or
- they cease to be an approved person of an SRO

An individual must have a sponsoring firm to be registered. If an individual leaves their sponsoring firm for any reason, their registration is automatically suspended. Automatic suspension is effective on the day that an individual no longer has authority to act on behalf of their sponsoring firm.

Individuals do not have an opportunity to be heard by the regulator in the case of any automatic suspension.

Suspension in the public interest

An individual's registration may be suspended if the regulator exercises its power under securities legislation and determines that it is no longer in the public interest for the individual to be registered. The regulator may do this if it has serious concerns about the ongoing fitness of the individual. For example, this may be the case if an individual is charged with a crime, in particular fraud or theft.

Reinstatement

"Reinstatement" means that a suspension on a registration has been lifted. Once reinstated, an individual may resume carrying on the activity they are registered for. If a suspended individual joins a new sponsoring firm, they will have to apply for reinstatement under the process set out in NI 33-109. In certain cases, the reinstatement or transfer to the new firm will be automatic.

Automatic transfers

Subject to certain conditions set out in NI 33-109, an individual's registration may be automatically reinstated if they:

- transfer directly from one sponsoring firm to another registered firm in the same jurisdiction
- join the new sponsoring firm within 90 days of leaving their former sponsoring firm
- seek registration in the same category as the one previously held, and
- complete and file Form 33-109F7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals (Form 33-109F7)

This allows individuals to engage in activities requiring registration from their first day with the new sponsoring firm.

Individuals are not eligible for an automatic reinstatement if they:

- have new information to disclose regarding regulatory, criminal, civil or financial matters as described in Item 9 of Form 33-109F7, or
- as a result of allegations of criminal activity, breach of securities legislation or breach of SRO rules:
 - o were dismissed by their former sponsoring firm, or
 - were asked by their former sponsoring firm to resign

In these cases, the individual must apply to have their registration reinstated under NI 33-109 using Form 33-109F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals.4.

6.2 If IIROC approval is revoked or suspended

6.3 If MFDA approval is revoked or suspended

Registered individuals acting on behalf of member firms of an SRO are required to be an approved person of the SRO.

April 15, 2011 429 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

If an SRO suspends or revokes its approval of an individual, the individual's registration in the category requiring SRO approval will be automatically suspended. This automatic suspension of individuals does not apply to mutual fund dealers registered only in Québec.

If an SRO suspends an individual for reasons that do not involve significant regulatory concerns and subsequently reinstates the individual's approval, the individual's registration will usually be reinstated by the regulator as soon as possible.

Revocation

6.6 Revocation of a suspended registration – individual

If an individual's registration has been suspended under Part 6-of NI 31-103 but not reinstated, it will be automatically revoked on the second anniversary of the suspension.

"Revocation" means that the regulator has terminated the individual's registration. An individual whose registration has been revoked must submit a new application if they want to be registered again.

Surrender or termination of registration

"Surrender" means of the non-principal jurisdictions in which they are where the individual is registered. An, the individual may apply to surrender their registration at any time by completing Form 33-109F2 Change or Surrender of Individual Categories (Form 33-109F2) and having their sponsoring firm file it.

An<u>If an</u> individual-who is registered in one or more jurisdictions and wants to terminate their registration in all jurisdictions does not have to file Form 33-109F2. This is because their sponsoring firm is required to file Form 33-109F1. their principal jurisdiction, Form 33-109F1 must be filed by the individual's sponsoring firm. Once Form 33-109F1 is filed, the individual's termination of registration will be reflected in all jurisdictions.

Part 7 Categories of registration for firms

The categories of registration for firms have two main purposes:

- to specify the type of business that the firm may conduct, and
- to provide a framework for the requirements the registrant must meet

Firms registered in more than one category

A firm may be required to register in more than one category. For example, a portfolio manager that manages an investment fund must register both as a portfolio manager and as an investment fund manager.

Individual registered in a firm category

An individual can be registered in both a firm and individual category. For example, a sole proprietor who is registered in the firm category of portfolio manager must also be registered in the individual category of advising representative.

7.1 Dealer categories

Underwriting is a subset of dealing activity for specified categories. Investment dealers may underwrite any securities. Exempt market dealers may underwrite securities in limited circumstances.

Exempt market dealer

Under subsection 7.1(2)(d) of NI 31-103, exempt market dealers may only act as a dealer in the "exempt market". The permitted activities of an exempt market dealer are determined with reference to the prospectus exemptions in NI 45-106 and include trades to "accredited investors" and purchasers of at least \$150,000 of a security and trades to anyone under the offering memorandum exemption.

Exempt market dealers can sell investment funds (whether or not they are prospectus-qualified) under these exemptions without registering as a mutual fund dealer or being a member of the MFDA.

April 15, 2011 430 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Restricted dealer

The restricted dealer category in subsection 7.1(2)(e) permits specialized dealers that may not qualify under another dealer category to carry on a limited trading business. It is intended to be used only if there is a compelling case for the proposed trading to take place outside the other registration categories.

The regulator will impose terms and conditions that restrict the dealer's activities. The CSA will co-ordinate terms and conditions for restricted dealers.

7.2 Adviser categories

The registration requirement in section 7.2-of NI 31-103 applies to advisers who give "specific advice". Advice is specific when it is tailored to the needs and circumstances of a client or potential client. For example, an adviser who recommends a security to a client is giving specific advice.

Restricted portfolio manager

The restricted portfolio manager category in subsection 7.2(2)(b) permits individuals or firms to advise in specific securities, classes of securities or securities of a class of issuers.

The regulator will impose terms and conditions on a restricted portfolio manager's registration that limit the manager's activities to <u>For example, a restricted portfolio manager might be limited to advising in respect of</u> a specific area, for example, sector, such as securities of oil and gas issuers.

7.3 Investment fund manager category

Investment fund managers direct the business, operations or affairs of an investment fund. They organize the fund and are responsible for its management and administration. If an entity is uncertain about whether it must register as an investment fund manager, it should consider whether the fund is an "investment fund" for the purposes of securities legislation. See section 1.2 of the Companion Policy to NI 81-106 for guidance on the general nature of investment funds.

An investment fund manager may:

- advertise to the general public a fund it manages without being registered as an adviser, and
- promote the fund to registered dealers without being registered as a dealer

If an investment fund manager acts as portfolio manager for a fund it manages, it should consider whether it may have to be registered as an adviser. If it distributes units of the fund directly to investors, it should consider whether it may have to be registered as a dealer.

In most fund structures, the investment fund manager is a separate legal entity from the fund itself. However, in situations where the board of directors or the trustee(s) of an investment fund direct the business, operations or affairs of the investment fund, the fund itself may be required to register in the investment fund manager category. To address the investor protection concerns that may arise from the investment fund manager and the fund being the same legal entity, and the practical issues of applying the ongoing requirements of a registrant on the fund, terms and conditions may be imposed.

An investment fund manager may delegate or outsource certain functions to other service providers. However, the investment fund manager is responsible for these functions and must supervise the service provider. See Part 11 of this Companion Policy for more guidance on outsourcing.

Limited partnerships

Investment funds organized as limited partnerships of investment vehicles should consider which entity or entities may need to be registered as an investment fund manager. Multiple registrations may not be necessary if each general partner in the affiliated group enters into a contract with a single registered investment fund manager within the group. In this case, the investment fund manager may not be one of the general partners. fund complexes or groups with more than one investment fund manager

Some investment fund complexes or groups may have more than one entity within the fund complex that can be considered as directing the business, operations or affairs of an investment fund. For example, structures where investment funds are organized as limited partnerships may have multiple entities within the fund complex that could require investment fund manager registration. Although the investment fund manager functions are often delegated to one entity within the fund complex, there

April 15, 2011 431 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

may be more than one entity in the group subject to investment fund manager registration, absent an exemption from registration.

We will consider exemption applications on a case-by-case basis to allow only one investment fund manager within the fund complex to be registered. We will typically consider the following factors when reviewing such applications:

- there is a management agreement in place delegating all or substantially all of the investment fund management function from the investment fund manager seeking the relief to an affiliate (or to an entity whose mind and management is the same) that is registered as an investment fund manager
- the majority of the investment fund management functions are performed by the registered affiliate (or entity whose mind and management is the same)
- the investment fund manager seeking the relief and the registered affiliate have directors and officers in common

Part 8 Exemptions from the requirement to register

NI 31-103 provides several exemptions from the registration requirement. There may be additional exemptions in securities legislation. If a firm is exempt from registration, the individuals acting on its behalf are also exempt from registration.

Division 1 Exemptions from dealer and underwriter registration

We provide no specific guidance for the following exemptions because there is guidance on them in the Companion Policy to NI 45-106:

- 8.12 Mortgages
- 8.17 Reinvestment plan
- 8.20 Exchange contract Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

8.5 Trades through or to a registered dealer

Section 8.5 provides an exemption from the dealer registration requirement for trades made

- solely through an agent who is an appropriately registered dealer, or
- to an appropriately registered dealer that is purchasing for that dealer's account

This exemption is available when no intermediary is involved in a trade, for example, when an individual or firm trades their own securities directly with a registered dealer. An individual or firm will have to register, however, if they trade another party's securities with a registered dealer in respect of a trade made by a person through a registered dealer so long as there is no intervening trading activity by that person for which that person is not appropriately registered or otherwise exempt from the dealer registration requirement. This would typically be the case where an individual trades through their account with an investment dealer or a company issues its own securities through an investment dealer.

This exemption is, however, not available where a person or company conducts trading activities for which they are not registered or exempt from registration and then directs the execution of that trade through a registered dealer. Such trading activities could involve directly contacting persons in the local jurisdiction to solicit their purchase of securities or marketing the securities in the local jurisdiction. For example:

- if an individual acts in furtherance of a sale of securities by soliciting potential purchasers of securities (sometimes referred to as a finder) and then the sale to the purchaser is executed through a registered dealer, the individual would not qualify for this exemption.
- if a person who is registered in the local jurisdiction, or operates under an exemption for their trading activities in that local jurisdiction, proposes to rely on this exemption for their trading activities in another jurisdiction of Canada, the person would need to utilize an appropriately registered dealer to solicit purchases in the other jurisdiction, since that person could not interact directly with purchasers in the other jurisdiction (without being appropriately registered or exempt from registration in that other jurisdiction).

April 15, 2011 432 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Cross-border transactions ("jitneys")

All trading activity in reliance upon this exemption that occurs within the local jurisdiction should be done through or to a registered dealer in that jurisdiction. On that basis, the execution of a trade through or to an appropriately registered dealer by a dealer located in another jurisdiction would qualify under this exemption. However, if the dealer in the other jurisdiction engages in other trading activities in the local jurisdiction in connection with the transaction, the trade is no longer a trade made solely through or to a registered dealer and this exemption would not be available.

A trade is not considered to be solely through a registered dealer if the dealer in the other jurisdiction interacts directly with the purchaser in the local jurisdiction. For example, if a dealer in the United States that is not registered in Alberta contacts a potential purchaser in Alberta to solicit the purchase of securities, this trade does not qualify for this exemption. The dealer in the United States must instead solicit the purchase by contacting a dealer registered in Alberta, and have that dealer contact potential purchasers in Alberta.

Plan administrators

A plan administrator can rely on this exemption to place sell orders with dealers in respect of shares of issuers held by plan participants. Section 8.16 [Plan administrator] covers the activity of the plan administrator receiving sell orders from plan participants.

8.6 Adviser – non-prospectus qualified investment fund 8.6 Investment fund trades by adviser to managed account

Registered advisers often create and use investment funds as a way to efficiently invest their clients' money. In issuing units of those funds to managed account clients, they are in the business of trading in securities. Under the exemption in section 8.6 of NI 31-103,8.6, a registered advisers doadviser does not have to register as a dealer does for a trade in a security of a non-prospectus qualified an investment fund if they:

- act as the fund's adviser and investment fund manager, and
- distribute units of the fund only into their clients' managed accounts

The exemption is also available to those who qualify for the international adviser exemption under section 8.26.

Registered advisers often create non-prospectus qualified investment funds as a way to efficiently invest their clients' money. In issuing units of those funds to clients, they are in the business of trading in securities.

Subsection 8.6(2) limits the availability of this exemption to legitimate fully—managed accounts. We do not intend for the exemption to be used to distribute the adviser's ewn non-prespectus qualified-investment funds on a retail basis.

8.18 International dealer

General principle

This exemption allows international dealers to provide limited services to Canadian permitted clients, as defined in section 8.18, without having to register in Canada. International dealers that seek wider access to Canadian investors must register in an appropriate category. Both the terms Canadian permitted client and permitted client are used in this section. As mentioned above, the term Canadian permitted client is defined in section 8.18. The term permitted client is defined in section 1.1.

Notice requirement

Advisers relying on the exemption in section 8.6 should consider whether they may have to register as an investment fund manager. If a firm is relying on the exemption in more than one jurisdiction, it must provide an initial notice by filing a Form 31-103F2 Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service (Form 31-103F2) with the regulator in each jurisdiction where it relies on the exemption. If there is any change to the information in the firm's Form 31-103F2, it must update it by filing a replacement Form 31-103F2 with them.

So long as the firm continues to rely on the exemption, it must file an annual notice with each regulator. Subsection 8.18(5) does not prescribe a form of annual notice. An email or letter will therefore be acceptable.

In Ontario, compliance with the filing and fee payment requirements applicable to an unregistered exempt international dealer under Ontario Securities Commission Rule 13-502 Fees satisfies the annual notification requirement in subsection (5).

April 15, 2011 433 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

8.19 Self-directed registered education savings plan

We consider the creation of a self-directed registered education savings plan, as defined in section 8.19 of NI 31-103,8.19, to be a trade in a security, whether or not the assets held in the plan are securities. This is because the definition of "security" in securities legislation of most jurisdictions includes "any document constituting evidence of an interest in a scholarship or educational plan or trust".

Section 8.19 provides an exemption from the dealer registration requirement for the trade when the plan is created but only under the conditions described in subsection 8.19(2).

Division 2 Exemptions from adviser registration

8.25 Advising generally

Section 8.25-of NI 31-103 contains an exemption from the requirement to register as an adviser if the advice is not tailored to the needs of the recipient.

In general, we would not consider advice about specific securities to be tailored to the needs of the recipient if it:

- is a general discussion of the merits and risks of the security
- is delivered through investment newsletters, articles in general circulation newspapers or magazines, websites, e-mail,
 Internet chat rooms, bulletin boards, television or radio, and
- does not claim to be tailored to the needs and circumstances of any recipient

This type of general advice can also be given at conferences. However, if a purpose of the conference is to solicit the audience and generate specific trades in specific securities, we may consider the advice to be tailored or we may consider the individual or firm giving the advice to be engaged in trading activity.

Under subsection 8.25(3), if an individual or firm relying on the exemption has a financial or other interest in the securities they recommend, they must disclose the interest to the recipient when they make the recommendation.

8.26 International adviser

This exemption allows international advisers to provide limited services to Canadian permitted clients, as defined in section 8.26, without having to register in Canada. International advisers that seek wider access to Canadian investors must register in an appropriate category. Unlike the exemption for international dealers in section 8.18, this exemption is not available where the client is registered under securities legislation of Canada as an adviser or dealer.

Incidental advice on Canadian securities

An international adviser relying on the exemption in section 8.26 may advise in Canada on foreign securities without having to register. It may also advise in Canada on securities of Canadian issuers, but only to the extent that the advice is incidental to its acting as an adviser for foreign securities.

However, this is not an exception or a "carve-out" that allows some portion of a permitted client's portfolio to be made up of Canadian securities chosen by the international adviser without restriction. Any advice with respect to Canadian securities must be directly related to the activity of advising on foreign securities. Permissible incidental advice would include, for example:

- an international adviser, when advising on a portfolio with a particular investment objective, such as gold mining companies, could advise on securities of a Canadian gold mining company within that portfolio, provided that the portfolio is otherwise made up of foreign securities
- an international adviser, having a mandate to advise on equities traded on European exchanges could advise with respect to the securities of a Canadian corporation traded on a European exchange, to the extent that Canadian corporation forms part of the mandate

Revenue derived in Canada

An international adviser is only permitted to undertake a prescribed amount of business in Canada. In making the calculation required under paragraph 8.26(4)(d), it is necessary to include all revenues derived from portfolio management activities in Canada, which would include any sub-adviser arrangements. However, the calculation of aggregate consolidated gross revenue

April 15, 2011 434 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

derived in Canada does not include the gross revenue of affiliates that are registered in a jurisdiction of Canada.

An international adviser is not required to monitor Canadian revenue on an ongoing basis. Eligibility for the exemption is assessed with reference to revenues as of the end of the adviser's last financial year. The 10% threshold in paragraph 8.26(4)(d) is determined by looking back at the revenue of the firm and its affiliates "during its most recently completed financial year".

Notice requirement

If a firm is relying on the exemption in more than one jurisdiction, it must provide an initial notice by filing a Form 31-103F2 with the regulator in each jurisdiction where it relies on the exemption. If there is any change to the information in the firm's Form 31-103F2, it must update it by filing a replacement Form 31-103F2 with them.

So long as the firm continues to rely on the exemption, it must file an annual notice with each regulator. Subsection 8.26(5) does not prescribe a form of annual notice. An email or letter will therefore be acceptable.

In Ontario, compliance with the filing and fee payment requirements applicable to an unregistered exempt international firm under Ontario Securities Commission Rule 13-502 Fees satisfies the annual notification requirement in subsection (5).

Division 3 Exemptions from investment fund manager registration

8.28 Capital accumulation plan exemption

Section 8.28 of NI 31-103 provides an exemption from the investment fund manager registration requirement to an individual or firm that administers a capital accumulation plan. If an investment fund manager is also required to register as a dealer or adviser, this exemption only applies to their activities as an investment fund manager.

Division 4 Mobility exemption – firms

8.30 Client mobility exemption – firms

The mobility exemption in section 8.30–of NI 31-103 allows registered firms to continue dealing with and advising clients who move to another jurisdiction, without registering in that other jurisdiction. Section 2.2 *Client mobility exemption – individuals* contains a similar exemption for registered individuals.

The exemption becomes available when the client (not the registrant) moves to another jurisdiction. A registered firm may deal with up to 10 "eligible" clients in each other jurisdiction. Each of the client, their spouse and any children are an eligible client.

A firm may only rely on the exemption if:

- it is registered in its principal jurisdiction
- it only acts as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the other jurisdiction as permitted under its registration in its principal jurisdiction
- the individual acting on its behalf is eligible for the exemption in section 2.2
- it complies with Parts 13 [Dealing with clients individuals and firms] and 14 [Handling client accounts firms], and
- it acts fairly, honestly and in good faith in its dealings with the eligible client

Firm's responsibilities for individuals relying on the exemption

In order for a registered individual to rely on the exemption in section 2.2, their sponsoring firm must disclose to the eligible client that the individual and if applicable, the firm, are exempt from registration in the other jurisdiction and are not subject to the requirements of securities legislation in that jurisdiction.

As soon as possible after an individual first relies on the exemption in section 2.2, their sponsoring firm must complete and file Form 31-103F3 in the other jurisdiction.

The registered firm must have appropriate policies and procedures for supervising individuals who rely on a mobility exemption. Registered firms must also keep appropriate records to demonstrate they are complying with the conditions of the mobility exemption.

April 15, 2011 435 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

See the guidance in section 2.2 of this Companion Policy on the client mobility exemption available to individuals.

Part 9 Membership in a self-regulatory organization

9.3 Exemptions from certain requirements for SROIIROC members

9.4 Exemptions from certain requirements for MFDA members

NI 31-103 now has two distinct sections, section 9.3 and 9.4, which distinguish the exemptions which are available on the basis of whether or not the member of IIROC or the MFDA is registered in another category. This clarifies our intent with respect to the exemptions for SRO members and recognizes that IIROC and the MFDA have rules in these areas.

Section 9.3 of NI 31-103 contains an exemption Sections 9.3 and 9.4 contain exemptions from certain requirements for investment dealers that are IIROC members and, except in Québec, for mutual fund dealers that are MFDA members and in Québec, for mutual fund dealers to the extent equivalent requirements are applicable under the regulations in Québec.

However, if an SRO member is registered in another category, this section does these sections do not exempt them from their obligations as a registrant in that category. For example, if a firm is registered as an investment fund manager and as an investment dealer with IIROC, section 9.3 does not exempt them from their obligations as an investment fund manager under NI 31-103.

However SRO members that are registered in multiple categories may use the forms prescribed by the SROs, on certain conditions. See sections 12.1, 12.12 and 12.14 for requirements on calculating working capital and the delivery of working capital calculations for SRO members that are registered in multiple categories.

Part 10 Suspension and revocation of registration - firms

The requirements for surrendering registration and additional requirements for suspending and revoking registration are found in the securities legislation of each jurisdiction. The guidance for Part 10 relates to requirements under both securities legislation and NI 31-103.

There is no renewal requirement for registration but firms must pay fees every year to maintain their registration and the registration of individuals acting on their behalf. A registered firm may carry on the activities for which it is registered until its registration is:

- suspended automatically under NI 31-103
- suspended by the regulator under certain circumstances, or
- surrendered by the firm

Division 1 When a firm's registration is suspended

Suspension

A firm whose registration has been suspended must not carry on the activity it is registered for. The firm otherwise remains a registrant and is subject to the jurisdiction of the regulator. A suspension remains in effect until the regulator reinstates or revokes the firm's registration.

If a firm that is registered in more than one category is suspended in one of the categories, the regulator will consider whether to suspend the firm's registration in other categories or to impose terms and conditions, subject to an opportunity to be heard.

Automatic suspension

A firm's registration will automatically be suspended if:

- it fails to pay its annual fees within 30 days of the due date
- it ceases to be a member of IIROC, or
- except in Québec, it ceases to be a member of the MFDA

Firms do not have an opportunity to be heard by the regulator in the case of any automatic suspension.

April 15, 2011 436 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

10.1 Failure to pay fees

Under section 40.1 of NI 31-103, 10.1, a firm's registration will be automatically suspended if it has not paid its annual fees within 30 days of the due date.

10.2 If IIROC membership is revoked or suspended

Under section 40.2 of NI 31-103,10.2, if IIROC suspends or revokes a firm's membership, the firm's registration as an investment dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked.

10.3 If MFDA membership is revoked or suspended

Under section 10.3 of NI 31-103, 10.3, if the MFDA suspends or revokes a firm's membership, the firm's registration as a mutual fund dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked. Section 10.3 does not apply in Québec.

Suspension in the public interest

A firm's registration may be suspended if the regulator exercises its power under securities legislation and determines that it is no longer in the public interest for the firm to be registered. The regulator may do this if it has serious concerns about the ongoing fitness of the firm or any of its registered individuals. For example, this may be the case if a firm or one or more of its registered or permitted individuals is charged with a crime, in particular fraud or theft.

Reinstatement

"Reinstatement" means that a suspension on a registration has been lifted. Once reinstated, a firm may resume carrying on the activity it is registered for.

Division 2 Revoking a firm's registration

Revocation

10.5 Revocation of a suspended registration – firm

10.6 Exception for firms involved in a hearing

Under sections 10.5 and 10.6 of NI 31-103,10.6, if a firm's registration has been suspended under Part 10 and has not been reinstated, it is revoked on the second anniversary of the suspension, except if a hearing or proceeding concerning the suspended registrant has commenced. In this case the registration remains suspended.

"Revocation" means that the regulator has terminated the firm's registration. A firm whose registration has been revoked must submit a new application if it wants to be registered again.

Surrender

A firm may apply to surrender its registration in one or more categories at any time. There is no prescribed form for an application to surrender. A firm should file an application to surrender registration with its principal regulator. If Ontario is a non-principal jurisdiction, it should also file the application with the regulator in Ontario. See the Companion Policy to Multilateral Instrument 11-102 *Passport System* for more details on filing an application to surrender.

Before the regulator accepts a firm's application to surrender registration, the firm must provide the regulator with evidence that the firm's clients have been dealt with appropriately. This evidence does not have to be provided when a registered individual applies to surrender registration. This is because the sponsoring firm will continue to be responsible for meeting obligations to clients who may have been served by the individual.

The regulator does not have to accept a firm's application to surrender its registration. Instead, the regulator can act in the public interest by suspending, or imposing terms and conditions on, the firm's registration.

When considering a registered firm's application to surrender its registration, the regulator typically considers the firm's actions, the completeness of the application and the supporting documentation.

The firm's actions

The regulator may consider whether the firm:

has stopped carrying on activity requiring registration

April 15, 2011 437 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- proposes an effective date to stop carrying on activity requiring registration that is within six months of the date of the application to surrender, and
- has paid any outstanding fees and submitted any outstanding filings at the time of filing the application to surrender

Completeness of the application

Among other things, the regulator may look for:

- the firm's reasons for ceasing to carry on activity requiring registration
- satisfactory evidence that the firm has given all of its clients reasonable notice of its intention to stop carrying on activity requiring registration, including an explanation of how it will affect them in practical terms, and
- satisfactory evidence that the firm has given appropriate notice to the SRO, if applicable

Supporting documentation

The regulator may look for:

- evidence that the firm has resolved all outstanding client complaints, settled all litigation, satisfied all judgments or made reasonable arrangements to deal with and fund any payments relating to them, and any subsequent client complaints, settlements or liabilities
- confirmation that all money or securities owed to clients has been returned or transferred to another registrant, where
 possible, according to client instructions
- up-to-date audited financial statements with an auditor's comfort letter
- evidence that the firm has satisfied any SRO requirements for withdrawing membership, and
- an officer's or partner's certificate supporting these documents

Part 11 Internal controls and systems

General business practices - outsourcing

Registered firms are responsible and accountable for all functions that they outsource to a service provider. Firms should have a written, legally binding contract that includes the expectations of the parties to the outsourcing arrangement.

Registered firms should follow prudent business practices and conduct a due diligence analysis of prospective third-party service providers. This includes third-party service providers that are affiliates of the firm. Due diligence should include an assessment of the service provider's reputation, financial stability, relevant internal controls and ability to deliver the services.

Firms should also:

- ensure that third-party service providers have adequate safeguards for keeping information confidential and, where appropriate, disaster recovery capabilities
- conduct ongoing reviews of the quality of outsourced services
- develop and test a business continuity plan to minimize disruption to the firm's business and its clients if the third-party service provider does not deliver its services satisfactorily, and
- note that other legal requirements, such as privacy laws, may apply when entering into outsourcing arrangements

The regulator, the registered firm and the firm's auditors should have the same access to the work product of a third-party service provider as they would if the firm itself performed the activities. Firms should ensure this access is provided and include a provision requiring it in the contract with the service provider, if necessary.

April 15, 2011 438 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Division 1 Compliance

11.1 Compliance system

General principles

Section 11.1-of NI 31-103 requires registered firms to establish, maintain and apply policies and procedures that establish a system of controls and supervision (a compliance system) that:

- provides assurance that the firm and individuals acting on its behalf comply with securities legislation, and
- manages the <u>risks associated with the firm's</u> business-risks in accordance with prudent business practices

Operating an effective compliance system is essential to a registered firm's continuing fitness for registration. It provides reasonable assurance that the firm is meeting, and will continue to meet, all requirements of applicable securities laws and SRO rules and is managing risk prudentlyin accordance with prudent business practices. A compliance system should include internal controls and mechanisms monitoring systems that are reasonably likely to identify non-compliance at an early stage and supervisory systems that allow the firm to correct non-compliant conduct in a timely manner.

Compliance The responsibilities of the UDP are set out in section 5.1 and those of the CCO in section 5.2. However, compliance is not only a responsibility of a specific individual or a compliance department of the firm, but rather is a firm-wide responsibility and an integral part of the firm's activities. Everyone in the firm should understand the standards of conduct for their role. This includes the board of directors, partners, management, employees and agents, whether or not they are registered.

Having a UDP and CCO, and in larger firms, a compliance group and other supervisory staff, does not relieve anyone else in the firm of the obligation to report and act on compliance issues. A compliance system should identify those who will act as alternates in the absence of the UDP or CCO.

Elements of an effective compliance system

While policies and procedures are essential, they do not make an acceptable compliance system on their own. An effective compliance system also includes internal controls, day to day and systemic monitoring, and supervision elements.

Internal controls

Internal controls are an important part of a firm's compliance system. They should mitigate risk and protect firm and client assets. They should be designed to assist firms in monitoring compliance with securities legislation and managing the risks that affect their business, including risks that may arise from relate to:

- safeguarding of client and firm assets
- accuracy of books and records
- trading, including personal and proprietary trading
- conflicts of interest
- money laundering
- trading
- business interruption
- hedging strategies
- marketing and sales practices, and
- the firm's overall financial viability

April 15, 2011 439 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Supervision

Monitoring and supervision

Supervision is an Monitoring and supervision are essential component elements of a firm's compliance system. It consists They consist of day- to- day monitoring and supervision, and overall systemic monitoring.

(a) Day- to day monitoring and supervision

Day-to-dayIn our view, an effective monitoring and supervision system includes:

- identifyingmonitoring to identify specific cases of non-compliance or internal control weaknesses that might lead to non-compliance
- referring non-compliance or internal control weaknesses to management or other individuals with authority to take supervisory action to correct them
- taking supervisory action to correct them, and
- minimizing the compliance risk in key areas of a firm's operations

In our view, effective day to day monitoring should include, among other things

- approving new account documents
- reviewing and, in some cases, approving transactions
- approving marketing materials, and
- Minimizing risk usually involves approving new account documents, monitoring and in some cases, approving transactions, approving marketing materials and preventing inappropriate use or disclosure of non-public information.

Firms can use a risk-based approach to monitoring, such as reviewing an appropriate sample of transactions.

The firm's management is responsible for the supervisory element of correcting non-compliance or internal control weaknesses. However, at a firm's discretion, its CCO may be given supervisory authority, but this is not a necessary component of the CCO's role.

Anyone who supervises registered individuals has a responsibility on behalf of the firm to take all reasonable measures to ensure that each of these individuals:

- deals fairly, honestly and in good faith with their clients
- complies with securities legislation
- complies with the firm's policies and procedures, and
- maintains an appropriate level of proficiency

(b) Systemic monitoring

Systemic monitoring involves assessing, and advising and reporting on the effectiveness of the firm's compliance system. This includes ensuring that:

- the firm's day- to- day supervision is reasonably effective in identifying and promptly correcting <u>cases of non-</u>compliance <u>deficiencies and internal control weaknesses</u>
- policies and procedures are enforced and kept up to date, and
- everyone at the firm generally understands and complies with the policies and procedures, and with securities legislation

April 15, 2011 440 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Specific elements

More specific elements of an effective compliance system include:

(a) Visible commitment

Senior management and the board of directors or partners should demonstrate a visible commitment to compliance.

(b) Sufficient resources and training

The firm should have sufficient resources to operate an effective compliance system. Qualified individuals (including anyone acting as an alternate during absences) should have the responsibility and authority to monitor the firm's compliance, identify any instances of non-compliance and take supervisory action to correct them.

The firm should provide training to ensure that everyone at the firm understands the standards of conduct and their role in the compliance system, including ongoing communication and training on changes in regulatory requirements or the firm's policies and procedures.

(c) Detailed policies and procedures

The firm should have detailed written policies and procedures that:

- identify the internal controls the firm will use to ensure compliance with legislation and manage risk
- set out the firm's standards of conduct for compliance with securities and other applicable legislation and the systems for monitoring and enforcing compliance with those standards
- clearly outline who is expected to do what, when and how
- are readily accessible by everyone who is expected to know and follow them
- are updated when regulatory requirements and the firm's business practices change, and
- take into consideration the firm's obligation under securities legislation to deal fairly, honestly and in good faith with its clients

(d) Detailed records

The firm should keep records of activities conducted to identify compliance deficiencies and the action taken to correct them.

Setting up a compliance system

It is up to each registered firm to determine the most appropriate compliance system for its operations. Registered firms should consider the size and scope of their operations, including products, types of clients or counterparties, risks and compensating controls, and any other relevant factors.

For example, a large registered firm with diverse operations may require a large team of compliance professionals with several divisional heads of compliance reporting to a CCO dedicated entirely to a compliance role.

All firms must have policies, procedures and systems to demonstrate compliance. However, some of the elements noted above may be unnecessary or impractical for smaller registered firms.

We encourage firms to meet or exceed industry best practices in complying with regulatory requirements.

11.2 Designating an ultimate designated person

Under subsection 11.2(1) of NI 31-103, $_{\pm}$ registered firms must designate an individual to be the UDP. Firms should ensure that the individual understands and is able to perform the obligations of a UDP under section 5.1. The UDP must be:

• the chief executive officer of the registered firm (CEO) of the registered firm or the individual acting in a similar capacity, if the firm does not have a CEO. The person acting in a similar capacity to a CEO is the most senior decision maker in the firm, who might have the title of managing partner or president, for example

April 15, 2011 441 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- the sole proprietor of the registered firm, or
- anthe officer in charge of a division of the firm that carries on all of the activity that requires registration, or registerable activity if the firm also has significant other business activities, such as insurance, conducted in different divisions. This is not an option if the core business of the firm is trading or advising in securities and it only has some other minor operations conducted in other divisions. In this case, the UDP must be the CEO or equivalent.

To designate someone else as the UDP requires an exemptive relief order. Given that the intention of section 11.2 is to ensure that responsibility for its compliance system rests at the very top of a firm, we will only grant relief in rare cases.

• an individual acting in a similar capacity

We note that in larger organizations, the UDP is sometimes supported by an officer who has a compliance oversight role and title within the organization and who is more senior than the CCO. We have no objection to such arrangements, but it must be understood that they can in no way diminish the UDP's regulatory responsibilities.

If the <u>person designated as the UDP</u> no longer meets any of the above conditionsthese requirements, and the registered firm is unable to designate another UDP, the firm should promptly advise the regulator of the actions it is taking to designate an appropriate UDPa new UDP who meets these requirements.

11.3 Designating a chief compliance officer

Under subsection 11.3(1) of NI 31-103, $_{\frac{1}{2}}$ registered firms must designate an individual to be the CCO. Firms should ensure that the individual understands and is able to perform the obligations of a CCO under section 5.2.

The CCO must meet the applicable proficiency requirements in Part 3-of NI 31-103 and be:

- an officer or partner of the registered firm, or
- the sole proprietor of the registered firm

If the CCO no longer meets any of the above conditions and the registered firm is unable to designate another CCO, the firm should promptly advise the regulator of the actions it is taking to designate an appropriate CCO.

Division 2 Books and records

Under securities legislation, the regulator may access, examine and take copies of a registered firm's records. The regulator may also conduct regular and unscheduled compliance reviews of registered firms.

11.5 General requirements for records

Under subsection 11.5(1)—of NI 31-103, registered firms must maintain records to accurately record their business activities, financial affairs and client transactions, and demonstrate compliance with securities legislation.

The following discussion provides guidance for the various elements of the records described in subsection 11.5(2).

Financial affairs

The records required under subsections 11.5(2)(a), (b) and (c) are records firms must maintain to help ensure they are able to prepare and file financial information, determine their capital position, including the calculation of excess working capital, and generally demonstrate compliance with the capital and insurance requirements.

Client transactions

The records required under subsections 11.5(2)(g), (h), (i), (l) and (n) are records firms must maintain to accurately and fully document transactions entered into on behalf of a client. We expect firms to maintain notes of oral-communications with clients, and all e-mail, regular mail, fax and other written communications with clients to the extent these communications that could have an impact on the client's account or the client's relationship with the firm. However, These communications include

- oral communications
- <u>all e-mail, regular mail, fax and other written communications</u>

April 15, 2011 442 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

<u>While</u> we do not expect registered firms to save every voicemail or e-mail, or to record all telephone conversations with clients, we do expect that registered firms maintain records of all communications relating to orders received from their clients.

The records required under subsection 11.5(2)(g) should document buy and sell transactions, referrals, margin transactions and any other activities relating to a client's account. They include records of all actions leading to trade execution, settlement and clearance, such as trades on exchanges, alternative trading systems, over-the-counter markets, debt markets, and distributions and trades in the prospectus-exempt market.

Examples of these records are:

- trade confirmation statements
- summary information about account activity
- communications between a registrant and its client about particular transactions, and
- records of transactions resulting from securities a client holds, such as dividends or interest paid, or dividend reinvestment program activity

Subsection 11.5(2)(I) requires firms to maintain records that demonstrate compliance with the know your client obligations in section 13.2 and the suitability obligations in section 13.3. This includes records for unsuitable trades in subsection 13.3(2).

Client relationship

The records required under subsection 11.5(2)(k) and (m) should document information about a registered firm's relationship with its client and relationships that any representatives have with that client.

These records include:

- communication between the firm and its clients, such as disclosure provided to clients and agreements between the registrant and its clients
- account opening information
- change of status information provided by the client
- disclosure and other relationship information provided by the firm
- margin account agreements
- communications regarding a complaint made by the client
- actions taken by the firm regarding a complaint
- communications that do not relate to a particular transaction, and
- conflicts records

Each record required under subsection 11.5(2)(k) should clearly indicate the name of the accountholder and the account the record refers to. A record should include information only about the accounts of the same accountholder or group. For example, registrants should have separate records for an individual's personal accounts and for accounts of a legal entity that the individual owns or jointly holds with another party.

Where applicable, the financial details should note whether the information is for an individual or a family. This includes spousal income and net worth. The financial details for accounts of a legal entity should note whether the information refers to the entity or to the owner(s) of the entity.

If the registered firm permits clients to complete new account forms themselves, the forms should use language that is clear and avoids terminology that may be unfamiliar to unsophisticated clients.

April 15, 2011 443 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Internal controls

The records required under subsection 11.5(2)(d), (e), (f), (j) and (o) are records firms must maintain to support the internal controls and supervision components of their compliance system.

11.6 Form, accessibility and retention of records

Third party access to records

Subsection 11.6(1)(b) of NI 31-103 requires registered firms to keep their records in a safe location. This includes ensuring that no one has unauthorized access to information, particularly confidential client information. Registered firms should be particularly vigilant if they maintain books and records in a location that may be accessible by a third party. In this case, the firm should have a confidentiality agreement with the third party.

Division 3 Certain business transactions

11.8 Tied selling

Section 11.8 of NI 31-103 prohibits an individual or firm from engaging in abusive sales practices such as selling a security on the condition that the client purchase another product or service from the registrant or one of its affiliates. These types of practices are known as "tied selling". In our view, this section would be contravened if, for example, a financial institution agreed to lend money to a client only if the client acquired securities of mutual funds sponsored by the financial institution.

However, section 11.8 is not intended to prohibit relationship pricing or other beneficial selling arrangements similar to relationship pricing. Relationship pricing refers to the practice of industry participants offering financial incentives or advantages to certain clients.

11.9 Registrant acquiring a registered firm's securities or assets

Under section 11.9 of NI 31-103,11.9, registrants must give the regulator notice if they propose to purchase securities or assets of a registered firm or the parent of a registered firm. For purposes of this section, a registered firm's book of business would be a substantial part of the assets of the registered firm. This notice gives the regulator an opportunity to consider ownership issues that may affect a firm's fitness for registration.

Subsection 11.9(4) does not apply in British Columbia. However, the regulator in British Columbia may exercise discretion under section 36 or 161 of the BC *Securities Act* (BCSA) to impose conditions, restrictions or requirements on the registrant's registration or to suspend or revoke the registration if it decides that an acquisition would affect the registrant's fitness for registration or be prejudicial to the public interest. In these circumstances, the registrant would be entitled to an opportunity to be heard, except if the regulator issues a temporary order under section 161 of the BCSA.

11.10 Registered firm whose securities are acquired

Under section 11.10 of NI 31-103,11.10, registered firms must notify the regulator if they know or have reason to believe that any individual or firm is about to purchase more than 10% of the voting securities of the firm or the firm's parent. This notice gives the regulator an opportunity to consider ownership issues that may affect a firm's fitness for registration. We expect this notice to be sent as soon as the registered firm knows or has reason to believe such a transaction is going to take place.

We expect any individual or firm that buys assets of a registered firm and is not already a registrant will have to apply for registration. We will assess their fitness for registration when they apply.

Subsection 11.10(5) does not apply in British Columbia. However, the regulator in British Columbia may exercise discretion under section 36 or 161 of the BCSA to impose conditions, restrictions or requirements on the registrant's registration or to suspend or revoke the registration if it decides that an acquisition would affect the registrant's fitness for registration or be prejudicial to the public interest. In these circumstances, the registrant would be entitled to an opportunity to be heard, except if the regulator issues a temporary order under section 161 of the BCSA.

Part 12 Financial condition

Division 1 Working capital

12.1 Capital requirements

Frequency of working capital calculations

April 15, 2011 444 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Section 12.1 of NI 31-103 requires registered firms to notify the regulator as soon as possible if their excess working capital is less than zero.

Registered firms should know their working capital position at all times. This may require a firm to calculate its working capital every day. The frequency of working capital calculations depends on many factors, including the size of the firm, the nature of its business and the stability of the components of its working capital. For example, it may be sufficient for a sole proprietor firm with a dedicated and stable source of working capital to do the calculation on a monthly basis.

Form 31-103F1 - Calculation of excess working capital

Application of NI 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards

Form 31-103F1 — Calculation of Excess Working Capital (Form 31-103F1) must be prepared using the accounting principles used to prepare financial statements in accordance with National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (NI 52-107). Refer to section 12.10 of this Companion Policy and Companion Policy 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (52-107CP) for further guidance on audited financial statements.

IIROC and MFDA member firms that are also registered in another category

IIROC and MFDA member firms that are also registered in a category that does not require SRO membership must still comply with the financial filing requirements in Part 12 [Financial condition], even if they are relying on the exemptions in sections 9.3 and 9.4. Provided certain conditions are met, SRO members that are registered in other categories may be permitted to calculate their working capital in accordance with the SRO forms and file the SRO forms instead of Form 31-103F1.

For example, if the SRO firm is also an investment fund manager, it will need to report any net asset value (NAV) adjustments quarterly in order to comply with the investment fund manager requirements, notwithstanding that its SRO has no such requirements. However, they may be permitted to calculate their working capital in accordance with the SRO forms and file the SRO forms instead of Form 31-103F1. See sections 12.1, 12.12 and 12.14 for the requirements on delivery of working capital calculations for SRO members that are registered in multiple categories.

Working capital requirements are not cumulative

The working capital requirements for registered firms set out in section 12.1 are not cumulative. If a firm is registered in more than one category, it must meet the highest capital requirement of its categories of registration, except for those investment fund managers who are also registered as portfolio managers and meet the requirements of the exemption in section 8.6. These investment fund managers need only meet the lower capital requirement for portfolio managers.

If a registrant becomes insolvent or declares bankruptcy

The regulator will review the circumstances of a registrant's insolvency or bankruptcy on a case-by-case basis. If the regulator has concerns, it may impose terms and conditions on the registrant's registration, such as close supervision and delivering progress reports to the regulator, or it may suspend the registrant's registration.

12.2 Subordination agreements

Long-term related party debt must be deducted from a firm's working capital on Form 31-103F1, unless the firm and the lender have executed a subordination agreement in the form set out in Appendix B of NI 31-103 and delivered a copy of that agreement with the regulator.

Division 2 Insurance

Insurance coverage limits

Registrants must maintain bonding or insurance that provides for a "double aggregate limit" or a "full reinstatement of coverage" (also known as "no aggregate limit"). The insurance provisions state that the registered firm must "maintain" bonding or insurance in the amounts specified. We do not expect that the calculation would differ materially from day to day. If there is a material change in a firm's circumstances, it should consider the potential impact on its ability to meet its insurance requirements.

Most insurers offer aggregate limit policies that contain limits based on a single loss and on the number or value of losses that occur during the coverage period.

April 15, 2011 445 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Double aggregate limit policies have a specified limit for each claim. The total amount that may be claimed during the coverage period is twice that limit. For example, if an adviser maintains a financial institution bond of \$50,000 for each clause with a double aggregate limit, the adviser's coverage is \$50,000 for any one claim and \$100,000 for all claims during the coverage period.

Full reinstatement of coverage policies and no aggregate limit policies have a specified limit for each claim but no limit on the number of claims or losses during the coverage period. For example, if an adviser maintains a financial institution bond of \$50,000 for each clause with a full reinstatement of coverage provision, the adviser's maximum coverage is \$50,000 for any one claim, but there is no limit on the total amount that can be claimed under the bond during the coverage period.

Insurance requirements are not cumulative

Insurance requirements are not cumulative. For example, a firm registered in the categories of portfolio manager and investment fund manager need only maintain insurance coverage for the higher of the amounts required for each registration category. Despite being registered as both a portfolio manager and an investment fund manager, when calculating the investment fund manager insurance requirement under subsection 12.5(2), an investment fund manager should only include the total assets under management of its own investment funds. It is only with respect to its own funds that the registrant is acting as an investment fund manager.

12.4 Insurance – adviser

The insurance requirements for advisers depend in part on whether the adviser holds or has access to client assets.

An adviser will be considered to hold or have access to client assets if they do any of the following:

- hold client securities or cash for any period
- accept funds from clients, for example, a cheque made payable to the registrant
- accept client money from a custodian, for example, client money that is deposited in the registrant's bank or trust
 accounts before the registrant issues a cheque to the client
- have the ability to gain access to client assets
- have, in any capacity, legal ownership of, or access to, client funds or securities
- have the authority, such as under a power of attorney, to withdraw funds or securities from client accounts
- have authority to debit client accounts to pay bills other than investment management fees
- act as a trustee for clients, or
- act as fund manager or general partner for investment funds

12.6 Global bonding or insurance

Registered firms may be covered under a global insurance policy. Under this type of policy, the firm is insured under a parent company's policy that covers the parent and its subsidiaries or affiliates. Firms should ensure that the claims of other entities covered under a global insurance policy do not affect the limits or coverage applicable to the firm.

Division 4 Financial reporting

12.10 Annual financial statements and interim financial information

Accounting Principles

Registrants are required to deliver annual financial statements and interim financial information that comply with National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (NI 52-107). NI 52-107. Depending on the financial year, a registrant will look to different parts of NI 52-107 to determine which accounting principles and auditing standards apply:

Part 3 of NI 52-107 applies for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011;

April 15, 2011 446 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Part 4 of NI 52-107 applies to financial years beginning before January 1, 2011.

Part 3 of NI 52-107 refers to Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises, which is IFRS as incorporated into the Handbook. Under Part 3 of NI 52-107, annual financial statements and interim financial information delivered by a registrant must be prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises except that any investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates must be accounted for as specified for separate financial statements in International Accounting Standard 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Separate financial statements are sometimes referred to as non-consolidated financial statements.

Section 3.2(3) of NI 52-107 requires annual financial statements to include a statement and description about this required financial reporting framework. Section 2.7 of Companion Policy 52-107CP Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (CP 52-107) provides guidance on section 3.2(3). We remind registrants to refer to these provisions in NI 52-107 and CP-52-107CP in preparing their annual financial statements and interim financial information.

Part 4 of NI 52-107 refers to Canadian GAAP for public enterprises, which is Canadian GAAP as it existed before the mandatory effective date for the adoption of IFRS, included in the Handbook as Part V. Under Part 4 of NI 52-107, annual financial statements and interim financial information delivered by a registrant must be prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP for public enterprises except that the financial statements and interim financial information must be prepared on a non-consolidated basis.

Changeover to International Financial Reporting Standards

When preparing annual financial statements, interim financial information or Form 31-103F1 for a financial year beginning in 2011 or for interim periods relating to a financial year beginning in 2011, registrants may rely on the exemption in subsection 12.15(1) and exclude comparative information for the preceding financial year. Section 3.2(4) of NI 52-107 provides a corresponding exemption for the accounting principles used by registrants. If a registrant relies on these exemptions, its date of transition to IFRS will be the first day of its financial year beginning in 2011. Section 2.7 of CP_52-107CP provides further guidance on this topic. We remind registrants to refer to the provisions in NI 52-107 and CP_52-107CP in preparing their financial statements and interim financial information for a financial period beginning in 2011.

12.14 Delivering financial information – investment fund manager

NAV errors and adjustments

Section 12.14 of NI 31-103 requires investment fund managers to periodically deliver to the regulator, among other things, a description of any net asset value (NAV) adjustment. A NAV adjustment is necessary when there has been a material error and the NAV per unit does not accurately reflect the actual NAV per unit at the time of computation.

Some examples of the causes of NAV errors are:

- mispricing of a security
- corporate action recorded incorrectly
- incorrect numbers used for issued and outstanding units
- incorrect expenses and income used or accrued
- incorrect foreign exchange rates used in the valuation, and
- human error, such as inputting an incorrect value

We expect investment fund managers to have policies that clearly define what constitutes a material error that requires an adjustment, including threshold levels, and how to correct material errors. If an investment fund manager does not have a threshold in place, it may wish to consider the threshold in IFIC Bulletin Number 22 <u>Correcting Portfolio NAV Errors</u> or adopt a more stringent policy.

Part 13 Dealing with clients - individuals and firms

Division 1 Know your client and suitability

13.2 Know your client

April 15, 2011 447 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

General principles

Registrants act as gatekeepers of the integrity of the capital markets. They should not, by act or omission, facilitate conduct that brings the market into disrepute. As part of their gatekeeper role, registrants are required to establish the identity of, and conduct due diligence on, their clients under the know your client (KYC) obligation in section 13.2 of NI 31-103.13.2. Complying with the KYC obligation can help ensure that trades are completed in accordance with securities laws.

KYC information forms the basis for determining whether trades in securities are suitable for investors. This helps protect the client, the registrant and the integrity of the capital markets. The KYC obligation requires registrants to take reasonable steps to obtain and periodically update information about their clients.

Verifying a client's reputation

Subsection 13.2(2)(a) requires registrants to make inquiries if they have cause for concern about a client's reputation. The registrant must make all reasonable inquiries necessary to resolve the concern. This includes making a reasonable effort to determine, for example, the nature of the client's business or the identity of beneficial owners where the client is a corporation, partnership or trust. See subsection 13.2(3) for additional guidance on identifying clients that are corporations, partnerships or trusts.

Identifying insiders

Under subsection 13.2(2)(b), a registrant must take reasonable steps to establish whether the client is an insider of a reporting issuer or any other issuer whose securities are publicly traded.

We consider "reasonable steps" to include explaining to the client what an insider is and what it means for securities to be publicly traded.

For purposes of this paragraph, "reporting issuer" has the meaning given to it in securities legislation and "other issuer" means any issuer whose securities are traded in any public market. This includes domestic, foreign, exchange-listed and over-the-counter markets. This definition does not include issuers whose securities have been distributed through a private placement and are not freely tradeable.

A registrant need not ascertain whether the client is an insider if the only securities traded for the client are mutual fund securities and scholarship plan securities referred to in sections 7.1(2)(b) and 7.1(2)(c). However, we encourage firms, when selling highly concentrated pooled funds, to enquire as to whether a client is an insider of the issuer of any securities held by the fund, notwithstanding the exemption provided in subsection 13.2(7). In addition, we remind registrants that they remain subject to the requirement in section 13.2(2)(b) when they trade any other securities than those listed in sections 7.1(2)(b) and 7.1(2)(c).

This exemption does not change an insider's reporting and conduct responsibilities.

Clients that are corporations, partnerships or trusts

Subsection 13.2(3) requires registrants to establish the identity of any person who owns or controls 25% or more of the shares of a client that is a corporation or exercises control over the affairs of a client that is a partnership or trust. We remind registrants that this is in addition to the requirement in subsection 13.2(2)(a) which requires registrants to make inquiries if they have cause for concern about a client's reputation. If a registrant has cause for concern about a particular client that is a corporation, partnership or trust, they may need to identify all beneficial owners of such entity.

Keeping KYC information current

Under subsection 13.2(4), registrants are required to make reasonable efforts to keep their clients' KYC information current.

We consider information to be current if it is sufficiently up-to-date to support a suitability determination. For example, a portfolio manager with discretionary authority should update its clients' KYC information frequently. A dealer that only occasionally recommends trades to a client should ensure that the client's KYC information is up-to-date at the time a proposed trade or recommendation is made.

13.3 Suitability

Suitability obligation

Subsection 13.3(1) of NI 31-103 requires registrants to take reasonable steps to ensure that a proposed trade is suitable for a client before making a recommendation or accepting instructions from the client. To meet this suitability obligation, registrants

April 15, 2011 448 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

should have in-depth knowledge of all <u>products_securities</u> that they buy and sell for, or recommend to, their clients. This is often referred to as the "know your product" or KYP obligation.

Registrants should know each productsecurity well enough to understand and explain to their clients the productsecurity's risks, key features, and initial and ongoing costs and fees. Having the registered firm's approval for representatives to sell a product does not mean that the product will be suitable for all clients. Individual registrants must still determine the suitability of each transaction for every client.

Registrants should also be aware of, and act in compliance with, the terms of any exemption being relied on for the trade or distribution of the productsecurity.

In all cases, we expect registrants to be able to demonstrate a process for making suitability determinations that are appropriate in the circumstances.

Suitability obligations cannot be delegated

Registrants may not:

- delegate their suitability obligations to anyone else, or
- satisfy the suitability obligation by simply disclosing the risks involved with a trade

Only permitted clients may waive their right to a suitability determination. Registrants must make a suitability determination for all other clients. If a client instructs a registrant to make a trade that is unsuitable, the registrant may not allow the trade to be completed until they warn the client as required under subsection 13.3(2).

KYC information for suitability depends on circumstances

The extent of KYC information a registrant needs to determine suitability of a trade will depend on the:

- client's circumstances
- type of security
- client's relationship to the registrant, and
- registrant's business model

In some cases, the registrant will need extensive KYC information, for example, if the registrant is a portfolio manager with discretionary authority. In these cases, the registrant should have a comprehensive understanding of the client's:

- investment needs and objectives, including the client's time horizon for their investments
- overall financial circumstances, including net worth, income, current investment holdings and employment status, and
- risk tolerance for various types of securities and investment portfolios, taking into account the client's investment knowledge

In other cases, the registrant may need less KYC information, for example, if the registrant only occasionally deals with a client who makes small investments relative to their overall financial position.

If the registrant recommends securities traded under the prospectus exemption for accredited investors in NI 45-106, the registrant should determine whether the client qualifies as an accredited investor.

If a client is opening more than one account, the registrant should indicate whether the client's investment objectives and risk tolerance apply to a particular account or to the client's whole portfolio of accounts.

Registered firm and financial institution clients

Under subsection 13.3(3), there is no obligation to make a suitability determination for a client that is a registered firm, a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule III bank.

April 15, 2011 449 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Permitted clients

Under subsection 13.3(4), registrants do not have to make a suitability determination for a permitted client if:

- the permitted client has waived their right to suitability in writing, and
- the registrant does not act as an adviser for a managed account of the permitted client

A permitted client may waive their right to suitability for all trades under a blanket waiver.

SRO exemptions

SRO rules may also provide conditional exemptions from the suitability obligation, for example, for dealers who offer order execution only services.

Division 2 Conflicts of interest

13.4 Identifying and responding to conflicts of interest

Section 13.4 of NI 31-103 covers a broad range of conflicts of interest. It requires registered firms to take reasonable steps to identify existing material conflicts of interest and material conflicts that the firm reasonably expects to arise between the firm and a client. As part of identifying these conflicts, a firm should collect information from the individuals acting on its behalf regarding the conflicts they expect to arise with their clients.

We consider a conflict of interest to be any circumstance where the interests of different parties, such as the interests of a client and those of a registrant, are inconsistent or divergent.

Responding to conflicts of interest

A registered firm's policies and procedures for managing conflicts should allow the firm and its staff to:

- identify conflicts of interest that should be avoided
- determine the level of risk that a conflict of interest raises, and
- respond appropriately to conflicts of interest

When responding to any conflict of interest, registrants should consider their standard of care for dealing with clients and apply consistent criteria to similar types of conflicts of interest.

In general, three methods are used to respond to conflicts of interest:

- avoidance
- control, and
- disclosure

If a registrant allows a serious conflict of interest to continue, there is a high risk of harm to clients or to the market. If the risk of harming a client or the integrity of the markets is too high, the conflict needs to be avoided. If a registered firm does not avoid a conflict of interest, it should take steps to control or disclose the conflict, or both. The firm should also consider what internal structures or policies and procedures it should use or have to reasonably respond to the conflict of interest.

Avoiding conflicts of interest

Registrants must avoid all conflicts of interest that are prohibited by law. If a conflict of interest is not prohibited by law, registrants should avoid the conflict if it is sufficiently contrary to the interests of a client that there can be no other reasonable response.

For example, some conflicts of interest are so contrary to another person's or company's interest that a registrant cannot use controls or disclosure to respond to them. In these cases, the registrant should avoid the conflict, stop providing the service or stop dealing with the client.

April 15, 2011 450 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Controlling conflicts of interest

Registered firms should design their organizational structures, lines of reporting and physical locations to control conflicts of interest effectively. For example, the following situations would likely raise a conflict of interest:

- advisory staff reporting to marketing staff
- compliance or internal audit staff reporting to a business unit, and
- registered representatives and investment banking staff in the same physical location

Depending on the conflict of interest, registered firms may control the conflict by:

- assigning a different representative to provide a service to the particular client
- creating a group or committee to review, develop or approve responses
- monitoring trading activity, or
- using information barriers for certain internal communication

Disclosing conflicts of interest

(a) When disclosure is appropriate

Registered firms should ensure that their clients are adequately informed about any conflicts of interest that may affect the services the firm provides to them. This is in addition to any other methods the registered firm may use to manage the conflict.

(b) Timing of disclosure

Under subsection 13.4(3), if a reasonable investor would expect to be informed of a conflict, a registered firm must disclose the conflict in a timely manner. Registered firms and their representatives should disclose conflicts of interest to their clients before or at the time they recommend the transaction or provide the service that gives rise to the conflict. This is to give clients a reasonable amount of time to assess the conflict.

We note that where this disclosure is provided to a client before the transaction takes place, we expect the disclosure to be provided shortly before the transaction takes place. For example, if it was initially provided with the client's account opening documentation months or years previously we expect that a registered representative would also disclose this conflict to the client shortly before the transaction or at the time the transaction is recommended.

For example, if a registered individual recommends a security that they own, they this may constitute a material conflict which should disclose that be disclosed to the client before or at the time of the recommendation.

(c) When disclosure is not appropriate

Disclosure may not be appropriate if a conflict of interest involves confidential or commercially sensitive information, or the information amounts to "inside information" under insider trading provisions in securities legislation.

In these situations, registered firms will need to assess whether there are other methods to adequately respond to the conflict of interest. If not, the firm may have to decline to provide the service to avoid the conflict of interest.

Registered firms should also have specific procedures for responding to conflicts of interest that involve inside information and for complying with insider trading provisions.

(d) How to disclose a conflict of interest

Registered firms should provide disclosure about material conflicts of interest to their clients if a reasonable investor would expect to be informed about them. When a registered firm provides this disclosure, it should:

- be prominent, specific, clear and meaningful to the client, and
- explain the conflict of interest and how it could affect the service the client is being offered

April 15, 2011 451 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Registered firms should not:

- provide generic disclosure
- give partial disclosure that could mislead their clients, or
- obscure conflicts of interest in overly detailed disclosure

Examples of conflicts of interest

This section describes specific situations where a registrant could be in a conflict of interest and how to manage the conflict.

Relationships with related or connected issuers

When a registered firm trades in, or recommends securities of, a related or connected issuer, it should respond to the resulting conflict of interest by disclosing it to the client.

To provide disclosure about conflicts with related issuers, a registered firm may maintain a list of the related issuers for which it acts as a dealer or adviser. It may make the list available to clients by:

- posting the list on its website and keeping it updated
- providing the list to the client at the time of account opening, or
- explaining to the client at the time of account opening how to contact the firm to request a copy of the list free of charge

The list may include examples of the types of issuers that are related or connected and the nature of the firm's relationship with those issuers. For example, a firm could generally describe the nature of its relationship with an investment fund within a family of investment funds. This would mean that the firm may not have to update the list when a new fund is added to that fund family.

However, this type of disclosure may not meet the expectations of a reasonable investor when a specific conflict with a related or connected issuer arises, for example, when a registered individual recommends a trade in the securities of a related issuer. In these circumstances, a registered firm should provide the client with disclosure about the specific conflict with that issuer. This disclosure should include a description of the nature of the firm's relationship with the issuer.

Like all disclosure, information regarding a conflict with a related or connected issuer should be made available to clients before or at the time of the advice or trade giving rise to the conflict, so that clients have a reasonable amount of time to assess it. Registrants should use their judgment for the best way and time to inform clients about these conflicts. Previous disclosure may no longer be relevant to, or remembered by, a client, while disclosure of the same conflict more than once in a short time may be unnecessary and confusing.

Firms do not have to disclose to clients their relationship with a related or connected issuer that is a mutual fund and managed by an affiliate of the firm if the names of the firm and the fund are similar enough that a reasonable person would conclude they are affiliated.

Relationships with other issuers

Firms should assess whether conflicts of interest may arise in relationships with issuers that do not fall within the definitions of related or connected issuers. Examples include non-corporate issuers such as a trust, partnership or special purpose entity or conduit issuing asset-backed commercial paper. This is especially important if a registered firm or its affiliates are involved in sponsoring, manufacturing, underwriting or distributing these securities.

The registered firm should disclose the relationship with these types of issuers if it may give rise to a conflict of interest that a reasonable client would expect to be informed about.

Competing interests of clients

If clients of a registered firm have competing interests, the firm should make reasonable efforts to be fair to all clients. Firms should have internal systems to evaluate the balance of these interests.

For example, a conflict of interest can arise between investment banking clients, who want the highest price, lowest interest rate or best terms in general for their issuances of securities, and retail clients who will buy the product. The firm should consider whether the product meets the needs of retail clients and is competitive with alternatives available in the market.

April 15, 2011 452 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Individuals who serve on a board of directors

(a) Board of directors of another registered firm

<u>Under section 4.1, a registered individual must not act as a director of another registered firm that is not an affiliate of the individual's sponsoring firm.</u>

(b) Board of directors of non registered persons or companies

Conflicts Section 4.1 does not apply to registered individuals who act as directors of unregistered firms. However, significant conflicts of interest can arise when a registered individuals serve individual serves on a board of directors. Examples include conflicting fiduciary duties owed to the company and to a registered firm or client, possible receipt of inside information and conflicting demands on the representative's time.

Registered firms should consider controlling the conflict by:

- requiring their representatives to seek permission from the firm to serve on the board of directors of an issuer, and
- having policies for board participation that identify the circumstances where the activity would not be in the best interests of the firm or its clients

The regulator will take into account the potential conflicts of interest that may arise when an individual serves on a board of directors when assessing that individual's <u>application for registration or</u> continuing fitness for registration.

Individuals who have outside business activities

Conflicts can arise when registered individuals are involved in outside business activities, for example, because of the compensation they receive for these activities or because of the nature of the relationship between the individual and the outside entity. Before approving any of these activities, registered firms should consider potential conflicts of interest. If the firm cannot properly control a potential conflict of interest, it should not permit the outside activity.

The regulator will take into account the potential conflicts of interest that may arise as a result of an individual's outside business activities when assessing that individual's application for registration or continuing fitness for registration.

Compensation practices

Registered firms should consider whether any particular benefits, compensation or remuneration practices are inconsistent with their obligations to clients, especially if the firm relies heavily on commission-based remuneration. For example, if there is a complex product that carries a high commission, the firm may decide that it is not appropriate to offer that product.

13.5 Restrictions on certain managed account transactions

Section 13.5—of NI 31-103 prohibits a registered adviser from engaging in certain transactions in investment portfolios it manages for clients on a discretionary basis where the relationship may give rise to a conflict of interest or a perceived conflict of interest. The prohibited transactions include trades in securities in which a responsible person or an associate of a responsible person may have an interest or over which they may have influence or control.

Disclosure when responsible person is partner, director or officer of issuer

Subsection 13.5(2)(a) prohibits a registered adviser from purchasing securities of an issuer in which a responsible person or an associate of a responsible person is a partner, officer or director for a client's managed account. The prohibition applies unless the conflict is disclosed to the client and the client's written consent is obtained prior to the purchase.

If the client is an investment fund, the disclosure should be provided to, and the consent obtained from, each security holder of the investment fund in order for it to be meaningful. This disclosure may be provided in the offering memorandum that is provided to security holders. Like all disclosure about conflicts, it should be prominent, specific, clear and meaningful to the client. Consent may be obtained in the investment management agreement signed by the clients of the adviser that are also security holders of the investment fund.

This approach may not be practical for prospectus qualified mutual funds. Investment fund managers and advisers of these funds should also consider the specific exemption from the prohibition under section 6.2 of National Instrument 81-107 Independent Review Committee for Investment Funds (NI 81-107) for prospectus-qualified investment funds.

April 15, 2011 453 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Restrictions on trades with certain investment portfolios

Subsection 13.5(2)(b) prohibits certain trades, including, for example, those between the managed account of a client and the managed account of:

- a spouse of the adviser
- a trust for which a responsible person is the trustee, or
- a corporation in which a responsible person beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting securities

It also prohibits inter-fund trades. An inter-fund trade occurs when the adviser for an investment fund knowingly directs a trade in portfolio securities to another investment fund that it acts for or instructs the dealer to execute the trade with the other investment fund. Investment fund managers and their advisers should also consider the exemption from the prohibition that exists for inter-fund trades by public investment funds under section 6.1 of NI 81-107.

Section 13.5(2)(b) is not intended to prohibit a responsible person from purchasing units in the investment fund itself, nor is it intended to prohibit one investment fund from purchasing units of another fund in situations where they have the same adviser.

In instances where an IIROC dealer, who is also an adviser to a managed account, trades between its inventory account and the managed account, the dealer is expected to have policies and procedures that sufficiently mitigate the conflicts of interest inherent in such transactions. Generally, we expect these policies and procedures to ensure that:

- the trades achieve best execution as referenced in National Instrument 23-101 Trading Rules, while ensuring that the trades are consistent with the objectives of the managed account
- reasonable steps are taken to access information, including marketplace quotations or quotes provided by arms-length parties, to ensure that the trade is executed at a fair price
- there is appropriate oversight and a compliance mechanism to monitor this trading activity in order to ensure that it complies with applicable regulatory requirements, including the requirements referred to above.

13.6 Disclosure when recommending related or connected securities

Section 13.6-of NI-31-103 restricts the ability of a registered firm to recommend a trade in a security of a related or connected issuer. The restrictions apply to recommendations made in any medium of communication. This includes recommendations in newsletters, articles in general circulation newspapers or magazines, websites, e-mail, Internet chat rooms, bulletin boards, television and radio.

It does not apply to oral recommendations made by registered individuals to their clients. These recommendations are subject to the requirements of section 13.4.

Division 3 Referral arrangements

Division 3 sets out the requirements for permitted referral arrangements. Regulators want to ensure that under any referral arrangements:

- individuals and firms that engage in registerable activities are appropriately registered
- the roles and responsibilities of the parties to the written agreement are clear, including responsibility for compliance with securities legislation, and
- clients are provided with disclosure about the referral arrangement to help them evaluate the referral arrangement and the extent of any conflicts of interest

Registered firms have a responsibility to monitor and supervise all of their referral arrangements to ensure that they comply with the requirements of NI 31-103 and other applicable securities laws and continue to comply for so long as the arrangement remains in place.

Obligations to clients

A client who is referred to an individual or firm becomes the client of that individual or firm for the purposes of the services provided under the referral arrangement.

April 15, 2011 454 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

The registrant receiving a referral must meet all of its obligations as a registrant toward its referred clients, including know your client and suitability determinations.

Registrants involved in referral arrangements should manage any related conflicts of interest in accordance with the applicable provisions of Part 13 *Dealing with clients – individuals and firms*. For example, if the registered firm is not satisfied that the referral fee is reasonable, it should assess whether an unreasonably high fee may create a conflict that could motivate its representatives to act contrary to their duties toward their clients.

13.7 Definitions – referral arrangements

Section 13.7-of NI-31-103 defines "referral arrangement" in broad terms. Referral arrangement means an arrangement in which a registrant agrees to pay or receive a referral fee. The definition is not limited to referrals for providing investment products, financial services or services requiring registration. It also includes receiving a referral fee for providing a client name and contact information to an individual or firm. "Referral fee" is also broadly defined. It includes sharing or splitting any commission resulting from the purchase or sale of a security.

In situations where there is no expectation of reward or compensation, we would not consider the receipt of an unexpected gift of appreciation to fall within the scope of a referral arrangement. One of the key elements of the referral arrangement is that the registrant agrees to pay or receive a referral fee for the referral of a client. This agreement or understanding is absent in the case of unexpected gifts.

13.8 Permitted referral arrangements

Under section 13.8 of NI 31-103,13.8, parties to a referral arrangement are required to set out the terms of the arrangement in a written agreement. This is intended to ensure that each party's roles and responsibilities are made clear. This includes obligations for registered firms involved in referral arrangements to keep records of referral fees. Payments do not necessarily have to go through a registered firm, but a record of all payments related to a referral arrangement must be kept.

We expect referral agreements to include:

- the roles and responsibilities of each party
- limitations on any party that is not a registrant (to ensure that it is not engaging in any activities requiring registration)
- the disclosure to be provided to referred clients, and
- who provides the disclosure to referred clients

If the individual or firm receiving the referral is a registrant, they are responsible for:

- carrying out all activity requiring registration that results from the referral arrangement, and
- communicating with referred clients

Registered firms are required to be parties to referral agreements entered into by their representatives. This ensures that they are aware of these arrangements so they can adequately supervise their representatives and monitor compliance with the agreements. This does not preclude the individual registrant from also being a party to the agreement.

A party to a referral arrangement may need to be registered depending on the activities that the party carries out. Registrants cannot use a referral arrangement to assign, contract out of or otherwise avoid their regulatory obligations.

13.9 Verifying the qualifications of the person or company receiving the referral

Section 13.9—of NI 31-103 requires the registrant making a referral to satisfy itself that the party receiving the referral is appropriately qualified to perform the services, and if applicable, is appropriately registered. The registrant is responsible for determining the steps that are appropriate in the particular circumstances. For example, this may include an assessment of the types of clients that the referred services would be appropriate for. This is consistent with the registrant's obligation to act in the best interest of its clients.

13.10 Disclosing referral arrangements to clients

The disclosure of information to clients required under section 13.10-of NI 31-103 is intended to help clients make an informed decision about the referral arrangement and to assess any conflicts of interest. The disclosure should be provided to clients

April 15, 2011 455 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

before or at the time the referred services are provided. Registrants A registered firm, and any registered individuals who are directly participating in the referral arrangement, should take reasonable steps to ensure that clients understand:

- which entity they are dealing with
- what they can expect that entity to provide to them
- the registrant's key responsibilities to them
- the limitations of the registrant's registration category
- any relevant terms and conditions imposed on the registrant's registration
- the extent of the referrer's financial interest in the referral arrangement, and
- the nature of any potential or actual conflict of interest that may arise from the referral arrangement

Division 4 Loans and margin

13.12 Restriction on lending to clients

The purpose of section 13.12 is intended to limit the financial exposure of a registered firm. To the extent that products sold to clients are structured in a way that would result in the registrant becoming a lender to the clients, including the registrant extending margin to the client, we would consider the registrant to not be in compliance with section 13.12.

Section 13.12 prohibits registrants from lending money, extending credit or providing margin to clients as we consider that this activity creates a conflict of interest which cannot be easily managed.

We note that SROs are exempt from section 13.12 as they have their own rules or prohibitions on lending, extending credit and providing margin to clients. Direct lending to clients (margin) is reserved for IIROC members. The MFDA has its own rules prohibiting margining and, except in specific limited circumstances, lending.

Division 5 Complaints

Registered firms in Québec eemply with Division 5 if theymust comply with sections 168.1.1 to 168.1.3 of the Québec Securities Act, which has provided a substantially similar regime since 2002. The guidance in Division 5 of this Companion Policy applies to firms registered in any jurisdiction, including Québec.

13.15 Handling complaints

General duty to document and respond to complaints

Section 13.15—of NI 31-103 requires registered firms to document complaints, and to effectively and fairly respond to them. Registered firms must consider all complaints, not just those relating to possible violations of securities legislation. We are of the view that registered firms should document and respond to all complaints received from a client, a former client or a prospective client who has dealt with the registered firm (complainant).

Firms are reminded that they are required to maintain records which demonstrate compliance with complaint handling requirements under subsection 11.5(2)(m).

Complaint handling policies

An effective complaint system deals should deal with all formal and informal complaints or disputes internally, or refers them to the appropriate external person or process in a timely and fair manner. To achieve the objective of handling complaints fairly, the firm's complaint system should include standards allowing for objective factual investigation and analysis of the matters specific to the complaint.

We take the view that registered firms should take a balanced approach to the gathering of facts that objectively considers the interests of

- the complainant
- the registered representative, and

April 15, 2011 456 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

the firm

Registered firms should not limit their consideration and handling of complaints to those relating to possible violations of securities legislation.

Complaint monitoring

The firm's complaint handling policy should provide for specific procedures for reporting the complaints to superiors, in order to allow the detection of frequent and repetitive complaints made with respect to the same matter which may, on a cumulative basis, indicate a serious problem. Firms should take appropriate measures to deal with such problems as they arise.

Responding to complaints

Types of complaints

All complaints relating to one of the following matters should be responded to by the firm by providing an initial and substantive response, both in writing and within a reasonable time:

- a trading or advising activity
- a breach of client confidentiality
- theft, fraud, misappropriation or forgery
- misrepresentation
- an undisclosed or prohibited conflict of interest, or
- personal financial dealings with a client

Firms may determine that a complaint relating to matters other than the matters listed above is nevertheless of a sufficiently serious nature to be responded to in the manner described below. This determination should be made, in all cases, by considering if an investor, acting reasonably, would expect a written response to their complaint.

When complaints are not made in writing

We would not expect that complaints relating to matters other than those listed above, when made verbally and when not otherwise considered serious based on an investor's reasonable expectation, would need to be responded to in writing. However, we do expect that verbal complaints be given as much attention as written complaints. If a complaint is made verbally and is not clearly expressed, the firm may request the complainant to put the complaint in writing and we expect firms to offer reasonable assistance to do so.

Firms are entitled to expect the complainant to put unclear verbal issues into written format in order to try to resolve confusion about the nature of the issue. If the verbal complaint is clearly frivolous, we do not expect firms to offer assistance to put the complaint in writing. The firm may nonetheless ask the complainant to put the complaint in writing on his or her own.

Timeline for responding to complaints

Firms should

- promptly send an initial written response to a complainant: we consider that an initial response should be provided to the complainant within five business days of receipt of the complaint
- provide a substantive response to all complaints relating to the matters listed under "Types of complaints" above, indicating the firm's decision on the complaint

We encourage firms to resolve complaints relating to the matters listed above within 90 days.

13.16 Dispute resolution service

If a registered firm-receives a complaint about any of its trading or advising activities, it must ensure that the complainant is aware of the dispute resolution or mediation services that are available to them and that the firm will pay for the services.

April 15, 2011 457 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Registered firms should know all applicable mechanisms and processes for dealing with different types of complaints, including those prescribed by the applicable SRO.

Québec registrants

In Québec, registrants must inform each complainant, in writing and without delay, that if the complainant is dissatisfied with how the complaint is handled or with the outcome, they may request the registrant to forward a copy of the complaint file to the Autorité des marchés financiers. The registrant must forward a copy of the complaint file to the Autorité des marchés financiers, which will examine the complaint. The Autorité des marchés financiers may act as a mediator if it considers it appropriate to do so and the parties agree.

Registrants who do business in other sectors

Some registrants are also registered or licensed to do business in other sectors, such as insurance. These registrants should inform their clients of the complaint mechanisms for each sector in which they do business and how to use them.

Part 14 Handling client accounts - firms

Division 2 Disclosure to clients

Registrants should ensure that clients understand who they are dealing with. They should carry on all registerable activities in their full legal or registered trade name. Contracts, confirmation and account statements, among other documents, should contain the registrant's full legal name.

14.2 Relationship disclosure information

Content of relationship disclosure information

There is no prescribed form for the relationship disclosure information required under section 44.2 of NI 31-103.14.2. A registered firm may provide this information in a single document or in separate documents, which together give the client the prescribed information.

Disclosure of costs

Under subsection 14.2(2)(g), registered firms must provide clients with a description of the costs they will pay in making, holding and selling investments. We expect this description to include all costs a client may pay during the course of holding a particular investment. For example, for a mutual fund, the description should briefly explain each of the following and how they may affect the investment:

- the management expense ratio
- · the sales charge options available to the client
- · the trailing commission
- · any short-term trading fees
- any switch or change fees

Permitted clients

Under subsection 14.2(6), registrants do not have to provide relationship disclosure information to permitted clients if:

- the permitted client has waived the requirements in writing, and
- the registrant does not act as an adviser for a managed account of the permitted client

Promoting client participation

Registered firms should help their clients understand the registrant-client relationship. They should encourage clients to actively participate in the relationship and provide them with clear, relevant and timely information and communications.

In particular, registered firms should encourage clients to:

April 15, 2011 458 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- Keep the firm up to date. Clients should provide full and accurate information to the firm and the registered individuals
 acting for the firm. Clients should promptly inform the firm of any change to information that could reasonably result in a
 change to the types of investments appropriate for them, such as a change to their income, investment objectives, risk
 tolerance, time horizon or net worth.
- Be informed. Clients should understand the potential risks and returns on investments. They should carefully review sales literature provided by the firm. Where appropriate, clients should consult professionals, such as a lawyer or an accountant, for legal or tax advice.
- Ask questions. Clients should ask questions and request information from the firm to resolve questions about their
 account, transactions or investments, or their relationship with the firm or a registered individual acting for the firm.
- Stay on top of their investments. Clients should pay for securities purchases by the settlement date. They should review all account documentation provided by the firm and regularly review portfolio holdings and performance.

14.4 When the firm has a relationship with a financial institution

As part of their duty to clients, registrants who have a relationship with a financial institution should ensure that their clients understand which legal entity they are dealing with. In particular, clients may be confused if more than one financial services firm is carrying on business in the same location. Registrants may differentiate themselves through various methods, including signage and disclosure.

Division 3 Client assets

14.6 Holding client assets in trust

Section 14.6-of NI-31-103 requires a registered firm to segregate client assets and hold them in trust. We consider it prudent for registrants who are not members of an SRO to hold client assets in client name only. This is because the capital requirements for non-SRO members are not designed to reflect the added risk of holding client assets in nominee name.

Division 4 Client accounts

14.10 Allocating investment opportunities fairly

If the adviser allocates investment opportunities among its clients, the firm's fairness policy should, at a minimum, indicate the method used to allocate the following:

- price and commission among client orders when trades are bunched or blocked
- block trades and initial public offerings among client accounts
- block trades and initial public offerings among client orders that are partially filled, such as on a pro-rata basis

The fairness policy should also address any other situation where investment opportunities must be allocated.

Division 5 Account activity reporting

Each trade should be reported in the currency in which it was executed. If a trade is executed in a foreign currency through a Canadian account, the exchange rate should be reported to the client.

14.12 Content and delivery of trade confirmation

Section 14.12 requires registered dealers to deliver trade confirmations. A dealer may enter into an outsourcing arrangement for the sending of trade confirmations to its clients. Like all outsourcing arrangements, the registrant is ultimately responsible for the function and must supervise the service provider. See Part 11 of this Companion Policy for more guidance on outsourcing.

14.14 ClientAccount statements

Section 14.14 of NI 31-103 requires registered dealers and advisers to deliver statements to clients at least once every three months. There is no prescribed form for these statements but they must contain the information in subsections 14.14(4) and (5). The types of transactions that must be disclosed in an account statement include any purchase, sale or transfer of securities, dividend or interest payment received or reinvested, any fee or charge, and any other account activity.

April 15, 2011 459 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

We expect all dealers and advisers to provide client <u>account</u> statements. For example, an exempt market dealer should provide a<u>an account</u> statement that contains the information prescribed for all transactions the exempt market dealer has entered into or arranged on a client's behalf.

The requirement to produce and deliver an account statement may be outsourced. Portfolio managers frequently enter into outsourcing arrangements for the production and delivery of account statements. Third-party pricing providers may also be used to value securities for the purpose of account statements. Like all outsourcing arrangements, the registrant is ultimately responsible for the function and must supervise the service provider. See Part 11 of this Companion Policy for more guidance on outsourcing.

April 15, 2011 460 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Appendix A Contact information

Jurisdiction	E-mail	Fax	Address
Alberta	registration@asc.ca	(403) 297-4113	Alberta Securities Commission,
			4th Floor, 300 - 5th Avenue S.W.Suite 600, 250-5th
			St. SW
			Calgary, AB T2P 3C 0R4
			Attention: Registration
British	registration@bcsc.bc.ca	(604) 899-6506	British Columbia Securities Commission
Columbia			P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre
			701 West Georgia Street
			Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2
Manitoba	registrationmsc@gov.mb.ca	(204) 945-0330	Attention: Registration
Mariiloba	registrationinsc@gov.mb.ca	(204) 945-0550	The Manitoba Securities Commission
			500-400 St. Mary Avenue
			Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5
New	nrs@nbsc-cvmnb.ca	(506) 658-3059	Attention: Registrations
Brunswick	nis@nbsc-cviiiib.ca	(300) 030-3039	New Brunswick Securities Commission
Branowion			Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street
			Saint John, NB E2L 2J2
Newfoundlan	scon@gov.nl.ca	(709) 729-6187	Attention: Registration Officer
d & Labrador	<u>scon@gov.m.ca</u>	(103) 123-0101	Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services
			Government of Newfoundland and Labrador
			P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block
			Confederation Building
			St. John's, NL A1B 4J6 Attention: Registration Section
Northwest	SecuritiesRegistry@gov.nt.ca	(867) 873-0243	Government of the Northwest Territories
Territories	<u> </u>	(007) 070 0210	P.O. Box 1320
			Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9
			Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities
Nova Scotia	nrs@gov.ns.ca	(902) 424-4625	Nova Scotia Securities Commission
			2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building
			1690 Hollis Street
			P.O. Box 458
			Halifax, NS B3J 2P8
			Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets
Nunavut	CorporateRegistrations@gov.nu.ca	(867) 975-6590	Legal Registries Division
		(Faxing to NU is unreliable. The preferred method is e-mail.)	Department of Justice
			Government of Nunavut
			P.O. Box 1000 Station 570
			Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0
			Attention: Deputy Registrar
Ontario	registration@osc.gov.on.ca	(416) 593-8283	Ontario Securities Commission
			Suite 1903, Box 55
			20 Queen Street West
			Toronto, ON M5H 3S8
			Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation
Prince	ccis@gov.pe.ca	(902) 368-6288	Consumer and Corporate Services Division,
Edward			Office of the Attorney General
Island			P.O. Box 2000, 95 Rochford Street
			Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8
			Attention: Superintendent of Securities

April 15, 2011 461 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Jurisdiction	E-mail	Fax	Address
Québec	inscription@lautorite.qc.ca	(514) 873-3090	Autorité des marchés financiers
			Service de l'encadrement des intermédiaires
			800 square Victoria, 22e étage
			C.P 246, Tour de la Bourse
			Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3
Saskatchew	registrationsfsc@gov.sk.ca	(306) 787-5899	Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission
an			Suite 601
			1919 Saskatchewan Drive
			Regina, SK S4P 4H2
			Attention: Registration
Yukon	corporateaffairs@gov.yk.ca	(867) 393-6251	Department of Community Services Yukon
			Yukon Securities Office
			P.O. Box 2703 C-6
			Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6
			Attention: Superintendent of Securities

April 15, 2011 462 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Appendix B Terms not defined in NI 31-103 or this Companion Policy

Terms defined in National Instrument 14-101 Definitions:

- adviser registration requirement
- Canadian securities regulatory authority
- dealer registration requirement
- foreign jurisdiction
- jurisdiction or jurisdiction of Canada
- local jurisdiction
- investment fund manager registration requirement
- prospectus requirement
- registration requirement
- regulator
- securities directions
- securities legislation
- securities regulatory authority
- SRO
- underwriter registration requirement

Terms defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions:

- accredited investor
- eligibility adviser
- financial assets

Terms defined in National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds:

money market fund

Terms defined in the Securities Act of most jurisdictions:

- adviser
- associate
- company
- control person
- dealer
- director
- distribution
- exchange contract (BC, AB, SK and NB only)
- insider
- individual
- investment fund
- investment fund manager
- issuer
- mutual fund
- officer
- person
- promoter
- records
- registrant
- reporting issuer
- security
- trade
- underwriter

April 15, 2011 463 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Appendix C Proficiency requirements for individuals acting on behalf of a registered firm

The tables in this Appendix set out the education and experience requirements, by firm registration category, for individuals who are applying for registration under securities legislation.

An individual must not perform an activity that requires registration unless the individual has the education, <u>training and experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently, including, in the case of registered representatives, understanding the structure, features and risks of each security the individual recommends.</u>

<u>CCOs must also not perform an activity set out in section 5.2 unless they have the education,</u> training and experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently.

Acronyms used in the tables

BMP-	Branch Manager Proficiency Exam CSC Canadian Securities Course Exam
CA	Chartered Accountant EMP Exempt Market Products Exam
cco-	Chief Compliance Officer IFIC Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam
CFA	CFA Charter MFDC Mutual Funds Dealer Compliance Exam
CGA-	Certified General Accountant PDO Officers', Partners' and Directors' Exam/Partners, Directors
CMA-	Certified Management Accountant and Senior Officers Course Exam
CIF	Canadian Investment Funds Exam SRP Sales Representative Proficiency Exam
CIM-	Canadian Investment Manager designation

CIM Canadian Investment Manager designation	
BMP: Branch Manager Proficiency Exam	CIM: Canadian Investment Manager designation
CA: Chartered Accountant	CSC: Canadian Securities Course Exam
CCO: Chief Compliance Officer	EMP: Exempt Market Products Exam
CCOQ: Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam	IFIC: Investment Funds in Canada Course
CFA: CFA Charter	MFDC: Mutual Funds Dealer Compliance Exam
CGA: Certified General Accountant Exam/Partners, Directors	PDO: Officers', Partners' and Directors' and Senior Officers Course Exam
CMA: Certified Management Accountant	SRP: Sales Representative Proficiency Exam
CIF: Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam	

Investment dealer				
Dealing representative	ссо			
Proficiency requirements set by IIROC	Proficiency requirements set by IIROC			
Mutual fund dealer				
Dealing representative	ссо			
One of these four <u>five</u> options:	One of these two options:			
CIF CSC IFIC CFA Charter and 12 months of relevant securities industries experience in the 36-months before applying	CIF, CSC or IFIC; and PDO-er, MFDC or CCOQ CCO requirements – portfolio manager or exempt from these under section 16.9(2)			

April 15, 2011 464 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

 for registration 4. Advising representative requirements – portfolio manager or exempt from these under section 16.10(1) 			
Exempt m	arket dealer		
Dealing representative	ссо		
One of these three four options:	One of these threetwo options:		
CSC EMP CFA Charter and 12 months of relevant securities industries experience in the 36-months before applying for registration 3- Advising representative requirements – portfolio manager or exempt from these under section 16.10(1)	PDO or CCOQ and EMP or CSC PDO and EMP 3. CCO requirements – portfolio manager or exempt from these under section 16.9(2)		
Scholarshi	p plan dealer		
Dealing representative	ссо		
SRP	SRP, BMP _± and PDO <u>or CCOQ</u>		
Restricted dealer			
Dealing representative	ссо		
Regulator to determine on a case-by-case basis	Regulator to determine on a case-by-case basis		

Portfolio manager				
Advising representative	Associate advising representative	ссо		
One of these two options:	One of these two options:	One of these three options:		
 CFA and 12 months of relevant investment management experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration CIM and 48 months of relevant investment management experience (12 months gained in the 36-month period forbefore applying for registration) 	Level 1 of the CFA and 24 months of relevant investment management experience CIM and 24 months of relevant investment management experience	1. CSC, PDO except if the individual has the CFA or CIM designation. PDO or CCOQ, and CFA or a professional designation as a lawyer, CA, CGA, CMA, notary in Quebec or the equivalent in a foreign jurisdiction, and: 36 months of relevant securities experience working at an investment dealer, registered adviser or investment fund manager, or 36 months providing professional services into the securities industry and 12 months working at a registered dealer, registered adviser or investment fund manager, for a total of 48 months 2. CSC, PDO except if the individual has the CFA or CIM designation. PDO or CCOQ and five years		

April 15, 2011 465 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

One of these three options:

- 1. CSC, PDO except if the individual has the CFA or CIM designation, PDO or CCOQ, and CFA or a professional designation as a lawyer, CA, CGA, CMA, notary in Quebec or the equivalent in a foreign jurisdiction, and:
 - 36 months of relevant securities experience working at a registered dealer, registered adviser or investment fund manager, or
 - 36 months providing professional services in the securities industry and 12 months working in a relevant capacity at an investment fund manager, for a total of 48 months
- 2. CIF, CSC or IFIC; PDO<u>or CCOQ</u> and five years of relevant securities experience working at a registered dealer, registered adviser or an investment fund manager (including 36 months in a compliance capacity)
- 3. CCO requirements for portfolio manager or exempt from these requirements under section 16.9(2)

April 15, 2011 466 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 33-109 REGISTRATION INFORMATION (BLACKLINED TO CURRENT LAW)

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 33-109 REGISTRATION INFORMATION

PART 1 – DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions – In this Instrument

"cessation date" means the first day on which an individual ceased to have authority to act as a registered individual on behalf of their sponsoring firm or ceased to be a permitted individual of their sponsoring firm, because of the end of, or a change in, the individual's employment, partnership, or agency relationship with the firm;

"firm" means a person or company that is registered, or is seeking registration, as a dealer, adviser or investment fund manager;

"Form 33-109F1" means Form 33-109F1 Notice of Termination of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals;

"Form 33-109F2" means Form 33-109F2 Change or Surrender of Individual Categories;

"Form 33-109F3" means Form 33-109F3 Business Locations other than Head Office:

"Form 33-109F4" means Form 33-109F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals;

"Form 33-109F5" means Form 33-109F5 Change of Registration Information;

"Form 33-109F6" means Form 33-109F6 Firm Registration;

"Form 33-109F7" means Form 33-109F7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals;

"former sponsoring firm" means the registered firm for which an individual most recently acted as a registered individual or permitted individual;

"NI 31-102" means National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database;

"NI 31-103" means National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements and Exemptions;

"NRD submission number" means the unique number generated by NRD to identify each NRD submission;

"permitted individual" means an individual who is not a registered individual and who is

- (a) a director, chief executive officer, chief financial officer, or chief operating officer of a firm, or who performs the functional equivalent of any of those positions, andor
- (b) an individual who has beneficial ownership of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, 10 percent or more of the voting securities of a firm;

"principal jurisdiction" means,

- (a) for a firm, whose head office is in Canada, the jurisdiction of Canada in which the firm's head office is located,
- (b) for an individual whose working office is in Canada, the jurisdiction of Canada in which the individual's working office is located,
- (c) for a firm whose head office is outside Canada, the jurisdiction of the firm's principal regulator, as identified by the firm on its most recently submitted Form 33-109F5 or Form 33-109F6, and
- (d) for an individual whose working office is outside Canada, the principal jurisdiction of the individual's sponsoring firm;

April 15, 2011 467 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

"principal regulator" means, for a person or company, the securities regulatory authority or regulator of the person or company's principal jurisdiction;

"registered firm" means a registered dealer, registered adviser or registered investment fund manager;

"registered individual" means an individual who is registered under securities legislation to do any of the following on behalf of a registered firm:

- (a) act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser;
- (b) act as a chief compliance officer;
- (c) act as an ultimate designated person;

"sponsoring firm" means,

- (a) for a registered individual, the registered firm on whose behalf the individual acts,
- (b) for an individual applying for registration, the firm on whose behalf the individual will act if the individual's application is approved,
- (c) for a permitted individual of a registered firm, the registered firm, and
- (d) for a permitted individual of a firm that is applying for registration, the applicant firm.
- 1.2 Interpretation Terms used in this Instrument and that are defined in NINational Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database have the same meanings as in NI 31-102. National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.

PART 2 – APPLICATION FOR REGISTRATION AND REVIEW OF PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS

- **2.1 Firm Registration** A firm that applies for registration as a dealer, adviser or investment fund manager must submit each of the following to the regulator:
 - (a) a completed Form 33-109F6;
 - (b) for each business location of the applicant in the local jurisdiction other than the applicant's head office, a completed Form 33-109F3 in accordance with NI 31-102-National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.

2.2 Individual Registration

- (1) Subject to subsection (2) and sections 2.4 and 2.6, an individual who applies for registration under securities legislation must submit a completed Form 33-109F4 to the regulator in accordance with NI 31-102. National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.
- (2) A permitted individual of a registered firm who applies to become a registered individual with the firm must submit a completed Form 33-109F2 to the regulator in accordance with NI-31-102. National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.

2.3 Reinstatement

- (1) An individual who applies for reinstatement of registration under securities legislation must submit a completed Form 33-109F4 to the regulator in accordance with NI-31-102, National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database, unless the individual submits a completed Form 33-109F7 in accordance with subsection (2).
- (2) The registration of an individual suspended under section 6.1 [If an individual ceases to have authority to act for firm] of NI 31-103National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations is reinstated on the date the individual submits a completed Form 33-109F7 to the regulator in accordance with NINational Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database if all of the following apply:

April 15, 2011 468 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (a) the Form 33-109F7 is submitted on or before the 90th day after the cessation date;
- (b) the individual's employment, partnership or agency relationship with the former sponsoring firm did not end because the individual was asked by the firm to resign, <u>resigned voluntarily</u> or was dismissed, following an allegation against the individual of any of the following:
 - (i) criminal activity;
 - (ii) a breach of securities legislation;
 - (iii) a breach of a rule of an SRO;
- (c) after the cessation date there have been no changes to the information previously submitted in respect of any of the following items of the individual's Form 33-109F4:
 - (i) item 13 [Regulatory disclosure];
 - (ii) item 14 [Criminal disclosure];
 - (iii) item 15 [Civil disclosure];
 - (iv) item 16 [Financial disclosure];
- (d) the individual is seeking reinstatement with a sponsoring firm in the same category of registration in which the individual was registered on the cessation date;
- (e) the new sponsoring firm is registered in the same category of registration in which the individual's former sponsoring firm was registered.
- **2.4 Application to Change or Surrender Individual Registration Categories** A registered individual who applies for registration in an additional category, or to surrender a registration category, must make the application by submitting a completed Form 33-109F2 to the regulator in accordance with NI 31-102. National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.

2.5 Permitted Individuals

- (1) A permitted individual must submit a completed Form 33-109F4 to the regulator, in accordance with NI-31-102, National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database, no more than 710 days after becoming a permitted individual, unless the individual submits a Form 33-109F7 in accordance with subsection (2).
- (2) An individual who has ceased to be a permitted individual of a former sponsoring <u>firm</u> and becomes a permitted individual of a new sponsoring firm may submit a completed Form 33-109F7 to the regulator if all of the following apply:
 - (a) the Form 33-109F7 is submitted in accordance with NHNational Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database
 - (i) no more than 710 days after becoming a permitted individual of the new sponsoring firm, and
 - (ii) no more than 90 days after the cessation date;
 - (b) the individual holds the same permitted individual status with the new sponsoring firm that they held with the former sponsoring firm;
 - (c) the conditions described in paragraphs (b) and (c) of subsection 2.3(2) are met.

2.6 Commodity Futures Act Registrants

(1) In Manitoba and Ontario, despite subsection 2.1(b), if a firm applies for registration under section 2.1 and is registered under the *Commodity Futures Act*, the applicant is not required to submit a completed Form 33-109F3 under section 3.2 for any business location of the applicant that is recorded on NRD.

April 15, 2011 469 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(2) In Manitoba and Ontario, despite subsection 2.2(1), if an individual applies for registration under securities legislation and is recorded on NRD with his or her sponsoring firm as registered under the *Commodity Futures Act*, the individual must make the application by submitting a completed Form 33-109F2 to the regulator in accordance with NI 31-102-National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.

PART 3 - CHANGES TO REGISTERED FIRM INFORMATION

3.1 Notice of Change to a Firm's Information

- (1) Subject to subsections (3) or (4), a registered firm must notify the regulator of a change to any information previously submitted in Form 33-109F6 or under this subsection, as follows:
 - (a) for a change previously submitted in relation to part 3 of Form 33-109F6, within 30 days of the change:
 - (b) for a change previously submitted in relation to any other part of Form 33-109F6, within 7<u>10</u> days of the change.
- (2) A notice of change referred to in subsection (1) must be made by submitting a completed Form 33-109F5.
- (3) A notice of change is not required under subsection (1) if the change relates to any of the following:
 - (a) a business location other than the head office of the firm if the firm submits a completed Form 33-109F3 under section 3.2:
 - (b) a termination, or a change, of a registered firm's employment, partnership or agency relationship with an officer, partner or director of the registered firm if the firm submits a completed Form 33-109F1 under subsection 4.2(1);
 - (c) the addition of an officer, partner, or director to the registered firm if that individual submits either of the following:
 - (i) a completed Form 33-109F4 under subsection 2.2(1) or 2.5(1);
 - (ii) a completed Form 33-109F7 under subsection 2.3(2) or 2.5(2);
 - (d) the information in the supporting documents referred to in any of the following items of Form 33-109F6:
 - (i) item 3.3 [Business documents];
 - (ii) item 5.1 [Calculation of excess working capital];
 - (iii) item 5.7 [Directors' resolution for insurance];
 - (iv) item 5.13 [Audited financial statements];
 - (v) item 5.14 [Letter of direction to auditors].
- (4) A person or company that submitted a completed Schedule B [Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service] to Form 33-109F6 must notify the regulator of a change to the information previously submitted in item 3 [Name of agent for service of process] or item 4 [Address for service of process on the agent for service] of that schedule, by submitting a completed Schedule B no more than 710 days after the change;
- (5) Subsection (4) does not apply to a person or company after they have ceased to be registered for a period of 6 years or more.
- (6) For the purpose of subsections (2) and (4), the person or company may give the notice by submitting it to the principal regulator.
- **3.2** Changes to Business Locations A registered firm must notify the regulator of the opening of a business location, other than a new head office, or of a change to any information previously submitted in Form 33-109F3, by submitting a

April 15, 2011 470 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

completed Form 33-109F3 to the regulator in accordance with NI 31-102, National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database, within 710 days of the opening of the business location or change.

PART 4 - CHANGES TO REGISTERED INDIVIDUAL AND PERMITTED INDIVIDUAL INFORMATION

4.1 Notice of Change to an Individual's Information

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), a registered individual or permitted individual must notify the regulator of a change to any information previously submitted in respect of the individual's Form 33-109F4 as follows:
 - (a) for a change of information previously submitted in items 4 [Citizenship] and 11 [Previous employment] of Form 33-109F4, within 30 days of the change;
 - (b) for a change of information previously submitted in any other items of Form 33-109F4, within 7<u>10</u> days of the change.
- (2) A notice of change is not required under subsection (1) if the change relates to information previously submitted in item 3 [*Personal information*] of Form 33-109F4.
- (3) A notice of change under subsection (1) must be made by submitting a completed Form 33-109F5 to the regulator in accordance with NI-31-102. National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database.
- (4) Despite subsection (3), a notice of change referred to in subsection (1) must be made by submitting a completed Form 33-109F2 to the regulator in accordance with NI-31-102, National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database, if the change relates to:
 - (a) an individual's status as a permitted individual of the sponsoring firm;
 - (b) a registered individual's status as an officer, partner, director or shareholder of the sponsoring firm.

 the removal or the addition of a category of registration;
 - (c) the surrender of registration in one or more non-principal jurisdictions.

4.2 Termination of Employment, Partnership or Agency Relationship

- (1) A registered firm must notify the regulator of the end of, or a change in, a sponsored individual's employment, partnership, or agency relationship with the firm if the individual ceases to have authority to act on behalf of the firm as a registered individual or permitted individual by submitting a Form 33-109F1 to the regulator in accordance with NINational Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database with
 - (a) items 1 through 4 completed, and
 - (b) item 5 completed unless the reason for termination under item 4 was death or retirement of the individual or the completion or expiry of an employment or agency contract.
- (2) A registered firm must submit to the regulator the information required under
 - (a) subsection (1)(a), within $7\underline{10}$ days of the cessation date, and
 - (b) subsection (1)(b), within 30 days of the cessation date.
- (3) A person or companyregistered firm must, within 710 days of a request from an individual for whom the person or companyregistered firm was the former sponsoring firm, provide to the individual a copy of the Form 33-109F1 that the person or companyregistered firm submitted under subsection (1) in respect of that individual.
- (4) If a person or companyregistered firm completed and submitted the information in item 5 of a Form 33-109F1 in respect of an individual who made a request under subsection (3) and that information was not included in the initial copy provided to the individual, the person or companyregistered firm must provide to that individual a further copy of the completed Form 33-109F1, including the information in item 5, within the later of
 - (a) $7\underline{10}$ days after the request by the individual under subsection (3), and

April 15, 2011 471 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(b) 710 days after the submission pursuant to subsection (2)(b).

PART 5 - DUE DILIGENCE AND RECORD-KEEPING

5.1 Sponsoring Firm Obligations

- (1) A <u>sponsoring_firm</u> must make reasonable efforts to ensure the truth and completeness of information that is submitted in accordance with this Instrument for any individual.
- (2) A sponsoring firm must obtain from each individual who is registered to act on behalf of the firm, or who is a permitted individual of the firm, a copy of the Form 33-109F1 most recently submitted by the individual's former sponsoring firm in respect of that individual, if any, within 60 days of the firm becoming the individual's sponsoring firm.
- (3) A sponsoring firm must retain all documents used by the firm to satisfy its obligation under subsection (1) as follows:
 - (a) in the case of a registered individual, for no less than 7 years after the individual ceases to be registered to act on behalf of the firm;
 - (b) in the case of an individual who applied for registration but whose registration was refused by the regulator, for no less than 7 years after the individual applied for registration; or
 - (c) in the case of a permitted individual, for no less than 7 years after the individual ceases to be a permitted individual with the firm.
- (4) Without limiting subsection (3), if a registered individual, an individual applying for registration, or a permitted individual appoints an agent for service, the sponsoring firm must keep the original Appointment of Agent for Service executed by the individual for the period of time set out in paragraph (3)(b).
- (5) A sponsoring firm that retains a document under subsection (3) or (4) in respect of an NRD submission must record the NRD submission number on the first page of the document.

PART 6 - TRANSITION

All Registered Firms to File Form 33-109F6 – September 30, 2010 – A registered firm that was registered before September 28, 2009 must submit a completed Form 33-109F6 to the regulator on or before September 30, 2010.

6.2 Notice of Change for Firms Registered before September 28, 2009

- (1) In this section, "Form 3" means the form that a firm submitted before this instrument Instrument came into force to apply for registration as a dealer, adviser or underwriter in the jurisdiction that, at the time the application was made, would have been the firm's principal jurisdiction under this Instrument.
- (2) Subject to subsection (5), a registered firm that was first registered in a jurisdiction of Canada before this instrument came into force and that has not submitted a completed Form 33-109F6 to the regulator, must notify the regulator of a change to any information previously submitted
 - in a notice of agent and address for service, by submitting to the regulator a completed Schedule B to Form 33-109F6, no more than 7<u>10</u> days after the change;
 - (b) in Form 3 or in any notice of change to information in that form submitted to the regulator, as follows:
 - (i) for a change of information equivalent to the information referred to in part 3 of Form 33-109F6, within 30 days of the change;
 - (ii) for a change of information equivalent to the information referred to in any other part of Form 33-109F6, within 710 days of the change.
- (3) A registered firm referred to in subsection (2) must notify the regulator of a change in its auditor or financial year-end within 710 days of the change.

April 15, 2011 472 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (4) For the purpose of subsections (2) and (3) the firm may give the notice by submitting it to the principal regulator.
- (5) A notice of change is not required under subsection (2) if the change relates to any of the following:
 - (a) the addition of an officer, partner, or director to the registered firm if that individual
 - (i) submits a completed Form 33-109F4 under subsection 2.2(1) or 2.5(1), or
 - (ii) submits a completed Form 33-109F7 under subsection 2.3(2) or 2.5(2);
 - (b) a termination, or a change, of a registered firm's employment, partnership or agency relationship with an officer, partner or director of the registered firm if the firm submits a completed Form 33-109F1 under subsection 4.2(1);
 - (c) a business location other than the head office of the firm if the firm submits a completed Form 33-109F3 under section 3.2;
 - (d) information equivalent to the information referred to in section 3.1(3)(d).

6.3 National Registration Database Transition Period

- (1) In this section, "NRD access date" means the first day following September 25, 2009 that an NRD filer has access to NRD to make NRD submissions.
- (2) A notice submitted by an NRD filer before September 25, 2009, and not accepted or denied by the regulator by that date, must be resubmitted, as if the time required for the submission had fallen within the period commencing on September 25, 2009 and ending on the day before the NRD access date, in accordance with subsections (3), (4) and (6) as applicable.
- (3) Except in the case of a notice referred to in subsection (4), if the time required for making either of the following submissions falls within the period commencing on September 25, 2009 and ending on the day before the NRD access date, the time for making the submission is extended to the 45th day following the NRD access date:
 - (a) a notice that is required to be submitted in NRD format;
 - (b) a Form 33-109F4 that is required to be submitted under subsection 2.5(1).
- (4) If the time required for making either of the following submissions falls within the period commencing on September 25, 2009 and ending on the day before the NRD access date, the submission must be made other than through the NRD website:
 - (a) a notice referred to in subsection 4.1(1) if the change relates to previously submitted information about any of the following items of the individual's Form 33-109F4:
 - (i) item 14 [Criminal disclosure];
 - (ii) item 15 [Civil disclosure];
 - (iii) item 16 [Financial disclosure];
 - (b) a notice of termination referred to in subsection 4.2(1) from a former sponsoring firm, within the time required under subsection 4.2(2), if the individual's employment, partnership or agency relationship with the firm ended because the individual resigned or was dismissed for cause.
- (5) From September 28, 2009 to the day before the NRD access date, an individual may submit any of the following to the regulator other than through the NRD website:
 - (a) Form 33-109F7;
 - (b) Form 33-109F2;

April 15, 2011 473 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (c) Form 33-109F4 other than under subsection 2.5(1).
- (6) If an NRD filer makes a submission other than through the NRD website under subsection (4) or (5), the NRD filer must resubmit the information in NRD format to the regulator as follows:
 - (a) for a Form 33-109F7 submitted under paragraph (5)(a),
 - (i) if the cessation date was on or after September 28, 2009, by submitting a completed Form 33-109F7 no later than 30 days after the NRD access date;
 - (ii) if the cessation date was before September 28, 2009, by submitting a completed Form 33-109F4 no later than 30 days after the NRD access date:
 - (b) for any other submission no later than 30 days after the NRD access date.

6.4 Transition – Reinstatement under Subsections 2.3(2) and 2.5(2)

- (1) Despite subsection 2.3(2), from the NRD access date to December 28, 2009 an individual who seeks reinstatement of registration under subsection 2.3(2) must submit a completed Form 33-109F4 to the regulator in accordance with NI 31-102, National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database, if the cessation date occurred before September 28, 2009.
- (2) For greater certainty, the registration of an individual who makes a submission under subsection (1) is reinstated in accordance with subsection 2.3(2) only if all of the conditions in paragraphs (a) through (e) of subsection 2.3(2) are met.
- (3) Subsection 2.5(2) does not apply to a permitted individual whose cessation date occurred before September 28, 2009.

PART 7 - EXEMPTION

7.1 Exemption

- (1) The regulator or the securities regulatory authority may grant an exemption from this Instrument, in whole or in part, subject to such conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the exemption.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), in Ontario, only the regulator may grant such an exemption.
- (3) Except in Ontario, an exemption referred to in subsection (1) is granted under the statute referred to in Appendix B of National Instrument 14-101 *Definitions*, opposite the name of the local jurisdiction.

PART 8 – REPEAL AND EFFECTIVE DATE

- **8.1** Repeal National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information, which came into force on February 14, 2003, is repealed.
- **8.2 Effective Date** This Instrument comes into force on the day National Instrument 31-103 *Registration Requirements and Exemptions* comes into force.

April 15, 2011 474 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 33-109F1 NOTICE OF TERMINATION OF REGISTERED INDIVIDUALS AND PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS (section 4.2) (BLACKLINED TO CURRENT LAW)

FORM 33-109F1
NOTICE OF TERMINATION OF REGISTERED INDIVIDUALS
AND PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS
(section 4.2)

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Complete and submit this form to notify the relevant regulator(s) or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, or self-regulatory organization (SRO) that a registered individual or permitted personindividual has left their sponsoring firm or has ceased to act in a registerable capacity or as a permitted individual.

Terms

In this form, "cessation date" (or "effective date of termination") means the first day on which an individual ceased to have authority to act as a registered individual on behalf of their sponsoring firm or ceased to be a permitted individual of their sponsoring firm, because of the end of, or a change in, the individual's employment, partnership, or agency relationship with the firm.

How to submit the form

Submit this form at the National Registration Database (NRD) website in NRD format at www.nrd.ca.

If you are relying on the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of National Instrument 31-102 [National Registration Database], you may submit this form in a format other than NRD format.

When to submit the form

You must submit the responses to Item 1, Item 2, Item 3 and Item 4 within five business 10 days of the effective date of termination.

If you are required to complete Item 5, you must submit those responses within 30 days of the termination date. If you are submitting the responses to Item 5, in NRD format, after Items 1 to 4 have been submitted at NRD, use the NRD submission type called "Update/Correct Termination Information" to complete Item 5 of this form.

item i	rerminating firm		
1.	Name		
2.	NRD number		
Item 2	Terminated individual		
1.	Name		
2.	NRD number		
Item 3	Business location of the terminated individual		
1.	Address		
2.	NRD number		
Item 4	Date and reason for termination		
1.	Cessation date / Effective date of termination		DD)
		(YYYY/MM/	טט)

April 15, 2011 475 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	This is the first day that the individual ceased to have authority to act in a registerable capacity on behalf of the firm ceased to be a permitted individual.				
2.		Reason for termination / cessation (check one):			
		Resigned - voluntary			
		Resigned - at the firm's request			
		Dismissed in good standing			
		Dismissed for cause			
		Completed temporary employment contract			
		Retired			
		Deceased			
		Other			
Iter	m 5	Details about the termination			
		e Item 5 o nly if<u>except where</u> the individual resigned ion under Item 4.2 was "Other" is deceased. In the space		, or if the	reason for
•	state	e the reason(s) for the resignation, dismissal or "Other	' reason for <u>cessation /</u> termination and		
•	prov	provide details if the answer to any of the following questions is "Yes".			
[Fo	r NRI	D Format only:]			
	This information will be disclosed within 30 days of the effective date of termination				
	Not applicable: completed temporary employment contract, retired or individual is deceased				
Ans	swer	the following questions to the best of the firm's knowled	dge.		
		In the past 12 months:		Yes	No
1.		Was the individual charged with any criminal offence?			
2.		Was the individual the subject of any investigation by financial industry regulator?	any securities or	П	П
3.		Was the individual subject to any significant internal d	isciplinary measures at the		
ა.		Was the individual subject to any significant internal disciplinary measures at the firm or at any affiliate of the firm related to the individual's activity as a registrant?			
4.		Were there any written complaints, civil claims and/or arbitration notices filed against the individual or against the firm about the individual's securities-related activities that occurred while the individual was registered or a permitted individual authorized to act on behalf of the firm?			
		marriada damonzou to dot on pondii of the iiiii:			
5.		Does the individual have any undischarged financial of	bligations to clients of the firm?		

April 15, 2011 476 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	The Control of the Co			
6.	Has the firm or any affiliate of the firm suffered significant monetary loss or harm to its reputation as a result of the individual's actions?			
7.	Did the firm or any affiliate of the firm investigate the individual relating to possible material violations of fiduciary duties, regulatory requirements or the compliance policies and procedures of the firm or any affiliate of the firm? Examples include making unsuitable trades or investment recommendations, stealing or borrowing client money or securities, hiding losses from clients, forging client signatures, money laundering, deliberately making false representations and engaging in			
	undisclosed outside business activity.			
8.	Did the individual repeatedly fail to follow compliance policies and procedures of the firm or any affiliate of the firm?			
9.	Did the individual engage in discretionary management of client accounts or otherwise engage in registerable activity without appropriate registration or without the firm's authorization?			
Reason	ss/Details:			
Item 6	Notice of collection and use of personal information [repealed]	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
The personal information required under this form is collected on behalf of, and used by, the securities regulatory authorities in the jurisdictions set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce certain provisions of their securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both. The personal information required under this form is also collected by and used by the SROs set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce their respective by-laws, regulations, rules, rulings and policies.				
By submitting this form, the individual consents to the collection by the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO of this personal information, and any police records, records from other government or non-governmental regulators or SROs, credit records and employment records about the individual that the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO may need to complete their review of the information submitted in this form relating to the individual's continued fitness for registration or approval, if applicable, in accordance with the legal authority of the securities regulatory authorities while the individual is registered with or approved by it as the case may be. Securities regulatory authorities or SROs may contact government and private bodies or agencies, individuals, corporations and other organizations for information about the individual.				
If you have any questions about the collection and use of this information, contact the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO in any jurisdiction in which the required information is submitted. See Schedule A for details. In Québec, you can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouv.qc.ca.				
Item 7 Warning				
It is an offence under securities legislation and/or derivatives legislation, including commodity futures legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.				
Item 8	Certification			
Certific	eation-NRD format:			
	I am making this submission as agent for the firm. By checking this box, I certify that the information on this form.	e firm provided me	with all of the	
Certific	ation-Format other than NRD format:			

By signing below I certify to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form for the firm, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:

April 15, 2011 477 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

April 15, 2011 478 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule A Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, 4th Floor, 300 - 5th Avenue SW Calgary, AB T2P 3C4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL
Financial Services Regulation Division
Department of Government Services
P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block

Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU XOA 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8 Attention: FOI Coordinator Telephone: (416) 593-8314

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry

Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and

Insurance Services Division

P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission

Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive

Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office

Department of Community Services

P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada

121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9

Attention: Privacy Officer
Telephone: (416) 364-6133
E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

[repealed]

April 15, 2011 479 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 33-109F2 CHANGE OR SURRENDER OF INDIVIDUAL CATEGORIES (section 2.2(2), 2.4, 2.6(2) or 4.1(4)) (BLACKLINED TO CURRENT LAW)

FORM 33-109F2

CHANGE OR SURRENDER OF INDIVIDUAL CATEGORIES
(section 4.2 or 2.2(2), 2.4, 2.6(2) or 2.54.1(24))

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Complete and submit this form to notify the relevant regulator(s) or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, or self-regulatory organization (SRO) that a registered individual or permitted individual seeks to add and/or remove individual registration categories or permitted activities.

Terms

In this form, "you", "your" and "individual" mean the registered individual or permitted individual who is seeking to add and/or remove registration categories or permitted activities.

How to submit this form

Itama 4 Individual

Submit this form at the National Registration Database (NRD) website in NRD format at www.nrd.ca.

If you are relying on the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of National Instrument 31-102, you may submit this form in a format other than NRD format.

item i	mulvidual
Name o	f individual
NRD nu	mber of individual
Item 2 1.	Registration jurisdictions Are you filing this form under the passport system / interface for registration?
	Only choose Choose "no" if you are registered in:
	(a) only one jurisdiction efin Canada, er (b) (b) —more than one jurisdiction ef Canada and you are requesting a change or in Canada and you are requesting a surrender:(i) in a non-principal jurisdiction or jurisdictions, but not in your principal jurisdiction. (c) more than one jurisdiction in Canada and you are requesting a change only in your principal jurisdiction Yes No
2.	Check each jurisdiction where you are seeking the change or surrender of individual categories of registration.
	Alberta British Columbia Manitoba New Brunswick Newfoundland and Labrador Northwest Territories Nova Scotia Nunavut Ontario Prince Edward Island Québec Saskatchewan Yukon

April 15, 2011 480 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 3 Removing categories
What categories are you seeking to remove?
Item 4 Adding categories
1. <u>Categories</u>
What categories are you seeking to add?
2. Professional liability insurance (Québec mutual fund dealers and Québec scholarship plan dealers)
If you are seeking registration as a representative of a mutual fund dealer or of a scholarship plan dealer in Québec, are you covered by your sponsoring firm's professional liability insurance?
Yes No
If "No", state:
The name of your insurer
Your policy number
3. Relevant securities industry experience
If you have not been registered in the last 36 months and you passed the required examination more than 36 months ago, do you consider that you have gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience during the 36 month period?
Yes No No N/A
If you are an individual applying for IIROC approval, select "Not Applicable" above.
If "yes", complete Schedule A.
Item 5 Reason for surrender
If you are seeking to remove a category or permitted activity, state the reason for the surrender in the local jurisdiction.

Item 6 Notice of collection and use of personal information

The personal information required under this form is collected on behalf of, and used by, the securities regulatory authorities in the jurisdictions set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce certain provisions of their securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both.

The personal information required under this form is also collected by and used by the SROs set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce their respective by-laws, regulations, rules, rulings and policies.

By submitting this form, the individual consents to the collection by the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO of this personal information, and any police records, records from other government or non-governmental regulators or SROs, credit records and employment records about the individual that the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO may need to complete their review of the information submitted in this form relating to the individual's continued fitness for registration or approval, if applicable, in accordance with the legal authority of the securities regulatory authorities while the individual is registered with or approved by it. Securities regulatory authorities or SROs may contact government and private bodies or agencies, individuals, corporations and other organizations for information about the individual.

April 15, 2011 481 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

If you have any questions about the collection and use of this information, contact the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO in any jurisdiction in which the required information is submitted. See Schedule A for details. In Québec, you can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouv.qc.ca.

Item 7 Warning

It is an offence under securities legislation and/or derivatives legislation, including commodity futures legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.

Item 8 Certification

Certification-NRD format:

I confirm I have discussed the questions in this form with an officer, branch manager or supervisor of my sponsoring firm. To the best of my knowledge and belief, the officer, branch manager or supervisor was satisfied that I fully understood the questions. I will limit my activities to those permitted by my category of registration.

I am making this submission as agent for the individual identified in this form. By checking this box, I certify that the individual provided me with all of the information on this form.

Certification-Format other than NRD format:

By signing below:

- 1. I certify to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:
 - I have read this form and understand the questions, and
 - all of the information provided on this form is true, and complete.
- 2. I confirm I have discussed the questions in this form with an officer, branch manager or supervisor of my sponsoring firm. To the best of my knowledge and belief, the officer, branch manager or supervisor was satisfied that I fully understood the questions. I will limit my activities to those permitted by my category of registration.

Signature of	individual		
Date signed			
	(YYYY/MM/DD)		

By signing below, I certify to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form for the individual, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:

- the individual identified in this form will be engaged by the firm as a registered individual, or a non registered individual, and
- 2. I have, or a branch manager or supervisor or another officer or partner has, discussed the questions set out in this form with the individual. To the best of my knowledge and belief, the individual fully understands the questions.

Name of firm
Name of authorized signing officer or partner
Title of authorized signing officer or partner
Signature of authorized signing officer or partner
Date signed
(YYYY/MM/DD)

April 15, 2011 482 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule A

SCHEDULE A Relevant securities industry experience (Item 4)

Describe your responsibilities in areas relating to the category you are applying for, including the title(s) you have held, as well as start and end dates:
What is the percentage of your time devoted to these activities?
<u>%</u>
Indicate the continuing education activities which you have participated in during the last 36 months and which are relevant to the category of registration you are applying for:

April 15, 2011 483 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule B Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, 4th Floor, 300 – <u>Suite 600, 250–</u>5th Avenue<u>St.</u> SW Calgary, AB T2P 3C0R4

Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax. NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: FOI CoordinatorCompliance and Registrant

Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry

Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and

Insurance Services Division

P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive

Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9

Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

April 15, 2011 484 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 33-109F3 BUSINESS LOCATIONS OTHER THAN HEAD OFFICE (section 3.2) (BLACKLINED TO CURRENT LAW)

FORM 33-109F3 BUSINESS LOCATIONS OTHER THAN HEAD OFFICE (section 3.2])

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Complete and submit this form to notify the relevant regulator(s) or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, or self-regulatory organization (SRO) that a business location has opened or closed, or information about a business location has changed.

Check o	ne of the following and complete the	entire form:		
	Opening this business location			
	Closing this business location			
	Change to the information previously submitted about this business location. Clearly specify the information that has changed.			
	submit this form his form at the National Registration	Database (NRD) website in NRD format at www.nrd.ca.		
	re relying on the temporary hardshinis form in a format other than NRD t	p exemption in section 5.1 of National Instrument 31-102, you format.	may complete and	
Item 1	Type of business location			
Branch o	or Business Location			
Sub-bra	nch			
Item 2	Supervisor or branch manager			
Name of	designated supervisor or branch ma	anager		
NRD nu	mber of the designated supervisor or	r branch manager		
Item 3	em 3 Business location information			
Busines	s address	-		
Mailing a	address (if different from business ad	ddress)		
Telepho	ne number ()	<u></u>		
Fax num	nber ()	-		

Item 4 Notice of collection and use of personal information

The personal information required under this form is collected on behalf of, and used by, the securities regulatory authorities in the jurisdictions set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce certain provisions of their securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both.

The personal information required under this form is also collected by and used by the SROs set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce their respective by-laws, regulations, rules, rulings and policies.

April 15, 2011 485 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

By submitting this form, the individual consents to the collection by the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO of this personal information, and any police records, records from other government or non-governmental regulators or SROs, credit records and employment records about the individual that the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO may need to complete their review of the information submitted in this form relating to the individual's continued fitness for registration or approval, if applicable, in accordance with the legal authority of the securities regulatory authorities while the individual is registered with or approved by it. Securities regulatory authorities or SROs may contact government and private bodies or agencies, individuals, corporations and other organizations for information about the individual.

If you have any questions about the collection and use of this information, contact the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO in any jurisdiction in which the required information is submitted. See Schedule A for details. In Québec, you can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouv.qc.ca.

Item 5 Warning

It is an offence under securities legislation and/or derivatives legislation, including commodity futures legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.

Item 6 Certification

Certification-NRD format:

I am making this submission as agent for the firm. By checking this box, I certify that the firm provided me with all of the information on this form.

Certification-Format other than NRD format:

By signing below, I certify to the securities regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form for the firm, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:

- I have read this form and understand the questions, and
- all of the information provided on this form is true, and complete.

Name of firm					
Name of authorized signing officer or partner					
Title of authorized signing officer or partner					
Signature of authorized signing officer or partner					
Date signed(YYYY/MM/DD)					

April 15, 2011 486 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule A Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, 4th Floor, 300 – <u>Suite 600, 250–</u>5th Avenue<u>St.</u> SW Calgary, AB T2P 3C0R4

Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building

St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax. NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55

20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: FOI Coordinator Compliance and Registrant

Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry

Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and

Insurance Services Division

P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive

Regina, SK S4P 4H2

Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6

Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600

Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

April 15, 2011 487 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 33-109F4 REGISTRATION OF INDIVIDUALS AND REVIEW OF PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS (section 2.2) (BLACKLINED TO CURRENT LAW)

FORM 33-109F4
REGISTRATION OF INDIVIDUALS AND
REVIEW OF PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS
(section 2.2)

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Complete and submit this form to the relevant regulator(s) or in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, or self-regulatory organization (SRO) if an individual is seeking registration in individual categories or is seeking to be reviewed as a permitted individual. You only need to complete and submit one of this form regardless of the number of categories you are seeking to be registered in.

Terms

In this form, "you", "you" and "individual" mean the individual who is seeking registration or the individual who is filing this form as a permitted individual under securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both.

"Sponsoring firm" means the registered firm where you will carry out your duties as a registered or permitted individual.

"Derivatives" means financial instruments, such as futures contracts (including exchange traded contracts), futures options and swaps whose market price, value or payment obligations are derived from, or based on, one or more underlying interests. Derivatives can be in the form of instruments, agreements or securities.

"Major shareholder" and "shareholder" mean a shareholder who, in total, directly or indirectly owns voting securities carrying 10 per cent or more of the votes carried by all outstanding voting securities.

"Approved person" means, in respect of a member (Member) of the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC-(Member), an individual who is a partner, director, officer, employee or agent of a Member who is approved by the IIROC or another Canadian SRO to perform any function required under any IIROC or another Canadian SRO By-law, Regulation, or Policy.

Several terms used in this form are defined in the securities legislation of your province or territory. Please refer to those definitions.

How to submit this form

NRD format

Submit this form at the National Registration Database (NRD) website in NRD format at www.nrd.ca. You are only required to submit one form regardless of the number of registration categories you are seeking. If you have any questions, contact the compliance, registration or legal department of the sponsoring firm or a legal adviser with securities regulation experience, or visit the NRD information website at www.nrd-info.ca.

Format, other than NRD format

If you are relying on the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of National Instrument 31-102 National Registration Database, you may submit this form in a format other than NRD format.

If you need more space, use a separate sheet of paper. Clearly identify the Item and question number. Complete and sign the form, and send it to the relevant regulator(s) or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, SRO (s) or similar authority. The number of originally signed copies of the form you are required to submit depends on the province or territory, and on the regulator, the securities regulatory authority or SRO.

To avoid delays in processing this form, be sure to answer all of the questions that apply to you. If you have questions, contact the compliance, registration or legal department of the sponsoring firm or a legal adviser <u>with securities regulation experience</u>, or visit the National Registration Database information website at www.nrd-info.ca.

April 15, 2011 488 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 1	Name
1.	Legal name
Last na	me
First na	me
Second	name (N/A 🔲)
Third na	ame (N/A 🔲)
	imber (if applicable)
2.	Other personal names
	currently, or have you ever been, known by any names other than your full legal name above, for example, nicknames es due to marriage?
Yes	□ No □
If "yes",	complete Schedule A.
3.	Use of other names
	currently, or have you ever used, operated under, or carried on business under any name other than the name(s) and above, for example, trade names for sole proprietorships or team names?
Yes	□ No □
If "yes",	complete Schedule A.
Item 2	Residential address
Provide	all of your residential addresses, including any foreign residential addresses, for the past 10 years.
1.	Current and previous residential addresses
(numbe	r, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)
Telepho	one number
-	this address since (YYYY/MM)
	ave lived at this address for less than 10 years, complete Schedule B.
2.	Mailing address
	Check here if your mailing address is the same as your current residential address provided above. Otherwise, complete the following:
(numbe	r, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)

April 15, 2011 489 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 3	Personal information						
1.	Date of birth(YYYY/MM/DD)						
2.	Place of birth(city, province, territory or state, country)						
3.	Gender Female Male Male						
4.	Eye colour						
5.	Hair colour						
6.	Height in. or cm-						
7.	Weight						
Item 4	Citizenship						
1.	Citizenship information						
What is	your country of citizenship?						
	Canada						
	Other, specify:						
2.	If you are a citizen of a country other than Canada, complete the following for that citizenship.						
	Check here if you do not have a valid passport. Otherwise, provide:						
Passpor	t number:						
Date of i	ssue:(YYYY/MM/DD)						
Place of	issue:(city, province, territory or state, country)						
Item 5	Registration jurisdictions						
1.	Are you filing this form under the passport system / interface for registration?						
	Only choose "no" if:						
	(a) you are seeking registration only in your principal jurisdiction,						
	(b) you are seeking review as a permitted individual only in your principal jurisdiction						
	and you are not currently registered under securities legislation in any jurisdiction of Canada,						
	Yes No No						
2.	Check each jurisdiction where you are seeking registration or review as a permitted individual:						
	All jurisdictions						
	Alberta British Columbia Manitoba New Brunswick						

April 15, 2011 490 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	Newfoundland and Labrador Northwest Territories Nova Scotia Nunavut Ontario Prince Edward Island Québec Saskatchewan Yukon					
Item 6	Individual categories					
1.	On Schedule C, check each category for which you are seeking registration as an individual or review as a permitted individual. If you are seeking review as a permitted individual, check each category that describes your position wit your sponsoring firm.					
2.	If you are seeking registration as a representative of a mutual fund dealer or of a scholarship plan dealer in Québec are you covered by your sponsoring firm's professional liability insurance?					
Yes	□ No □					
If "No",	state:					
The nar	ne of your insurer					
Your po	licy number					
Item 7	Address and agent for service					
1.	Address for service					
You must have one address for service in each province or territory where you are submitting this form. A residential address or a business address is acceptable. A post office box is not acceptable. Complete Schedule D for each additional address for service you are providing.						
Address	for service:					
(numbe	r, street, city, province or territory, postal code)					
Telepho	ne number					
Fax number, if applicable						
E-mail address, if available						
2.	Agent for service					
have ar	ave appointed an agent for service, provide the following information for the agent in each province or territory where yo agent for service. The address of your agent for service must be the same as the address for service above. If your service is not an individual, provide the name of your contact person.					
Name o	f agent for service:					
Contact person: Last name, First name						
	Last name, First name					

April 15, 2011 491 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Business address:

Telephone number: (_____) _____

Item 8	Proficiency			
1.	Course, examination or examination designation information and other education			
	te Schedule E to indicate each course-and, examination and designation that is required for registration or approval and have successfully completed or have been exempted from.			
	Check here if you are not required under securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both, or the rules of an SRO to satisfy any course-or, examination or designation requirements.			
2.	Student numbers			
If you h below:	ave a student number for a course that you successfully completed with one of the following organizations, provide it			
CSI Glo	bal Education (formerly Canadian Securities Institute):			
IFSE In	stitute (formerly IFIC):			
Institute	of Canadian Bankers (ICB):			
CFA Ins	stitute (formerly AIMR):			
Advocis	(formerly CAIFA):			
RESP [Dealers Association of Canada:			
Other:				
3.	Exemption refusal			
	y securities regulator, derivatives regulator or SRO refused to grant you an exemption from a course, examination <u>.</u> tion or experience requirement?			
Yes	□ No □			
If "Yes",	complete Schedule F.			
4	Relevant securities industry experience			
<u>lf you a</u>	re an individual applying for IIROC approval, select "Not Applicable below".			
	ave not been registered in the last 36 months and you passed the required examination more than 36 months ago, do sider that you have gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience during the 36 month period?			
Yes	No N/A			
If "yes",	complete Schedule F.			
Item 9	Location of employment			
1.	Provide the following information for your new sponsoring firm. If you will be working out of more than one location, provide the following information for the location out of which you will be doing most of your business.			
	NRD location number:			
	Unique Identification Number (ontional):			

April 15, 2011 492 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Fax number: (____) _____

(number, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)

2.	If the firm has a foreign head office, and/or you are not a resident of Canada, provide the address for the location in which you will be conducting business.					
	Business address:					
	(number, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)					
	Telephone number: () Fax number: ()					
[The foli	lowing under #3 "Type of location", #4 and #5 is for a Format other than NRD format only]					
3.	Type of location - for Format other than NRD format only:					
	☐ Head office ☐ Branch or Business Location ☐ Sub-branch					
4.	Name of supervisor or branch manager:					
5.	Check here if the mailing address of the location is the same as the business address provided above. Otherwise, complete the following:					
	Mailing address:(number, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)					
Item 10	Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships					
busines include	te a separate Schedule G for each of your current business and employment activities, including employment and s activities with your sponsoring firm and any employment and business activities outside your sponsoring firm. Also all business related officer or director positions and any other equivalent positions held, whether you receive sation or not.					
Item 11	Previous employment and other activities					
On Sch	edule H, complete your employment and other activities history for the past 10-years.					
Item 12	Resignations and terminations					
Have you:	ou ever resigned, been terminated or been dismissed for cause by an employer from a position following allegations that					
1.	Violated any statutes, regulations, rules or standards of conduct?					
	Yes					
	If "Yes", complete Schedule I Item 12.1.					
2.	Failed to appropriately supervise compliance with any statutes, regulations, rules or standards of conduct?					
	Yes					
	If "Yes", complete Schedule I Item 12.2.					
3.	Committed fraud or the wrongful taking of property, including theft?					
	Yes					
	If "Yes", complete Schedule I Item 12.3.					

April 15, 2011 493 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 13 Regulatory disclosure

1.	Securities and derivatives regulation						
a)	Other than a registration or permitted individual status that has been recorded under this NRD number, are you now, or have you ever been, registered or licensed with any securities regulator or derivatives regulator or both in any province, territory, state or country to trade in or advise on securities or derivatives or both?						
	Yes No						
	If "Yes", complete Schedule J, Item 13.1(a).						
b)	Have you ever been refused registration or a licence to trade in or advise on securities or derivatives or both in any province, territory state or country?						
	Yes No No						
	If "Yes", complete Schedule J, Item 13.1(b).						
c)	Have you ever been denied the benefit of any exemption from registration provided in any securities or derivatives or both legislation or rules in any province, territory, state or country, other than what was disclosed in Item 8(3) of this form?						
	Yes No						
	If "Yes", complete Schedule J, Item 13.1(c).						
d)	Are you now, or have you ever been subject to any disciplinary proceedings or any order resulting from disciplinary proceedings under any securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both in any province, territory, state or country?						
	Yes No No						
	If "Yes", complete Schedule J, Item 13.1(d).						
2.	SRO regulation						
a)	Other than an approval that has been recorded under this NRD number, are you now, or have you ever been, an approved person of an SRO or similar organization in any province, territory, state or country?						
	Yes						
	If "Yes", complete Schedule J, Item13.2(a).						
b)	Have you ever been refused approved person status by an SRO or similar organization in any province, territory, state or country?						
	Yes						
	If "Yes", complete Schedule J, Item 13.2(b).						
c)	Are you now, or have you ever been, subject to any disciplinary proceedings conducted by any SRO or similar organization in any province, territory, state or country?						
	Yes No						
	If "Yes", complete Schedule J, Item 13.2(c).						

April 15, 2011 494 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Non cocurities regulation

J.	Non-securities regulation						
a)	Are you now, or have you ever been, registered or licensed under any legislation which requires registration or licensing to deal with the public in any capacity other than to trade in or advise on securities or derivatives or both in any province, territory, state or country (e.g. insurance, real estate, accountant, lawyer, teacher)?						
	Yes No						
	If "Yes", complete Schedule J, Item 13.3(a)-						
b)	Have you ever been refused registration or a licence under any legislation relating to your professional activities unrelated to securities or derivatives in any province, territory, state or country?						
	Yes						
	If "Yes", complete Schedule J, Item 13.3(b).						
c)	Are you now, or have you ever been, a subject of any disciplinary actions conducted under any legislation relating to your professional activities unrelated to securities or derivatives in any province, territory, state or country?						
	Yes						
	If "Yes", complete Schedule J, Item 13.3(c).						

Item 14 Criminal disclosure

Offences you must disclose

You must disclose all criminal offences committed in any province, territory, state or country. This includes, but is not limited to, criminal offences under federal statutes such as the *Criminal Code* (Canada), *Income Tax Act* (Canada), *the Competition Act* (Canada), *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* (Canada) and the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* (Canada) (or its predecessor, the *Narcotic Control Act* (Canada)). This includes pleas or findings of guilt for impaired driving, which are *Criminal Code* (Canada) matters. If you have been found guilty of a criminal offence, you must disclose the offence even if you have been granted an absolute or conditional discharge.

With respect to questions 14.2 and 14.4, if you or your firm has been found guilty of a criminal offence, or participated in the Alternative Measures Program within the past three years, you must disclose that offence even if an absolute or conditional discharge has been granted, or the charge has been dismissed, withdrawn or stayed. Some exceptions apply to stayed charges, and the Alternative Measures Program which are outlined below.

If you do not disclose a criminal offence under any statute other than the <u>former</u> Young Offenders Act (Canada) or the Youth Criminal Justice Act (Canada), regulators or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority or self regulatory organization may treat it as a non-disclosure of material information.

Offences you do not have to disclose

The appropriate response is "No" if any of the following circumstances apply.

You are not required to disclose:

- crimes for which you received an absolute or conditional discharge if the crime has been purged from the criminal records in accordance with the Criminal Records Act (Canada)
- speeding, parking violations or any offence for which a pardon has been granted under the Criminal Records Act (Canada) and the pardon has not been revoked
- stayed charges for summary conviction offences that have been stayed for six months or more
- stayed charges for indictable offences that have been stayed for a year or more, and
- offences under the former Young Offenders Act (Canada) or the Youth Criminal Justice Act (Canada)

With respect to questions 14.2 and 14.4, you are not required to disclose an offence for which you or your firm was found guilty if you or the firm participated in the Alternative Measures Program more than three years ago for that offence.

April 15, 2011 495 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

1.	Are there any outstanding or stayed charges against you alleging a criminal offence that was committed in any province, territory, state or country?					
	Yes		No			
	If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	lle K, Item 14.1.		
2.	Have you ever been found guilty, pleaded no contest to, or granted an absolute or conditional discharge from a criminal offence that was committed in any province, territory, state or country?					
	Yes		No			
	If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	lle K, Item 14.2.		
3.	criminal		was alleg	edge, are there any outstanding charges against any firm of which you were, at the time the ged to have taken place in any province, territory, state or country, a partner, director, officer		
	Yes		No			
	If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	le K, Item 14.3.		
4.	found g	uilty, plea	aded no	edge, has any firm, when you were a partner, officer, director or major shareholder, ever been contest to or granted an absolute or conditional discharge from a criminal offence that was e, territory, state or country?		
	Yes		No			
	If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	le K, Item 14.4.<u>14.4</u> .		
Item 15	Civil dis	sclosure				
1.	against			utstanding civil actions alleging fraud, theft, deceit, misrepresentation or similar misconduct are you are or were a partner, director, officer or major shareholder in any province, territory,		
	Yes		No			
	If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	le L, Item 15.1.		
2.	respond	lent in ar	ny civil p	e you are or were a partner, director, officer or major shareholder ever been a defendant or roceeding in which fraud, theft, deceit, misrepresentation or similar misconduct is, or was, n a judgment in any province, territory, state or country?		
	Yes		No			
	If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	le L, Item 15.2.		
Item 16	Financi	al disclo	sure			
1.	Bankru	ptcy				
	ne laws l		oplicable	jurisdiction, have you or has any firm when you were a partner, director, officer or major		
a)	Had a p	etition in	bankrupt	cy issued or made a voluntary assignment in bankruptcy or any similar proceeding?		
	Yes		No			
	If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	lle M, Item 16.1(a).		

April 15, 2011 496 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

b)	Made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or any similar proceeding?					
	Yes		No			
	If "Yes", complete Schedule M, Item 16.1(b).					
c)				ngs under any legislation relating to the winding up or dissolution of the firm, or under the angement Act (Canada)?		
	Yes		No			
	If "Yes",	complet	e Schedu	le M, Item 16.1(c).		
d)	Been subject to or initiated any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors? This includes having a receiver, receiver-manager, administrator or trustee appointed by or at the request of creditors, privately, through court process or by order of a regulatory authority, to hold your assets.					
	Yes		No			
	If "Yes",	complet	e Schedu	le M, Item 16.1(d).		
2.	Debt ob	oligation	s			
knowled	lge, has a	any firm,	while you	failed to meet a financial obligation of \$5,000 or more as it came due or, to the best of your were a partner, director, officer or major shareholder of that firm, failed to meet any financial ame due?		
Yes		No				
If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	ıle M, Iten	n 16.2.		
3.	Surety	bond or	fidelity b	ond		
Have yo	u ever be	een refus	sed for a s	surety or fidelity bond?		
Yes		No				
If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	ıle M, Iten	n 16.3.		
4.	Garnish	nments,	unsatisfi	ed judgments or directions to pay		
indebted		to the be		orial, state authority or court ever issued any of the following against you regarding your ir knowledge, the indebtedness of a firm where you are or were a partner, director, officer or		
Garnish	ment		Yes	No □		
Unsatisf	ied judgn	nent				
Direction	n to pay					
If "Yes",	complete	e Schedu	ıle M, Iten	n 16.4.		
Item 17	Owners	ship of s	ecurities	and derivatives firms		
Are you now, or have you ever been, a partner or major shareholder of any firm (including your sponsoring firm) whose business is trading in or advising on securities or derivatives or both?						
Yes		No				
If "Yes", complete Schedule N.						

April 15, 2011 497 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 18 Agent for service

By submitting this form, you certify that in each jurisdiction of Canada where you have appointed an agent for service, you have completed the appointment of agent for service required in that jurisdiction.

Item 19 Submission to jurisdiction

By submitting this form, you agree to be subject to the securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both of each jurisdiction of Canada, and to the by-laws, regulations, rules, rulings and policies (collectively referred to as "rules" in this form) of the SROs to which you have submitted this form. This includes the jurisdiction of any tribunals or any proceedings that relate to your activities as a registrant or a partner, director or officer of a registrant under that securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both or as an Approved Person under SRO rules.

Item 20 Notice of collection and use of personal information

The personal information required under this form is collected on behalf of, and used by, the securities regulatory authorities in the jurisdictions set out in Schedule O to administer and enforce certain provisions of their securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both.

By submitting this form, the individual consents to the collection by the securities regulatory authorities of this personal information, and any police records, records from other government or non-governmental regulators or SROs, credit records and employment records about the individual that the securities regulatory authorities may need to complete their review of the information submitted in this form relating to the individual's continued fitness for registration or approval, if applicable, in accordance with the legal authority of the securities regulatory authorities while the individual is registered with or approved by it. Securities regulatory authorities may contact government and private bodies or agencies, individuals, corporations and other organizations for information about the individual.

If you have any questions about the collection and use of this information, contact the securities regulatory authority in any jurisdiction in which the required information is submitted. See Schedule O for details. In Québec, you can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouv.qc.ca.

SROs

The principal purpose for the collection of personal information is to assess your suitability for registration or approval and to assess your continued fitness for registration or approval in accordance with the applicable securities legislation and the rules of the SROs.

By submitting this form, you authorize the SROs to which this form is submitted to collect any information from any source whatsoever. This includes, but is not limited to, personal confidential information about you that is otherwise protected by law such as, police, credit, employment, education and proficiency course completion records, and records from other government or non-governmental regulatory authorities, securities commissions, stock exchanges, or other SROs, private bodies, agencies, individuals or corporations, as may be necessary for the SROs to complete their review of your form or continued fitness for registration or approval in accordance with their rules for the duration of the period you remain so registered or approved. You further consent to and authorize the transfer of confidential information between SROs, securities commissions or stock exchanges from whom you now, or may in the future, seek registration or approval, or with which you are currently registered or approved for the purpose of determining fitness or continued fitness for registration or approval or in connection with the performance of an investigation or other exercise of regulatory authority, whether or not you are registered with or approved by them.

By submitting this form, you certify that you understand the rules of the applicable SROs of which you are seeking registration or approval or of which your sponsoring firm is a member or participating organization. You also undertake to become conversant with the rules of any SROs of which you or your sponsoring firm becomes a member or participating organization. You agree to be bound by, observe and comply with these rules as they are from time to time amended or supplemented, and you agree to keep yourself fully informed about them as they are amended and supplemented. You submit to the jurisdiction of the SROs from whom you are seeking registration or approval, or of which your sponsoring firm is now or in the future becomes a member or participating organization and, wherever applicable, their Governors, Directors and Committees. You agree that any registration or approval granted pursuant to this form may be revoked, terminated or suspended at any time in accordance with the then applicable rules of the respective SROs. In the event of any such revocation or termination, you must terminate all activities which require registration or approval and, thereafter, not perform services that require registration or approval for any member of the SROs or any approved affiliated company or other affiliate of such member without obtaining the approval of or registration with the SROs, in accordance with their rules.

April 15, 2011 498 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

By submitting this form, you undertake to notify the SROs from whom you are seeking registration or approval or with which you are currently or may in the future be registered or approved of any material change to the information herein provided in accordance with their respective rules. You agree to the transfer of this form, without amendment, to other SROs in the event that at some time in the future you seek registration or approval from such other SROs.

You certify that you have discussed the questions in this form, together with this Agreement, with an Officer or Branch Manager of your sponsoring member firm and, to your knowledge and belief, the authorized Officer or Branch Manager was satisfied that you fully understood the questions and the terms of this Agreement. You further certify that your business activities that are subject to securities rules and derivatives rules or both will be limited strictly to those permitted by the category of your registration or approval.

Item 21 Warning

It is an offence under securities legislation and/or derivatives legislation, including commodity futures legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.

Item 22 Certification

1. Certification - NRD format

I confirm I have discussed the questions in this form with an officer, branch manager or supervisor of my sponsoring firm. To the best of my knowledge, the officer, branch manager or supervisor was satisfied that I fully understood the questions. I will limit my activities to those permitted by my category of registration.

I am making this submission as agent for the individual identified in this form. By checking this box, I certify that the individual provided me with all of the information on this form.

2. Certification - Format other than NRD format

Individual

By signing below, I certify to the regulator, or in Québec the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am filing or submitting this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:

- I have read this form and understand the questions, and
- all of the information provided on this form is true, and complete.

Signature of individual _.	Date	
•	_	

Authorized partner or officer of the firm

By signing below, I certify to the regulator, or in Québec the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, for the individual that:

- the individual identified in this form will be engaged by the sponsoring firm as a registered individual or a permitted individual, and
- I have, or a branch manager, or supervisor, or another officer or partner has, discussed the questions set out in this form with the individual and, to the best of my knowledge, the individual fully understands the questions.

Name of firm	
Name of authorized signing officer or partner	_
Title of authorized signing officer or partner	
Signature of authorized signing officer or partner	
Date signed	
(YYYY/MM/DD)	

April 15, 2011 499 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE A Names (Item 1)

Item 1.2 Other personal names			
Name 1:			
Last name			
First name			
Second name (N/A 🔲)			
Third name (N/A 🗌)			
Provide the reasons for the use of this na	ame (for example, marriage,	divorce, court order, com	nmonly used name or nickname)?
When did you use this name?	From:	То:	
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)	_
Name 2:	((,	
Lock mana			
Last name			
First name (N/A 🗔)			
Second name (N/A 🗍)			
Third name (N/A)			
Provide the reasons for the use of this na	ame (for example, marriage,	divorce, court order, com	imonly used name or nickname)?
When did you use this name?	From:	То:	
	(YYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)	_
Name 3:			
Last name			
First name			
Second name (N/A 🔲)			
Third name (N/A 🗌)			

April 15, 2011 500 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

When did you use this name?	From:	То:
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)
Item 1.3 Use of other names		
Name 1:		
Name:		
Provide the reasons for the use of this other nam	e (for example, trad	e name or team name)?:
If this other name is or was used in connection w	ith any sponsoring f	irm, did the sponsoring firm approve the use of the name
Yes		
When did you use this name?	From:	То:
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)
Name 2:		
Name:		
Provide the reasons for the use of this other nam	e (for example, trad	e name or team name):
If this other name is arrupe used in connection w	ith any ananasina f	irm did the energy firm energy the use of the new
Yes No	itir ariy sporisoring i	irm, did the sponsoring firm approve the use of the name
	From:	То:
When did you use this name?	FIOIII.	10.
When did you use this name?		
When did you use this name?	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)
When did you use this name? Name 3:	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)
Name 3:	. , ,	
Name 3: Name: Provide the reasons for the use of this other nam	e (for example, trad	
Name 3: Name: Provide the reasons for the use of this other nam	e (for example, trad	e name or team name):
Name 3: Name: Provide the reasons for the use of this other nam If this other name is or was used in connection w	e (for example, trad	e name or team name):

April 15, 2011 501 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE B Residential address (Item 2)

Item 2.1 Current and previous residential addresses

If you have lived at your current address for less than 10 years, list all previous addresses for the past 10 years.

You do not have to include a postal code or ZIP code, or a telephone number for any previous address.

Address 1:			
Residential address:	vince, territory or state, cour	. Am .)	
(number, street, city, pro	vince, territory or state, cour	itry)	
When did you live at this address?	From:	То:	
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)	
Address 2:			
Residential address:	vince, territory or state, cour	.4)	
(number, street, city, pro	vince, territory or state, cour	itry)	
When did you live at this address?	From:	То:	
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)	
Address 3:			
Residential address:			
(number, street, city, pro	vince, territory or state, cour	ntry)	
When did you live at this address?	From:	To:	
	(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)	

April 15, 2011 502 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE C Individual Categories (Item 6)

Check each category for which you are seeking registration, approval or review as a permitted individual.

Categories common to all jurisdictions under securities legislation
Firm categories [Format other than NRD format only]
[] Investment Dealer
[] Mutual Fund Dealer
[] Scholarship Plan Dealer
[] Exempt Market Dealer
[] Restricted Dealer
[] Portfolio Manager
[] Restricted Portfolio Manager
[] Investment Fund Manager
Individual categories and permitted activities
[] Dealing Representative
[] Advising Representative
[] Associate Advising Representative
[] Ultimate Designated Person
[] Chief Compliance Officer
[] Officer – Specify title:
[] Director
[] Partner
[] Shareholder
[] Branch Manager (MFDA members only)
[] IIROC approval only
Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada <u>lIROC</u>
Approval categories
[] Executive
[] Director (Industry)
[] Director (Non-Industry)
[] Supervisor
[] Investor
[] Registered Representative
[] Investment Representative
[] Trader

April 15, 2011 503 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Additional approval categories
[] Chief Compliance Officer
[] Chief Financial Officer
[] Ultimate Designated Person
Products
[] Non-Trading
[] Securities
[] Options
[] Futures Contracts and Futures Contract Options
[] Mutual Funds only
Customer type
[] Retail
[] Institutional
[] Not Applicable
Portfolio management
[] Portfolio Management
Categories under local commodity futures and derivatives legislation
<u>Ontario</u>
Firm categories
Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser
[] Commodity Trading Adviser
[] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel
[] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager
[] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant
[] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities
[] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative
[] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson
[] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager
[] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer — Specify title:
[-] Commodity Trading Adviser [-] Commodity Trading Counsel [-] Commodity Trading Manager [-] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [-] Advising Representative [-] Salesperson [-] Branch Manager [-] Officer — Specify title: [-] Director
[] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer — Specify title: [] Director [] Partner
[] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission-Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer — Specify title: [] Director [] Partner [] Shareholder [] IIROC approval only
[-] Commodity Trading Adviser [-] Commodity Trading Manager [-] Futures Commission-Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [-] Advising Representative [-] Salesperson [-] Branch-Manager [-] Officer—Specify title: [-] Director [-] Partner [-] Shareholder [-] IIROC approval only Categories under local commodity futures and derivatives legislation
[] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission-Merchant Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer — Specify title: [] Director [] Partner [] Shareholder [] IIROC approval only

April 15, 2011 504 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

[] Commodity Trading Adviser
[] Commodity Trading Counsel
[] Commodity Trading Manager
[] Futures Commission Merchant
Individual categories and permitted activities
[] Advising Representative
[] Salesperson
[_] Branch Manager
[_] Officer – Specify title:
[_] Director
[] Partner
[_] Shareholder
[_] IIROC approval only
Manattalia
Manitoba
Firm categories
[] Dealer (Merchant)
[] Dealer (Futures Commission Merchant)
[] Dealer (Floor Broker)
[] Adviser
[]Local
Individual categories and permitted activities
[] Floor Trader
[] Salesperson
[] Branch Manager
[] Adviser
[] Officer – Specify title:
[] Director
[] Partner
[] Futures Contracts Portfolio Manager
[] Associate Futures Contracts Portfolio Manager
[] IIROC approval only
[] Local
Québec - activities relating to derivatives
For information purposes, indicate whether you will carry on activities as a representative of:
[] An Investment Dealer Acting as a Derivatives Dealer
[] A Portfolio Manager Acting as a Derivatives Portfolio Manager

April 15, 2011 505 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE D Address and agent for service (Item 7)

Item 7.1 Address for service

	ddress for service in each province or territory in which you are now, or are seeking to become, a permitted individual. A post office box is not an acceptable address for service.
Address for service:	
	(number, street, city, province or territory, postal code)
Telephone number: (
E-mail address:	
Item 7.2 Agent for	service
	n agent for service, provide the following information about the agent. The address for service provided ess of the agent named below.
Name of agent for servi	ce:
(if applicable)	
Contact person:	
Last r	name, First name

April 15, 2011 506 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE E Proficiency (Item 8)

Item 8.1 Course-or __examination_or designation information and other education

Course-or, examination, designation or other education	Date completed (YYYY/MM/DD)	Date exempted (YYYY/MM/DD)	Regulator / securities regulatory authority granting the exemption
If you have listed the CFA Charter in Item 8.1, please indicate by checking the box below whether you are a current member of the CFA Institute permitted to use the CFA Charter. Yes No If "no", please explain why you no longer hold this designation:			
If you have listed the CIM designation in Item 8.1, please indicate by checking the box below whether you are currently permitted to use the CIM designation. Yes			
			_
	-		

April 15, 2011 507 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE F Proficiency (Item Items 8.3 and 8.4)

Item 8.3 **Exemption refusal** Complete the following for each exemption that was refused. 1. Which securities regulator, derivatives regulator or SRO refused to grant the exemption? State the name of the course, examination, designation or experience requirement: State the reason given for not being granted the exemption: Date exemption refused: (YYYY/MM/DD) 2. Which securities regulator, derivatives regulator or SRO refused to grant the exemption? State the name of the course, examination, designation or experience requirement: State the reason given for not being granted the exemption: Date exemption refused: _____ 3. Which securities regulator, derivatives regulator or SRO refused to grant the exemption? State the name of the course, examination, designation or experience requirement:

April 15, 2011 508 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Form 33-109F4 (blacklined)	Supplement to the OSC Bulletin
State the reason given for not being granted the exemption:	
Date exemption refused:(YYYY/MM/DD)	
Item 8.4 Relevant securities industry experience	
<u>Describe your responsibilities in areas relating to the category you are applying for, including the as start and end dates:</u>	e title(s) you have held, as well
What is the percentage of your time devoted to these activities?	
<u>%</u>	
Indicate the continuing education activities which you have participated in during the last 36 mc the category of registration you are applying for:	onths and which are relevant to

April 15, 2011 509 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE G Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships (Item 10)

Complete a separate Schedule G for each of your current business and employment activities with your sponsoring firm and with all other organizations. This includes any business related officer or director positions held, or any other equivalent positions held, whether you receive compensation or not.

1. Start date(YYYY/MM/DD)
2. Firm information
☐ Check here if this activity is employment with your sponsoring firm.
If the activity is with your sponsoring firm, you are not required to indicate the firm name and address information below:
Name of business or employer:
Address of business or employer:(number, street, city, province, territory or state, country)
Name and title of your immediate supervisor:
3. Description of duties
Describe all employment and business activities related to this employer. Include the nature of the business and your duties, title or relationship with the business. If you are seeking registration that requires specific experience, include details with this firm such as level of responsibility, value of accounts under direct supervision, number of years of experience, and percentage of time spent on each activity.
4. Number of work hours per week
How many hours per week do you devote to this business or employment?
If this activity is employment with your sponsoring firm and you work less than 30 hours per week, explain why.
5. Conflicts of interest
If you have more than one employer or are engaged in business related activities, disclose:
<u>A. Disclose</u> any potential for confusion by clients and any potential for conflicts of interest arising from your multiple employment or business related activities or proposed business related activities. Include
B. Indicate whether or not any of your employers or organizations where you engage in business related activities are listed on an exchange.

April 15, 2011 510 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

<u>C.</u> Confirm whether the firm has procedures for minimizing potential conflicts of interest and if so, confirm that you are aware of these procedures.		
D. State the name of the person at your sponsoring firm who has reviewed and approved your multiple employment or business related activities or proposed business related activities		
E. If you do not perceive any conflicts of interest arising from this employment, explain why.		

April 15, 2011 511 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE H Previous employment and other activities (Item 11)

Provide the following information for each of your employment and other activities in the past 10-years. Account for all of your time, including full-time and part-time employment, self-employment or military service. Include your status for each, such as unemployed, full-time student, or other similar statuses. Do not include short-term employment of four months or less while a student, unless it was in the securities, derivatives or financial industry.

In addition to the information required in the paragraph above, if you were employed or had business activities in the securities or derivatives industry or both during and before the 10-year period, disclose all your securities and derivatives or both employment or business activities (both before and during the 10-year period).

☐ Full-time s ☐ Employed		
From: (YYY	<u>/Y/MM)</u>	
To: (YYY	YY/MM)	
Complete the	following only if you are, or were, employed or self-employed during this period.	
Name of busin	ness or employer:	
Address of bu	usiness or employer:	
(number, stree	et, city, province, territory or state, country)	
Name and title	e of immediate supervisor, if applicable:	
of registration	firm's business, your position, duties and your relationship to the firm. If you are seeking registral that requires specific experience, include details of that experience. Examples include level of reunder direct supervision, number of years of that experience and research experience, and practivity.	esponsibility, value
Reason why y	you left the firm:	

April 15, 2011 512 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE I Resignations and terminations (Item 12)

Item 12.1

For each allegation of violation of any statutes, regulations, rules or internal/external standards of conduct, state below (1) the name of the firm from which you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, (2) whether you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, and (4) the circumstances relating to your resignation, termination or dismissal for cause.

Item 12.2

For each allegation of failure to supervise compliance with any statutes, regulations, rules or standards of conduct, state below, (1) the name of the firm from which you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, (2) whether you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, (3) the date you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, and (4) the circumstances relating to your resignation, termination or dismissal for cause.

Item 12.3

For each allegation of fraud or the wrongful taking of property, including theft, state below (1) the name of the firm from which you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, (2) whether you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, (3) the date you resigned, were terminated or dismissed for cause, and (4) the circumstances relating to your resignation, termination or dismissal for cause.

April 15, 2011 513 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE J Regulatory disclosure (Item 13)

Item 13.1 Securities and derivatives regulation

securities regulatory authority may request.

a)	For each registration or licence, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the securities or derivatives regulator with which you are, or were, registered or licensed, (3) the type or category of registration or licence, and (4) the period that you held the registration or licence.
L	
b)	For each registration or licence refused, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the securities or derivatives regulator that refused the registration or licence, (3) the type or category of registration or licence refused, (4) the date of the refusal, and (5) the reasons for the refusal.
c)	For each exemption from registration denied or licence refused, other than what was disclosed in Item 8(3) of this form, state below (1) the party that was refused the exemption from registration or licence, (2) the securities or derivatives regulator that refused the exemption from registration or licence, (3) the type or category or registration or licence refused, (4) the date of the refusal, and (5) the reasons for the refusal.
d)	For each order or disciplinary proceeding, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the securities or derivatives regulator that issued the order or is conducting or conducted the proceeding, (3) the date any notice of proceeding was issued, (4) the date any order or settlement was made, (5) a summary of any notice, order or settlement (including any sanctions imposed), (6) whether you are or were a partner, director, officer or major shareholder of the firm and named individually in the order or disciplinary proceeding, and (7) any other relevant details.
Item [*]	I3.2 SRO regulation
a)	For each approval, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the SRO with which you are or were an approved person, (3) the categories of approval, and (4) the period that you held the approval.
b)	For each approval refused, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the SRO that refused the approval, (3) the category of approval refused, (4) the date of the refusal, and (5) the reasons for the refusal.
c)	For each order or disciplinary proceeding, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the SRO that issued the order or that is, or was, conducting the proceeding, (3) the date any notice of proceeding was issued, (4) the date any order or settlement was made, (5) a summary of any notice, order or settlement (including any sanctions imposed), (6) whether you are or were a partner, director, officer or major shareholder of the firm and named individually in the order or disciplinary proceeding, and (7) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or in Québec the

April 15, 2011 514 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 13	.3 Non-securities regulation
a)	For each registration or licence, state below (1) the party who is, or was, registered or licensed (if insurance licensed also indicate the name of the insurance agency), (2) with which regulatory authority, or under what legislation, the party is, or was, registered or licensed, (3) the type or category of registration or licence, and (4) the period that the party held the registration or licence.
b)	For each registration or licence refused, state below (1) the party that was refused registration or licensing (if insurance licensed, also indicate the name of the insurance agency), (2) with which regulatory authority, or under what legislation the registration or licence was refused, (3) the type or category of registration or licence refused, (4) the date of the refusal, and (5) the reasons for the refusal.

c) For each order or disciplinary proceeding, indicate below (1) the party against whom the order was made or the proceeding taken (if insurance licensed, indicate the name of the insurance agency), (2) the regulatory authority that made the order or that is, or was, conducting the proceeding, or under what legislation the order was made or the proceeding is being, or was conducted, (3) the date any notice of proceeding was issued, (4) the date any order or settlement was made, (5) a summary of any notice, order or settlement (including any sanctions imposed), (6) whether you are or were a partner, director, officer or major shareholder of the firm and named individually in the order or disciplinary proceeding and (7) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulatory authority may request.

April 15, 2011 515 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE K Criminal disclosure (Item 14)

Item	1/	1 1
item	14	LI

١.:	2
	For each finding of guilty, pleading no contest to, or granting of an absolute or conditional discharge from a offence state below (1) the offence, (2) the date found guilty, and (3) the disposition (any penalty or fine and any fine was paid).
1.:	3
	For each charge, state below (1) the name of the firm, (2) the type of charge, (3) the date of the charge, (4) a appeal dates, and (5) the court location.
	!
4.4	

April 15, 2011 516 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE L Civil disclosure (Item 15)

Item 15.1

For each outstanding civil proceeding, state below (1) the dates the statement of claim and statement of defence were
issued, (2) the name of the plaintiff(s) in the proceeding, (3) whether the proceeding is pending or on appeal, (4)
whether the proceeding was against a firm where you are, or were, a partner, director, officer or major shareholder and
whether you have been named individually in the allegations, and (5) the jurisdiction where the action is being pursued.

Item 15.2

For each civil proceeding, state below (1) the dates the statement of claim and statement of defence were issued, (2)
each plaintiff in the proceeding, (3) the jurisdiction where the action was pursued, (4) whether the proceeding was
about a firm where you are, or were, a partner, director, officer or major shareholder and whether you have beer
named individually in the allegations and (5) a summary of any disposition or any settlement over \$10,000. You must
disclose any actions settled without admission of liability.

April 15, 2011 517 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE M Financial Disclosure (Item 16)

Item 16.1 Bankruptcy

	3 Surety bond or fidelity bond h bond refused, state below (1) the name of the bonding company, (2) the address of the bonding company, (3) the date fusal, and (4) the reasons for the refusal.
time the relevant (6) any	h event, state below (1) the person or firm that failed to meet its financial obligation, (2) the amount that was owing at the person or firm failed to meet its financial obligation, (3) the person or firm to whom the amount is, or was, owing, (4) any dates (for example, when payments are due or when final payment was made), (5) any amounts currently owing, and other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may including why obligation has not been met/satisfied.
Item 16	.2 Debt obligation
(d)	For each proceeding, arrangement or compromise with creditors, state below (1) the date of proceeding, (2) the person or firm about whom this disclosure is being made, (3) any amounts currently owing, (4) the creditors, (5) the status of the matter, (6) a summary of any disposition or settlement, and (7) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request.
(c)	For each event, state below (1) the date of the proceeding, (2) the person or firm about whom this disclosure is being made, (3) any amounts currently owing, (4) the creditors, (5) the status of the matter, (6) a summary of any disposition or settlement, and (7) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request.
(b)	For each event, state below (1) the date of the proposal, (2) the person or firm about whom this disclosure is being made, (3) any amounts currently owing, (4) the creditors, (5) the status of the matter, (6) a summary of any disposition or settlement, and (7) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request.
(a)	For each event, state below (1) the date of the petition or voluntary assignment, (2) the person or firm about whom this disclosure is being made, (3) any amounts currently owing, (4) the creditors, (5) the status of the matter, (6) a summary of any disposition or settlement, (7) date of discharge or release, if applicable, and (8) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request.

April 15, 2011 518 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 16.4 Garnishments, unsatisfied judgments or directions to pay

For each garnishment, unsatisfied judgment or direction to pay regarding your indebtedness, indicate below (1) the amount that was owing at the time the garnishment, judgment or direction to pay was rendered, (2) the person or firm to whom the amount is, or was, owing, (3) any relevant dates (for example, when payments are due or when final payment was made), (4) the percentage of earnings to be garnished or the amount to be paid, (5) any amounts currently owing, and (6) any other information that you think is relevant or that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority may request.

April 15, 2011 519 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE N Ownership of securities and derivatives firms (Item 17)

Firm na	me:			
What is	your relationship t	to the firm?	Partner	Major shareholder □
What is	the period of this i	relationship?		
	From:	To	:	(if applicable)
	(YYYY/MM)	<u>(Y</u>	YYY/MM)	
Provide	the following infor	mation:		
a)	State the number, value, class and percentage of securities, or the amount of partnership interest you own or propos to acquire when you are registered or approved as a result of the review of this form. If acquiring shares when you are so approved or registered, state the source (for example, treasury shares, or if upon transfer, state name of transferor)			
b)	State the market value (approximate, if necessary) of any subordinated debentures or bonds of the firm to be held by you or any other subordinated loan to be made by you to the firm:			
c)			provided you with fun n you and that person	ds to invest in the firm, provide the name of the person or firm and or firm:
d)	Yes	No 🗆		ested) guaranteed directly or indirectly by any person or firm? state the relationship between you and that person or firm:
e)	when you are re (including by hypperson)? Yes If "Yes", provide	egistered or pothecation, No	approved as a result pledging or depositing	relating to these securities or this partnership interest, or do you, of the review of this form, intend to give up any of these rights g as collateral the securities or partnership interest with any firm or state the relationship between you and that person or firm and p:

April 15, 2011 520 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Is a person other that you?	n you the beneficial own	er of the shares, bonds, del	bentures, partnership units or notes he
Yes 🗌 No			
If "Yes", complete (g)	, (h) and (i).		
Name of beneficial ov	wner:		
	First areas	Occasion and a series	Third come
Last name	First name	Second name (if applicable)	Third name (<i>if applicable</i>)
Residential address:			
(number street city	province, territory or state	, country, postal code)	
Occupation:			

April 15, 2011 521 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE O Schedule O

Contact information for

Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission,

4th Floor, 300 - Suite 600, 250-5th AvenueSt. SW

Calgary, AB T2P 3C0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142. Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6 Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: FOI Coordinator Compliance and Registrant

Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry

Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and

Insurance Services Division

P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive

Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9

Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

FORM 33-109F5 CHANGE OF REGISTRATION INFORMATION (sections 3.1 and 4.1) (BLACKLINED TO CURRENT LAW)

FORM 33-109F5 CHANGE OF REGISTRATION INFORMATION (sections 3.1 and 4.1)

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Complete and submit this form to notify the relevant regulator(s) or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, or self-regulatory organization (SRO) of changes to information in the following forms:

- 1. Form 33-109F6, except for the changes set out in section 3.1 of National Instrument 33-109, or
- 2. Form 33-109F4.

How to submit this form

To report changes to information in a Form 33-109F4, submit this form at the National Registration Database website in NRD format at www.nrd.ca.

Submit this form in a format other than NRD format to report changes to information in a:

- a) Form 33-109F6, or
- b) Form 33-109F4, if the individual is relying on the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of National Instrument 31-102 [National Registration Database].

Name of firm			
Registration categories			
NRD number (firm)			
Item 1 Type of form			
Check the form that is being updated:			
☐ Form 33-109F6			
If submitting changes to Form 33-109F6, please attach a blackline of the amended sections of the form.			
☐ Form 33-109F4 Name of individual			
Item 2 Details of change			
Provide the item number and details for each change to the form selected above:			
Item number Details			
Effective date of change (YYYY/MM/DD)			

Item 3 Notice of collection and use of personal information

The personal information required under this form is collected on behalf of, and used by, the securities regulatory authorities in the jurisdictions set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce certain provisions of their securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both.

April 15, 2011 523 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

The personal information required under this form is also collected by and used by the SROs set out in Schedule A to administer and enforce their respective by-laws, regulations, rules, rulings and policies.

By submitting this form, the individual consents to the collection by the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO of this personal information, and any police records, records from other government or non-governmental regulators or SROs, credit records and employment records about the individual that the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO may need to complete their review of the information submitted in this form relating to the individual's continued fitness for registration or approval, if applicable, in accordance with the legal authority of the securities regulatory authorities while the individual is registered with or approved by it. Securities regulatory authorities or SROs may contact government and private bodies or agencies, individuals, corporations and other organizations for information about the individual.

If you have any questions about the collection and use of this information, contact the securities regulatory authorities or applicable SRO in any jurisdiction in which the required information is submitted. See Schedule A for details. In Québec, you can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouv.qc.ca.

Item 4 Warning

It is an offence under securities legislation and/or derivatives legislation, including commodity futures legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.

Item 5 Certification

 Use the following certification when submitting this form in NRD format when making changes to Form 33-109F4

I confirm I have discussed the questions in this form with an officer, branch manager or supervisor of my sponsoring firm. To the best of my knowledge and belief, the officer, branch manager or supervisor was satisfied that I fully understood the questions. I will limit my activities to those permitted by my category of registration.

- I am making this submission as agent for the individual identified in this form. By checking this box, I certify that the individual provided me with all of the information on this form.
- 2. Use the following certification when submitting this form in a format other than NRD format when making changes to Form 33-109F6

By signing below I certify to each regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:

- I have read this form and understand the questions, and
- all of the information provided on this form is true, and complete.

Name of firm	
Name of authorized signing officer or partner	
Title of authorized signing officer or partner	
Signature of authorized signing officer or partner	
Date signed(YYYY/MM/DD)	

3. Use the following certification when submitting this form in a format other than NRD format under the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of NI 31-102 when making changes to Form 33-109F4

By signing below, I certify to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:

- I have read this form and understand the questions; and
- all of the information provided on this form is true and complete.

April 15, 2011 524 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Signature of i	ndividual	 	
Date signed			
	(YYYY/MM/DD)		

April 15, 2011 525 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule A **Contact information for** Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, 4th Floor, 300 - Suite 600, 250-5th Avenue St. SW

Calgary, AB T2P 3C0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142. Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2

Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700. 2nd Floor. West Block Confederation Building

St. John's, NL A1B 4J6

Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458

Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Iqaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903. Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: FOI Coordinator Compliance and Registrant

Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314

e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry

Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and

Insurance Services Division

P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission

Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive

Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6

Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600

Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

April 15, 2011 526 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Form 33 – 109F6 Firm registration (BLACKLINED TO CURRENT LAW)

Who should complete this form?

This form is for firms seeking registration under securities legislation, derivatives legislation or both.

Complete and submit this form to seek initial registration as a dealer, adviser or investment fund manager, or to add one or more jurisdiction of Canada or categories to a firm's registration.

Definitions

Chief compliance officer – see section 2.1 of NI 31-103.

Derivatives – financial instruments, such as futures contracts (including exchange traded contracts), futures options and swaps whose market price, value or payment obligations are derived from or based on one or more underlying interests. Derivatives can be in the form of instruments, agreements or securities.

Firm – the person or company seeking registration.

Foreign jurisdiction - see National Instrument 14-101 Definitions.

Form – Form 33-109F6 Firm registration.

Jurisdiction or jurisdiction of Canada - see National Instrument 14-101 Definitions.

NI 31-103 – National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, and, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations;

NI 33-109 - National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information.

NI 52-107 - National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Practices and Auditing Standards.

NRD - National Registration Database. For more information, visit www.nrd-info.ca.

Parent – a person or company that directly or indirectly has significant control of another person or company.

Permitted individual - see NI 33-109.

Predecessor – any entity listed in question 3.6 of this form.

Principal Regulator - see NI 33-109.

Significant control – a person or company has significant control of another person or company if the person or company:

- directly or indirectly holds voting securities representing more than 20 per cent of the outstanding voting rights attached to all outstanding voting securities of the other person or company, or
- directly or indirectly is able to elect or appoint a majority of the directors (or individuals performing similar functions or occupying similar positions) of the other person or company.

Specified affiliate – a person or company that is a parent of the firm, a specified subsidiary of the firm, or a specified subsidiary of the firm's parent.

Specified subsidiary – a person or company of which another person or company has significant control.

SRO - see National Instrument 14-101 Definitions.

Ultimate designated person – see section 2.1 of NI 31-103.

You – the individual who completes, submits, files and/or signs the form on behalf of the firm.

We and the regulator – the securities regulatory authority or regulator in the jurisdiction(s) of Canada where the firm is seeking registration.

Contents of the form

This form consists of the following:

April 15, 2011 527 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Part 1 - Registration details

Part 2 – Contact information

Part 3 - Business history and structure

Part 4 – Registration history

Part 5 – Financial condition

Part 6 - Client relationships

Part 7 – Regulatory action

Part 8 – Legal action

Part 9 – Certification

Schedule A – Contact information for notice of collection and use of personal information

Schedule B - Submission to jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service

Schedule C - Form 31-103F1 Calculation of excess working capital

You are also required to submit the following supporting documents with your completed form:

- Schedule B Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service for each jurisdiction where the firm is seeking registration (question 2.4)
- 2. Business plan, policies and procedures manual, and client agreements (British Columbia, Alberta, and-Manitoba and New Brunswick only) (question 3.3)
- 3. Constating documents (question 3.7)
- 4. Organization chart (question 3.11)
- 5. Ownership chart (question 3.12)
- 6. Calculation of excess working capital (question 5.1)
- 7. Directors' resolution approving insurance (question 5.7)
- 8. Audited financial statements (question 5.13)
- 9. Letter of direction to auditors (question 5.14)

How to complete and submit the form

All dollar values are in Canadian dollars. If a question does not apply to the firm, write "n/a" in the space for the answer.

If the firm is seeking registration in more than one jurisdiction of Canada or category, other than in the category of restricted dealer, you only need to complete and submit one form. If the firm is seeking registration as a restricted dealer, submit and file the form with each jurisdiction of Canada where the firm is seeking that registration.

You can complete this form:

- on paper and deliver it to the principal regulator or relevant SRO
- on paper, scan it and e-mail it to the principal regulator or SRO

If the firm is seeking registration in Ontario, and Ontario is not the firm's principal regulator, you must also file a copy of this form, without supporting documents, with the Ontario Securities Commission.

You can find contact information for submitting and filing the form in Appendix B of Companion Policy 33-109CP Registration Information.

We may accept the form in other formats. Please check with the regulator before you complete, submit and file the form. If you are completing the form on paper and need more space to answer a question, use a separate sheet of paper and attach it to this form. Clearly identify the question number.

You must include all supporting documents and fees-with your submission. We may ask you to provide other information and documents to help determine whether the firm is suitable for registration.

In most of this form, answers are required to questions which apply only to Canadian provinces and territories; you will find that the questions are referenced to "jurisdictions" or "jurisdiction of Canada". These refer to all provinces and territories of Canada. However, the questions in Part 4 – Registration History and Part 7 – Regulatory Action are to be answered in respect of any jurisdiction in the world.

It is an offence under securities legislation or derivatives legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.

The firm is required to pay a registration fee in each jurisdiction of Canada where it is submitting and filing this form. Refer to the prescribed fees of the applicable jurisdiction for details.

April 15, 2011 528 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

See Part 3 of NI 33-109.

Updating the information on the form

The firm is required to notify the regulator, within specified times, of any changes to the information on this form by submitting and filing Form 33-109F5 *Change of Registration Information.*

Collection and use of personal information

We and the SROs (if applicable) require personal information about the people referred to in this form as part of our review to determine whether the firm is suitable for registration. If the firm is approved, we also require this information to assess whether the firm continues to meet the registration requirements.

We may only:

- ____collect the personal information under the requirements in securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both
- <u>2.•</u> use this information to administer and enforce provisions of the securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both

We may collect personal information from police records, records of other regulators or SROs, credit records, employment records, government and private bodies or agencies, individuals, corporations, and other organizations. We may also collect personal information indirectly.

We may provide personal information about the individuals referred to in this form to other regulators, securities or derivatives exchanges, SROs or similar organizations, if required for an investigation or other regulatory issue.

If anyone referred to in this form has any questions about the collection and use of their personal information, they can contact the regulator or SRO, if applicable, in the relevant jurisdiction of Canada. See Schedule A for details. In Québec, they can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information du Québec at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouv.qc.ca.

Part 1 - Registration details

1.1 Firm's full legal name

registration

1.2

1.3

For more information, visit www.nrd-info.ca.

Provide the full legal name of the firm as it appears on the firm's constating documents required under question 3.7. If the firm is a sole proprietorship, provide your first, last and any middle names

names.	
If the firm's legal name is in English and French, pro	ovide both versions.
Firm's NRD number	
M/h., and vary authoritation this farms?	
Why are you submitting this form?	
☐ To seek initial registration as a firm in one or more jurisdictions of Canada	The entire form
☐ To add one or more jurisdictions of Canada to the firm's registration	Questions 1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 2.4, <u>3.9, 5.4,</u> <u>5.6*,</u> and Part 9
☐ To add one or more categories to the firm's	Questions 1.1, 1.2, 1.4, 1.5, <u>3.1,</u> 5.1, 5.4,

* If the firm is adding Québec as a jurisdiction for registration in the category of mutual fund dealer

5.5*, 5.6*, 5.7, 5.8, Part 6 and Part 9

April 15, 2011 529 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

or scholarship plan dealer, complete question 5.6.

	1.4 In what ca	ategory	and ju	urisdic	tion is	the fi	rm see	king re	gistrat	tion? (Check	all tha	t appl	y.
	(a) Categories	s under	securit	ties leg	islatior	า								
							Ju	risdicti	on					
Abbreviations Alberta (AB) British Columbia	Category Investment dealer	AB □	BC □	MB □	NB □	NL	<u>N∓S</u> □	<u>NST</u> □	NU	ON	PE	QC	sk □	YT
(BC) Manitoba (MB) New Brunswick	Mutual fund dealer													
(NB) Newfoundland and	Scholarship plan dealer													
Labrador (NL) Northwest Territories (NT)	Exempt market dealer													
Nova Scotia (NS) Nunavut (NU)	Restricted dealer													
Ontario (ON) Prince Edward	Investment fund manager													
Island (PE) Québec (QC) Saskatchewan	Portfolio manager													
(SK) Yukon (YT)	Restricted portfolio manager													
	Categories Category Dealer (r Dealer (f Dealer (f Local Adviser Commod Commod Commod Futures (c) Investment If the firm the firm als Derivative Derivative 1.5 Exemptio Is the firm Yes If yes, prov Type of e	y nerchan utures c loor brol lity tradility tradility tradility tradility tradility tradiscommiss t dealer is seekiliso act a s dealer s portfol ns applying No vide the	tt) ommis ker) ng adv ng cou ng mai sion ma s and i ng regi s a: io mar follow on	riser Insel Inager Instraction Instraction Insertion Ins	t o mananin Qu Yes Yes	agers debects and sunder	Manitol Ontari Québec as an in No No	o conly) vestmentities or o	nt dea derivat	ler or a			nager,	will

April 15, 2011 530 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

		AB	ВС	MB	NB	NL	<u>N∓S</u> □	<u>NST</u> □	NU	ON	PE	QC	sk □	ΥT	
	Part 2	2 – Cont	act inf	format	ion										
		Addre	esses												
	2.1	Head	office	addre	ss										
A post office box on its own is not		Addr	ess lin	e 1											
acceptable for a head office address.		Addr	ess lin	e 2											
		City							Prov	/ince/te	erritory/	state			
		Cour	-						Post	tal/zip o	code				
			phone	numbe	er				Fax	numbe	er				
		Web	site												
		If the f	firm's h	ead of	fice is	in Can	ada, go	to ques	tion 2.	3.					
		If the f	īrm's h	ead of	fice is	not in (Canada	, go to c	uestio	n 2.2.					
	2.2	Firms	whos	e head	d offic	e is no	t in Car	nada							
	(a)	Does	the firn	n have	any b	usiness	addres	sses in (Canada	a?					
		Yes		No											
		If yes,	provid	e the f	īrm's p	rimary	Canadi	an busir	ness a	ddress	:				
		Addr	ess lin	e 1											
		Addr	ess lin	e 2											
		City							Prov	/ince/te	erritory				
		Post	al code)											
The securities regulatory authority in this jurisdiction of Canada is the firm's principal regulator in Canada.	(b)	year s most o circum	ince be of its cl ostance	eing re ients to es, indi	gistere be re cate th	ed, indicesident ne jurisc	cate the at the e diction o	of Cana jurisdic nd of its of Canac complete	tion of curre da in w	Canad nt finan hich m	la in wl cial ye lost of	hich the ar. In a	e firm e Ill othe	expects r	
		AB	ВС	MB	NB	NL	<u>NT</u> <u>NS</u>		NU	ON	l PE	E Q	C SI	K Y	Т
] []
A post office box is	2.3	Mailin	ıg add	ress											

April 15, 2011 531 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

acceptable for a							
mailing address.		Same as the head office address					
		Address line 1					
		Address line 2					
		City	Province/territory/state				
		Country	Postal/zip code				
If the firm does not	2.4	Address for service and agent for service					
have an office in a jurisdiction of Canada where it is seeking registration, it must appoint an agent for service in that jurisdiction of Canada.		Attach a completed Schedule B Submission to Service for each jurisdiction of Canada where the have an office.					
Canada.		Contact names					
	2.5	Ultimate designated person					
A registered firm must have an		Legal name					
individual registered in the category of		Officer ∓title					
ultimate designated person.		<u>Telephone number</u>					
person.		E-mail address					
		NRD number, if available					
		Address					
		☐ Same as firm head office address					
		Address line 1					
		Address line 2					
		City	Province/territory/state				
		Country	Postal/zip code				
	2.6	Chief compliance officer					
		☐ Same as ultimate designated person					
A registered firm must have an		Legal name					
individual registered		Officer Ttitle					
in the category of chief compliance officer.		Telephone number					
onicei.		E-mail address					

April 15, 2011 532 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	NRD number, if available			
	Address			
	☐ Same as firm head office address			
	Address line 1			
	Address line 2			
	City	Province/territory/state		
	Country	Postal/zip code		
rt 3	- Business history and structure			
	Business activities			
	The firm's business			
	Provide a description of the firm's proposed activities, target market, and the products at			
2	Other names			
	In addition to the firm's legal name in questi as a trade name? Yes No D	on 1.1, does the firm use any othe	r names	s, suc
	as a trade name?		r names	s, suc
	as a trade name? Yes No		r names	s, suc
ì	as a trade name? Yes No	ch name has been registered:		s, suc
ì	as a trade name? Yes No If yes, list all other names and indicate if each Business documents	ch name has been registered:		s, suc
ì	as a trade name? Yes No If yes, list all other names and indicate if each Business documents	ch name has been registered:		
•	as a trade name? Yes No Service	ch name has been registered: s to support its business activities? ee years uding account opening		
	as a trade name? Yes No Service No Service No No Service No Service No No Service No No Service No No Service No	ch name has been registered: s to support its business activities? ee years iding account opening irness in allocation of investment		

regulator of the firm seeking registration, attach the firm's business plan, policies and procedures manual and client agreements, including any investment policy statements and investment management agreements.

History of the firm

April 15, 2011 533 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	3.4	when was the firm created?	
		Yyyy/mm/dd	
	3.5	How was the firm created?	
		New start-up Merger or amalgamation Reorganization Other statutory arrangement	Go to question 3.7. Go to question 3.6. Go to question 3.6. Please specify below and go to question 3.6.
	3.6	Predecessors	
		List the entities that were merged, am create the firm.	algamated, reorganized or otherwise arranged to
	3.7	Constating documents	
		articles and certificate of incorporation or declaration of trust. If the firm is a strade name. As part of their constating documents	olished the firm as an entity, for example, the firm's n, any articles of amendments, partnership agreement sole proprietorship, provide a copy of the registration of n, firms whose head office is outside Canada may be
		required to provide proof of extra-prov Business structure and ownership	vincial registration.
	3.8	Type of legal structure	
		Sole proprietorship Partnership Limited partnership Corporation Other Sole proprietorship Name or	f general partnerspecify
	3.9	Business registration number, if ap	pplicable
This is the firm's corporate registration number		List the firm's business registration nu seeking registration.	imber for each jurisdiction of Canada where the firm is
or Québec enterprise number (NEQ).		Business registration number	Jurisdiction of Canada
	3 10	Permitted individuals	

April 15, 2011 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) 534

List all permitted individuals of the firm.

Name	Title	NRD number, if applicable
Organization chart		

3.11

Attach an organization chart showing the firm's reporting structure. Include all permitted individuals, the ultimate designated person and the chief compliance officer.

3.12 Ownership chart

Attach a chart showing the firm's structure and ownership. At a minimum, include all parents, specified affiliates and specified subsidiaries.

Include the name of the person or company, and class, type, amount and voting percentage of ownership of the firm's securities.

Part 4 - Registration history

The questions in Part 4 apply to any jurisdiction and any foreign jurisdiction.in the world.

4.1 Securities registration

In the last seven years, has the firm, or any pred been registered or licensed to trade or advise in	•
Yes No	
If yes, provide the following information for each	registration:
Name of entity	
Registration category	
Regulator/organization	
Date registered or licensed (yyyy/mm/dd)	Expiry date, if applicable (yyyy/mm/dd)
Jurisdiction	

4.2 **Exemption from securities registration**

	,	lying on any exemptions from registration or licensing to trade or derivatives?
Yes	No	

If yes, provide the following information for each exemption:

(2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) April 15, 2011 535

Type of exemption	
Regulator/organization	
Date of exemption (yyyy/mm/dd)	
Jurisdiction	
Membership in an exchange or SRO	
In the last seven years, has the firm, or any probeen a member of a securities or derivatives or	
Yes No	
If yes, provide the following information for ea	ch membership:
Name of entity	
Organization	
Date of membership (yyyy/mm/dd)	Expiry date, if applicable (yyyy/mm/dd)
Jurisdiction	
Exemption from membership in an exchange is the firm currently relying on any exemptions derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organizers.	from membership with a securities or
Is the firm currently relying on any exemptions derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organiz	s from membership with a securities or ation?
Is the firm currently relying on any exemptions derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organiz	s from membership with a securities or ation?
Is the firm currently relying on any exemptions derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organizes. Yes No If yes, provide the following information for ea	s from membership with a securities or ation?
Is the firm currently relying on any exemptions derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organiz Yes No If yes, provide the following information for ea	s from membership with a securities or ation?
Is the firm currently relying on any exemptions derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organiz Yes No If yes, provide the following information for each type of exemption Organization	s from membership with a securities or ation?
Is the firm currently relying on any exemptions derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organiz Yes No Street No Stree	s from membership with a securities or ation?
Is the firm currently relying on any exemptions derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organiz Yes No Street No Stree	s from membership with a securities or ation? ch exemption:
Is the firm currently relying on any exemptions derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organizery and the second of	s from membership with a securities or ation? ch exemption: ership d affiliates of the firm ever-been refused nancial services regulator, securities or
Is the firm currently relying on any exemptions derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organiz. Yes No If yes, provide the following information for early period of exemption Organization Date of exemption (yyyy/mm/dd) Jurisdiction Refusal of registration, licensing or membership with a firm, or any predecessors or specified registration, licensing or membership with a firm.	s from membership with a securities or ation? ch exemption: ership d affiliates of the firm ever-been refused nancial services regulator, securities or
Is the firm currently relying on any exemptions derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organiz Yes No Street No Stree	s from membership with a securities or ation? ch exemption: ership d affiliates of the firm ever-been refused nancial services regulator, securities or ation?
Is the firm currently relying on any exemptions derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organizers. Yes No Street No S	s from membership with a securities or ation? ch exemption: ership d affiliates of the firm ever-been refused nancial services regulator, securities or ation?

April 15, 2011 536 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Examples of other financial products include financial planning, life insurance and

mortgages.

5.3

Guarantors

	Regulator/organization					
	Date of refusal (yyyy/mm/dd)					
	Jurisdiction					
4.6	Registration for other financial	products				
	In the last seven years, has the f been registered or licensed unde advise in a financial product othe	r legislation tha	t requires re	egistration or licensing to sell or		
	Yes No					
	If yes, provide the following inform	mation for each	registration	or licence:		
	Name of entity					
	Type of licence or registration					
	Regulator/organization					
	Date of registration (yyyy/mm/d	d)	Expiry dat	e, if applicable (yyyy/mm/dd)		
	Jurisdiction					
Part 5	– Financial condition					
	Capital requirements					
5.1	Calculation of excess working	capital				
Attach	the firm's calculation of excess w	orking capital.				
	vestment dealers Firms that are equired by the Investment Industry				n	
<u>A</u>	lutual fund dealers must use the c ssociation of Canada (MFDA), exc RO.					
	irms that are not members of <u>eitl</u> alculation of Excess Working Capi			_SRO -must use Form 31-103F	1	
5.2	Sources of capital					
	List all cash, cash equivalents, de	eash, cash equivalents, debt and equity sources of the firm's capital.				
	Name of person or entity providing the capital	Type of capit	al	Amount (\$)		

April 15, 2011 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) 537

See Schedule C Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital. In relation to its business, does the firm:

	Yes	No
(a) Have any guarantors?		
(b) Act as a guarantor for any party?		

If yes, provide the following information for each guarantee:

Name of party to the guarantee	
NRD number, if applicable	
Relationship to the firm	Amount of guarantee (\$)
Details of the guarantee	
j	

Bonding and insurance

Questions 5.4 to 5.8 apply to the firm's bonding or insurance coverage or proposed bonding or insurance coverage for securities and derivatives activities only. This in accordance with Part 12, Division 2 of NI 31-103.

5.4 Jurisdictions covered

This information is on the financial institution bond.

Where does the firm have bonding or insurance coverage?

AB BC	
MB	
NB	
NL	
<u>NŦS</u>	
NST	
NU	
ON	
PE	
QC	
SK	
ΥT	

If the firm's bonding or insurance does not cover all jurisdiction of Canada where it is seeking registration, explain why.

5.5 Bonding or insurance details

This information is on the binder of insurance or on the financial institution bond.

Name of insurer	
Daniel and a Carrameters	
Bond or policy number	
Specific insuring agreements and clauses	
opeoine insuring agreements and clauses	
Coverage for each claim (\$)	Annual aggregate coverage (\$)
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Total Coverage (\$)	

April 15, 2011 538 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

5.6

5.7

5.8

Amount of the deductible (\$)	Renewal Expiry date (yyyy/mm/dd)
f the firm's insurance or proposed insurance xplain how it provides equivalent coverage	e is not in the form of a financial institution bone to the bond.
Professional liability insurance (Québec	only)
	as a mutual fund dealer or a scholarship plan out the firm's professional liability insurance:
Name of insurer	
Policy number	
Specific insuring agreements and clauses	
Coverage for each claim (\$)	Annual aggregate coverage (\$)
Total Coverage (\$)	
Amount of the deductible (\$)	Renewal date (yyyy/mm/dd)
Jurisdictions covered:	
	<u>NS</u> NU ON PE QC SK YT NT
Which insurance policy applies to your rep	resentatives?
Firm's policy Individual's policy	☐ Both ☐
Directors' resolution approving insurance Attach a directors' resolution confirming that becurities or derivatives-related activities.	e the firm has sufficient insurance coverage for it
Bonding or insurance claims	
n the last seven years, has the firm made a	ny claims against a bond or on its insurance?
∕es	ach claim:
Type of bond or insurance	aon olaitti.
Date of claim (yyyy/mm/dd)	Amount (\$)
Reason for claim	

April 15, 2011 539 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

cruptcy, or been the subject of a petition in ediction? for each bankruptcy or assignment in bankruptcy tion Date discharge granted, if applicable (yyyy/mm/dd) arge, release or equivalent document.				
for each bankruptcy or assignment in bankruptcy tion Date discharge granted, if applicable (yyyy/mm/dd) arge, release or equivalent document. ny of its specified affiliates appointed a receiver, or the equivalent in any jurisdiction?				
tion Date discharge granted, if applicable (yyyy/mm/dd) arge, release or equivalent document. ny of its specified affiliates appointed a receiver, or the equivalent in any jurisdiction?				
(yyyy/mm/dd) arge, release or equivalent document. ny of its specified affiliates appointed a receiver, or the equivalent in any jurisdiction?				
(yyyy/mm/dd) arge, release or equivalent document. ny of its specified affiliates appointed a receiver, or the equivalent in any jurisdiction?				
(yyyy/mm/dd) arge, release or equivalent document. ny of its specified affiliates appointed a receiver, or the equivalent in any jurisdiction?				
ny of its specified affiliates appointed a receiver , or the equivalent in any jurisdiction?				
ny of its specified affiliates appointed a receiver , or the equivalent in any jurisdiction?				
ny of its specified affiliates appointed a receiver , or the equivalent in any jurisdiction?				
Reason for appointment				
Reason appointment ended				
<u> </u>				
Financial year-end				
-				

Provide the name of 5 the individual

April 15, 2011 540 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) auditing the financial statements and the name of the firm, if applicable.

Name of auditor and accounting	firm

5.13 Audited financial statements

- (a) Attach, for your most recently completed year, either
- (i) non-consolidated audited financial statements; or
- (ii) audited financial statements prepared in accordance with section 3.2(3) of NI 52-107.
- (b) If the audited financial statements attached for item (a) were prepared for a period ending more than 90 days before the date of this application, also attach an interim financial report for a period of not more than 90 days before the date of this application.

If the firm is a start-up company, you can attach an audited opening statement of financial position instead.

Attach audited financial statements prepared within the last 90 days.

If the firm is a start up company, you can attach an audited opening balance sheet instead.

5.14 Letter of direction to auditors

We may request an audit of the firm at any time while the firm is registered.

Attach a letter of direction from the firm authorizing the auditor to conduct any audit or review of the firm that the regulator may request.

Part 6 - Client relationships

6.1 Client assets

See Part 14, Division 3 of NI 31-103 and Companion Policy 31-103CP.

For guidance regarding whether a firm will hold or have access to client assets see section 12.4 of Companion Policy 31-103CP.

<u>Will</u> Đ	ces the	firm h	old or have access to client assets?
Yes		No	

If yes, provide the following information for each financial institution where the trust accounts for client assets are held.

Name of financial institution	
Address line 1	
Address line 2	
City	Province/territory
Postal code	Telephone number

6.2 Conflicts of interest

Does the firm have or expect to have any relationships that could reasonably result in any significant conflicts of interest in carrying out its registerable activities in accordance with securities or derivatives legislation?

Yes □ No □

If yes, complete the following questions:

April 15, 2011 541 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	(a) Provide details about each conflict:		
	(b) Does the firm have policies and procedures to identify and respond to it interest?	ts conflic	ts of
	Yes No		
	If no, explain why:		
Part 7	7 – Regulatory action		
	The questions in Part 7 apply to any jurisdiction and any foreign jurisdiction. The questions in Part 7 apply to any jurisdiction in the world.	<u> [he info</u>	<u>mation</u>
7.1	Settlement agreements		
	Has the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm ever entere settlement agreement with any financial services regulator, securities or derivative exchange, SRO or similar organization?		
	Yes No C		
	If yes, provide the following information for each settlement agreement:		
	Name of entity		
	Regulator/organization		
	Date of settlement (yyyy/mm/dd)		
	Details of settlement		
	Jurisdiction		
7.2	Disciplinary history		
	Has any financial services regulator, securities or derivatives exchange, SRO organization ever:	or simila	ır
		Yes	No
	(a) Determined that the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of		

(a) Determined that the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm violated any securities regulations or any rules of a securities or derivatives exchange, SRO or similar organization?

(b) Determined that the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm made a false statement or omission?

(c) Issued a warning or requested an undertaking by the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm?

April 15, 2011 542 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

7.3

Part 8

8.1

) Suspended or terminated any registration, licensing or membership of the firm, or any predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm?			
Imposed terms or conditions on any registration or membership of the firm, or predecessors or specified affiliates of the firm?			
(g) Issued an order (other than an exemption firm, or any predecessors or specified a securities or derivatives-related activity	affiliates of the firm for		
If yes, provide the following information for each	ch action:		
Name of entity			
Type of action			
Regulator/organization			
Date of action (yyyy/mm/dd)	Reason for action		
Jurisdiction			
Ongoing investigations			
Is the firm aware of any ongoing investigations affiliates is the subject?	s of which the firm or any of its specified		
Yes No			
If yes, provide the following information for each	ch investigation:		
Name of entity			
Reason or purpose of investigation			
Regulator/organization			
Date investigation commenced (yyyy/mm/dd			
Jurisdiction			
Jurisdiction - Legal action			
- Legal action The firm must disclose offences or legal action			
- Legal action The firm must disclose offences or legal action business activities in any jurisdiction. The info	ns under any statute governing the firm and its		
 Legal action The firm must disclose offences or legal action business activities in any jurisdiction. The info 7 years. 	ns under any statute governing the firm and its rmation must be provided in respect of the last		
 Legal action The firm must disclose offences or legal action business activities in any jurisdiction. The info 7 years. Criminal convictions Has the firm, or any predecessors or specified 	ns under any statute governing the firm and its rmation must be provided in respect of the last		
 Legal action The firm must disclose offences or legal action business activities in any jurisdiction. The info 7 years. Criminal convictions Has the firm, or any predecessors or specified any criminal or quasi-criminal offence? 	ns under any statute governing the firm and its rmation must be provided in respect of the last affiliates of the firm ever-been convicted of		

April 15, 2011 543 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Тур	pe of offence			
Cas	se name	Case number, if ap	plicable	
Dat	te of conviction (yyyy/mm/dd)			
Jur	isdiction			
Outs	standing criminal charges			
	e firm or any of its specified affiliates currently the i-criminal charges?	e subject of any outstan	ding crim	ninal
Yes	□ No □			
If yes	s, provide the following information for each char	ge:		
Nai	me of entity			
Тур	pe of offence			
Dat	te of charge (yyyy/mm/dd)			
Jur	te of charge (yyyy/mm/dd) isdiction			
Jur	,		Yes	N
Jur Outs	isdiction		Yes	No
Outs (a)	standing legal actions Is the firm currently a defendant or respondent	y a defendant or n) in any outstanding ies-related activities, or	Yes	N ₀
Outs (a) (b)	isdiction Standing legal actions Is the firm currently a defendant or respondent any jurisdiction) in any outstanding legal action Are any of the firm's specified affiliates currently respondent (or the equivalent in any jurisdiction legal action that involves fraud, theft or security	y a defendant or n) in any outstanding ies-related activities, or es?	Yes	N
Outs (a) (b)	Is the firm currently a defendant or respondent any jurisdiction) in any outstanding legal action Are any of the firm's specified affiliates currentl respondent (or the equivalent in any jurisdiction legal action that involves fraud, theft or securit that could significantly affect the firm's business	y a defendant or n) in any outstanding ies-related activities, or es?	Yes	N
Outs (a) (b) If yes	Is the firm currently a defendant or respondent any jurisdiction) in any outstanding legal action Are any of the firm's specified affiliates currently respondent (or the equivalent in any jurisdiction legal action that involves fraud, theft or securit that could significantly affect the firm's business, provide the following information for each legal	y a defendant or n) in any outstanding ies-related activities, or es?	Yes	Ne
Outs (a) (b) If yes	Is the firm currently a defendant or respondent any jurisdiction) in any outstanding legal action Are any of the firm's specified affiliates currently respondent (or the equivalent in any jurisdiction legal action that involves fraud, theft or security that could significantly affect the firm's business, provide the following information for each legal me of entity	y a defendant or n) in any outstanding ies-related activities, or es?	Yes	Ne
Outs (a) (b) If yes Nai	Is the firm currently a defendant or respondent any jurisdiction) in any outstanding legal action Are any of the firm's specified affiliates currently respondent (or the equivalent in any jurisdiction legal action that involves fraud, theft or security that could significantly affect the firm's business, provide the following information for each legal me of entity the of legal action	y a defendant or n) in any outstanding ies-related activities, or es?	Yes	No
Outs (a) (b) If yes Nai Typ Dat	Is the firm currently a defendant or respondent any jurisdiction) in any outstanding legal action Are any of the firm's specified affiliates currently respondent (or the equivalent in any jurisdiction legal action that involves fraud, theft or security that could significantly affect the firm's business, provide the following information for each legal me of entity the of legal action the of legal action (yyyy/mm/dd)	y a defendant or n) in any outstanding ies-related activities, or es?	Yes	No

8.4 Judgments

April 15, 2011 544 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	Yes	No
<u>□(a)</u> Has any judgment been rendered against the firm or is any judgment outstanding in any civil court for damages or other relief relating to fraud, theft or securities-related activities?		
<u>□(b)</u> Are any of the firm's specified affiliates currently the subject of any judgments that involve fraud, theft or securities-related activities, or that could significantly affect the firm's business?		

If yes, provide the following information for each judgment:

Name of entity
Type of judgment
Date of judgment (yyyy/mm/dd)
Current stage of litigation, if applicable
Remedies requested by plaintiffs

Part 9 - Certification

It is an offence under securities legislation or derivatives legislation to give false or misleading information on this form.

By signing below, you:

- Certify to the regulator in each jurisdiction of Canada where the firm is submitting and filing this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, that:
 - you have read this form, and
 - to the best of your knowledge and after reasonable inquiry, all of the information provided on this form is true and complete.
- 2. Certify to each regulator in a non-principal jurisdiction of Canada where the firm is submitting and filing this form, either directly or through the principal regulator, that at the date of this submission:
 - the firm has submitted and filed all information required to be submitted and filed under the securities legislation or derivatives legislation or both of the principal jurisdiction of Canada in relation to the firm's registration in that jurisdiction, and
 - this information is true and complete.
- Authorize the principal regulator to give each non-principal regulator access to any
 information the firm has submitted or filed with the principal regulator under securities
 legislation or derivatives legislation or both of the principal jurisdiction of Canada in
 relation to the firm's registration in that jurisdiction.
- 4. Acknowledge that the regulator may collect and provide personal information about the individuals referred to in this form under *Collection and use of personal information*.
- Confirm that the individuals referred to in this form have been notified that their personal information is disclosed on this form, the legal reason for doing so, how it will be used and who to contact for more information.

Name of firm
Name of firm's authorized signing officer or partner
Title of firm's authorized signing officer or partner

April 15, 2011 545 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Signature	
Date (yyyy/mm/dd)	

Witness

The witness must be a lawyer, notary public or commissioner of oaths.

Name of witness	
Title of witness	
Signature	
ŭ	
Date (yyyy/mm/dd)	
Bato (yyyy/min/aa)	

April 15, 2011 546 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule A **Contact information for** Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission, Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW Calgary, AB T2P 0R4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142. Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6 Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314 e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and Insurance Services Division P.O. Box 2000 Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8 Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3 Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6 Attention: Superintendent of Securities Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600 Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer

Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

Schedule B Submission to jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service

		Submission to jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service
1.	Name	of person or company (the "Firm"):
2.	Jurisdi	ction of incorporation of the person or company:
3.	Name	of agent for service of process (the "Agent for Service"):
4.	Addres	ss for service of process on the Agent for Service:
	<u>Phone</u>	number of the Agent for Service:
5.	served quasi-c local ju	rm designates and appoints the Agent for Service at the address stated above as its agent upon whom may be a notice, pleading, subpoena, summons or other process in any action, investigation or administrative, criminal, criminal or other proceeding (a "Proceeding") arising out of or relating to or concerning the Firm's activities in the urisdiction and irrevocably waives any right to raise as a defense in any such proceeding any alleged lack of stion to bring such Proceeding.
6.	admini	rm irrevocably and unconditionally submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the judicial, quasi-judicial and strative tribunals of the local jurisdiction and any administrative proceeding in the local jurisdiction, in any ding arising out of or related to or concerning the Firm's activities in the local jurisdiction.
7.	Until si	x years after the Firm ceases to be registered, the Firm must file
	a.	a new Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service in this form no later than the 7th-10th day after the date this Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service is terminated; and
	b.	an amended Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service no later than the 7^{th} 10th day after any change in the name or above address of the Agent for Service.
8.		ubmission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service is governed by and construed in accordance with s of the local jurisdiction.
Dated:		
(Signat	ure of the	e Firm or authorized signatory)
(Name	and Title	e of authorized signatory)
Accept	ance	
		d accepts the appointment as Agent for Service of (Insert name of the Firm) under the terms and conditions of ubmission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service.
Dated:		
(Signat	ure of Ag	gent for Service or authorized signatory)
(Name	and Title	e of authorized signatory)

April 15, 2011 548 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule C

FORM 31-103F1 CALCULATION OF EXCESS WORKING CAPITAL

	Firm Name	-
(as at	Capital Calculation with comparative figures as at)

	Component	Current period	Prior period
1.	Current assets		
2.	Less current assets not readily convertible into cash (e.g., prepaid expenses)		
3.	Adjusted current assets Line 1 minus line 2 =		
4.	Current liabilities		
5.	Add 100% of long-term related party debt unless the firm and the lender have executed a subordination agreement in the form set out in Appendix B and the firm has delivered a copy of the agreement to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority		
6.	Adjusted current liabilities Line 4 plus line 5 =		
7.	Adjusted working capital Line 3 minus line 6 =		
8.	Less minimum capital		
9.	Less market risk		
10.	Less any deductible under the bonding or insurance policy required under Part 12 of National Instrument 31-103, Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations		
11.	Less Guarantees		
12.	Less unresolved differences		

April 15, 2011 549 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

13.	Excess working capital		
-----	------------------------	--	--

Notes:

This form must be prepared using the accounting principles that you use to prepare your financial statements in accordance with National Instrument 52-107 Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards. Section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations provides further guidance in respect of these accounting principles.

<u>Line 5. Related-party debt – Refer to the CICA Handbook for the definition of "related party" for publicly accountable enterprises.</u>

Line 8. Minimum Capital – The amount on this line must be not less than (a) \$25,000 for an adviser, and (b) \$50,000 for a dealer, and (c) \$100,000 for. For an investment fund manager, the amount must be not less than \$100,000 unless subsection 12.1(4) applies.

Line 9. Market Risk – The amount on this line must be calculated according to the instructions set out in Schedule 1 to this Form.

Line 11. Guarantees – If the registered firm is guaranteeing the liability of another party, the total amount of the guarantee must be included in the capital calculation. -If the amount of a guarantee is included in the firm's statement of financial position as a current liability and is reflected in line 4, do not include the amount of the guarantee on line 11.

Line 12. Unresolved differences – Any unresolved differences that could result in a loss from either firm or client assets must be included in the capital calculation. The examples below provide guidance as to how to calculate unresolved differences:

- (i) If there is an unresolved difference relating to client securities, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the <u>marketfair</u>-value of the client securities that are short, plus the applicable margin rate for those securities.
- (ii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to the registrant's investments, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the fair value of the investments (securities) that are short.
- (iii) If there is an unresolved difference relating to cash, the amount to be reported on Line 12 will be equal to the amount of the shortfall in cash.

<u>Please refer to section 12.1 of Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations for further guidance on how to prepare and file this form.</u>

Management Certification

Registered Firm Name:						
We have examined the attach	·	that the firm is in compliance with the capital requi	rements as at			
Name and Title	Signature	Date				
2	<u> </u>					

April 15, 2011 550 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Schedule 1 of Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital (calculating line 9 [market risk])

For purposes of completing this form:

- (1) "Fair value" means the value of a security determined in accordance with Canadian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises.
- (2) _____For each security whose value is included in line 1, Current Assets, multiply the <u>marketfair</u> value of the security by the margin rate for that security set out below. Add up the resulting amounts for all of the securities you hold. The total is the "market risk" to be entered on line 9.
- (a) Bonds, Debentures, Treasury Bills and Notes
- (i) Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by the Government of Canada, of the United Kingdom, of the United States of America and of any other national foreign government (provided such foreign government securities are currently rated Aaa or AAA by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor's Corporation, respectively), maturing (or called for redemption):

within 1 year: 1% of marketfair value multiplied by the fraction determined by

dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years:

1 % of marketfair value

2% of marketfair value

2% of marketfair value

4% of marketfair value

4% of marketfair value

4% of marketfair value

(ii) Bonds, debentures, treasury bills and other securities of or guaranteed by any jurisdiction of Canada and obligations of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, maturing (or called for redemption):

within 1 year: 2% of marketfair value multiplied by the fraction determined by

dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years:

3 % of marketfair value
over 3 years to 7 years:

4% of marketfair value
over 7 years to 11 years:

5% of marketfair value
over 11 years:

5% of marketfair value

(iii) Bonds, debentures or notes (not in default) of or guaranteed by any municipal corporation in Canada or the United Kingdom maturing:

within 1 year: 3% of marketfair value multiplied by the fraction determined by

dividing the number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year to 3 years: 5 % of marketfair value
over 3 years to 7 years: 5% of marketfair value
over 7 years to 11 years: 5% of marketfair value
over 11 years: 5% of marketfair value

(iv) Other non-commercial bonds and debentures, (not in default): 10% of marketfair value

April 15, 2011 551 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

(v) Commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes (not in default) and non-negotiable and non-transferable trust company and mortgage loan company obligations registered in the registered firm's name maturing:

within 1 year: 3% of market<u>fair</u> value over 1 year to 3 years: 6 % of market<u>fair</u> value over 3 years to 7 years: 7% of market<u>fair</u> value over 7 years to 11 years: 10% of market<u>fair</u> value over 11 years: 10% of market<u>fair</u> value

(b) Bank Paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a Canadian chartered bank (and of Canadian chartered bank acceptances) maturing:

within 1 year: 2% of fair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the

number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

(c) Acceptable foreign bank paper

Deposit certificates, promissory notes or debentures issued by a foreign bank, readily negotiable and transferable and maturing:

within 1 year: 2% of marketfair value multiplied by the fraction determined by dividing the

number of days to maturity by 365

over 1 year: apply rates for commercial and corporate bonds, debentures and notes

(d) Mutual Funds

Securities of mutual funds qualified by prospectus for sale in any jurisdiction of Canada:

- (i) 5% of the net asset value per security as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106

 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure, where the fund is a money market mutual fund as defined in National Instrument 81-102 Mutual Funds; or
- (ii) the margin rate determined on the same basis as for listed stocks multiplied by the net asset value per security of the fund as determined in accordance with National Instrument 81-106 Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure.

(e) Stocks

In this paragraph, "securities" includes rights and warrants and does not include bonds and debentures.

(i) On securities (other than bonds and debentures) including investment fund securities, rights and warrants, listed on any exchange in Canada or the United States of America:

Long Positions - Margin Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more – 50% of marketfair value

Securities selling at \$1.75 to \$1.99 - 60% of marketfair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.74 – 80% of marketfairvalue

Securities selling under \$1.50 - 100% of marketfair value

April 15, 2011 552 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

[&]quot;Acceptable Foreign Bank Paper" consists of deposit certificates or promissory notes issued by a bank other than a Canadian chartered bank with a net worth (i.e., capital plus reserves) of not less than \$200,000,000.

Short Positions - Credit Required

Securities selling at \$2.00 or more - 150% of marketfair value

Securities selling at \$1.50 to \$1.99 - \$3.00 per share

Securities selling at \$0.25 to \$1.49 - 200% of marketfair value

Securities selling at less than \$0.25 - marketfair value plus \$0.25 per shares

- (ii) For positions in securities (other than bonds and debentures but including warrants and rights), 50% of the market value if the security is a constituent security that are constituent securities on a major broadly-based index of one of the following exchanges, 50% of the fair value:
 - (a) American Stock Exchange
 - (ba) Australian Stock Exchange Limited
 - (be) Bolsa de MadridValores de Sao Paulo
 - (cd) Borsa Italiana
 - (d) Copenhagen Stock Exchange
 - (e) Boston Stock Exchange
 - (f) Chicago Board of Options Exchange
 - (g) Chicago Board of Trade
 - (h) Chicago Mercantile Exchange
 - (i) Chicago Stock Exchange
 - (je) Euronext Amsterdam
 - (<u>fk</u>) Euronext Brussels
 - (gł) Euronext Paris S.A.
 - (mh) Frankfurt Stock Exchange
 - (n) London International Financial Futures and Options Exchange
 - (ei) London Stock Exchange
 - (p) Montreal Exchange
 - (q) New York Mercantile Exchange
 - (r) New York Stock Exchange
 - (sį) New Zealand Exchange Limited
 - (k) Stockholm Stock Exchange
 - (t) Pacific Exchange
 - (<u>ul</u>) Swiss Exchange
 - (vm) The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
 - (wn) Tokyo Stock Exchange

April 15, 2011 553 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

- (x) Toronto Stock Exchange
- (y) TSX Ventura Exchange

(f) Mortgages

- (i) For a firm registered in any jurisdiction of Canada except Ontario:
 - (a) Insured mortgages (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Mortgages which are not insured (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.
- (ii) For a firm registered in Ontario:
 - (a) Mortgages insured under the National Housing Act (Canada) (not in default): 6% of fair value
 - (b) Conventional first mortgages (not in default): 12% of fair value of the loan or the rates set by Canadian financial institutions or Schedule III banks, whichever is greater.

If you are registered in Ontario regardless of whether you are also registered in another jurisdiction of Canada, you will need to apply the margin rates set forth in (ii) above.

(g) For all other securities – 100% of fairmarket value.

April 15, 2011 554 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

FORM 33-109F7 REINSTATEMENT OF REGISTERED INDIVIDUALS AND PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS (sections 2.3 and 2.5(2)) (BLACKLINED TO CURRENT LAW)

FORM 33-109F7 REINSTATEMENT OF REGISTERED INDIVIDUALS AND PERMITTED INDIVIDUALS (sections 2.3 and 2.5(2))

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

Complete and submit this form to the relevant regulator(s) or in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, or self-regulatory organization (SRO) if an individual has left a sponsoring firm and is seeking to reinstate their registration in the same category or reinstate their same status of permitted individual as before with a sponsoring firm. You only need to complete and submit one form regardless of the number of registration categories or permitted individual statuses you are seeking to be reinstated in.

An individual may reinstate their registration or permitted individual status by submitting this form. This form may only be used if all of the following apply:

-this form is submitted on or before the end of three months after the terminationcessation date of the

individual's employment, partnership of agency relationship with the individual's former sponsoring limi,
2there have been no changes to the information previously submitted in respect of Items 13 (Regulatory Disclosure), 14 (Criminal Disclosure), 15 (Civil Disclosure) and 16 (Financial Disclosure) of the individual's Form 33-109F4 since the individual left their former sponsoring firm, and
3 3 the individual's employment, partnership or agency relationship with their former sponsoring firm did not end because the individual was dismissed, or was asked by the firm to resign, resigned voluntarily or was dismissed, following an

If you do not meet all of the above conditions then you must apply for reinstatement by completing on NRD a Form 33-109F4 by making the NRD submission entitled 'Reactivation of Registration'.

allegation against the individual of criminal activity, a breach of securities legislation, or a breach of the rules of an SRO.

Terms

In this form, "you", "your" and "individual" means the individual who is seeking to reinstate their registration or their status as permitted individual.

"former sponsoring firm" means the registered firm where you most recently carried out duties as a registered or permitted individual.

"major shareholder" and "shareholder" mean a shareholder who, in total, directly or indirectly owns voting securities carrying 10 per cent or more of the votes carried by all outstanding voting securities.

"new sponsoring firm" means the registered firm where you will begin carrying out duties as a registered or permitted individual when your registration or permitted individual status is reinstated.

Several terms used in this form are defined in the Form 33-109F4 [Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals] that you submitted when you first became registered or elsewhere in the securities legislation of your province or territory. Please refer to those definitions.

How to submit this form

NRD format

Submit this form at the National Registration Database (NRD) website in NRD format at www.nrd.ca. If you have any questions, contact the compliance, registration or legal department of the new sponsoring firm or a legal adviser, or visit the NRD information website at www.nrd-info.ca.

April 15, 2011 555 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Format, other than NRD format

If you are relying on the temporary hardship exemption in section 5.1 of National Instrument 31-102 *National Registration Database*, you may submit this form in a format other than NRD format.

If you need more space, use a separate sheet of paper. Clearly identify the Item and question number. Complete and sign the form, and send it to the relevant regulator(s) or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, SRO (s) or similar authority. The number of originally signed copies of the form you are required to submit depends on the province or territory, and on the regulator, the securities regulatory authority or SRO.

To avoid delays in processing this form, be sure to answer all of the items that apply to you. If you have questions, contact the compliance, registration or legal department of the new sponsoring firm or a legal adviser, or visit the National Registration Database information website at www.nrd-info.ca.

Item 1	Name								
1.	NRD nu	ımber:	_						
2.	Legal n	ame							
Last na	me	Firs	t name		Second name (N/A □)	Third name	(N/A 🔲)		
3.	Date of	birth (Y	YYY/MN	//DD):					
4.	Use of	other na	ames						
name(s	Are you) mention	current ed abov	ly using, e (for ex	or hav ample,	ve you ever used, operated, trade names for sole propr	under, or car ietorships or te	ried on business eam names)?	s under, a nam	ne other than the
	Yes		No						
	If "yes",	comple	te Sched	ule A.					
Item 2	Numbe	r of juri	sdiction	s					
1.	Are you	seeking	to reins	tate yo	our registration or permitted	individual statı	us in more than	one jurisdictior	ı of Canada?
	Yes		No						
2. individu		each pro	ovince or	territo	ry in which you are seeking	reinstatement	of registration of	r reinstatemen	nt as a permitted
		All juris	sdictions						
		Alberta	ì						
		British	Columbi	а					
		Manito	ba						
		New B	runswick						
		Newfo	undland	and La	abrador				
		Northy	est Terri	itories					
		Nova S	Scotia						
		Nunav	ut						
		Ontario)						

April 15, 2011 556 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

		Prince Edward Island					
		Québec					
		Saskatchewan					
		Yukon					
Item 3	Individu	ual categories					
	f you are	edule B, check each category for which you are seeking to reinstate your registration or permitted individual seeking reinstatement of status as a permitted individual, check each category that describes your position onsoring firm.					
2. are you		re seeking reinstatement as a representative of a mutual fund dealer or of a scholarship plan dealer in Québec, by your new sponsoring firm's professional liability insurance?					
	Yes	□ No □					
	If "No", s	state:					
The nan	ne of you	r insurer					
Your po	licy numb	per					
Item 4	Addres	s and agent for service					
1.	Address	s for service					
service							
(numbe	er, street,	city, province or territory, postal code)					
Telepho	ne numb	er					
Fax nun	nber, if ap	pplicable					
E-mail a	ıddress, i	f available					
2.	Agent fo	or service					
If you have appointed an agent for service, provide the following information for the agent in each province or territory where you have an agent for service. The address of your agent for service must be the same as the address for service above. If your agent for service is not an individual, provide the name of your contact person.							
Name o	Name of agent for service:						
Contact	person:_						
	L	Last name, First name					

Item 5 Location of employment

1. Provide the following information for your new sponsoring firm. If you will be working out of more than one location, provide the following information for the location out of which you will be doing most of your business.

April 15, 2011 557 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Unique Identification Number (optional):
NRD location number:
Business address: (number, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)
Telephone number: ()
2. If the new sponsoring firm has a foreign head office, and/or you are not a resident of Canada, provide the address for the location in which you will be conducting business.
Business address: (number, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)
Telephone number: ()
[The following under #3 "Type of location", #4 and #5 is for a Format other than NRD format only]
3. Type of location:
☐ Head office ☐ Branch or Business Location ☐ Sub-branch
4. Name of branch manager:
5. Check here if the mailing address of the location is the same as the business address provided above Otherwise, complete the following:
Mailing address:
(number, street, city, province, territory or state, country, postal code)
Date on which you will become authorized to act on behalf of the new sponsoring firm as a registered individual opermitted individual
(YYYY/MM/DD)
Item 6 Previous employment
Provide the following information for your former sponsoring firm.
Name:
Date on which you were no longer authorized to act on behalf of your former sponsoring firm as a registered individual or permitted individual:(YYYY/MM/DD)
The reason why you left your former sponsoring firm:
Item 7 Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships
Name of your new sponsoring firm:
reality of your new opensoring limit.

Complete a separate Schedule D for each of your current business and employment activities, including employment and business activities with your new sponsoring firm and any employment and business activities outside your new sponsoring firm. Also include all business related officer or director positions and any other equivalent positions held, whether you receive compensation or not.

April 15, 2011 558 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 8	Ownership of securities in new sponsoring firm						
	Are you	you a partner or major shareholder of your new sponsoring firm?					
		Yes		No			
	If "Yes",	complet	e Schedu	ıle E.			
Item 9	Confirm	permai	nent reco	ord			
1. informat					e that, since leaving your former sponsoring firm, there has been a change to any of your Form 33-109F4 that are listed below.		
		Regulat	ory discl	osure (Item	13)		
		Crimina	l disclosu	ure (Item 14)		
		Civil dis	closure (Item 15)			
		Financia	al disclos	ure (Item 16	6)		
2.	Check th	ne box b	elow – <i>I a</i>	am eligible	to file this Form 33-109F7, only if you satisfy both of the following conditions:		
	(a)	there ar	e no cha	nges to any	of the disclosure items under Item 9.1 above, and		
you were	(b) e asked b				nip or agency relationship with your former sponsoring firm did not end because ed voluntarily, or were dismissed, following an allegation against you of		
	•	criminal	activity,				
	•	a breac	h of secu	rities legisla	ation, or		
	•	a breac	h of the r	ules of an S	SRO.		
	r reinsta	tement b	y compl	eting on NF	ons for selecting the box 'I am eligible to file this Form 33-109F7', then you must RD a Form 33-109F4 by making the NRD submission entitled 'Reactivation of 109F4 in a format other than NRD format you must complete the entire form.		
		I am eli	gible to fi	le this Form	33-109F7.		
Item 10	Acknow	/ledgem	ents, sul	omission to	jurisdiction and notice of collection and use of personal information		
	By subm	nitting thi	s form, y	ou:			

- acknowledge that the submission to jurisdiction, consent to collection and use of personal information, and authorization in respect of SROs (to the extent applicable) that you provided in your Form 33-109F4 remain in effect and extend to this form
- consent to the collection and disclosure of your personal information by regulators and by your sponsoring firm, in each case, for registration and other related regulatory purposes.

If you have any questions about the collection and use of your personal information, contact the securities regulatory authority or applicable SRO in the relevant jurisdiction. See Schedule F for details. In Québec, you can also contact the Commission d'accès à l'information at 1-888-528-7741 or visit its website at www.cai.gouy.gc.ca.

You acknowledge and agree that if you are seeking reinstatement of your registration and it was subject to any undischarged terms and conditions when you left your former sponsoring firm, those terms and conditions will remain in effect at your new sponsoring firm.

Item 11 Warning

It is an offence under securities legislation and/or derivatives legislation, including commodity futures legislation, to give false or misleading information on this form.

April 15, 2011 559 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Item 12 Certification

1	Certi	ification	- NRD	format:

I confirm I have discussed the questions in this form with an officer, branch manager or supervisor of my sponsoring firm. To the best of my knowledge, the officer, branch manager or supervisor was satisfied that I fully understood the questions. I will limit my activities to those permitted by my category of registration.

I am making this submission as agent for the individual. By checking this box, I certify that the individual provided me with all of the information on this form.

2. Certification - Format other than NRD format:

Individual

By signing below, I certify to the regulator, or in Québec the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form, either directly or through the principal regulator that:

- I have read the form and understand the questions, and
- all of the information provided on this form is true, and complete.

Signature of individual	Date signed	
		(YYYY/MM/DD)

Authorized partner or officer of the new sponsoring firm

By signing below, I certify to the regulator, or in Québec the securities regulatory authority, in each jurisdiction where I am submitting this form for the individual that:

- the individual will be engaged by the new sponsoring firm as a registered individual or a permitted individual
- I have, or a branch manager or another officer or supervisor has, discussed the questions set out in this form with the individual and, to the best of my knowledge, the individual fully understands the questions, and
- the new sponsoring firm understands that if the individual's reinstatement of registration was subject to any
 undischarged terms and conditions when the individual left their former sponsoring firm, those terms and
 conditions remain in effect and agrees to assume any ongoing obligations that apply to the sponsoring firm in
 respect of the individual under those terms and conditions.

Name of firm	
Name of authorized signing officer or partner	
Title of authorized signing officer or partner	
Signature of authorized signing officer or partner	
Date signed(YYYY/MM/DD)	

April 15, 2011 560 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE A Use of other names (Item 1.4)

Item 1.4	Use of other names				
Name 1:					
Name:					
Provide the reas	ons for the use of this othe	er name (for example, trade	e name or team na	ame)?:	_
If this o name?	ther name is or was used i	n connection with any spo	nsoring firm, did tl	ne sponsoring firm ap	prove the use of the
Yes 🗌	No 🗌				
When did you us	se this name?	From:		To:	
		(YYYY/MM)	(YYY	Y/MM)	
When did you us	se this name?	From:	<u>To:</u>		
		(YYYY/MM)	(YYYY/MM)		
Name 2:					
Name:					
name? Yes □	ther name is or was used i No se this name?				prove the use of the
		(YYYY/MM)		(YYYY/MM)	_
When did you us	se this name?	From: (YYYY/MM)	<u>To:</u> (YYYY/MM)		
Name 3:					
Name:					
	the reasons for the use of	·	•	•	prove the use of the
name?	_		J .	, , ,	
Yes 🗌	No 🗆	_		_	
When did you us	se this name?	From:		To: 	
When did you us	se this name?	(YYYY/MM) <u>From:</u>	<u>To:</u>	(YYYY/MM)	
		(YYYY/MM)	(<u>YYYY/MM</u>)		

April 15, 2011 561 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

] Options

Customer type
[] Retail
[] Institutional
[] Not Applicable

[] Mutual Funds only

Portfolio management
[] Portfolio Management

SCHEDULE B Individual Categories (Item 3)

Check each category for which you are seeking reinstatement of registration, approval or permitted individual status

Categories Common to all jurisdictions under securities legislation Firm categories [Format other than NRD format only] [] Investment Dealer [] Mutual Fund Dealer [] Scholarship Plan Dealer [] Exempt Market Dealer [] Restricted Dealer [] Portfolio Manager [] Restricted Portfolio Manager [] Investment Fund Manager Individual categories and permitted activities [] Dealing Representative [] Advising Representative [] Associate Advising Representative [] Ultimate Designated Person [] Chief Compliance Officer Officer – Specify title:] Director 1 Partner [] Shareholder Branch Manager (MFDA members only) [] IIROC approval only **Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada IIROC** Approval categories [] Executive [] Director (Industry) [] Director (Non-Industry) [] Supervisor [] Investor [] Registered Representative [] Investment Representative []Trader Additional approval categories [] Chief Compliance Officer [] Chief Financial Officer [] Ultimate Designated Person **Products** [] Non-Trading 1 Securities

] Futures Contracts and Futures Contract Options

April 15, 2011 562 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Categories under local commodity futures and derivatives legislation

<u>Ontario</u>

Firm categories [] Commodity Trading Adviser [] Commodity Trading Counsel [] Commodity Trading Manager [] Futures Commission Merchant
Individual categories and permitted activities [] Advising Representative [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Officer – Specify title: [] Director [] Partner [] Shareholder [] IIROC approval only
<u>Manitoba</u>
Firm categories [] Dealer (Merchant) [] Dealer (Futures Commission Merchant) [] Dealer (Floor Broker) [] Adviser [] Local
Individual categories and permitted activities [] Floor Trader [] Salesperson [] Branch Manager [] Adviser [] Officer – Specify title [] Director [] Partner [] Futures Contracts Portfolio Manager [] Associate Futures Contracts Portfolio Manager [] IIROC approval only [] Local
Québec – activities relating to derivatives
For information purposes, indicate whether you will carry on activities as a representative of: [] An Investment Dealer Acting as a Derivatives dealer [] A Portfolio Manager Acting as a Derivatives portfolio manager

April 15, 2011 563 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Last name, First name

SCHEDULE C Address and agent for service (Item 4)

You must have one address for service in each province or territory in which you are now, or are seeking to become, a

Item 4.1 Address for service

April 15, 2011 564 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE D Current employment, other business activities, officer positions held and directorships (Item 7)

Complete a separate Schedule E for each of your current business and employment activities with your sponsoring firm and with all other organizations. This includes any business related officer or director positions held, or any other equivalent positions held, whether you receive compensation or not.

1.	Start date
(YYY	Y/MM/DD)
2.	Firm information
	Check here if this activity is employment with your sponsoring firm.
below	If the activity is with your sponsoring firm, you are not required to indicate the firm name and address information r:
Name	e of business or employer:
Addre	ess of business or employer:
	(number, street, city, province, territory or state, country)
Name	and title of your immediate supervisor:
3.	Description of duties
with t	Describe all employment and business activities related to this employer. Include the nature of the business and your s, title or relationship with the business. If you are seeking registration that requires specific experience, include details his firm such as level of responsibility, value of accounts under direct supervision, number of years of experience, and ntage of time spent on each activity.
4.	Number of work hours per week
	How many hours per week do you devote to this business or employment?
	If this activity is employment with your sponsoring firm and you work less than 30 hours per week, explain why.
5.	Conflict of Interest
If you	have more than one employer or are engaged in business related activities, disclose:
	sclose any potential for confusion by clients and any potential for conflicts of interest arising from your multiple employment siness related activities or proposed business related activities. Include

April 15, 2011 565 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Form 33-109F7 (blacklined)	Supplement to the OSC Bulletin
B. Indicate whether or not any of your employers or organizations where you engage in bus an exchange.	siness related activities are listed on
<u>C.</u> Confirm whether the firm has procedures for minimizing potential conflicts of interest and these procedures.	if so, confirm that you are aware of
<u>D.</u> If you do not perceive any conflicts of interest arising from this employment, explain why.	

April 15, 2011 566 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE E Ownership of securities and derivatives firms (Item 8)

Firm na	me:						_	
What is	your relat	ionship to	the firm	1?	Partner	Major shareh	older 🗌	
What is	the period	d of this re	elationsh	nip?				
	From:			To:		(if applicable)	
	(YYYY/N	/M)		(YYYY/ľ	MM)			
	Provide	the follow	ing infor	mation:				
		e when y	ou are r	einstated	or approved a	s a result of the r	eview of this form. I	f partnership interest you own or f acquiring shares when you are ate name of transferor).
held by y	b) you or an				oproximate, if r o be made by <u>y</u>		subordinated debe	ntures or bonds of the firm to be
firm and	c) state the				nas provided you		nvest in the firm, pr	ovide the name of the person or
firm?	d)	Are the	funds to	be inves	ted (or propose	ed to be invested	l) guaranteed direct	ly or indirectly by any person or
		Yes		No				
		If "Yes",	provide t	the name	of the person	or firm and state t	he relationship betw	een you and that person or firm:
		e registe	red or a	proved a	as a result of th	ne review of this f		or this partnership interest, or do up any of these rights (including uny firm or person)?
		Yes		No				
describe							ionship between yo	ou and that person or firm and
held by	f) you?	ls a pers	son othe	r than yo	u the beneficia	I owner of the sh	ares, bonds, deben	tures, partnership units or notes
		Yes		No				

April 15, 2011 567 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

	If "Yes", complete (g), (h) and (i).						
g)	Name of beneficial own	ner:					
	Last name	First name	Second name (if applicable)	Third name (if applicable			
h)	Residential address:						
	(number, street, city, p	province, territory or stat	te, country, postal code)				
i)	Occupation:			_			

April 15, 2011 568 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

SCHEDULE F Contact information for Notice of collection and use of personal information

Alberta

Alberta Securities Commission,

4th Floor, 300 - Suite 600, 250-5th Avenue St. SW

Calgary, AB T2P 3COR4 Attention: Information Officer Telephone: (403) 355-4151

British Columbia

British Columbia Securities Commission P.O. Box 10142. Pacific Centre 701 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2

Attention: Freedom of Information Officer

Telephone: (604) 899-6500 or (800) 373-6393 (in BC)

Manitoba

The Manitoba Securities Commission 500 - 400 St. Mary Avenue Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5 Attention: Director of Registrations Telephone (204) 945-2548 Fax (204) 945-0330

New Brunswick

New Brunswick Securities Commission Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street Saint John, NB E2L 2J2 Attention: Director, Regulatory Affairs

Telephone: (506) 658-3060

Newfoundland and Labrador

Securities NL

Financial Services Regulation Division Department of Government Services P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block Confederation Building St. John's, NL A1B 4J6 Attention: Manager of Registrations

Tel: (709) 729-5661

Nova Scotia

Nova Scotia Securities Commission 2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building 1690 Hollis Street P.O. Box 458 Halifax, NS B3J 2P8

Attention: Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Telephone: (902) 424-7768

Northwest Territories

Government of the Northwest Territories P.O. Box 1320

Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9

Attention: Deputy Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 920-8984

Nunavut

Legal Registries Division Department of Justice Government of Nunavut P.O. Box 1000 Station 570 Igaluit, NU X0A 0H0

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (867) 975-6590

Ontario

Ontario Securities Commission Suite 1903, Box 55 20 Queen Street West Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Attention: FOI Coordinator Compliance and Registrant

Regulation

Telephone: (416) 593-8314

e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca

Prince Edward Island

Securities Registry

Office of the Attorney General B Consumer, Corporate and

Insurance Services Division

P.O. Box 2000

Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8

Attention: Deputy Registrar of Securities

Telephone: (902) 368-6288

Québec

Autorité des marchés financiers 800, square Victoria, 22e étage C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Attention: Responsable de l'accès à l'information

Telephone: (514) 395-0337 or (877) 525-0337 (in Québec)

Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission Suite 601, 1919 Saskatchewan Drive

Regina, SK S4P 4H2 Attention: Director

Telephone: (306) 787-5842

Yukon

Yukon Securities Office Department of Community Services P.O. Box 2703 C-6 Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6

Attention: Superintendent of Securities

Telephone: (867) 667-5225

Self-regulatory organization

Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada 121 King Street West, Suite 1600

Toronto, Ontario M5H 3T9 Attention: Privacy Officer Telephone: (416) 364-6133 E-mail: PrivacyOfficer@iiroc.ca

April 15, 2011 569 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

COMPANION POLICY 33-109CP REGISTRATION INFORMATION (BLACKLINED TO CURRENT LAW)

COMPANION POLICY 33-109CP REGISTRATION INFORMATION

PART 1 – GENERAL

1.1 Purpose

This Companion Policy sets out how the Canadian Securities Administrators interpret or apply National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information (the Rule).

The registration requirement in securities legislation provides protection to investors from unfair, improper or fraudulent practices and enhances capital market integrity and efficiency. The information required under the Rule allows regulators to assess a filer's fitness for registration or for permitted individual status, with regard to their solvency, integrity and proficiency. These fitness requirements are the cornerstones of the registration requirement. In each jurisdiction of Canada the registration requirement and the Rule apply to dealers, underwriters, advisers and investment fund managers and to individuals who act on their behalf as registered or permitted individuals.

1.2 Overview of the forms Definition of permitted individuals

Section 1.1 of the Rule defines a permitted individual as an individual who meets the criteria set forth in either subsection (a) or subsection (b) of the definition, or both. A permitted individual may or may not be a registered individual. For example, the chief executive officer of a registered firm is registered as the firm's ultimate designated person and is also a permitted individual. The definition of permitted individual allows the Rule to separate out the filing requirements which are applicable only to permitted individuals from those which are applicable to registered individuals.

1.3 Overview of the forms

The following forms are submitted byfor firms:

- Form 33-109F6 Firm Registration to apply for registration as a dealer, adviser or investment fund manager
- Form 33-109F3 *Business Locations other than Head Office* to disclose each business location of the firm and any change of location

The following forms are for individuals and are submitted in NRD format:

• Form 33-109F1 Notice of Termination of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals – to notify the regulator that a registered or permitted individual has ceased to have authority to act on behalf of the firm

The following forms are for individuals and are submitted in NRD format:

- Form 33-109F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals to apply for registration or review as a permitted individual
- Form 33-109F2 Change or Surrender of Individual Categories to apply for registration or review in an additional category or to surrender a category
- Form 33-109F7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted Individuals to reinstate an individual's registration or a permitted individual status

1.31.4 Notice requirements

Form 33-109F5 Change of Registration Information is used by firms and individuals to notify regulators of any change to their registration information. Under sections 3.1 and 4.1 of the Rule a registrant and a permitted individual must keep their registration information current on an ongoing basis by filing notices of change of information within the required time.

April 15, 2011 570 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Appendix A summarizes the notice requirements, time periods and the forms under the Rule to notify regulators of a change to a firm's or individual's registration information.

1.41.5 Contact information

When a firm submits a form-Form 33-109F6, supporting documents or a form-Form 33-109F5, it can make the submission using e-mail, fax or mail. Appendix B attached to this policy sets out the contact information for the regulator in each jurisdiction of Canada and for the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC) in those jurisdictions where the securities regulatory authority has delegated, assigned or authorized IIROC to perform registration functions.

PART 2 - FORMS USED BY INDIVIDUALS

2.1 National Registration Database (NRD)

The NRD is the database containing information about all registrants and permitted individuals under securities or commodity futures legislation in each jurisdiction of Canada. The requirement for firms to enrol, and to make certain submissions, on NRD are set out in National Instrument 31-102 *National Registration Database*. Detailed information about the NRD and the enrolment process is available in the NRD User Guide published at www.nrd-info.ca.

2.2 Form 33-109F4

Types of submissions using Form 33-109F4

The NRD format for submitting a completed form-Form 33-109F4 under subsections 2.2(1) or 2.5(1) of the Rule include four distinct NRD submission types that are made in the following circumstances:

- Initial Registration, when an individual is seeking registration, or review as a permitted individual, through NRD for the first time
- Registration in an Additional Jurisdiction, when an individual is registered or is a permitted individual in a jurisdiction of Canada and is seeking registration, or review as a permitted individual, in an additional jurisdiction;
- Registration with an Additional Sponsoring Firm, when an individual is registered, or is a permitted individual, on behalf of one sponsoring firm and applies for registration, or seeks review as a permitted individual, to act on behalf of an additional sponsoring firm
- Reactivation of registration, when an individual who has an NRD record is applying for registration, reinstatement of registration or is seeking review as a permitted individual and is not eligible under sections 2.3(2) or 2.5(2) of the Rule to submit a Form 33-109F7

Submissions by permitted individuals

Under subsection 2.5(1) of the Rule, within 710 days of becoming a permitted individual, the individual must submit a form-Form 33-109F4 for review by the regulator. An individual whose registration is suspended may apply to reinstate the registration by submitting a completed form-Form 33-109F4 to the regulator. This is done with the *Reactivation of registration* submission on NRD. After making this submission the individual may not conduct activities requiring registration unless and until the regulator has approved the application. However, an application for reinstatement or review is not required if the individual meets all of the conditions for automatic reinstatement in subsections 2.3(2) or 2.5(2) of the Rule, which include submitting a completed form Form 33-109F7 to the regulator as described in section 2.5 below.

Agent for service

Item 18 Agent for service of Form 33-109F4 is a certification clause by the individual that he or she has completed the appointment for service required in each relevant jurisdiction. There is no distinct form under NI 33-109 for the appointment of an agent for service for use by individuals. Please refer to the form used by the registered firm. This format is acceptable to the regulator.

2.3 Form 33-109F2

This form is used by individuals to apply to add or to surrender a registration category or to seek review of a change in their permitted individual category. If an individual has ceased to have authority to act on behalf of their sponsoring firm as a registered or permitted individual in the last jurisdiction of Canada where they were so acting, they cannot submit a form-Form

April 15, 2011 571 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

<u>33-109</u>F2. Instead, the individual's sponsoring firm submits a Form 33-109F1 to notify the regulator of the termination or cessation of authority to act on behalf of the firm.

2.4 Form 33-109F5 for individuals

When an individual submits a form-Form 33-109F5 to update their registration information the NRD will transmit the information to the regulator in each jurisdiction in which the individual is registered or is a permitted individual. However, only the principal regulator processes the submission to update the individual's registration information on NRD, or if necessary to deny or withdraw the submission.

Form 33-109F5 should not be used by an individual applying to add or surrender a registration category or to seek review of a change in his/her permitted individual category. In this case, Form 33-109F2 is used. It should also be noted that Form 33-109F5 is not used by an individual that is registered or is a permitted individual in a jurisdiction of Canada and is seeking registration, or review as a permitted individual, in an additional jurisdiction. In this case, a Form 33-109F4 is used and is identified on NRD as *Registration with an additional jurisdiction*. This also applies to an individual adding a sponsoring firm; Form 33-109F4 is used and is identified on NRD as *Registration with an additional sponsoring firm*.

2.5 Form 33-109F7 for reinstatement

When an individual leaves a sponsoring firm and joins a new registered firm, they may submit a form-Form 33-109F7 to have their registration or permitted individual status automatically reinstated in the same category and jurisdiction(s) as before, subject to all of the conditions set out in subsection 2.3(2) or 2.5(2) of the Rule. An individual who meets all of the applicable conditions will be able to transfer directly from one sponsoring firm to another and start engaging in activities requiring registration from the first day that they submit the form-Form 33-109F7.

2.6 Ongoing fitness for registration

Every registrant must maintain their fitness for registration on an ongoing basis. Under securities legislation, the regulator has discretionary authority to suspend or revoke an individual's registration or to restrict it with terms and conditions at any time. The regulator may do this, for example, if it receives information through a notice of termination from an individual's former sponsoring firm or any other source that raises concerns about the individual's continued fitness for registration. Individuals will be given an opportunity to be heard before a decision is made to suspend or revoke registration or to impose terms and conditions.

PART 3 - FORMS USED BY FIRMS

3.1 Form 33-109F6

When a firm submits a ferm-Form 33-109F6 to apply for registration, it may pay the regulatory fees to the applicable regulators by cheque or by using the NRD function called *Resubmit Fee Payment*. A firm that applies in multiple jurisdictions should submit its application to the regulator in the principal jurisdiction or, if Ontario is a non-principal jurisdiction, to the regulators in the principal jurisdiction and in Ontario. For more details refer to National Policy 11-204 *Process for registration in multiple jurisdictions*.

3.2 Form 33-109F5

A firm that is registered in multiple jurisdictions may submit a form—Form 33-109F5 to its principal regulator only to notify regulators of a change to the firm's registration information, in accordance with subsection 3.1(6) of the Rule.

3.3 Form 33-109F3

A firm must notify the regulator of each business location in the jurisdiction, including a residence, where a firm's registered individuals are based for the purpose of carrying out activities that require registration. Firms submit this form through the NRD website.

3.4 Discretionary exemption for bulk transfers

Regulators will consider an application for an exemption from certain requirements in the Rule to facilitate a reorganization or combination of firms which would otherwise require a large number of submissions to change locations and transfer individuals. The information required, and the conditions to obtain, this type of exemption application are described in the attached Appendix C.

April 15, 2011 572 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

3.5 Form 33-109F1

Under section 4.2 of the Rule, a registered firm must notify the regulator no more than $7\underline{10}$ days after an individual ceased to have authority to act on behalf of the firm, as a registered or permitted individual. Typically, this occurs due to the termination of the individual's employment, partnership or agency relationship with the firm. However, it also occurs when an individual is reassigned to a different position at the firm that does not require registration or is not a permitted individual category. The form $\underline{\underline{500}}$ F1 is submitted through the NRD website to give notice of the cessation date and the reason for the termination or cessation.

Under paragraph 4.2(1)(b) of the Rule, the information in item 5 [Details about the termination] of a form-Form 33-109F1 must be submitted unless the cessation of authority to act on behalf of the firm was caused by the death or retirement of the individual or the completion of an employment or agency contract. A firm can submit the information in item 5 either at the time of the making the initial submission on NRD, if the information is available within that 710 day period, or within 30 days of the cessation date, by making an NRD submission entitled Update / Correct Termination Information.

PART 4 - DUE DILIGENCE BY FIRMS

4.1 Obligations of former sponsoring firm

After submitting a Form 33-109F1 with regard to a former sponsored individual a firm should promptly send the individual a copy of the completed form-Form 33-109F1. Under subsections 4.2(3) and (4) of the Rule, within $7\underline{10}$ days of a request by a former sponsored individual, a firm must provide the individual with a copy of the form-Form 33-109F1 that was submitted, and if necessary, a further copy that includes the information in item 5 of the form-Form 33-109F1, within $7\underline{10}$ days of submitting that information.

4.2 Obligations of new sponsoring firm

- (1) In fulfilling its obligations under subsection 5.1(1) of the Rule, a firm should make reasonable efforts to do all of the following:
 - establish written policies and procedures to verify an individual's information prior to submitting a Form 33-109F4 or Form 33-109F7 on behalf of the individual
 - document the firm's review of an individual's information in accordance with the firm's policies and procedures
 - regularly remind registered and permitted individuals about their disclosure obligations under the Rule, such as notifying the regulator about changes to their registration information

Under subsection 5.1(2) of the Rule, within 60 days of hiring a sponsored individual a firm must obtain a copy of the most recent Form 33-109F1, if any, for the individual. If a sponsoring firm cannot obtain it from the sponsored individual, as a last resort the individual should request it from the regulator.

The information referred to above will assist the firm in meeting its obligations under subsection 5.1(1) of the Rule and should inform the firm's hiring decisions. If an individual is hired before a completed Form 33-109F1 is available and if the firm discovers an inconsistency in the individual's disclosure to the firm or the regulator, then the firm should take appropriate action. All of the required information should be available within 60 days of hiring the individual, which will often fall within the individual's probation period under their employment or agency contract.

PART 5 - COMMODITY FUTURES ACT SUBMISSIONS

5.1 Ontario

In Ontario, if a person or company is required to make a submission under both the Rule and OSC Rule 33-506 (*Commodity Futures Act*) with respect to the same information, the securities regulatory authority is of the view that a single filing on a form required under either rule satisfies both requirements.

5.2 Manitoba

In Manitoba, the Rule is a rule under each of the Securities Act and the Commodity Futures Act. A single submission with respect to the same information will satisfy the requirements of both statutes.

April 15, 2011 573 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Appendix A

Summary of Notice Requirements in National Instrument 33-109

Description of Change	Notice Period	Section	Form submitted	
Firms – Form <u>33-109</u> F6 information		by e-mail, fax or mail		
Part 1 – Registration details	7 <u>10</u> days		Form <u>33-109</u> F5	
Part 2 – Contact information, including head office address (except 2.4)	7 <u>10</u> days	3.1(1)(b)		
Item 2.4 –Agent and Address for service [items 3 and 4 of Schedule B to Form 33-109F6]	7 <u>10</u> days	3.1(4)	Schedule B to Form <u>33-</u> <u>109</u> F6 Submission to Jurisdiction	
Part 3 – Business history & structure	30 days	3.1(1)(a)		
Part 4 – Registration history	7 <u>10</u> days		Form <u>33-109</u> F5	
Part 5 – Financial condition	7 <u>10</u> days	3.1(1)(b)		
Part 6 – Client relationships	7 <u>10</u> days	3.1(1)(0)		
Part 7 – Regulatory action	7 <u>10</u> days			
Part 8 – Legal action	7 <u>10</u> days			
Firms – other notice requirements			in NRD format	
Open / change of business location (other than head office)	7 <u>10</u> days	3.2	Form <u>33-109</u> F3	
Termination / Cessation of Authority of a registered or permitted individual – items 1 – 4 item 5	7 <u>10</u> days	4.2(2)(a)	Form <u>33-109</u> F1	
No. II C	30 days	4.2(2)(b)		
Individuals – Form F4 information	in NRD format			
Item 1 – Name	7 <u>10</u> days	4.4(4)/[-)		
Item 2 – Address	7 <u>10</u> days	4.1(1)(b)		
Item 3 – Personal information	No update required	4.1(2)		
Item 4 – Citizenship	30 days	4.1(1)(a)		
Item 5 – Registration jurisdictions	7 <u>10</u> days			
Item 6 – Individual categories	7 <u>10</u> days	4.1(1)(b)	Form <u>33-109</u> F5	
Item 7 – Address for service	7 <u>10</u> days	1.1(1)(0)		
Item 8 – Proficiency	7 <u>10</u> days			
Item 9 – Location of employment	7 <u>10</u> days			
Item 10 – Current employment	7 <u>10</u> days			
Item 11 – Previous employment	30 days	4.1(1)(a)		
Item 12 – Terminations	7 <u>10</u> days			
Item 13 – Regulatory disclosure	7 <u>10</u> days	4.1(1)(b)		
Item 14 – Criminal disclosure	7 <u>10</u> days	7.1(1)(0)		
Item 15 – Civil disclosure	7 <u>10</u> days]		
Item 16 – Financial disclosure	7 <u>10</u> days			
Item 17 – Ownership of securities	7 <u>10</u> days			
Change of F4: registrant position or relationship with sponsoring firm / permitted status	7 <u>10</u> days	4.1(4)	Form <u>33-109</u> F2	

April 15, 2011 574 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Review of a Permitted individual	7 <u>10</u> days after appointment	2.5	Form <u>33-109</u> F4 or <u>Form 33-109</u> F7, subject to conditions
Automatic reinstatement of registration subject to conditions	within 90 days of cessation date	2.3(2)	Form <u>33-109</u> F7

April 15, 2011 575 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)

Appendix B

Contact Information for the Regulators and IIROC

- Part 1 provides the regulators' contact information for registrants in all categories, except for those in the jurisdictions and categories listed in Part 2
- Part 2 below, provides IIROC's contact information in the jurisdictions where IIROC performs registration functions for representatives of investment dealers and, in some cases, for investment dealer firms

PART 1 – Regulators' Contact Information	
Alberta	British Columbia
e-mail: registration@asc.ca	e-mail: registration@bcsc.bc.ca
fax: (403) 297-4113	fax: (604) 899-6506
Alberta Securities Commission,	British Columbia Securities Commission
4th Floor, 300 - 5th Avenue S.W.Suite 600, 250-5th St. SW	P.O. Box 10142, Pacific Centre
Calgary, AB T2P 3C <u>0R</u> 4	701 West Georgia Street
Registration department	Vancouver, BC V7Y 1L2
	Attention: Registration
Manitoba	New Brunswick
e-mail: registrationmsc@gov.mb.ca	e-mail: nrs@nbsc-cvmnb.ca
fax: (204) 945-0330	fax:(506) 658-3059
The Manitoba Securities Commission	Fax: New Brunswick Securities Commission
500-400 St. Mary Avenue	Suite 300, 85 Charlotte Street
Winnipeg, MB R3C 4K5	Saint John, NB E2L 2J2
Attention: Registrations	Attention: Registration Officer
	nrs@nbsc-cvmnb.ca
Newfoundland and Labrador	Northwest Territories
e-mail: scon@gov.nl.ca	e-mail: SecuritiesRegistry@gov.nt.ca
fax: (709) 729-6187	fax: (867) 873-0243
Financial Services Regulation Division	Government of the Northwest Territories
Department of Government Services	P.O. Box 1320
Government of Newfoundland and Labrador	Yellowknife, NWT X1A 2L9
P.O. Box 8700, 2nd Floor, West Block	Attention: Exemption Review Staff
Confederation Building	
St. John's, NL A1B 4J6	
Attention: Registration Section	
Nova Scotia	Nunavut
e-mail: nrs@gov.ns.ca	e-mail: CorporateRegistrations@gov.nu.ca
fax: (902) 424-4625	fax: (867) 975-6594
Nova Scotia Securities Commission	Legal Registries Division
2nd Floor, Joseph Howe Building	Department of Justice
1690 Hollis Street	Government of Nunavut
P.O. Box 458	P.O. Box 1000 Station 570
Halifax, NS B3J 3J9	Iqaluit, NU X0A 0H0
Attention: Registration	Attention: Deputy Registrar

April 15, 2011 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) 576

PART 1 - Regulators' Contact Information

PART 1 – Regulators Contact Information	
Ontario	Prince Edward Island
e-mail: registration@esc.gov.on.ca	e-mail: ccis@gov.pe.ca
fax: (416) 593-8283	fax: (902) 368-5283
Ontario Securities Commission	Consumer and Corporate Services Division,
Suite 1903, Box 55	Office of the Attorney General
20 Queen Street West	P.O. Box 2000, 95 Rochford Street
Toronto, ON M5H 3S8	Charlottetown, PE C1A 7N8
Attention: Compliance and Registrant Regulation	Attention: Superintendent of Securities
<u>Telephone: (416) 593-8314</u>	
e-mail: registration@osc.gov.on.ca	
Québec	Saskatchewan
e-mail: inscription@lautorite.qc.ca	e-mail: registrationsfsc@gov.sk.ca
fax: (514) 873-3090	fax: (306) 787-5899
Autorité des marchés financiers	Saskatchewan Financial Services Commission
Service de l'encadrement des intermédiaires	Suite 601
800 square Victoria, 22e étage	1919 Saskatchewan Drive
C.P 246, Tour de la Bourse	Regina, SK S4P 4H2
Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3	Attention: Registration
Yukon Territory	
e-mail: corporateaffairs@gov.yk.ca	
fax: (867) 393-6251	
Department of Community Services Yukon	
Yukon Securities Office	
P.O. Box 2703	
Whitehorse, YT Y1A 2C6	
Attention: Superintendent of Securities	

PART 2 – Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada Contact Information

** Alberta – IIROC **	**British Columbia – IIROC**
	e-mail: registration@iiroc.ca
** Saskatchewan- IIROC **	fax: 604-683-3491
e-mail: registration@iiroc.ca	1055 West Georgia Street
fax: (403) 265-4603	Suite 2800 – Royal Centre
#2300, 355- 4 th Avenue SW,	Vancouver, BC V6E 3R5
Calgary, AB T2P 0J1	Attention: Registration department
Attention: Registration department	
** Newfoundland and Labrador – IIROC **	* Québec – IIROC *
	e-mail: registration@iiroc.ca
* Ontario – IIROC *	fax: (514) 878-0797
e-mail: registration@iiroc.ca	Organisme canadien de réglementation du commerce
fax: (416) 364-9177	des valeurs mobilières
Suite 1600, 121 King Street West	5 Place Ville Marie
Toronto, ON M5H 3T9	Bureau 1550
Attention: Registration department	Montréal (Québec) H3B 2G2
	Attention : Service des inscriptions
	·
	l.

(2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3) April 15, 2011 577

^{**} registration of investment dealer firms and their representatives **
* registration of investment dealer representatives *

Appendix C

Discretionary Exemption for Bulk Transfers of Locations and Individuals

- (1) If a registered firm is acquiring a large number of business locations (for example, as a result of an amalgamation or asset purchase) from one or more other registered firms that are located in the same jurisdiction(s) and registered in the same categories as the acquiring firm, and if a significant number of individuals are associated on NRD with the locations, the regulator will consider granting an exemption from any or all of the following requirements:
 - (a) to submit a notice regarding the termination of each employment, partner, or agency relationship under section 4.2 of the Rule:
 - (b) to submit a registration application or a reinstatement notice for each individual seeking be a registered individual under section 2.2 or 2.3 of the Rule;
 - (c) to submit a Form 33-109F4 or Form 33-109F7 for each permitted individual under section 2.5 of the Rule;
 - (d) to notify the regulator of a change to the business location information in Form 33-109F3 under section 3.2 of the Rule.
- (2) The exemption application should be submitted by the registered firm that will acquire control of the business locations at the closing of the transaction and should be submitted well in advance of the date (**transfer date**) on which the business locations will be transferred. It would typically be sufficient if a firm submits the application at least 30 days before the transfer date. An application for this type of exemption should include the following information:
 - (a) the name and NRD number of the registered firm that will acquire control of the business locations;
 - (b) for each registered firm that is transferring control of the business locations;
 - (i) the name and NRD number of the registered firm,
 - (ii) the address and NRD number of each business location that is being transferred from the registered firm named in (b)(i) to the registered firm named in (a),
 - (iii) the date that the business locations and individuals will be transferred to the registered firm named in (a).
- (3) If the exemption is granted, as soon as practicable after the transfer date, the regulator will instruct the NRD administrator to record on NRD the transfer of the business locations, registered individuals and permitted individuals.
- (4) Bulk transfers involving firms that are registered in different categories or different jurisdictions may need to take additional steps. Firms involved in such a transaction should contact their principal regulator to discuss what steps are required for the firm to be eligible for a bulk transfer exemption as described above.
- (5) A firm applying for this type of exemption in more than one jurisdiction should refer to National Policy 11-203 *Process for Exemption Applications in Multiple Jurisdictions* for guidance on the form of application and the information required. The firm may set out the information referred to in (2) as follows:
 - A) Registered firm that will acquire the business locations
 Name:

Firm NRD number:

B) Registered firm transferring the business locations

Name:

Firm NRD number:

Business locations that will be transferred Address of business location:
NRD number of business location:
Address of business location:
NRD number of business location:

(Repeat for each business location as necessary)

C) Date that business locations will be transferred:

April 15, 2011 578 (2011) 34 OSCB (Supp-3)